RECORDS

OF THE

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY

OF

INDIA.

VOL. XIV.

PUBLISHED BY ORDER OF HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL OF INDIA IN COUNCIL.

CALCUITA: printed for the government of india. london: trübner and co.

> MDOCOLXXXI. C

Digitized by Google

191524

Digitized by Google

--

•

.

• •

•

, ,

CONTENTS.

.

	PAGE
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA, AND OF THE GEO- LOGICAL MUSEUM, CALCUTTA, FOR THE YEAR 1880	i
Geology of part of Dárdistán, Baltistán, and Neighbouring Districts, being fifth notice of the Geology of Káshmir and Neighbouring territories	
(with map).—By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India	1
Note on some Siwalik Carnivora.—By R. LYDEKKEB, B.A., F.Z.S., Geolo- gical Survey of India	57
The Siwalik Group of the Sub-Himalayan region.—By W. THEOBALD, Denuty Superintendent, Geological Survey of India	66
Notes on the South Rewah Gondwana basin.—By THEO. W. H. HUGHES,	106
A.R.S.M., Geological Survey of Inata On the ferruginous beds associated with the Basaltic Rocks of North-Eastern	120
Ulster, in relation to Indian laterite.—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India	139
Notes on some Rájmahál plants (with two plates).—By OTTOKAE FEIST- MANTEL, M.D., Palæontologist, Geological Survey of India	148
Travelled blocks of the Punjab.—By A. B. WYNNE, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India	152
Appendix to "Palæontological notes on the Lower Trias of the Himalayas."—	100
By C. L. GRIESBACH, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India Note on some Mammalian Fossils from Perim Island, in the collection of	154
the Bombay Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society.—By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India	155
The Náhan-Siwalik unconformity in the North-Western Himalaya.—By H. B. MEDLICOTT, M.A., Geological Survey of India	169
Note on some Gondwana Vertebrates.—By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India	174
Observations on the Ossiferous Beds of Húndes in Tibet.—By R. LYDEKKER, DA BZS. Calabial Summer CL	100
B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India Notes on Mining Records, and the Mining Record Office of Great Britain;	178
and the Coal and Metalliferous Mines Acts of 1872 (England).—By T. W. H. HUGHES, A.R.S.M., F.G.S., Geological Survey of India	185

CONTENTS.

		PAGE.
On Cobaltite and Danaite from the Khetri Mines, Rájputána; with remarks on Jaipurite (Syepoorite).—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S.,	some Geolo-	
gical Survey of India	•••	190
On the Occurrence of Zino Ore (Smithsonite and Blende) with B in the Karnul District, Madras.—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geo	arytes logical	
Survey of India	•••	196
Notice of a Mud Eruption in the Island of ChedubaBy F. R. M	ALLET.	
F.G.S., Geological Survey of India ,	•••	ъ.
Artesian Borings in India. By H. B. MEDLICOTT. M.A., Geological &	Survey	
of India		205
On Oligoclese Granite at Wangto on the Sutley North-West	Hime	
layas.—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India	•••	238
Note on a Fish-palate from the Siwaliks By A. GUNTHER. M.D.	Ря D.,	
F.R.S., Keeper of the Zoological Department, British Museum	•	240
Palmontological Notes from the Hazéribéch and Lobérdages Distr	icte	
By OTTOKAR FRISTMANTEL, Palæontologist, Geological Survey of I	ndia	241
Undescribed Fossil Carnivora from the Siwalik Hills in the Collec	tion of	
the British Museum.—By P. N. Bosz, Esq., B. Sc. (Lond.), F.G	.s	263
Remarks on the Unification of Geological Nomenclature and Cartog	graphy	
(a note sent to the International Geological Congress of 1881, at Bo	logna).	
-By H. B. MEDLICOTT, M.A., Geological Survey of India	•••	277
On the Geology of the Arvali region, Central and EasternBy	C. A.	
HACKET, Geological Survey of India	•••	279
On a specimen of Native Antimony obtained at Pulo Obin, near Sing	apore.	
-By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India		303
On Turgite from the neighbourhood of Juggiapett, Kistnah District.	and on	
Zinc Carbonate from Karnul, MadrasBy F. R. MALLET, H	.G.S.	
Geological Survey of India		304
Note on the section from Dalhousie to Pangi vid the Sach Pass By C	OLONEL	
C. A. McMahon, F.G.S	•••	305
Notes on the South Rewah Gondwana basinBy THEO. W. H. H.	UGHES.	
A.R.S.M., F.G.S., Geological Survey of India		311
Submerged Forest on Bombay island. Observations by G. E. OB	MISTON.	
Resident Engineer, Bombay Port Trust		32 0
DONATIONS TO THE MUSEUM 156.19	7. 267 4	6902
	0 0.07	- 90 A
42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 4	0,407.0	6 324

Digitized by Google

iv





Annual Report 1880.

Digitized by Google

RECORDS

OF THE

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA.

Part 1.]	1881.	[February.
-		

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA, AND OF THE GEOLOGICAL MUSEUM, CALCUITA, FOR THE YEAR 1880.

The tale of work for the past year must be brief: an unusually large proportion of our geologists were absent on furlough or sick leave; and of the surveys accomplished, there is, in several cases, but little to be said, as they consisted of the extension or completion of geological boundaries, the discussion of which had already been made, as noticed in previous reports.

Mr. King finished mapping the Gondwana rocks of the Pranhita-Godávari basin. His final report on that ground is now in course GODÍVARI MM. King and Oldham. of preparation for publication in the Memoirs of the Survey. Mr. Oldham, immediately on his arrival in India, took the field with Mr. King late in December (1879) and assisted in the work. It was a favourable opportunity for him to make acquaintance with the characters of some of the principal formations of peninsular India. Unfortunately, he also underwent initiation to jungle fever, which he had some difficulty in shaking off. I had intended that he should in the following season carry on the survey into the adjoining area of the Bustar country, which still forms one of the ugly blanks in our geological map of India ; but under the circumstances, such an attempt would be unjustifiable, so Mr. Oldham has been transferred to the Himalayan region, where, indeed, for objects of geological interest, his services are more advantageously employed.

We have at last commenced an attack in regular form on one of the two great SOUTH REWAH: central basins of Gondwána rocks—that occupying a very Mr. Hughes. large part of the drainage area of the Són (Sone) river

and its chief tributaries, and principally comprised within the Rewah State. There have been excellent practical reasons for this postponement, in the more urgent call for the examination of ground where the discovery of coal would be of more immediate utility; but it is only in these areas that we can come to terms with the Gondwána formation. In this connexion I may quote a passage from my preliminary report on the Sátpura basin (Memoirs, Vol. X, pt. 1, 1872) as originally submitted for publication. The passage and its context were, indeed, printed for departmental circulation at the time, but were suppressed in the

VOL. XIV.

published report as not being in harmony with the then ruling orthodoxy. As containing the first proposal of the name now adopted for this great rock series, it would be independently deserving of record :--- "The considerations presented in the last few paragraphs show how difficult, and one might say unnatural, it would be to form any scale of groups applicable to this sedimentary series in the different basins. Even the main division into an upper and a lower series, the Máhádeva and Damúda, would be awkward and local; the Jabalpur group being most closely tied to the Máhádevas, and the best general physical break in the whole sedimentary series occurring above the Barákars in the socalled Damúda series. One must for the present be content with the independent arrangement of the groups in the several basins (as here suggested for the Sátpura basin), postponing the final correlation of their local divisions till all the scattered basins of the deposits, and such fossils as they may yield, have been worked out. At the same time, this difficulty brings into prominence the want of a collective name for this series as a whole, from the Talchirs to the Jabalpur (or? Rájmabál). For this purpose the name GONDWANA would seem to be suitable, from the country of the most wide-spread aboriginal tribe of Central India, inhabiting a large portion of the ground formed by these plant-bearing rocks, including the Sátpura basin where the series is apparently found most complete."

Mr. Hughes' first season's work has fully exemplified these remarks. In 1871-72 Mr. Hacket examined the western end of the field, and mapped a very large area all as one formation continuous with the Jabalpur group, which he had followed up continuously from Jabalpur. At this western margin this top group of the series rests on gneiss, and it seems to expand without a break eastward to the Són and southwards down to the coal-measures of Páli on the Johilla. In thus representing it, Mr. Hacket's work agreed with the sketch survey made in 1860 by the late Mr. J. G. Medlicott. Both found occasional beds of shales, or other local rocks, but nothing that seemed to offer a chance of dividing this great upper sandstone, which would thus have to be taken as representing three-fourths of the whole Gondwána system. In 1878-79 Mr. Griesbach mapped the extreme eastern end of the basin, where he was able to recognize almost the entire series of groups as known in the Damúda region (Memoirs, Vol. XVI, pt. 2). Mr. Hughes has now made a careful preliminary examination of a broad band across the middle of the basin, and there seems but small agreement with either of the two terminal sections. A first remark is the small total thickness of the formation here as compared to that found in the Sátpura basin, although the Gondwána area of the Són is much the larger of the two. It may, however, be observed that here the whole of the sedimentary basin (as now remaining) is exposed, except for a small length on the south-west border, where it passes under the Deccan trap; whereas on both sides (east, and west) in the Sátpuras, the Gondwána rocks are covered by the basalt, although there also symptoms of original contraction in those directions were observed (Memoirs, Vol. X, p. 183). Mr. Hughes describes a coal-measure group on the south, of small thickness, and showing decided affinities, both in its rocks and fossils, to the Rániganj group, with a band at the base in which fossils of the Karharbári horizon occur, but which has not yet proved separable stratigraphically. On the other side, this

band is transitionally underlaid by a moderate thickness of typical Talchir rocks, forming the usual base of the series. The transitional character of this upper limit of the Talchirs is illustrated by the fact that Mr. Hughes places the required boundary-line a good deal lower down than I had done when I examined the section of the Johilla in 1869; while in the similar case in the Mohpáni field (Sátpura basin), Mr. Hughes places the same boundary higher than I had done, the rocks being completely exposed in both sections.

The most decided boundary in the series is where the ferruginous sandstones and clays overlie the coal-measures of the southern field; but in the lower portion of those upper rocks the fossils are recognised by Dr. Feistmantel as very decidedly of Lower Gondwána species. The relation is altogether most similar to that of the Kámthi-Barákar boundary in the Wardha-Godávari area, as has been already noticed. The most promising result of Mr. Hughes' observations has been the discovery of a considerable band of clays, &c., overlying, but closely related to, the middle sandstones, identical in every character with the Maleri group of the Godávari basin, and containing the same well known reptilian fossils. These clays occupy a large area in a middle position on the north side of the basin: they are overlaid transitionally by sandstones very similar to those below them, and forming isolated plateaus in the low ground formed of the clays The place of these reptilian clays in the continuous series of the Són basin corresponds very well with that independently assigned to the Maleri clays in the Pránhita-Godávari area, where they are unconformable, or at least transgressive, on the Kámthi beds; and it corresponds equally well with that of the Denwa clays (in which also Mr. Hughes had succeeded in finding the reptilian remains) in the series of the Sátpuras, over the Pachmari (Máhádeva) sandstone. and below the Bágra and Jabalpur groups. With the latter case, there is, moreover, homology of stratigraphical position in the basin, from which a clue may be taken to solve the difficulties noticed by Mr. Hughes in South Rewah: the Denwa clays certainly never did rise far on the extension of their present outcrop; in the continuous ridges of sandstone across their strike at each end of the basin, they are either represented by sandstone, or their position is lost in the coalescence of the overlying and underlying sandstones. In both basins the final difficulty will be to indicate, in those unbroken masses of sandstone, groups that are more or less well defined in contiguous ground.

Sub-Assistant Hera Lál worked under Mr. Hughes' instructions during the season, and was useful in tracing and mapping trap dykes.

In the last annual report a prospect was held out that the current season's

RAJPUTANA: Mr. Hacket. work would complete a large area for publication. The ground was covered, but the publication must be postponed. In the neighbourhood of Chittorgarh Mr. Hacket came upon rocks showing relations that conflict very much with the information as yet gathered regarding the Arvali rock-series. Until these new features are worked out, it would be impossible to bring forward a description dealing principally with that series.

This survey had to be suspended for the season, while Mr. Fedden took KATTYWAR. charge of the museum during Mr. Mallet's absence.

The search for fossils in the Siwaliks of the north-west Punjab during the SUB-HIMALAYAS: past season was not very successful; it was partly undertaken in ground where collections had recently been made

taken in ground where collections had recently been made, so of course there were fewer specimens to be found weathered out from the rocks, and the result depended more upon what could be unearthed by labour. In the dearth of fossils, Mr. Theobald directed his attention to the elucidation of his views on the glacial phenomena of the outer Himalayan region. If we can accept his published observations (Records, Vol. XIII, p. 221) as correct, there would seem to be made out an interesting fact with reference to the large erratic blocks which have so often attracted notice as probably connected with a period of greater glacial extension in the Himalayas,-that the distribution of those blocks took place after the deposition of the old river gravels. Such a general limitation of the origin of these erratics to a definite period would, no doubt, tend to confirm the supposition of their connexion with a greater intensity of glacial conditions, an opinion against which no serious opposition has been offered; but I think that Mr. Theobald's observations will be held to negative the conclusion he would base upon them, that in his typical instance a Kaghán glacier can have travelled down the steep valley of the Kanhar without removing or disturbing the river gravels previously deposited.

This question links itself to another that has been vigorously contested by Mr. Theobald in our Records for the year under review, namely, that of the origin of the Kumaun lakes. The point has been exclusively argued as between glaciers and landslips, to the exclusion of a cause which must, I think, yet claim more attention. Mountain lakes are undoubtedly often formed by landslips. Mr. Mallet has described such an one in the lower hills of Sikkim (Memoirs, Vol. XI, p. 7); but hypogene ground-movements cannot be ignored in such a question. I showed long ago (1864) that tremendous disturbance had affected the Sub-Himalayan zones subsequent to the configuration of the adjoining mountain area very much as we now see it, and that the result was accomplished by an almost insensibly slow process. I afterwards (1867) attempted to apply this process on a large scale to account for the origin of the great lakes of the Alps (Quart. Journ. Geol. Soc., London, Vol. XXIV, p. 34). There are no such lake-basins in the Himalayas, but it would be worth consideration whether this mode of formation might not apply to some of the small lakes that do occur in that region of the mountains. There is a pair of pretty little lakes at Kundlu. between Rúpar and Biláspur, on the direct road from the plains to Kulu. They lie in a detached range of small elevation, entirely formed of tertiary sandstones, where the most advanced glacialist would hardly venture to suggest a glacier had ever existed. I did not examine the point critically when on the ground, and I have not had an opportunity of visiting the spot since this question has come into prominence. The features did not suggest to me a formation by landslip; I took the lakes to be in a rock basin, and the barrier to have been formed by an upward creep along a very limited zone. It seems to me that in a very heterogeneous mass of contorted rocks intense lateral pressure below may often result in the local squeezing up of a more rigid mass of rock, or one of which the bearings lend themselves to such a result of resistance.

In last annual report I stated that Mr. Theobald's matured study of the Sub-Himalayan rocks, the result of six seasons' field-work, would be brought out after the then current season. It is now published in the present number of the Records, and will be found amply to justify the reasons I had assigned for its postponement. Unfortunately, my having mentioned those reasons (under the impression that some apology was due) seems to have stimulated Mr. Theobald to the futile attempt to make up by verbal criticism and argument (or assertion) for what was wanting in material evidence.

Sub-Assistant Kishen Singh worked under Mr. Theobald's instructions for the early part of the season, until he was recalled to Calcutta for duty in the Museum. For the current season some easy work has been entrusted to him on the Vindhyan rocks in Central India.

Before going on sick leave in March, Mr. Wynne managed to complete his HAZÁBA: Mr. Wysne. survey of some of the blank areas in his map of Hazára, as published in the Records for 1879 (Vol. XII, pt. 2).

During his last summer campaign in the high Himalaya, Mr. Lydekker has NOBTH-WEST HIMALAYA: brought within our ken a large area on the north-west confines of the Káshmír Territories, in Dárdistán and

Mr. Lydekker. Baltistán. The information gained is, of course, important, although it admits of but little display in detail, a very large part of the area being formed of highly metamorphic rocks. The gneiss of the Kailás axis expands on the south-west into confluence with that of Deozai, Dárdistán, and Chilás (beyond the Indus), and on the north-east with that of the Mustág, which is probably continuous with that of the Pámír massif, the whole forming a great node between the Tibetan ranges on the south-east and those of the Hindu Kush on the west. North of Shigar an independent basin of triassic and palæozoic strata comes in on the southern flanks of the Mustág, and extending north-westwards towards Nagar.

In the ground previously explored, Mr. Lydekker notices some hitherto unobserved patches of tertiary rocks in the neighbourhood of Drás, and also the occurrence of cretaceous forms of fossils in the tertiary basin of the Indus. These facts have somewhat opposite bearings: the Drás outliers rest on or in palæozoic rocks, and thus confirm the view already arrived at regarding the great stratigraphical break between the cretaceous and eocene deposits in this part of the Himalayan region; whereas the palæontological fact would tend to reduce the time-value of that break. It is one more of the frequently recurring instances of the want of any standard of comparison between our two great tests of geological time—the structural relations of the rocks and the biological relations of their fossil contents. This reflection may suggest doubts as to the continuity of sequence in the palæozoic and lower secondary deposits, as insisted on by Mr. Lydekker in the ground he has examined.

Although the field-work was done in the summer of 1879, Mr. Griesbach's MIDDLE HIMALAYAS: account of his observations in the high Himalayas of

Mr. Griesback. Kumaun and Hundes could not be prepared in time for notice in the annual report for that year. His preliminary sketch was published in our Records for May last, and fully justifies the promise I held out regard. ing it. Great additions have been made to our knowledge of that most interesting ground, in the detailed classification of the lower secondary formations, which Mr. Griesbach, by means of the fossils he collected, has brought into close comparison with corresponding sections in the Alps.

A local feature of much importance has also been verified, and may, I think, be finally accepted, that the fossil remains of large mammalia which have long been known to occur in Tibet are really derived from the extensive undisturbed deposits forming the great plains of that elevated region. Our best authority on this point hitherto, General Strachey, has always asserted it was so, but upon evidence short of certainty, and the inference he drew therefrom, that the plains' deposits of Hundes must have been formed near the sea-level and subsequently raised to their present elevation of 15,000 feet, has been the chief difficulty in accepting the observation. I have always considered (see 'Manual,' p. 681) that the biological and climatological conditions of the puzzle were more elastic than the stratigraphical, and that the adjustment would have to be largely made from that side. Mr. Griesbach was prevented by the Chinese officials from staying any time in Hundes, and he has not brought any good fossils from those deposits, but he did find bone fragments in them, and that point is, I think, settled.

In extending his view to the general question of Himalayan geology, Mr. Griesbach has been, perhaps, a little over-bold upon so short an acquaintance with the ground, and without sufficient reference to what has already been done. The general interpretation of the 'folded flexure' structure which he applies as the key to the whole section, as if for the first time, has been under consideration from the beginning of our work in this region (see Memoirs, Vol. III, Appendix), and it has from the first been adopted for certain parts of the region, such as the Dhauladhár and the Pir Panjál; but there are very striking structural contrasts between these sections and those which have been described in the area distinguished as the lower, or outer, Himalayas, in which it has not hitherto seemed possible to make out the flexure structure in the crude (simple) form as now done by Mr. Griesbach. The features referred to are fully noticed in the Manual and elsewhere, and need not be recapitulated here. The question is, indeed, far from settled, but we must beware of closing it by the forced application of prescribed forms.

In the same paper Mr. Griesbach has ventured upon a still bolder undertaking, to correlate the rocks of peninsular India with those of the Himalayas and of the world beyond the seas. These flights of generalisation are always more or less useful as stimulants, but are unfortunately seldom susceptible of profitable discussion on their merits; the entertainment of passing final judgment on them must be left to our successors. The facility with which identifications of precarious validity are thus taken up has the inevitable effect of weakening one's faith in what might otherwise have been accepted as matter of experience, such as Mr. Griesbach's correlation of our Gondwánas with the Karoo series described by him in South Africa, save that this is a point upon which independent evidence has been for long converging. It is not so with the affiliation of our Vindhyan series, through the Table Mountain rocks, to the carboniferous

period, though the argument presented is a strong one, at least on paper. It would indeed be convincing but for the incommensurable characters of the unconformities which Mr. Griesbach handles with so free a touch. The Table Mountain sandstone, as stated, is presumably carboniferous; and if any measurable comparison could be made between the unconformities of the Karoo beds upon that rock and of the Gondwánas to the Vindhyans, some correspondence might be indicated. Regarding the former feature, much detailed information is not available, but of the latter I can say that the unconformity is as great as is conceivable under the circumstances of comparatively little disturbance in both formations. The physical features of the country were to a great extent transposed in the interval of these formations, the uplands becoming hollows and the hollows uplands, and mainly by a slow process of disintegration, but little affected by the convenient 'land-wave.' This may not be admitted as a difficulty in the affiliation suggested, inasmuch as the permian period may mean almost any term of duration; still such little facts as I have mentioned should not be lost sight of. Prodigious breaks in time may be represented locally by slight apparent unconformity, as might be illustrated by striking instances in India; it nevertheless remains true that stratigraphical facts, of which unconformities are not the least conspicuous, still form our safest criterion of the actual lapse of time.

If I have ventured to make what may be thought severe remarks upon the $A_{FGH \land NIST \land N}$: speculative efforts of my colleague, I have done so with a

Mr. Griesbach. light heart, because of the extent and excellence of the real work he has accomplished; and I must not omit to mention that the 'Notes' upon which I have commented were written under the pressure of an urgent departure to Afghánistán, where he was engaged from March to November. The services of a geologist were called for with special reference to a discovery of coal near the mouth of the Bolán pass, and to afford information to the Wali of Kándahár on the reputed mineral resources of his territory. Mr. Griesbach offered his services, and I could have chosen no more efficient officer. Owing to circumstances beyond Mr. Griesbach's control, the practical object of his mission could be but little attended to; and for the same reasons, the purely geological observations that could be made were less detailed and extensive than might be expected from the time engaged. Marches with troops had generally to be made during the night, and whether on the march or in camp, or at Kándahár itself, it was not possible to go any distance without a strong military escort. Fortunately, Mr. Griesbach's admirable skill with his pencil enabled him to make useful record of features, it was impossible to examine in detail. The results will be published as soon as the map and figures can be prepared; meantime the following leading features may be mentioned :-- In the whole ground traversed between the Indus and the. Helmand, no rocks were met with older than the cretaceous. The upper tertiary, or neogene, rocks (Manchar and Gáj groups of Mr. Blanford's Sind series) form the fringing hills about Dádar; and the lower beds (Gáj) were again recognised at several points of the route. They are always strongly unconformable to the eccene. These lower tertiary rocks have a two-fold composition-presenting a limestone facies in Biluchistán and a flysch aspect in Afghánistán (Ghaziábád and Kojak ranges). They are conformable to the cretaceous series, which is shaly at top with a strong hippuritic limestone below. These rocks were first found at the crest of the Bolán pass, and were the only formation observed west of the Kojak range. In this latter country the hippurite limestone is extensively broken up by eruptive rocks, both granitic and trappean. The metalliferous deposits occur in the contact zone of these intrusive rocks.

I cannot close this notice of his geological work without recording how Mr. Griesbach did honour to the Survey during the distressful days at Girishk, Maiwand, and Kandahar when called upon to change the hammer for the sword.

Publications.—Four parts of the Memoirs were issued during the year, completing Vols. XV, XVI, and XVII. Mr. Griesbach's report on the Ramkola coal-fields form part 2 of Vol. XV. Mr. King has written parts 2 and 3 of Vol. XVI; the former, describing the coastal region of the Nellore portion of the Carnatic, is a recovery of field-work done many years ago; it is in sequence with part 1 (by Mr. Foote) describing the corresponding region to the north, and part 3 contains the continuation of the same region further north, in the Godávari area; in it are given the details of some sections that have for long been of special interest in Indian geology, the remote outlier of the Deccan trap and its associated fossiliferous beds at Rajahmundry. Part 2 of Vol. XVII contains Mr. Wynne's description of the Trans-Indus continuation of the Salt-range, and the map is uniformly coloured with that of the Salt-range itself, in Vol. XIV, by the same author.

The Records continue to fulfil their purpose of giving immediate information upon points of special interest, and of bringing to notice occasional observations that might be lost sight of if reserved for mention in some appropriate descriptive memoir. The volume for the year again happens, as last year, to contain 22 papers, with numerous maps and plates; and again two of the best articles are by independent contributors—Mr. G. T. Clark's observations on the evidence for foci of eruption in the Concan; and Dr. Carter's most useful paper on the production of salts in the soil, as occurring to such a ruinous extent in northwestern India.

The issue for the year of the Palæontologia Indica has been full and important. Professor MARTIN DUNCAN'S description of the Sind fossil corals, with twenty-eight beautifully executed plates, forms a worthy beginning of a great task—the description of the marine fauna of the tertiary rocks of India. This work has already given valuable and conclusive confirmation to the correlation of the upper groups of the series (including the Siwaliks) as worked out in the field and from a discussion of the mammalian fauna by Mr. William Blanford. During the winter's recess from his field work in the high Himalaya, ME. LYDEKKER was able to prepare and issue a description of the fossil Proboscidia; it forms part 5 (with 119 pages of text and 18 plates), completing Vol. I of the series devoted to the Indian Tertiary and Post-tertiary Vertebrata. Besides his current work in arranging the collections in the Museum, DR. FEISTMANTEL issued the first part of his flora of the Damúda and Panchet divisions, containing eighteen plates. He also prepared very full systematical lists and indices for the earlier

numbers, thus completing the two first volumes of this series of the Palæontologia Indica, entitled the Fossil Flora of the Gondwána System. As may be gathered from remarks on a previous page, we should be quite helpless to undertake the classification and description of the main areas of the Gondwána formation without the assistance afforded by Dr. Feistmantel's elaborate study of the fossil botany of these rocks. The second part of DR. WAAGEN's description of the Saltrange fossils, containing 111 pages of text and 10 plates, was issued during the year. The materials for a third part are now well advanced for publication.

Mining Records.—A beginning has at last been made to establish a mining record office in Bengal. The question of mining legislation, involving the inspection of mines, in India has been repeatedly raised within the last twenty-five years. In early days there is no doubt that much violence was practised in connexion with the management of coal-mines, but such conduct was no more than was then in vogue amongst large land-owners all over the country, being only the remains of indigenous misrule; and any traces of it still left lie in this quarter rather than in the management of mining establishments. The conditions which have led to the enactment of strict regulations in countries where extensive mining operations are carried on have as yet no existence in India; there are no hardships to be endured essentially different from those involved in other branches of enterprise, the adjustment of which is best left to the guidance of intelligent self interest and benevolence. Government has therefore refrained from imposing upon this industry the annoyances inseparable from an official inspection involving the actual mining operations. There is, however, one point that cannot be left to take care of itself, as it has but small bearing upon immediate interests, and which, for this same reason, it is unobjectionable for Government to interfere with, while for the permanent interests involved it becomes obligatory to do so-to ensure a permanent record of abandoned underground workings. To make certain of this being done would, indeed, involve an official check upon the plans that are made of actual workings, for it is notorious that thriftless managers will drive ahead without keeping their mine-survey up to date; and such a check might well be enforced without giving any scope to officious interference with the working of the mine. It has, however, been determined for the present to trust to what can be obtained voluntarily from mine-owners, all of whom have been officially invited to send copies of their mine-surveys to be deposited in the office of the Geological Survey.

In this connexion I am glad to be able to announce that permission has been given to place in the hands of Mr. V. Ball the preparation of a volume on the economic geology of India, to form Part III of the Survey Manual, issued in 1879. It cannot be expected that this work should contain much positive information upon the mineral wealth of India, for little or nothing has been done in the experimental opening out of mineral deposits in this country, and without this, it is not possible to form any accurate judgment of their mode of occurrence or richness. It will, however, be of much interest and practical service to bring together into connected form notices of all that has been seen, said or done upon this very important subject. I feel confident that Mr. Ball will do justice to the work he has undertaken. Museum.—Good progress has been made in bringing the collections into complete classified arrangement. Some new cases were provided during the year, in which the fossils recently described are now duly laid out for exhibition. While officiating for Mr. Mallet, in charge of the mineral collections, Mr. Fedden rearranged the series of meteorites, combining the collection formerly belonging to the Asiatic Society with the larger series previously in the possession of the Survey. The carefully-checked catalogue prepared by Mr. Fedden was published and issued before the close of the year.

I availed myself of Mr. Mallet's willing services while on sick leave in Europe to supply an important want in our Museum. The collection of useful mineral products, and the description of them in so far as relates to their abundance and mode of occurrence, is essentially a duty of the Geological Survey, unless in some perfectly organised State, where a properly qualified Technological Department might take charge of that branch of the work. The fulfilment of this duty is necessarily most elastic in its standard, according to the actual conditions and the possible or probable needs of the country, the extent of ground to be examined, and the facilities given or available for such work. The Survey has always endeavoured to keep up to the mark of requirement in these respects, and we now possess a fairly numerous illustration of such useful mineral substances as are known to occur in India. For our own and public use, we have often felt the want of good samples of raw materials of known quality in the arts. I accordingly asked Mr. Mallet to endeavor to procure such samples for the Museum. He made application to a large number of manufacturers, chiefly in the United Kingdom, and numerous contributions of specimens have already reached us. We hope before long to have this branch of the Museum in a fair state of efficiency.

Library.—There were 1,645 volumes and parts of volumes added to the library during the past year—751 by purchase and 894 presented. It should be noted that these figures are taken from the entries in the library register, the weekly or monthly parts of journals being separately counted.

Personnel.—The following officers were absont on furlough during the year :-Mr. Blanford for the whole year; Mr. Foote rejoined his appointment on the 7th of December, and resumed work in the Madura district; Mr. Wynne took twenty months' leave on the 3rd of April; Mr. Mallet returned from furlough on the 23rd of October, and resumed charge of the laboratory and the mineral collections; Mr. Ball returned to office on the 16th of October. On the 30th of July Mr. Pramatha Nath Bose, B. Sc. (London), F. G. S., joined his appointment on the graded staff of the Survey, being the first native gentleman who has duly qualified himself for the post. There is much ground for hope that he will prove equal to the dutics he has undertaken.

CALCUTTA, The 26th January 1881. H. B. MEDLICOTT, Superintendent, Geological Survey of India.

xi

List of Societies and other Institutions from which publications have been received in donation, or exchange, for the Library of the Geological Survey of India, during the year 1880.

BATAVIA.—Batavian Society of Arts and Sciences.

BELFAST.-Natural History and Philosophical Society.

BEBLIN.—German Geological Society.

" —Royal Prussian Academy of Sciences.

BOLOGNA.—Academy of Sciences.

BOMBAY.—Bombay Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society.

Boston.—American Academy of Arts and Sciences.

" —Society of Natural History.

BRESLAU.-Silesian Society of Natural History.

BRUSSELS .- Geographical Society of Belgium.

" -- Geological Survey of Belgium.

BUDAPEST.—Hungarian Institute.

CAEN.-Linnean Society of Normandy.

CALCUTTA.-Agricultural and Horticultural Society.

" — Asiatic Society of Bengal.

- " Marine Survey.
- " Meteorological Department.
- " —Survey of India.
- " -- Trustees, Indian Museum.

CAMBRIDGE-MASS.-Museum of Comparative Zoology.

COPENHAGEN.-Royal Danish Academy.

DIJON.-Academy of Sciences.

DRESDEN.—Isis Society.

22

DUBLIN.-Royal Geological Society of Ireland.

" —Royal Irish Academy.

" -- Royal Dublin Society.

EDINBURGH.-Geological Society.

-Royal Scottish Society of Arts.

" —Royal Society.

GENEVA.—Physical and Natural History Society. GLASGOW.—Geological Society.

- " -- Glasgow University.
- " -Philosophical Society.

HALLE.-Imp. Leopol. Carol. German Academy.

HARRISBURG .- Geological Survey of Pennsylvania.

INDIANAPOLIS.—Geological Survey of Indiana.

KÖNIGSBERG.—Physical Economic Society.

LAUSANNE.-Vandois Society of Natural Science.

LONDON.—Geological Society.

" —India Office.

" -Iron and Steel Institute.

" —Linnean Society.

Digitized by Google

LONDON.—Royal Asiatic Society.

- " Royal Geographical Society.
- " -Royal Institution of Great Britain.
- " —Royal Society.

xii

,,

,,

- " -Society of Arts.
- " —Zoological Society.

MADRID.—Geographical Society.

MANCHESTER.—Geological Society.

MELBOURNE.-Geological Survey of Victoria.

-Mining Department, Victoria.

-Royal Society of Victoria.

MINNEAPOLIS.-Minnesota Academy.

MILAN.-Society of Natural Science.

MONTREAL.—Geological Survey of Canada.

Moscou.—Imperial Society of Naturalists.

MUNICH.-Royal Bavarian Academy of Sciences.

NEUCHATEL.-Society of Natural Sciences.

NEW HAVEN.—Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences. ,, —Editors of the American Journal of Science.

PARIS.—Academy of Sciences.

" --Geological Society of France.

" -- Mining Department.

PENZANCE.—Royal Geological Society of Cornwall.

PHILADELPHIA.—Academy of Natural Sciences.

" — American Philosophical Society.

" — Franklin Institute.

PISA.-Society of Natural Sciences, Tuscany.

ROME.—Geological Commission of Italy.

" —Royal Academy.

ROORKEE.—Thomason College of Civil Engineering.

SAINT PETERSBURG .- Imperial Academy of Sciences.

SALEM-MASS.-Essex Institute.

SINGAPORE.-Straits Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society.

STOCKHOLM.-Geological Survey of Sweden.

STRASBURG.—Strasburg University.

SYDNEY .- Department of Mines, New South Walcs.

" —Royal Society of New South Wales.

TASMANIA.—Royal Society.

TURIN.—Royal Academy of Sciences.

VIENNA.—Imperial Academy of Sciences.

" — Imperial Geological Institute.

WASHINGTON.-Philosophical Institute.

" —Smithsonian Institute.

" — United States Geological and Geographical Survey.

Digitized by Google

WELLINGTON.-Geological Survey of New Zealand.

م: منع

" -New Zealand Institute.

YOKOHAMA.—Asiatic Society of Japan. "—German Naturalists' Society. "—Public Works Department, Japan. YORK.—Yorkshire Philosophical Society. ZÜBICH.-Natural History Society. The Government of Bengal. Bombay. " " Madras. ,, ,, North-Western Provinces. " " Punjab. ", "Punjab. The Chief Commissioner of Assam. British Burma. ,, ,,

- " Central Provinces.
 - " Mysore.

The Resident, Haiderabad.

,,

Foreign, and Home, Revenue, and Agricultural Departments.

Digitized by Google

xiii

.

•

· .

Geology of Part of Dárdistán, Baltistán, and Neighbouring Districts, being fifth notice of the Geology of Káshmír and Neighbouring Territories.—By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India.

(With Map and Sections.)

I.—INTRODUCTION.

Area examined.—The area of country geologically examined by myself during the past summer comprehends the north-western portion of the territories of the Máharájá of Káshmír; namely, a considerable portion of Dárdistán,¹ the greater portion of Baltistán, together with Suru (Sooroo), and the upper half of the Wardwan valley: a re-examination of the rocks of part of the Káshmír valley has also been made.

Route traversed.-The route traversed by myself, exclusive of some minor detours, may be summarised as follows :- Leaving the valley of Káshmír above Bandipur, on the northern shore of the Walar lake, my route lay across the Trágbal pass into the valley of the Kishangangá (Kishenganga) river: I proceeded up this valley as far as Gurez (Gurais), from which point I turned off to the northward, and advanced up the valley of the Burzil (Boorzil) river, and thence across the Dorikún (Dorikoon) pass to Astor: from the latter place I made a short excursion to the valley of the Indus above Bawanji (Boonjie), and returning from thence to Astor, I proceeded across the Banok (Bunnok) Lá to Rondu on the Indus, and thence up the valley of that river to Skárdu (Skardo, or Iskardo). From Skárdu I advanced up the valley of the Indus to its junction with the Sháyok (Shyok), and thence up the latter valley as far as the district of Chorbat, to the south of which I carried my geological examination of the preceding season: during this trip I made a run northward up the Hushi (Hushe) valley, as far as the foot of the gigantic peak numbered K1 on the Survey map. Returning down the Sháyok and Indus valleys, I proceeded to Shigar, from whence, travelling up the river of the same name, I paid a visit to the great glaciers of northern Baltistán, advancing a considerable distance up the Palma (Punmah⁹) and Baltaro (Boltoro) glaciers. Returning once again to Skárdu, my route lay across the plains of Deosai, thence down the Shingo river, and across the Marpo Lá to Drás. From the latter place I proceeded, by crossing the intervening range, to Kartsi (Kurtse), and thence to Suru: from the latter place I crossed the Bhot-Kol pass (Lánwi Lá) into the valley of the Wardwan river, down which I travelled as far as Inshin, whence I crossed the range to Nowbúg, and thus once again reached the valley of Káshmír.

Previous geological notices.—The large area of country visited during this journey is, with the exception of the neighbourhood of the Káshmír valley, almost entirely new ground to the Geological Survey, and has indeed been but little noticed by any geological writers. The most important previous notice is

¹ For the topography of these districts the reader may consult Mr. Drew's well-known work on Káshmír : "The Jummoo and Káshmír territories," London, 1875; and also "The Tribes of the Hindro Khoosh" by Major Biddulph; Calcutta, 1880.

² The name is so spelt on the Atlas sheet; it is, however, pronounced as here spelt.

one by Lieutenant-Colonel (then Captain) Godwin-Austen, published in the "Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London" for 1864,¹ to which I shall have occasion to refer subsequently. Slight notices have been also given by Mr. Drew,² General Cunningham,³ the late Dr. Thomson,⁴ the late Dr. Falconer,⁵ and the late Mr. Vigne.⁶ Portions of the area examined lying near the Káshmír valley have already been noticed by Dr. Stoliczka⁷ and myself⁸ in papers to which I shall often have occasion to refer; while many notices of the geology of the valley itself have already appeared.

General characters of strata examined.—By far the greater portion of the strata occurring in the area under consideration, consists of more or less completely metamorphosed rocks belonging to more than one geological formation. In most cases, it has not been found practicable to distinguish these different formations on the map, as their original relations have been altered by metamorphism. These metamorphic rocks have, however, yielded important evidence in regard to the age of the metamorphics in other parts of Káshmír territory, in regard to which point considerable discussion has already taken place in earlier papers of this series. The facts recently acquired have, moreover, entailed certain modifications of views previously expressed. The ascertained geological position of rocks containing carboniferous fossils in the Wardwan valley above the village of Suknis (Sooknis) (to the discovery of fossils in which by Mr. F. Drew reference has been made in an earlier paper⁹), has shown that a much greater proportion of the rocks of the great limestone series, than was previously supposed, must be assigned to the triassic period.

Order of description.—With the foregoing remarks I proceed to the general description of the rocks occurring in the area indicated, taking them firstly in the order in which they were met with along the route traversed, and adding some more general remarks in a later section. In the two concluding sections some notes are added on the glaciers and hot springs of Baltistán.

II.-DESCRIPTION OF ROCKS MET WITH ON ROUTE.

Bandipur to Gurez.—The rocks on the road between Bandipur and the Kishengangá valley have been already noticed by myself in a previous paper, and¹⁰ have been shown to be the equivalents of the silurian, and, perhaps, of still older rocks. In the Kishengangá valley, in the neighbourhood of Gurez, there occurs a large series of limestones and shaly rocks, conformably overlying the silurian, and representing the carboniferous and trias. These rocks were also mentioned

¹ Vol. XX, p. 383.

² Loc. cit.

* " Ladák," London, 1854.

4 "Western Himalaya and Tibet," London, 1852.

* "Palæontological Memoirs," Vol. I, p. 577, et seq.

"Travels in Káshmír, Ladák, Iskardo, etc," Loudon, 1842.

7 "Mem. Geol. Surv. of India," Vol. V, p. 352, et seq.

⁹ Supra, Vols. IX, p. 156; XI, p. 30; XII, p. 15; XIII, p. 26: I shall frequently refer to these papers without citing the precise page referred to.

Digitized by Google

⁹ Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 58.

¹⁰ Ibid., Vol. XII, p. 23.

in the paper quoted above, but, as I have now examined them in greater detail, and marked their boundaries with greater accuracy on the map, they require a further notice on the present occasion.

Gurez trias, etc .- The topmost portion of the Gurez limestone' now remaining, forms the lofty and precipitous cliffs on which Changi station is situated. This rock is a massive, bluish-white, dolomitic limestone, similar to that which occurs on the Drás river, already described in my above-quoted papers; it is underlaid by banded limestones like those of Sonamarg, and several parts of the Káshmír valley. The rock has a low and constant north-easterly dip, and in many places is full of the large Megalodon (cf.) gryphoides," common in the triassic rocks of parts of Ladák. To the south-west of Gurez these rocks are underlaid by massive blue limestones, and dark, and frequently carbonaceous, shales, passing gradually downwards into the slaty and chloritic rocks of the silurian. The higher rocks being undoubtedly triassic,³ and the lower in all probability silurian, it is presumed that some of the intermediate rocks must represent the carboniferous. From the absence of carboniferous fossils in this locality, it is, however, by no means an easy matter to fix definitely the carboniferous horizon; but from analogous sections in Ladák, and from a section in the Wardwan valley, to be mentioned in the sequel, it is inferred that the shaly and calcareous beds at the base of the limestone series are, in all probability, the representatives of the carboniferous, and accordingly have been coloured so in the map. Whether the zone is quite rightly fixed may be open to doubt, but it cannot be far distant from the truth.

Extension of same.—The trias of Gurez extends to the south-east into Tilel (Tilail), as has been already noticed in a previous paper⁴; its northern boundary was not, however, fixed at the time of writing that paper, and may now claim our attention. Up the valley of the Burzil river, the trias continues as far as the village of Chewai, at which place it has acquired a southerly dip, and passes down into a series of black carbonaceous shales and blue limestones with quartz veinings : near the village of Dúdgai (Doodigai), these lower rocks in turn gradually pass down into hard sandstones and slates, generally of a dark colour. The carbonaceous shales are more developed on this side of the trias than on the southern side; they correspond in mineralogical composition very closely with similarly situated shales in Ladák,⁵ and, like them, must, in all probability, be referred to the carboniferous: to the south-east they are largely developed in Tilel, where I have already noticed them in the paper quoted. The rocks under-

¹ Notes on the occurrence of this limestone are given by Vigne, *loc. cit.*, Vol. I, p. 209, and Drew, *loc. cit.*, p. 395.

³ Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 44. The cephalopod previously noticed by myself (Supra, Vol. XII, p. 24) from these rocks as a *Clymenia*, came from the same beds as the *Megalodon*. I, therefore, think that in a field examination the specimen must have been wrongly determined and in reality must have belonged to a large species of *Ceratiles*.

* The rhætic is here classed with the trias; the Megalodo is characteristic of the upper trias.

Digitized by Google

* Supra, Vol. XII, p. 15, et seq.

⁵ Ilid., Vol. XIII, p. 44.

lying the presumed carboniferous band are those classed as the silurian. Somewhat higher up the Burzil river, the strike of the rocks changes from its normal north-westerly and south-easterly direction, and becomes coincident with the course of the river; the dip being nearly due east, at a low angle. The summits of the hills and spurs forming the ridge on the right bank of the river consist of the presumed carboniferous shales and limestones, with the silurians underlying them. The carboniferous rocks form the greater portion of the precipitous cliffs on the left bank of the river. Above the village of Jasat, the shales and limestones are remarkable for the extraordinary amount of contortion and folding to which they have been subjected. Still higher up the river valley the carboniferous rocks are apparently overlaid by a great series of slates, sandstones, amygdaloids, ribband-jaspers, and conglomerates, with here and there a thin calcareous band. These apparently overlying rocks seem to be the same as those underlying the carboniferous on the lower part of the Burzil river, and are certainly the same as the silurians of Drás and Tilel,² which also underlie the carboniferous. On these grounds I can only explain the section on the upper Burzil by inversion, the silurians really underlying the carboniferous.

Characters of silurians.—Many of the silurians have their joint-surfaces covered with a thin coating of a green serpentinous mineral, while the rocks themselves are not unfrequently very similar in character to the trappoids of Drás. The conglomerates contain pebbles of granitic gneiss, and other metamorphic rocks, to which I shall have occasion to refer again in the sequel.³

Dorikún pass.—The unaltered silurian rocks continue to a short distance above the junction of the Burzil and Nagai streams, where they have a southwesterly dip, and gradually pass downwards into a schistose gneiss. This laminated gneiss, which must doubtless be altered out of the lower part of the silurian series, is finally underlaid by an unstratified white and finely crystalline gneiss, sometimes hornblendic, and at others micaceous, and indistinguishable both in hand specimens and *in situ* from true granite. This rock forms the summit of

¹ At the risk of repetition, I must sgain remark that the silurian is placed immediately below the carboniferous, since when fossils have been obtained in the lower Himalayan rocks no devonian period could be defined from them. Since, however, we have a continuous rock-series in this part of the Himalaya, it is evident that the representatives of the devonian must exist, either at the base of the rocks classed as carboniferous, or at the top of those classed as silurian. In the absence of fossil evidence, and in the continuity of the infra-carboniferous rocks as a geological series, it would be worse than useless to attempt an arbitrary division. (Mr. Griesbach has thought that in the more eastern Himalaya he could distinguish by fossils a distinct devouian epoch. Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 93). The foregoing remarks will apply with equal propriety to the non-recognition of the permian and rhætic as distinct periods. Indeed, both devonian, permian, and rhætic, are but transitional periods in Europe, and it is therefore not surprising that they should not be so distinctly recognisable in other regions, where the transition of the life-forms may have been more compressed.

² Supra, Vol. XII, p. 15, et. seq.

• It is very remarkable that some of the silurian conglomerates here, as well as near Driss, in the Wardwan, and on the Pir Panjál, contain pebbles of a limestone exceedingly like that of the trias, but which must have been derived from some much older rocks, now totally removed.

the Dorikún pass, at which place it has been referred to by Mr. Drew¹ as true granite; it seems to be identical with the granitic gneiss² of Drás, and some portion of that of Ladák.

Gneiss of two periods .- It is quite evident from the occurrence of pebbles of a granitic gneiss in the overlying conglomerates, which are presumably silurian, that some portion of the underlying gneiss series must have existed as land at the time of the deposition of the silurians. This original, primitive gneiss, which is, I think, certainly represented by that of the Dorikún pass, is doubtless the "central" gneiss of Dr. Stoliczka. It would appear, however, that subsequent metamorphic action has partially altered the base of the superimposed silurian series, and has obliterated all traces of the original unconformity between the latter and the hypogene gneiss. This subsequent metamorphism has rendered it almost, if not quite, impossible, in many cases, to distinguish between the primitive and the superimposed gneiss, and therefore the red area on the map must be taken to include gneiss of the two ages. I shall have more to say on this question in the sequel, and in my route survey shall endeayour to point out in what places it can be distinctly affirmed that the gneiss belongs to one or the other period. The Dorikún gneiss being clearly primitive, and being indistinguishable from that of Drás and Ladák, confirms my previously-expressed view as to at least a great portion of that gneiss being primitive.3

Astor gneiss.—To return to the section. Gneissic rocks are continued across the Dorikún pass into the Astor valley, and are there generally light-coloured and unstratified; the higher beds are, however, sometimes imperfectly crystalline, hornblendic in composition, and show more or less distinct signs of original stratification. Near the village of Dárs the lowest exposed gneiss is a lightcoloured granitic rock, crowded with large twin-crystals of white or pinkish orthoclase, and seems to be indentical with the porphyritic gneiss-granite of Tánkse in Ladák': this gneiss is also, I think, certainly primitive. Below Dárs the gneiss is generally fine-grained and dark-coloured, containing some partially altered slaty beds: it is not easy to determine its serial relationship to the porphyritic rock, but it probably overlies the latter, and most likely, at all events in part, belongs to the altered silurian series.

Silurian (?) gneiss.—In the neighbourhood of Astor itself, we find the lowest exposed rocks, as is well exhibited near the village of Dashken, consisting of light-coloured, distinctly foliated, gneiss and mica-schist. The former is sometimes fine-grained, frequently garnetiferous, and locally porphyritic: the crystals of orthoclase in the latter have a peculiar lenticular form, and are embedded in a purple felspathic base, with imperfectly crystalline structure, and frequently containing small garnets.⁶ The whole of the lower part of the gneiss series,

¹ Loc. cit. p. 396, at p. 313. Mr. Drew also speaks of the Ladák gneiss as granite: Mr. Vigne (loc. cit., p. 213) speaks of the Dorikún gneiss as granite.

² The German term "gneiss-granite" will sometimes be employed for these granite-like rocks. ³ Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 57.

4 Ibid., Vol. XIII, p. 30.

Known in Germany as "angen-gneiss" ('eyed-gneiss,') from the form of the felspar crystals-

exposed in this neighbourhood weathers to a rusty brown colour, is frequently ferruginous, and generally traversed by veins of white intrusive granite. The rocks are generally micaceous, though sometimes hornblendic : large isolated crystals of hornblende not unfrequently occur in the micaceous varieties. It is these, lower rocks of the Astor series which are chiefly developed in the trans-Indus ranges in the neighbourhood of Gilgit. Lieut.-Col. H. C. B. Tanner informs me that similar rocks extend as far as Gárkúch, to the north-west of Gilgit.

Upper beds.—The higher portion of the Astor gneiss series, well exhibited near Astor itself, generally consists of a dark-coloured, granitic, and often highly hornblendic gneiss, though micaceous varieties occur here also.

Astor to Rondu.—On the road between Astor and Rondu, which crosses the high range dividing the Astor river from the Indus, the higher and dark-coloured gneiss-granite of Astor continues as far as the village of Popál, where it is underlaid by micaceous, garnetiferous, and imperfectly crystalline schists, containing ferruginous patches weathering to a bright red or orange colour, and traversed by veins of intrusive granite. These rocks are, of course, the same as those underlying the higher gneiss on the Astor river, but are less crystalline; they are again underlaid by a light-coloured, granitic, or porphyritic gneiss like that of the Dorikún pass, forming the core of the ridge dividing the Astor and Indus valleys.

Age of Astor gneiss.—This gneiss core being primitive, it would seem that the whole of the gneiss overlying it must be altered silurian or older palæozoic. With regard to the gneiss in the Astor valley, I have thought it possible that some of the lower portion, especially the porphyritic, may really be a less perfectly crystalline form of the primitive gneiss; this, however, is only a conjecture, and it may be that all this gneiss is altered palæozoic. On the other hand, the thickness on the Astor side is very great; while the silurian conglomerates south of the Dorikún pass contain certain pebbles which are extremely like the lower Astor rocks.

Rocks of Rondu.—In Rondu, to the north of the primitive axis, the rocks consist of numerous varieties of granitic and schistose gneiss, either micaceous or hornhlendic. The intrusions of granite are here remarkably numerous, and belong to at least two epochs, the veins of the earlier intrusion being traversed by those of the later. The mica in these granitic veins occurs frequently in crystals of very large size. At the village of Rondu itself, we find a dark-coloured and granitic gneiss apparently the same as the upper gneiss of Astor: somewhat higher up the valley this gneiss is underlaid by schistose, gneissic, and other micaceous rocks, alternating with several bands of a pure white, highly crystalline, metamorphic limestone; these rocks have an inclination of about 70° to the northwest. Still higher up the valley, near the bend of the river, these schistose rocks are again underlaid by a massive white granitic gneiss, which, from its position and mineral character, would seem to be the same as the primitive gneiss of the Dorikún pass, the overlying schists and limestones corresponding to the schists of Popál.

Central gneiss.—The lower granitic gneiss forms an anticlinal axis, and is overlaid near Byicha by the schists and limestones noticed above; the limestone

on this side, however, occurs in a single band some 300 feet in thickness, and contains some imperfectly crystalline beds: near Básho these rocks are overlaid by the dark granitic gneiss of Rondu and Astor, a large thickness of schistose rocks intervening between this and the limestones.

Classification.—The section of the gneiss series in this district may be tabulated as follows :—

•	AND (?)	(?) CAM- $\begin{cases} 1. \\ 2. \end{cases}$	1.	Dark granitic gneiss.						
BRIAN, A			2.	Schistose in Indu	gneiss, s valley,	mica-schists, crystalline lin	partly nestones	metamorphosed	slates,	and,
PRIMITIVE			8.	Light gra	nitic gn	eiss. frequentl	v poruh	vritic.		

The presence of limestone in the presumed silurian series is very noticeable. The unconformity supposed to exist between the latter and the hypogene gneiss is entirely obliterated; the sections are, however, here so clear that it would be quite possible to distinguish the two series on the map, though in other localities this has been found impracticable.

Básho rocks.—Between Básho and Katsúra (Kutzurah) we have alternations of the higher schistose and granitic gneiss. In the neighbourhood of Skardu there occur some massive slaty and jaspideous rocks, very like the presumed silurians of the Cháng-Chenmo valley,¹ and which are doubtless the unaltered representatives of the higher gneiss series described above.

Gneiss of Skárdu and Sháyok valley.—In the Indus and Sháyok valleys above Skárdu, we find alternations of granitic and schistose gneiss with less perfectly crystalline rocks, which, without doubt, contain representatives of both the primitive and the silurian series. It, however, seems to me to be almost impossible to say to which period many of the rocks should be referred, as several of the higher beds consist of white granitic gneiss. Thus, at Kiris on the Sháyok, there occur on the left bank of the river slaty rocks like those to the south of Skárdu, which are almost certainly silurians, overlaid by a thick mass of white granitic gneiss, indistinguishable from that of the Dorikún pass. Up the Sháyok valley I have traced the gnessic rocks as far as the north side of the Chorbat-Lá, whence they are continuous with those of Ladák, and consist mainly of granitic gneiss, which, as has been before said, is probably in great part primitive.

Intrusive rocks, &c.—On the lower Sháyok the gneiss is frequently hornblendic like that of Ladák. In this rock there not uncommonly occur veins of serpentine, and near Kiris bands of amethystine quartz with garnets. Between Skárdu and Shigar, at Machilu (Muchiloo), and at some other points, the gneiss is porphyritic, and consequently, from its resemblance to the primitive central gneiss in other parts of the Himalaya, is inferred to be primitive.³ The metamorphics of the lower Sháyok, and of the Indus near Skárdu, are in many places traversed by veins of a dark-coloured, finely crystalline and intrusive minette, or micaceous trap, much resembling that of Seifersdorf, in Saxony. The intrusions of this trap are well exhibited where they traverse the white granitic gneiss of Kúnis, on the Sháyok; some of these intrusions occur in the form of thick, irregular

¹ Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 33.

* See Griesbach, Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 83.

masses, and others in fine ramifying veins. In addition to the trap, there also occur numerous granitic intrusions, the granite being mainly a finely crystalline compound of quartz and felspar. The granitic and trappean intrusions appear to have taken place at several periods, since the granite sometimes intersects the trap veins, and vice verså.

Gneiss of Húshi.—From the village of Machilu I made a trip up the Húshi valley northwards, to the foot of snowy peak numbered K1. In that valley there occur alternations of granitic and schistose gneiss, continuing up to the. watershed. The lowest gneiss, generally forming the higher ridges and peaks, is of the primitive porphyritic type of Dárs. Beds of the Rondu metamorphic limestone also occur among the schistose gneiss near Húshi. The northern extension of the gneiss beyond peak K1 will be treated of in the sequel. To the eastward, the valley of the Saltero river seems likewise to consist entirely of metamorphic rocks, though I have not visited the watershed.

Carboniferous of Machilu.-Some rocks overlying the gneiss at Machilú, at the mouth of the Húshi stream, together with some lacustrine deposits in the valleys of the Indus and Sháyok, now demand a few moments' attention. In the neighbourhood of Machilu, there occurs on the right bank of the Hushi stream a series of rocks, consisting of purple and green slaty shales, bluish white limestones, and buff sandstones. The relations of these rocks to the underlying porphyritic central gneiss are somewhat obscure, owing to the amount of debris concealing the junction. They have an easterly dip towards the high cliffs of gneiss on the left bank; and their lower beds appear to pass downwards into a greenish gneiss. It appears probable that these rocks, including the gneiss at their base, were originally unconformable to the primitive gneiss, but that their pristine relations have been subsequently disturbed by faulting. These Machilu rocks bear a great resemblance to some of the rocks which have been classed as carboniferous in Ladák, and, as will be subsequently shown, are the same as certain rocks underlying the trias of Shigar, which are also classed as carboniferous.

Lacustrine strata.—At various points in the valleys of the Indus and Sháyok, in the districts of Rondu, Skárdu, and neighbourhood, there occur extensive deposits of sand and clay of lacustrine origin, often rising to a considerable height above the present level of the rivers. These deposits have already been commented upon by Mr. Drew,¹ Colonel Godwin-Austen,² General Cunningham,³ and the late Dr. Thomson.⁴ At Rondu itself, these beds, consisting of a hard, buff, and banded clay, occur in small patches of no great thickness. At the village of Kuárdu (Kuardo), opposite Skárdu, they attain a height of more than a thousand feet above the present level of the river. In a few places near Skárdu glacial morainic matter appears to overlie the lacustrine strata, thus indicating the preglacial origin of the latter deposits. This inference is confirmed by the

¹ Loc. cit., p. 364, " Quarterly Journal Geological Society," Vol. XXIX, p. 460.

² " Quarterly Journal Geological Society," Vol. XX, p. 384.

³ Loc. cit., p. 192.

⁴ 1bid., p. 220. Dr. Thomson was the first to note the probable glacial origin of the boulders at Skárdu.

PART 1.] LYDERKER-Geology of Dardistan, Baltistan, &c.

very remarkable foldings to which the lacustrine strata beneath the town of Skárdu have been subjected, in regard to which Mr. Drew has come to the conclusion that they are certainly due to the action of ice in some form or other; a view in which I am disposed to concur. Colonel Godwin-Austen, as he has informed me by letter, also considers these strata to be of preglacial age, and thinks that they may not improbably belong to the pleistocene period, and roughly correspond in time to some of the lacustrine strata on the south side of the Káshmír valley. On this view, it is somewhat difficult to understand how Mr. Drew¹ can consider that any of these lacustrine strata at Skárdu have been deposited in a lake formed by a glacier damming the Indus at Katsúra, unless he assumes two periods of glaciation. In my own opinion the lacustrine strata of Rondu, from their great similarity in composition, were probably deposited by the same lake as those of Skárdu, and of Kiris (at the junction of the Indus and Sháyok). where large masses of similar strata also occur. The lacustrine strata of the upper Indus in Ladák are also exactly similar in mineralogical composition, and I opine that we must look for some general cause for the formation of the chain of lakes, in which I imagine these strata to have been deposited. It may be added that General Cunningham is of opinion that the whole of these strata were deposited in a contemporaneous chain of lakes, and he has published a plan illustrating the connection and extent of the upper series of these lakes.* If these lacustrine strata are at all contemporaneous with those of Káshmír, we must, I think, certainly come to the conclusion that some common cause was concerned in the production of the pleistocene lakes in which they were deposited. The lacustrine strata of Ladák are probably of preglacial age.

Other lacustrine struta, and glaciation.—At Húshi, to the north of Machilu there occurs a mass of lacustrine strata more than 100 feet in thickness: other masses also occur in the Bráldu (Braldoh) valley, to which I shall have occasion to refer subsequently; all these strata are probably, and some certainly, newer than those of the Indus valley. I shall not here refer further to the evidence of former glaciation in Skárdu and the surrounding country, as I have reserved such phenomena for discussion in a subsequent section of this paper.

Shigar.—It now remains to bring under consideration the rocks on the Shigar river,³ and of its tributaries, the Bráldu and Básha rivers.—On the left bank of the Shigar, no great distance above its mouth, and to the north of the town of the same name, there occur certain sedimentary rocks, extending into northern Baltistán, locally unaltered and fossiliferous, but in most places totally unfossiliferous, and frequently having been so altered by metamorphic action, that it is in many cases a matter of extreme difficulty to distinguish them from the older metamorphic rocks.

- ¹ "Jummoo and Kashmir," p. 378.
- * Loc. cit., p 186.

³ It may be well to mention that there are two rivers called Shigar in the country of which we have to treat,—one in Baltistán, passing by the town of the same name, and another draining the greater part of Deosai, and uniting with the Shingo river, to flow into the Drás river. The name of the one flowing by the town of Shigar is not given on the accompanying map: the name is applied from the point of union of the Básha and Bráldu rivers to the junction of the united rivers with the Indus.

9

B

1

Previous notice.—These rocks of Shigar were first geologically examined by Lieutenant-Colonel (then Captain) Godwin-Austen,' who obtained from them, as he has informed me by letter, in the ravine leading from Shigar to the northeast near Abas-lúmba, in a block fallen from the cliffs above, some bad specimens of a species of *Rhynchonella*, and from the Skoru-Lá, on the road to Askoli (Askoley), numerous crinoid stems. Colonel Austen was, I believe, inclined to class all these sedimentary rocks as carboniferous. I shall, however, show that the higher beds are certainly of triassic age.

Sections.—It appears to me that the general relations of the rocks in question will be most readily explained to the reader by describing several transverse sections taken through them. It must be premised that the rocks on the right bank of the Shigar river are composed of gneiss, which is, I think, mostly of the older type, and that porphyritic gneiss, which I also consider to belong to the central gneiss, is found to the north and east of Shigar. At Shigar itself, as will be shown immediately, there occurs a considerable thickness of the newer gneiss of Rondu. It must also be observed that near Shigar the unaltered rocks have a north-easterly strike which swings round to the north-west above the town.

Daltumbar Section.—The first section I have to bring to notice is taken down the Daltumbar tributary ravine, running in a north-easterly direction from the village of Hashupa. The rocks exposed in this ravine, starting from a distance of about five miles from its mouth, consist of a series of regularly stratified beds, having a low north-westerly dip, and forming a descending series to the mouth of the ravine. The exposed section may be tabulated as follows, from above downwards, the estimated thickness being only a very rough approximation to the truth :—

1.	Brown, black, blue and	green,	shaly slat	es, with o	ccasional	dolo-	Ft.
	mitic limestones		•••	•••			1,500
2.	Blue and white mottled li	imestone	18	•••	•••		4 (×0
3.	Black slates, with crystale	of pyr	ite	•••		•••	500
4.	Variously coloured shales,	, and pr	rtly met	morphic l	limestone	s, with	
	fibrous gypsum	•••	•••	••	•••		300
5.	Flaggy gneiss, with blue a	nd whit	e, partly 1	netamorpi	bosed, lim	estone,	
	in lenticular masses	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	800
6.	Black shales		•••	•••	••		200
7.	White and blue dolomitic	: limesto	one and d	olomite, v	ith ferru	iginous	
	bands, weathering red			•••	•••		1,000
8.	Green shales			•••			?

In this section there appears to be no question of the serial conformity of the whole of the beds named, the gneiss being regularly interstratified with, and

¹ It is extremely unfortunate that when Colonel Godwin-Austen's carboniferous fossils from the Himalaya were sent home to Mr. T. Davidson for determination, the labels had become confused. In consequence of this confusion fossils from the carboniferous of Káshmír were said to have come from Shigar, and are thus noticed in the Journal of the Geological Society (Vols. XX, p. 387, XXII, p. 39). This error is noted on the page of errats facing page 35 of the last quoted volume. The real Shigar fossils sent home by Colonel Austen are not referred in to Mr. Davidson's papers.



passing by imperceptible degrees into, the unaltered beds immediately above and below. The dolomites and limestones marked No. 7, I have no hesitation, from their identity in mineralogical composition, and from their general appearance, in correlating with the trias of the Cháng-Chenmo valley, in Ladák.¹ All the overlying beds must consequently be not older than the trias, and since many of them are very similar to rocks which are at present classed with the trias in Ladák, in the absence of any palæontological ovidence, I provisionally class the whole of these rocks with the trias.

Skoru-Lá Section .--- I now proceed to notice a second section taken from some distance south of the Skoru-Lá (between Shigar and Askolí) down the ravine leading to the village of Khúti. In this section the rocks present a northeasterly strike, with a north-westerly dip, the strike sweeping round at the mouth of the ravine to become continuous with that of the rocks last mentioned. At the commencement of this section there occur the rocks numbered 1 to 5 in the preceding section, with much the same general composition and character. Below the gneiss band (No. 5), we find a thick mass of limestones and dolomites, which I presume to correspond with those marked 7 in the first section (the band No. 6 not being recognisable), though here the limestones are more inclined to be mottled, and the two, as will be noticed below, cannot be traced continuously. These limestones locally contain bands crowded with the stems of crinoids, as was observed by Colonel Godwin-Austen.³ This band of limestone is underlaid by a thick series of black and green shaly slates, or slaty shales, often carbonaceous or gypseous, and in the latter case very soft and Some of these slaty rocks near the snowy-peak marked on the atlas sheet friable. 20,635 contain bands of a greenish-yellow serpentine.³ Occasional cherty and calcareous bands occur in this series, and in some of the shales a very remarkable marbled conglomeration of bright coloured rocks. In the lower part of the Skoru ravine the rocks consist entirely of a hard greenish slate, gradually passing downwards into a thin band of greenish gneiss. Beneath this gneiss we find to the eastward of the village of Khúti, the following section, in descending order, viz. :--

								Ft.
1.	Granitic gneiss	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	150
2.	Little altered b	lue limestones	and	brown sar	ndstones, g	reatly has	rdened	
	and contorted	•••			•••	•••	•••	500
8.	Alternations of	white metamo	rphic	limestone	with dark	schistose	gneiss	1,000
4.	Massive gneiss	•••	•••		•••	•••	•••	1

¹ Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 84.

² It may be noted that crinoidal limestones are extremely abundant in the rhætic (here classed with the trias) of the more easterly Himalaya, as recorded by Mr. Griesbach (*Supra*, Vol XIII, pp. 95-97).

³ A specimen of this rock was presented by Major J. Biddulph to the Indian Museum (*vide Supra*, Vol. XIII, p. 74); at Shigar small cups and vases are manufactured from this serpentine, and are said to split if poison be poured into them. In the above quoted notice of Major Biddulph's specimen, Shigar is referred to Ladák, instead of to Baltistán.

Connection of sections.—In passing from Húshapa, at the mouth of the Daltumbar ravine, round the spur to the mouth of the Skoru ravine, we find that the limestones and dolomites (No. 7), so strongly represented at the former spot, do not continue to join the limestones of the latter, but come to an end very abruptly, dark slates and shales occurring on their line of strike. I can only explain this fact by assuming the existence of a fault throwing up the lower shales and slates, and thus cutting off the limestones.

In the ravine running north-east from Shigar, the infra-triassic shale series, at some distance from its mouth, in place of resting upon alternations of metamorphic limestone and schistose gneiss, and having its lower beds altered into a greenish gneiss, rests upon a massive granitic gneiss, thus probably indicating unconformity. Still higher up the ravine the whole of the infra-triassic series seems to pass into gneiss, as will be more fully noticed in the sequel.

Hashupa to Sildi.—To the north-west of Hashupa we find the gneiss overlying the limestones and dolomites gradually increasing in thickness, so that at some distance above that place none of the limestone is exposed, the gneiss coming down to the base of the section. At Sildi, however, the gneiss is again underlaid by the dolomitic limestones of Hashupa. Above Sildi, the relations of the strata are somewhat obscure : at this point there occurs a gneiss, to which I shall have to refer again, which elsewhere underlies the trias dolomites, but I am by no means certain that the original relations of the rocks have not been disturbed by faulting. If the relations are normal the trias must here form a synclinal, and the gneiss underlie it, as we shall see to be the case when we come to the consideration of the Askoli section.

Age of strata.—It now remains to consider what approximation, in the absence of any conclusive palæontological evidence, can be made to the geological age of the strata under consideration. It is apparent, as already observed, that the Hashupa dolomites and limestones are not older than the trias. Consequently the underlying shales near Shigar are almost certainly either lower trias or carboniferous. From the above quoted section given by Mr. Griesbach, it appears that crinoidal limestones in the more eastern Himalaya are characteristic of the rhætic, and not of the trias proper. If this distribution hold good here, we should infer that the Hashupa limestone must be the representative of the rhætic, and that consequently the Shigar rocks must be trias. In Europe, however, as is well known, the middle trias (muschelkalk) is one of the great horizons of crinoidal limestones (Encrinus liliformis), and I, therefore, do not consider the occurrence of these fossils as of any value in fixing horizons. In Ladák, on the other hand, I have come to the conclusion that the shaly rocks at the base of the great triassic limestone series are the representatives of the carboniferous; and, as will be subsequently shown, in Wardwan and Káshmír the fossiliferous carboniferous rocks occur at the base of the same great triassic limestone series, and consist in great part of shaly and slaty rocks. The trias, on the other hand, always contains more or less of dolomites and limestones. The balance of evidence, therefore, inclines to the view of regarding the shaly and slaty rocks of Shigar as of carboniferous age; and in the sequel they will accordingly

Digitized by Google

PART 1.] LYDEKKER-Geology of Dárdistán, Baltistán, &c.

be referred to as such, always with the proviso that, in the absence of palæontological evidence, the determination cannot be entirely free from doubt.¹

Age of gneiss rocks .- With regard to the beds of green gneiss underlying the carboniferous shales in the Skoru ravine, it seems probable that these beds have been altered out of the lower shales, as similar beds are found underlying the carboniferous of Machilu, and to the north-east of Shigar, the shales appear to rest directly on the older gneiss. The lower gneiss between Shigar and Skorn, containing the white metamorphic limestone, and the higher contorted blue limestones and sandstones, clearly belongs to the gneiss series of Rondu. and, as I have already said, seems to be unconformable to the carboniferous. though both series dip in the same direction, with some little difference in the direction of the strike: subsequent metamorphic action has obliterated this presumed unconformity. The lower gneiss seems indeed to have been largely denuded, since at Rondu the metamorphic limestones is overlaid by a great thickness of schistose and granitiform rocks, which could not possibly, I think, be the altered equivalents of the carboniferous and triassic rocks of Shigar. This view is rendered almost certain by the Machilu carboniferous rocks being in direct relation with the porphyritic central-gneiss; and by the same rocks to the northeast of Shigar apparently resting on gneiss which is below the horizon of the Rondu metamorphic limestone. It is, however, somewhat noteworthy that some of the thin bands of metamorphic limestone in the triassic gneiss are absolutely indistinguishable from the presumably lower silurian limestones of Rondu. Limestones, however, of any age, if submitted to metamorphic action, would necessarily assume much the same appearance. If the above view as to the relations of the rocks be accepted, it will be apparent that on this side of the great range of mountains separating the Indus from Káshmír, there must have been a break in deposition in some part of the silurian, the upper rocks must have been denuded, and the carboniferous thrown down upon the lower.

Alternative view.—The only other view of the relation of these rocks that occurs to me is that the whole series at Shigar is conformable. On this view the schists and other gneiss above the metamorphic limestone at Rondu would correspond to the carboniferous and trias. Against this view there are the above-mentioned relations of the Shigar and Machilu carboniferous to the subjacent gneiss, already referred to, and which appear to be insurmountable difficulties. Again, the upper Rondu series, as before said, is so utterly unlike the trias, that I cannot think it could possibly be the same. As a third objection, assuming that the lowest gneiss in the Rondu section, is the "central" gneiss, there would not be sufficient thickness of rocks from the central gneiss to the trias. A fourth objection is, that since the Rondu gneiss is apparently the same as the Astor gneiss, and since in the latter there is no limestone at all, while a little to the south (in the Kishanganga valley), the trias consists almost entirely of calcareous rocks, it appears totally impossible that any of the

¹ Further remarks on the relation of the trias and carboniferous will be found in the concluding section of this paper.

13

Astor rocks can be trias. I, therefore, cannot but accept the previously explained view.

Similarity of trias over wide areas.—Accepting the view propounded above, a noteworthy fact presents itself, which may be worth a few moments' attention, in the similarity of the trias in mineralogical characters on the two sides of the great gneissic axis of Baltistán and Ladák, as exemplified in the Kishanganga and Drás valleys on the south side, and at Shigar and Cháng-Chenmo on the north. At Shigar, however, the limestones and dolomites are in much smaller proportion relatively to the other rocks than in the other localities. This persistence of mineralogical character would seem to indicate the original local union of the present triassic areas.

Upper Shigar and Bráldu.—I now propose to continue our survey up the Shigar and Bráldu rivers from the point where we left it at Sildi. To the north of that village the metamorphic rocks, traversed by granitic veins, are extremely variable in mineralogical composition and structure; they may consist either of light-coloured schistose gneiss, mica-schist, garnet-schist, or locally of kyaniteschist. I have already remarked on the probable relations of these rocks to the trias of Sildi. The same gneissic rocks continue through parts of Básha and Bráldu as far as a little south-east of Askoli, in a kind of horse-shoe form, as will be seen from the map.¹ The gneiss which occurs among them is very generally light-coloured, distinctly foliated, very seldom granitic, and never porphyritic. In many parts of the area in question the sequence of the rocks is not clearly exhibited, but on the upper Bráldu river a very unmistakable section presents itself. In this region from a short distance to the westward of Hoto to some little distance to the eastward of Askoli, we find a regularly ascending series of these same metamorphic rocks, with a few folds, but generally having an easterly dip averaging 45°. One or two thin bands of limestone occur among the schistose rocks. At Askoli the hard white and foliated gneiss is crowded with blood-red garnets, and a short distance to the eastward of that place there occur some crumbly kyanite-schists.

Brdldu trias.—About three miles to the eastward of Askoli the gneiss is conformably overlaid by undoubtedly triassic rocks, presenting the following section, the passage from the underlying gneiss to the trias being an imperceptible one. The section shows at first thin beds of limestone and gneiss; gradually the limestones and dolomites increase in thickness, until near the halting place Kúrophon these calcareous rocks are at least 1,500 feet in thickness : this thickness is, however, merely local, and the beds thin out rapidly on either side. Many of the limestones and dolomites have been but slightly affected by metamorphic action while others have been converted into a highly crystalline rock : some of the lower beds at Kúrophon contain in considerable abundance long and transparent green or blackish prisms of actinolite. In the Palma and Baltaro valleys thinbedded, and highly metamorphic limestones alternate with foliated and frequently garnetiferous gneiss, the whole series showing signs of having been greatly disturbed, and being interpenetrated by numerous granitic intrusions in which hornblende is generally predominant.

¹ These rocks are coloured purple.
PART 1.] LYDEKKER-Geology of Dárdistán, Baltistán, &c

Older rocks.—The above-mentioned rocks continue up to the present terminations of the Baltaro and Palma glaciers, near which points we come upon a massive, light-coloured, and frequently porphyritic gneiss, indistinguishable from granite. This gneiss, which I have traced to the extremity of the Palma glacier and into the neighbourhood of the Mustág pass, appears to be the constituent rock of the whole range of gigantic mountains bounding the drainage area of the upper Bráldu river, and doubtless extends across the [watershed into Yarkand territory and to the north-west above Húnza and Nagar.¹ It agrees in composition with the lower gneiss in the Astor and Rondu districts, which I have considered as the equivalent of the primitive or "central" gneiss of Dr. Stoliczka, with some of the gneiss of Ladák, and apparently with the central gneiss of Húndes. It is quite distinct in character from the gneiss to the west of Askoli; and is doubtless of the oldest type.

Relationship of gneissic rocks.—In the region under consideration it is a matter of extreme difficulty to determine the precise relationship of the gneiss in immediate connection with the trias to the primitive gneiss of the Mustág range. Near the Palmá glacier the former rocks are seen dipping at a very high angle towards the granitic gneiss, but this cannot be the original relations of the two rocks. The foliated gneiss to the eastward of the undoubtedly triassic band very closely resembles the gneiss of Askoli, and I, therefore, think it probable that a concealed synclinal axis must exist somewhere in the trias, with inversion of the newer near the primitive gneiss.

North-westerly extension of trias.—To the north-west of Askoli I have traced the trias and its associated gneiss along the south-western side of the Biafo glacier as far as the Alchoric glacier: to the east of Askoli these rocks sweep round to join the trias of Sildi.

Básha.—The Básha valley appears to consist in great part of gneiss, though there are some triassic rocks. At the hot springs of Chútran (Tsutron, Tsuh-Tron) there occurs a mass of dolomitic limestone, first noticed by Mr. Vigne,^a overlying stratified gneiss. This limestone is triassic, and it appears that the underlying gneiss is faulted against the older gneiss to the north. It is not improbable that much more of the gneiss between this point and the bend of the Bráldu river at Dassu is related to the triassic series, but as this point could not be determined with any approach to certainty, all the rest of the gneiss is coloured in with the great mass. The trias in upper Básha is alluded to in the last paragraph. It appears that the whole of the rest of the valley consists of gneissic rocks.

Undetermined rocks in Bráldu.—In the Bráldu valley to the north-west of the village of Hoto there occur certain rocks consisting of crumbly, bright-coloured, and carbonaceous shales, with some yellow calcareous sandstones, apparently faulted down between the gneiss cliffs forming the two sides of the valley. These rocks present a considerable resemblance to some of the carboniferous rocks of Shigar, but from the metamorphosed condition of the rocks immediately

- ¹ This range of trans-Indus mountains is usually termed the Mustág range.
- ² Loc. cit., Vol. II, p. 273.

below the trias in this region it seems improbable that the rocks in question can be the representatives of the carboniferous. These rocks are not unlike some of the tertiaries of the Indus valley in Ladák: at present, however, I can give no certain opinion as to their geological age.

Age of infra-triassic rocks.-With regard to the geological age of the gneissic rocks underlying the trias in Bráldu, it seems certain that at least a moiety of this series must be the representative of the carboniferous of Shigar. and indeed, as noted above, it appears that to the south-east of Askoli these rocks gradually pass horizontally into the Shigar shales, though from the nature of the ground, and the quantity of debris covering the rocks, the section is not clear. In western Bráldu I am by no means certain how much of the underlying gneiss is conformable to the trias, though a considerable thickness of it is undoubtedly so; there are, however, some signs of unconformity north of Foljo, where the highly-foliated infra-triassic gneiss rests upon a more massive and granitoid gneiss, which, however, is not the primitive gneiss of the Mustág range. From the dissimilarity of the gneiss on the eastern and western sides of the Braldu trias and infra-trias, and from the fact of the gneiss on the east being presumably primitive, there must be unconformity on the eastern side, and, therefore, there is a strong presumption of there being also an unconformity on the western side, as it would be improbable that in adjacent areas there should be continuous deposition in one place, and a break in the other. If this view be correct, and it accords with the view taken of the Shigar section, it is probable that in western Bráldu the upper silurians have been denuded, and the trias and associated rocks deposited on the lower silurians, corresponding to the infracarboniferous of Shigar; in eastern Bráldu, on the other hand, the same rocks have been deposited on the older central gneiss.

Second hypothesis.—It is, however, quite within the bounds of possibility that in eastern Bráldu the lower silurians were never deposited, but that the Mustág gneiss existed as land until the trias, with its associated rocks, was thrown down upon it. In this case there would be no evidence for unconformity in western Bráldu, and the whole series might consequently be in conformable sequence. The Shigar section, as I have interpreted it, is, however, somewhat against this view, but still the two hypotheses are not totally incompatible with each other. I may add that, in view of this uncertainty, only the gneiss which is clearly in immediate connection with the trias has been coloured of a separate colour in the map, the whole of the rest being coloured red: it may also be observed that the inferior boundary of the trias is only an arbitrary one.

Fault on Shigar river.—If the reader has clearly followed the above remarks, it will, I think, be apparent to him that we must assume the existence of a great fault along the line of the lower part of the Shigar river.

Section from Skárdu to Drás. — Having now passed in review the main facts in connection with the trans-Indus rocks of Baltistán, it is necessary to retrace our steps to Skárdu, and from thence take a survey of the cis-Indus rocks. Proceeding southwards from Skárdu up the Búrgi ravine, we come at first upon black and green slates intermingled with the greenish trappoid rock of Drás, referred to so frequently in my earlier papers. Still higher up the valley there occurs an ellipsoid of the Shigar shales, showing some signs of unconformity to the lower rocks. In the underlying slaty rocks which recur to the southward of this band, I noticed a few lenticular masses of pale limestones very much resembling some of the triassic limestones. The rocks underlying the carboniferous are, doubtless, some portion of the silurian series, and from their relations to the gneiss of Deosai (Deotsú), which I take to be mainly primitive, they would appear to be the lower part of the series, on which view the carboniferous must be unconformable. From the occurrence of limestones in these silurians, I am inclined to consider them as the unaltered representatives of the gneissoid rocks of Rondu and Shigar, which I have provisionally referred to the lower silurian. These silurians of Skárdu are also, doubtless, represented by some of the metamorphic rocks to the eastward in the Indus valley, but, as noticed above, I was there unable to distinguish them satisfactorily from the older gneiss.

Deosai.—To the south of the Búrgi (Boorgi) Lá, these silurian rocks are underlaid by a light-coloured, and frequently porphyritic, gneiss. The plains of Deosai are composed of a foundation of this granitic gneiss,¹ overlaid here and there by small patches of silurian rocks⁴: the latter rocks consist of slates, trappoids and conglomerates; the conglomerate appearing to correspond to that of the Pír Panjál range on the southern side of Káshmír, and containing pebbles of the subjacent gneiss. The junction between the silurians and the gneiss on Deosai is quite a sudden one, confirming the existence of unconformity between the two series, as indicated by the gneiss pebbles in the silurian conglomerate.

Shingo river.—On the Shingo river, draining the southern side of the Deosai plains, we have mainly white granitic, and porphyritic gneiss, overlaid to the south by the trappoids, slates, and conglomerates of Drás³: to the north of the gneissic rocks there occurs a band of the same slaty rocks, which are continued to the south-east, and as they approach the valley of the Drás river, become partially matamorphosed, and gradually pass into the hornblendic rocks of Tashgám, described in the paper quoted above; the unaltered condition of these Tashgám rocks on the Shingo river proves the correctness of the view previously expressed, that these rocks are in great part the altered equivalents of the Drás rocks. The gneiss of the Shingo river is continuous with the granitic gneiss to the north of Drás, which has already been described in previous papers, and considered as the equivalent of the central gneiss of Dr. Stoliczka.

Relations of gneiss to overlying rocks.—On the Shingo river, and in the neighbourhood of Drás the junction between the unaltered silurians and the subjacent gneiss is indistinct and gradual, the original unconformity whose existence is proved by the gneiss pebbles in the silurian conglomerate, having become obli-

¹ In a previous paper (Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 23) it was stated, on the authority of General Cunningham, that Deosai consisted entirely of this granitic gneiss, no mention being made by that writer of the unaltered rocks. Mr. Vigne (loc. cit., Vol. 1, p. 275), in the sketch map accompanying his geological notes on Káshmír, notices that the peaks around Deosai consist of granite, which he clearly distinguishes from the schistose gneiss of Astor.

² The distribution of these rocks is only very approximately represented on the map accompanying this paper.

³ For the rocks of Drás see above, Vol. XIII, p. 27.

terated by the subsequent partial metamorphism of the lower silurians. The Deosai section very strongly confirms the views previously expressed, that all the lower granitic or porphyritic gneiss of the region surveyed is primitive and unconformable to the silurians, but that the subsequent metamorphism of the latter has, in many instances, been so extensive as to render it impossible to distinguish with certainty between the two series. The observations of the past season also tend to confirm the views previously expressed by myself as to the equivalency of the gneiss of Drás and Kargil with the central gneiss of Dr. Stoliczka: I shall have a few remarks to add on this subject in the next section of this paper.

Possible occurrence of tertiary rocks in the Drás valley .- In previously-published papers it has been considered that the whole of the slaty rocks in the Drás valley were of palæozoic age: during my last tour, however, I had an opportunity of examining these rocks over a more extensive area than on previous occasions, and I have come to the conclusion that there is a very great probability of certain of these rocks belonging to the tertiary series of the Indus valley'; the rocks, however, in this district are so disturbed and contorted, that it is a matter of extreme difficulty to determine their original relationship. The rocks which I consider to be not improbably tertiary in the Drás valley are certain orange and red clays. mixed with a breccia, exactly resembling the tertiaries of Kargil^s; the breccia near Walmio contains fragments of a dolomite which appears to be certainly the same as that of the trias. In the Marpu (Marpo) ravine, to the northward of Drás, there occurs a serpentine exactly like that found in such abundance at Pashkám near Kargil. These rocks occur on the top of the silurian trappoids of Drás, but the two series of rocks are so intimately mixed together, that, as I have shown to be the case with the carboniferous and tertiaries at Shargol,³ it seems to me to be impossible to say exactly which is which ; the boundaries marked on the map must, therefore, be taken as merely an approximate representation to the truth. Near Waturgu, the presumed tertiary rocks are in close relation with the carboniferous. and appear to be unconformable. Although I think I am right in referring some of the Drás rocks to the tertiary epoch, I must admit, in the absence of fossils. and in the impossibility of tracing them into connection with undoubtedly tertiary rocks, that this reference cannot by any means be considered as resting upon incontrovertible grounds.

Carboniferous and trias of Drás.—Previously to the past season's work, the triassic rocks occurring to the south of Drás had not been traced to any distance in this direction; nor had their easterly boundary been defined. The latter point has now been determined. It may be well to remind the reader that the northern boundary of the Drás trias has hitherto been considered to be a faulted one, as certain rocks considered to be the carboniferous, which are found underlying the same trias in Tilel and to the south of Drás, are not found in the Drás valley itself. At the same time it is somewhat difficult, on the hypo-

³ See paper above quoted.



³ Some remarks on the age of the lower portion of this series will be found in the sequel.

^{*} Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 35.

thesis of a faulted junction, to account for the manner in which certain outliers of the trias, near Drás, have attained their present position, since they appear to conformably overlie the palæozoics. Some sections in the neighbourhood of the valley of Káshmír have, however, recently shown that when trap-like rocks similar to those of the Drás valley occur in the neighbourhood of the trias, the carboniferous rocks are probably in part included in the trappoid series, and consequently cannot be recognised as a distinct formation. It is, therefore, not improbable that the same explanation may apply to the Drás valley. Consequently, in those parts of the map where the trias is represented in immediate contact with the silurians, the reader will understand that, at all events in many cases, the carboniferous rocks must exist near the line of junction. To the southward of Drás, the easterly limits of the triassic rocks are defined by a line running nearly from north to south at a distance of about two miles to the westward of the Suru river. Along this line the massive limestones and dolomites of the trias are conformably underlaid by a series of carbonaceous and crumbly shales, alternating with thin-bedded blue limestones traversed by veinings of yellow quartz. These rocks are absolutely identical in mineralogical composition with similarly situated rocks in Ladák, which have been referred to the carboniferous: they also very closely resemble the undoubtedly carboniferous rocks in the Wardwan valley, shortly to be noticed.

Silurians.—The presumably carboniferous rocks are underlaid by the silurians, which on the Suru river consist mainly of slates, the trappoid rocks of the Drás valley being very poorly represented. This very local distribution of the trappoid rocks is a strong argument in favour of their igneous origin.

Granitic gneiss of Kartsi.—Near the village of Sanku (Sankoo), in Kartsi (Kurtse), there occurs an elliptical dome-shaped mass of white granitic gneiss, with its long axis directed north-east and south-west, underlying the slates, which have a quaquaversal dip round the gneiss, except on the south-side. The upper portion of this gneiss-granite seems to be conformable to the slate series; and the rock appears to be identical with the Drás gneiss, and is therefore probably primitive; but whether the whole of the sedimentary series is present between the gneiss and the trias may be doubted, both on account of the proximity of the two series and for reasons to be detailed in the sequel. On the south side there appears probably to be a fault separating the granitic gneiss from the semi-metamorphic rocks of Suru to be noticed immediately: on the side in question, the foliation of the gneiss and the stratification of the semi-metamorphic rocks incline towards one another at a high angle.

Semi-metamorphic rocks of Suru.—In the Suru district there occurs an enormously thick series of semi-metamorphic rocks, whose northern boundary was mapped and noticed by Dr. Stoliczka¹; these rocks form the north-western termination of the great mass of metamorphic and semi-metamorphic rocks composing the Zánskár range, to which reference has so frequently been made in my previous papers, and in relation to which some additional remarks will be made below. The semimetamorphic rocks of Suru consist of micaceous schists, with occasional bands of

¹ "Memoirs Geological Survey of India," Vol. V, p. 341.

a dark grey, imperfectly crystalline, gneiss, quite distinct from that of Kartsi, and slightly altered slates and sandstones very frequently garnetiferons. These rocks appear to underlie some of the unaltered silurians to the north-west of Suru but, as will be seen below, to the southward correspond to the whole of the silurians and, at all events, part of the carboniferous series. On the upper portion of the Shang-Shá river ¹ the carboniferous and trias are seen overlying the semi-metamorphics, but, as I have not examined this section carefully, my remarks on the relations of the component rocks are reserved for another analogous section.

Bhot-Kol pass section.—Proceeding from Suru up the narrow ravine leading to the Bhot-Kol pass (Lánwi-Lá), we find an ascending series of the Suru rocks, among which there occur a few thin bands of white granitic gneiss. At the point where the stream separates into its two component branches there occurs a synclinal of trias dolomites reposing conformably on the semi-metamorphics, but frequently exhibiting local inversion on one side or the other. The trias here consists mainly of white dolomites and pale blue limestones, alternating with bands of shale, weathering to a chesnut-brown colour. The calcareous rocks are here and there altered to a completely crystalline marble as at Shigar. This section shows also that as in Bráldu, all the rocks below the trias have been metamorphosed, and that consequently the carboniferous must be represented among the upper part of the schist series : the reader will also not fail to notice the general resemblance of the infra-triassic rocks of Suru to those of Bráldu, though the extent to which the metamorphic action has been carried is less in the former district than in the latter. In Suru, moreover, there is no evidence of any unconformity at the base of the carboniferous, there being apparently here, as there is certainly in Wardwan, a regular ascending section from the lower silurians to the trias. Nearer the Bhot-Kol pass the metamorphism of the infratriassic rocks becomes gradually less and less : traces of the quartz-veined carboniferous limestone and accompanying shales are here and there to be detected underlying the trias, which are represented approximately on the map. The summit of the pass consists of trias limestone and dolomite, but on either side there occurs a massive granitic gneiss, light coloured, micaceous, and without the slightest trace of foliation or stratification: this gneiss is overlaid sometimes by carboniferous, sometimes by triassic, and at other times by partly metamorphosed silurian rocks, and is indistinguishable from the gneiss of Drás. On the western side of the pass this gneiss is overlaid by trias limestones, with a low westerly dip. Between the pass and Rangmarg, in the Wardwan valley, we find on the right bank of the river another mass of the same granitic gneiss overlaid to the south and west by dark slates and trias limestones and dolomites. These slates contain bands of the greenish serpentinous rock of the Shigar carboniferous, and on this ground, as well as from their serial position, must, in all probability, be referred to the same horizon. On the eastern side of the gneiss a very thin band of probably the same slates is found, which in the valley seem to dip towards the gneissgranite, but higher up in the hills to overlie it. There seems to be probably a

¹ In a previously-published map, some of the limestones and dolomites on the upper part of this river, and on the Káshmír and Drás road, were erroneously referred to the carboniferous.



- 94

fault somewhere on this side of the gneiss, as is inferred from the unsymmetrical succession of the rocks on the two sides of the gneissic axis.

Age of Bhot-Kol gneiss.-As before said, the Bhot-Kol gneiss is indistinguishable from that of Drás, and also of Kartsi, and is consequently presumed to be the same. If this identification should eventually prove to be correct, this rock will probably be the central gneiss, or, at all events, of infra-silurian age. Its occurrence here among the carboniferous and triassic rocks is a very remarkable fact; while from its mineralogical distinctness from the infra-triassic schists of Suru, apart from its relations to the overlying rocks, there cannot, it appears to me, be much question as to its not belonging to any portion of that series. The only explanation of its present position, which presents itself to my mind, is that portions of this gneiss must have existed as islands in the silurian and carboniferous seas, and that the last survivor of such islands was not wholly submerged and covered by later sedimentary deposits until the period of the trias. The gneiss of Kartsi, on the same hypothesis, would seem to have constituted an island during the earlier silurian period, to have been subsequently covered by later silurian deposits, and the junction of the rocks of the two periods to have been obliterated by metamorphic action.

Trias of Wardwan.—The rocks of the upper part of the Wardwan valley consist of triassic limestones, dolomites, and shales, having a north-easterly dip. These calcareous rocks are very frequently crowded with crinoid-stems, corals, and comminuted shells. To the northward of the Wardwan river, in the Wishni and Kaderan (Kodarun) tributary valleys, the triassic calcareous series is overlaid by slates, apparently occupying a synclinal in the former, and continuous with the similar rocks of Panjtárni and the Zoji-Lá, described in a previous paper. The exact age of these slaty rocks has not yet been determined; the present section, however, confirms the view previously expressed that they overlie the trias dolomites.

Carboniferous and silurian of Wardwan.—The rocks to the southward of the trias of Wardwan are well exhibited in that portion of the valley immediately below the first great bend of the river, and it is this section which will now be described. The limestones and dolomites of the trias above the bend in question are underlaid by a thin band of black, carbonaceous, and highly calcareous shales with crystals of pyrite and rusty spots which are probably the remnants of decomposed fossils. This shaly band is in turn underlaid by a great mass of green, and generally amygdaloidal rocks, showing very faint or no traces of stratification, and which I consider in great part to be of eruptive origin.' Beneath the trappean rocks we come upon black shales, dark, shaly, and schisty limestones, and pale quartiztic sandstones, with a low north-easterly dip. In these rocks there occur great numbers of the species of Spirifer, Productus, and Fenestella, characteristic of the carboniferous rocks of Káshmír, together with crystals of pyrite: the brachiopods are more abundant in the calcareous rocks and

¹ I prefer to use the term 'eruptive' in place of 'igneous,' as there is now so much controversy as to how much or little heat alone may have been the liquifying agent of many trappean rocks.

the polyzoans in the argillaceous.¹ These carboniferous rocks are underlaid by a great thickness of slates, sandstones, quartzites, conglomerates, and trappeans, corresponding to the rocks of the Pír-Panjál range, and mainly representing the silurians. The latter rocks continue down the Wardwan valley to some distance below Inshin, where they overlie the gneissic and micaceous rocks of the Zánskár range, in regard to the age of which I shall have some remarks to make in the sequel.²

Boundaries of trias and carboniferous.—The foregoing section (fig. 1 of accompanying plate) is of considerable importance, in that it now enables us to fix definitely the precise horizon of the carboniferous rocks among the great mass of calcareous and shaly strata lying to the north of the valley of Káshmír, in which carboniferous fossils have not hitherto been found by myself. Again, the carboniferous horizon being fixed, the lower limits of the trias can now be approximately determined, a point which had previously been one of great uncertainty, both here and in the valley of Káshmír. A large thickness of calcareous rocks, in both districts, referred in previous papers to the carboniferous, must now be classed in all probability with the trias. In the Wardwan section it would seem from the similarity of mineralogical composition, and from a comparison of another section described below, that the shaly rocks at the base of the dolomites and limestones are the same as the fossiliferous carboniferous rocks to the south of the trappean band, and that consequently the latter really forms an anticlinal axis below the carboniferous, the original relations of the rocks having been disturbed by inversion, as will be explained more fully when we come to the consideration of the Lidar valley section. The carboniferous rocks on the north of the trappean band are somewhat thinner than those to the south, their lower beds having probably been mingled with and altered by the trap, into which they gradually pass. In previous papers, it was considered that the carboniferous horizon, in the corresponding upper Lidar valley section, formed the lower half of the limestone and dolomite series; a shaly stratum occurring there also, on either side of the trap zone is, however, undoubtedly the carboniferous.

Origin of palaeozoic traps.—I have already, in a previous paper,³ given some reasons for considering the amygdaloidal rocks of Káshmír as being of igneous or eruptive origin, and in connection with this subject it has come to my notice that in a recently published paper,⁴ Mr. Rutley, of the Geological Survey of Great Britain, has described certain schistose amygdaloidal rocks from the devonian of the Dartmoor neighbourhood. The author comes to the conclusion that some of these rocks are lavas, while others are volcanic ashes, and yet others are mainly sedimentary in origin, though it is possible that even these

¹ As already observed in an earlier paper (*Supra*, Vol. XIII, p. 58), these fossils were first brought to notice by Mr. Drew: the species observed were *Spirifer moosakhaliensis*, and *Productus semireticulatus*.

² I formerly thought that the lower Wardwan gneiss occurred among the slaty rocks above Inshin, from the presence in the river bed of pebbles of the Bhot-Kol gneiss described above.

³ Supra, Vol. XI, pp. 35 and 86.

⁴ Quar. Jour. Geol. Soc., Lond., Vol. XXXVI, p. 285: "On the schistose volcanic rocks on the west of Dartmoor, etc."

Digitized by Google

...

latter may be very highly altered lavas. Mr. Rutley adds that the strata in question "are alternations of lava-flows, tuffs, and tufaceous sediments." It appears to me that the amygdaloidal and other trappoid rocks of Káshmír are precisely analogous to these English rocks, and on these grounds I shall henceforth allude to them as traps. Even if the eruptive origin of these rocks be not accepted, I feel I am still justified in applying such a term to them, as traps of metamorphic origin are now recognised by geologists, although sometimes distinguished by the prefix "meta." I am, however, very strongly of opinion that the Káshmír traps are truly eruptive rocks, a view which is strengthened by their mode of occurrence, as will be noticed in the sequel.

Sonamarg section.—In a previous paper¹ a large mass of amygdaloidal and doleritic traps, occurring in the Sind valley between the triassic series of Sonamarg and the calcareous and shaly carboniferous of Gagangan, was described. It was then considered probable that these traps were faulted against the carboniferous to the south : the Wardwan section, however, renders it probable that the carboniferous really forms an inverted synclinal, and the traps an anticlinal ; while on the north side of the traps there is probably a fault, as there the trias is in immediate contact with the traps, though it is not improbable, as has been suggested both by Dr. Stoliczka and myself, that some of the lowest shales and limestones between Sonamarg and Báltál may be carboniferous. These Gagangan carboniferous is underlaid by sedimentary silurians, and the relations of these to the similarly situated traps on the north of the carboniferous will be alluded to in describing the Lidar valley section. To the north-west of Sonamarg the traps gradually die out, and the section is in normal sequence : to the south-east the traps form a band continuous with that of Wardwan.

Trias of Káshmír valley.- The more precise determinations of the geological age of the strata in and adjoining the secondary basin to the northward of the valley of Káshmír has rendered it necessary to re-consider the relations and age of the great series of calcareous rocks occurring in Káshmír itself. Hitherto in Colonel Godwin-Austen's^a and Dr. Verchere's³ notices and in my own published maps, with the exception of a small patch of dolomites at Mánasbal, the whole of the limestone series in the valley of Káshmír has been classed as carboniferous, though a strong opinion has already been more than once expressed, * that a considerable portion of it was probably of triassic age. As the Wardwan section has demonstrated that the carboniferous fossils occur only in the carbonaceous and calcareous shales at the base of the great limestone and dolomite series. while the Gurez section has shown that the latter from containing triassic fossils throughout must be referred to the trias; and as parts of the Káshmír limestone series are lithologically the same as the limestones and dolomites to the north of the valley,-it is evident that the trias must be largely represented in Káshmír, and that only the base of the limestone series can be considered as of carboniferous age. On these considerations a careful re-examination of the lime-

- ¹ Supra, Vol. XI, p. 46.
- ² Q. J. G. S. L., Vol. XXII, p. 29.
- ³ J. A. S. B., Vol. XXXV.
- ⁴ Supra, Vols. XI, p. 42; XIII, p. 56.

stone series of the Káshmír valley has been undertaken, which has resulted in the discovery of an undoubted triassic fossil in one locality, and has also shown that the undoubtedly carboniferous fossils occur only in the more or less shaly, or cherty rocks at the base of the series. This determination has removed the incongruity previously observed as to the difference in the mineralogical composition of the carboniferous rocks in adjacent areas. In the sections given by Colonel Godwin-Austen in the paper already quoted, the beds numbered 1 to 5 are certainly carboniferous, while the succeeding beds are at all events in great part triassic. In those sections the exact composition of each bed is given, and it will, therefore, be unnecessary in many instances to repeat them here.

I shall now proceed to examine separately the various masses of limestone occurring in the Káshmír valley, commencing with the—

Limestones of Bandipúr.—The limestone series of Bandipúr occupies a triangular area on the left bank of the Bandipúr stream, the rocks having a regular and low dip to the north-east. The lower beds consist of cherty sandstones, with blue limestones and occasional shaly bands; while the higher beds consist of thin-bedded, light-coloured, and frequently dolomitic, limestones like those of Sonamarg, and some of the Gurez limestones. As these rocks dip towards the slates and other silurian rocks lying to the northward, I presume that the junction must be a faulted one. The lower beds of the limestone series, of which the base is not exposed, contain numerous crinoids and corals, and not impossibly correspond to the carboniferous; in the absence of characteristic fossils, however, this cannot be certainly determined : the higher beds are undoubtedly triassic.

Limestones and traps of Mánasbal.—As already noticed in a previous paper,¹ the banded limestones of Mánasbal, to the north-west of the mouth of the Sind river, rest upon a dome-shaped mass of amygdaloidal trap, and have yielded to Mr. Theobald a species of Orthoceras. The limestones are light-coloured and banded, and much contorted; they exactly resemble those of Bandipúr: and among them, at Kandarbal, there occurs a mass of white dolomite, worked for cement. The Mánasbal limestones have hitherto been classed mainly as carboniferous, but they are lithologically the same as the trias in other parts of the valley, and must be referred to that period. The limestones, as aforesaid, rest immediately upon the traps, and no trace of the carbonaceous and fossiliferous shales of the carboniferous can be detected between the two. I can only explain this apparent anomaly by the supposition that the whole of the carboniferous rocks have become altered by, and included in, the trap. This view is confirmed by the fact, to be noticed immediately, that in neighbouring parts of the valley the carboniferous is very frequently reduced to an extremely narrow band, merging into the traps below.

Mr. Vigne's note on the Mánasbal limestone.—Before leaving the subject, it may not be out of place to mention that Mr. Vigne' records the occurrence of nummulites in the Mánasbal (Manasa-bal) limestone. In the paragraph following the one in which that statement occurs, the author appears to consider this limestone as the same as that of Shísha-Nág (Shesha Nag) in the upper Lidar

¹ Supra, Vol. XI, p. 49.

* Loc. cit, Vol. I., p. 276.

valley. It has occurred to me as a possible explanation that Mr. Vigne mistook the joints of crinoid-stems occurring abundantly in the Mánasbal limestones for nummulites.¹ In the memoir already referred to, Dr. Verchere comes to the same conclusion.

Vihi Limestones, etc.-The great mass of limestones and associated rocks occurring to the north of Pámpúr, in the district known as Vihi in the Káshmír valley, was first noticed by Mr. Vigne,² subsequently by Colonel Godwin-Austen and Dr. Verchere in the papers quoted, and their distribution was roughly laid down in a map published by myself. They were classed both by Messrs. Austen aud Verchere, and myself as carboniferous. During the past season a closer examination of these rocks has been undertaken, which has shown that they occupy a larger area than had previously been supposed, and also that the great bulk of them are probably of triassic age. On the north-western border of these rocks, as laid down on the accompanying map, it will be found that to the northwest of the village of Khúnmu (Khoonmoo), the following section of strata is exhibited. This section has been described on pages 33 and 34 of the above quoted paper of Colonel Godwin-Austen's, and drawn in figures 7 and 8 of the same. Colonel Godwin-Austen observes, "Above the village of Khoonmoo there is a very interesting section, as a great thickness of the carboniferous series is exhibited." The trappean rocks (called hornblende slates by Colonel Godwin-Austen) form the base of the series, and are overlaid by the following series of rocks, somewhat modified from Colonel Godwin-Austen's table, and numbered from below upwards :---

							Feet.				
	1.	Quartzite .	••		•••	•••	•••	12 .	`		
Carboniffrous «	2.	Sandy, calcareou	is, and sl	aly beds	jwith a i	few shells	•••	10	/		
	3.	Hard limestone	with <i>Urt</i>	hocera s	•••	•••	•••	10(AD Fast		
	4.	Limestone with Productus and Spirifer 3						45 1000.			
	5.	Grey limestone		•••	•••	•••	•••	6	1		
	6.	Bed with shells	and Ath	yri s	•••	•••	•••	2)		
TRIAS	7.	Limestones .	••	•••	•••	•••	2,	400	(?)		

The species of fossils mentioned by Colonel Austen are Productus scabriculus Spirifer kashmirienses and S. vihiana, and Athyris subtilita; in addition to which I obtained P. humbolti, and species of Fenestella. These fossils were all obtained from the beds marked 1 to 6 in the section, and indicate the carboniferous age of these rocks. In the narrow ravine in which these rocks occur,³ I also found a much battered, but still unmistakeable, specimen of the large species of triassic Megalodon noticed above, which had evidently fallen down from some of the great mass of limestones ranked under No. 7 in the section, and which clearly proves the triassic age of some of those rocks. The same age for these rocks

¹ In reference to a note given in my last published paper on Himalayan Geology (Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 48), regarding the asserted discovery by the late Dr. Thomson of nummulites in Zánskár, the above given explanation has suggested that possibly a similar one may be applied also in that case.

² Loc. cit, Vol. I, page 276.

³ As noticed by Colonel Godwin-Austen the entrance of this savine is marked by a large Chunár tree (*Platanus orientalis*).

would also be inferred from the identity of their composition and structure with the already described undoubted trias in other parts of Káshmír and its neighbourhood.

The carboniferous rocks, as already observed, are underlaid by amygdaloidal and other traps, showing very slight or no traces of stratification. These traps correspond to those of Srínagar, and pass up imperceptibly into the carboniferous. To the north-west they are underlaid by slaty and silicious rocks. The zone which can here be certainly identified as carboniferous, will be seen to be of very small thickness (43 feet),¹ and it is most probable that some of the underlying traps in reality belong to the same period. Since, however, similar traps occur at various stages throughout the underlying silurian (or older paleozoic) series, the whole of the rocks are referred to that series, with which they form one continuous geological formation. The carboniferous rocks may be traced to the northward into the Ara (Arrah) valley, where they bend round to take a southeasterly direction below Máhádeo station. In this district I have not succeeded in discovering fossils, and the boundaries are consequently approximate. The whole series is here inverted, the trias underlying the carboniferous and silurian: the latter here consists mainly of slaty and silicious rocks, the traps being very slightly developed. The eastern boundary of this basin of carboniferous and triassic rocks occupies the western side of the upper Trál (Traal) valley, thence cutting across into the lower Pámpúr valley on the northern side of Wastarwan peak. Along this line the characteristic fossils are to be found in great abundance, especially on the high ridge to the north-east of Prongám, and also to the south-east of Mandakpál. These carboniferous rocks generally consist of black and brown carbonaceous and calcareous shales, cherts, and blue limestones, in varying proportions. Near Mandakpál the cherty rocks often pass into a compact blue or white highly silicious rock, some varieties of which very closely resemble flint or chalcedony. As we pass from north to south along the carboniferous zone, we find that the underlying silurians change considerably in character, becoming gradually more trappean until, in the neighbourhood of Wastarwan peak these rocks consist almost or quite entirely of traps, which form the whole of that hill. The bearing of this extremely sudden thinning out of the traps on their eruptive origin will be referred to subsequently. The carboniferous rocks may be traced round the north-west side of Wastarwan hill, and are here and there overlaid by trias. At the village of Tangar, to the north-west of Avántipúr,² we find an outlier of the carboniferous shales and limestones, containing numerous forms of Productus and Fenestella, occupying a spur projecting out from the underlying trap. The connection between the sedimentary carboniferous and the traps is here extremely intimate; and, as previously noticed,³ fossils are found in juxta-position with the traps. On splitting open the rock, it will sometimes be found that a fossiliferous

In other sections in the neighbourhood, as given by Colonel Austen, the thickness is greater, ranging up to 300 feet.

* This village is situated close to the outlier of carboniferous on the south-west side of Wastarwan.

³ Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 50.

layer divides, so as to leave one portion adhering to the underlying trap, and the other to the overlying shale. This intimate connection of the two rocks will easily explain how, on the theory of the eruptive origin of the trap, nearly the whole of the carboniferous shales may have been covered by successive outflows, and, as at Mánasbal, altered out of all possibility of recognition.

Colonel Godwin-Austen's notices.—In addition to the sections already quoted, Colonel Godwin-Austen has described others along the easterly border of the Vihi limestones, one of which requires a moment's notice. This is a section near the village of Lúdu (Loodoo), close'to Mandakpál, beneath Wastarwan peak. The section, as given by Colonel Godwin-Austen, is as follows, the bed No. 1 resting on the trap:—

L.	Dark splintery slate and quartz-rock, with badly-defined lamination	20
2.	Light olive-green splintery rock	2
B.	Beautiful white or light grey quartz like flint	1
4,	Blue limestone with beds which weather light-green. This bed is	
	full of brachiopods, while the lower may be said to be made up of	
	Fenestella	80
б.	Dark-blue shales, surmounted by a great mass of hard, compact,	
	limestone, weathering to a red tint, and containing Goniatites.	P

In the above section, the beds up to and including the shales marked No. 5 clearly belong to the carboniferous, while the overlying limestones are mainly the trias. In these beds there are said to occur *Goniatites*, a genus which died out in the trias. I cannot discover that these fossils have ever been described, or that any specimens of them have been preserved.

Limestone of Biru.—On the southern side of the valley, to the south-west of Srínagar, I have for the first time noticed two small outcrops of limestone, which appear beneath the overlying Karewa (post-tertiary) deposits. One of these outcrops occurs near the town of Biru (Biroo or Birwa), and has a low southwesterly dip, and the other a short distance to the north-west. This limestone is similar to that of Bandipúr and Mánasbal, and its occurrence on this side of the valley is important in confirming the idea which has been previously expressed that the valley of Káshmír really consists of a synclinal basin of carboniferous and triassic rocks, whose original relations have in many cases been somewhat disturbed by faulting.

Lidar valley section.—In a previously published paper,¹ a short notice was given of the occurrence of carboniferous rocks in the lower Lidar valley (at the south-east end of Káshmír) at Palgám and Eishmakám, at the latter of which places fossils were found abundantly. A re-examination of this section, with the aid of the light thrown upon it by the rocks of other localities, has resulted in the determination of triassic rocks in this valley, and also in a clearer understanding of the relations of the constituent rocks. A diagramatic section of the rocks occurring between Palgám and Islámabád is given in fig. 2 of the accompanying plate, in order to exhibit the complicated foldings which they have undergone, and the amount of denudation which .

¹ Supra, Vol. XI, p. 43.

174

[VOL. XIV.

has taken place. The whole of the rocks in this section, with the exception of the lacustrine deposits above Islámabád, have a northerly dip, and they may be shortly described as follows. At Palgám we have thin-bedded triassic limestones and dolomites, underlaid by a thin layer of carboniferous rocks with their characteristic fossils : these rocks pass gradually down into a great mass of amygdaloidal and other traps, which in their higher beds show some stratification, but which are extremely massive lower down.¹ These traps continue to some distance below the village of Bhatkot, and contain occasional bands of quartzitic and slaty rocks. Between Bhatkot and Srelgám, these traps are underlaid by the carboniferous rocks, full of characteristic fossils²; these rocks are again underlaid by slates and light-coloured quartzites; beyond these we have again carboniferous rocks, and then the slates and sandstones. Near Eishmakám we meet with a third band of carboniferous rocks, underlaid by limestones, dolomites, and some green and purple shaly slates, some of which are evidently the representatives of the trias, and then again by carboniferous rocks with fossils. The carboniferous are underlaid by quartzites and slates, which continue nearly to the village of Sir (Seer), where they are underlaid by amygdaloidal traps. The latter are again underlaid by a great series of limestones and dolomites, which continue down to the Martand karewa, where they are covered by a lacustrine deposit, subsequently re-appearing with the same inclination at Islámabád. The composition of these latter rocks shows them to be at all events mainly the trias (though hitherto referred to the carboniferous), and a perusal of the section will show that the carboniferous must occur between these rocks and the quartzites, though, from the amount of alluvium and herbage present, I was unable to discover fossils.

Explanation of Lidar valley section.-The occurrence of several distinct outcrops of carboniferous rocks overlying one another in what is apparently a normal sequence of rocks, clearly proves that the rocks of this section have originally been thrown into a series of folds of varying latitude, which have been mainly inverted from the north towards the south, and subsequently enormously denuded. The original relations of the strata I have attempted to reproduce in the figured section already referred to. The extremely close analogy between this section and the section previously described in the Wardwan valley, renders it certain that a similar explanation must be applied also to the latter. Other points of considerable importance still remain in connection with this section, which demand some attention. It will at once strike the reader that the carboniferous rocks of neighbouring localities are underlaid by rocks of completely distinct composition; or, in other words, at one point by traps, and at another by slates and quartzites. This local difference in the character of the infra-carboniferous rocks has already been referred to in describing other sections, but is nowhere more strikingly displayed than in the present instance. The explanation appears to me to be probably as follows: Assuming an eruptive origin for the traps of Káshmír, it

¹ In the paper last quoted, it is stated that the infra-carboniferous rocks were slaty; they are, however, as stated here.

² These rocks, at this spot, have yielded several new fossils—among others a trilobite (*Phil-lipsia*)—which are noticed in the Appendix.

would appear that during the silurian period very considerable outflows of submarine trap were emitted, which were naturally of limited extent; that these outflows probably took place in several localities and at several distinct intervals of time.' During the whole period of these eruptions continuous deposition of stratified material was taking place; the strata resulting from which became intimately mixed up and amalgamated with the trap, so that it is now extremely difficult, or impossible, to distinguish the different factors of the strata. In certain localities, as at Mánasbal, the outflows of trap must have continued to take place during a part, or the whole, of the carboniferous period, and have rendered the rocks of that period also difficult of recognition. This explanation is the only probable one presenting itself of the Lidar valley section, as it seems in the highest degree improbable that the difference of mineralogical composition of the silurian strata on the two sides of the first band of carboniferous rocks below Palgám could have been produced by metamorphic action, as such action must have affected the adjacent rocks. On the hypothesis of the traps being of igneous origin, their local distribution is what would have been expected to occur.

Limits of lower Lidar carboniferous.—To the eastward and westward of Eishmakám the carboniferous and newer rocks gradually die out; the closely folded strata opening out in either direction into distinct anticlinals and synclinals.

Bearing on Pír-Panjál section.—The now firmly established occurrence of laterally folded and inverted strata in the lower Lidar valley, is strongly confirmatory of the view expressed in an earlier volume of this publication,^c that the rocks of the Pír-Panjál range, on the opposite side of the valley of Káshmír, have likewise been inverted and folded in a very similar manner, as it is highly probable that the same lateral thrust which folded the Lidar valley rocks would have acted in the same manner on those of the Pír-Panjál rocks.

Identity of the Eishmakám rocks with the Kiol limestone of the outer hills.—The limestones and associated green and purple slaty shales of Eishmakám, belonging partly to the carboniferous and partly to the trias, are absolutely indistinguishable from the higher part (on the hypothesis of inversion) of the so-called Kiol series of the outer hills of the Himalaya, as exhibited in the gorge of the Jhelam at Uri (Ooree³). These rocks have hitherto been referred provisionally either to the carboniferous or the trias, and it now appears to me to be almost certain that they contain representatives of both periods.

Limestones of the south-eastern end of the valley of Káshmír.—The limestones and associated rocks at the south-easterly end of the valley of Káshmír have already been referred to by myself as of carboniferous age, since I obtained from them a considerable series of fossils characteristic of that period. These fossils, however, occur solely in shaly, cherty, and calcareous beds at the base of the great limestone series, chiefly on two lines running from north-west to southeast through Sháhabád, and from Ságám to a point south-east of the Marbal

 1 This explanation is merely a fuller form of the one which is given on page 35 of Vol. XI of this publication.

Digitized by Google

² Supra, Vol. IX, p. 161.

³ Vide Supra, Vol. IX, p. 158.

pass. Hitherto the whole of the limestones overlying these fossiliferous rocks have been classed with the carboniferous, but from their identity in composition with the triassic rocks already described, some of them must'now be referred to the latter period. These carboniferous and triassic rocks probably form a synclinal ellipse. On their southern boundary it seems probable that their original relations have been disturbed by faulting, and that the trias is in immediate contact with the silurian. The northern boundary is apparently a normal, though frequently an inverted one, and the carboniferous must consequently occur between the trias and the silurians, though I have not yet succeeded in discovering carboniferous fossils on this line. The two lines of carboniferous rocks at Ságám and Sháhabád are anticlinal axes.

Limestones of north-western end of Káshmír valley.—During the past season I have had no opportunity of revisiting the limestones of Trigama (Trigumma) at the north-westerly end of the Káshmír valley, described in an earlier paper¹ as carboniferous. It is not improbable that triassic rocks occur also in this region, but any decisive statement must be deferred until I have had an opportunity of revisiting the spot.

Comparison with Dr. Verchere's sections .- In his memoir on the "Geology of Káshmír, etc.,² "the late Dr. Verchere described at some length the limestone series of Káshmír. He divided these rocks into three groups, which he termed the Ziawan (Zeeawan) beds, the Wian (Weean) beds, and the Kothair beds; and provisionally classed the whole of them as carboniferous, though he expressed some doubts whether the latter might not be of triassic age.³ The Zíawan beds correspond with those which have been classed by myself as carboniferous, and alone contain the very characteristic carboniferous genera, such as Productus, Orthis, Spirifer, Fenestella, Phillipsia, etc. The Wian beds do not contain any of the above genera, and I have not succeeded in finding many fossils in them myself. Dr. Verchere, however, states' that they contain the genera Spiriferina, Solenopsis, Cardinia or Anthracosia, Axinus, Aviculopecten, and Goniatites; and it is probably from these beds that my Megalodon was derived. Of these genera there have been obtained Spiriferina, Solenopsis, and Aviculopecten in the undoubted carboniferous beds (Zíawan beds), but there are no others common to the two, and such of the species as have been determined are distinct.* Of these genera, Anthracosia may be left alone, as it is quite likely to be Cardinia: Solenopsis in Europe is not found above the carboniferous, but this genus is evidently the ancestor of Solen, and, therefore, would be expected to have lived to a later period : Aviculopecten is not known above the permian; Spiriferina, Axinus and Goniatites range into the trias, or higher: and Megalodon is unknown before the latter period. The Spiriferina Dr. Verchere⁶ distinguishes at once from S. octo-

- ¹ Supra, Vol. XI, p. 49.
- ¹ J. A. S. B., Vol. XXXV, pt. II.
- ³ Loc. cit., p. 191.
- 4 1bid., p. 169.

• The Aviculopecten is said to be the same as A. dissimilis of the European carboniferous. But from the difficulty of determining imperfect fossils of this group, the identification is doubtful.

. Loc. cit.



PART 1.] LYDEKKER--Geology of Dárdistán, Baltistán, &c.

plicata of the Ziawan beds, and identifies provisionally with S. stracheyi of Salter which occurs in the upper trias (Lilang) of Spiti.¹ It thus appears, assuming the correctness of Dr. Verchere's identifications, that the Wian beds contain a fanna presenting both carboniferous and triassic elements, with at least one fossil characteristic of the upper part of the latter formation. On these grounds, and from the distinctness of the fauna from that of the true carboniferous, I am inclined to think that the Wian beds may be the representatives of the lower trias, or possibly also of the permian, and they have accordingly been provisionally classed with the trias, with which they form a continuous series. Dr. Verchere, who classed these beds with the carboniferous, appears to have had considerable doubts of the correctness of his view.⁹ From their mineralogical composition the Wian beds are almost certainly the same as the lower part of the series classed as trias in the neighbourhood of the Káshmír valley, which at Sonamarg has yielded Ammonites gerardi-an upper triassic form in Spiti. The few fossils known from these rocks show how extremely intimate is the palseontological connection of the whole series, and how a complete unison is indicated between the palaco---and mesozoics. According to Dr. Verchere, part of the Mánasbal limestone, and the lower part of that in the neighbourhood of Islámabád, belongs to the Wian group. The Kothair beds, which are undoubtedly triassic (if not in part newer), contain, according to Dr. Verchere, numerous gasteropods, generally in a fragmentary condition; these were conjectured to belong to the following genera, viz., Naticopsis, Macrochilus, Chemnitzia, Loxonema, and Nerinæa. These beds probably contain the representatives of the Pára limestone of Spiti; it remains to be seen whether the Lilang group is also represented in them, or whether, as in Spiti, this group immediately overlies the carboniferous, in which case it would be represented by the Wian beds. It may be added that the undoubted carboniferous of Káshmír contains similar fossils to the carboniferous (Kuling) of Spiti, referred by Dr. Stoliczka to the upper part of that period, and it is therefore almost certain that the strata immediately succeeding these rocks must be either permian or trias.

III.-GENERAL REMARKS.

General Remarks.—In the present section of this paper, I propose to notice certain points in the geology of the Káshmír and neighbouring Himalaya which could not very conveniently be included in the preceding sections. I may, firstly observe that, with the exception of the area to the north-west of the valley of Káshmír, the greater part of the territories of Káshmír have now been preliminarily examined geologically, and that although a vast amount of even preliminary (to say nothing of detailed) work remains to be accomplished, yet that we are now in a position to be able to form a fair general idea of the distribution of the different component rocks, and in most cases to arrive at a tolerably close approximation to their geological age. The district of Badrawár, lying to the south-east of Káshmír, is not, indeed, yet coloured in on our maps, but from a traverse made of it by the late Dr. Stoliczka, and from several notes occurring

M. G. S. I., Vol. V, p. 38.
Loc. cit., p. 170.

in Mr. F. Drew's above-quoted work, it seems that the rocks of this district are mainly sub-metamorphic and metamorphic, and doubtless represent the silurian and possibly older rocks. Badrawár seems, therefore, to be a district where further geological investigation would not be likely to add much to our store of knowledge. Again, portions of the Pír-Panjál range remain uncoloured, but it is quite certain that these areas consist mainly, if not entirely, of silurian and gneissic rocks, and it is only their exact distribution which remains to be determined. I now propose, to make a few remarks on the different formations of various areas in regard to which the past season's work, or information acquired since my last paper was published, has supplied additional materials for a more correct determination of geological age and topographical distribution. In the course of these remarks I shall have occasion to make use of some valuable information kindly communicated to me by Lieutenant-Colonel Godwin-Austen, whose knowledge of a great portion of the western Himalaya is, perhaps, greater than that of any person, living or dead. My remarks will be mainly arranged according to the geological age of the rocks treated of.

Nummulitics of Indus valley .-- In my last paper on Himalayan geology, the nummulitics of the upper Indus valley were described at some length, 1 and a note appended⁹ to the effect that a specimen of the genus *H* ppurites was said to have been observed at Khalchi (Kulsi Kalatys, Kalatse, or Kalatzi) by Lieutenant-Colonel Godwin-Austen. At the time of writing that note it did not occur to me that the hippurite could have been obtained from the nummulitic series, and I therefore doubted its authenticity, as its locality did not seem well established, and I could not detect any cretaceous rocks (Chikkim limestone) at Khalchi, distinct from the nummulitics. I have subsequently received a letter from Colonel Godwin-Austen, in which I am informed that the fossil considered to be a hippurite really came from the limestone of Khalchi, and that from the same beds the writer also obtained a curved cephalopodous shell which he thinks may be a species of Hamites. In the section of the Indus valley rocks given in the above quoted passage of my paper, the Khalchi limestone is shown to occur about the middle of the section, and to contain fossils which were considered to be probably nummulites; while more to the eastward apparently the same limestone contains undoubted nummulites. During my last trip I also obtained a species of Turbo from the Khalchi limestone. If Colonel Austen's fossils are rightly determined, and I see no reason to doubt the determination, and if there be no unconformity, of which there appears to me to be no trace, we have the very remarkable fact of the association of cretaceous and nummulitic fossils in the Khalchi limestone, and there consequently arises the question as to whether the Indus valley beds are rightly referred to the eocene. It may be observed that the cretaceous rocks of the Zánskár and Spiti basins, known as the Chikkim limestone, consisting of buff limestones, are totally unlike any of the rocks of the Khalchi section, and contain only typical cretaceous fossils, and that no traces of the Indus valley beds are found overlying them. It would, therefore, appear

> ¹ Supra, Vol. X!II, p. 35. ² Ibid., p. 37.

PART 1.] LYDEKKER-Geology of Dárdistán, Baltistán, &c.

that the Indus valley beds are totally distinct from the true cretaceous, and that we must consequently regard the presumed admixture of cretaceous and eocene fossils in them as indicative of the survival of some members of the cretaceous fauna into the eocene period. In other parts of India, as in Sind and the Khási hills, the cretaceous series seems to pass imperceptibly into the eocene, and these Indus valley fossils seem to show that there would be probably in this district also no hard and fast line of demarcation between the two formations, if there existed a continuous section of strata. From what has been already said, however, in relation to the cretaceous of Zánskár and Spiti, it is probable that there has been in those regions a break in deposition between the true cretaceous and the eocene. From the presence of nummulites and other eocene fossils in the Indus valley beds, I think they must undoubtedly continue to be ranked with the eocene. I infer from Mr. Greisbach's paper on the geology of the more easterly Himalaya¹ that in that region also there is a break between the cretaceous and eocene, though the sentence is not very clear.

Alleged eccene in Cháng-Chenmo valley .- On page 34 of my paper already quoted, allusion is made to certain rocks in the Cháng-Chenmo valley which greatly resemble the Ladák eccenes, and which Dr. Stoliczka thought might possibly be the same. I myself, from what I observed of the relations of these rocks to the trias, was very strongly inclined to doubt their tertiary age. Since. however, I have some to the conclusion that some of the Drás rocks, which are so intimately mixed up with the paleozoic, are probably tertiary; and since some notes communicated to me by Colonel Godwin-Austen on the Cháng-Chenmo rocks are strongly in favour of the presence there of representatives of the eccene, I think that my first opinion may be erroneous. Colonel Austen mentions that these rocks are well seen under Kiepsang station, to the north of the Cháng-Chenmo valley, and that in the head of one of the large tributary streams east of that point they may be observed resting on the palæozoic slates. On the above grounds some patches of tertiary have been provisionally introduced into the map near the above-mentioned locality; the exact distribution and conformation of the age of these beds must, however, be reserved for a future occasion.

Jura-trias of Zánskár and Ladák basin.—On page 51 of my last quoted paper, there is a note given referring to certain fossils said to have been obtained near Lácholung-Lá in Suru, but which I thought not improbably came from the Láchi-Long-Lá in Rupsu. Colonel Godwin-Austen, the discoverer of the fossils in question, has informed me that my conjecture is correct, and that consequently in the passage of the "Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society" where the fossils are noticed, the word Rupsu should be substituted for Suru. The said fossils were stated by Mr. Davidson to be either of cretaceous or jurassic age, but from the occurrence of triassic rocks in the immediate neighbourhood of the spot where they were obtained, there can be little doubt but that they are of lower jurassic age (lower Tagling limestone, =? lower lias): this is confirmed by the fossils having been obtained from a light gray limestone, whereas the cretaceous (Chikkim) limestone is buff or white. It may, there

Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 91.
Vol. XXII, p. 38.

[VOL. XIV.

fore, be taken as a fact that lower jurassic strata occur in the neighbourhood of the Lachi-Long-Lá. As I was quite unable to distinguish these strata from the subjacent trias, with which they form one geological series, it is pretty evident that jurassic strata, as I have previously suggested, must form a considerable part of the Zánskár and Ladák basin. It will be a work of extreme difficulty, even if it be always practicable, to define the limits of these different strata in this mountainous and inhospitable district. In the meantime I prefer provisionally to continue to term the rocks of this basin jura-trias, using the term not in the sense that jurassic and triassic fossils are found intermingled in the same beds, which is not the case, but as indicating that the rocks in question form one homogeneous geological and petrological series, distinguished by the universal presence of dolomites and limestones. In the general absence of fossils in many parts of this series, it scems at present very difficult to divide it into its different paleontological factors.¹ This suggests that there may be jurassic rocks among the Káshmír limestone series, but I am at present quite unable to say whether this be so or not.

Conformity of trias and carboniferous in Káshmír.—As will have been gathered by the reader of the present and preceding papers of the same series, it is apparent that in Káshmír and the immediately neighbouring districts, the triassic series is conformable to the underlying carboniferous,² the rocks of the two periods passing into one another by imperceptible degrees. This relation opens up a very important question as to the exact age of the rocks overlying the undoubted carboniferous; that is, to what portion of the triassic or neighbouring periods they belong. In regard to this question it will be necessary to refer to

¹ The sense in which the term jura-trias is here used corresponds with the acceptation which it has received in America. Thus, Professor Le Conte says : (" Elements of Geology," p. 439. New York, 1879), "we have already explained that these two periods (jura and trias) are not well separated in America. This is partly on account of the poverty of fossils, and partly on account of the continuity of conditions throughout. It seems best, therefore, in the present state of knowledge, to treat them together as one period." Similarly, in peninsular India, the great series of rocks collectively known as the gondwana system comprehends a succession of strata which, from their unity of physical conditions, are rightly classed as one immense formation, though they comprehend rocks corresponding to those of more than one geological epoch,-mainly to the trias and jura. In other cases, however, the conjoint names of two geological formations applied to one rock-series may indicate not only that such rock-series is the equivalent in time of, at all events, part of the two formations named, but also that there is a mingling of the fossils of both formations in the same strata. In this double sense I have elsewhere (Journ. As. Soc., Bengal, Vol. XLIX, Pt. 11, p. 23) used the term mio-pliocene for the siwaliks. The use of an analogous term might at first sight he justified in the case of the mingling of eocene and cretaceous fossils noticed above; in that instance, however, there is no evidence to show that any portion of the strata in question corresponds in time to the cretaceous epoch, the mingling of fossils being probably due to the survival of the organism of one epoch into the succeeding one.

² The fossils collected by Colonel Austen from the carboniferous of Káshmír were determined by Mr. Davidson (Quar. Journ. Geol. Soc., London, Vol. XXII, p. 39), by whom no doubt was entertained as to the age of the strata from which they were obtained. The fossils described on pp. 35, 36 of the same volume, as from Shigar, were also obtained from the Káshmir carboniferous. The discovery of a trilobite in the Káshmír rocks strongly confirms their carboniferous age, as the order died out before the close of that period.

some observations which have lately been published in relation to the contemporaneous rocks of the more easterly Himalaya.

Trias and carboniferous of Húndes.—In the district of Húndes, to the north of the Nítí pass, Mr. Griesbach has examined a complete series of the trias, containing fossils throughout. This series of rocks Mr. Griesbach has described in a recent number of the "Records,"¹ and has shown that it ranges from the rhætic to the lower trias. Mr. Griesbach further states² that the lower trias is unconformable to the carboniferous. This latter fact shows that there is a great difference in the relations of the two series of rocks in the western and eastern Himalaya, and it now remains to briefly compare the two series.

Comparison of Káshmír³ and Húndes trias.—In the absence of a characteristic series of fossils in the trias of Káshmír, it is difficult to institute an exact comparison of horizons with the highly fossiliferous trias of Húndes. If, however, the sections given by Mr. Griesbach, in the paper already quoted, be compared with the descriptions given above, it will be pretty evident that the whole of the rocks classed by him as trias and rhætic correspond to the rocks classed by myself as trias. Consequently the presumption is, that when we have a continuous section from the carboniferous to the rhætic, the whole of the trias is present. Here, however, a difficulty presents itself, since, according to Dr. Stoliczka,⁴ in the Spiti district, the upper trias overlies the carboniferous with local unconformity, but, as I gather from Dr. Stoliczka's notes, generally conformably. In Káshmír, as I have said, I cannot discover characteristic fossils in the trias immediately above the carboniferous. In other places, as at Shargol, in Ladák,^s and at Gurez, a large species of Megalodon is of common occurrence. At Shargol, as stated in the passage quoted above, this fossil was not found in situ, but at Gurez it was observed that the horizon in which it occurs is situated at a great distance above the carboniferous. With regard to the horizon of this Megalodon, it has been stated in the passage quoted that the species appears to agree with one from the keuper of Europe, although a species is described by Dr. Stoliczka and Mr. Griesbach from the rhætic. From the position of the Shargol limestone in relation to the underlying presumably carboniferous rocks, and to other overlying rocks which appear to correspond to the rhætic of Mr. Griesbach, it seems that the Megalodon horizon is probably of upper triassic age (keuper). If this be so, there would be abundant space in the lower part of the Shargol and Gurez limestones for the lower trias, which, according to the section given by Mr. Griesbach, is of no great thickness. As I have not myself visited Spiti I cannot say whether or no there is space enough there for the lower trias between the fossiliferous beds and the carboniferous, but if the series be conformable, the presumption is that representatives of the lower trias must occur there also.

- Vol. XIII, p. 94 et seq.
- * Ibid., p. 86.

^a Here and in succeeding paragraphs I use the term Káshmír in a wide sense, as including the neighbouring districts belonging to the same kingdom.

- * Mem. Geol. Surv. India, Vol. V, p. 24.
- * Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 44.

VOL. XIV.

Absence of vermian, and age of Kuling shales.-Dr. Stoliczka was unable to determine any representatives of the permian in the fossiliferous rocks of Spiti, and therefore this formation is omitted here, as we cannot point to any rocks which can correspond to it, though we have hinted at the possibility of some of the Káshmír rocks corresponding to this period. Mr. Griesbach¹ has attempted to account for the absence of the permian in the Himalaya by assuming that the break which he finds between the lower trias and the carboniferous in Húndes is of universal occurrence throughout the Himalaya; and upon this supposition he proceeds to institute a comparison between the Himalayan and Alpine rocks which, from what has already been said, must manifestly be of only local application. Mr. Griesbach indeed has omitted to notice previously published observations relating to the conformity of the carboniferous and trias in the Káshmír district, and apparently, in order to bring the rocks of neighbouring districts into harmony with his own section, has come to the conclusion^{*} that certain carbonaceous shales forming the upper portion of the so-called Kuling series of Spiti, referred by Dr. Stoliczka to the carboniferous,³ really belong to the As the proposed change has a direct bearing on the question lower trias. of the age of some of the rock-groups treated of in this and the preceding papers of the same series, it is incumbent on me either to admit, with all its consequences, this proposed change or to show reasons why it should not be accepted.

Mr. Griesbach's main reasons for assigning the shales in question to the lower trias, appear to be that they are very similar in mineralogical composition to certain beds in Húndes, which he has referred to that period, and also that they contain fossils which are said to be probably the same as some of those found in the latter beds.' The statement in regard to the fossils is founded on a comparison made by Mr. Griesbach between his own specimens from Húndes and those collected by Dr. Stoliczka in the Kuling shales Unfortunately these fossils are neither generically nor specifically referred to, and accordingly, though it would appear from Mr. Griesbach's inferences that they present resemblances to the fossils of beds which he calls lower trias, we cannot discuss the bearing of their evidence on the case. Certain fossils have, however, been specifically determined by Dr. Stoliczka from the Kuling shales, and as some of them are widely distributed, we may consider their bearing on the question. Among these fossils there commonly occurs Productus semireticulatus, which has hitherto been considered, both in Europe, Australia, and India, as exclusively characteristic of the carboniferous.⁵

This fossil apparently does not occur in that portion of the Húndes series referred to the lower trias, but is of extremely common occurrence in the so-

- ¹ Loc. cit., pp. 86, 93, 103.
- Ibid., p. 104.
- ³ "Mem. Geol. Surv., India," Vol. V, p. 24.

• Some of the comments upon Dr. Stoliczka's reason for the determination of the age of the Kuling shales made by Mr. Griesbach, appear somewhat peculiar. Dr. Stoliczka is said to have arrived at his conclusions mainly from the absence of known triassic fossils, whereas it would appear to most observers that his conclusions were founded on the presence of known carboniferous fossils.

Koninck: "Monographie du genre Productus," p. 88. Stoliczka: "Mem. Geol. Surv. India," Vol. V, pp. 135, 342, 350.

PART 1.] LYDEKKER-Geology of Dardistan, Baltistan, &c.

called Zíawan beds of Káshmír. A comparison of two specimens, the one collected by myself from the latter beds, and the other by Dr. Stoliczka from the Kuling shales, shows that the appearance and mineralogical condition of the specimens from the two areas is so similar, that if mixed together, it would be impossible to assign them to their respective localities. This fact alone affords a very strong presumption of the homotaxial equivalency of the beds, especially when it is supported by the fact that the fossil in question is only found in one period in Europe; this presumption is, however, almost, if not entirely, converted into a certainty by the following points. In the Káshmír section, the fossil in question occurs solely in the Zíawan beds, and is conspicuous by its absence in the immediately overlying Wían beds, from which a considerable number of fossils have been obtained, and which we have provisionally referred to the trias.

If the Kuling shales are newer than the Ziawan beds, *Productus semireticulatus* ought to range up into the Wian beds of Káshmír, which we have seen is not the case, as it is in the highest degree improbable that in two nearly adjacent areas a fossil should have a completely different vertical distribution.

Precisely the same conclusions must be arrived at from the occurrence of two other fossils,-Spirifer raja and S. moosakhalionsis,-which, according to Dr. Stoliczka,¹ occur both in the Kuling shales and in the Káshmír rocks. It may accordingly be taken as practically certain that the Kuling shales of Spiti, together with the accompanying rocks of the same series, are the equivalents of the Ziawan beds of Káshmír. Consequently if the former are referred to the lower trias, the latter must be also. Now, the Zíawan beds contain so many genera and species exclusively characteristic of the carboniferous both of Europe and Australia,² that all must be referred to one and the same period. On these grounds, it appears to me that Dr. Stoliczka's determination of the age of the Kuling shales, and associated beds classed in the same series, so far from having been demonstrated to be incorrect, is strongly supported by all the decisive evidence available. It may be added that it would be entirely beyond the scope of the present paper to consider whether the rejection of the new view in regard to the age of these rocks at all affects the age assigned to any of the beds in the Húndes series; and also that it appears doubtful to me, whether Mr. Griesbach intended to refer only the Kuling shales to the lower trias. or whether the whole of the rocks of this series were so intended. Either view does not affect the conclusions arrived at above; but if only the shales were intended, it seems a somewhat extraordinary proceeding to separate mineralogically different portions of one series of strata containing the same specific fossils throughout their thickness.

Comparison of carboniferous of Káshmír and Húndes.—I am, however, by no means sure that the "white quartzite with red crinoid limestone" constituting the rocks classed by Mr. Griesbach in Húndes as carboniferous³ corresponds

¹ Loc. cit., pp. 25-350. Spirifer raja is termed by Dr. Stoliczka S. keilhavi, he considering them synonymous names (l. c., p. 145): Mr. Davidson (l. c., p. 40) considers them as distinct.

See Appendix.

Loc. cit., p. 85.

VOL. XIV.

with the fossiliferous carboniferous of Káshmír. It would be natural to suppose that as, according to Mr. Griesbach, there is a break in the former district at the base of the lower trias, rocks of a lower type would occur below that horizon than below the trias of Káshmír, where there is no such break. I therefore think it by no means improbable that Mr. Griesbach's carboniferous is really the lower carboniferous, while the fossiliferous rocks of Káshmír and Kuling are (as was stated to be the case with the latter by Dr. Stoliczka,) the higher members of that formation; the lower carboniferous in Káshmír being probably included in the great mass of rocks which, in the absence of fossils, I have been compelled to class together as silurian. The fossiliferous carboniferous rocks of Káshmír clearly corresponding mainly to the Kuling series of Spiti, the carboniferous of Húndes is not improbably the equivalent of the quartzitic Múth beds of the former district; in regard to which Dr. Stoliczka was doubtful whether they should be referred to the lower carboniferous or to the upper silurian. Rocks in Lahúl, lately referred by myself provisionally to the carboniferous, 1 also agree so closely in character with the carboniferous of Húndes and with the Múth beds, that it appears to me probable that they should all three be referred to the same horizon.

Carboniferous of Ladák.-Now that the carboniferous of Káshmír has been distinctly defined as a zone of shaly and calcareous rocks at the base of the great series of triassic limestones and dolomites, it is quite evident that the very similarly constituted series of rocks occupying a corresponding position in Ladák, described in my last paper on Himalayan geology, and provisionally referred to the carboniferous, is correctly referred. The carboniferous of Ladák is, however, thicker than that of Káshmír, and it is therefore not improbable that it includes lower beds, perhaps corresponding to the upper part of the silurians of Káshmír, and to the Múth beds, and carboniferous of Húndes. In Káshmír the whole of the rocks below the fossiliferous strata of the carboniferous, as already mentioned, belong to one homogenous series, which, in the absence of palæontological evidence, cannot be subdivided, and has accordingly been classed as silurian, though, as will have been gathered from the foregoing, it is probable that it may contain the lower carboniferous. Similarly it would seem that the representative of the devonian must be sought in this series, and it might perhaps be advisable to term these rocks the devonio-silurian were it not that no devonian fossils were recognised by Stoliczka in the fossiliferous palæozoics of Spiti.

Intimute connection between mesozoic and palæozoic in Káshmír.—The conformity of the triassic and carboniferous rocks in the Káshmír area, and the difficulty of exactly defining the lower limits of the latter, indicates that there is here absolutely no break between the mesozoic and palæozoic rocks, and it is greatly to be regretted that the majority of the rocks are unfossiliferous, as if a perfect palæontological record had been preserved in these rocks, it is probable that the faunas of the two epochs might be brought into closer relationship than at present. Neither in Europe nor in America is there, I believe, any instance of an uninterrupted series of strata from the palæozoics to the mesozoics, a break

¹ Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 53.

always occurring either between the trias and the permian, or between the latter and the carboniferous.'

North-westerly extension of trias of Kishangangá valley.—The trias of the Kishangangá valley has only been traced by myself a comparatively short distance to the north-west of Gúrez. Mr. Vigne, however, in his sketch map illustrative of the geology of Káshmír,² has indicated the occurrence of dolomitic limestones, which are doubtless those of the trias, on the right bank of the Indus in Chílás, directly north-west of the trias of the Kishangangá valley, with which it is probably in direct connection. Mr. Vigne also mentions the occurrence of limestones in the lower Kishangangá valley above Mozufferabad,³ which may not improbably be the same.

Section from Chamba to Pángi.—A valuable addition to our knowledge of the geology of Chamba and Pángi (on the Chináb)' has been made by Mr. J. B. Lee, of the Calcutta Bar, who during the past summer paid a visit to those districts, and has kindly communicated to me some of his geological observstions. In the outline geological map accompanying my paper already referred to on the geology of Káshmír, Kishtwár, and Pángi, the area between the gneiss of the Dhalaodar range (south of Chamba) and the gneiss of the Chináb valley in Pángi was left uncoloured, as no geological traverse of the intervening country had been made. It is this geologically new country which has been traversed by Mr. Lee. Leaving the gneiss to the south of Chamba, Mr. Lee informs me that slates with a north-easterly dip continue to a short distance south of Jasaor at which place they are overlaid by blue and white limestones, the former of which is frequently crowded with the stems of crinoids. Beyond these limestones there is an uninterrupted succession of slates, with a general south-westerly dip but with numerous minor folds, which continue till they overlie the gneiss of the Chináb valley described in my paper. The limestones above noticed are without doubt the representatives of either the carboniferous or the trias, and not improbably of both. The limestone has a great mineralogical resemblance to certain limestones higher up the Chináb at Tandi, which in a late paper^s I have provisionally referred partly to the carboniferous. The slates between the limestones and the gneiss are doubtless the same as the Pángi slates, and the approximate representatives of the silurian. The occurrence of a basin of newer rocks among the Chamba slates is another instance of the doubly waved disposition of the rocks in this part of the Himalaya. The occurrence of these limestones in this region is of importance in showing that, as we approach the Simla district, the supposed contemporaneous limestones on the two sides of the gneiss axis preserve their respective characteristics, the inner one being frequently fossiliferous, while the outer is never so.

Trias of the outer hills.-Since a considerable part of the great limestone and

Digitized by Google

¹ The intimate connection of the mesozoic and palacozoic of the Himalaya was pointed out in the presidential address to the Geological Society for 1866 (P. G. S., 1866, p. xlviii).

- ² Loc. cit., Vol. I, p. 275.
- * Ibid., p. 279.
- · Vide Supra, Vol. XI, p. 30 & seq ; also accompanying map.
- * Supra, Vol. XII, p. 53.

dolomite series of Káshmír and the neighbouring districts has now conclusively been shown to be of triassic age, and since the so-called "great limestone" of the outer hills of Jamu (Jummoo) referred to in previous papers,¹ as far as can be judged from precise similarity of structure and composition, is inferred to be the same as the limestone series of Káshmír, it is evident that the great limestone of the outer hills must be mainly of triassic age, and probably, as the lower beds are not shown, should be entirely referred to that series. As I have already said, I am now also unhesitatingly of opinion that the Kiol, and consequently also the Krol limestones, forming (on the inversion hypothesis) the higher beds of the representatives of the carboniferous and trias, which here, in the absence of fossils, must be reckoned as one rock series.⁹

Reputed freshwater origin of the Krol limestones.-In his presidential address to the meeting of the British Association at Swansea in August last, Professor Ramsay refers to the Krol and Blaini rocks of the outer Himalaya as being possibly of freshwater origin, quoting the following passage from Mr. W. T. Blanford's introduction to the "Manual of the Geology of India." "There appears some reason for inferring that the palæozoic slates, sandstones, and limestones occupy hollows formed by denudation in the old gneissic rocks, and that subsequent pressure has produced the appearance of inversion. If this be a correct view, it is probable that the cis-Himalayan palæozoic rocks are in great part of freshwater origin." The inference made in this passage would seem to rest upon an expression in the text of the "Manual" (p. 604); but the "hollows formed by subaërial erosion" there mentioned, are evidently such only in the sense in which the Norwegian fjords might be so designated, for the whole sedimentary series is described as continuous in full force round and between the spurs of gneiss throughout the whole region from the Beás eastwards to Naini-Tál and in a compressed section westwards to the Pir-Panjál. Independently of this explanation, it appears to me that the similarity of the Kiol (the western extension of the Krol) series to the marine rocks of Eishmakám and elsewhere is too decided to be compatible with any great difference of origin.

Gneiss series.—As will be inferred by the reader of this and the foregoing papers, the work of the past season has to some extent modified the views previously expressed as to the geological age of the gneiss of much of the area under consideration. The most important point determined is, that the so-called

1 Supra, Vols. IX, p. 158, XIII, p. 56.

² It must be observed that Mr. Griesbach (*loc. cit.*, p. 85) considers the Naini-Tál limestones as cambrian. Now in the "Manual of the Geology of India" (p. 609), as is incidentally mentioned by Mr. Griesbach, it is considered that these limestones are very probably the equivalents of the Krol. If this view be correct it is clear that either Mr. Griesbach's or my own identification must be erroneous. Mr. Griesbach, as is so often the case in his paper, in this instance has not indicated the necessary consequence of the changes he endeavours to introduce. Before positively referring the Naini limestone to the cambrian, it was incumbent on him to show decisively either that that limestone is not the equivalent of the Krol; or if it be, to show that the views generally entertained as to the age of the latter are grievously wrong.

Digitized by Google

³ p. xxvii.

PART 1.] LYDEKKKR-Geology of Dardistán, Baltistán &c.

"central" gneiss of Dr. Stoliczka must originally have been unconformable to the overlying rocks, and that in cases where such unconformity cannot now be detected, the apparent conformity of the rock-series is due to the result of subsequent metamorphic action.¹ On page 57 of my last published paper there appears a summary of the views then entertained as to the relative ages of the gneiss of the Káshmír Himalaya. The following remarks indicate what modifications of such views are now necessary.

Gneiss of the Kailás range.-In the paper referred to last, it was stated that the gneiss of the Kailás range-the trans-Indus range of Ladák-underlies a vast thickness of slates apparently mainly corresponding to the silurian, though with possibly some still older rocks in the lower parts. It was consequently considered that this gneiss was of infra-silurian age, and that possibly a portion of it corresponded to the primitive "central" gneiss. The past season's work has conclusively shown that the latter supposition is correct, and that, at all events, a very considerable portion of the Kailás gneiss is primitive. It seems, however, to be undoubtedly the case that a portion of this gneiss is altered out of an old slate series, and such portion has been provisionally termed cambrian gneiss, as underlying a vast thickness of silurians. We have already shown that in Astor the primitive gneiss underlies the slate series in many places without the intervention of a great thickness of schistose gneiss, and it appears to me not improbable that there may be a variable thickness of rocks superimposed on the primitive gneiss in different districts, and that consequently we may have in one place cambrians and in an other silurians resting on the primitive gneiss. It being certain that the primitive gneiss existed as land during the deposition of some of the palæozoics (as proved by the occurrence of gneiss blocks in the latter), it is by no means improbable that this land was submerged at different times in different places, and that consequently a greater or lesser thickness of newer rocks may be imposed upon it. This supposition would receive strong support, if the views entertained as to the relations of the gneiss of the Bhot-Kol pass to the trias given above, should meet with acceptation. Finally, it may be affirmed of the great mass of gneiss of Baltistán and Ladák, coloured red on the maps issued with this and my earlier papers, that it certainly contains representatives of a metamorphosed paleozoic gneiss, and of an originally primitive and unconformable gneiss; and that it is further not improbable that the paleozoic gneiss may belong to both cambrian and silurian periods, though we are not at present in a position to prove this.

Gneiss of Zánskár range.—The work of the past season having conclusively shown that the gneiss of Surn, forming the north-westerly termination of the Zánskár range, is in intimate connection with the trias, it is evident that the silurians must be represented by some of the gneiss on the outskirts of this great mass of metamorphic rocks, and it is, therefore, probable that some of the gneiss of the lower Wardwan valley, on a previous occasion supposed to be much older, must represent the silurian. In Pángi, however, as I have said in my last paper,

¹ It should be observed that a very similar unconformity and overlap has been recorded, on both sides of the central gneiss, by Lieutenant-Colonel McMahon in the Bisáhir and Spiti districts. (Supra, Vol. XII, p. 65.)

F

[VOL. XIV.

there is such a vast thickness of slates overlying the schistose conformable gneiss¹ that I cannot help thinking that the latter may be of cambrian age. The unconformity of the granitic central gneiss forming the inner part of the range is here abundantly proved by the occurrence of blocks of it in the silurian slates. The position of these blocks in relation to the central gneiss, as compared with that of Deosai, is confirmatory of the above view, since in Deosai the slates containing gneiss pebbles lie immediately above the granitic central gneiss, while in Pángi a large thickness of schistose gneiss is interpolated. A further confirmation of this view is afforded by the fact, which I have not previously recorded, that the isolated mass of granitic gneiss lying to the north of Tandi on the Chináb,² appears to be overlaid directly by the silurian slates without the intervention of the schistose gneissic rocks; this would involve the supposition that this gneiss remained as an island during the deposition of the supposed cambrian rocks, and was only submerged during the deposition of the silurians. That the silurians of the Wardwan valley were deposited in the neighbourhood of land is proved by the occurrence in them of ripple-marked rocks,³ and that such land may have existed in the form of gneiss islands, some of which were submerged at a later period than others, is by no means an improbable supposition.

Gneiss of the Pir-Panjál range.-Some portion of the gneiss of the Pir-Panjál range, notably that in the neighbourhood of the Banihál pass, is of a schistose type, and is undoubtedly conformable to the overlying older paleozoic slates, which are of enormous thickness. This gneiss is, in all probability, the same as the palæozoic gneiss of Pángi, and the opinions advanced above as to the age of the one will apply equally to the other. On the higher mountains on either side of the gorge of the Jhelam valley, where it cuts completely through the Pír-Panjál range,⁴ there occurs, however, a gneiss-granite, which is generally a porphyritic rock, containing large twin crystals of orthoclase, exactly like the gneiss-granite which in Baltistán, Ladák, and Húndes has been regarded as The relations of this gneiss-granite to the overlying paleeozoic primitive. slates have not yet been satisfactorily determined, nor is it yet known whether the schistose gneiss occurs between the two. If this rock be the central gneiss, which I now think not impossible, it probably existed as land during part of the palæozoic period, and the pebbles of gneiss found in the silurians of the Pír-Panjál pass may have been derived from it. On this supposition it would not necessarily follow that the schistose Banihál gneiss ' should occur above it.

¹ Supra, Vol. XIII, p. 57.—It is almost impossible to avoid a certain amount of repetition in continuing a subject left incomplete in a previous paper.

² See map facing page 64 of Vol. XI of the "Records."

³ Supra, Vol. XI, p. 50.

⁴ The range on the north of the Jhelam is usually termed the Káj-Nág; it is, however, really a continuation of the Pír-Panjál.

⁵ If there be some "central" gneiss in the Panjál, we are not driven to the view adopted previously (Vol. XI, p. 40) that the pebbles embedded in the slates were transported from a distance; but that, as Colonel Godwin-Austen supposes, they formed a shingle beach near the land of their origin.

IV.-GLACIERS OF BALTISTÁN.

Introductory.—Any notice of the geology of Baltistán would obviously be incomplete without some reference to the mighty glaciers which form such a characteristic feature of that district and which are only exceeded in dimensions by those of the polar regions. These glaciers have naturally already fallen under the notice of various authors,¹ and a few observations have also been recorded as to the evidence of their formerly having had a vastly greater extension than at present. During my late visit to that district, however, certain facts in regard to the latter question, having, moreover, a certain bearing on the still wider question of the former glaciation of the whole Himalaya, have come to my notice, and as they do not appear to have been described by previous writers, they are presented in the present paper.

Mr. Campbell on Himalayan glaciation.—Before proceeding to the proper subject of this section, it may not be out of place to mention, that there has recently appeared a paper from the pen of Mr. J. F. Campbell,² in which the author arrives at the conclusion that there is no valid evidence of a former general glacial period; and that in the Himalaya the older glaciers were only slightly larger than at present. The conclusions arrived at by myself, as will be shown in the sequel, are in great part in opposition to those of Mr. Campbell, though it appears that there is still very great doubt as to how much of the Himalaya has been glaciated. I may add that Mr. Campbell's personal observations of the Himalaya were mainly confined to the region of the outer hills, and to a distant survey of the more central ranges from Simla and other hill stations.

Climate and present glaciation of Baltistán.—Coming now to the subject of this section it may be observed that the upper portion of the great basin drained by the affluents of the Shigar river, namely, the Básha and Bráldu rivers, is highly remarkable for the number and size of its glaciers, the Biafo glacier being, I believe, the next in size to the Humboldt glacier of Greenland—the largest in the world. The extensive glaciation of this drainage area is in marked contrast to the very slight development, both as regards number and size, of glaciers in the more generally elevated and neighbouring country of Ladák. The causes of this greater glaciation are, I think, to be found in the moister climate which this district enjoys as compared with the neighbouring district of Ladák; to the greater snow fall which occurs³; and lastly, but not leastly, to the enormous height of many of the mountains, which consist of mighty peaks, ranges, and ridges, closely approximated, and divided from one another by deep and narrow

¹ Vigne, "loc. cit." Dr. Thomson, "loc. cit." Drew, "Jummoo and Káshmír Territories." "Quar. Journ Geol. Soc.," Vol. XIX, p. 460. Godwin-Austen, "Proc. Roy. Geog. Soc.," January, 1864, p. 36.

^a Quar. Journ. Geol. Soc., London, Vol. XXXV, p. 98.

² I am informed by the natives, that at Askoli, on the Braldu river, the snow during the winter generally lies to the depth of about 3 feet, while a few hundred feet above the valley it averages from 12 to 15 feet in depth.

VOL. XIV.

valleys and ravines.¹ This configuration of country is evidently far more favourable to the accumulation of large masses of snow and ice in the valleys than one where the hills are rounded and flat, and the valleys very wide and open, as is the case in Ladák. The difference in the degree of humidity between upper Baltistán and Ladák, in the absence of meteorological observations, makes itself manifest in the more abundant vegetation which is found in the former district. In Ladák, almost the whole country (except where artificial irrigation has been introduced) is a barren, stony, and sandy waste; almost the only native vegetation being a scrub of low bushes and patches of turf here and there in the swampy river valleys; and on the higher grounds, low-growing aromatic plants, and some dry straggling grass. In upper Baltistán, on the other hand, the higher valleys are clothed in summer with a thick carpet of luxuriant grass, spangled with a variety of flowers; while the cypress, willow, wild-rose, berberyand other shrubs grow luxuriantly. The difference in the suitability for vege, tation of the two areas is more clearly shown by the fact that in Ladák the vegetation in the river valleys only occurs in any quantity immediately on the borders of the streams, while in Baltistán it extends up on the hill-sides far above the reach of any moisture from the streams below.

Lower limit of glaciers .- With regard to the level to which the glaciers of Baltistán descend, I have in most cases no very certain information to give. since, unfortunately, my aneroid had been broken; and no heights are given on the sheets of the Indian atlas at the terminations of any of the glaciers. The nearest approximation I can give to the lower limits of the glaciers of Bráldu is as follows :- On the survey map, the elevation of the junction of the Bráldu and Básha rivers is given as 8,227 feet; now, the termination of the Tápsa glacier, in the Hoh valley, is a comparatively short distance from this point, and the difference in the elevation of the two places is, I think, less than 2,000 feet: this would give the elevation of the lower limit of the Tapsa glacier as about 10,000 feet. That this estimate of the elevation is not an excessive one, is borne out by the fact that cypress trees extend to a height of 1,000 or 1,500 above the level of the glacier, and that the higher limit of these trees is, I believe, between 11,000 and 12,000 feet. I estimate the elevation of the termination of the Biafo glacier at Askoli, as certainly not more than 10,000 feet, and possibly less. Mr. Drew estimates the elevation of the lower limit of the Arándu glacier, on the Básha river, somewhere between 10,000 and 11,000 feet. No other glaciers in the western Himalaya descend to such a low level as those of Baltistán."

Tápsa glacier.—The locality of this glacier has been already indicated; its termination is situated immediately above the village of Nangmoni Tápsa, where there is a considerable extent of cultivated ground. It is worthy of notice that it is only in this part of the western Himalaya that I have seen glaciers descending close to the cultivated ground, as is so commonly the case in the Swiss Alps. The village of Nangmoni Tápsa itself stands on an old glacial moraine. A comparatively modern terminal moraine, forming a dome-shaped hill covered

¹ Peak K² (28,265 feet) above the Baltaro glacier is the second highest mountain in the world. Except, perhaps, a small glacier from Nanga Purbat, near the village of Társhing. with cypress, bounds the cultivated land superiorly. above this old moraine is the present terminal moraine of the glacier. The above appearances seem to indicate that the Tápsa glacier has receded by small gradations, pausing here and there, until it finally attained its present shrunken dimensions. At its present termination the glacier decreases rapidly both in width and thickness, its terminal moraine forming a series of irregular steps. Old moraines can be distinguished here and there down the Hoh valley, nearly as far as its junction with the Bráldu valley. Above Tápsa, large lateral moraines occur on the borders of the glacier, extending to a height of several hundred feet above its present level. On the summits of some of these old moraines, and on the neighbouring ridges of rock, may be seen some gigantic perched blocks of gneiss; the dimensions of one of these blocks may be roughly estimated at $50 \times 35 \times 25$ feet. Below Tápsa the old moraines have been entirely denuded away by the river on the left side of the valley, leaving the native rock exposed. This rock is quite rough and irregular, showing not the slightest trace of glacial polishing or scoring, though it must once have lain in the course of the glacier. In no part of this valley, indeed, could I find any traces of the wearing effects of the old glacier on the surrounding rocks; and if the old moraines and perched blocks were to be entirely washed away, no evidence would remain of the former greater size of the Tápsa glacier : the significance of this fact will be noticed in the sequel.

Palma valley .- The Palma valley, another tributary of the Bráldu valley. presents numerous evidences of the former extension of the glacier which now occupies the head of the valley. Near the mouth of this valley the summit of the ridge of limestone between Kúrophon and Dúmordo, which is at least 2,000 feet above the level of the Bráldu river, is thickly strewn with gigantic blocks of the old porphyritic gneiss, which must have been transported from far up the Palma valley: no traces of glacial markings can now be detected on any portion of this limestone ridge. Near Dúmordo, however, some of the precipitons cliffs on the left bank of the river, at a height of more than 1,000 feet above its bed, are most distinctly smoothed and polished by glacial action. The upper portion of the valley, below the present glacier, retains the U-shape so characteristic of glacial action; the lower portion, on the other hand, is most distinctly V-shaped. Here and there, however, traces of the older and more elevated U-shaped valley remain, in the form of ledges on the sides of the present river gorge. The present form of the lower part of the valley seems, therefore, to be clearly due to the denuding action of the river, which has excavated the valley to the depth of some 500 feet below the level of the old glacier valley.

Glacier increasing.—The present Palma glacier shows pretty evident signs of being on the increase, since it terminates inferiorly in an abrupt and precipitous wall of ice, with but comparatively little debris and no distinct terminal moraine, which seems to have been overflowed and, so to speak, swallowed up by the glacier.

Former extent of glacier.—From the occurrence of blocks of gneiss-granite on the Kúrophon spur, and from the glacial markings already noticed in the Palma valley, it may be safely concluded that the Palma glacier formerly united with the Biafo glacier.

VOL. XIV.

Biafo and Baltaro glaciers.--I have but few observations worth recording concerning these glaciers, as they have been already described by Colonel Godwin-Austen. There would seem to be but little doubt, from the occurrence of moraine matter in the valley between the two glaciers, as well as from the evidence of old glaciers in the Bráldu valley below the termination of the Biafo glacier, to be noticed shortly, that these glaciers once united. From the height at which old glacial traces occur in the Palma valley, and allowing 500 feet for subsequent river erosion, it would appear that the thickness of the ice of the three united glaciers must have been at least 1,500 feet. At the lower portions of the Biafo and Baltaro glaciers, the whole of the ice is covered with an enormous accumulation of debris, and neither lateral nor median moraines (an be traced : higher up the glaciers, however, we find clear ice, with distinct moraines of both kinds; transverse crevasses are also numerous. At the termination of the Biafo glacier, where the ice suddenly debouches into a wide valley at right angles to the course of the glacier, and is consequently released from lateral pressure, there occur numerous and wide longitudinal crevasses. Both these glaciers, for a very long distance above their terminations, present a highly arched transverse section. In estimating the thickness of old glaciers, it should always be borne in mind that the markings on the sides of such glaciers only indicate the thickness of the outer portion of the ice, and that from the above. mentioned arched section the centre of the glacier must have been much thicker. On the sides of the Biafo glacier the rocks are all highly polished and scored for some feet above the present level of the glacier, indicating its recent diminution in thickness. Older markings are here and there to be detected at much higher levels.

Glacial evidences on the Bráldu river, below the termination of the Biafo glacier. — Having now shown that there was formerly one enormous glacier, composed of an extension of the present Biafo, Palma, and Baltaro glaciers, and also that the Tápsa glacier once extended down to the Bráldu river, I proceed to show that these united glaciers formerly reached the whole way down that river.

Glaciated spurs at Hoto.—On either side of the tributary ravine debouching into the Bráldu valley a little to the west of the village of Hoto, is a projecting spur of gneiss; each of these spurs has been rounded off, grooved, and polished by glacial action. The groovings and flutings on the spur to the westward of the tributary ravine are as fresh as those on the boundary walls of one of the existing glaciers. These groovings are directed down the valley of the Bráldu river, ascending on the eastern side as far as the middle of the spur, and then rapidly sinking on the western side. The direction of the old glacier must accordingly have been down the Bráldu river. The glacial markings on these spurs extend to a height of about 1,000 feet above the present river-level.

Opposite spur.—The above-mentioned markings certainly prove the existence of a large glacier in this part of the valley of Bráldu; but there are other points in connection with this subject which demand attention before proceeding to notice other evidences of glaciation further down the valley. Immediately opposite the polished and grooved spurs, there occurs on the other side of the river another spur of gneiss projecting boldly into the valley. This spur must

PART 1.] LYDEKKER-Geology of Dárdistán, Baltistán, &c.

equally with the opposite spurs, have presented an obstacle to the course of the glacier. This spur however, is perfectly rugged, and shows the projecting edges of the nearly vertical strata jutting out in the most irregular manner; its lower part shows marks of river erosion, extending to a height of 40 or 50 feet above the river.

Glacial markings protected by river deposit.-We are now led to enquire what is the reason that on one side of the river projecting spurs of rock bear distinct traces of former glaciation, while on the other no such traces can be detected. An examination of the Hoto spurs will show that they are nearly half buried in a modern river deposit resting inferiorly on what appears to be glacial moraine. This deposit shows unmistakable signs of having once extended much higher up on the spurs, and it is quite probable that it may have formerly entirely covered them. The rugged spur on the opposite side of the river has no protecting formation; while the whole of the cliffs in the neighbourhood which are likewise bare of this deposit show not the slightest traces of glaciation. It, therefore, appears to me to be certain that the covering of river deposit has protected the glacial markings on the Hoto spurs, while on the unprotected rocks in the neighbourhood, such markings have been entirely obliterated, and the surface of the rocks subsequently much altered by denudation. I shall shortly show that in almost all other cases in this district where old glacial markings occur they are either situated on protected surfaces, or, as in the case of the markings at Dúmordo already referred to, on almost, or quite, vertical cliffs where the action of denuding agencies is reduced to a minimum. The bearing of these observations on the absence of glacial markings from other parts of the Himalaya will be discussed in the sequel.

Hoto to Foljo.—Between the villages of Hoto and Foljo small surfaces of polished and grooved rocks may here and there be detected on the precipitous gneiss cliffs of the left bank of the river, extending to a height of about 1,600 feet above the bed of the latter. At Foljo itself, there is a gneiss spur high above the river, showing nearly as perfectly preserved glacial markings as those on the Hoto spurs. The Foljo spur has likewise been covered with a protecting coat of river deposit.

Foljo to junction of Bráldu with Básha river.—Below Foljo glacial markings may be traced here and there on the left bank of the river, nearly as far as its junction with the Básha river. Some of these markings are situated at a great height above the bed of the river, and, where they have not been protected by river deposit, generally occur on vertical faces of rock. In many parts of its lower course, the river flows in a distinctly V-shaped valley (bounded by rugged and irregularly-shaped cliffs), which in its present form could certainly not have contained a glacier. At the hamlet of Tigstan, the valley somewhat suddenly expands, and assumes an U-shaped section. Here, for the first time in the course of the river, we find traces of old glacial action occurring close down to the present bed of the river, as is well shown on a rounded, polished, and grooved boss of gneiss nearly opposite Tigstan : this boss has only lately been denuded of its protecting river deposit. We may conclude, from the position of this glaciated rock, that in this part of its course the river has not perceptibly deepened its

Digitized by Google

47

channel since the period of its glaciation, and that consequently at that period the inclination of the valley must have been much greater than at present.¹ In this expanded lower portion, the valley is thickly overstrewn with a vast accumulation of gigantic travelled blocks of gneiss ranging to 100 feet in diameter. Perched blocks may also be observed standing out on the sky-line of the spurs opposite and below Tigstan. The spur dividing the Bráldu and Básha valleys for two-thirds of its length between its termination and Tigstan has its sky-line most markedly rounded and smoothed off by glacial action; while above this point, which is at an elevation of about 1,000 or 1,200 feet above the bed of the river, the sky-line becomes suddenly thrown into sharp points and peaks. This is the most striking instance of glacial action that I have seen, and, if the correct height of the rounded part of the spur were ascertained, would give us the thickness of the glacier at one period of its existence.

Básha-Bráldu glacier.—The above facts clearly show that one immense glacier formerly occupied the valley of the Bráldu river, and that it overtopped the spur separating the Bráldu and Básha valleys, where it doubtless united with another glacier occupying the Básha valley. This old glacier I shall subsequently refer to as the Básha-Bráldu glacier; it extended down to an elevation of a little over 8,000 feet.

Básha glaciers.—Of the glaciers of Básha I have nothing to say, as the Arándu glacier has been carefully described by Mr. Drew,³ and I have not examined the Básha valley for traces of old glaciers, except at its mouth. Mr. Vigne observes that the natives consider the Arándu glacier to be solely advancing.

Glaciation below Shigar.—Below the point where the Bráldu and Básha rivers unite to form the Shigar river, until below the town of Shigar, I have not myself observed any features which I could decidedly say were of glacial origin. My observations were, however, mainly confined to the left bank of the river, where the rocks are less hard than the gneiss cliffs of the right bank, and it is possible that markings might be observed on the latter. The Shigar valley is distinctly U-shaped in section, and in this respect might well have contained a glacier. When we come to the spur between Shigar and Skárdu, separating the Shigar and Indus valleys, and composed of a dark-coloured schistose gneiss, we find in the neighbourhood of Stronkdokmo the summit of this spur overspread with blocks of a light-grey, and frequently porphyritic, gneiss-granite, together with other blocks of trias limestone and dolomite. Both kinds of these blocks must have been brought down from the neighbourhood of Shigar, and undoubtedly indicate ice transport. There would seem, therefore, to be every probability that the Básha-Bráldu glacier continued down the Shigar valley to the Indus.

Glaciation at Skárdu.—In the immediate neighbourhood of Skárdu there are some unmistakable traces of former glaciation. Thus, to the south of the fort

¹ I may draw attention to this observation as illustrating a remark made in a recent number of this publication (Vol. XIII, note, p. 237), that although considerable erosion of the water-way has taken place generally over this area since the last great extension of the glaciers, some spots have escaped that action

• "Jummoo and Káshmír territories," p. 367.

there occur large quantities of blocks of grey gneiss-granite, which seem to have been transported from the high range to the south. According to Mr. Drew' the isolated rock in the Skárdu valley, 1,000 feet high, is covered with transported blocks. Near the summit is a large block of gneiss-granite, polished and grooved. Some of these blocks appear to rest upon the (?) pleistocene lacustrine strata described in a previous section. Near the fort some of these lacustrine strata are crumpled, and contorted in a manner which seems very probably to have been effected by the lateral pressure of a glacier. Mr. Drew, as already mentioned is of opinion that this contortion was caused by ice in some form or other² Although I cannot be sure that the Shigar glacier extended to Skárdu, yet I think it very probable that such was the case : anyway there is no doubt that some glaciers debouched on to the Skárdu plain at an elevation of about 7,000 feet.

Moraine at Katsúra.—Mr. Drew³ notices the occurrence of large masses of moraine matter at Katsúra, on the Indus, some 16 miles below Skárdu, and concludes that this moraine was formed by a local glacier.

Relation of glaciers to lacustrine deposits of Skárdu.—The lacustrine strata of Skárdu, showing signs of underlying glacial debris, and being contorted by ice action, it would seem likely that the great glaciers of Baltistán did not extend below Skárdu as one solid mass of ice filling the whole valley, as otherwise one would have thought the great masses of lacustrine strata in the Indus valley opposite Skárdu would have been swept away by them. There is, however, considerable difficulty in accepting this objection as there occur large masses of similar lacustrine strata in the Indus valley in Ladák, which are probably in great part of preglacial origin where from the elevation glaciers ought surely to have existed. It remains to see whether all the lacustrine strata here alluded to are pre-glacial or not, before a satisfactory solution of the difficulty can be arrived at.

Glaciation of Deosai.—I have now concluded what I had to say regarding the traces of former glaciation in Baltistán. Before, however, taking into consideration the general bearing of these facts on Himalayan glaciation, I intend to shortly notice some of the evidences of glaciation in the districts between Baltistán and the plains of the Punjab. Immediately to the south of Skárdu we find the elevated plain-like basin of Deosai, attaining in its centre to an elevation of about 13,000 feet, and surrounded by mountains ranging from 15,000 to 18,000 feet in height. A very noticeable fact presents itself here, in that the rivers draining this basin, in spite of its great general elevation, in no case take their origin from glaciers; and indeed, with the exception of a few small ones on the lower part of the Shigar river no glaciers occur in the entire water-basin. This virtual absence of glaciers in such an elevated area presents a remarkable contrast to their abundance in the valleys of Baltistán. The explanation of this

1 Loc. cit., p. 364.

² It is, of course, just possible that such crumplings might have been effected by icebergs detached from a glacier when Skárdu was a lake; and it has been suggested to me that a landslip might have caused them. As far as my own judgment goes, I am inclined to doubt the efficiency of the last named agent in this case.

³ Loc. cit., p. 372.

• The Shigar river here alluded to, in conjunction with the Shingo, drains Deosai, and is quite distinct from the river of the same name referred to in preceding paragraphs.

G

Digitized by Google

:

[VOL. XIV.

difference is, however, not difficult. The water-basin of Deosai practically consists of a very wide and flat valley, traversed by numerous streams, whose united waters are carried off by the Shingo-Shigar into the Drás river.¹ This openness of the Deosai valley, coupled with the fact that the surrounding mountains, which are not of the enormous height of those of Baltistán, drain directly into this open area without the intervention of deep and narrow gorges, explains this absence of glaciers, since the snow generally lies where it falls until it melts, and has no opportunity of accumulating in force, as on the mighty peaks and in the deep valleys of Baltistán. In spite, however, of the absence of glaciers at the present time in Deosai, there appears to be good evidence of their former presence. Most of the minor ridges descending from the higher ranges present a rounded and smoothed outline, strongly suggestive of the effects of glacial action. The streams are also bounded by ridges and banks of debris, which, I think, represent in part old moraines. Again, on the north side of the basin, blocks of grey gneiss-granite are scattered over the ridges of trap rock, evidently by the action of glaciers. In his work and memoir quoted above, Mr. Drew is also of opinion that glaciers once existed in the Deosai plain, but thinks that much of the debris has been arranged by waters flowing from, and dammed by, such glaciers.

Glaciation of Drás.—I have already² expressed my opinion that much of the debris in the Drás valley has been transported by glaciers; the evidence is, however, not without an element of doubt, as the transported material all lies in the present line of drainage.

Wardwan valley.—At the head of the great valley of Márn-Wardwan, draining the south side of the mountains of Suru into the Chináb, there occurs a small glacier of some seven miles in length. Below the termination of this glacier, old moraines may be seen here and there as far as the village of Mareg, where a very large and perfect one occupies the mouth of the tributary valley opening into the Wardwan at that place : the elevation of this moraine is about 8,500 feet. I have not seen traces of old glaciers below this point.

Káshmír.—In Káshmír proper, as I have elsewhere observed,³ a large moraine occurs at Sonamarg in the Sind valley; while lower down in the same valley Mr. Drew has noticed glacial markings in the rocks at an elevation of 6,500 feet. On the opposite side of Káshmír, the valley of Gulmarg, at an elevation of between 7 and 8,000 feet, is thickly covered with what appears to be an old moraine. On the ligher mountains round Káshmír old moraines are of common occurrence; I myself, however, have never observed glacial markings on any of the rocks and the general aspect of the mountains and valleys is certainly not one suggestive of glaciation.

¹ The water of the Shingo-Shigar is quite peculiar among the rivers of this country, in that it is of a clear blue colour, in striking contrast to the muddy-brown colour of the Drás river into which it flows. This purity is entirely owing to the absence of gluciers from the Shingo-Shigar water-basin.

Digitized by Google

* Supra, Vol. XII, p. 30.

³ Supra, Vol. XII, p. 29.
PART 1.] LYDEKKER-Geology of Dárdistán, Baltistán, &c.

Alleged glaciation in the outer hills.—The evidence hitherto cited as to the former existence of glaciers in certain localities is quite beyond the possibility of doubt; this evidence is either glacial markings on rocks, perched blocks, or moraines in their original form. In the outer hills of the Himalaya, however, various writers, among whom I may mention Messrs. Godwin-Austen and Theobald, have argued for the former existence of glaciation in those regions on very different evidence. The evidence which they adduce is, firstly, that of travelled blocks: but, as far as I am aware, very few, if any, of those blocks are in positions which they might not have attained (irrespective of the question of their weight) by the action of water alone; and secondly, from the form of the country, and from certain deposits which they presume to be moraines. The glacial or non-glacial origin of the Naini-Tál lake-basin has lately been a subject of discussion between Messrs. Ball and Theobald, and, as far as I am competent to judge, it does not appear that the arguments either for one or the other view are conclusive. In none of the instances of alleged glaciation in the outer hills has there been adduced any decisive evidence of the nature referred to above, and, indeed, Mr. Campbell, in the paper already quoted, refuses to admit any of such instances as valid. On the present occasion it is not my intention to sift this evidence in any way, but it is merely instanced here in order to show how it differs from the decisive evidence adduced as to the former presence of old glaciers in the inner Himalaya, and also that I may show how certain conclusions as to the preservation or non-preservation of signs of old Himalayan glaciation affect the question.

Glacial period in the Himalaya.—From the facts detailed above, there can be no question but that the glaciers of the Himalaya were formerly of vastly greater extent than at present, and also that glaciers existed in regions where there are now no traces of them. At a period when glaciers were capable of existing in the regions indicated, there can also be but little question of the great difference of the climate from that which at present exists, and there can be, I opine, no stretching of terms in applying the term "glacial period" to the time of such extension of the glaciers. Mr. Campbell's statement that "Indian glaciers are near about as large as they have been since the deposition of the Siwaliks" does not appear to me to be borne out by the facts.

No evidence of a Himalayan ice-cap.—Although there was undoubtedly a vast former development of the glaciers of the Himalaya, I see no evidence to show that there was ever a continuous ice-cap over the Himalaya; indeed, the evidence, as far as it is preserved, tends to show that the great 'valleys of the Himalaya were only filled to a certain limit with ice, and that such ice conformed to the direction of the valleys. Smaller glaciers and snow-sheets doubtless filled the tributary valleys and covered the flanks of the higher ranges; but it appears to me probable that the summits of such ranges and peaks always stood out clear above the ice. It would, indeed, appear preposterous to suppose when we have a river valley at 7,000 feet containing a glacier, that the ice of such glacier should extend up and envelope ranges and peaks of over 20,000 feet in height: such an amount of ice, if it extended in proportionate quantity from the

¹ Supra, Vol. XI, p. 174; Vol. XIII, p. 61.

Himalaya to the pole and thus round the world, would, I imagine, require almost the whole of the water on the globe. From these considerations it appears to me that the arguments used by Mr. Campbell in his paper already quoted, as to the non-existence of a glacial period in the Himalaya, on the ground that the higher ranges do not present a glaciated appearance in a distant view, falls to the ground. The existence of a glacial period, such as I have indicated, is, therefore, in perfect accord with the condition now prevailing in the higher Himalaya. The condition of the Himalaya at this period was probably much the same as that of Switzerland at the same time, which, "though not icesheeted, developed glaciers on a prodigious scale." (Le Conte.)

Evidence of glacial period indistinct.-Taking it now as proved that there did exist a glacial period in the Himalaya, it remains to consider what are the inferences to be drawn as to the extent to which the Himalaya was affected by such glaciation. The very faint traces which this glaciation, even in the neighbourhood of the present large glaciers, has left has been already commented on. It is, however, necessary to refer to this point somewhat more fully. As the ice of the glacial period in the Himalaya began to diminish, it is quite evident that such diminution must have commenced in the lowest regions to which the ice reached, and that the last regions from which the ice disappeared were those in the immediate neighbourhood of the existing glaciers, where the old glaciers must have lingered longest. Now, if the traces of former glaciation in the latter regions are as indistinct as I have shown them to be, is it not natural to suppose that in the lower regions, where the ice, if it existed, must have disappeared at a much earlier period, still less distinct traces of glaciation should remain? Such seems to be undoubtedly the case if the evidence is considered as I have given it above. We have firstly, near the present glaciers, roches moutonnées, rock-groovings, moraines, and perched blocks; in Káshmír, we have frequent moraines, and rock-grooving in one place; in the outer hills, blocks presumed to be glacially transported, and debris assumed to be of morainic origin.

Possibility of glaciation of outer Himalaya.-Without, therefore, for one instant presuming to attempt to settle such a vexed question as the glaciation or non-glaciation of the outer Himalaya, I may yet observe that the absence in those regions of decisive evidence of former glaciation is only what would be expected to be the case from the traces which the old glaciers have left in the central Himalaya. It might be argued, from the statement made above that the glaciers of Baltistán did not probably extend below a level of 7,000 feet as a continuous ice-river, that there could be no glaciers in the outer hills at lower levels than this. Against this objection, however, it may be urged that local glaciers did descend down to the Indus at lower levels, as the one already instanced at Katsúra (and, for aught I know, there may have been others lower down), and also that we have evidence of old glaciers at lower levels in Káshmír. It is also probable that in the glacial period, as now, there was a larger rainfall in the outer than in the inner Himalaya, which would tend to increased glaciation in the former regions. It may further be added that if a glaciation of the outer hills ever took place it has probably not been in the form of a continuous sheet

but only as glaciers flowing here and there from the higher ridges and peaks, and thence down the valleys towards the plains.

The glacial period of the Himalayan was general.-The glaciation of northern Europe occurred during the pleistocene period, and, as we have already seen, the great extension of the Himalayan glaciers occurred after the deposition of strata which probably belong to some part of the same period. There is, therefore, every probability that the glaciation of Europe and the Himalaya was contemporaneous, and, therefore, that the cause of this glacial period was general and not local. I entirely agree with the statement of Mr. Campbell, that "vast sheets of polar ice did not climb over the Alps, the Caucasus, the Himalayas, and the Rocky Mountains, leaving sharp ridges between 11,000, 18,000, and 28,000 feet high;" but this does not convince me that there was not a genera, period of far greater cold than exists at present, when mighty glaciers existed in latitudes and at elevations where there are now no traces of them. It appears to me that Mr. Campbell's main ground of disbelief in a general period of cold is based on his not finding that the whole of the northern hemisphere shows traces of having been covered by a continuous ice sheet. The facts show that in America, Europe, and Asia, there was undoubtedly a contemporaneous extension of glaciers, but the fact of this extension being greater in one region than another by no means invalidates the existence of a general glacial period. Then, as now, Asia may have been hotter than Europe, and the limits to which glaciation extended in the former continent may have been more confined than in the latter, without in the least affecting the supposition that the general temperature of the northern hemisphere was far lower than at present.

Cause of greater disappearance of glacial traces in the Himalaya than in Europe.-Assuming that the glaciation of the Himalaya and of northern Europe was contemporaneous, it becomes a very interesting question to consider why the traces left by this glaciation are so much less clear in the former than in the latter. Why in fact that in Europe, as in North Wales, whole mountains and valleys have retained the features impressed upon them by the glacial period, while in the Himalaya such features are only exceptionally preserved, and that the general appearance of the country is not that of a glaciated one. One answer to this question is, doubtless, that in Wales the whole country was glaciated, and all the ranges and hills swept over by one continuous sheet of ice, which we have seen reason to believe was never the case in the Himalaya. Such an ice-cap would, undoubtedly, leave more lasting traces on the country than would merely large glaciers in the valleys. This answer will, however, not apply when we compare the Himalaya and the Alps, in both of which, as we have said, there was no ice-sheet, and it cannot, therefore, solve the question; hence there must evidently be another answer. This other answer may be, that in the Himalaya the agents of erosion have acted with a far greater degree of rapidity and energy than in Europe, and have thus removed to a greater extent the traces of glaciation. In the outer hills, the periodical rains are certainly far more violent than any rain in Europe, and in parts of the Himalaya, as at Darjíling and the Khási hills, the volume of water thus descending is far greater

than in any part of Europe. If the periodical rains at any former time were still more voluminous and penetrated further into the hills, we might possibly have here a vera causa. Another answer is, that in the outer hills, which are generally not much higher than the loftier Welsh and Scotch mountains, if glaciation existed there, it must, owing to the difference in latitude, have disappeared, when the glacial cold began to decrease, at an earlier period than in Europe, and that consequently there has been in the former regions a longer lapse of time for the agents of denudation to effect their task of obliteration. All these causes, in conjunction with others which have not occurred to me, may together have produced the difference in the features of European and Indian mountains, which have alike been subjected to a glacial period.

V.-HOT-SPRINGS OF BALTISTÁN.

General.—The districts of Bráldu and Básha are remarkable not only for their mighty glaciers, but also for the presence of numerous thermal springs, bursting out here and there from the solid rock.

Position of springs.—On the Bráldu river one thermal spring occurs east of the village of Chongo, while three springs are situated between that village and Tosha. On the Básha river a large spring occurs at Chútran, and a smaller one higher up, west of Bisíl.

Size and nature.—Of these six springs the one at Chútran is by far the largest, while the three between Chongo and Tosha are very small and of much lower temperature than either of the others. The Chongo and Bisíl springs are highly impregnated with hydric sulphide (H.*S.), while the three Tosha springs are as highly impregnated with ferrous carbonate, the iron being oxidized and deposited on the surface. The Bisíl, Chútran, and Chongo springs deposit large quantities of travertine at their outflow. The temperature of the Chútran spring is given by Mr. Vigne ² as 109°F., and that of the Bisíl spring as 160°F.⁹

Chongo spring.—The Chongo spring, here selected for description, bursts out in two jets from clefts in the gneiss rock; the larger, with a stream of water which I estimate at about four inches square in cross section flowing with considerable velocity. The larger jet flows into a sub-circular basin of white travertine, resting on the summit of a considerable deposit of the same substance. I had no means of ascertaining exactly the temperature of the water, but I should estimate it as about 100° F. A considerable quantity of steam is given off from the stream, as well as a very strong smell of hydric sulphide. In the hottest part of the stream there occur masses of dark-green, solid-looking confervæ, while in the cooler parts there grows a yellow flocculent species. The smaller jet has a much lower temperature and deposits much less travertine than the larger.

Old deposit.—Immediately to the eastward of the present Chongo spring there occurs an enormous mass of yellow travertine, adjoining the modern deposit, but of much greater size and extent, and evidently formed at a period when the spring had a far larger volume than at present. This mass of old travertine has,

¹ Tibetan chú, or tsú, water, and tran, hot.

- ² Loc. cit., Vol. II, p 274.
- ⁸ Ibid., p. 285.

roughly speaking, a long diameter of 600 feet, a transverse diameter of 180 feet, and a thickness of 60 feet, at its lower and thickest extremity. The shape of this deposit consists of a series of regularly-formed semi-cylinders, placed one above another in a staircase-like manner; the summit of each semi-cylinder being fringed with a hanging curtain of stalactites. The whole on, though of course on an infinitely smaller scale, presents a great resemblance to some of the travertine formations of the hot-spring and geyser region of Yellowstone-Park in the United States. The modern deposit of the spring occupies merely one corner of the old mass of travertine, and forms a simple semi-domeshaped mass, without any of the cylinders and stalactites of the old formation. I may add that the Chongo spring enjoys among the Baltís a high reputation for medicinal virtues.

Action of springs on rocks.—It is hardly necessary to bring to notice the enormous change which springs of so high a surface temperature, and so strongly impregnated with mineral matter, must oxert on the rocks exposed to their influence at even slight depths below the surface, where their temperature must be considerably greater. The vast amount of calcareous matter removed from the rocks below by the Chongo and Chútran springs must alone have caused a very great change in the rock from which it is dissolved. The presence of these hot-springs, and the number of intrusive veins of granitic and trappean rocks permeating the strata of Baltistán, up to and including those of the triassic period, indicate that in this region there has been a great activity of subterranean thermal energies, which even now, though as shown by the Chútran spring diminishing, are yet active at comparatively slight depths. The result of these agencies is manifest in the metamorphism which all the rocks of the district have undergone.

APPENDIX.

LIST OF FOSSILS FROM THE TEIAS AND CARBONIFEBOUS OF THE VALLEY OF KASHMIR.

Genera or species marked with an asterik are given on the authority of Dr. Verchere; most of the others on that of Mr. Davidson and Dr. Feistmantel: species common to the carboniferous of Australia are marked (†), those to the carboniferous of Europe (‡).

CEPHALOPODA	Goniatites (?) sp. (G. Austen.) ¹
	Corthoceras sp.
	(* Chemnitzia sp. (?)
	* Loxonema sp. (?)
GASTEROPODA	(* Macrochilus sp. (?)
-	* Naticopsis sp. (?)
	(* Nerinæa, sp. (?)
	(Megalodon gryphoides (?). (Gumb.)
	* Aviculopecten sp. (?).
LAWRILIBRANCHIATA	
•	* Cardinia (?) or Anthracosia sp. (?)
	• Solenopsis sp.
BRACHIOPODA	• Sririferina stracheyi (Salt) (?)

TRIAS.

¹ It is possible that this determination may be incorrect, as it seems to have only been made in the field.

56	Records of the Geological Survey of India. [ve	DL. XIV.
CRINOIDBA	Crinoids, non. det.	j i na se
ANTHOZOA	Corals, non. det.	
	CARBONIFEROUS.	
CEPHALOPODA	Orthoceras sp.	
	(Aviculopecten, sp.	
LAMELLIBRANCHIATA	{ Avicula, sp	
	Colenopsis, sp.	
	(Athyris subtilita. (Hall.)	
	" royssi. (L'Ev.)†1	
	Camarophoria, sp.	
	Chonetes ? austenia. (Dav.)	
•	" hardrensis, (Phil). var. tibetensis. (Duv.) + 1	
	" lævis. (Dav.)	
	Discina kashmiriensis (Dav.)	
	Orthis sp. (Dav.)	
	Productus cora (D'Orb.)† ‡	
	* " costatus. (Sow.)‡	
	" humbolti. (D'Orb.) ‡	
	" lævis. (Dav.)	
	" longispinus. (Sow.)† ‡	
	" scabriculus. (Mart.)† ‡	
	" semireticulatus. (Mart.)†‡	
Butentonon	" spinulosus ?. (Sow.)‡	
BRACHIOPODA	,, striatus. (Fisch.)‡	
	Retzia, sp.	
	Rhynchonella barusiensis. ² (Dav.)	
	" kashmiriensis (Dav.)	
	" pleurodon, v. davreuxiana. (D. Kon.)‡	1
	Spiriter barusiensis. (Dav.)	
	" Kashmiriensis. (Dav.)	1
	" moosakaliensis. (Dav.)†	1
	γ , raja. (Sait.)	1
	,, striatus. Ţ (Mart.)	
	",, vercheri. (verneuil.)	
	" viniana. (Dav.)	1
	Spiriterina octopilcata. (Sow.) † I	1
	* Strophomone Thomboidelie (Weblenhows) and the	
	Terebratula austaniana (Daw)	山.†年
	(Fenestella lenida (D Kon)	1
	* sykesi (D. Kon)	1
POLYZOA	megastoma (D. Kon)	
	Protoretenora ampla (Longdalo)+	ļ
	• Vincularia multangularia. (Portlock)+	1
TRILOBITA	Phillipsia semenifera (?) (Phillips.) ³ †	

F

ER

TAPSA 040 -

Dars

1 This name should be changed to kashmiriensis.

* Apparently misnamed berumensis in Davidson's description ; the name should be barusiensis, from the village of Barus, in the Vihi district of Kashmir.

Digitized by Google

_

* Figured as Asuphus semeniferus in Phillips' "Geology of Yorkshire," 1836, pl. XXII, fig. 10.



Digitized by Google

•

- · · ·

·

.

Note on some Siwalik Carnivora.—By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India.

In a recent number of the "Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London," a paper on Siwalik carnivora by Mr. P. N. Bose has appeared, in which certain new species are described. As it appears to me that the evidence on which these so-called new species are founded is by no means valid, a short notice of the paper is necessary here. It may be added that as the description of the remains of Siwelik carnivora in the collection of the Indian Museum will appear on a future occasion in the "Palæontologia Indica," only those points in which my own conclusions differ from those of Mr. Bose are here touched apon.

In the introductory paragraphs of his paper the author contends for the old view of the exclusively miocene age of the Siwaliks, and as the view of the partly pliocene age of these rocks has been advanced by the officers of the Geological Survey of India, before showing in what respect my own conclusions as to the number of species of Siwalik carnivora differ from those arrived at by Mr. Bose, it will be well to endeavour to see whether the objections raised by him against the newer view are of such weight as to lead to its abandonment. Mr. Bose's objections are classed under two heads—stratigraphical and palæontological.

In regard to the first of these heads, our author ⁹ objects to the provisional correlation of the unfossiliferous upper Manchhar beds of Sind with the fossiliferons typical Siwaliks, forming the higher and middle portions of that series; and also of the fossiliferous lower Manchhars with the generally unfossiliferous lower Siwaliks (Náhans), as set forth by Mr. W. T. Blanford in the "Manual of the Geology of India."³ In objecting to this correlation, Mr. Bose advances some general statements as to the difficulty of correlating particular zones when they are not both fossiliferous, and urges that as some of the lower Manchhar fossils are common to the upper and middle Siwaliks, the two are approximately on the same horizon. The general parallelism in the lithological composition of the whole Siwalik and Manchhar series, as set forth by Mr. Blanford, is, however, overlooked. As to the second objection, it may be freely granted as probable that some fossils have been obtained in the Siwaliks from a horizon corresponding to the lower Manchhars, and that the two faunas pass gradually into each other, yet the fact still remains that the Sind fauna, as far as known, does not contain the essentially modern forms of the typical Siwaliks. This, coupled with the lithological correspondence of the rocks of the two series, leaves a strong prima facie probability for the correctness of Mr. Blanford's view.

Leaving now the stratigraphical, we may proceed to the palæontological aspect of the question, and in this case we may treat the whole of the Siwaliks and Manchhars as forming one continuous tertiary formation, entirely apart from any question of particular beds. In regard to the age of this series as a whole,

Ħ

Digitized by

Joogle

¹ Vol. XXXVI, p. 119. ² Loc. cit., p. 120. ⁸ p. 581.

[VOL. XIV.

Mr. Blanford¹ concludes that the highest beds from which fossils have been obtained are probably of upper pliocene age, and the lower of upper miocene; the main fossiliferous horizons being lower pliocene and upper miocene. This determination renders it necessary to assume that numerous genera of miocene mammals survived into the pliocene, and it is to this survival that Mr. Bose mainly objects. He observes that such a theory should only be admitted "if the ossiferons Siwaliks were proved by clear stratigraphical evidence to belong to the pliocene epoch, or if the Siwalik fauna could be shown to have decidedly stronger affinities with the pliocene than with the miocene faunas of other localities." He then goes on to say that, "it is certain that by far the greater number of the animals composing the Siwalik fauna lived at an epoch between the middle miocene and the middle pliocene, and the question is whether the fauna should be quoted as upper miocene or lower pliocene." It is then stated that the question will be answered by the carnivora, but that if the whole fauna were taken into account the result would be the same. Our author then goes on to show that a large percentage of the genera of the Siwalik carnivora are extinct, and belong to European miocene types; while in the pliocene of Europe most of the genera of carnivores are still living. The question of the miocene or pliocene age of the Pikermi beds is next touched upon, and M. Gaudry is somewhat naïvely referred to, not only as supporting his own views as to the miocene age of these beds, but as doing so in a volume which must certainly have been written, and probably printed, before these views had ever been called in question³! Finally, our author concludes that the Siwalik and Pikermi faunas are of the same age, and must be referred to the upper miocene, adding the significant remark that there must probably be some pliocene forms among the latter.

In regard to the Pikermi beds, Mr. Bose completely traverses his own axioms. He has said that the pliocene age of the Siwaliks can only be admitted on clear stratigraphical evidence, and yet in the case of the Pikermi beds, he deliberately ignores the fact brought forward by Mr. Blanford,³ that they rest on beds with a marine pliocene fauna.

In regard to the Siwaliks, Mr. Bose appears not to have seen the full bearing of his own premises, and to have just missed the one legitimate conclusion to be derived from them. He speaks of the admixture of miocene and pliocene forms in this formation, and yet, apparently led away by the preponderance of miocene genera, says that the whole formation must be of miocene age, not recognising the circumstance that the first appearance of a genus is of far more significance than its last appearance. Consequently, such forms as the horses, the oxen, the elephants, and the bears are forcibly dragged down into the miocene, when

¹ Loc. cit., p. 581. The same conclusions are repeated in a later memoir: "Memoirs Geological Survey of India," Vol. XVII, p. 66.

* The miocene age of the Pikermi beds was first called in question by Mr. W. T. Blanford in "Nature" for September 5th, 1878: the volume quoted by Mr. Bose "Les Enchainements du Monde Animal, &c.," in which M. Gaudry's latest opinions are expressed, was published in the same year.

Digitized by Google

* "Manual," p. 584.

they are unknown in Europe before the upper pliocene.¹ One instance of the presence of such essentially modern genera in a formation appears to me to far outweigh the presence of a number of somewhat older genera, which may perfectly well be survivals. As Mr. Blanford has pointed out,⁹ the Indian and African regions are now the sole habitats of most of the larger mammalia allied to those of the miocene and pliocene; and there is consequently a very strong presumption that in these favourable regions the tertiary mammalia may have lingered longer than in other parts of the globe, which have not enjoyed a tropical climate in modern times.

In regard to the time of its appearance, the genus Equus is of especial significance, since its evolution has been worked out with a great degree of probability of correctness by Professors Marsh and Huxley. Professor Huxley's words are as follows :-- " Firstly, there is the true horse [previously stated to occur in Europe 'in the quaternary and later tertiary strata as far as the pliocene formation']. Next we have the American pliocene form of the horse (Pliohippus). Then comes the Protohippus [also pliocene], which represents the European Hipparion. But it is more valuable than the European Hipparion, for the reason that it is devoid of some of the peculiarities of that formpeculiarities which tend to show that the European Hipparion is rather a member of a collateral branch than a form in the direct line of succession." In a neighbouring paragraph, the professor remarks that we must probably " look to America, rather than to Europe, for the original seat of the equine series." If this view of the evolution of the horse be at all correct, namely, that it was evolved in America from a form unknown before the pliocene, it is absolutely impossible that it could have lived in Asia in the miocene. In India, remains of the genus Equus have never been obtained in Perim Island, 'Sind,

¹ In his paper on the classification of the tertiaries of Europe by means of the mammalia (Quar. Jour. Geol. Soc., London, 1580), Mr. W. B. Dawkins lays great stress on these genera as being characteristic of the upper pliocene. In the same paper (p. 389), however, the Siwaliks, in which all the genera occur, are quoted as miocene. In his late work "Early Man in Britain" (p. 167), the pleistocene age of the Narbada series is accepted. Mr. Dawkins would seem to be unaware that *Bubalus palæindicus* occurs in the Narbadas and the upper Siwaliks. It may be noted, in passing, that in the last passage cited, *Bos palæindicus* is put for *Bubalus palæindicus*, and *Bubalus namadicus* for *Bos namadicus*. The same error was made in Mr. Dawkins' earlier work—" Cave-Hunting" (p. 428), and was pointed out by myself. (" Pal. Ind.," Ser. 10, Vol. I, p. 138.)

¹ Loc. cit., p. 582.

³ "American Addresses," London, 1877, Lecture III, pp. 80, 86, 87. See Gaudry's "Les Enchainements du Monde Animal, etc.," Paris, 1878, Chapter V. Also, Haughton's "Six Lectures on Physical Geography," Dublin, 1880, p. 282. Professor Marsh is of opinion that the American strata, classed as the homotaxial equivalents of the tertiaries of Europe, are chronologically somewhat older than those of Europe. On this hypothesis it is easy to see how a form originating in America in one geological period may have reached Europe or Asia during the same.

⁴ Equus was stated by Falconer to have been found in Perim Island; the remains, however, are really those of *Hippotherium*. It is somewhat noteworthy that before the American horse-like animals were known, Professor Huxley, probably relying on the supposed miccene age of the Siwaliks, quoted the genus *Equus* as occurring in the miccene (Presidential Address to the Geological Society, 1870, p. xlix). Subsequently, however, he has always alluded to it as being unknown before the pliccene (See "Critiques and Addresses", London, 1873, p. 308, and "American Addresses", *loc. cit*).

the Western Punjab, or Burma; and such as have been obtained from the typical Siwaliks by Mr. Theobald are derived, I believe, from beds very high in the series, probably the same as those yielding *Camelus* and *Bubalus palæindicus*, which Mr. Blanford is inclined to refer to the upper pliocene.

Again, mastodons are unknown before the middle miocene, and, in Europe, the true elephants before the upper pliocene. Now, it is almost certain that the mastodons are the direct ancestors of the elephants, and if the origin of the latter is carried back to the upper miocene, it is doubtful if there would be sufficient time for their evolution.

The local survival of old forms to a later stage, in place of presenting great difficulties, appears to me what is only natural to expect. It is quite true, as stated by Mr. Bose, that we do not find many extinct genera in the pliocene of middle Europe; but this is probably due to the fact that in later tertiary times the climate was unsuited for tropical forms, which most of the miocene mammals probably were. In South America and Australia, a vast number of extinct genera lived on into the pleistocene, and it is probable that most even of the pleistocene mammals of that country are now extinct.

There is one other point which, though not touched upon by Mr. Bose, is of very considerable importance in relation to the age of the Siwalik fauna; this is the relative degree of specialisation of the animals, not as regards the whole mammalian class, but the particular genera to which they belong. In the paper already quoted, Mr. B. Dawkins has applied this test to the mammals of the tertiaries of Europe, and has shown that a regular ascending scale in the specialisation or development of certain parts of the frame, such as the feet, the teeth, the horns, and the antlers, can be traced as we ascend through the tertiaries to the present time. Mr. Dawkins has shown that in the upper miocene of Europe, the antlers of the deer, though somewhat larger than in those of the middle miccene, were still small, and never carried more than three single types throughout their The pigs were also provided only with very small canines. length. The rhinoceroses had all low-crowned (brachydont) teeth,² and in the ruminants, as shown by Professors Gaudry and Lartet, the central pits in the teeth were less deep than in living species. The horns of the antelopes were still small. Oxen and horses were unknown. In the lower pliocene none of the deer possess large antlers, nor had the pigs large canines. In the upper pliocene, oxen in which the females were often 'polled' appeared, and Mr. Dawkins is doubtful whether any of the females were furnished with horns. The antlers of the deer attained their full development. The rhinoceroses (except R. etruscus) had high-crowned (hypsodont) teeth, and the pigs had large canines. The pits in the teeth of the ruminants had attained their full depth, and the antelopes had long horns. The horses had attained nearly their highest specialisation of the feet bones. In the pleistocene all the oxen were furnished with horns, and the feet of the horses had attained their highest development.

¹ As I have stated elsewhere (Pal. Ind., Ser. X, Vol. I, p. xii), I believe, taking the whole world, most of the pleistocene mammals are extinct, though this is not the case in Europe.

Digitized by Google

^a Quar. Jour. Geol. Soc., Vol. XXIV, p. 214.

PART 1.]

Turning now to the Siwaliks, we find, oxen present in large numbers, some of which, according to Professor Rutimeyer, had hornless females, while others bore horns in both sexes, which in some species attained enormous size.¹ An undescribed antler in the Indian Museum shows that the deer in this respect had attained as high a development as the living Asiatic deer. Several of the rhinoceroses had large horns, and they had all high-crowned teeth^s; and the pigs had large canines (shown by a specimen in the Indian Museum). The pits in the teeth of the higher ruminants were deep,^s and the antelopes seem to have had long horns. The horses had attained their greatest specialisation in their feet. The canines of *Machairodus* had not attained such a large development as in the pleistocene species.

The above comparisons are so self-convincing that it would be waste of time to dwell longer upon them: they show in the most unmistakable light that the mammals of the Siwaliks had attained a stage of condition at least as high as that attained by those of the miocene of Europe.

But there is yet another aspect from which Mr. Bose's conclusions may be objected to: he first of all purposely goes out of his way to endeavour to prove that all the Siwalik fossils must have been derived from nearly the same horizon, and then is puzzled by the admixture of forms. The fact probably is that, at all events, many of the pliocene forms do really occur in a higher zone than the miocene, and, though there is undoubtedly a great mixture of the two, this is probably not so great as Mr. Bose supposes.

Then again, Mr. Bose appears to consider that the whole of the fossiliferons series of the Siwaliks must of necessity exactly agree with one or other of the typical periods of the European rock-series. This, on the face of it, is such an improbable—nay, impossible—supposition that it scarcely requires refuting. The whole Siwalik formation consists of one continuous series of rocks from the nummulitics up to the topmost conglomerates, containing remains of *Bubalus palæindicus*, scarcely distinguishable from the living buffaloe. Since it is probable that fossils occur through a very considerable thickness of this series, taken as a whole, it is, on the face of it, an absurdity to say that the whole of these strata must exactly correspond with the upper miocene of Europe, and that none of them could have reached up to the pliocene.

On the contrary, finding a continuous series of strata containing mammalian remains which present both pliocene and miocene affinities, and in which though the exact horizon of the fossils is often unknown, yet as far as this can be determined, the older types occur in the older beds, the only legitimate deduction is, that we have a transitional series from one period to another, and that to a considerable extent the older forms have survived among the newer. Hence, taking the Siwaliks as a whole, I cannot see that Mr. Bose has adduced such

¹ See 'Pal. Ind.,' Ser X, Vol. I.

^a Boyd-Dawkins: Quar. Jour. Geol. Soc., Vol. XXIV, p. 215. Struck with this peculiarity, Mr. Dawkins in this passage suggested his doubts as to the miccene age of the Siwaliks, a statement which he appears subsequently to have forgotten.

Digitized by Google

³ Pal. Ind., Ser. X, Vol. I, p. 65.

evidence as to render necessary any change in the views of the Indian Survey as to the age of these rocks.

When treating of the Siwalik fauna as a whole in a recent publication,⁴ this series has been termed by myself the "mio-pliocene,"² which expresses my own idea of its homotaxis. For this term some might prefer to substitute the "neogene" of continental writers.

I now proceed to discuss the evidence on which some of Mr. Bose's new species are founded.

HYENA SIVALENSIS, Falc. & Caut.

(H. SIVALENSIS & H. FELINA, Bose.)

On page 128 of his paper, Mr. Bose describes one of the Siwalik hyæna skulls in the British Museum as H. sivalensis of Falconer and Cautley; while on page 130 a second hyæna skull, in the same collection, is referred to a new species, under the name of H. felina. The claims of this second skull to specific distinction rest on the absence of the first premolar, the approximation of the canine to the second premolar, and on the small size of the true molar.

The British Museum collection appears to contain only these two skulls of Siwalik hyænas, and of these there are casts in the Indian Museum. The collection of the latter, in addition to these casts, also contains two nearly complete skulls, and the anterior half of a third skull: we have, therefore, fuller materials than were available to Mr. Bose. Of these three skulls one presents the normal dentition of the hyæna, that is, there are four premolars, the canine is placed at a considerable distance from the second premolar (0.6 inch), and the true molar is of the average dimensions (0.69 × 0.35 inch). In the second skull the first premolar is absent, and the second approximated to the canine (interval == 0.22 inch); the true molar has, however, nearly the same dimensions as in the first skull (0.6 × 0.3 inch). In the third skull the first premolar is likewise absent, the interval between the second premolar and the canine is intermediate between the corresponding interval in the other two skulls (0.3 inch); while the true molar is very small (0.4 × 0.23 inch).

The first skull corresponds to $Hyana_sivalensis$ as restricted by Mr. Bose; the second in regard to the premolar and canine corresponds to H. felina, whilst as regards its true molar, it corresponds to H. sivalensis; the third agrees with H. felina in regard to the absence of the first premolar, and the small size of the true molar, while in the length of the interval between the canine and second premolar, it is intermediate between H. felina and H. sivalensis.

The first skull would certainly be referred to the restricted H. sivalensis, the third probably to H. felina, while the second presents intermediate characters between the two and could not be referred to either. It is, therefore, quite clear that the characters of the new species are not of specific value, and that consequently there is only one known species of Siwalik hyæna, which must be called H. sivalensis.

¹ " Journ. As. Soc., Bengal," Vol. XLIX, p. 6, et seq.

⁹ I am quite aware that this term is etymologically indefensible; but if the words miocene and pliocene are treated as purely abstract terms, apart from their original meaning, there can be no objection to formfrom them a compound term.

It may be added that there is not unfrequently a considerable amount of variation in regard to the number of teeth present in the same species of carnivora. Professor Huxley has recently 'noticed the variation in the number of the molar series in the genera Otocyon, Canis, and Kuon, (Cyon) among the Canidæ. Among the Felidæ the occasional presence of an additional lower premolar in the tiger has been noticed by myself³; and an additional molar also occasionally occurs in the common cat.³ In the bears, there is also a considerable variation in the number of the premolars. In the Siwalik hyæna the suppression of the first upper premolar seems to have been of very common occurrence, as far as can be judged from the limited number of specimens at our command. The diminution in size of the upper true molar is a less frequent character. Both these deviations from the normal hyæna type of dentition are in the direction of greater specialisation, and possibly, as Mr. Bose thinks, indicate an inclination towards the feline type.

MACHAIRODUS ' SIVALENSIS, Falc. & Caut.

(M. SIVALENSIS & M. PALÆINDICUS, Bose.)

In treating of the remains of the Siwalik Machairodus, Mr. Bose⁵ has subdivided the one species, M. sivalensis, determined by Dr. Falconer, into two, to which he applies the names M. sivalensis and M. palaeindicus. In this case also it appears to me that the remains should all be referred to one species.

The remains of Siwalik *Machairodus* in the British Museum appear to consist of two crania, two upper jaws, and four lower jaws, all in a more or less broken condition. The two skulls, and two of the lower jaws, Mr. Bose refers to his new species, the main distinction of which appears to be its greater size. In the Indian Museum, we have a fragment of a lower jaw, with three teeth, very like one of the British Museum specimens; part of a single upper canine, and the hinder part of a young skull.

The main grounds urged by Mr. Bose for referring his specimens to two species consist in their alleged difference in size. One species, to which are referred all the specimens with perfect teeth, is said to be about the size of the jaguar, and the other, to which the skulls and two broken lower jaws are assigned, is said to be nearly equal in size to the tiger.

In the following table are given the measurements of the lower carnassial tooth of a large and a small tiger, and also of the same tooth in the so-called small Siwalik *Machairodus* (*M. sivalensis*): the two specimens from which the latter measurements are taken are (a) the more perfect of the two British

¹ " Proc. Zoological Soc.," 1880, p. 285.

^a "Journ. As. Soc., Bengal," Vol. XLVII, pt. II, p. 2.

³ See "Nature," Vol. VI, p. 394; the skull referred to in this passage is now in the museum of the Royal College of Surgeons.

⁴ I adhere to the original *Machaerodus* in place of the new fangled *Machaerodus* (and similarly *Acerotherium* for *Acerotherium*), as it appears to me that when a name has once been assigned, it is far better that it should take its place as an abstract term, without any reference to its origin. Any subsequent etymological alterations are to my mind frivolous.

Digitized by Google

⁶ L. c., pp. 122-125.

Museum specimens mentioned on page 125 of Mr. Bose's paper, and (b) the above mentioned specimen in the Indian Museum :---

		Machairodus.		Felis tigris.		
		(a)	(b)	^		
Length of lower carnassial	•••	0.95	1.03	0.93	1.13	

These measurements show that the lower jaws of the *Machairodus* belong to an animal which may be said to be practically as large as the tiger, and there is, therefore, as far as these specimens go, no reason for separating them from the species to which the skulls are referred.

On page 127, Mr. Bose gives the length of the upper carnassial tooth of M. sivalensis as 1.3 inches. The lengths of the corresponding tooth in the two tiger skulls of which the lower carnassial has been already measured, are respectively 1.3 and 1.42 inches. In this respect, then, the so-called small *Machairodus* corresponds in size very closely with the tiger.

There now only remains the lower jaw figured by Mr. Bose,¹ and referred to the larger species (M. palæindicus). This specimen does not contain the carnassial tooth, but the base of the preceding premolar is preserved. In the following table the dimensions of this tooth are given (c), those of the corresponding teeth in the jaws referred to M. sivalensis (a b), and those of the corresponding teeth in the two tiger skulls.

		Machairodus			F. tigris.		
			a	Ь	0		
		\sim			\sim	\sim	
Length of last premolar	•••	0'	75—	0.82-	0.8	0.8	1.0
• . • •		 • •	-				

The last lower premolar in the *Machairodus* jaw in the Indian Museum is thus seen to be intermediate in size between the corresponding teeth in the British Museum specimens, and the limits of variation between the three are much the same as those occurring in the teeth of the tiger.

It has now been shown that all the known teeth of the Siwalik Machairodus indicate that they belonged to an animal "nearly equalling in size the royal tiger of Bengal," and as the last expression has been used by Mr. Bose to indicate the animal to which the skulls belonged, there appears to be no question but that all the remains must be referred to one species, viz., M. sivalensis. The slight difference in the form of some of the lower jaws is probably owing to differences in the sex and age of the animals to which they belonged.

FELIS CRISTATA, Falc. and Caut.

(F. CRISTATA, and F. GRANDICRISTATA, (?) Bose.)

On page 127 of the paper under consideration, the author notices an imperfect cranium of a large feline from the Siwaliks, in the collection of the British Museum, which he is inclined to consider as distinct from *Felis cristata* of Falconer and Cautley, and for which the provisional name of F. grandicristata is proposed.

¹ L. c., Pl. VI, figs. 1, 2.

PART 1.]

The grounds for the proposed specific separation of the specimen in question, are that it belonged to an animal larger than $F.\ cristata$, and that the sagittal crest is more developed. The typical skull of the latter species is depicted on Plate XXI of Vol. IX of the "Asiatic Researches," and described by Dr. Falconer in the accompanying memoir: this memoir is reprinted on page 315 (et seq.) of the first volume of the "Palæontological Memoirs."

The type skull of F. cristata is characterised by the relative shortness of the facial to the cranial portion, but as the former portion is wanting in the specimen described by Mr. Bose, an exact comparison between the two in this respect cannot be instituted. On referring to the measurements of the two crania given by Dr. Falconer¹ and Mr. Bose, ³ it will be seen that of the two common measurements, the breadth of the united occipital condyles is respectively 2.2, and 2.7 inches, and the width of the skull across the zygomæ 8.0 and 8.1 inches. In respect of the condyles Mr. Bose's specimen is undoubtedly the larger, but in the width of the skull, Mr. Bose remarks: "the depth of the mesopterygoid fossa, as well as the length of the basicranial axis, is very nearly the same as in the larger individuals of [the] tiger; but the breadth of the cranium at the zygomatic arches is proportionately much the same."³

Now, on referring to Falconer's description of his specimen,⁴ it is said: "the parietals are longer than in the tiger. . . . The occipital is large in all its dimensions. It greatly exceeds that of the tiger of the same size in height, and equals that of the large tiger, No. 2." In a following paragraph the nasals are shown to be smaller than those of the tiger, and in the table of measurements the width across the zygomæ is given as much less than in the tiger.

Comparing these two descriptions, it will be apparent that both fossil skulls belong to an animal in which the hinder part of the skull (basi-cranial axis in one, and parietals in the other, taken as comparisons) is at least as long, or longer, than in the tiger, while the width across the zygomæ is less. The two skulls, therefore, clearly have the same general proportions. The greater development of the parietal crest in Mr. Bose's specimen appears to me merely to be due to difference in age or sex. As to the alleged difference in size of the specimens, this point appears to be very slight: we have already seen that the two are of the same width across the zygomæ, while in some of the other measurements Mr. Bose's specimen appears to be intermediate between Falconer's specimen and the tiger. The following five measurements show the width between the postorbitary processes of the frontals in (a) Dr. Falconer's specimen, in (b) Mr. Bose's

- ¹ Pal. Mem., Vol I, p. 817.
- ² L. c., p. 128.

⁸ It is somewhat difficult to understand the latter part of this sentence, as the skull in question is said to be as large as that of the tiger, and yet the width across the zygomæ is less (1, in place of 95, or 10, inches),—*vide* Falconer's table of measurements.

I

Digitized by Google

4 Loc. cit., p. 319.

specimen (taken from a cast), and (c) in the large skulls of the tiger measured by Dr. Falconer, and in a smaller one from my own collection.

Width of frontal postorbitary processes : $\frac{a}{8\cdot 1}$ $\frac{b}{3\cdot 5}$ $\frac{c}{4\cdot 2-3\cdot 6-2\cdot 9}$

In this respect, therefore, the variations in size between the two fossil specimens are by no means so great as those occurring in the skull of the tiger; and from this, and the considerations already mentioned, there appears to me to be no evidence for assigning the former to two distinct species.¹

CANIS CURVIPALATUS, Bose.

In regard to this species, of the validity or nonvalidity of which I have no means of judging, I have only a few remarks to make.

It appears that the descriptions of the species given in Mr. Bose's paper are not intended as merely preliminary notices, but as final descriptions of the newly named species. Now, in regard to the new species, Canis curvipalatus, described on page 134, there is no figure given of the specimen on which the species is founded;^a neither are any dimensions appended, while the description is of the most meagre kind. A slight comparison is made between the specimen and the skulls of certain foxes; but in general the specific names of these animals are omitted, and in several cases it appears impossible to say whether Indian or European foxes are referred to. The same looseness of names is observable on the preceding page, where "living Indian otter" is the only name assigned to a skull whose measurements are given.

The imperfection of the description of *Canis curvipalatus* is such that it is quite impossible to determine whether or no a palate of a Canis from the Siwaliks in the Indian Museum belongs to this species.

The Siwalik Group of the Sub-Himalayan region.-By W. THEOBALD, Deputy Superintendent, Geological Survey of India.⁸

1. The present notes are the result of several seasons' work among the newer tertiary rocks of the outer Himalayan region, between the Sárda river on the east and the Indus on the west, and I shall only incidentally allude to the extension of the group over a larger area.

¹ It may be mentioned that in a paper by myself in the Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal (Vol. XLIX, Pt. II), the three above noticed species of carnivora described by Mr. Bose are admitted into the list of Siwalik mammals. Mr. Bose's paper had not then reached India.

Reference is given to an old and bad figure by Baker and Durand.

³ I would fain have spared our readers the display made in the first 17 paragraphs (and others) of this paper. Had such foolish criticism been directed against any one else, I might have expunged it, as our Records have already been too much disfigured with Mr. Theobald's style of observation and discussion, but as applied to my own work I prefer to let it stand. If, indeed, there had not been a double official claim involved-the demand for some account of Mr. Theobald's services for the last six years and his own partial right to appear in these pages-I should have declined the article, as full of misleading statements and altogether an almost useless contribution

Digitized by Google

TT _ 1 ~

2. Previously to the examination of the Sub-Himalayan region by the officers of the Geological Survey, little was definitely known regarding the Siwalik group, beyond the fact that it was composed of a vast assemblage of beds of tertiary age, wherein were entombed the remains of an extremely rich fauna, and the collections sent to Europe by the early investigators excited the utmost interest, not only from the novelty and variety of the forms, then first made known to science, but from the speculations they gave rise to as to the age of the beds which had vielded them, some of the fossils clearly indicating a pliocene age, while others, no less, according to European experience, pointing to an older period. Matters were in this state when the publication of Mr. Medlicott's memoir and map of the country between the Ganges and Rávi in the 3rd volume of the Memoirs of the Geological Survey threw a flood of light on the ground rendered classic by the labours of Durand, Baker, Cautley, and Falconer, &c., and for the first time a detailed description, illustrated by maps and sections, was given of the physical and structural features of the vast group of beds collectively known as 'Siwalik,' in a word, Mr. Medlicott's memoir left little to be added by future observers, within the area treated of, and served as a point of departure, quoad classification and nomenclature, for all subsequent work connected with Himalayan geology.

3. Now, one of the most important discoveries enunciated in connection with the Siwalik group in the above memoir, was, that instead of consisting of one homogenous group of beds, it really comprised *two groups*, separated by a prodigious unconformity; for the younger of these groups the term 'Siwalik' was retained, whilst the older group was named 'Náhan' from the town of that name in the Kaiarda 'Dún,' near which town the clear unconformable section occurred, whereon Mr. Medlicott based his classification, and this original view or interpretation of the section at Náhan, involving the essential unconformity between *lower* Siwalik, or 'Náhans,' and *upper*, or 'Siwaliks' as now restricted, enunciated and set forth in 1865, is still maintained and upheld in the Manual of Geology in 1879 (p. 524).¹

4. That there may be no misapprehension on this point I will quote briefly Mr. Medlicott's latest words from the Manual of the Geology of India, when speaking of this unconformable junction of Náhan (p. 536): "It was from the examination of this junction that a clear separation was proposed between a Siwalik and a Náhan group. It is not yet proven that such a separation is not maintained eastwards, throughout the middle Himalayan region, but it is

to our knowledge of the formations of which it treats. We have already had more than enough of bird's eye views of the Sub-Himalayan rocks: in the memoir published in 1864, I endeavoured to give a critical study of the structural features upon the apprehension of which a right interpretation of the rocks depends; Mr. Theobald was expressly commissioned to correct or extend that detailed work; but he can hardly be said to have recorded a single *observation* bearing upon the point: those questions stand now exactly as I left them. I have endeavoured to explain to Mr. Theobald what I consider to be his mistakes, but in vain: the paper is now printed from the proofs as corrected by the author. It only remains for me to indicate in foot-notes some of the most misleading statements.—H. B. MEDLICOTT.

Digitized by Google

¹ As expressly stated " for use within this special region."-H. B. M.

certainly not distinguishable to the north-west, and so a compromise has been adopted to speak of the inner or 'Náhan' zone and its representative rocks elsewhere as lower 'Siwaliks'."

5. These are intelligible words enough, but if we turn to the tabular arrangement of the tertiary groups at page 524, we find therein a very lame and imperfect reflection of them. The tertiary rocks are there divided not into three, but into two unconformable groups only, a 'Sirmur' or eocene group and a 'Siwalik' group, simply characterised as upper, middle, and lower, all bracketed together, as if no such gap as that which supervenes above the 'Sirmur' separated the lower or 'Nahan' 'Siwaliks' from the rest. This is more remarkable, as a miocene group is unrepresented, and the great 'Náhan' series, alike unconformable to the 'Sirmur' below it, and the 'Siwalik' above it (of known pliocene age), would exactly fill the gap. This mode of compromising a question of fact (which really admits of no compromise), has certainly the advantage of being very embarrassing to pertinacious critics and objectors, as any one who wishes to dispute the proposition laid down on page 524 can be triumphantly met and hampered by a totally different version contained on page 536 and in Introduction xvii. I object moreover to the misuse of the word 'compromise' in the passage I have quoted, as it seems to me something quite different. 'Siwalik' beds near Náhan are seen to rest unconformably on others to which the term 'Náhan' is given to distinguish them. These type 'Náhans' are assumed to be 'Siwaliks,' as well as those above them, and hence the term 'Náhan' comes to be applied elsewhere to undoubted lower 'Siwaliks.' I do not call this a "compromise" in any sense, but merely begging the question at issue which is simply, are the beds at Náhan (the type 'Náhans') which unconformably support upper 'Siwaliks,' themselves 'Siwaliks' also, or are they not? To dub them with a name (lower 'Siwaliks' or 'Náhans') where it is uncertain if they are anything of the sort, and then to extend the term to lower 'Siwaliks' elsewhere, whose relations entitled them to be so regarded, is neither proof nor compromise that I can see.¹

6. One of the first results of the announcement of a great unconformity traversing the Siwalik group at Náhan was the hope, which it at once gave rise to, that the key had at last been discovered to the puzzling mixture of animals of miocene and more modern types in the same series of beds, and on my being directed to take up the examination of the 'Siwalik' group or groups, with special reference to the separation and discrimination of a 'Náhan' from a 'Siwalik' fauna, no one could have entered on the task assigned me more hopefully than I did, or with a more loyal acceptance or belief in the reality of the conclusions at which my colleague Mr. Medlicott had arrived.

7. True it is that the small cloud, usually described as no bigger than a 'man's hand,' though it is ultimately found to conceal the tempest in its skirts,

¹ A provisional arrangement explicitly made pending the final settlement of a difficulty is, I think, correctly called a 'compromise.' Mr. Theobald was expressly sent to that ground (in 1873) to clear up those difficulties; he has done so by ignoring them, and he would now substitute arbitrary decisions for safe and intelligible compromise. There are no unexplained discrepancies in the 'Manual' on this score. -H. B. M.

might even then have been discerned, could any suspicion of future difficulties have been entertained to damp the enthusiasm of the hour. In the very memoir quoted, Mr. Medlicott admits that the total unconformity displayed by the 'Náhan' and 'Siwalik' groups on the Márkanda, near Náhan, had entirely disappeared before reaching the Sutley, and a note is appended to the map that the colour boundary between the two groups on that river is a purely arbitrary This unexpected behaviour of the boundary had not, however, then, the one. same weight or significance which it subsequently acquired, as it was impossible to divine beforehand which condition, that of conformity or unconformity, constituted the rule, and which the exception as regarded the relations of the then newly dissevered groups, the 'Náhan' and 'Siwalik,' to one another.

8. A serious difficulty was, however, soon to be encountered. It was abundantly clear, that if any trustworthy separation was to be effected between the 'Náhan' and 'Siwalik' faunas, it would be necessary in every case to be able to return an unequivocal answer to the question, as to which of the two groups, any beds which had yielded fossils should be referred, and here was the 'rub.' No initial aid was afforded by the type section on the Márkanda near Náhan; as there the 'Náhan' beds were totally unfossiliferous, whilst at a very short distance [80 miles] from that spot, all unconformity between upper and lower ' Siwaliks ' disappeared, never to be redetected, so I was necessarily compelled to the shift of adopting the best provisional scheme of classification I could, if I did not abandon the attempt I had in hand as hopeless, and if every successive scheme I could think of proved untenable and contradictory, the result, I must maintain, was due rather to the inherent conditions of the problem I was set to solve, than to any failure of my own to make the most of the materials before me. This, I think, can hardly be gainsayed when it is remembered that the faunal separation I was endeavouring to effect was really attempted to be carried out in a group of beds which seem everywhere else to be one and indivisible, both faunally and lithologically, and which nowhere in the Himalayan region, save in the vicinity of Náhan, has displayed throughout its enormous area and thickness any trace of unconformity or interruption of conditions of deposition, whilst, at the same time, it is characterised throughout, as a whole, by a wonderful uniformity over large areas of lithological character, and the gradual and insensible manner in which the change in mineral character in its beds, vertically, is brought about.

9. The section near Náhan, as hitherto interpreted, has indeed ever been a sort of bed of Procrustes, to which all who would handle 'Siwalik' questions were expected to conform, and its bearings are far from confined to the bald issue of conformity or the reverse between upper and lower 'Siwaliks,' but embrace the solution of such important questions, as the nature of the rock boundaries, whether faulted or natural, which bound the whole region of these deposits. Without, however, travelling beyond the simplest issue that can be raised, it will be well to consider the question, "are the 'Náhan' beds on the Márkanda, which support unconformably upper 'Siwaliks,' themselves of 'Siwalik' age, as Mr. Medlicott insists, or are they not? and if not, then what are they?

10. It would of course be most satisfactory if we could solve this question by reference to Mr. Medlicott's own memoir, wherein he establishes the distinction,

but it is unfortunately not so clear as could be desired what was the chief reason which weighed with Mr. Medlicott in so regarding them. Reference to the above memoir leaves no manner of doubt as to what the conclusion was, but quite otherwise as to the reason for such conclusion. By personally referring the matter to my colleague, however, I am able to say that this reason was fossil evidence, and this statement I am bound to accept, but I should not have deduced as much, unaided by Mr. Medlicott himself, from his own words at page 14 of his Memoir, where he distinctly says: "These giant fossils are found through some thousands of feet in thickness of the 'Siwalik' rocks, but my most patient search and enquiry on the spot has hitherto failed to trace one single fossil to the Náhan beds." This fact, coupled with the total unconformity of the two sets of beds, does seem rather a Hibernian reason for classing them together as Siwalik, thereby giving rise to the great 'Siwalik' unconformity, which has proved a very 'incubus' ef Sub-Himalayan geology.¹

11. It is true, no doubt, that a little before the sentence above quoted, Mr. Medlicott writes: "The distinctness thus established physically between the two groups is borne out *in a most important manner* by fossil evidence." Unless 'fossil evidence' means here the *absence of fossils*, this assertion simply stands in the baldest antagonism to facts, as neither at the time Mr. Medlicott wrote nor since, has a single specifically determinable fossil been found in the Náhan beds of the Kaiárda or Dehra 'Dúns.'

12. Of course there is something behind all this insistence on fossil evidence. It appears that although Mr. Medlicott never himself could find fossils in 'Náhan' rocks, yet others have, *in his opinion*, done so, but I propose to show, that if Mr. Medlicott is correct in the view he takes of the discovery of fossils near Náhan, it not only *does not bear out* the inference he deduces therefrom, but actually seriously militates against the classification he adopts.

13. By reference to page 15 of Mr. Medlicott's memoir, it will be seen that in 1834 (or thereabouts) Lieutenant Durand discovered a fossiliferous bed of clay "on the north face of the mountain on which the town of Náhan stands," identical with a bed previously known in the Kálawála pass east of the Jumna. From this statement Mr. Medlicott deduces three conclusions, one, in my opinion, undoubtedly erroneous, the other two probably no less so.

14. The erroneous conclusion is, that the fossils in question belong to *lower* Siwalik beds. If we divide the Siwalik group vertically into three equal divisions (and there are no grounds for dividing it unequally), then I do not think that any rocks exposed between the Jumna and Ganges will fall between the lower group, and unless the fossil locality of the Kálawála pass was very low in the section, *certainly it* would not, yet this is the cardinal reason for classing 'Náhans' as lower 'Siwalik.' Of course the temptation to do so is great, rather than call them middle 'Siwaliks,' as the difficulties attending an unconformity

¹ In the Memoir quoted the name 'Siwalik' was restricted to the outer rocks and 'Náhan' to the inner. The 'compromise' was made fifteen years later, in the 'Manual,' in view of the persistent continuity of the stratigraphical sequence west of the Suilej, and of the still valid presumption that Cautley had found fossils in the true Náhan beds, as was clearly explained from the first (Memoir, p. 16).—H. B. M.

between lower and middle 'Siwaliks' would be vastly enhanced by placing the unconformity between middle and upper! Secondly, Mr. Medlicott appears to me to attach a meaning to the words "on the north face of the mountain on which the town of Náhan stands," which they do not of necessity bear, that is, in understanding the words to be equivalent to 'due north of Náhan.' Now, we talk of Lahore being north of Calcutta, not thereby meaning on the same meridian, and in like manner, the words above quoted do not necessarily mean a spot in the vicinity of Náhan at all! Thirdly, supposing Mr. Medlicott to be correct in referring the spot in question to the immediate vicinity of Náhan, towards the base of the hill to the north, what grounds are there for confidently referring the fossil (of which by the way we know nothing) to his 'Náhan' beds. Undoubleedly were there here no unconformity, he would be justified in so doing, but with an unconformable overlap of 'Siwaliks' with great unconformity, on to an older group, why may not the fossils in question be as reasonably (if not more so, all things considered) referred to an 'outlier' or detached pocket of 'upper Siwaliks' among the older beds, or within their area, than to the older beds themselves, which his own careful search has shown to be unfossiliferous? Totting up these facts, on what a lame and impotent syllogism does not the 'Siwalik' unconformity seem to rest? e. g., 'lower Siwalik' fossils I believe occur north of Nahan. The only rocks I know north of Náhan unconformably underlie Siwaliks, hence these unconformable rocks are 'lower Siwaliks' also." The facts being, first, the fossils in question are not 'lower Siwaliks'; second, there is small proof of their occurring where Mr. Medlicott supposes them to occur : third, it is altogether doubtful if they occur in the beds Mr. Medlicott supposes them to! and this is the sum total of the important fossil evidence on which no specifically known fossil plays any part ! !--- "Solvuntur risu tabulæ."1

¹ Mr. Theobald's 'firstly' is only an 'I do not think.' As to his 'secondly,' I must confess I did, and do still, shrink from attributing to Colonel Cautley and his colleagues such imbecility as is here imputed. The 'thirdly' is an instance of the ease with which Mr. Theobald adopts any fancy that suits the notion he is advocating: any overlap-outliers of the upper Siwaliks in the Náhan area here could only be of the brown or ochrey clays, or of the soft conglomeratic sandstones that occur along the main boundary close by; whereas Colonel Cautley's description (as quoted in my memoir, p. 16) leaves no room for doubt that the bed he describes belonged to the older rocks. It may be well to give the fullest authentication to a fact of so much interest by publishing here the full extract from Sir Proby Cautley's letter (dated 26th February 1859) in answer to my special inquiries about the fact in question :-- "There is no doubt whatever of the fact of vertebrate animals (fossil) having been found on the Himalayan side of Nahan. I had been long mixed up with the geology of the Siwaliks near the Eastern Jumna canal heads, and had found numerous fossils in a stratum which for want of a better name I called 'clay marl'-a sort of hard clay conglomerate much impregnated with iron; this iron affected the fossils and produced them in a state approaching to hydrate-black and very perfect-Saurian, Ruminant, horse in both molars and incisors, and a great variety of animals were disinterred by me out of this clay marl; the fossils merely consisted of teeth and bits of bone; there were no symptoms of skeletons, in fact the strate of this clay mark were comparatively thin; they underlie the shingle and sand, and in the Siwaliks between the Jumna and Ganges are found on the plains side, and if I recollect right not on the Dún.

"The stratum is a very remarkable one, and the fossils in it are equally remarkable. No mistake can possibly have arisen on the subject. I found, in company with Colonel Durand,

15. If we turn now to the lithological character of the beds as a means whereby we might, in spite of the great unconformity, find ground for identifying the beds termed 'Nahan' with lower 'Siwaliks' elsewhere, the result will be found to be no less unsatisfactory than that deduced from the (so called) fossil evidence. A certain graded similarity of mineral character and aspect seems impressed on the clays and sandstones of the entire tertiary series, so that a considerable proportion of the beds of the vast whole, can be differentiated from one another by no more marked characters than slight differences of degree in their hardness, or slight variations in colour, and when the enormous thickness of the whole series is considered, this is a formidable obstacle to any reliable correlation of distant sections by mineral character only. It may be (and is) easy enough to separate by mineral character beds on an upper Siwalik horizon from beds low down in the Sirmur group, but it is by no means equally easy to discriminate between 'lower Siwaliks' and 'upper Sirmurs,' and it is just here Mr. Medlicott has failed. The evidence whereon the 'Nahans' are referred to the 'Siwalik' group rather than to the 'Sirmurs' is wholly valueless, and if there was, therefore, no other reason than the huge anomaly of this local unconformity, it alone

the same stratum on the Himalayan or northward side of the town of Nahan, thereby showing to me clearly that all the formation between that and the plains, including the mountain on which Náhan stands, were Siwaliks—at least I in my unsophisticated knowledge of geology came to that conclusion.

"I gave over a beautiful collection of these clay marl fossils to the British Museum, which the keeper of the Museum chose to lose, much to my regret and vexation. I believe that there is no hope of their ever being discovered, as the vaults have been searched without success."

In a later letter (dated 16th July 1864), acknowledging a copy of my memoir, Sir Proby Cautley again writes as follows :-- " The clay conglomerate strata lie low down in the series, and are met with at the mouth of the passes-Kálawála, Timli, &c. ; they lie under the boulder sandstones, and are in a position far below that of the strata in which the large fossils were found. The clay conglomerate was worked upon by me, long before the larger fossils were discovered. Masses of this rock were carted by my orders down to Manakpur, where I resided at that time. The rock was then deliberately broken up and examined; the fossils found were merely saurian teeth (detached), and teeth of horse, both molar and incisor, teeth of ruminants, rodents, bits of bone, all of them small sized fossils strongly impregnated with iron, and quite black. The difference between these fossils and those of the larger sandstone ones is most remarkable; they never could be mistaken for each other. I had a most interesting and extensive collection of these clay conglomerate or hydrate of iron fossils, which with the rest of my museum I sent to the British Museum. I regret to say the collection was lost, mislaid, or thrown aside, as I was, on my return to England, never able to find it. I have always considered the loss of this part of my collection as most deplorable, as it contained teeth undescribed, with molars and incisors of the smaller animals that were most exceedingly interesting. I have now by me only one specimen of this clay conglomerate with a saurian tooth in it.

"Now, this clay conglomerate (with which I was so well acquainted in the Kálawála and other passes) with hydrate of iron saurian teeth, was discovered by Durand, when Baker and I were with him, on the Himalayan side of Náhan. The fossils that Falconer describes as found by him, and of which he got so large a share, were below Náhan, on the side towards the plains. Falconer's fossils, moreover, were the great saudstone fossils, and from strata of an entirely different character. Pray, keep your eye on this. I don't attempt here to explain how this clay conglomerate rock got on the Himalayan side of Náhan, but I saw in situ and got fossils out of it; of this there is no doubt whatever."—H. B. M.

PART 1.] THEOBALD-The Siwalik Group of the Sub-Himalayan region. 73

would be sufficient to suggest their being ranked with the latter rather than the former. This would be so, were the evidence of mineral character less balanced than it is; so perversely counter to all our experience of the 'Siwaliks' elsewhere, does this unhappy 'Náhan' section run, as hitherto interpreted by its discoverer. In support of this view I shall quote Mr. Medlicott himself, page 536, Manual, Geology of India: "The Náhan, or lower Siwalik rocks, forming the inner Sub-Himalayan zone at Náhan, consist mainly of massive grey sandstone often spoken of as the lignite sandstone from its containing small nests and strings of fossil wood, which from early times till now have given rise to many sanguine reports of the discovery of coal. In deeper sections red or purple clays occur, associated with thinner, harder. darker, sondstones very like the rock of the Dagshai group." This is a description of the 'Náhans' at Náhan, be it observed. It is followed by a description of the upper and middle 'Siwaliks' of the 'Siwalik hills proper,' but a very significant omission may be noted of any description of what lower 'Siwaliks' are like elsewhere. Of course the result is, the reader imbibes an impression of lower 'Siwaliks' from a very doubtful presentation of them about Náhan, and I am bound to say that the most analogous beds to those described above as revealed in "deeper section" must be sought for, not in a 'Siwalik,' but in a Sirmur area.

16. That is my opinion, and the idea is anticipated, if not disposed of, by Mr. Medlicott where he says (Manual, p. 540): "It might thus be suggested that the plant-bearing sandstones of Kasauli belong to the same horizon as the lower Siwalik clays, or the lignite sandstone. Those who have examined the rocks are least disposed to adopt this supposition." I object to this antithesis between "plant-bearing sandstones" and "clays" as misleading. There is a great similarity, as Mr. Medlicott admits, between lower Siwalik strata and both Kasauli and Dagshai beds, and as for the prominence giving to the "plantbearing" character of the Kasauli beds, these remains are, I believe, found at three spots only, and known to Mr. Medlicott alone, a vastly different thing from characterising the group, as might be easily inferred from Mr. Medlicott's words.¹

17. The alteration in Mr. Medlicott's map which my view would require, would be to expunge both the word 'Náhans' and the colour used to indicate that group, and to colour the bulk of the Náhans east of Búd (near Náhan) and the outer portion of the Náhans west of that place as Siwaliks, and to colour the rest of the 'Náhans' as 'Sirmurs.'³ Also to expunge the narrow strip of 'Náhans' shown as running down from Rikhikhes, east of Ganges, altogether, my reason for which I shall explain hereafter.

So much by way of preface.

¹ In these two paragraphs Mr. Theobald makes use of the facts I mentioned in favour of the view he now takes up, but omits any notice of the chief points of the evidence, which he condemns as wholly valueless, for the view I adopted: to wit, the facts, that the main Himalayan boundary separates the Sirmur and Náhan areas; and the abrupt cessation of any trace of the nummulitic strata to the south of it (see 'Manual,' pp. 539, 540).—H. B. M.

* i. e., Mr. Theobald would take no notice of the two main stratigraphical features of the ground; for the boundaries he would expunge in favour of his purely conjectural line are on those features, which must be either great faults or great unconformities.—H. B. M.

THE TERM 'SIWALIK' RESTRICTED AND DEFINED.

18. The term Siwalik, as I would propose restricting it, is essentially synonymous with pliocene, that is, the pliocene group in India.¹ In Sind (vide Manual, p. 463), the Siwalik group rests unconformably on the Gáj group, which is wholly marine and of well ascertained miocene age, but in the Punjab and along the Himalayan region, beds of miocene age have not been detected, that is, recognised, and the Siwalik group of fresh-water origin rests directly on eccene strata, to which they exhibit, as a rule, a mechanical or stratigraphical conformity, though their geological relation is one of unconformity, as evinced by the entire absence of beds of miocene age, above the eccene, and in places, as at Náhan, clear proofs of a physical arrest of deposition or break above the eccene, though elsewhere from the parallelism of the beds the unconformity here asserted is obscure, and is, I believe, not thoroughly accepted by Mr. Wynne in the Punjab. The passage I now quote from the Manual very clearly, however, states the circumstances of the case in the Salt Range (p. 506): "The Gáj and Nari beds of Sind appear to be unrepresented; there is evidently a break above the nummulitic limestone, and the overlying formation is unconformable, and rests in places upon a denuded surface of nummulitic rocks. The unconformity is also shown by overlap in several places at the eastern extremity of the Salt Range, and, as already noticed, in the ranges near Shekh Budín, and by the circumstance that the lowest beds of the upper tertiary sandstone contains pebble of nummulitic limestone, as for instance, near Fadial, west of Mount Tilla."

19. One spot in particular where Mr. Medlicott discovered marked traces of an unconformable junction between the nummulitic limestone and the overlying Siwalik sandstones, was in the stream which cuts through the Dil Jubar range, nearly midway between Rotás and Kalar Kahár on the Salt Range.

20. East of the Jhelum, as a general rule, the basal members of the Siwalik group are not exposed, the relation of that group to the older rocks being one of faulted contact, and if (as is possible) in deep section older beds than Siwalik, *i. e.*, miocene come in, there is from the conformity of the beds and the entire absence of fossils, no means to determine whether the lowest beds exposed really belong to an older group or not. West of the Jhelum, a precisely opposite difficulty occurs, and it may there be seriously questioned, if the lowest Siwaliks in contact with the nummulitic rocks are really geologically older than the middle Siwalik horizon of the country east of the Ganges.

21. Considerable difficulty is, therefore, experienced in dividing the enormous series of beds comprised in the Siwalik group, and any division of them must be rather a conventional one for convenience sake, than one naturally indicated by

¹ I cannot undertake to correct Mr. Theobald where he is only stating his own views and not misrepresenting those of others; but I warn unwary readers against over-confidence. Those two opening sentences are a sufficient caution: the extraordinary liberty taken with the word 'pliocene'; for the statement that anything that can be called 'pliocene' is in immediate sequence with the eocene along the Himalayan region is a wild assumption—I would rather say, demonstrably false.—H. B. M.

³ Compare too Wynne, Mem. Geol. Surv., Vol. XVII-2, p. 91, on absence of lower Siwalik in the Bhattani hills and elsewhere.

PART 1.] THEOBALD-The Siwalik Group of the Sub-Himalayan region.

any salient features inherent therein. Not, therefore, to unduly multiply divisions of an arbitrary character, it will, I think, suffice to divide the Siwalik group into two equal divisions, an upper and a lower, characterising the first as the Khárián beds from the Khárián range opposite Jhelum, which is entirely composed of

Khárián or upper : Murree or lower Siwaliks. them, and reserving the term 'Murree' for the lower, from the sanatarium of that name around which they are largely developed. For reasons already given, I consider

it desirable to drop the term '*Náhan*' altogether, as tending to confusion, so long as we are uncertain of the precise age and relationship of the beds on which the name was originally bestowed in the immediate vicinity of Náhan town.

22. The term 'Murree,' however, as now used by me as equivalent for 'lower Siwalik' is much more restricted than it is in the Manual, where it is far more comprehensive and indeed little more than a name for a melange of tertiary beds of all ages. Thus at page 511 these beds are thus described: "The station itself is built on grey and purple sandstone and deep purplish clays with occasional concretionary bands. These are the Murree beds of Mr. Wynne, and whilst their lower strata may correspond to the Dagshai sub-division of the Sirmur or eccene series in the Simla hills, it is probable that they represent higher groups also, and they may even comprise strata corresponding to all the Sub-Himalayan beds of the Dagshai, Kasauli, and Náhan groups, between the Subáthu and Siwaliks proper." Here at Murree it may be perfectly true that no fixed lines can be pointed to, as dividing the Murree beds from eocene, but this obscurity cannot be allowed in our definition of what 'Murree' beds are, quoad the geological horizon embraced by the term; and I therefore define the 'Murree' division as comprising all beds younger than the 'Gáj' or miocene of Sind, and from that horizon the whole of the lower half of the Siwalik group.¹ Of course where the 'Murree' beds rest directly on eocene beds, these (in the absence of Gáj beds) constitute the lower limit of the group, and in this sense the term 'Murree' may be regarded as representing and replacing that of 'Náhan' as hitherto used. Towards Nípál, where the sections of the Siwalik group are very deep, it may be questioned if lower beds than those properly included in the term 'Murree' do not come in, but this is a difficulty which would apply whatever name we gave the division, and I prefer retaining an accepted and familiar name, to devising a wholly new one; but as the upper Siwaliks have not been specially named, there is no impropriety in now bestowing on them the one proposed, i. e., 'Khárián.'

GEOLOGICAL LIMITS OF THE SIWALIK GROUP.

23. A brief glance at the area over which the Siwalik strata are either known or conjectured to extend will not be here out of place, and will help to correct

¹ The lithological sameness of the Murree and the Dagshai beds and their similar relation to the underlying nummulitics makes it almost obligatory to place them provisionally on the same horizon, although the free association of similar beds within the nummulitic series west of Murree suggests the possibly higher position of the beds at Murree. Mr. Theobald's exclusion of any representatives of the Gáj and Nari beds in those sections is purely arbitrary, apparently only on the grounds of the one being fresh water and the other marine.—H. B. M.

any underestimate of their importance, arising from their being regarded as mere Sub-Himalayan deposits, though from the nature of the adjoining countries which are almost closed to European investigation, the precise boundaries of the group outside of the political boundaries of British India are unknown to us.

24. Commencing on the north, the Siwalik group has been traced along the flanks of the Himalayan mountains and its accessory ranges, from the frontier of Kohát to the valley of the Bráhmaputra, and thence under the Khási hills through Munipur and Arakan into British Burma as far south as 17° north latitude. In Nipál, Manipur, and Arakan, there are great unexplored breaks, but slender as is our knowledge of these countries, we have still sufficient warrant for the above generalisation. The curved line indicated above from Kohát to near Rangoon in latitude 17° is close on 2,000 miles in length, and lies wholly outside of the 'peninsular area' of India as defined in the Geological Manual (Introduction ii).

25. From Kohát the Siwalik group extends in a southerly direction along the eastern flanks of the Afghánistán and Biluchistán ranges to the vicinity of Karáchi, a distance of 700 miles, while from Karáchi to Perim island in the gulf of Kambay, which is the most eastern point reached by the group on that side of the Peninsular, is 400 miles.

26. How far the Siwalik strata extended formerly over the area intervening between Perim and Afghánistán is uncertain, but their large development in Sind renders it not improbable that they once stretched over a large portion of Rájputána and the southern Punjab, where the Indus alluvium and desert sand now preclude all examination of the rocks beneath.

27. This western belt of Siwalik strata lies also wholly outside of the Peninsular area, save a small portion which, creeping up to the eastward across the mouth of the Indus and at Perim, may be said to inosculate with India proper or the 'Peninsular area.'

28. Some tertiary beds which occupy the valleys of the larger rivers, such as the clays and gravels of the Narbada and Tapti, might perhaps be regarded as a farther encroachment of Siwalik deposits within the territorial limits of the 'Peninsular area,' but though undoubtedly these beds contain some Siwalik animals, yet these are also associated with human relics and as much deserve separation, as newer than the 'Siwaliks' proper, as do the 'Gáj' beds, which, though older than the 'Siwaliks,' yet contain some Siwalik mammals. It will thus be seen, that whilst the 'Peninsular area' is essentially unencroached on by Siwalik deposits with the partial exception of a limited contact area in Cutch and Guzerat, and excluding as above the post-pliocene deposits of the large river valleys, it is continuously surrounded to the north by an enormous belt of these beds from 17° north latitude in Pegu on the east to the 21° north latitude on the west; the entire circuit embracing some 3,000 miles.

29. Nothing like a precise estimate of the area occupied by Siwalik strata is at present practicable, but a low approximate estimate would

Digitized by Google

Area of Siwaliks. extension of these beds below the alluvium be allowed for, the estimate would have to be placed as high as 300,000 square miles or thereabouts within, of course, the political limits of British India.

30. In not inappropriate correspondence with the area covered by the Siwalik group is the enormous aggregate thickness of its beds, and it is undoubtedly difficult adequately to convey by mere words to any one personally unfamiliar with the group, an idea of the seemingly interminable succession of beds which a good section reveals. Two doubts are in fact pretty sure to suggest themselves with regard to the seeming display of thickness where, as in many sections, the strate are seen tilted at high angles for miles.

31. The first doubt is, if this seeming display of thickness, instead of being real, is not produced by a repetition of the same beds brought in again and again by either faults, folding or inversion. Now, either of these suppositions is in itself a perfectly legitimate one, and a vera causa, instances of which may be seen throughout the whole Himalayan region, where through-faults traverse the hills for miles; and in the older rocks of the Himalayan chain, the more they are known to us, the more it is evident that foldings and inversions on a prodigious scale form an integral phenomenon in the structure of the hills. West of the Indus a most complicated system of faulting and inversion has implicated the newest tertiaries also. It may, therefore, be taken as an axiom in Himalayan geology, that no a priori improbability attaches to any presumed faulting or inversion, solely on account of the magnitude of its effect: in that respect we may safely permit our ideas a scope proportionate to the magnitude of the physical developments of the region; but when we come to apply such hypothesis in reduction of the seeming thickness of a section, the result is not satisfactory. The entire thickness of the tertiary group may, in round numbers, be taken as 30,000 feet. This is Mr. Blanford's estimate in Sind; and the thickness of the group in the Himalayan region can hardly be set down as less: and as the newest beds are equally involved with the older, in the disturbances which accompanied or resulted from the final elevatory movements of the Himalayan chain, the whole of this vast series must be considered, if we come to apply the idea of either faulting, folding or inversion, to reduce the apparent thickness of any particular section. Now, although a very general parallelism obtains throughout the entire series with only one considerable unconformity at the top of the eocene (in the Himalayan region), and though the change in mineral character between the lowest beds and the highest is brought about in a very gradual way, yet, were any member of the lower beds intercalated by folding or other causes among and between younger beds in a section, I do not think the fact could escape detection and recognition. A loop of nummulitic limestone for example, with its 'arch' truncated by denudation, might appear intercalated among a series of beds, all of which, both above it and below it (seemingly), were of younger age; but from our general knowledge of the beds of the eccene group, we could hardly be misled into confounding with them any beds of a lower or middle Siwalik horizon, and the same unlikelihood of being misled in a similar manner with reference to any portions of the tertiary group holds good from the well understood and easily recognised facies, lithologically,

VOL. XIV.

which the entire group successively presents at different horizons. The idea, therefore, of the seeming thickness being due to faulted or folded repetition of the same beds may, I think, be dismissed as untenable. The best sections are so clear that faults are not likely to be overlooked : and the main question only is, the possible presence of a concealed (that is, truncated) arch or fold. This, as I have said above, is unlikely to escape detection, presuming that the entire series of beds have been involved; but still another question remains, is it possible for a limited thickness of beds to be folded and re-folded in themselves, without the beds, either above or below, participating in the disturbance? That such a case may occur on a small scale, I think possible, in view of the enormous and complicated disturbance to which the mountain mass has been subjected; but such a result could not take place on the scale of the sections displayed by the tertiary group, and nowhere could the result be brought about without obvious signs of the abnormal and disturbed arrangement of the rocks so involved. The idea is, therefore, merely alluded to, to be rejected.

32. Another doubt that has been raised is, as to how far the seeming succession of beds may not be in a manner illusory, as a measure of thickness and rather referible to an arrangement of beds on a large scale, analogous to the mode of deposition wherein 'false bedding' originates. This view has been propounded with respect to beds in the Potwár,¹ and were it a true supposition, it would necessitate at no great depth from the surface, a floor of deposition, of some sort. Now, the area of the Potwár, where this view has been specially applied, is traversed by numerous 'faults' having a very large 'throw.' For example, south of Jand. near Jabi, the very highest conglomerates at the top of the Sivalik group are faulted against red and grey beds well down in the Murree division, and the 'throw' required to bring about this contact cannot be estimated at less than a mile, and may be more; yet none of these faults, which are tolerably numerous throughout the entire sub-Himalayan region, ever bring up or reveal any 'floor of deposition,' whereon a comparatively thin series of obliquely-packed beds could have been laid down. The entire belt in fact of Siwalik rocks, skirting the Himalayan region, is composed, structurally, of vertical slices of the Siwalik group ranged one against another and separated by faults, so that the best sections we can anywhere find are simply sections of a portion of the group, commencing at one fault and terminating at another,-the downthrow of these faults bringing the younger beds to the south in contact with the oldest beds to the north; yet is no floor of deposition, which could countenance the idea of a trivial thickness of these deposits, anywhere revealed. On the assumption, then, that the sections displayed by the Siwalik group represent actual thickness, we cannot place the total amount for the whole at less than 16,000 feet, and it may be not improbably more.

33. A few words will not be here out of place touching the 'Gáj' group of Sind, as it bears a certain relationship to the Siwalik from Gaj group of Sind. containing the earliest Siwalik mammal on record. That it is, however, properly excluded from the Siwalik designation is, I think, clear not The undulating country north of the Salt Range.

only from its marine origin and its total absence (so far as known) within the Himalayan region, but from its established miocene age. This needs no recapitulation here, but the facts may be gathered from Mr. Blanford's lucid description of the group in the Manual of Geology, Part II, page 463. The fact of the Gáj beds being of marine origin, may probably account for the pancity of vertebrate remains hitherto detected in them, as we cannot imagine an animal like Rhinoceros sivalensis, F. et C., alone occupying the miocene champaign, though the Gáj vertebrate fauna probably merely foreshadowed in its plenitude that marvellously varied and abundant fauna, of the Siwalik period, then only in course of evolutional development and waiting for the Æons to deliver it from the womb of Time. As so much has already been published on the Siwalik group by Messrs. Medlicott, Blanford, and Wynne, I shall not enter into any detailed description of its beds, but rest content with giving a general conspectus of the group, to facilitate the correlation of beds of similar age at distant localities (Sind and Burma) and a few sections which will help to convey a clearer idea than any generalised description of their relation and succession to each other.

34. The section I now give near Lambi-dand is one of the best I know of the junction of the Siwaliks with the Nummulitic group in the western Punjab. It exhibits complete stratigraphical conformity throughout; but the important 'Nari' group is wholly absent. Whether the beds, at the base of the Siwalik group, may be held to represent the 'Gáj' horizon, must rest on the amount of probability on extraneous grounds, for that correlation, as fossil evidence there is none. My own opinion is, the balance of probabilities leans to the reasonableness of regarding lower 'Murrees' (D) as the Himalayan equivalents of the Gáj group of Sind and correlating the same to the Dagshai and Kasauli beds of the Himalayan region.

Section near Lambi-dand, displaying the transitional passage of the marine nummulitics into the Siwaliks of the 'Potwar' (Murrees D).

 Nummulitic limestone of the Chita Pahár range, massive, and precisely

 Nummulitic group.
 similar to that which immediately supports the

 Khirthar.
 'Siwaliks' along the Salt Range=Khirthar (lower).

۰.

		(De	scendin	g).					
Bot	indary faul	t.						₽t.	In.
Pale,	reddish a	and brow	nish-gray	sandsto	nes, with	some r	eddish		
L	ower Murrees	(D).	shales massive	and occa sandstor	usional co ne	urses of	more	2,500	0
Massi	ve sandstor	10		•••	•••	•••		85	0
Alter	nations of s	andstone	and clay	s, with m	assive bed	ls toward	s base	850	0
Massi	ive sandstor	nes, with a	some clay	conglome	rate towa	rds base		180	0
Red c	lays, with	andstone	courses, a	nd seame	d with	calcite to	wards		
bas	e	•••		•••	•••	•••		435	0
Simil	ar beds, but	t the sand	stones has	rder and l	harsher ar	nd shales	redder	875	0
Massi	ive gray sar	ndstone	•••	•••	•••		•••	40	0
Massi	ive sandston	nes, with	subordina	te beds of	t very red	l shale		500	0
Shale	s		•••	•••	•••		• •••	90	0
							-	5,005	0

(Descending).

Ft. In. Massive sandstones with clays and some calcite nummulites and 40 bones (indeterminable) 0 ••• ... ••• ... ••• Pale nummulitic shales 270 0 ••• ••• • • • Nummulitic limestone (flaky) ... 40 · 0 -. ... Reddish nummulitic shales ... 500 0 ••• Harsh pale gray nummulitic limestone, with a little shale 180 0 ... Red shale 25 0 ••• •• ... Harsh reddish sandstones, with some shale 150 0 ••• ... Massive sandstone, conglomeratic at top 84 0 Mottled reddish and yellowish harsh sandstones, and reddish clays, in places nummulitic 840 0 ••• ••• Massive reddish sandstone 50 0 Reddish shales and sandstones 270 0 Pale yellow nummulitic bed (about) 86 0 (Close to 29th mile-stone). Red nummulitic bed ... 4 0 ••• Red shales 80 0 ••• ••• Massive sandstone, with seams of clay conglomerate 85 0 ••• ••• 85 Red shales 0 ... ••• Sandstone and conglomerate ... 10 0 ... ••• ••• ••• Red shale 20 0 ••• ... ••• ••• ••• Yellow shales, nummulitic 170 0 ••• ••• ••• ... ••• Clay conglomerate, nummulitic 15 0 • • • ••• ••• ••• Red shales and sandstone 40 0 ••• • • • Massive nummulitic sandstone and conglomerate ... 85 0 ••• ... Red shales, with a little sandstone 163 0 ... ••• ... ••• Massive sandstone ... 50 0 ... ••• Red clays ... ••• ... ••• 145 0 ••• ••• ••• Yellowish clays and nummulitic shaly limestones ••• 65 0 ••• Red clay •• . 65 0 ••• ••• ••• Yellowish sandstone ... 16 0 ••• ••• ••• Red clay 8 0 ••• ••• Yellow clay, with hard bands at top and base, nummulitic below 60 0 ••• Red clays ... ••• ••• 40 0 Yellow nummulitic clays (with thin strings of limestone), almost composed of closely-packed Foraminifera 410 0 Yellow, with more massive limestone beds 870 0 ... ••• ... Red clays with nummulitic limestone courses 250 0 TOTAL 3,956 0 ••• •••

35. This is a most interesting and important section in many respects. It is a characteristic junction section of the Siwalik and nummulitic groups in the western Punjab. It proves the enormous development of the 'Khirthar' group in this region, and the total absence of any representatives of the 'Nari' beds. I had myself anticipated that these 'Nari' beds would be represented in it; but having submitted the fossils collected by myself on the spot to my esteemed colleague Mr. Fedden, whose familiarity with the Sind tertiaries should render his opinion final, I relinquish the idea. My colleague thus writes of the fossils

he was good enough to examine for me :-- "I have just examined the specimens. They have all a strong 'Khirthar' (or lower Nummulitic) facies. There is no indication among them of either 'Gáj' or 'Nari'; and I should conclude that these two groups were absent in the section."

The fossils identified by Mr. Fedden were-

and among echinoderms

Numm	ulites obtusu,
N .	biaritzensis,
N .	beaumonti,
N .	granulosa,
N .	leymeriei,
N .	obesa,
N .	exponens,
N.	perforata]?
-Hemi	aster digonus,

H. **s**p.

And a Pseudodiadema not figured in D'Archiac's work.

36. The section is an estimated one, checked on the ground by measurements so far as the disturbance of the beds would allow. It embraces 5,000 feet or thereabout of lower Siwalik beds ('Murrees'), resting on nearly 4,000 feet of 'Khirthar' beds. The strong limestone at the base of the 'Khirthar' group is not reached; but it is displayed to the north, where the section ends, being brought up by a fault cutting off the 'Murrees' in that quarter. The 'Khirthar' group can here, therefore, be not much under 4,500 feet, accepting Mr. Wynne's estimate for the mean thickness of the 'Khirthar' limestone in the Salt Range at 500 feet (Memoirs, Geological Survey, Vol. XIV, p. 869).

The thickness of the 'Khirthar' group has not been fixed with precision; but as a possible thickness of 9,000 feet for the whole, and as much as 3,000 for its upper division, is indicated by Mr. Blanford, the thickness of 4,500 or thereabouts is by no means greater than may probably be the case (Manual, p. 447).

37. This great development of beds is, I know, suggestive with some of 'folding' or faulted repetition; but I do not see how either of these causes can be held to have operated here. The section terminates above in faulted contact with the strong 'Khirthar' limestone, some 500 feet thick, more or less; whilst below, it displays some 4,000 feet of upper 'Khirthar' beds without reaching the strong limestone, whose presence here is proved by its being brought up to the north by the fault running south of the 'Chitapahár' range. Now, if the above thickness of 'Khirthar' beds was produced by a folded or faulted repetition of the group, I do not see how the massive limestone at the base could fail to be detected in the section. The validity of the section might therefore rest on its own merits, but the known development of this group elsewhere goes far, in addition, to remove any doubt as to how far the indicated thickness is real.

38. Whilst, then, in the Punjab we may infer that the 'Khirthar' group was fully developed, we have proof in the above section of that break which has elsewhere been recorded at the top of the eocene, in the deposition of the 'Murroe' beds on

Records of the Geological Survey of India.

[VOL. XIV.

'Khirthars,' to the total exclusion of the 'Nari' or upper eocene group, though it is very probable that more to the eastward the 'Nari' and Gáj beds are represented partly or wholly by the Dagshai and Kasauli groups (Manual, p. xvii), the latter including the 'Náhan.' The occurrence of Pseudodiadema in these 'Khirthar' beds (where it is rare) is interesting, the genus being a cretaceous one; and it may be remarked that another species was found by myself in beds in Prome, presumedly younger than the 'Khirthar' group, viz., the 'Pegu' group, which, from its position below the Burmese representatives of the Siwalik group, may not improbably in part correspond to the 'Gáj' of Sind and the lower 'Murree' (D) of the Himalayan region.

39. Another point to be noticed is, the contrast of character between the bottom beds of the Siwalik here, on the northern margin of the Potwár, and that which is seen to the south of the Potwár along the Salt Range, and the still greater contrast which these Punjab basal beds show to the lowest beds seen to the eastward in the Kolonia section (hereafter given).

40. To judge by mineral character and aspect, the basal beds reposing on the 'Khirthar' limestone along the Salt Range would not seem to belong to a lower horizon than beds f or lower Kháriáns B, or only to just invade the horizon of the upper 'Murrees' C. On the northern side of the Potwár, however, at Lambidand, the beds reposing on the 'Khirthars' would seem to reach much lower down —to perhaps as low as a middle horizon in the lower 'Murrees' D; whilst at the Kolonia river to the east, the lowest beds, though no recognised 'Khirthar' beds are reached, would, from their character and the enormous thickness of beds above them (14,000), indicate that a lower horizon of the lower 'Murrees' D has been reached than anywhere exposed to the westward, if even that group has not been passed and some of the upper 'Khirthars' unknowingly been included in the section.

41. In the Lambidand section, the profusion of nummulites renders it easy to detect the passage of 'Khirthars' into the 'Siwaliks'; but to the eastward, where these organisms are wanting in the eocene beds as so regarded (Dagshai and Kasauli), the transition from upper eccene to lower Siwaliks might be expected to take place without much chance of detection unless a marked unconformity were present. This marked unconformity certainly does not exist to the west and cannot therefore be looked for as a matter of course on the east, though in the central region about Simla it may be marked enough. We have in general therefore, both on the extreme east and west, little to guide us in estimating the precise horizon of any Siwalik bed, basal or otherwise, than mineral character, the presence or absence of mammalian fossils, and the development of the group on the spot in question. For example, where, as on the Kolonia river, we have a clearly run section of 14,000 feet, we may be pretty confident we are not far from the base of the Siwalik group, if we have not at that depth really got below it, into a 'Gáj' or 'Nari' horizon. On the other hand, as at Dariála, where we find that a section of less than 6,000 feet of Siwalik beds runs us up on to their topmost bels, we may (being supported also by the mineral aspect of the basal beds respectively in either case) pretty safely judge that no lower horizon in the Siwalik group is touched than a high one in the upper 'Murrees' (C).

Digitized by Google

82

PART 1.] THEOBALD-The Siwalik Group of the Sub-Himalayan region.

42. The section I now give is one embracing the entire thickness of the Siwalik group north of the Salt Range between Dariála on the Range and Kariála in the Potwár. The thickness is estimated, not measured. It crosses one synclinal trough and a belt of 'troubled' ground, where a fault is probably concealed. As. however, the faults in the Potwár, having a large 'throw', are sharp and clean, it is probable that at this spot any considerable 'throw' has been commuted into horizontal disturbance, which does not materially vitiate the results of the section. The general dip of the beds at the base is about 45°, gradually declining as they recede from the range till the topmost beds have flattened down to a dip of not more than 2° to 4°.

Section between Dariála and Kariála-

1. Nummulitic limestone. (Kirthar).

2.	Greenish sandstones, some beds hard, tough, and argillaceous, with three thick beds of red clay. Bones, mostly fragmentary throughout, and one ossiferous zone about 100 feet above the nummulitic lime- stone. From this zone I procured the lower jaw of <i>Rhinoceros</i>	
	palæindicus, F. & C 1	1,200
8.	Red clay with subordinate bed of fine greenish sandstone 2	2.570
4.	Gray sandstone	400
б.	Pale-gray sandstone and pale-yellow clays	.500
6.	Sands, clays, and conglomerates of a very recent and fluviatile	,
	aspect	150
	5	5 ,75 0

43. Beds No. 2 of the above section are the 'Nahan' beds, according to Mr. Wynne, of this part of the country. The first point to notice in this section, is the small thickness here presented by the entire group of beds above the nummu-There is, it is true, a fault in the section, but it has none of the litic limestone. appearance of one involving a great 'throw,' and its effect is probably inconsiderable, and 6,000 feet would really seem to be the full thickness here of the Siwalik group. Mr. Wynne (Mem. Geol. Surv., Vol. XIV, p. 69) gives an estimate of the thickness of the Siwalik and 'Náhan' groups in the vicinity of the Salt Range from a minimum of 2,100 to a maximum of 10,500. I cannot say that I can recall any spot where the entire Siwalik group is reduced to so low as 2,100, but the mean of these estimates, 6,300, agrees very well with the wholly independent estimate of mine above given. One thing is pretty clear, and that is, that this particular part of the Potwár was an area of minimum deposition, as shown by the attenuated dimensions of such usually thick beds as Nos. 4 and 5 (in the above section), corresponding to the upper Kháriáns (A), d and e, whose more usual development may be judged by a section I shall presently give in the Una 'dún,' and which beds are fully developed at either end of the Salt Range within the depositing area immediately affected by the conditions of the great valleys of the Jhelum and Indus. Equally too does the comparative insignificance of the beds No. 6 in the above section, compared with their normal development elsewhere, point to the condition of reduced deposition under which the beds were here laid down.

44. But a truer explanation of this seeming contraction indicated by the above section of the Siwalik group lies, in my opinion, in the fact that, instead of embracing the entire Siwalik group, it really embraces only its upper portion (Kháriáns) to the exclusion of the lower half altogether (Murrees).

45. This view is not held by Mr. Wynne; but my colleague's judgment is, I think, largely influenced' by the identification by Mr. Medlicott of some low lying beds at the Bakrála ridge, with his (Mr. Medlicott's) 'Náhan' or lower Siwaliks, as they have been considered. Now, this identification of Mr. Medlicott's was, I believe, erroneous, and due to the local change in some basal beds of the Siwaliks along the Bakrála ridge, induced by mechanical or chemical action, though the real horizon in the Siwalik group of these beds was scarcely, if at all, below that of upper Siwaliks. At page 109 of his Salt Range Memoir Mr. Wynne thus describes these so called 'Náhan':---

46. "The 'Náhan' beds of this district have, comparatively speaking, a limited exposure in the Bakrála ridge." From the sentence which commences the next page, it is clear that the above sentence really signifies that in the Bakrála ridge alone have these 'Nahans' been identified. The sentence is : "In other places where the 'Nahan' beds have not been recognised", &c., and in no other places, save the Bakrála ridge, are they specially mentioned as recognised. Now, I happened to accompany Mr. Medlicott when he visited the Bakrála ridge and effected this unlucky recognition of 'Nahan' beds there, and whilst fully admitting the similarity of the beds there to others lower in the group than the generality of Siwaliks near the Salt Range, yet, in my opinion, this 'Nahan facies' here presented by the Siwalik beds is a local feature simply superinduced in really upper Siwaliks (as I have before stated) by the violent protrusion of the stiff wedge of Khirthar limestone forming the core of the ridge, (Wynne, l. c., p. 120). Mr. Wynne goes on to say (p. 109, l. c.): "Here at the Bakrála ridge they consist of purplish and gray sandstones interstratified with many bands of red clay which give to the whole group a reddish tinge; the sandstones are harder than those occurring at This strong similarity of the red 'Murree beds' is higher places in the series. not found to the westward Both the redder and grayer rocks of the Bakrála ridge contain some bone fragments and occasionally mammalian (Mastodon) teeth". Now, this comparative abundant scattering of bones through these Bakrála beds is itself sufficient to raise serious doubt, in addition to the pregnant fact that similar beds with a quasi Náhan facies are not usually met with along the Salt Range, for not only are the entire series of Siwaliks along the Salt Range more or less ossiferous, one marked zone occurring not more than 100 feet above the Khirthar limestone, but we know that elsewhere along the northern edge of the Potwár or throughout the Himalayan region generally, bones are simply and truly conspicuous on the 'Náhan' horizon by their absence.

47. Again, in describing the 'Náhan' rocks (Manual, page 536), we are told by Mr. Medlicott that 'in *deeper sections*, red or purple clays occur. associated with thinner, harder, darker sandstones, very like the rock of the Dagshai group'.

Digitized by Google

¹ Vide note to page 113, Mem., Vol. XIV.
Nothing of the sort is seen along the Salt Range, whether regard be had to rock characters, general or particular. In fact the base of what 'red zone' there may be along the Salt Range is actually taken as the upper limit of the so called 'Náhans', instead of this colour character being made to embrace that division. At page 110 of Mr. Wynne's Salt Range Memoir we read: "Above these beds grayer sandstones prevail, and red clays or shales increase in quantity upwards, associated with occasional layers of pseudo-conglomerate and lumpy calcareous purple clay until the red beds predominate, so as to form a marked 'red clayey zone', *** *** The bottom bed of the red zone has been adopted as the upper limit of Mr. Medlicott's 'Náhan' rocks in this part of the Punjab."

48. I will now give a brief sketch of the section of the Siwalik group on the Kolonia river near the Nipál border. The section is an estimated one, and no fossils were noticed in any of its beds, nor indeed have I seen any determinable fossils in the whole country between the Ganges and Nipál. The lowest beds seen in the Kolonia river, a little better than a mile above the town of that name, are very compact sandstones, often in thick massive beds of various pale tints, but mottled with violet or reddish blotches and spots, after a fashion never seen among the upper beds. Associated with these characteristic beds are dark-red shales of a purplish or plum colour, very hard and massively bedded, sometimes uniform in tint and sometimes spotted or mottled, and a few yellowish beds, all displaying the same amount of induration. These lower beds, which may be regarded as characteristic of the lowest Siwaliks or Murree beds (D), pass up quite insensibly into a thick series of massive gray sandstones, with subordinate beds of reddish shale constituting division C or upper Murree beds, and these in their turn pass up into upper Siwalik or Khárián beds, made up of gray or greenish sandstones gradually becoming pebbly and conglomeratic at top; whilst at top of all on this section comes in a thick deposit of dark and ochraceous clays and gravels corresponding to the gravels, clays, and conglomerates in which the Siwalik group everywhere terminates. and which differ in no respect from recent river deposits, save in the high dip which they often display.

49. I now give two sections illustrating the general character of the 'Khárián' group where well developed. The first section is taken across the Siwalik range, bounding the Una 'dún' to the south and along the line of the Hoshiárpur and Kángra road. It is partly measured, partly estimated. The second section is taken along the same road across the hill bounding the Una 'dún' to the north, and is a repetition of the former beds. But a great difference will be perceived in the development of the coarse beds (d) at the top of the lower 'Khárián' (of my present arrangement), a difference clearly dependent on the greater proximity of the northern side to the line of discharge down the Beás valley, nothing equalling the coarse conglomerates of the Parwain range north of the 'dún' being seen on precisely the same horizon on the south. Fossil bones and teeth, mostly of *Proboscidea*, and ill-preserved *Uniones*, occur in the hills south of the 'dún,' but are less common in the coarser beds to the north.

Section of Upper Siwalies on the Hoshiárpur and Kángra Road between Mangáwal and Gagret.

(Ascending.)

(moonding)							Ft.	In.
Soft gray sandstones	with cla	y beds	intercalated	(ossife	rous)		200	0
(The 38th milestone	is on top	.)		•		•••		
Dark kankary clay						•••	8	0
Gray sandstone	•••	•••	•••				15	0
Very dark clay	• 1						0	6
Soft grav sandstones	with sm	all pebl	oles				15	0
Pale vellowish sand	stones.	pebbly.	and a bed	of vello	w clay to	wards		
base							50	0
Dark kankary clay							20	Õ
(A little off the line of	of section	Union	es of the U.	corrua	atus type	occur		-
on this horizon.)					Jene Spe			
Pale gray sandstone	with a fe	w nehb	les and strip	now of a	andy clay		35	0
Soft gray sandstone	slahhy at	hase at	nd some vell	ow clay	helow	•••	50	ŏ
Vellow sand and dar	k clev	5450 43	ia somo jen	on onj		•••	4	0
Grew sendstone with	hard ele	 hhy con	110	•••	•••	•••	25	ň
Sand and alar	1414 818	005 000	1 608	•••	•••	•••	20	Ň
Danu anu ciay Dinish smor pobblet e	 andatana	 methom	alaman in n		•••	•••	90	0
Diusa gray peoory a	3:44-	, rather	dayey in p	Arts	•••	•••	20	0
			darker cold	area		•••	1	0
Gray sandstone with	layers of	ciay n	odules and	a rew p	eddies	•••	D	0
Gray sandstone	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	40	0
Dark clay				•••	•••	•••	4	0
Pebbly sandstone wit	th clay g	alls tow	ards the ba	BO	•••	•••	15	0
Dark clays		•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	15	0
Pale gray conglomer	atic sand	stone r	usty-coloure	d at ba	80	•••	80	0
Clayey beds, rather '	kankary	, *	•••	•••	•••	•••	20	0
Gray pebbly sandston	nes, in ps	rts con	glomeratic a	nd a fe	w rubbly	clay		
courses	•••	•••	•••	•••			50	0
Dark rubbly sandy c	lay	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	6	0
Gray pebbly sandsto	ne, coars	e and sl	abby	•••			80	0
Dark sandy clay (irr	egular)				•••		1	0
Gray sandstone		•••				•••	4	0
Dark clay	•••	•••	•••	•••			1	0
Gray pebbly sandston	ne		•••				4	0
Clay and pebbles							1	0
Pale gray pebbly san	dstone (t	ones)					80	0
(Here some disturba	nce and	crushi	ng. Dip v	ertical s	und slight	ly in-		
Verteu.)			. 1 . 3 3 .					•
The SEth milestone	ustone w	v som	e beas or as	ILK SUSI	e at base (say)	100	U
(The sound milescone)	Dear this	·) ·41. 1						-
Pale gray peoply san	astone w	ith larg	ciay pock	ets	•••	•••	2	0
Sort gray sandstone	WITE SIAD	by laye	rs	•••	•••	•••	20	0
Yellow clay with san	dstone c	ourses	•••	•••	•••	•••	10	0
Soft gray sandstone	with slab	by laye	rs .	•••	•••	•••	80	U
Dark kankary clay,	yellowish	and sa	ndy at top	•••	•••	•••	2	0
Pale soft sandstone v	with hard	lenticu	lar courses		•••	•••	40	0
Ruddy sandy clay, by	rownish s	t base	•••		•••	•••	1	0
Soft gray sandstone	with a	few p	ebbles, and	rounde	d subbotry	oidal		
laminated concreti	ons with	hard co	urses at ba	8 0			80	0

(Ascending.)

			•				Ft.	In.
Soft gray pebbly san	dstone wi	ith hard o	oncretion	s irregula	rly disper	sed	85	0
(Then the 35th mile	stone.)							
Hard gray sandston	e course	•••					0	9
Dark clunchy clays,	rather th	in-bedded			••		13	0
Soft vellowish sands	tone, clay	ev in part	8	•••			5	0
Ditto	with	slabby co	urses				20	0
Soft grav sandstone							5	0
Yellowish pebbly say	nd and ch	8V					1	0
Soft gray sandstone							20	0
Fine conglomerate							8	0
Soft gray sandstone	•••						5	0
Pebbly hend							2	ñ
Soft amy conditions	for on n	o nobbles	•••	•••	•••	•••	25	ň
Fine hashes conclu		o penoica	•••	•••	•••	•••	1	6
Pille Kankary congre	detono	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	• <u>•</u>	0
Sort gray peoply san	astone	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	30	0
Pale yellow clay	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	8	0
Reddish yellow clay	•••		•••	•••	•••	•••	8	0
Soft pebbly sandstor	ie in mass	ive beds	•••	•••	•••	•••	100	0
Gray sandstone, no p	pebbles	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	18	0
Gray pebbly sandstor	ne with s	ome congl	omerate d	lisseminat	ed	•••	40	0
Ditto d	itto	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	20	0
Sandy clay	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	0	9
Gray sandstone and	clay	•••	•••		•••	•••	2	0
Clay layer	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	1	0
Soft sandstone, pebb	ly at top	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	70	0
Coarse pebbly layer	•••	•••	•••			•••	0	6
Soft pebbly sandston	e	•••	•••		•••		6	0
Coarse sandy conglor	nerate, so	me of the	pebbles 6	inches in	n diameter	·	15	0
Pale pebbly sandstor	e, hard a	nd slabby	-	. ••		•••	25	0
Ditto	softer			•••			10	0
Dark shales, sandy a	nd paler t	oelow					5	0
Grav sandstone with	large pel	bbles at to	a				25	0
Pebbly clay			E				0	9
(Hereshouts is the S	sth milest	one.)					-	-
Vellowish sandstone		~=0.)					20	0
Vellow clew	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	6	ŏ
Hand nobbly condeto		•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	95	Ň
Reft mollowish smar	andstand	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	20	0
Soft pellowisit-gray a	STICE TO THE	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	4	0
Solt pale sandscone	•••	•••	••	•••	•••	•••	1	0
Tenow sury ciay	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••		0
Dark clay	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	1	U O
Clay and sandstone	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	10	0
Soft sandstones	•••		•••	•••	•••	•••	40	Û
Yellow kankary clay	with sma	ill ferrugi	nous conc	retions	•••	•••	9	0
Soft yellowish-gray a	andstone	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	16	0
Sandy clay	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	1	0
Soft yellowish-gray s	andstone	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	7	0
Yellowish sandy clay		•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	5	0
Pale sandstone	•••		•••	•••	•••	•••	12	0
Clay, dark at top	•••	•••	•••		•••	•••	2	0
Pale silty sandstone,	clayey in	parts			•••		12	0

87

•

(Ascending).

		•					Ft.	In.
Clays with a little kan	kar	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	12	0
Pale sandstone .	••	•••		•••			7	0
Reddish sandy elay	•••	•••			•••	•••	8	0
Dark clayey beds .	••		•••	•••	•••	•••	9	0
Pale silty clay, rather	compact	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	1	0
Yellowish silt	••	•••		•••		•••	0	9
Soft gray sandstone .	••	•••	•••	••		•••	20	0
Silty clays and sandsto	ones	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	15	0
Yellowish clays, dark a	at top	•••			•••	•••	18	0
Sandstone			•••			•••	18	0
Yellowish clays .	•.					•••	12	0
Soft yellowish sandsto	ne	•••	··· ·	••			21	0
Reddish clay with one	dark ba	nd	•••			•••	17	0
Bluish clay	••	•••		•••	•••	•••	2	6
Yellowish clay with da	ırk layer	8	•••	•••		••	6	0
Reddish sandy clay .	•	•••	•••	•••			8	0
Ditto less sandy		•••	•••	•••		•••	6	0
Dark clays	••	•••		•••		·	5	0
Pale pebbly sandstone			•••				40	0
Ditto with few or no	pebbles			•••	•••		7	0
Clay beds, dark above,	pale be	low		•••	•••		4	0
Reddish clay, sandy at	base	•••			•••		15	0
Dark kankary clay	••	•••					15	0
Dark clavs							30	0
Pebbly sand .			•••				5	0
Dark clay	••					••.	2	Ø
Sandy clay							8	0
Yellowish sandy band							4	0
Reddish clay, sandy in	middle						8	0
Dark clay							0	9
Reddish clay in thick	beds						40	0
Conglomerate (irregula	ar bed)						1	0
Yellowish sandy clay							25	0
Ditto neler and in	thinner	beds					50	Ō
Soft nebbly sandstone							5	0
Clay hede							100	Ō
Conglomerate							1	0
Pebbly sand, vellow m	 ottled						-	0
Vellowish clay	ornea						20	0
Corre conglomerate		••					10	0
Vollowich clave	••						120	Ō
Coorne vellowish pebbl	 Iv sonde	tone	•••		•••		5	õ
Ditte with fow on no	nobbles	0110	•••	•••	•••	•••	<u>90</u>	Ň
Ditto with lew or no	perores	•••	•••	•••	•••		95	Ň
(Home stends the 20th	miletor	 	•••	•••	•••	•••	20	3
Depply condetenes	THICSION						99	٥
Febbiy sandswies .	•• •• •• ••	hlos	•••	•••	•••	•••	40 40	ň
Sandy ciay with string	ss or her	DICES	•••	•••	•••	•••	-∎∪ ∡∩	0
SUII Clays	 (:	 - had)	•••	•••	•••	•••	-1-U 5	0
Coarse conglomerates (urregula	r bed)	•••	•••	•••	•••	1	0
Sandy clay	••	•••	••	•••	•••	•••	15	U C
Conglomerate .	••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	10	U



		(Ascen	nding	;.)				
		-	-				Ft.	In.
Sandy clay			•••			•••	10	0
Sandy conglomerate	•••			•••			20	0
Clays	•••	•••	•••	•••			40	0
Sandy clay with cong	glomerate	bands	•••	•••		•••	6 0	0
Clays		•••	•••			•••	3 0	0
Pebbly band	•••			•••	•••	•••	4	0
Pale sandstone	•••		••	•••	•••		5	0
Dark clay	•••		•••	•••		•••	5	0
Sandy conglomerate	•••	•••		•••	•••	•••	8	0
Yellowish sandy with	o conglom	erate stri	ings	•••		•••	10	0
Coarse conglomerate			•••	•••	•••	•••	12	0
Sandy clays, reddish	at top			•••	•••		70	0
Coarse sandy conglor	ne rate	•••	•••		•••		25	0
Sandy clays		•••	•••			•••	20	0
Coarse conglomerate		•••				•••	30	0
Incoherent pale san	dy clays,	gravels	and	conglome	rates, all of	very		
recent aspect (seen	, perhaps)			•••		300	0
					Total	8	3,219	9

50. The section above given commences in the lower 'Kháriáns' e, and runs up into the upper 'Kháriáns' c, but the coarse boulder conglomerates of d are here merely represented by pebbly beds. In the section given below, however, these coarse boulder beds are well represented, and not only have the coarser beds become developed, but the beds in either section displaying this conglomeratic character have increased from 2,700 feet on the south to 4,800 feet or thereabouts in thickness to the north.

SECTION OF UPPER SIWALIKS OB KHARIANS ON THE HOSHIARPUR AND KANGRA ROAD BETWEEN GAHLIN ON THE BANGANGA AND KANGRA.

Section, ascending, from the Gambar fault.

					Ft.	
The Gambar fault-						
Red clays and gray sandstones, h	ard and	thick-be	lded		700	
Dull reddish clays with thin cour	ses of s	andstone,	and four	thick		
beds of reddish gray sandstone		•••	•••	•••	500	1,200
(These beds belong probably to th	ae upper	r ' Murree	ж'с.)			
Greenish-gray sandstone	•••	•••		•••	60	
Purplish friable clays with reddis	h-gray	sandstone	courses		25	
Reddish sandstone and reddish ss	undy cla	ys with	thin sand	stone		
courses	•••	•••	•••	•••	35	
Gray speckled massive sandstone	•••	•••	•••	•••	30	
Purplish-red clay	•••		•••	•••	7	
Fine reddish sandstone		•••	•••	•••	9	
Red clays with intercalated beds	of sand	lstone 10	to 15 feet	thick	200	
Thick-bedded gray sandstone	•••	••		•••	60	

M

89

-

							F U.	
Red chys	•••		•••		•••		80	
Gray sandstone		•••	•••		•••	•••	80	
Red clays		•••			•••		20	
Gray sandstone	(526)	•••	•••				20	
Fine conglomera	ate		•••				9	
Sandstone with	clay ba	nd and	fine congle	omerate c	ourses		20	
Gray sandstone	and pu	rplish-re	d clays	•••			120	
Fine conglomer	ate						9	
Sandstone	•••	•••					40	
Red clay				•••			9	
Fine sandstone	and int	ercalated	l red clays	(about)			1.000	
Soft sandstone,	pebbly	in places	s, and int	tercalated	red clavs	(be-		
tween Takipu	r and I	owlatpu	ir), about				1.000	
Coarse boulder	conglon	nerates i	n thick re	gular be	ls, coarser	and	•	
less distinctly	bedded	l at top	(4,507)	• …	•••	•••	2,300	5,033
				Total	•••		6,233	

51. The first 1,200 feet of beds in this section belong probably to the upper 'Murrees,' and from some bed about this horizon it is probable Mr. Medlicott obtained his specimen of *Amphicyon* near Nurpur.¹ Above the beds at the **base**, with a 'Murree' aspect, come in over 5,000 feet of typical upper 'Siwaliks.' Of these the basal 500 feet, or thereabouts, represent the lowest division f, whilst the remainder mainly represent the 'grays' and boulder conglomerates e and d. The higher gravels and clays c do not come into the section, but are probably present further north, in which direction, on about the same line, the very coarsest and highest beds of the group a come in in great force.

52. It is in the Kángra district that not only do these remarkable upper conglomerates (a) attain their fullest development, but the largest boulders are met with, I have anywhere seen, in the 'boulder conglomerates' d, in which it is usual for the omnipresent 'grays' to terminate above, except away from the great river valleys which no doubt served as vomitories for the dispersion of the products of Himalayan denudation. In the hills south of Dehra, boulders, nearly 30 inches in diameter, of hard silicious schists, may occasionally be seen, whilst such as exceed 20 are far from rare. But the largest by far of these well rounded boulders occur east of Kángra, and the largest boulders I ever measured were between Burwáni and Tharul, where I noticed two, respectively over 12 and 14 feet each [in girth.]

53. The largest boulders from these Siwalik beds are of some silicious schist or quartzite, the boulders of granite running habitually smaller, and here a distinction must be made between the boulders in the surface gravels derived from the Siwalik group and the boulders derived from old 'moraines.' As I have said, no boulder from any Siwalik bed that I have ever seen has attained to 15 feet in girth, whilst granite boulders from the 'moraines' of this size are too numerous to reckon, al. I these boulders of 'erratic' or moraine origin run up to 150 feet in

³ The specimen was given to me by the late Dr. Pemberton at Dalhousie.-H. B. M.

girth. Much as the Siwalik conglomerates may have contributed by their wearing down, to form the surface accumulations of the district, they have no connexion with the huge 'erratics' or more numerous blocks of less size, but of similar origin, so plentifully sprinkled over the surface, and it is certain that the climatal conditions which these monstrous 'erratics' indicate, is altogether post-Siwalik, and the incipient effects of which were doubtless to disperse, and not improbably in many cases altogether extinguish, the Siwalik genera which so abruptly disappeared after the Siwalik period. This interesting question and the various arguments both for and against a glacial period in India can best be discussed separately, as having no immediate connexion with a paper on the Siwalik group itself.

54. The section of the upper Siwaliks at Babhor, on the Sutlej, where that river first issues from the mountains, may here be epitomised. It is rather doubtful how much of it may be apportioned to the upper 'Murree' beds, but it well displays the remarkable development of the conglomerate beds, and is remarkable for the intercalation of a thick band of brown and red clays (not generally well developed elsewhere) at the base of the upper boulder conglomerates. The determining agency of the large rivers in the production of the boulder beds of the Siwalik group (first prominently noticed by Mr. Medlicott) is further exemplified by the thick bed of coarse conglomerate laid down unconformably by the Sutlej on the upturned end of the Siwalik boulder beds.

SECTION OF SIWALIKS BETWEEN NAILA AND BABHOR ON THE SUTLEJ.

Section, ascending, based on the 'Koseri' fault (vide Mr. Medlicott's Memoir, Mem. Geol. Surv., Vol. III, p. 141).

	Ft.						
Brown and red sandstones and clays (beds '\$' of Medlicott's section) say Gray, pepper and salt, or greenish sandstones, soft and pebbly in massive beds, with some intercalated beds of red clay sparingly ossiferous							
(beds f 2 of Medlicott's section)	2,500						
A thick series of brown or red or dark and greenish shales intercalated							
above with yellowish pebbly sand clays and conglomerates	526						
Coarse boulder conglomerates, boulders 3 to 9 inches in diameter	125						
Coarse boulder conglomerates, but boulders increasing to 1 or 2 feet							
in diameter	1,100						
Тотаг	7,251						

55. The precise thickness of beds referable to the Murree group in this section is not well determined, but we have undoubtedly some 5,000 feet of upper Siwaliks, though the highest beds (a) do not come into the section. The group, we may presume, is here at its thickest if Mr. Medlicott is correct in correlating these deposits, with ancient lines of drainage nearly coincident with the present course of existing river valleys.

56. The upper Khárián gray sandstones and conglomerates (beds d and e) are not only the most universally present, but most homogeneous in character of any

Digitized by Google

[VOL. XIV.

beds of the group; but such is not the case with the topmost beds of the group (a, b, and c). The clays and gravels of beds e are probably co-extensive and equally well developed originally as those below them forming the natural conclusion of the group above (a and b being of more local character), but from their position they have suffered more from denudation, and even faulting, than the lower beds. For example, north of the Kolonia river between Baiála and Katol, these beds are composed of dark and yellow clays in thick beds, with alternating bands of not very coarse gravel, and scarcely distinguishable from modern deposits, unless the clays are perhaps more compact than is usually the case in newer beds. These beds become highly inclined as they approach the boundary fault, which is here not the 'main boundary,' but a fault which brings them into contact with lower beds of their own group. Of this more hereafter.

57. The area covered by beds of these upper Kháriáns east of the Ganges is not usually broad, save between Káladhúngi and the Pátli 'din,' their faulted boundary to the north being always soon reached at one of the great faults traversing the group in lines more or less parallel with the direction of the outer ranges.

58. West of the Ganges, many beds of sand and clay, and the recent looking gravelly accumulations which mark the coarse conglomerates of the ranges south of the 'dúns,' may really belong to the topmost division c of the Siwaliks, rather than to newer deposits; but it is never easy to ascertain very precisely the state of the case, even when the beds are tilted, which the modern deposits of corresponding character rarely are, and never to the same extent.

59. The next spot going west, where these topmost beds of the Kháriáns are

Section under Bakloh, on the road to Dalhousie. largely developed, is under the cantonment of Bakloh, on the road up from Pathânkot to Dalhousie, and here the general aspect of the beds is very peculiar.—Dunera Dâk

Digitized by Google

bungalow stands, I should say, a little below, as far as its geological horizon goes, the lowest limits of the d division of the Khárián group. Soon after leaving the bungalow, bands of conglomerate appear in the sandstones, a slightly redder hue being observable than is usually the case.—There is nothing, however, particularly noteworthy till the bridge is crossed and the first 'choki,' just across it, reached.

60. Conglomerates now come in (b), evidently homologous with the conglomerates forming the highest beds of division d, but differing from the usual type seen south of Dehra and elsewhere, in being far less homogenous in character, and having the appearance of having been more rapidly accumulated. The village of Bingha (below the road) is situated at the top of these beds, about where division d would seem to succeed them.

61. The coarse conglomerates at this point give place to a very peculiar group of clays, gravels, and fine conglomerates (a), tinged with the prevailing dark red hue of the clay beds, and displaying the bulk of the pebbles in the gravel beds coated with a dark lustrous glaze. This glaze, the result possibly of iron dissolved out of the red clays, is not seen in the coarser conglomerates below, but is abruptly marked above them, and I know of nowhere else where these beds present a similar appearance. These topmost beds a are cut off by the Deireh fault, which

¹ Changing place for bearers.

runs under Bakloh, and brings them into contact with sandstone of an older group, probably 'Murree' or 'Kasauli beds.

62. From Dunera to the top beds at the fault there can hardly be less than 6,000 feet of beds exposed, or thereabouts, all upper Siwalik, and of which probably 1,500 feet may be referred to the highest beds a. I was not able to detect any fossils on this line of section, though I searched particularly for them. East of the Jumna, in the 'Dún,' the upper division c of sands, clays, and gravels is not particularly well developed, or, what is more likely, has been so broken up by denudation, and sheeted over by surface accumulations resulting therefrom, as not to be specially distinguishable, where the dip of the beds flattens out, as is the case with these topmost beds in the hills south of Dehra. After crossing the Beás, however, to the west, this upper division c seem better represented, and so continues to the Jhelum, though often, it would seem, at the expense of the lower West of the Jhelum these conglomerates (d) are well developed in the beds d. Rotás ridge, but east of the river throughout the Khárián hills, their place is taken by the gravels and clays of division c. It is in these beds c, west of the Jhelum, that the extraordinarily rich collection of fossils occur north-west of Mt. Tilla near the villages of Asnot, Padri, Bhandor, and they are also fossiliferous to a less degree east of the river towards Bhimber. The well known route into Kashmir past Bhimber gives a characteristic section of the Siwalik group west of the Beás. For about half way between Bhimber and the crest of the first ridge (about Adital), the rocks are all these highest clays (c) and sands, which but for their dip and association with the lower beds might, many of them, pass for modern alluvial deposits. The outer, or Adital ridge, is itself composed of the topmost beds of division e, the coarse boulder conglomerates d being here represented by a few pebbly beds in the sandstones e; the entire sequence of all the beds being clearly seen on the road to Sydábád, the first halting stage from Bhimber. On the ascent to the crest of the Adital range, in a clayey bed high up in division e, I procured the isolated upper molar of Hydaspetherium, but fossils are not common here, and isolated and fragmentary. The maximum thickness of the sands and clays of division c, between the Beás and Jhelum, does not fall far short of 5,000 feet, though this includes, partly at least, the division d, or coarse boulder conglomerates, which they, to a great extent, replace and represent. To this upper division must also be referred the beds west of Babhor, containing Bubalus and Camelus, and which would seem to constitute passage beds, as far as age goes, into the mammaliferous clays and gravels of the Narbada, and other large rivers of the Peninsula, and the same beds also would seem to occur near Rúpar, where they have quite the aspect of modern deposits, though without doubt the youngest member of the Siwalik group, and inseparable therefrom. A marked peculiarity in the upper Siwalik conglomerates west of the Jhelum, between the Chambal and Tilla ranges, is the occurrence in them of pebbles and boulders of nummulitic limestone, red granite, and dark purplish porphyries, hard and massive ('elvans'?) of which last two rocks no known source exists in the Himalayan region. Some rocks from the Arvali ranges to the south are not very dissimilar, and strongly suggest an original southern source of derivation for these rocks, which in the Salt Range are

found in conglomerates of all ages from palæozoic to newer mesozoic times. The *proximate* source for the boulders in the Siwalik conglomerates east of the Chambal ranges, is of course through the denudation of some of the above mesozoic conglomerates in the Salt Range, particularly the boulder clays of presumed cretaceous age or 'olive zone' (Wynne's Salt Range Memoirs, p. 103) at the east end of the Salt Range.

63. The way in which the upper Siwaliks pass into sands and clays wholly undistinguishable from modern alluvial deposits, may be well observed in the Potwár between Gujarkhán (on the Jhelum and Pesháwar road) and the Bakrála range, where it is only by tracing the beds down into *tilted* Siwalik strata that it is possible to distinguish the horizontal Siwalik clays from the newer alluvium, and yet beds, in other places about the same horizon, have participated in the most prodigious faults which seem to have occurred synchronously with the final elevatory movements of the Himalayan region, not earlier probably than in older pleistocene times.

64. I now propose to say a few words on the faults which traverse the Siwalik area, as they are not only intimately connected with the beds there, but have an important bearing on the structural history of the Himalayan region, and this is the more necessary, as a tendency exists in some quarters to dispute their existence and explain away the results they have produced.

Between the Sárda and Ganges four principal faults may be specified-

- I. The Gauri Ghât fault.
- II. The Baiála fault.
- III. The Pátli ' dún' fault.
- 1V. The . aldhang fault.
- I. The Gauri Ghât fault.

65. This fault is the great boundary fault, whereby some division or other of the Siwalik group is brought 'down' to the south into contact with the schists and limestones of the hilly region of Kumaun, but I prefer calling it after the spot where it crosses the Ganges to terming it simply the 'boundary fault' from the uncertainty which exists in identifying it with the particular faults west of the Ganges, which is its proper continuation in that quarter. It enters the district of Kumann from Nipál at the junction of the Ladhia river with the Sárda, and for about 7 miles its course coincides with the channel of the former stream. It then leaves that river, curving down to the south, and thence up to Durgapipal and south of the Tháli lake to the Gola river, which it cuts three times. It then passes a mile south of the Naini Tál Brewery (Shráb-batti) past Sinti to the Rámganga and Mundal rivers, both of which it crosses a little above their point of junction, and thence through the wild and hilly region north of the Pátli and Chokar 'dúns,' past Jamniabágh to the Ganges, which it cuts almost midway between Gauri ghât and Raiwála. Close to the Ganges it makes rather a sharp bend to the south-west of Bunás, where it is joined by the Láldháng fault, but its general course is either straight or with a very open curve.

66. For the first 20 miles of its course, from the mouth of the Ladhia river to within a couple of miles of Durgapipal, the contact rocks to the south are lower Siwalik strata, but at this point these lower Siwaliks are 'cut out' by the Baiála

fault, which here unites with the last, and thence to the Gola river, the upper Siwaliks form the contact rocks to the south. Here the fault is sharply deflected across the strike of the upper Siwaliks, and the lower Siwaliks are thereby once more brought in contact with it at Amratpur, and so continue till within 2½ miles of the Ganges, when the upper Siwaliks are again brought in by the Láldháng fault, and so continue till the Ganges is reached a distance of 137 miles from its starting point on the Sárda river.

II. The Baiála fault.

67. This fault has a short course of 21 miles from the Sárda river to the above mentioned point near Durgapipal, where it unites with the last, enclosing between them a thin wedge of lower Siwaliks, having an underlie to the schists and limestone to the north, and bounded to the south by upper Siwaliks with the same or normal underlie of the younger rocks repeated. The greatest breadth of this wedge of older Siwaliks is nowhere quite 4 miles.

III. The Pátli 'dún' fault.

68. This fault is very obscurely seen so far as contact sections go, but is as clearly marked as the others by the character of the beds on either side of it. It commences north-west of Káladhúngi, and thence runs with a slight curve to the Kosi river, which it crosses rather less than 3 miles south of Mohan, and thence holds on right through the centre of the Pátli 'dún,' cutting the Rámganga rather less than 2 miles north of the Boksar bungalow. From this point, where it is well seen in a tributary of the Rámganga, it runs nearly straight out, through the hills, to the plains near Bágnála. It is a grand through-fault, bringing the upper Siwaliks to the south into contact with the lower Siwalik of the north, except where it runs out of the hills near Bágnála, in doing which it cuts back and down through the upper Siwaliks, till the 'throw' is so diminished that lower 'Siwaliks' are in contact with each other on either side of it. Its course is for 55 miles through a densely wooded almost uninhabited country, where wretched woodcutters alone, during what may be really termed 'the man-eating season (from November to March), risk their lives in precarious and unequal rivalry with the savage beasts of the wild, the skulking tiger, and wily and no less dangerous elephant.

IV.- The Láldháng fault.

69. This fault, which is a very short one, has not been closely traced, but is sufficiently indicated by the character of the rocks it separates. It is interesting, as marking the termination to the east of the Ganges of the beds which as a range of hills terminate at Hardwár. Though, however, the range of hills south of Dehra cease at Hardwár, the rocks composing it cross the Ganges and reappear on the opposite bank in the low hills of Chándi Pahár, whence they extend to the eastward as far as the Paili stream. The lower beds next the plains present high dips, being often vertical, whilst the upper beds gradually flatten out as they approach the boundary fault (I). Did these beds continue across the Paili stream they would come into contact with the lower beds about Láldháng, but they are bounded here by a sort of bay of alluvium, which runs up the Paili stream and conceals the Láldháng fault, which cuts off the newer beds somewhere about the position of that river, and brings the beds to an abrupt ending which have crossed the Ganges at Hardwár. After a short course this fault runs into the main fault 2 miles east of Jamnia Bágh.

70. Between the Ganges and Rávi rivers the principal faults traversing the Siwalik rocks shown in Mr. Medlicott's map of the district, or indicated in his Report (Mem., Vol. III, part 2), are—

I.—The Ganges fault.
II.—The Jumna fault.
III.—The Debra 'dún' fault.
IV.—The Biláspur fault.
V.—The Gambar fault.
VI.—The Deibreh fault.
VII.—The Koseri fault.
VIII.—The Babhor fault.
IX.—The Bhímgoda fault.

I-II.—The Ganges and Jumna faults.

71. These two faults, as well as the 'Láldháng,' are all cross-faults, and each is the co-efficient of the other, inclosing between them the Siwalik strata of the hills south of Dehra and the corresponding extension of the same beds east of the Ganges. They are sufficiently described by Mr. Medlicott, so that nothing need be added here by me.

III.—The Dehra Dún fault.

72. The course of this fault is so masked by the surface deposits of the Dún that its course can only be indicated in general terms. There is no reasonable doubt that the 'main' or boundary fault which crosses the Ganges from the east, below Gauri ghāt, holds on strongly up the 'Dún' and south of Dehra. Somewhere, however, about Nágsídh station, 6 miles south by east from Dehra, it is probable, that whilst the main fault holds straight on, it is joined by a cross-fault from east of Rajpur. which there constitutes the boundary fault between the hill-rocks and Siwaliks. The Dehra fault in all probability holds on past Kázípur and up the Giri river, till it unites with the great fault mapped by Mr. Medlicott for 35 miles along the Giri river. This connection of the Dehra fault with that on the Giri, and of this latter with the Beláspur fault, is of course conjectural, but is supported by the fact of the hitherto faulted contact of the tertiary and hill-rocks, here giving place to a natural junction by overlap of younger tertiaries on to older rock of the same general age, a result brought about by the fault holding on straight, whereas the hill-rocks here (midway between Dehra and Náhan) bulge outwards, and are therefore themselves cut and thrown for some 50 miles by the fault in place of the tertiaries whose boundary is here deflected beyond its course.

73. This is the area where the much vexed '*Náhan*' unconformity occurs, regarded by Mr. Medlicott as an unconformity of upper Siwaliks on to lower (see Manual, p.524), but by myself as an overlap of upper Siwaliks on to middle or upper Sirmur beds, a view, I am happy to say, I am countenanced in by Mr. Medlicott's

co-editor of that work, Mr. Blanford (see Manual, Introduction, p. xvii), who brackets them with the 'Sirmurs.' North-west of Subathu this fault is not indicated on the map, but it probably continues through the hills and strikes into the strong Bíláspur fault.

IV.—The Biláspur fault.

74. This fault is the boundary fault of the Siwalik group and the 'Sirmurs,' and has been mapped by Mr. Medlicott for 40 miles to west of Mandi. Its further extension is not indicated on the map; but I have no hesitation in continuing it past Burwáni and under Bakloh to the Rávi, along the boundary of the Sirmur and Siwalik groups; and I think it most probable that most of the rocks lying north and east of Jysingpur, coloured in Mr. Medlicott's map as 'Sivalik,' are really 'Sirmurs.' The ground, however, is unfavourable for observation.

V.—The Gambar fault.

75. This, one of the most important faults in the area, is shown to commence (in the map) 10 miles north-west of Kasauli, whence it runs, without a check to the Rávi below Basauli, some 120 miles. It may, however, with certainty be extended to the south-east some miles beyond Kasauli (running north of the dåk bungalow), and in all probability holds on in the same direction till lost in the troubled ground north-west of Náhan. In that quarter it not improbably holds on (undetected) and runs into the line of the Bhimgoda fault, indicated on the map by a dotted line past Kolar and Fyzabad. Locally, of course, even a main fault may die out and re-appear on the same line ; hence, probably, the difficulty in some cases of tracing these features continuously. If it were necessary to prove the variability which the same fault displays as regards the amount of its 'throw' at different spots, whereby a fault having normally a prodigious 'throw' may in parts of its course become obsolete and so avoid recognition, I might instance the curious case of the Deihreh fault, which near Nurpur, actually reverses its 'throw' at Hurul, north-west of which spot its 'throw' on one side is precisely the reverse of what it is on the same side of the fault to the south-east. The neutral point of 'no throw' is where the fault crosses the Chuki stream at Hurul.

VI.-The Deihreh fault.

76. This fault, which presents the above curious instance of a 'reversal of throw,' commences (on Mr. Medlicott's map) at the Sutlej and runs without a break to the Rávi. To the south-east it probably is lost by joining some other fault in the hills north of Nálagarh, and, although only marked as a dotted line north-west of Deihreh, there is no question of its continuance to the Rávi.

VII.—The Koseri fault, and VIII.—The Babhor fault.

77. These two faults do not need special description. They are not traceable east of the Sutlej nor west of the Rávi.

¹ This is quite too positive an assertion : Mr. Blanford has never been near the ground; and the 'bracketing' is only part of the compromise' explained with reference to the Murree horizon notes pp. 68, 75, 103.—H. B. M.

IX.-The Bhimgoda fault.

78. This is a short fault at the east end of the Siwalik hills, south of the Dehra 'dun.' It has been fully described by Mr. Medlicott (p. 123 of his memoir) as having a throw of "many thousand feet," which by turning back to page 118 (l. c.) we find to mean 15,000 at least, but there seems a slight obscurity as to what were Mr. Medlicott's views on the matter, as the general turn of his argument elsewhere seems directed against any 'cross faults,' which question I shall consider presently.

79. The above faults are not by any means all that traverse the Siwalik area, but merely the principal ones marked or otherwise indicated on Mr. Medlicott's map.

80. Between the Rávi and Jhelum, there would seem to be a tendency in the faults to become less marked; and on the map of that country by Messrs. Medlicott and Lydekker, this feature of the ground is not shown as such. That the same boundary faults do not finally end between the Rávi and Jhelum is certain, from the enormous fault under the Chita Pahár range, towards the Indus, between the Khirthar limestone and the Siwaliks, and the slight notice of this feature in the map above referred to (Records, Geological Survey, Vol. IX, p. 154), may be due to diversity of opinion between its joint authors, or to other causes. Mr. Medlicott's unconcealed hesitation to accept the explanation of 'faulted boundaries' in favour of 'folded ones' is well known, whilst the passage I here quote (p. 155, l. c.) seems almost a protest by Mr. Lydekker against this particular view of his colleague. "Along the inmost boundary of the Sirmur group, there is a sudden break between these rocks and the inner metamorphic series. The general dip of the former towards the latter group seems to show that this junction, as it now exists, is faulted. I have never seen any instance where I could distinctly assert that the red rocks had been deposited unconformably against the base of a cliff of metamorphics, and although I have not found any traces of the former overlying the latter beyond the fault, I cannot help thinking that such an extension must originally have been the case to a certain extent, and that the present relationship of the two has been brought about by subsequent up or down thrusts."

¹ What may be meant by a 'folded boundary' is not clear; but it is hard to be accused of a prejudice against boundary faults immediately after the description of nine great faults (which are also boundaries), eight of which are quoted from me, and the odd one (No. III) rests, within my area, only upon a case of " no reasonable doubt." The imputation rests upon the fact that in one case I was able to prove that such an apparent fault was not one; and as in this case most of the concomitant features exactly resembled those connected with faulting, I got a practical lesson in caution as to what might or might not be faulting, and I indicated some features of the 'main boundary' corresponding with some of the exceptional features of my special case, suggesting the possibility that it too might not be primarily due to faulting, as was presumably the case in those features which I had mapped as faults. I am satisfied that Mr. Lydekker understood my objection, and applied it reasonably, though perhaps not conclusively, and that he would discont the "disclaimer of any acceptance of the yiew" I suggested for consideration. There was no diversity of opinion as to the sections in the Jamu hills; our work there was too rapid and discontinuous to permit of mapping such definite features as lines of fault. Some of these are mentioned in the 'Manual,' pp. 567-68.— H. B. M.

81. This is a clear disclaimer of any acceptance of the view so persistently urged by Mr. Medlicott of the generally regarded faults being boundaries of deposition modified by folding; and with Mr. Lydekker's views, as opposed to Mr. Medlicott's, I thoroughly agree; and I may here offer a few remarks on the 'main boundary,' towards the east end of the Dehra 'dún,' and give my reasons for dissenting from Mr. Medlicott's view, expressed at page 97 of his memoir (Memoirs, Geological Survey, Vol. III, part 2), that "the sharp irregularities in the main boundary,¹ such as that just east of Rájpur, and again that east of the Ganges, are not due to cross faults."

82. I must first of all eliminate from consideration the second instance of irregularity east of the Ganges, as the feature has no existence quoad any cross faulting of the Siwalik boundary. By referring to the map which accompanies Mr. Medlicott's memoir, it will be seen that a narrow strip of 'Náhan' sandstone is seen stretching down from Rikhikhes along the hills east of the Ganges, and connected with the Siwalik sandstones ('Náhan') opposite Hardwár. At page 116 these Rikhikhes beds are thus alluded to :-- "At Rikhikhes the sandstone beds are vertical, with a northerly strike. In a line nearly due south of this, at the opening of the Mitiwáli sote (torrent), the same rocks are in contact with the Siwalik conglomerates, and both are vertical, with a strike to north by east; up the sote, however, after a space of uncertainty, the dip becomes steady to north-east, the strike thus conforming to the new direction of the boundary." Now, the fact is, there is no such continuous strip of sandstone from Rikhikhes south of any description, and although the ground is much masked by detritus, I at three spots ascertained that the metamorphic rocks abutted on the plains. One spot was on the road to Ganda Bairi, 3 miles south of Rikhikhes; another, in a stream a mile further south; and the third, in the Eheng nadi, which gives a clear section of the ground. In not one of these three spots was any sandstone displayed outside the metamorphic area. Two miles south of the Bheng nadi, the main boundary fault runs straight to the Ganges skirting Jamnia Bágh, the Siwalik beds now coming in abruptly. The 'step back,' therefore, of the metamorphic rocks, for anything that appears to the contrary, from Jamnia Bágh to Rikhikhes, may be simply a denuded bay; but I think it has a probable relation to the cross-fault previously described as seen at Hurdwár. To return now to the Rikhikhes beds. What are they? The only thing that seems certain about them. is, that they are not Siwaliks ('Náhan') as Mr. Medlicott supposes. In the first place, they are like no Siwalik sandstones I know; but are not very unlike some sandstones, in a precisely similar situation as regards proximity to the metamorphic rocks, near Mandi, which I have long considered as of Sirmur age. Secondly, whilst more than 9 miles from the 'Siwaliks' at Jamnia Bágh, they are only a third of that distance from a small area of Sirmur rocks shown on the map to the east. Thirdly, they are on the wrong side of the great boundary fault, and that to me is conclusive-no instance being known to me of any Siwalik rocks being found on the inner or upthrow side of this great structural feature. This (boundary) fault then crosses the Ganges below Gauri ghat with all the appear-

¹The main boundary is that of the 'hill rocks' and 'Siwaliks,' save in a few places where otherwise specified.

99

ance of holding straight up the 'Dún' a little south of Dehra probably. I certainly so far agree with Mr. Medlicott that I do not think *this* fault is itself deflected, and gives rise to the zigzag boundary of the hills between Rájpur and the Ganges, but it is by no means easy to say whether their outline here is or is not the result of cross-faults and 'subsidiary' ones parallel to the main one holding up the centre of the 'dún'.¹

¹ It is very unpleasant having to deal with such dogmatic utterances as Mr. Theobald indulges in, making it so difficult to avoid debasing discussion into mere contradictions. Of the "Siwalik boundary" so summarily treated in the first sentence of paragraph 82. I have no cognizance. A the point in question, it belongs to the hypothetical 'Dehra-dún fault' described in paragraph 72, as a supposed continuation of the 'main boundary' east of the Ganges, where it is described by Mr. Theobald as the 'Gauri ghât fault' (paragraph 65); but in neither field-map nor report is there a single observation recorded in evidence of the existence of such a fault at or west of the Ganges. I am by no means prepared to deny its existence there, but it makes nonsense of our work to introduce such a conjecture as a turning point in an argument on an important question at issue. Verbally Mr. Theobald would be correct in saying that the strip of sandstones at the base of the hills south of Rikhikhes is not continuous, had he added 'at the surface;' but geological maps would be unintelligible were we only to map outcrops, and the assertion, as intended to be understood absolutely, is extremely rash. In this, almost only, instance, some evidence is afforded for the assertions made, and I am able to prove that the observation is erroneous. Of the three sections mentioned, that of the Bheng is the only important one, as being the most southerly and westerly, the other two being within my inner boundary; of this Bheng section I give here a verbatim extract from my field book of that date (6th of March 1860); it is independently interesting as a re-ord of the only authenticated case (as yet) of fossils being found in the Lower Himalayan rocks, as noticed at page 69 of my memoir (l.c.,) where the stream is mentioned as the Tál, the name of one of its affluents. "Went up the gorge of the Tál through the first ridge to where the valley divides. Here a strong bed of hard sandy limestone, obscurely fossiliferous, dips high to East 35° North. In the river here and all through the gorge great blocks of the ferruginous rock occur. I his limestone is associated with clear pale red grits and thin earthy schists, also grey schists. sometimes the red is variegated like the middle Krol type. These are surrounded by the dark glossy shaly schists and ferruginous sandstones, with copious alum efflorescence, crushed. Below this again the red and grey schists are repeated, and also the thick limestone, with somewhat more distinct fossils and dipping to west-south-west, suggesting an anticlinal. Further down, at crossing of road, the efflorescing shales appear again, and then pass down into the black crushed fault-rock, with junassive and broken beds of whitish and green quartzite. Below about 100 yards of this, there is ust a remnant of the outer junction rocks, the light-grey Siwalik sandstone, and bright red clay: a quarter mile below this, in the bank of angular gravel, is a bed-like mass of hard quartzite sandstone; it can hardly be in situ. The terraces between the hills and the river are of this superficial boulder gravel."

Regarding the identity of this sandstone, I can only re-affirm the statement which Mr. Theobald declares to be certainly wrong, that it belongs to the Náhan band of my classification. The second clause of the argument admits of more satisfactory treatment: had Mr. Theobald visited the small outlier on the ridge at Bhuwan ('Bone' of my small map), or intelligently considered my description of it (l.~c.,~p.~88), he would hardly have suggested any connection between it and the Rikhikhes sandstone. The Bhuwan beds are lowest Subáthu clays and earthy limestone, isolated on the slates on the crest of the ridge, quite 2,000 feet above the sandstone at Rikhikhes. Mr. Theobald's third point, which he considers 'conclusive,' rests again upon his imaginary 'Dhera-dún fault.'-H. B. M.

to this fact as almost precluding the supposition of this boundary being one continuous fault of enormous throw; but there is a supplementary supposition by which that view might still be maintained, the sharp step-like form of these irregularities suggests the existence of cross-faults. We do not, however, find a single fact of detail to corroborate such a view. In that marked example of the Kalunga ridge east of Rájpur and Dehra, the boundary runs directly for 5 miles to north by east at right angles to the direction of the Masuri ridge at about its middle, the angle of the boundary being only 4 miles distant from the crest; yet on that ridge we find not a trace of such a transverse break." To this argument, I simply ask, "why should we?" These 'cross faults,' supposing they exist, are avowedly subsidiary to the main feature of the boundary fault, and quite as likely as not limited to its neighbourhood; and there is no primâ facie ground that I can see for assuming that a cross-fault of this character should or would leave its impression or traverse such a range as the Masuri ridge. Mr. Medlicott goes on to say : "It is fortunate this example exists, for one might be tempted in the greater case just east of the Ganges, to take as evidence of this kind the distinct termination of the Masuri range about this meridian." To this I say, "And why not"? Because a cross-fault at Rájpur has left no trace of its existence either south of the great boundary fault in the hills south of Dehra or any mark of its course in the Masuri range to the north, and is not improbably therefore possessed of a limited throw and short course, why are we to assume therefore that such a fault as the Ganges fault at Hardwár, with a 'throw' calculable by many thousand feet, should equally leave no trace of its presence in the mountain region, its effect at Hardwar being undeniable? Such a fault as this might fairly be supposed capable of crossing the 'boundary' or 'Gauri ghat' fault, when a smaller one, such as might produce the local feature of the boundary east of Rájpur, could not do so. The evidence, therefore, adduced in disproof of cross-faults is quite as much in their favour as against them. The probabilities, therefore, seem to me in favour of this explanation of the irregularity of the boundary of the eastern 'dún,' for I quite hold with Mr. Medlicott that this boundary is not coincident with the 'main fault,' which I have described as holding probably straight up the 'dun,' where, of course, it is masked by surface deposits.

84. The question, however, of how far the extinction of the Masuri range at the Ganges may be due to such a cross-fault, as the 'Ganges' fault can only really be decided by an examination of the ground with that special object in view, and this has not been undertaken. There is, however, one indication which favours the connection of a cross-fault with the structural features of the mountains at the point where the Ganges enters the 'dún.' If the Ganges fault exercised any determining influence on the extinction of the Masuri range, it can only have been by effecting a 'downthrow ' of the hills on the opposite or east bank of the Ganges. Now, the presence of the Rikhikhes sandstones and the Sirmur outlier east of them *is*, in my opinion, an indication, if not actual proof, of such a movement—the 'downthrow' in question being the cause of these remnants being preserved intact when all trace of the group to the eastward has disappeared. The operation of the fault in this respect may be very local and mainly effective in the Ganges gorge itself; but the presence of this small Sirmur outlier just east of the Ganges is to me very significant of a connection with the huge Ganges cross-fault so ably described by Mr. Medlicott at Hardwár.¹

85. There is no doubt that this disinclination on Mr. Medlicott's part to the idea of cross-faults in the above case is but the result of that general distrust of 'faults' of any sort, and the preference for 'folding' of the beds along an original line of deposition, rather than 'faulting,' which seem to have resulted from his study of the Márkanda section, and ever since has influenced Mr. Medlicott's views. These views are ably set forth in his memoir (p. 109), but they have failed to convince either Mr. Lydekker or myself, who are both familiar with the same ground.⁴

86. That I may not be considered of over-exaggeration of the particular bias against 'faults' which I here attribute to my colleague, it will suffice, I think, to say that in his paper on the Sub-Himalayan series in Jamu (Records, Geological Survey, Vol. IX, p. 49), Mr. Medlicott has successfully contrived to omit using the word '*fault*' throughout, though the ground treated of is that into which the great faults of the Simla and Kángra districts run.

88. Now, any one by consulting the Manual of Geology can see that the Náhan group is unfossiliferous (Introduction, p. xv), so the object "set before me," the elucidation of its fauna, was naturally unaccomplished, and as for the 'arbitrary' restriction I am accused of devising, a glance at Mr. Medlicott's own map (Memoirs, Vol. III) will show that the arbitrary division I was endeavouring to work was my critic's own devising! Certainly I tried to carry out the separation previously established, promulgated, and mapped by Mr.

¹ In the said 'able' description I gave reasons for considering the Hardwár cross-fault to be a southern break off of the Bhíngoda longitudinal fault; the beds to the east of the river being apparently in complete correspondence with those to north of the fault on the west. In connecting the Hardwár fault with his imaginary great fault up the gorge of the Ganges at Rikhikhes, Mr. Theobald has forgotten to explain its having no effect whatever on his favourite Dehra-dún fault, which he describes as directly continuous with his 'Gauri ghât fault.' It would be easy to suppose it the younger of the two; but then the Bhíngoda-Hardwár fault is of very recent date, as it affects the newest Siwalik strata. Many other anomalies might be noticed in Mr. Theobald's presentation of the cross-fault question, were there any sense in discussing geology is subjbus.--H. B. M.

² Mr. Lydekker has never seen the ground in question.-H. B. M.

Medlicott, and my failure to do so was (as I hold) inevitable and inherent in the problem I had undertaken to solve.¹ The 'Náhan' highlander was, in fact, found to be not possessed of the faunal 'breeks' which I was specially commissioned to deprive him of! As for imputing to me as a culpable error my mapping as 'Náhans' (before I was led to abandon the group as untenable) beds containing fossils of the Fauna Antiqua Sivalensis as Mr. Medlicott phrases it, the imputation is flimsy in the extreme. If the Náhans were 'Siwaliks' as Mr. Medlicott contends, they might not unjustly be supposed to contain fossils of the Fauna Antiqua Sivalensis. But the 'Márkanda' unconformity has been discussed 'ad nauseam.' Mr. Medlicott goes on to add: "Whatever value may be ultimately assigned to the unconformity which originally suggested the separation of the Náhan group in the cis-Sutlej region, the distinction of the zone as a comparatively barren formation at the base of the great mammaliferous Siwalik deposits will hold good even if the fossils, whenever discovered, should make it desirable to designate the group as lower Siwalik." Now, this is not very clear to me, as the great 'crux' of these newer tertiaries is the great 'Náhan' unconformity in the Siwalik group, the 'Náhans' being always regarded as lower 'Siwaliks,' and not (as I believe them really to be) part of the older Sirmur group.

89. It is true, in the Manual Mr. Blanford (correctly, in my opinion) brackets Náhan and Kasauli beds (Introduction, p. xvii); but this neither is nor ever has been Mr. Medlicott's view, and we consequently find at page 524 of the Manual 'Náhans' bracketed as lower Siwaliks: hence the difficulty I have in understanding the above quotation. The next sentence, if more clear, is equally erroneous : speaking of the 'Nahan' group Mr. Medlicott says-" It has now been traced with fair certainty into the trans-Jhclum country, where it is represented by several hundred feet of sandstones and clays immediately overlying the nummulitic limestone on the east end of the Salt Range." This I have endeavoured to show is wholly erroneous, mammalian fossils pervading the Siwalik group in that situation, and the whole facies of the group, save locally at a few spots (at Bakrála, &c.,) indicating a middle Siwalik horizon at lowest for the contact beds of the group reposing on the nummulitic limestone. Mr. Medlicott goes on to add (with regard to his lower Siwalik or 'Náhan' division), what I suppose he would designate as a compromise between his view of the Siwalik relationship of these 'Náhans' at page 524 of the Manual and Mr. Blanford's arrangement of them in the Introduction (p. xvii) with the Sirmur !" The pas-

¹ The judgment in the Manual was largely the result of Mr. Theobald's failure in the special object of his commission—to find fossils in the Náhan rocks; where there can be little doubt of their presence (see note, p. 71). Arbitrary divisions are sometimes necessary: the glance at my map will also show that the arbitrary division made by Mr. Theobald was the precise reverse of that adopted by me—a course which the reader of these pages will surmise to have been a priori probable, although I am quite convinced that of personal animosity there was **none**.—H. B. M.

² With a substitution of facts for persons this sentence would give the clue to all Mr. Theobald's confusion. The very object of the paper quoted, giving the general result of a trip through the Kángra and Jamu hills, was to exhibit the contrast in the sequence of the tertiary series in the Simla and the trans-Jhelum regions (250 miles apart). Mr. Theobald represents this fact and the

[VOL XIV.

sage runs thus (Records, Vol. IX, p. 56) :-- "It seems very doubtful whether it will be practicable or desirable to separate this band from possible representatives of the upper Sirmur strata in the vastly greater thickness of purple sandstones and clays transitionally overlying the Subáthu group in the Himalayan region proper to the north of the Salt Range." It is impossible to say after this which view Mr. Medlicott elects,-whether the 'Nahans' are 'Siwaliks' or 'Sirmur.' Mr. Medlicott's 'crucial section' at Náhan has always been appealed to by him to prove a great unconformity in the Siwalik group, the Náhans being lower Siwaliks. The idea of the 'Náhans' being possibly 'Sirmurs' he quietly dismisses with :1 "Those who have examined the rocks are least disposed to adopt this supposition" (Manual), p. 540. Now, as the Manual is of later date (quoad publication) than the passage quoted from the Records, it is doubtful which may be Mr. Medlicott's matured view; but the passage in the Records almost looks as if it was written with a view to meet the subsequent divergence of opinion between the joint authors of the Manual on this point. Of course, I fully agree with Mr. Blanford's view, as expressed in the Manual, rather than with Mr. Medlicott; but even as a compromise the passage in the Records is unsatisfactory, not to say unintelligible. Mr. Medlicott's discovery of a Siwalik unconformity. which no one else has ever managed to re-detect elsewhere has been for many a weary year the one unnegotiable and insuperable difficulty in the study of the newer tertiaries; it being an ever-present 'nightmare' to the geologist who should endeavour the correlation of different beds; and now Mr. Medlicott would seem inclined to heal all difficulties by foregoing the separation of these Náhans from 'Sirmurs' whilst tenaciously maintaining the luckless union of them with 'Siwaliks, rather than adopt the palpable course of regarding the 'Náhans' as upper 'Sirmur,' having no connection with the widely unconformable Siwaliks overlying them ! It is very illustrative of the extreme difficulty of grasping or refuting Mr. Medlicott's views, owing to the subtle but no less complete contradiction which one page of the same paper displays when contrasted with some statement on another page, that, only a few pages before Mr. Medlicott records his doubt if the 'Náhans' can be separated from his upper 'Sirmurs' (Records, Vol. IX, p. 56), we read as follows (p. 50) :- "The second break in the eastern section occurs where the Náhan rocks abut against the old slaty rocks of the higher mountains, high upon which there rests an extensive remnant of still older tertiary deposits, including at their base the nummulitic beds of Subáthu, transitionally overlaid by the red clays and gray sandstones in distinguishable zones, to which I gave the names Dagshai and Kasauli. I

provisional compromise consequent thereon as a glaring contradiction between consecutive pages of my paper, and as a difference of opinion between Mr. Blanford and myself, both of which fancies are without any foundation. The grievous fact Mr. Theobald does exhibit is his own inability to understand that two groups of a series may be indistinguishable in one section, although each is fully represented, while the two are markedly separated in a distant section. My conjecture as to the precise horizon of the lowest beds of the neogene division in the east Salt Range may easily have been erroneous, but that is a very immaterial point.—H. B. M.

¹ Were not Mr. Theobald evidently in a fog, this statement could hardly be accepted as ingenuous: the 'quiet dismissal' is a subsidiary sentence in a prolonged argument (see passage referred to).—H. B. M.

subsequently described these three older bands as the Sirmur group, it being desirable to restrict the name Subáthu to the nummulitic zone proper. There was little direct evidence as to how far the boundary between the Náhan and Sirmur groups might also be an aboriginal unconformity, or altogether due to flexure and faulting; but the fact that in the *lowest outcrops of the* Náhan band, over a very large area, no symptom could be detected of the very characteristic Subáthu sone, nor any specific representative of the Kasauli beds, which in the contiguous area are repeatedly marked by peculiar plant-layers, gavo strong presumptive evidence for the supposition of aboriginal unconformity." This is a remarkable passage as preparatory to the declaration half a dozen pages farther on that it is neither practicable nor desirable to separate the 'Náhans' from the Sirmurs! (page 56, l. c.)

90. But it is more than this, it is essentially confusing and misleading. On the supposition which it argues to support, that the 'Náhans' are unconformable to the Sirmur group, why should we expect in the deepest section of the 'Náhans' to find 'symptoms' of the "very characteristic Subáthu zone" from which the 'Náhans' are severed by the entire thickness of the Dagshai and Kasauli divisions? On the opposite supposition advocated by myself that the 'Náhans' are really 'upper Sirmurs,' the only deduction at not finding Subáthu beds at the base is that the section is not deep enough. But the main question is, which of these two views are we to consider Mr. Medlicott finally adopted? that on page 50 or that on page 56, both of which I have quoted, and as greater maturity can hardly be conceded to a statement at the end of a paper than attaches to a statement on an earlier page of the same, the simple result is perplexity to the reader !⁹

91. Then, again, it is simple exaggeration of a very obscure feature to say that the Kasauli group is "repeatedly marked by peculiar plant-layers". The number of 'plant-layers' has never been determined, or if there is even more than one, and the plant localities do not (to my knowledge) exceed three—two near Kasauli and one west of Dharmsála, so that to apply the word 'repeatedly' as it is applied by Mr. Medlicott, almost as though these plant-layers were a universal feature of this group, is, to say the least, a stretch of language calculated to mislead !

92. There is one passage in the Manual which I must here draw attention to, it occurs at page 542: "If this link should be confirmed, we should have to recast the view sketched above regarding the relations of the cis and trans-Jumna Siwaliks, for there is every reason to suppose that the massive sandstone of the Nún is the same as that of Náhan, with which it may be said to be continuous." Now if there is one thing more than another which is clear about this Nún section, it is that the rocks are the strict homologue of those in the hills south of Dehra, and have no connection with those at Náhan, with which Mr. Medlicott describes them to be continuous. In a geographical sense they may be contiguous, but they are gray sandstones terminating upwards (their order on the ground being inverted) in conglomerates, the Náhan rocks being nowhere known to contain so much as a pebble. Another marked instance of this confused use of the term continuous

¹ The italics are Mr. Theobald's.

^a See note 2, p. 103.

Records of the Geological Survey of India.

VOL. XIV.

and its application in correlating utterly discordant phenomena occurs three pages previously (page 539), where we are told: "Within the Nahan area the junction of the Siwalik and Sirmur series corresponds with what we shall constantly refer to as the main boundary, for we may fairly give the name to the most persistent and striking feature of the whole mountain region the abrupt junction of the slaty or schistose rocks of the mountains with the rocks of the Sub-Himalayan zone". Now, the only correspondence here is one simply of direction, and this feeble element of Similarity has led the writer into the absurdity of describing the faulted koundary of A and B as corresponding to the natural boundary between B and C (A=Slates, B Sirmur, C Siwaliks). The fact is, there is no continuity save the feeble one of direction or geographical position between the inverted upper Siwaliks on the Nún and the Náhan beds trans-Jumna. They are totally distinct lithologically, and the continuity is no doubt physically broken by the great Jumna cross-fault. Their lithological characters moreover are sufficient to dissociate them (putting any fault out of our mind) as much as though one set of rocks consisted mainly of chalk and the other of cheese.¹

93. The allusion (l.c.) to a view once suggested by myself regarding the hills south of Dehra being possibly Náhans refer to a time when I was hampered by the difficulties of the Náhan unconformity and before I rejected the idea as untenable. The fact is, the great abundance of fossils west of the Jumma is a feature dependant on local conditions of the country during Siwalik times and the distribution of Siwalik animals during that period. Fossils are very rare between the Jumma and Ganges, and east of the Ganges are wholly wanting, though there is no want of beds in that quarter strictly homologous with those which have proved so rich in animal remains west of the Jumma.

94. In a word, the Náhan unconformity is one of two things in my opinion. Either an overlap of supra Siwalik beds, on to the denuded surface of Siwalik beds rather low in the series, or an overlap of upper Siwaliks on to upper or middle Sirmur beds. I confess I inclined to the former supposition, but as Mr. Medlicott, after re-examining the spot, has reaffirmed his original determination of the upper beds to the Siwalik group, Manual, page 537, I have no option but to advocate the latter explanation of the section, as Mr. Medlicott's original view of a break in the middle of the Siwalik group of the magnitude seen at Náhan seems supported by no sufficient evidence.³

I will now pass to a brief recital of the lithological characters and division of the Siwalik group.

¹ The words 'continuous' and 'corresponds' in the passages referred to are used by me in their strictest sense, implying identity. Both views are stated impartially; and Mr. Theobald's contribution to a solution of the difficulty amounts to a simple contradiction. The 'chalk and cheese' blunder was independently made by Mr. Theobald himself (see para. 93).—H. B. M.

² This concluding passage is a delightful calm after the furious storm raging through the preceding paragraphs. After portentous struggles the victim mildly accepts the position which, but a moment before, had been 'rejected as untenable.' May he long live in this more reasonable mood !

To save the incautious, I may make the scarcely necessary remark that the following classification of the Siwalik series is provisional and individual, and in some respects unique.-H. B. M.

CONSPECTUS OF THE GENERAL LITHOLOGICAL CHARACTER OF THE SIWALIK SERIES.

UPFER SIWALIK, OR KHÁRIÁN BEDS 8,000.

A. Upper Kháriáns.

- (a). Red clays and gravels. Pebbles iron stained and highly 'glazed' with a dark pigment. Fossils none.
 Hills below Bakloh, Kángra district.
- (b). Very coarse and in part sub-angular conglomerates in very thick beds, stratification obscure, and materials heterogenously arranged. Fossils none.

Kángra district.

(c). Reddish or buff clays, stiff and massively bedded. Sands and gravels passing up into coarse conglomerates, the whole undistinguishable from modern river deposits. Fossils locally numerous.

The Siwalik group passim.

B. Lower Kháriáns.

(d). Coarse boulder conglomerates. Boulders well rounded, and ranging from 1 to 3 feet diameter (occasionally a larger one up to 4 feet). Fossils rare.

Hills south of Dehra, Babhór, near all the great river gorges-Jumna, Chináb, Indus.

- (e). Gray sandstone, more or less pebbly, with subordinate beds of red-brown or buff clays. *Passim*. Fossils common.
 -). Gray greenish sandstones without pebbles, with clays interstratified, clays usually reddish or brown. *Passim*. Fossils not common.

LOWER SIWALIK, OR MURREE BEDS, 8,000.

C. Upper Murrees.

(g). Gray, brown, greenish or purplish sandstones, with red or purplish clays. Pebbles exceptional, if not wholly absent. Passim. Fossils rare.

D. Lower Murrees.

(h). Gray, brown, greenish or purplish sandstones, with red or purplish clays. Pebbles exceptional, if not wholly absent. Numerous beds of ferruginous concretionary clayey sandstone, very tough and pseudo-conglomeratic or sub-lateritic in aspect. Passim. Determinable fossils, none.

a and b are local and unfossiliferous: c is local, but probably from denudation, more than original restriction, it is richly fossiliferous at Jabi near Jand: d is of universal distribution; it is sparingly fossiliferous, from the constitution and conditions of deposition: e is of universal distribution, and has furnished the bulk of the Siwalik fossils: f is simply the basal continuation of e; fossils in it are scarce.

- g.—These are the basal beds of the Siwalik group, west of the Jhelum, unless a few lower beds may be included north of the Potwár. Fossils throughout, but not common.
- h.—These are the basal or lowest Siwaliks anywhere, and no determinable fossils have hitherto been detected in them. The lower Siwaliks, g and h, are distinguished from the upper by the deeper colour of their beds and by their greater induration; but this change is gradual throughout the entire group, and reaches throughout the whole tertiary series. To quote Mr. Medlicott, speaking of rocks younger than the Subáthu (Memoirs, Vol. III, Part 2, p. 13) :—" The rest of the sub-Himalayan rocks might, from some general considerations, be regarded as one group. Although the accumulated thickness would be enormous, there is much greater sameness of composition throughout than I have described in the Subáthu group. The structural character and composition of the Siwalik rocks, already so well marked in the Dagshai and Kasauli beds, continued without exception through all the succeeding deposits."

There is, of course, a certain amount of qualification to be made as regards the coarse beds in which the Siwalik group terminates above; but, with this exception, the uniformity of facies throughout so enormous a thickness is very striking, and the gradual and insensible manner in which the change in mineral character is brought about. The entire group displays red clays; these in the upper portion (A) being also associated with brown and buffish clays, and in the lower portion (B) with purplish, besides themselves assuming a darker hue. The Upper Kháriáns (A) are characterised by very coarse, heterogenous conglomerates (a). These give place below to the normal boulder conglomerates (d)of the Lower Kháriáns (B). These beds (d) in their turn pass down into the universal 'grays' (e), and they by an even more insensible gradation into the finer and non-conglomeratic beds (f). In none of these beds can induration be said to be a marked character, as the result of compression, though some bands of the 'grays' are intensely hard from chemical infiltration, and such beds are sought for the manufacture of millstones in consequence; but in the Murree beds (C) a certain amount of induration is developed, and this increases still more in the lower portion of the group D, though perhaps this feature depends on local circumstances. For example, on the flanks of Diljaba range, the basal beds have locally much of the harsh aspect often seen in lower 'Murrees' (h); but it is very questionable if they are more than upper 'Murrees' (g)-the appearance in question being the result of the dynamical or other forces they have been subjected to, consequent on the elevation of the sharp Diljaba range.

PALEONTOLOGY OF THE SIWALIK GROUP.

I will now consider the distribution of Siwalik fossils, and will first draw attention to a table prepared by Mr. Lydekker in Records XII, p. 49, from which my esteemed colleague draws the following deduction (*l. c.*, p. 51) :---" The table, in fact, shows that the more modern genera are mainly characteristic of the country to the east of the Jhelum, while the *Punjab*, Sind, and Perim island are

characterised by an older fucies of genera. The Sind fauna is consequently to be regarded as the oldest of the Siwalik group; that of the Punjab and Perim island, probably the next in age; and the Siwalik of the Dehra 'dún' and the neighbouring country as the newest of all." Now, I should be extremely unwilling to challenge the dictum of my colleague on a question of pure palæontology; but as the above deduction touching the Siwaliks of the Dehra 'dún' is entirely opposed, in my opinion, to the stratigraphical history of the Siwalik group, it is necessary to examine a little into the ground whereon it rests; and it by no means is so apparent that the 'table' which is appealed to will support the deduction, even palæontologically.¹

The main point asserted is, that "genera of an older facies" characterise the countries west of the Jhelum than are met with to the east of that river,---the countries passed under survey being grouped, respectively, Western Punjab, Sind, Perim island, and Eastern Punjab, Sylhet, Burma. Now, in the first place (as conceded by Mr. Lydekker), a corrective process must be applied, and genera excluded from consideration which, from their rarity, would probably interfere with a reliable comparison of the better-known elements of the fauna of the two areas. Then, again, it must be remembered that Mr. Lydekker's result largely depends on the preponderance of small species in this western area, and of large species in the eastern; but caution is necessary here. The western area of the Punjab and Sind has been explored by officers of the Geological Survey, and numerous small and rare forms therefore recorded in this table; but the eastern area was well searched by the pioneers in Indian palaeontology long before the survey commenced operations; and, though some small forms have been described, the larger and more conspicuous fossils were what first received attention, to the neglect of smaller ones. A great number of small fossils were, however, collected, of which we now know nothing, as the same were made over to the custody of the British Museum authorities, by whom they have been either mislaid, lost, or otherwise made away with ! (Falconer, Palæontological Memoirs).

Applying, then, such a clarifying process, as the case requires, to the table in question, the result becomes considerably modified. In the analysis now given, an asterisk denotes genera represented by unique (or nearly so) examples. A few necessary corrections are made: Leptobos is given in place of *Peribos*,

¹ I have since this was written been favoured with an intimation that I have entirely misunderstood my colleague's conclusions. Mr. Lydekker observes: "My point was, that the fossiliferous horizon in the western area was older than that in the eastern, which he [myself] admits to be the case." Now, as thus put, I admit nothing of the sort, as the whole misconception arises from treating this 'western area' as a unity, when it is really not so. Sind is a western area, and in it, the facies of its fossils, correctly reflects the low horizon at which they occur. But at Jabi near Jand, which is also a western area, the fossils occur in beds quite as high as any exposed in the Dúns to the eastward. Consequently we cannot generalise to the effect that the Siwaliks of the Dehra-dún are the newest of all. Mr. Lydekker adds: "No question was ever raised as to whether there might not be representatives of the fossiliferous eastern horizon among the unfossiliferous horizons in the west." This is satisfactory, as proving 'there is no real difference of opinion on the subject between my colleague and myself, but I must leave it to the reader to determine if there were not colourable grounds for my interpreting my colleague's words (already quoted) in the manner I did, though erroneously so as it now appears. abolished by its author; Bucapra is added; and Stegodon is extended west of the Jhelum (*fide* Falconer).

West of Jhelam.	East of Jhe	olum.	Common to east and west.
Machairodus.* Pseudælurus.* Ictitherium.* Dinotherium. Acerotherium. Listriodon. Hippopotamodon.* Sanitherium.* Hyopotamus. Hyotherium. Hemimeryx. Sivameryx.* Hydaspitherium. Brahmatherium. 14-6*=8	Enhydriodon. Chæromeryx. Sivatherium. Vishnutherium. Hemibos. Amphibos. Leptobos.	7-1*=6	Palœopithecus. Amphicyon. Hyœnarctos. Mastodon. Stegodon. Tetraconodon. Hippohyus. Merycopotamus. Anthracotherium. Hippotherium. Chalicotherium. Dorcatherium.

Extinct genera east or west of the Jhelum, or common to both areas. [* Marks rare or unique specimens, and as such excluded from consideration.]

Thus, out of 33 extinct genera, 12 are common to both areas; and of the 21 genera specially distributed east or west, there is only a majority of 2 for the west, neglecting those represented by unique specimens.

To examine the matter still further. By turning to the *Manual*, page 573, we find in the admirable chapter on the 'Siwalik fauna' a list of the "distinctive miocene" forms, which I will here review. At the same time I have not followed the list servilely, as some of the assignments are open to question. For example, if Mastodon pandionis is referred with a query to pleistocene times, it is not ob vious why M. falconeri, associated with it in the same Upper Siwaliks, should be regarded as 'distinctive miocene'; and the same remark applies to Hipparion, antilopinum, and theobaldi. These species, therefore, I have disregarded, dividing the rest as west of the Jhelum, or east, and common to both areas.

Distinctive (in Europe) Miocene Genera and Species west of Jhelum, and east, or common to both areas.

West.	East, or common to east and west.	
Mastodon perimensis. Dinotherium indicum. D. pentapotamise. Listriodon pentapotamise. I. theobaldi.* Sanitherium schlagintweiti.* Hyoptamus. Hyotherium. Hemimeryx. Sivameryx.* Total 10-3*=7	Amphicyon palæindicus. Mastodon latidens. Rhinoceros sivalensis (Gáj). R. palæindicus. Hippotherium (Hipparion). Anthracotherium. Chæromeryx. Dorcatherium.	8

This list shows, too, a very inappreciable preponderance of "distinctive miocene" forms in either area.

Turning now to the living genera tabulated by Mr. Lydekker, we find 26 in all.

Of these, 3 genera only, Meles, Rhizomys, and Manis (each represented by unique specimens) are recorded as confined to the western area, whilst of the remaining 23 genera, 10 are confined to the eastern area and 13 are common to both. The meagre western list conclusively proves the imperfection of the record, whether viewed numerically or as regards its composition, but the all important reason, why we should not deduce from the list the conclusion that the eastern Siwaliks are newer than the western, lies in the fact, that these latter beds from which fossils have been mainly derived in Sind and Perim are *middle* or *lower* Siwaliks (*quoad* their correlated stratigraphical horizon), whereas the great bulk of the Siwalik fossils from the eastern area are from *upper* Siwaliks only, and no sound comparison can therefore be instituted between them if this fact is ignored, and being allowed for it entirely, in my opinion, vitiates Mr. Lydekker's deduction.

In the Himalayan region (and in Burma), the upper 'Siwalik' beds, c, d, and e, are emphatically the fossiliferous beds of the group. Fossils get rare in f, are rare in the upper 'Murrees' g, and entirely disappear in the lower 'Murrees' h.

In Sind, on the other hand, it is the *lower* 'Manchars' corresponding partly at least with this azoic zone h, that has yielded all the fossils on whose peculiarly old facies my colleague justly lays so much stress, and which I repeat cannot fairly be compared with fossils from the Himalayan Siwalik from a vastly higher horizon. The upper Siwaliks are in fact par excellence 'the beds' which have yielded the Siwalik fauna. Some half dozen species descend into the upper portion of the lower division (Murree beds), whilst no recognisable species has been as yet detected in the basal beds of the group, though from some 4,000 to 6,000 feet or more in thickness.

This remark holds, I believe, absolutely as regards the Siwalik group east of the Jhelum. West of the Jhelum it may perhaps require to be slightly modified, if the locality of the (so called) 'Kushálgarh' fossils proves on rediscovery to be so low in the series as some writers anticipate. Such is not my opinion, however, as some of the fossils in question are undoubtedly met with on a higher horizon.

There is perhaps a seeming contradiction in the above statement touching the azoic nature of the basal portion of the Siwalik group and the footnote, Manual, at page 512, but the basal beds of the group on the north of the Salt Range, containing Siwalik fossils, are only *locally* basal, through unconformable overlap, and not the true basal members of the group where fully developed east of the Jhelum or even on the north of the Potwár, and the same remark applies to the vicinity of Murree, lying, as it does, west of the Jhelum, that the 'Murree' beds there developed and stratigraphically transitional though they be into the nummulitic group, do not represent so low a horizon of their particular division as may be seen east of that river. So far indeed from the idea before quoted of Mr. Lydekker, of the 'Siwaliks to the east being "the newest of all'", as exemplified by fossil evidence, a precisely opposite deduction might be deduced from *stratigraphical* consideration, the older Siwaliks being developed in greater force towards Nipál and east of the Ganges than seems to be the case on the Indus, whilst nowhere are the younger beds in greater force than to the west.

I will now endeavour to show how closely related as a whole, as regards stratigraphical development, the Siwalik group is, both in Sind and the Himalayan region.

To begin, let the most distant sections of the group be compared, that on the Kolonia river, north of Kolonia village, situated 8 miles west by south from Baramdeo, on the Sárda river, which forms the western boundary between Nipál and the British province of Kumaun, and the group as displayed in Sind. The beds here display a continuous and wholly unambiguous section, from the topmost Siwaliks c down to beds which must be very low in beds h. From the topmost beds c, which are cut off to the north by a fault bringing them in contact with lower beds of the group, down to the lowest beds exposed, the thickness of beds can hardly be estimated at less than 14,000 feet. The thickness of beds c is at this particular spot (putting out of consideration the amount they have lost by faulting) rather I should say below than above the average, owing to local features, and the probable deflection of coarse materials to the westward by the operation of the influence of the Sárda river and its tributaries. This I infer from the absence here altogether of beds d, though these beds are well enough developed a little further to the westward. Beds e (the omnipresent 'grays') are also only in moderate development, so that this section displays probably rather less than a mean thickness of the upper Siwaliks A, which may, however, here be fairly estimated at 7,000 to 8,000 feet, and a like thickness of the lower group B. Now, at page 447 of the 'Manual,' the following thickness is given for the tertiaries of Sind above the 'Khirthar' group :---

				Minimum.	Maximum.	Mean,
Manchars			{ Upper { Lower	5,000 3,000	5,000 5,000	5.000 4,000
Gáj	•••	•••		1,000	1,500	1,250
Nari	•••	***	{ Upper Lower	4,000	6,000 1,500	5,000 750
Khirthar group				13,100	19,000	16,000

In this table it will be seen that in Sind the entire thickness of the tertiaries above the Khirthar beds average 16,000. Now, the 'Khirthar group' is a well defined horizon, which is common to Sind and the Himalayan region, and is in fact the datum line for all our calculations of the thickness for the newer tertiaries. In Sind, the 'Manchars,' which undoubtedly represent the Siwaliks, attain a mean of 9,000 feet. On the Kolonia, where their development is below the average, their thickness is 7 or 8,000. The Gáj and Nari united display

in Sind a mean thickness of 6,500. On the Kolonia river, beds on a similar horizon (but whose age is unascertained by intrinsic evidence) display a thickness of 6,500, without reaching the 'Khirthar' datum line. Could a closer parallelism be conceived, as far as thickness goes, between the Siwaliks of Sind and the Himalayas, and one, moreover, which shows, if anything, rather a superiority of thickness in these eastern Siwaliks over their southern (Sind) or western representatives.

An equally close correspondence in physical characters will be seen to unite the Manchars of Sind and the Siwaliks, as the following extracts from the Manual will show (pages 466-467): "The Manchar group of Sind consists of clays, sandstones, and conglomerates, and attains in places a thickness of but little, if at all, less than 10,000.* * * * The whole group may be divided, wherever it is well exposed, into two portions, the lower consisting mainly of a characteristic gray sandstone, rather soft, moderately fine-grained, and composed of quartz, with some felspar and hornblende, together with red sandstones, conglomeratic beds, and towards the base red, brown, and gray clays." Now, if we except the presence of 'red sandstones' which are a local feature, the rest of the above description would apply very well to the Himalayan Siwaliks B beds, d, e, f, or 'lower Khárián,' and it is in these beds, both in Sind and Northern India, that the greater proportion of Siwalik fossils have been found. Mr. Blanford goes on to describe the upper 'Manchars' as follows :--- " The upper Manchar sub-division, where it is best seen, on the flanks of the Khirthar range, west of Lárkhána, is thicker than the lower, and consists, principally towards the base, of a great thickness of orange or brown clays, with subordinate beds of sandstone and conglomerate. The sandstones are usually light brown, but occasionally gray like the characteristic beds of the lower sub-division. The higher portion of this upper sub-group contains more sandstone and conglomerate, and the whole is capped by a thick band of massive coarse conglomerate, which throughout upper Sind forms a conspicuous ridge along the edge of the Indus alluvium."

Could there be a closer parallel between these upper 'Manchars' and the upper 'Kháriáns' of Northern India? The "orange and brown clays with subordinate beds of sandstone and conglomerate" precisely reproduce beds c, whilst the highest conglomerates of the 'Manchars' are identical in character with my The identity goes even further than general character, as west of the beds a. Jhelum these beds (a) are characterised by pebbles of nummulitic limestone, as in Sind. That they are not so further to the east is due to the change which there takes place in the character of the 'Khirthar' group itself, the strong limestone of the western Punjab giving place to the muddy deposits of the , Subáthu' area, where strong limestones are not met with. We have then in the 'Khirthar' group (Subáthu) a fixed datum line or point of departure, common to Sind and the Himalayan region. Above, we have likewise the 'Manchars' and 'Kháriáns,' homologous both stratigraphically and faunally, allowance being made in the latter case for diversities due to the vast distance they are apart, and between the 'Khirthars' and the 'Manchars' and 'Kháriáns' respectively in Sind and Northern India we have from 6,000 to 8,000 feet, in both regions, of intervening deposits. In Sind, from the apparent accident

P

of these beds being marine, whereas in the Himalayas they would seem to be of freshwater origin in greater part (that is, excluding the Dagshai group), the age of both the lower and upper has been clearly fixed, which has not been the case in Northern India; is it then too great presumption, in default of direct evidence, to apply the clue afforded by the Sind section, and regard the lower 'Murrees' at least as equivalents of the Gáj, the break at the top of the eccene being represented in the Punjab by the absence of the Nari group, the 'Murrees' being directly superimposed the 'Khirthar beds.'' Certain it is that in Northern India, as I have shown by the Lambidand section, the Nari group is absent, and at Murree, 10 miles far to the west and north, the Murree beds immediately rest on the Khirthar group.

I now give three tables, the first embracing the vertebrate fauna of Northern India, with a general indication of its distribution and reference to the volume of the Records wherein the specimens are described by Mr. Lyddeker, a second table containing the list of the local fauna not included in the last, and a third table of species supplementing Mr. Lyddeker's table of genera in Records, Vol. XII, p. 49.

TABLE I.

List of Vertebrata from the Siwalik strata of Northern India.

[The first column gives a reference to the "Records," the second, to the "Palseontologia Indica," Indian Tertiary and post-Tertiary Vertebrata. Species marked with an asterisk have been procured by myself. Two asterisks show the specimen to be unique.]

		Records Geological Survey.	Palmontologia Indica.
	MAMMALIA. Primates.		
•1	Palæopithecus sivalensis, Lyd ** Punjab (Jabi, near Jand)-Kyarda 'dún' probably	XII 83	
2	Semnopithecus (?) subhimalayanus, Meyer •• (The Kyarda 'dún' probably). (Genus doubtful).	XI 67	
8 # 4	S. sp. (The Kyarda 'dún' probably). Macacus sivalensis, Lyd	XI 66	
5	Punjab (<i>Asnot</i>). M. sp. (The Kyarda 'dún' probably).	XII 41	
101AL 5	Cabnivora.		
* 1	Felis cristata, F. et C Punjab (<i>Asnot</i>) and Kyarda 'dún' pro- bably	XI 102	

¹ Wynne's Record, Vol. X, p. 117.

					_
		Record	s Geological Survey.	Palæontol Indica	ogia L
23	F. palæotigris, F. (Kyarda ' dún' probably). Machairodus sivalensis, Lyd **				
• 4	Pseudœlurus sivalensis, Lyd **	x	83		
• 5	Ictitherium sivalense, Lyd ••	x	82		
* 6	Hyæna sivalensis, F. et C Punjab (<i>Asnot</i> , <i>Jabi</i>) and Kyarda 'dún' probably.	XI	102		
* 7	Canis, sp. Punjab (Asnot, Jabi) and Kyarda 'dún' probably.				
8	Amphicyon palæindicus, Lyd	IX X XI	94 83 103	I-2	66
	Punjab (Nurpur, Kushalghur).				
* 9	Ursus, sp Punjab (west of Rupar).	IX	104		
• 10	Hyænarctos sivalensis, F. et C	X	33		
	Punjab (Nenot) and Kyarda 'dún' pro-	XI	103		
• 11	H. palæindicus, Lyd **	XI	103		
* 12	Mellivora sivalensis, F. et C	JX	104, 154		
	Ursitaxus sivalensis. Faun. Ant. Siv. Q., fig. 4. Gulo. J. A. S. B., Vol. XXVII, fig. 4. Punjab (Arnot) Kyarda (din' probably		102		
* 13	Meles (?)	XI	102		
14	Punjab (Asnot). Lutra palzindica, F. et C.	XII	50		
• 15	(The Kyarda 'dún' probably). L. sp	IX	104		
16	Punjab (Asnof). Enhydriodon ferox, F. et. C. (The Kyarda 'dún' probably).	XII	50		
Total 16	PROBOSCIDEA.				
• 1	Euclephas hysudricus, F. et C. From the Sutlej to the Jumna.				
* 3	From the Jhelum to the Jumna. Stegodon insignis	x	81		
	From the Indus to the Jumna, also the Narbada valley, associated with S. ganesa and Euelephas namadicus, F. et C.				
• 4	S. ganesa, F. et C	IX X	42 31		
● 5	bads valley. S. sinensis, Owen ¹	XI	73		
* 6	From the Indus to the Sutlej. China. S. bombifrons, F. et C	X 1	73		
• 7	From the Sutlej to the Jumna. S. cliftii, F	 XI	72		
	From the Indus to the Sutlej.				

¹ Subsequently regarded by Mr. Lydekker as a synonym of cliftü.

•

[VOL. XIV.

9

			Records Geological Survey.		Palmontologia Indica.	
# 8	Mastodon Sivalensis, F. et C. From the Indus to the Junna.	•••	XI	72		`
• 9	Mastodon latidens, Clift From the Indus to the Jumna.	•••	XI	71		
• 10	M. perimensis, F. et C	•••	X1 XII	71 45		
* 11	From the Indus to the Jhelum. M. pandionis, F.	•	XII	48		
• 12	M. falconeri, Lyd		X X	83 66 7 0		۲.
13	From the Indus to the Jhelum. Dinotherium indicum, F.	••••	XII	41		i
14	D. pentapotamiæ, Falc	•••	X	83	I-2	54
	Antoletherium, F. Trans-Indus region (Kushálgark).		AI	75		
TOTAL 14	IINCHA					
	Perissodactyla,	-1				
1	Rhinoceros platyrhinus, F. et C		XI	9 5	I-2	11
• 2	R. sivalensis, F. et C Between the Indus and Jumna.	•••	XI	95	I-2	8
• 3	R. palæindicus, F. et C. Between the Indus and Jumna.	•••	XI	95	1-2	4
• 4	Acerotherium perimense, F. et C	•••	XI Xll	96 46	I -2 I-2	23 33
• 5	Punjab. Listriodon pentapotamiæ. F.			108	T.9	59
• 6	Punjab (Asnot). L. theobaldi, Lyd.	* *	XI	98	1-2	02
• 7	Punjab (Jabi). Equus sivalensis, F. et C. Between the Ibelum and Jump					
8	E. palæonus, F. et C. Kyarda dún probably.	· .				
• 9	Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C. Kyarda dún probably.		•			
• 10	H. theobaldi, Lyd.	• •	XX	81 82	•	
TOTAL 10	Keypur, west of Asnot.			D1		•
* 1	Artiodactyla. Hexaprotodon siyalensis, F. et C.					
• 2	Between the Jhelum and Jumna. Hippopotamodon sivalensis, Lyd.	• •	x	81		
* 3	Punjab (Asnot). Tetraconodon magnum, F.		IX	101	I-2	60
• 4	(Falconer's type specimen is lost). Sus giganteus, F. et C	•••	XI	66, 81		
	Between the Indus and Jumns.					

			Records Geological Survey.		Palæontologia Indica.	
* 5 * 6	S. hysudricus, F. et C. Between Indus, Jumna, Arakan. S. punjabiensis, Lyd * *	xı	81			
7	Punjab (<i>Asnot</i>). Sivetherium schlagintweiti. F	11	154		х. Х	
•		X	76	I-2	58	
	Trans-Indus		77 81			
• 8	Hippohyus sivalensis, F.	XI	82			
9	Chalicotherium sivalense, F. et C	XII	49			
• 10	Between the Sutlej and Jumna.	T	78		•	
- 10	And acould find an automatic	xî	70 77			
	Anthracotherium punjabiense, Lyd. Rhagatherium (?) sindiense, Lyd. Cheromeryx, Pomel (in part).					
• 11	Sylhet, Punjab (Asnot). Meryconotamus dissimilis, F et C	TY	105 144			
		x	34-80			
TOTAL 11	Between the Indus and Jumna (I).					
	RUMINANTIA.					
1	Bos planifrons, Lyd	x	3 0	I-4 I-8	180 109	
. 9	The Una 'dún.' B scutifrons, Lyd	w w	90	I-4	173	
2			00	I-4	173	
3	The Una 'dún.' B. platyrhinus, Lyd, The Una 'dún.'		•••	I-3	119	
* 4	Bubalus platyceros, Lyd	x	31	I-3	127	
	Between the Beas and Junna, also Katana in the Una 'dún.'			1-3	175	
• 5	B. palmindicus, F. et C B. namadicus, F. (Boyd-Dawkins). B. armee. Hodg. (Boyd-Dawkins).		•••	I-3	132	
	West of Babhor in Una 'dún.'					
• 6	Una 'dún.'	1	•••	1.3	122	
• 7	Hemibos occipitalis, F		•••	I-3	141 145	
	H. triquetriceros, F. Probubalus triquetricornis, Rüt. Leptobos triquetricornis, F. mss. Bos occipitalis, F. mss. Peribos occipitalis, Lyd.			I-4	174	
с . ж о	Amphibos acuticornis, Lyd. From the Jhelum to the Jumna.					
4 -	Amphibos acuticornis, F. Amphibos acuticornis, F.		•••	1-3 I-4	150 176	
9	Leptooos acutcornis, F. mss. Hemibos triquetriceros, Lyd. From the Jhelum to the Jumna. H. antilopinus, F			τ	179	
·	Amphibos antilopinus, F. mss.				110	

Digitized by Google

117

 $t \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$

ŝ

Records of the Geological Survey of India.

[VOL. XIV.

<u>- 191-191-191</u>			Records Geological Survey.	Palmontologia Indica.	
10	Leptobos antilopinus, F. mss. Probubalus antilopinus, Rüt. Kyarda 'dán' probably. Leptobos falconeri, Rüt. L. elatus, F. mss. Amphibos elatus, F. mss. Kyarda 'dán' probably.			I-4 178	
11	Antilope palæindica, F. et. C. Kyarda 'dún' probably.	. -		TO 15"	
* 12	A. patulicornis, Lyd Punjab (Asnot).		•••	1-3 157	
• 13	A. sivalensis, Lyd Between Ravi and Beas.	•••		1-3 154	
• 14	A. porrecticornis, Lyd Punjab (Asnot).	•••		I-8 158	
• 15	Portax, sp. Between Ravi and Jumna.				
• 16	Sivatherium giganteum, F. et C.				
* 17	Hydaspitherium megacephalum, Lyd.		IX 154 XI 83	159 179	
	Brahmatherium Between Indus and Ravi.	Kec.	1. 101		
• 18	H. grande, Lyd	•••	XI 91		
* 19	H. leptograthus, Lyd	•••	XI 93		
* 20	Camelopardalis sivalensis, F	•••	IX 104 XI 83	I-2 40	
	C. affinis, F. Between Beas and Jumna.				
* 21	Capra sivalensis, Lyd	•••		1.3 169	
* 22	C. sp		•••	1-3 171	
23	Between maus and Jneium. Bucapra daviesii, Rüt		•••	I-4 180	
24	Ovis, sp. (fide Blyth).			I-2 49	
= 25 = 92	C simplicidens, Lyd			I-2 51	
~ 20 # <u>9</u> 7	C. latidens, Lyd.	•••		I-2 47	
28	Dorcatherium majus	•••	IX 104	I.2 44	
	Merycopotamus nanus, F	•••	IX 105		
29	Punjab. D. minus, Lyd Punjsb.	•••	IX 104	I-2 46	
TOTAL 29			4		
	Tylopoda.				
1	Camelus sivalefisis, F. et C Between Ravi and Jumna.	•••	•••	1-2 48	
	RODENTIA.				
1	Rhizomys sivalensis, Lyd Punjab (Jabi).	• *	XI 100 XII 41		
2	Hystrix sivalensis, Lyd Punjab (Asnot).	• •	XI 98		
TOTAL 2					

Digitized by Google

and the second

- 4

			Becords Geological Survey.	Palsontologia Indica.
	RECAPITULATION.	······		
	PrimatesCarnivoraProboscideaUngulata.PerissodactylaArtiodactylaTylopodaRodentia	5 16 14 10 29 1 2		
	TOTAL	77		
	AVES.			
1 2	Struthio asiaticus, Milne Edwardes Dromæus sivalensis, Lyd	•••	XII 53 XII 53	
84	Megaloscelornis sivalensis, Lyd Argala falconeri, Milne-Edwardes	•••	XII 55 XII 56	
Fotal 4	REPTILIA.			
	(Living species marked+)			
	ENYDOSAURIA.			
1	Crocodilus crassidens, F. et C. Eastern ' dúns'. C. lentedus F. et C.			
-	Eastern 'dúns.'			
† 4	C. partietris, Dess. Between Indus and Ganges. Gharialis gangeticus, Gml. Between Indus and Ganges.]
	SAUBIA.			
5	Varanus sivalensis, F. Eastern 'dúns.'			
	CHELONIA.		- 	
6	Colossochelys atlas, F. et C.			
7	Bellia sivalensis, Theobald Western Punjab.	•••	X 43	
T 8 9	Emys tectum, Bell. Between Indus and Ganges. Cautleya annuliger, Theobald 'Nila' in the Western Punjab.	•••	XII 186	
OTAL 9	and undescribed species of Testudo, Emyda, Trionyx, &c.	Batagur,		

Digitized by Google

				Becords Geological Survey.		Palzontologia Indica.
	1.—Sind.					
	CABNIVORA.			•		
1	Amphicyon palzindicus, Lyd.	•••		X XI	83 103	
	PROBOSCIDEA.			•		
2 3 4 5 6 7	Mastodon perimensis, F. et C. M. latidens, Clift. M. falconeri, Lyd. Dinotherium indicum, F. D. pentapotamiæ, F D. sindiense, Lyd	•••	••••	XII XI XII	43 75 43	
	UNGULATA.					-
	Perissodactyla.					
8 9 10 11 12	Rhinoceros palseindicus, F. et C. R. sp. (near B. deccanensis, Foote) R. sivalensis, F. et C Acerotherium perimense, F. et C. Hippotherium, sp			XI XI	65 65	
	Artiodactyla.					
13 14 15 16 17	Sus hysudricus, F. et C. Chalicotherium sivalense, F. et C. Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentla Dorcatherium majus, Lyd. D. minus, Lyd., H.	pd		XI	78	
18	Sivameryx, sp., Lyd	•••		XI	80	
20 21 22	S. sp. Hyopotamus palæindicus, Lyd. Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd.	•••		X XI	77 77	
	EDENTATA.				•	
<u>23</u>	Manis sindiensis, Lyd	••• `• •	·	IX	106	
TOTAL 25	9 Dante Jaron					
	MAMMALIA					
	PROBOSCIDEA.					
1	Mastodon latidens. Clift			IX	91	·.
2 3 4 5 6	M. sivalensis, F. et C. M. perimensis, F. Dinotherium indicum, F. Acerotherium perimense, F. et C. Rhinoceros, sp.			and Ma p. 34	inual, 8.	

TABLE II.

120

1
			Records Geological Survey.	Palmontologia Indica.
	UNGULATA.			
7 8 9 10 11	Sus hysudricus, F. et C. Brahmatherium perimense, F. et C. Capra perimensis, Lyd. Camelopardalis, sp. Antilope, sp.			
TOTAL 11	. REPTILIA.			
1	Crocodilus palmindicus, F.			
	3.—NABBADA.			
	MAMMALIA.			
	BIMANA.			
+1	Homo sapiens, L	••••	IX 88	
	CABNIVOBA.			
2 3	Felis, sp. Ursus namadicus, F. et C.			
	PROBOSCIDEA.			
4 5 6	Euclephas namadicus, F. et C. Stegodon insignis, F. et C. S. gaucea, F. et C		X 81	l.2 14
•	UNGULATA.			
7 8 9 10 11 12 13	Rhinoceros namadicus, F. et C. Equus namadicus, F. et C. Hexaprotodon namadicus, F. et C. Tetraprotodon namadicus, F. et C. Cervus namadicus, F et C. Bos namadicus, F. et C. Bubalus palæindicus, F. et C.			
	RODENTIA.			
14 15	Mus. Hystrix, sp. (ipse inveni).			
Готаl 15 1 † 2 3	REPTILIA. Crocodilus, sp. Emys tectum, Bell. Batagur.			
	-			
	4 IRAWADI VALLEY.			•
	MAMMALIA.			
	CAENIVOBA.			•
-	There an		1X 91	

PART 1.] THEOBALD-The Siwalik Group of the Sub-Himalayan region. 121

		Records Geological Survey.	Palæcntologia Indica.
	PROBOSCIDEA.		
	 Stegodon cliftii, F. et C. Mastodon sivalensis, F. et C. M. latidens, Clift. 		
	UNGULATA.		
	5 Rhinoceros iravadicus, Lyd 6 Acerotherium perimense, F. et C. 7 Equus, sp. (Tapirus ?)		I-2 18
	 8 Hexaprotodon iravadicus, F. et C. 9 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C. 0 Vishnutherium iravadicum, Lyd. 1 Bos, sp. 		
	2 Cervus, sp.		
UTAL	- REPTILIA.		
+	1 Gharialis gangeticus, Gmel. 2 Colossochelys atlas, F. et C.		
TOTAL	2 and undetermined species of Batagur and - Trionyx.		
	5.—Sylhyt (Gabo Hills).		
	1 Stegodon, sp. 2 Sus, sp.		
	8 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland 4 Chæromeryx silistrense, Pomel 5 Cervus.	XI 77 XI 77	
	6.—ABAKAN.		
	1 Sus hysudricus, F. et C.		
•		· .	

Note on some pleistocene fossils.

From pleistocene beds in the Deccan, *Rhinoceras deccanensis*, Foote (Pal. Ind., Ser. X, Vol. I), has been obtained associated with remains of Bos. In the Museum of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, there formerly existed portions of a human cranium, in a similar conglomerate to that in which the Narbada fossils are found. It might, however, have been of more recent formation. The specimen is now lost, and was never seen by Falconer. The superior gravels of the Narbada in which extinct mammalia are *not* found strongly resemble the old mammaliferous beds, so that confirmatory testimony of man's presence in the older deposits is much needed.

TABLE III.

SERIAL LIST OF SIWALIK VERTEBRATA.

A.= Arakan, B. Burma, D. 'Dúns' East of Sutlej (The fossils of the F. A. S.), P. Perim Island, G. Garo hills (Sylhet). K. Kushálgarh, S. Sind. W. Punjab (West of Indus).

An * denotes specimens have been procured by myself.-W. T.

MAMMALIA.

PRIMATES.

			1			1
		1	1	Palmonitheons sivelensis Lvd		W
		9	î,	Somnonitheone enthimalaranue M		
		-		S an		D.
			1	Magagana aivalongia Lud	•••	W
	- 1	•	1	M an	••• •••	n .
		•••	Z	м., вр	••• •••	D.
TOTAL		•	5.			
IUIAL	•••	U	0	CARVITOR		
				CARNIVURA.		
		1	•	Folia ariatata E at C		D W
	-	1		Fells Cristiania, F. et C.	•••	D. W.
			1	Machainedus sinclensis Ind	••• ••	W W
		2		Daoudelunua sinalansis, Lyu.	••• •••	W.
		0		Tetithenium similares Ted	••• •••	W.
		4		Icticherium sivalense, Lyd.	•••	W
	•	5	L	Hyœna sivalensis, F. et C.	•••	D. W.
		6		Canis (sp.)	••• •••	D.W.
		7	1	Amphicyon palæindicus, F.	••• •••	S. K. W.
	-	8		Ursus, sp.		B. W.
		9	1	Hyœnarctos sivalensis, F. et C.	•••	B. W.
			2	H. palæindicus, Lyd.		W
	•	10	1	Mellivora sivalensis, F. et C.		B. W.
		11		Meles, sp	••• •••	W .
		12	1	Lutra palæindica, F. et C.		D.
			2	L., sp	••• •••	W .
		13	1	Enhydriodon ferox, F. et C.		D .
TOTAL		13	13			
				PROBOSCIDEA.		
	*	1	1	Euelephas hysudricus, F. et C.		D.
		2	1	Loxodon planifrons, F. et C.	•••	D.
		3	1	Stegodon insignis, F. et C.	•••	D .
	*		2	S. ganesa, F. et C	••• •••	D.
			3	S. sinensis, Owen	••• •••	W.
			4	S. bombifrons, F. et C		D.
			5	S. cliftii, F		W. B.
		4	1	Mastodon sivalensis, F. et C.		P. B. D. W.
			2	M. latidens, F. et C.		B. W. D. S.
	•		3	M. perimensis, F. et C.		S. P. W.
			4	M. pandionis, E.		W.
	•		5	M. falconeri, Lvd.		W. S.
		5	1	Dinotherium indicum, F.		K. S. P.
			2	D. pentapotamiæ, Lyd.		K. S.
			3	D. sindiense, Lyd.		S .
TOTAL		5	15			
		-	10	UNGULATA.		
				Child Philip		
				Perissodactyla.		
		1	1	Rhinogenes platurhings F at C		n
		-	9	R sivelensis F of C	••• ···	wen
			-	A. BITAICHBIS, F. C. C		
		-				

•

Image: Sector of the patenticus, r. et c Im	B. S. W.
Image: Second state of the second s	B. S. W. . W.
2 1 Acerotherium perimense, F. et C P. 3 1 Listriodon pentapotamiæ, F K 4 1 Equus sivalensis, F. et C W 4 1 Equus sivalensis, F. et C D. 5 1 Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C D. 5 1 Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C D. 2 H. theobaldi, Lyd W TOTAL 5 12 Artiodactyla. W 2 H. theobaldi, Lyd W 2 H. iravalicus, F. et C W 4 1 Sugiganteus, F. et C W 4 1 Sugiganteus, F. et C.	B. S. W. W.
3 1 Listriodon pentapotamiæ, F. K 4 1 Equus sivalensis, F. et C. W 4 1 Equus sivalensis, F. et C. D 5 1 Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C. D 5 1 Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C. D 2 H. theobaldi, Lyd. W 2 H. iravalicus, F. et C. D. 2 H. iravalicus, F. et C. W 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F. W 6 1 Hippopotamus palæindicus, Lyd. W 5 1 Sanitherium sindiense,	. W .
• 2 L. theobaldi, Lyd W • 4 1 Equus sivalensis, F. et C D. • 5 1 Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C D. • 5 12 Artiodactyla. W • 1 1 Hexoprotodon sivalensis, F. et C D. 2 H. theobaldi, Lyd W • 1 1 Hexoprotodon sivalensis, F. et C D. 2 H. iravadicus, F. et C W W 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F W W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F W 5 1 Sanitherium sidense, F. et C S. 9 1 Hyopotamus paleindicus, Lyd </th <th></th>	
* 4 1 Equus sivalensis, F. et C. D. * 5 1 Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C. D. * 5 1 Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C. D. 2 H. theobaldi, Lyd. D. 2 H. theobaldi, Lyd. W TOTAL 5 12 Artiodactyla. W * 1 1 Hexoprotodon sivalensis, F. et C. D. 2 1 Hippoptaraodon sivalensis, Lyd. W * 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W * 1 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W * 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W * 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W * 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W * 3 Supujabiensis, Lyd. W W	•
2 E. palæonus, F. et C D. 5 1 Hippotherium antilopinum, F. et C D. 2 H. theobaldi, Lyd D. TOTAL 5 12 Artiodactyla. • 1 1 Hexoprotodon sivalensis, F. et C D. 2 H. iravadicus, F. et C D. 2 1 Hippoptamodon sivalensis, Lyd D. 2 1 Hippoptamodon sivalensis, Lyd W 8 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F W W 8 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F W W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C W W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F W 6 1 Hippoptamus palæindicus, Lyd S. 7 1 Hyoptherium sindiense, Lyd S. 9 1 Hyotherium silistrense, Pentland M 9	
5 1 Hippotherum antilopinum, F. et C D. TOTAL 2 H. theobaldi, Lyd W TOTAL 5 12 Artiodactyls. 1 1 Hexoprotodon sivalensis, F. et C D. 2 1 Hippoptamodon sivalensis, Lyd D. 2 1 Hippoptamodon sivalensis, Lyd W 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F S. 6 1 Hippopyus sivalensis, F. et C S. 7 1 Hyopotamus palæindicus, Lyd S. 8 1 Chalicotherium silistrense, Pentland S. 9 1 Hyotherium silistrense, Pentland M 9 1 Hyotherium silistrense, Pentland M	·
Image: Market	. w.
TOTAL 5 12 Artiodactyla. 1 1 Hexoprotodon sivalensis, F. et C. D. 2 H. iravadicus, F. et C. D. 2 1 Hippopotamodon sivalensis, Lyd. B. 2 1 Hippopotamodon magnus, F. W 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F. M 6 1 Hippoptus sivalensis, F. et C. D. 7 1 Hyopotamus palseindicus, Lyd. S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd. <th>•</th>	•
1 1 Hexoprotodon sivalensis, F. et C. D. 2 H. iravadicus, F. et C. B. 2 1 Hippopotamodon sivalensis, Lyd. W 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 2 S. hysudricus, F. et C. W 2 S. hysudricus, F. et C. W 3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd. W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F. W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F. W 6 1 Hippohyus sivalensis, F. et C. D. 7 1 Hyopotamus palæindicus, Lyd. S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. 9 1 Hyotherium silistrense, Pentland G. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrens	
2 H. iravalicus, F. et C B. 2 1 Hippopotamodon sivalensis, Lyd W 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 2 S. hysudricus, F. et C. W 2 S. hysudricus, F. et C. W 3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd. W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F. W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F. W 6 1 Hippohyus sivalense, F. et C. S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. 9 1 Hyotherium silistrense, Pentland G. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pomel S.	. w.
2 1 Hippopotamodon sivalensis, Lyd. W 3 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 2 S. hysudricus, F. et C. W 3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd. W 3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd. W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F. W 6 1 Hippohyus sivalensis, F. et C. D. 7 1 Hyopotamus palseindicus, Lyd. S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sindiense, F. et C. S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland S. 11 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C. B. 12	-
8 1 Tetraconodon magnus, F. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 4 1 Sus giganteus, F. et C. W 2 S. hysudricus, F. et C. W 3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd. W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F. W 6 1 Hippohyus sivalensis, F. et C. D 7 1 Hyopotamus palæindicus, Lyd. S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sivalense, F. et C. S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. 9 1 Hyotherium silistrense, Pentland G. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland B. 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. 13 1 Hemimeryy, sp. S. 14 1 Sigamery, sp. S.	•
4 1 Sus giganteus, F, et C W 2 S. hysudricus, F. et C M. 3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd M. 3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd W 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F W 6 1 Hippohyus sivalensis, F. et C D. 7 1 Hyopotamus palæindicus, Lyd S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sivalense, F. et C	. D.
2 S. hysudricus, F. et C A. 3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd Weight A. 5 1 Sanitherium schlagintweiti, F K. 6 1 Hippohyus sivalensis, F. et C K. 6 1 Hippohyus sivalensis, F. et C D. 7 1 Hyopotamus palæindicus, Lyd S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sindiense, Lyd S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd S. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland G. 11 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C B. 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. 13 1 Hemimeryy, sp. S. 14 1 Sixmery, sp. S.	. D.
3 S. punjabiensis, Lyd. K. 6 1 Hippohyus sivalensis, F. et C. D. 7 1 Hyopotamus palæindicus, Lyd. S. S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sindiense, F. et C. S. S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland G. 11 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C. B. 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. 13 1 Hemimeryy, sp. S. 14 1 Siyamery, sp. S. S.	s. P. w. D.
6 1 Hippobyus sivalensis, F. et C. D. 7 1 Hyopotamus palæindicus, Lyd. D. 8 1 Chalicotherium sivalense, F. et C. S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland G. 11 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C. B. 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. 13 1 Hemimeryx, sp. S. 14 1 Siymeryx, sp. S.	•
7 1 Hypotry is style ends, F. et C. S. 8 1 Chalicotherium sivalense, F. et C. S. 9 1 Hyotherium sivalense, F. et C. S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland S. 11 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C. B. 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. 13 1 Hemimeryx, sp. S. 14 1 Sixameryx, sp. S.	w
8 1 Challotherium sivalense, F. et C S. 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd S. 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland S. 11 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C B. 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. 13 1 Hemimeryx, sp S. 14 1 Sixmeryx, sp. S.	
• 9 1 Hyotherium sindiense, Lyd. S. • 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland S. • 10 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C. B. • 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. • 13 1 Hemimeryx, sp. S. • 14 1 Sixameryx, sp. S.	D.
• 10 1 Anthracotherium silistrense, Pentland G. • 11 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C. B. • 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. • 13 1 Hemimeryx, sp. S. • 14 1 Sixmeryx, sp. S.	
• 11 1 Merycopotamus dissimilis, F. et C. B. • 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. • 13 1 Hemimeryx, sp. S. • 14 1 Simmeryx, sp. S.	W. S.
• 12 1 Chæromeryx silistrensis, Pomel S. • 13 1 Hemimeryx, sp. S. S. <th>D. W.</th>	D. W.
 13 Hemimeryx, sp S. 14 Sivameryx, sp S. 	
* 14 1 Sivamervx en	
• Z S., sp S.	
10 1 Cervus latidens, Lyd. * 2 C triplidong Lyd	;
* 3 C simplicidens Lyd	•
* 16 1 Dorcatherium majus, Lvd W	. D. S.
• 2 D. minus, Lyd W	. D. S.
* 17 1 Camelopardalis sivalensis, F. et C D.	W.
* 18 1 Sivatherium giganteum, F. et C D.	w.
19 1 Hydaspitherium megacephalum, Lyd W.	•
• 2 H. grande, Lyd W.	•
H. leptognathus, Lyd W.	•
* 20 1 Drammatherium permense, F F.	
* 22 1 Bos sentifrons. Lyd W	. D.
* 2 B. planifrons, Lvd W.	
* 3 B. platyrhinus, Lyd W.	
• 23 1 Hemibos occipitalis, F W.	. D
• 2 H. acuticornis, F W.	. D.
• 3 H. antilopinus, F D.	
24 I Leptobos falconeri, Rut D.	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Bubalus platycero', Lyd W	•
* 27 1 Antilope sivelensis, Lvd W	,
\therefore 2 A. palæindica. F. et C D.	•
* 3 A. patulicornis, Lyd W.	•
• 4 A. porrecticornis, Lyd W.	
• 28 1 Capra sivalensis, Lyd W	. D.
2 C. perimensis, Lyd D.	
• 3 C., sp W.	,
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
31 1 Camelus sivalensis. F. et C W.	D.
TOTAL 81 50	

				Rodentia.			
		1	1	Hystrix sivalensis, Lyd			W.
		1	1	Rhizomys sivalensis, Lyd.	•••		W.
		1	1	Mus, sp	•••		••
OTAL		3	3				
				Edentata.			
		1	1	Manis sindiensis, Lyd			S .
				AVES.			
		1	1	Struthia existions Milno-Edwardes			n
		i	2	Dromæus sivalensis. Lvd.	•••		W.
		1	1	Megaloscelornis sivalensis, Lyd.			D.
		1	1	Argala falconeri, Milne-Edwardes	•••	•••	D.
Fotal		4	4	•			
				REPTILIA.			
				Emydosaubia.			
		1	1	Crocodilus crassidens, F. et C.			D.
		•••	2	C. leptodus, F. et C			D .
	•	•••	3	C. palustris, Less	•••	•••	D. W.
		2		Gharialis gangeticus. Gmel.	•••	•••	r. W. D. B.
COT A T							
		~		9			
				SAURIA.			
		1	1	Varanus sivalensis, F	•••		D.
				Chelonia.			
	•	1	1	Colossochelys atlas, F. et C.			D. B.
	•	2	2	Cautleya annuliger, Theobald	•••		W .
		3	8	Bellia sivalensis, Theobald	•••		W. WD
	•	5	•	Testudo ? sp	•••		W.D.
	•	6		Batagur, sp.			w.
		7		Damonia, sp			w.
		8		Trionyx, sp	•••		w.
	•	9		Emyda, sp	•••]	w.
		10		Emys, sp	•••		w.
OTAL		10	10				
			ι Ι	Ophidea.			
			ŕ	Vertebra	•••		s. w.
				PISCES.			
				Vortohr and a fin hone			117

PART 1.] THEOBALD—The Siwalik Group of the Sub-Himalayan region. 125

Angust 1880.

.

Digitized by Google

Notes on the South Rewah Gondwána basin.—By THEO. W. H. HUGHES, A.R.S.M., Geological Survey of India.'

Area.—The chief area of investigation during this season has been the tract lying between the rivers Johilla and Gopat, both of which are tributaries of the Son. I did not wander beyond the limits of the Gondwána series.

Rock groups.-The rock groups referred to are-

- 8. Trap.
- 7. Laméta.
- 6. Jabalpúr.
- 5. Maleri.
- 4. Máhádeva.
- 3. Rániganj.
- 2. Barákar (Karhárbári).
- 1. Tálchir.

Tálchir.—I met with Tálchir rocks only in the Johilla valley between Chada and Ponri (villages south of Páli). They consisted of massively-bedded finegrained very pale green sandstones, slightly claret-coloured and grey needle-shales, and the ordinary boulder beds. They have a distinct, though moderate, dip to the north-east, at an average angle of 5° .

This is almost the only section in which the strata, throughout the whole of the area that I have traversed this season, display a decided dip. There are miles and miles of country that leave the observer in doubt as to which point of the compass the beds incline.

I have estimated the thickness of the Tálchirs as 200 feet, and their separation from the overlying Barákar (Karhárbári) group is based on the usual grounds, colour being one important feature.

2. Barákar.—This group, like that of the Tálchir, is confined to the Johilla valley. Some doubt has been thrown upon my identification, by the occurrence of the fossil fern Gangamopteris cyclopteroides; and Dr. Feistmantel suggests that, instead of the rocks being Barákars, they are probably Karhárbáris. It may be that I should be more correct if I classed the beds which I have defined as Barákars with the Tálchirs. There is no unconformity between any of the strata from the lowest of the Talchirs (near Ponri) and the highest of the Barákars (near Bara Daigaon); and the only prejudice to overcome is the association of coal (known as the Páli coal) with the Tálchir group. On the other hand, it may be urged that if the rocks in the Johilla are sufficiently characteristic to enable a line to be drawn, limiting them (as, indeed, I have done), the Talchirs may as well remain so limited, and the beds above them be placed in the group that their features most nearly approach. Looking at them apart from their botanical contents, they will pass muster as Barákars.

¹ These general observations of a large area of the great Gondwána basin of the Son are published now, as it may be long before much of the ground can be worked out; until Mr. Hughes has disposed of the special coal-field areas. the least like the dull block coal of the Karhárbári field; and there are no sandstones with angular fragments. However, the section is a small one, and there is the fact of the occurrence of *Gangamopteris*. And, in the face of paleontological evidence, I suppose we must pause until we discover that stratigraphical and other claims are not to be overridden by a plant.

The coal that has been alluded to occurs near the union of the Ganjra nulla with the Johilla. It is visible in both banks of the latter river, and, where exposed in the water channel, it has all the appearance of a fine seam of coal The section in the right bank shows, however, that it is not a promising source of fuel. I do not condemn it, because experience has now taught me that many seams (as in the Wardha and Mohpáni fields) with a thin outcrop may thicken rapidly, and furnish a good deal of coal. I can say, however, that the signs are not promising.

The seam is seen in the Ganjra nulla; but I could not trace it in the low ground between Páli and Goraia. I did not look for it westward of the Johilla.

Its place in the group is near the top. Its detailed measurement is, descending (dip north-east 5° to 7°)—

Grey felspathic sandstone.

	· -						
1.	Ccal	•••			•••		8"
2.	Shale and sandstone						1'10"
3.	Carbonaceous shale		•••				1'0"
4.	Coal		•••		•••		4″
5.	Carbonaceous shale	•••	•••	•••			6″
6.	Coal					•••	6″
7.	Carbonaceous shale			•••			2′6″
8.	Coal		•••		•••	•••	2″
	Carbonaceous shale a	nd sand	stone.				

The coal occurs in layers much too thin to make the seam, judging by its exposed section, workable.

The Barákars do not cover a large area, and the major portion of the group consists of sandstones. Besides the section in the Johilla, there is another excellent one in the Ganjra nulla, where the road from Páli to Maliagura crosses it, and sandstones very similar to those in the Wardha valley may be seen on either side of the ghât. They are nodular; texture granular; felspar slightly decomposed; and colour either somewhat yellowish-grey or reddish-grey. The dip is very low to the north.

The fossils that I despatched to Calcutta were found immediately below the "seam" in the Johilla, and were determined by Dr. Feistmantel as—

Glossopteris communis. Gangamopteris cyclopteroides. Nöggerathiopsis hislopi.

I do not intend to enter into any descriptive details of the boundary that I have assigned to the Barákars. Where the sections were clear, I have endeavoured to be accurate and true to ancient records. Where the sections were obscure, I have done what all men do.

:

VOL. XIV.

3. Rániganj.-Continuing the examination of the Johilla, an assortment of sandstones and shales succeed almost immediately to the Páli coal, which at first I was inclined to class with a series higher than that of the Damúda. The sandstones are not typical of any group, such varieties as they consist of occurring at any horizon in the Gondwána scale. But the shales, or perhaps more correctly, "argillaceous sandstones" are reddish-coloured and highly ferraginous, and give to the rocks with which they are associated quite a Máhádeva look. Out of one of the sandstones, however, I hammered (in the islet opposite Chota Daigaon, marked on map) a Vertebraria indica, so, dismissing the Máhádeva identification, I descended to the Kámthi group and adhered to it for some time; but as in no other portion of my area could I discover any beds which refused to be relegated to any other group than the Kámthi, and as the Rániganj group was a well defined member in the Damúda series over a very large tract of country, I at last gave up the Kámthi division and fell back upon the Rániganj group. Without the fossil I should certainly have shifted the rocks in the Johilla (between Bara and Chota Daigaon) to a higher horizon. The Vertebraria perhaps indicates that the Barákar limit ought to extend as far as Chota Daigaon.

Whatever uncertainty exists in regard to the identification of the Rániganj group on the Johilla, there is little or none with respect to the Damúda rocks that are exposed in the Sohágpúr tálúk, and in the neighbourhood of Marwás (Gopat valley).

The Marwás area is the extreme westerly extension of a large body of Rániganj rocks exposed in the Gopat valley, and stretching without a break. I believe, to the Réhr river. It was near Marwás (in the early part of the season) that I first recognised the Raniganj group, by the appearance of the rocks, and by hunting about for fossils, I managed to discover amongst other varieties some *Schizoneura*. Throughout the Damúda valley, this plant was fairly characteristic (though not so much so as *Trizygia*) of the Rániganj horizon, and I have accepted it as strengthening my opinion of the position to which the Marwás rocks ought to be assigned.

There are no continuous sections showing satisfactorily the sequence of the beds and the petrological characters of the group; but such sections as there are expose now and again characteristic rocks. The greater portion of the sandstones are yellowish-grey micaceo-felspathic silicious beds, usually fine-grained, and sometimes flaggy. Carbonaceous matter is abundant in many of the beds, and affects the colour, disguising the grey. Mica is more or less abundant.

The characteristic calcareous sandstone of the Rániganj group is not so frequently seen, but it is extremely well exposed in the open country between Badoura and Mahkor. It is in the main of a greyish colour, but tinged with yellow, and occasionally the brownish-red of iron ore. It weathers with roundish edges, and when occurring in mass, it is sometimes mammillary. As a rule, it is not thickly bedded. It contains besides calcareous matter, an admixture of ferruginous matter, that I fancy gives it its yellow tinge. On a newly fractured surface, it is usually dark or light grey in colour. The shales and argillaceous sandstones are generally grey, of varying shades, according to the proportion of carbonaceous material that they hold. Mica is more or less common.

North of Marwás, the Rániganj group is cut off by a fault, which brings it into contact with the granite of Puthroura. This fault crosses the Gopat river north of Tikar. South of Marwás the Rániganj group passes under the Máhádeva group.

The dips, except near the faulted boundary, are low. There is a main anticlinal, the axis of which is almost coincident with the course of the Sehra nulla.

Throughout this Marwás tract, I did not see any workable seams of coal. There is coal, however, and also coaly shale, which may improve to coal in places. The localities where coal and coaly shale occur are—

Bhumka: nearly due west of village (coaly shale).

Makkor: in the Schra nulla a bed of coaly shale is repeatedly exposed, but it is more prominent north of Mahkor than elsewhere. It is about 2' 6''in thickness, with a layer of coal 4". Dip, very low to the north.

Mujgama: in the Jhupra and Mujgama nulla there is a carbonaceous bed, with sufficient coal in it to make it conspicuous. The section is (descending)—

1.	Carbonaceous shale	•••	•••		ľ	2″	
2.	Grey arenaceous shale		•••	•••		6″	
8.	Coal		•••	•••		8″	
4.	4. Coaly shale and carbonaceous shale						
5.	Yellowish-grey micac	eo-arenac	eous sandy she	le	2′	0″	
6.	Carbonaceous shale	•••	•••			8″	

I brought no sample of the coal away, deeming the seam too small to be of any practical value. Dip slight, to south.

Leaving the Marwás area, and going south along the Gopat river, Rániganj rocks are observable on both sides, having a slight southerly dip. About the neighbourhood of Gurwadhar there is a change in the inclination of the beds to west and north-west.

A thin bed of coal is seen at the junction of the Burchur nulla with the Newra nulla (tributary of Gopat, west of Gurwadhar).

Coal and coaly shale are also seen at the confluence of the Máhan nulla and the Gopat; about 14 feet of slightly carbonaceous shales and shaly sandstones being capped by 6 inches to 8 inches of coal. The outcrop of this coal can be traced for some way down the Gopat river, and I fancy it is identical with the outcrop in the Burchur and Newra nullas.

The Rániganj group extends south of the Máhan nulla, and is well exposed near Mirhara and Rouhal (Atlas sheet spelling). At various places coaly shale appears, but nothing that approaches a workable seam of coal. I think I need scarcely particularise where I saw this shale. It is to be constantly met with, for the lie of the rocks around Mirhara and Rouhal is so low (indeed horizontal or undulating over a considerable area) that the same bed is at or near the surface over a large tract of level country.

I made diligent search for fossils in order to substantiate my lithological identifications, and I managed to gather several fine specimens of ferns, &c., of the ordinary Rániganj type.

I did not go beyond Rouhal. I struck off to the west when I reached that point, and passed on to Upper Gondwána rocks. For convenience therefore. I

R

will group together the different localities in this part of the Gopal basin, and allude to them apart from the Sohágpúr fossil localities—

1. Chanduidol (11 miles west of Marwás). The plants were found in the first tributary of the Sehra nulla east of the village of Chanduidol. They were imbedded in grey argillaceous shales and flaggy micaceous shales and sandstones :---

Schizoneura gondwanensis. Glossopteris formosa.

2. Bajbai (1 mile west of the Gopat river. Lat. 24° 4', Long. 81° 57'). The fossils occur in the Bajbai stream, in grey argillaceous shale topping 2 feet of coaly and carbonaceous shale.

Glossopteris communis.

" indica.

" angustifolia.

8. Máhan river.

(a).—Near junction with the Gopat :-Vertebraria indica.

Glossopteris, sp.

(b) .- Nearly due south of Tansar :--

Schizoneura gondwanensis,

Glossopteris communis.

- " indica.
- " retifera.
- , angustifolia

Alethopteris comp. whitbyensis.

(c).-Various points between Ganjar and junction of Máhan and Rouhal nullas :---

Schizoneura gondwanensis.

Glossopteris communis.

" angustifolia.

Alethopteris comp. whitbyensis.

Angiopteridium.—Two fragments of a *tæniopteroid* fern, resembling a similar one in the Kámthi beds of the Nágpúr area, which Dr. Feistmantel quoted as Angiopt. comp. m'clellandi.

These lists prove, I think, that the fossils are from the Raniganj, rather than the Barakar horizon. I know of no instance in which *Alethopteris* has been met with in the Barákar group, and *Schizoneura gondwanensis* is a fairly typical Rániganj plant.

Having alluded to the Rániganj rocks of the Johilla and the Gopat, I now pass on to the Són valley, and the Rániganj rocks of the Sohágpúr district.

These are not continuous at the surface with the Rániganj beds of the Johilla river, the overlying Máhádeva (?) rocks separating the two areas. I fancy, however, from the remarks which I have read in the reports of my predecessors, and by inspection of their maps, that the Rániganj rocks of the Són and Gopat are continuous.

I have traversed a large extent of the Sohágpúr district, and I noted that the sandstones do not present much variety. The most prominent kind is the grey or yellowish grey-felspathic silicious sandstone, sometimes earthy and sometimes slightly calcareous. Mica is usually present in a small quantity; but there are varying proportions, and occasionally it qualifies a rock.

Around Schágpúr (town), Khaira, and Sahpúr, the main body of sandstones is of the same character, belonging to the silicio-felspathic type, generally massively bedded. They contain more mica than I noted elsewhere.

I did not notice the characteristic calcareous sandstone that I saw in the Marwás area. Shales are not very frequent. They are of the usual Rániganj type—argillaceous and silicious, qualified by mica, carbonaceous matter and ferruginous matter.

The dip is everywhere low, but there is a northerly tendency in it.

Up to the present I have only met with one seam of coal. It crops out in several different places, but as it is better exposed in the Són river, near Guráru, I have distinguished it as the Guráru seam. It is capped by carbonaceous shales and sandstones, and the whole mass of dark-looking rocks forms a conspicuous feature. I could not obtain any information about coal from the natives, but by following up the fragments of coal for several miles along the channel of the Són, I managed to hit upon the Guráru seam.

The following is its section (descending)-

1.	Coal				•••	5″
2.	Carbonaceous shale		•••		•••	6″
3.	Coal	•••		•••	••	2'4"
4	Carbonaceous shale	•••			•••	2″
5.	Coal		•••		•••	2'8"
6	Carbonaceous shale a	and coal	•••		•••	(not all seen).

Taking 3 and 5, we have 5 feet of coal, which is a thickness sufficient to be workable. The bottom of the seam is not all seen.

An analysis of the coal has been made by Mr. Mallet, and the result is rather disappointing :--

"Guráru seam. (Register No. 4-125).

Moisture	•••		•••	•••		•••	27
Volatile (i	nclusive o	f moisture)	•••	•••	•••		9 ·5
Fixed carl	m	•••		•••	•••		40 [.] 5
Ash	•••	•••	•••				47.3
					Total	••••	100.0

"Does not cake. Ash reddish." (F.R.M.)

Of course no one would press eagerly forward to use this coal, unless he was somewhat "hard up" for a substance to burn.

The dip is low, undulating, horizontal.

In the Múrna nulla (a tributary, left bank of Són), the same seam as the Guráru is seen (south-west of Bijauri). At the junction of the Múrna and the Són, there are carbonaceous shales, but there is no coal with them. These overlie some massive grey sandstones of ordinary Rániganj type, which are worn into pot-holes, some of them of more than ordinary depth. They are in all stages of growth and obliteration, and an artist could make a pretty picture of them.

With the Guráru coal are associated fossils, which I obtained in a flaggy band of sandstone of dark greenish-grey colour, above the coal :---

Schizoneura gondwanensis.

Glossopteris communis.

" indica.

Squamæ gymnospermarum.

In another band, of yellowish-grey soft clay shale, Dr. Feistmantel has made out a new plant:---

Glossopteris angustifolia.

Rhipidopsis (n. s.) : like a plant in the Kámthis, South Godávari.

Of other localities that yielded fossils, the following is a list :---

1. Són river (opposite deserted village of Sarsi), collected by Hira Lál :---

Schizoneura gondwanensis.

Glossopteris browniana.

2. Kachodhar (about 11 miles west of Sohágpúr) :--

Glossopteris communis.

The village of Kachodbar stands on Lametas, and the Lametas immediately overlie the Raniganj rocks.

8. Hardi (near the southern margin of the field, about 2 miles south-west of Khaira) :---

Vertebraria indica. Glossopteris communis. Nõggerathiopsis hislopi. Voltzia heterophylla. Samaropsis comp. parvula.

These plants from Hardi are not so characteristic of the Rániganj group as those from the other localities, Vert. indica, Glossop. communis, Nögger. hislopi, and Voltzia heterophylla, all being Karhárbári group species. But the rocks in which they were found must be included in the Rániganj group, provided that my identification elsewhere of the Sohágpúr district rocks be correct, for no distinction can be drawn between the sandstones and shales around Khaira and Hardi and those from which the more characteristic fossils of the Rániganj group were obtained.

4. Máhádeva.—Turning to a consideration of the next series of rocks, that overlying the Rániganj group, I have to admit that my mind has passed through several stages of doubt, and that at different periods during the last working season, and even during my stay in Calcutta, I have had to modify my opinion.

The first impression (recorded 25th November 1879) entered in my note book was, that the rocks of which I am treating under the present heading were Máhádevas. I quote my words: "Many of the sandstones are coarse-grained, and contain gravel and pebbles, reminding me of the Máhádevas." I gave the idea up after a time, not because there was any difficulty in allowing the lithological resemblance of these rocks to the Máhádevas, but because on discovering that they succeeded immediately to the Rániganj group, I naturally asked myself whether they might not represent some of the divisions intermediate between the Rániganj and Máhádeva age.

HUGHES-Note on the South Rewah Gondwana basin. PART 1.]

With this possibility before me, I commenced to look out for Kámthi affinities; and in the ferruginous character and the open texture of many of the saudstones, and the occurrence of reddish-brown ferruginous argillaceous bands, I thought I had sufficient ground suggesting a Kámthi horizon.

Finding, however, as I struck eastward towards the Chang Bhakhar State, and in the direction of the Gopat valley, that these sandstones were associated with strong pebble beds, and other sandstones compacted by iron, and traversed by ribs of ferruginous matter, exactly as in the case of the Máhádevas of the Damuda valley, and that these sandstones and pebble beds presented the same physical features which are so characteristic of the Máhádevas elsewhere, I gave up the notion of their being Kámthis.

A series of masterly faults would relieve me of my burdens; and sudden thinnings and thickenings would pull me through many vexations, but until obliged to institute them (as probabilities or necessities), I prefer to struggle on without them.

I classed this series as Panchets, when I dismissed the view of its being Kámthi, and I adhered to this resolution until the difficulty of consorting it with the Máhádevas of the Gurját States' stared me in the face. The possibility that the clave of the Maleri group may represent the Lower Panchets of Bengal lent a certain amount of colour to the idea that the sandstones, &c., inferior to them might also belong to that group.

The only plant fossils from this series (three in number) contained two forms exhibiting affinity to the Rájmahál flora, and when I received Dr. Feistmantel's letter in camp, announcing this circumstance, it was considerable relief to my mind. It assisted the settlement of the broad question of Upper or Lower Gondwána.

I have finally adopted the Máhádeva horizon, but I am still troubled by a lingering impression that these rocks are in closer union with the Jabalpur sandstones of Bansa, Chandia, and so on, than I can demonstrate at present; and that indeed the Jabalpur group, the clays (Maleri) with reptilian remains, and these sandstones, &c., are nearly allied.

The boundaries that I have given to these rocks which I class and shall henceforth allude to as Máhádevas, are, as in the case of the other groups, more conveniently appreciated by looking at the map than by reading a long descriptive paragraph crowded with the names of villages, hills and rivers.

The dips are everywhere low, slightly undulating or horizontal.

There is no difficulty in separating the Máhádevas from the underlying Rániganj group, and the boundary of the series which I have given is moderately reliable. The sandstones and shales and pebble beds are quite distinct from the grey sandstones and shales of the Rániganj horizon. The only puzzling bit is in the section of the Johilla, where some of the Raniganj sandstones are more ferruginous than is ordinarily the case. In the rest of the area, there is a prominent difference between the rocks in each group.

¹ Chang Bhakhar, Jhilmili, Korea, Sirgujah, &c.

Digitized by Google

133

The unconformity of overlap exists, and is very evident when the lines are put upon the map. The overlap is distinctly traceable south of Páli, and eminently so in the Marwás area.

To convey a picture of the lithological character of the Máhádevas, I have forwarded to the Museum a series of illustrative specimens of the various rocks. The most prominent feature is the occurrence of ferruginous matter, and silicioferruginous matter producing different degrees of induration and various ferric tints. There are all gradations of texture, but coarse-grained sandstones predominate. Pebble beds and likewise conglomerates occur. Shales—red, pink, lavender, and mottled (red, purple, and yellow)—are moderately frequent in the lower portion of the group, and being usually brightly coloured they readily catch the eye.

Describing the rocks more in detail, I have to remark that the sandstones in the Johilla are very well exposed; indeed the best section in the whole of the South Rewah area is to be met with in this river. There is a very moderate dip to the north, and each stratum shows for a long way. The sandstones are massive, false bedded, and rather coarse-grained, yellowish-red, and brown, and brownish-grey in colour. Sometimes they are considerably indurated by iron. They contain a proportion of ferruginous matter, and when felspar occurs, it is frequently of a reddish tint. Nests of pebbles and gravel, and runs of the same, sometimes observable.

With these sandstones are red and mottled shales. Many of the shales are highly ferruginous. Some of them are fossiliferous. The exact spot where I found the fossiliferous shales was in the Gorari nulla (a tributary of the Johilla, right bank), opposite the southern tolah of the present village of Parsora. This village is not marked on the I-inch map, but it is about half a mile from the indicated site of Banoudha in a south-easterly direction. The river opposite the village of Parsora cuts a gorge in the rocks, exposing yellowish and brownishgrey silicio-felspathic sandstones, strongly coloured yellow and red mottled sandstones, and extremely fine-grained dark-red ferruginous shales. These are the shales that yielded—

Danæopsis ?

Thinnfeldia odontopteroides.

With these shales there are a few feet of fine-grained mixed pale lilac and white sandstones, with dashes of dark brownish-red colour, and lichen-shaped patches irregularly coursing through them. I selected samples of these lichen patterns for the Museum, as they exhibited in a pretty manner the result of segregation. The colouring matter of the sandstone is iron, which produced a shade of lilac. By the process of segregation the colouring ingredient becomes of a deeper shade within limits, and the ground colour becomes blanched.

From the union of the Ghorari (Gorari) nulls with the Johilla to the junction of the latter river with the Són, there is nothing very striking to draw attention to, the sections being too imperfect to refer to as illustrative ones.

Going eastward from the valley of the Johilla to that of the Són, we pass over a hilly country which affords an opportunity of studying the pebble beds of the series. They occur high and low in the Máhádevas; and throughout the length and breadth of the area that I have examined. The pebbles do not make up the beds, but occur in strings only, in sandstones of varying texture (but usually coarse). Over many square yards where the lie of the ground is favourable for the accumulation of the pebbles that drop out as the sandstones disintegrate, they occur in such abundance, that one could, if so disposed, gather cart-loads of them. They are usually yellow stained and pellucid.

All the various types of sandstones which make up the Máhádevas are to be seen in this area between the Johilla and the Són. It is an excellent studying ground. I have referred frequently to the presence of ferruginous matter in the sandstones. It occurs in thin vitreous-looking bands, running through the beds generally parallel with the stratification, and also in the form of sheets placed at varying angles. When these sheets or plates are nearly vertical with the weathered surfaces of the rock they appear as thin salient lines. When their broad surfaces are turned up, they look like turtles and shields of diversified contour. There is no special horizon for the more heavily charged ferruginous sandstones, and therefore there is no necessity to indicate the various places where I met them. I found them throughout.

A very marked feature in many of the sandstones is their mode of weathering. Owing to unequal degradation, they are worn down into minature table lands and sharp ridges. When these ridges (as is sometimes the case) are well defined and nearly parallel to one another, they look like outcrop edges, and often encourage the eye to make a wrong observation of "strike." As a rule, however, they are not parallel.

In my journal I have made several special notes on the subject of weathering. I find they relate principally to the rocks bordering the Chang Bhakhar State, but the instances are just as common in the Són and Johilla villages. I came across a very interesting case in the Máhan river near Phulwa, and I have the following entry: "The river Máhan passes through a very pretty gorge in the Máhádevas, after tumbling over a series of drop shallows; both banks are fringed with forest trees: ferns grow on every ledge and in every nook, water streamlets trickle from crevices. The sandstones are grey-brownish streaked, moderately coarse felspathic silicions sandstones. Their weathered surfaces are in many instances scooped and scalloped, and they are traversed by thin but prominent extending lines (whose durability is due to the segregation of ferruginous matter) that pursue an irregular course. Where the rocks have been planed to an even surface (as in the bed of the river) they look like Damúda sandstones—the demolition of the ridges having caused an otherwise prominent and characteristic feature of the Máhádevas to be obscured."

Near Dubari (Banás river) I note: "The most striking rock is a white quartzose and felspathic sandstone, the surface of which is worn into a series of razor-backs; and lines so arranged that they look like the pens of a cattle market." At Majhauli, on the hill north of Majhauli, I found the sandstones same as on other Máhádeva hills. Most of them are hard and compact, their surfaces are travelled by chisel-edged ribs left by the process of unequal degradation. These ribs run in various directions, but occasionally they present the symmetry of geometrical figures, or assume the regularity of sheep pens, or furrows in a field. These ridges or ribs do not agree with any system of jointing. They are merely indurated free lines of segregation.

There is another peculiar weathering which is seen in some of the sandstones (and only in those) that contain a small percentage of manganese. The surface appears studded with knobs, diminishing from the size of cracknel biscuits to that of frosted almonds and caraway seeds.

The great mass of sandstones in the Máhádevas accord in character with those described in the Johilla section, that is, they are usually massively bedded, often false bedded, generally coarse-grained and friable (when not indurated by iron); rusty brown, salmon, and various shades of grey and yellow are the most common colours; scattered pebbles and strings of pebbles are frequent; and ferruginous matter, either in bands, in strings, or in plates, or as a general indurating agent, is freely distributed; mica is not nearly so universal a mineral component as it is in the Damúda series; felspar and silica are the chief mineral constituents.

Occurring as one in the series of sandstones, but not frequently, is a variety which I noted in the Wardha-Pránhita area (above the Kota clays). It is a pink-coloured sandstone (sometimes a conglomerate) with lighter shaded fine grained interrupted courses of shale, which give a brecciated look to the rock. It is not often met with, but it usually arrests the eye, and, as soon as I saw it, I was reminded of the similar rock in the Wardha-Pránhita valley.

I have made an upper boundary, not coincident with any fixed topmost bed of the Máhádevas, but limited by the first bed of red or green clay or sandstone of Maleri type that I met with. This is not satisfactory; but throughout the South Rewah country that came under my notice there is not a single clean contact of the Máhádevas and Maleris. I believe there is unconformity between the two, the clays and peculiar rubbly calcareous sandstones of the latter group dying out vapidly in the neighbourhood of the Banás river, for, if we look at the map, the Máhádevas east of the Banás appear to overlap the Maleris. This of course cannot be: there must either be sudden thinning of the Maleris, or there is a fault or faults heading roughly north and south. This point I have not settled. I was occupied in sketching the geology rather than fixing it, in going over a large area in order to see what rocks I had to deal with, rather than working out details. Had the evidence everywhere been plain spoken, I should not have had to record this explanation, but all the sections, with the exception of those in the Johilla, are most imperfect and unsatisfactory.

I have recorded the points that have to be borne in mind, and the questions that require more evidence to be accumulated to elucidate them.

The thickness of the Máhádeva series I put at 1,400 to 1,500 feet. This is calculated along the fall of the river Són, from the lowest level to the summit of Kanandil hill.

5. Maleri.—Under this group are included clays and sandstones bearing a perfect resemblance to the Maleri rocks in the Wardha-Godávari area. I should not have placed them as such however, but rather as Jabalpur beds, had I not had the good fortune to discover reptilian remains which proved their identity.

<u>.</u>

These remains were of

Hyperodapedon, Parasuchus, &c., &c.

With these, which occurred in red clays near Tiki, I found Unios as previously with the same fossils at Maleri.

The Maleri group, as I define it, is the highest Gondwána horizon in this central section of the basin, between the Són and Banás valleys, and is made up of clays, shales and sandstones, some of which are typical of the group.

The typical rocks are those that I designate low-level Maleris, because they usually lie in the low ground; and they consist of red and green clays; rubbly calcareous sandstones and fine-grained, friable, thick and false-bedded sandstones containing clay galls, and with small streaks and dashes of decomposed felspar.

The calcareous sandstone is very different from the Rániganj calcareous sandstone. Instead of being a smooth compact yellowish-blue rock, it has a rough weathered surface, showing moulds of pebbles and clay galls. It is hard and firm in texture, and of dark grey colour. Where calcareous matter is deficient, it is a silicious sandstone, slightly calcareous; but it retains the rough appearance.

These low-level Maleris form the base of the group. Above them, and constituting the high-level Maleris, are rocks alarmingly like the Máhádevas; and if it were not for the intervening zone of clays, I should make them fall into the Máhádeva horizon. This likeness suggests a fault, and this is all I have to say about it.

The most convenient section of the low-level Maleris for study is in the Són, just above Taripathar. Commencing at the big trap dyke we have (descending)—

- 1. Friable, thick and false-bedded sandstone, chiefly silicious, containing clay galls and with white dashes of decomposed felspar. Colour, brownish-yellow and grey.
- 2. Greenish-grey fine-grained sandstone,
- 8. Brown speckly sandstone, with a few flakes of jetty coal.
- 4. Fine-grained sandstone, with thin green laminæ, false-bedded, containing pieces of jetty coal.
- 5. Rubbly calcareous sandstones.
- 6. White very fine-grained sandstones.
- 7. Ked clay.

Stems of trees, with their bark converted into jetty coal, are quite abundant in the lower Maleris; and they occur occasionally in the higher Maleris.

The high-level Maleris are seen in all the hills of the Maleri area, and, as I said before, are very like the Máhádevas. There are red ferruginous shales, coarse sandstones, with irregular ferruginous courses; fine-grained silicious sandstones, yellowish-grey or brown in colour; purple argillaceous sandstones; and sandstones with broken runs of shales; and others with irregular ferruginous courses and plates.

There is not much difference between this paragraph and one I have written under the Máhádeva heading; and one would naturally say that I have described

8

Máhádevas under the title of high-level Maleris. I was not of this opinion in the field, because I had a zone of red clays, containing Maleri fossils, between my high-level Maleris and the Máhádevas; but a fault may intervene. If it does, however, it will have to be of a very complicated pattern.

I have not traced the group west of the Són, nor have I accurately defined it east of the Banás. It has either been dropped out, or it has thinned out east of the Banás, for though the red clays run in great strength as far as Bamraha and Dagdona (Atlas Sheet), I did not meet with one bed east of the Banás.

With the clays are found botryoidal masses of manganese ore. Mr. Mallet's remark on a sample submitted to him is—

"Manganese ore (Basi), apparently psilomelane. It contains a large amount of insoluble matter, some iron, and a trace of cobalt."

6. Jobalpúr.—Within the area examined I did not meet with any members of the Jabalpúr group. I walked some of the rivers near Chándia and Kauria and procured some fossils from near Bansa, a list of which is published in Dr. Feistmantel's paper.'

The fossils were found in pale grey argillaceous shale, and also in a slightly carbonaceous shale, which crop out in the Machrar river, a few yards below the Kauria and Majhgawan ghât.

Associated with these shales are sandstones salmon-coloured, light purple, grey and fine-grained. At junction of Machrar and Máhánadi, the sandstones are massively bedded and contain shale galls, like the high-level Maleris.

I brought some Umaria coal, which is supposed to be of Jabalpúr age.^{*} Mr. Mallet's analysis shows—

Moisture	•••	•••		•••	•••	11.3
Volatile (e	aclusive o	f moisture)	•••	•••		29.4
Fixed carl	oon			•••	•••	45.8
Ash	•••			•••	•••	13 [.] 5
					TOTAL	100·0
•		-				

This resembles a lignite coal in its moisture. The ash is much less than I anticipated.

7. Lameta.—This group was not undertaken, I merely made a note of its occurrence whenever found. It is extensively exposed beyond the south-west edge of the Gondwána basin, along the base of the basaltic plateau of Mandla.

8. Trap.—Bábú Hira Lal had charge of the trap, and he looked for it diligently. There was a good deal of hard labour involved in tracing the course of the various runs of trap, much more indeed than the results on the maps convey at first sight. The trap is found occurring in the most irregular shapes, both in dykes and in sheets.

¹ Records, XIII-3, p. 189 (1880).

² Mr. Hughes has recently (15th December) written to say he has found Gangamopteris, Glossopteris, and Phyllotheco in the Umaria seam, proving it to be of Damúda age.

PART 1.] MALLET-Ferruginous rocks with basalt in Ulster & India.

On the ferraginous beds associated with the Basaltic Rocks of North-Eustern Ulster, in relation to Indian laterite.—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India.

Within the last two decades an important industry has sprung up in the county Antrim in the utilisation of the ferruginous beds which occur interstratified with the basaltic rocks of North-Eastern Ulster. The first ore appears to have been raised some twenty years ago, and during 1869 upwards of 50,000 tons were shipped to England.¹ At the present time the output is much larger. Several companies have been formed for working the ore; narrow gauge lines of rail have been laid down from some of the most important mines to the sea, and the ore is shipped from several of the Antrim ports to those of Cumberland, Wales, and the Clyde. "Its freedom from deleterious substances, such as phosphorus and sulphur, and from any qualities injurious to the production of superior iron, commends it highly, while the presence of titanic acid in the pisolite-bed adds much to its value for the production of steel. But it is the high percentage of alumina that claims for this ore peculiar importance. Mr. S. Evans, who has introduced much of this ore into England, informs us that its value as a flux is becoming more and more appreciated, and that the furnaces of Cumberland and Lancashire are now supplied with large quantities for mixing with the silicious hæmatites of that district. The effects of combining these two ores in the furnace is to soften the slag and to produce what is called a "loose load," which allows the metal to pass through with facility, and at the same time acts as a protection to the inner coating of the furnace. But, in addition to these valuable properties, the alumina determines the separation of the silica from the hæmatite-cres, thereby producing from a given quantity a larger percentage of metallic iron than could otherwise be obtained. The great difficulty hitherto has been to produce an iron free from silica for the Bessemer process of steel-iron making. The Cumberland ore has been found well adapted for producing this steel; but the contained silica has always been a drawback, injurious and difficult to remove. The great demand is for an iron free from silica; and since the Antrim ore has entered the market, this desideratum has been accomplished: it contains little or nothing deleterious, and yet has within itself the essential properties for making a superior steel-iron, while the large excess of alumina acts as a purifier to the richer ferruginous ores, and has thus enabled the Cumberland and Lancashire furnaces to stand first in producing the most suitable iron for Bessemer's process.²

The working of so many mines affords means for studying the ferruginous beds satisfactorily, and struck, from the published descriptions, with their *prima* facie resemblance in several points to the laterite of India, I took the opportunity of a recent visit to Europe for examining the rocks in situ.

> ¹ Messrs. Tate and Holden : Quart. Journ. Geol. Soc., XXVI, 164. ² Ibid., 163.

139

T ...

The first section visited was at Belumford, Island Magee, which has been described as follows by Messrs. Tate and Holden.'

							F U.	In.
"]	L. Columnar basalt, with	2 or 3 in	nches of	f decompo	sed rock	below.		
2.	Pisolitic iron ore. The up	pper 2 inche	es with l	ittle o r no	ochreous r	natrix :		
	the spheroids large, an	nd now and	then a t	hin lamina	of the ore	. The		
	ochre increases in que	antity with	the in	crease of	depth, ar	d the		
	iron-ore merges into 'be	ole'.	••			•••	2	6
8.	Bole,-an indurated red fo	erruginous (ochre	•••		•••	2	0
4.	Yellow ochre		••		•••	•••	8	0
	which graduates into							
5.	Blue lithomarge-Base not	t seen, but f	thicknes	s proved to			29	6"

The pisolitic ore appears to include some hydrous mixed with anhydrous ferric oxide, while some of the spheroids are magnetic. It is soft and breaks easily with an uneven fracture. The 'bole' and 'yellow ochre' are more clunchy in aspect than the above, breaking with a somewhat conchoidal fracture They are very brittle, and, at the surface at least, are divided into small pieces, perhaps by partial dessication. The 'blue lithomarge' has more commonly a sort of brownish lilac colour, thickly speckled with small white or yellowish-white spots, but some parts are brown or yellowish or even green, with similar speckling. It breaks with a conchoidal fracture, and is divided at the surface (by dessication?) into irregular pieces, but not so much so as Nos. 3 and 4. There is a well marked line between the basalt and the pisolitic ore, but the latter and Nos. 3, 4, and 5 are not sharply demarcated.

At Shane's hill, a few miles from Larne, there are several mines. The pisolitic band is thicker there than at Belumford, about 3 feet and 6 inches being exposed in one adit. It is covered, with a sharply marked junction, by basalt. The chief part of the ore consists of a matrix apparently including both anhydrous and hydrous ferric oxide in varying proportions, through which magnetic spheroids are more or less thickly scattered. Yellow ochre, &c., occur beneath the pisolitic band, beneath which there is apparently lithomarge, but no good section of the lower beds is exposed.

At the Glenariff iron mines, near Red Bay, levels have been driven in on the outcrop of the ore-bed at short intervals for a distance of several hundred yards. The bed containing the best ore is directly under the upper basalt, and averages, as I was informed by Mr. Argall, in charge of the mines, about 18 inches in thickness. It varies greatly, however, sometimes thinning out to a couple of inches, and sometimes expanding to as much as 3 feet. The composition varies also. The ore is mainly a pisolitic hematite, but there is a considerable quantity of pisolitic limonite (some of the spheroids in which are magnetic) and also of pisolitic magnetite. I understood from Mr. Argall that the different varieties of ore pass into each other irregularly, and are not separated into distinct beds.

The first quality ore is all obtained from the above-mentioned bed, of which , the upper part contains a rather higher percentage of iron than the lower.

' Quart. Journ. Geol. Soc., XXVI, 153.

Digitized by Google

140

It rests on a poorer ore, of a more ochrey or clayey kind, in which the pisolitic character is comparatively faintly developed. The latter becomes less ferruginous lower down and appears to pass into speckled lithomarge. No good section of the latter is exposed, but Mr. Argall thought there was not less than 30 feet of ferruginous and lithomargic rock altogether. Beneath it is the lower basalt.

At the Ballylagan iron mine near Portrush, which I visited with Mr. Egan of the Irish Geological Survey, to whom I am indebted for the following section, there is exposed:

Basalt (lower part amygdaloidal)			Ft.	In.	Ft.	In.
' Hematite ' of the miners		••••	 0	1 to	0	6
'Ore' of the miners	•••	•••	 1	6 to	8	0

'Pavement' of the miners, known to be not less than 12 feet; probably considerably more,

The 'hematite' is a compact limonite, breaking with subconchoidal fracture. The 'ore' is an ochreous argillaceous variety of the same, with perhaps some anhydrous oxide; the 'pavement' consisting of bole, lithomarge, &c., the exposed portion, at least, of the latter being here pale green or brownish without mottling.

At the Ballymagarry mine, also near Portrush, the section is very similar to the above. A boring was sunk in the 'pavement' there to a depth of 30 feet.

Numerous other sections have been described by the officers of the Irish Survey and others,' but I have confined myself to those which I have myself seen.

According to Professor Hull, "the beds of ore, wherever they are found, belong to one and the same geological horizon, and enable us to separate the basaltic series into two great divisions—one below and the other above the position of the pisolitic ore"⁹—

maximum thickness	Maximum	thickness
-------------------	---------	-----------

Upper (c).	. Beds of tabular basalt and dolerite, generally cold	imnar (over	r)	rt. 400
Lower (o). (a).	. Beds of tabular basalt and dolerite, generally am	i lignite ygdaloidal,	 and	50
	containing bands of bole	•••	•••	600 ³

The origin of the Antrim ferruginous beds has been the subject of considerable discussion. Mr. Du Noyer appears to have held that the ore of Magee Island (p. 140) was mechanically deposited by water, and that "it was as true an aqueous conglomerate as if it had been found in the heart of the old red sandstone." Messrs. Tate and Holden believed that the lithomarge, bole, and pisolitic ore are all produced by alteration of the basalt *in situ*. "There can be no doubt that the lithomarge and bole alternating with compact basalts are but decomposed basalts *** *** But these differences do not militate against the

¹ Vide Quart. Journ. Geol. Soc., XXVI, p. 151, and Explanatory Memoir to sheets 21, 28, and 29 of the Geological Survey Maps.

² British Association Report, 1874, Geological Section, p. 70. According to Mr. Kinahan (Geology of Ireland, p. 164), the iron-ore beds, "although classed in one scries, seem to occur on slightly different geological horizons."

² Explanatory Memoir to sheets 21, 28, and 29, p. 17.

presumed origin of the bole and iron-ore—that they are several stages in the metamorphism of one original mass; the addition of water to the basalt, and loss of lime, other alkaline earths, and alkalies, produced bole; the loss of water and oxygen from the ferruginous materials of the bole resulted in an increased percentage of iron in the pisolitic ore."

The opinion, however, appears to be held now with some unanimity that the iron-ores are of lacustrine origin, and that they have been formed through organic agency. In the discussion on Messrs. Tate and Holden's paper, Mr. D. Forbes expressed his belief that "the origin of the pisolitic ores was in fact organic. In Sweden certain lakes were regularly dredged each year for the pisolitic ore still in course of formation by means of confervoid algee. He therefore regarded the whole of these beds as in a certain sense sedimentary, and though due to organic agency, yet still deriving their original mineral matter indirectly from the basalt. The basalt contained a considerable amount both of phosphorus and sulphur; and if the ores had been derived directly from the basalt, both these substances would have been present in them.² This was an argument against any direct metamorphism. The presence of vanadium afforded additional reason for regarding these ores as formed in the same manner as bog-iron and similar ores."³ Professor Hull takes the same view. The beds beneath the iron-ore he regards as volcanic ash. "The period of the formation of the older sheets" (of basalt) "appears to have been brought to a close by the discharge of volcanic ashes and the formation of an extensive lake, or series of lakes, over the region extending at least from the shores of Belfast Lough to the northern coast of Antrim, in which the remarkable beds of pisolitic iron-ore were ultimately deposited. This is the only mode of origin of these ores which seems to me at all probable; and I am consequently unable to accept the views advanced by Messrs. Tate and Holden regarding their origin from basaltic lava by a process of metamorphism. That water was present, and that the beds of ash which underlie the pisolitic ore were stratified, at least in some instances, is abundantly evident upon an examination of the sections at Ballypalidy, Ballymena, and the northern coast. In some places they seem to be perfectly laminated in a manner that could only take place by the agency of water. It would seem, therefore, that by the combination of slight terrestrial movements, a shallow basin was formed over the area indicated, which received the streams charged with iron in solution, draining the upland margins, from the waters of which were precipitated the iron, possibly by the agency of confervoid algee, as in the case of the Swedish lakes of the present day (a view maintained by Mr. D. Forbes, F.R.S.), or by the escape of carbonic acid, owing to which the iron became oxidized and was precipitated." Mr. Kinahan says :-- "The iron-ore measures appear to have been lacustrine accumulations, and to have been formed similarly to like deposits

¹ Quart. Journ. Geol. Soc., XXVI, pp. 155, 158. The authors believed that the iron-ore at Ballypalidy differed from those elsewhere in being of sedimentary origin.

⁹ Bog-ores frequently contain a high percentage of phosphorus, but it appears that lake-ores are in some cases, at any rate, comparatively free from it (Bischof's Chemical Geology, I, 167).

⁸ Quart. Journ. Geol. Soc., Vol. XXVI, p. 164.

⁴ British Association Report, 1874, Geological Section, p. 70.

now accumulating in Central America, where, on the uneven surfaces formed by successive but unequal flows of dolerite, there are shallow expanses or lakes of water. In such lakes the first accumulations are necessarily the detritus or disintegrated portions of the surrounding rocks carried into them by rain and rivulets or wind, which may or may not have been augmented by showers of volcanic tuff. A necessary accompaniment of the decomposition of the detritus of the dolerite was the formation of iron-ores, which more or less impregnated the strata; thus the lithomarge would be formed. The aluminous ore appears to have been due to a longer water carriage, alumina and iron held in solution being carried and deposited during hot weather. Somewhat similar action takes place at the present day in many places in Ireland, as, during the summer heat, waters, which at other times are perfectly clear, get thick and muddy as they become shallow, depositing argillaceous peroxide of iron. The pisolitic accumulations were probably due to the presence of organic matter that attracted the iron. These shallow lakes in some instances became marshes or even peat-bogs, the latter being now represented by the lignite."1

The ferruginous beds of Antrim, although bearing a considerable general resemblance to Indian laterite, are still by no means lithologically identical with it. The top bed, which is that principally worked for ore, generally consists of a more or less indurated red or brown (according to the state of hydration) ochreous matrix, through which pisolitic spheroids are more or less thickly scattered. Sometimes, as at the Glenariff mines, the spheroids make up the greater portion of the ores. In the lower beds, which are more aluminous and less highly ferruginous, the pisolitic character is comparatively faintly developed. But the rock, as far as my experience goes, is very nearly always compact, in the sense of being free from cavities. I have never seen it largely cellular. "In many forms of laterite," on the contrary, "the rock is traversed by small irregular tortuous tubes, from a quarter of an inch to upwards of an inch in diameter. The tubes are most commonly vertical, or nearly vertical, but their direction is quite irregular, and sometimes they are horizontal; they are usually lined throughout with a crust of limonite, and are often filled with clay, except near the surface."² Such tubes, however, although very common, are by no means universal. A good deal of the laterite is as free from cavities as the Antrim ores. Many examples of such are contained in the Geological Museum collections. Possibly the occurrence of tubes in the laterite, and not in the Antrim beds, may be connected with the fact that the latter are protected by a covering of basalt, while the surface of the Indian rock is freely exposed to atmospheric influences.

The mottled or blotchy character of a very common form of laterite, due to segregation of the iron in the harder portions, while the softer contain little or none,³ is a peculiarity not quite absent from, but still, as far as I have seen, very faintly developed in, the Antrim ore.⁴

- ' Geology of Ireland, p. 165.
- ^a Manual of the Geology of India, p. 350.
- Ibid.
- * The lithomarge beneath is very frequently speckled, vide p. 140.

The iron in the Antrim ores, whilst occurring mainly in the state of hydrons and anhydrous peroxide, also exists as magnetic oxide. Usually some, sometimes most or all, of the pisolitic spheroids attract the needle. An analysis by Dr. Apjohn, however, of magnetic spheroids from the Red Bay ore showed that the main portion of the iron, even in them, was in the state of peroxide. They contained 51.37 per cent. ferric oxide and 11.74 of magnetic oxide.¹ A portion of the ore at the Glenariff mines is, in considerable part at least, magnetic oxide.

In laterite, on the contrary, magnetic oxide seems to be very exceptional. Mr. Blanford does not allude to it, and out of numerous typical specimens in the museum, from various parts of India, that I examined, only one had any action on the magnet.

The published analyses of the Antrim ferruginous rocks and of Indian laterite might lead one to suppose that the average percentage of iron was considerably higher in the former. Six analyses of the pisolitic ore are given in Messrs. Tate and Holden's paper, in which the ferric oxide ranges from 45.0 to 81.5 per cent. (= 31.5 to 65.2 per cent. of iron).⁴ The percentages of ferric oxide in nine samples of laterite from various widely separated localities were found on assay to range from 21.4 to 50.8 per cent. (= 15.0 to 35.6 per cent. of iron).⁵ The first mentioned analyses are all, however, of ore from the pisolitic band, which is by far the richest in iron, and which alone furnishes ore of first quality. I do not know that the average percentage in all the ferruginous beds overlying the lithomarge would be found higher than that in laterite, and portions of the latter contain much higher percentages than those quoted. A lateritic limonite from the Jabalpúr district which I have recently assayed yielded 76.1 per cent. of peroxide.

The Antrim beds occur in the middle of the basaltic rocks, separating them into a lower and an upper division: the laterite associated with the volcanic rocks of India overlies them. The thickness of the Indian rock again is, in some areas at least, much greater than anything met with in Antrim. The high-level laterite is sometimes 100 or even 200 feet in thickness,⁴ while the thickness of the beds above the lithomarge in Antrim can, I believe, always be indicated by one figure. The former difference may, however, perhaps be regarded as the cause of the latter. The time available for the accumulation of the Antrim beds was merely that between the earlier and the later periods of volcanic eruption, which may have been of comparatively short duration. The Indian laterite-forming period⁵ having commenced only at (or after) the close of the eruptive epoch, there was, in as far as interference from volcanic overflows was concerned, an unlimited time for its accumulation.

¹ Quart. Journ. Geol. Soc., XXVI, 158.

² Quart. Journ. Geol. Soc, XXVI, 150. Bauerman (quoted by Kinahan) says the ore contains from 30 to 70 per cent. of iron.

Digitized by Google

* Manual of the Geology of India, p. 350.

4 Ibid., pp. 854, 355, 856.

⁵ I, of course, allude only to the laterite associated with the volcanic rocks of India.

PART 1.] MALLET-Ferruginous rocks with basalt in Ulster & India.

The lithomarge underlying the Antrim beds, and that beneath the laterite, or perhaps I should say the first of the two forms described by Mr. Blanford,¹ are so similar that I am unable to indicate any lithological distinction between them, except that I have not observed any pipes in the Irish rock. Mr. Kinahan remarks that "the bright-coloured lithomarges" (of Antrim) "are identical in aspect with some of the varieties of steatitic laterites collected by Wynne in Kutch, India."²

I scarcely think that the points of variance I have indicated above suffice to essentially differentiate the Irish from the Indian rocks. There remain the very important points in which they agree. Both are argillaceous, often pisolitic, forms of highly ferruginous rock; the iron in both is mainly in the state of hydrous and anhydrous ferric oxide. Both are associated over wide areas with underlying lithomargic beds, and both are intimately connected in *some way* with volcanio rocks.

It is therefore, I think, worth consideration whether the view taken by the Irish Geologists as to the origin of the Antrim beds, may not be found applicable to some of those in India. The fact alluded to by Mr. Kinahan, that "during the summer heat, waters, which at other times are perfectly clear, get thick and muddy as they become shallow, depositing argillaceous peroxide of iron," coupled with the warm or sub-tropical climate which is believed to have characterised the miocene epoch in Europe-the epoch to which the Antrim beds belong-is, I think, very suggestive with reference to the wide spread occurrence of comparatively recent argillo-ferruginous rocks in India and some It is scarcely necessary here to recall the method in adjacent countries. which bog and lacustrine deposits of iron are considered to have originated. During the decay of vegetable matter, oxygen is absorbed, and amongst the products of alteration are carbonic, together with some organic, acids. Where freely exposed to the air, it is, of course, from the atmosphere that the oxygen is derived; but where the decaying matter is in contact with the higher oxides of iron, as in soils derived from the disintegration of ferruginous rocks, it has the power of abstracting oxygen from them and reducing them to protoxide. The carbonic acid unites with the latter, forming ferrous carbonate, which is soluble in water containing an excess of carbonic acid. The water, then, draining from such soils, and collecting into rivulets and streams, is more or less chalybeate. But in contact with air the ferrous carbonate is rapidly decomposed with escape of carbonic acid and re-oxidation of the iron to ferric oxide. A portion is thus precipitated during the flow of the water along its river-bed, but in such a finely divided state that the gentlest current is sufficient to keep the oxide in suspension. It is thus carried along, together with the carbonate remaining in solution, until, entering some expanse of stagnant water, it slowly sinks to the bottom. The ferrous carbonate is here further decomposed, forming a thin film of oxide on the surface, which breaks up and sinks, to be replaced by

¹ Manual of the Geology of India, p. 353.

² Geology of Ireland, p. 163.

т

another gradually formed film of the same kind. A portion of the iron also is, in some cases, deposited through the agency of living organisms. The organic acids form salts of iron, which are of frequent occurrence in bog-ores.¹

Now, as the original 'leaching out' of the iron from the ferruginous soil depends on the decay of vegetable matter, it is not unreasonable to suppose that the quantity so extracted will bear some relation to the luxuriance of the vegetation and the rapidity of its decay, which are themselves intimately connected with high temperature and humidity of climate. It is doubtless true that lacustrine deposits of iron are being formed in comparatively high latitudes at the present day. More than a thousand lakes in Sweden, Norway, Finland, and Northern Russia are said to afford examples of this.² But expanses of water for the ore to form in are a necessary condition, as well as decaying vegetable matter to extract the iron, and lakes are far more numerous in high than in low latitudes. At the present time, while the lakes of Northern Europe are to be numbered by hundreds, those in Peninsular India of any size may be counted Other conditions being similar, it appears probable that on one's fingers. lacustrine ore would form more abundantly in a hot and humid, than in a cold, climate.3

The view that high-level laterite is of lacustrine, and, in so far as the iron is concerned, of chemical origin', seems to offer an explanation of the high percentage of iron in the rock, as well as of its tolerably uniform diffusion over wide areas. It at the same time presents an apparent reason for the undoubted partly detrital character of the laterite in some areas,⁴ materials in solution and carried along mechanically having entered the lakes together and been deposited together in varying relative proportions. It also affords a seemingly plausible explanation of the connection between the trappean and lateritic rocks of India, as well as the occurrence of laterite unconnected with volcanic overflows. Any ferruginous rock may, if the necessary conditions are present, have its iron leached out to be subsequently concentrated elsewhere; but the trappean rocks are those which combine in the highest degree a widely extended area and a considerable percentage of iron.

In considering the question of how far the present position of the high-level laterite supports, or is adverse to, the supposition of a series of lakes and marshes having at one time existed in the lateritic area, the post-tertiary changes of level

¹ Vide Bischof's Chemical and Physical Geology, I, 166. Leconte's Elements of Geology, pp 136, 374, &c., &c.

^a Bischof, I, 170.

³ Mr. Blanford has discussed the evidence tending to show that the climate of India was colder during the glacial epoch of Europe than it is at present (Manual, p. 372). But there does not seem to be any reason to suppose that during other portions of the tertiary period, the temperature was lower than it is now.

⁴ The action of decaying vegetable matter should, it seems to me, be classed as chemical rather than organic (in a geological sense), for although the changes are produced through the agency of organic matter, the latter acts merely chemically and not through its vitality, which is extinct.

Digitized by Google

⁵ Manual, p. 363. Memoirs, II, 86.

PART].] MALLET-Ferruginous rocks with basall in Ulster & India.

in the Indian Peninsula discussed by Mr. Blanford' should not be lost sight of, although he considers that the relative changes of level in the Deccan have not been very great.^e The mere fact that laterite is frequently found capping the highest eminences cannot be taken as an argument against its lacustrine origin, for, as Mr. Blanford has pointed out,³ it resists disintegration far better than most of the trappean rocks. Although now, therefore, often covering some of the highest ground, it may at the time of its formation have occupied the lowest.⁴

Doubtless the view I have alluded to is not without its difficulties. I have not brought it forward under the supposition that it affords a complete and in every way satisfactory solution of the laterite problem, but as one with at least sufficient primâ facie plausibility about it to render it worthy of discussion. The intertrappean beds near the base and in the upper portion of the volcanic series show that lakes and marshes did exist at times, and it may very well be asked why no laterite was deposited in them. Whatever view, however, be taken of the origin of the rock, its non-occurrence interstratified with the volcanic flows seems to be difficult of explanation.⁵

The foregoing remarks refer more especially to the high-level laterite connected with the volcanic rocks of India. In other parts of the country, 'original laterite' (as contradistinguished from the detrital variety derived from the degradation of pre-existing laterite) seems to exist in positions where no such connection can be traced.⁶ Mr. Theobald, for instance, describes laterite in Pegu as forming a portion of the older alluvium, and as of estuarine origin. He points out that the materials from which it has been formed have been derived from the metamorphic rocks of the Poungloung ranges, and in a less degree from the tertiaries of the Pegu range.⁷ In these cases, also, the iron may have been leached out, and subsequently concentrated, through the agency of vegetable decay, not through mechanical degradation alone.

- ¹ Manual, p. 375.
- Ibid., p. 363.
- * Ibid., p. 363.

⁴ Striking examples of an analogous kind are to be seen in the volcanic district of Auvergne. The outbursts there took place on a granitic plateau, which is fringed by a series of valleys and spurs leading down to, and overlooking, the plain of the Limagne. The flows of lava at the time of their emission of course, like any other fluid, chose the lowest ground they could find; the more recent consequently fill up the bottoms of the present valleys; but owing to the rapidity with which the granite is disintegrated in comparison to the basaltic lava, the remnants of the most ancient streams are found capping some of the highest spurs and isolated hills. Yet the earliest volcanic outbursts are believed to be of Upper Eocene data, or more recent, perhaps, than some of the highlevel laterite (vide Manual, p. xiii).

⁵ There are indeed layers of red bole here and there, interbedded with the traps, which Mr. Blanford considers have had a similar origin with the laterite (Manual, pp. 304, 367). Exactly similar layers are met with in the volcanic rocks of Antrim. They are regarded by Sir C. Lyell as representing ancient soils, formed by superficial decomposition of the lava "or where volcanic sand has been thrown down from above or washed over the older lava by torrents and floods" (British Association Report, 1874, Geological Section, p. 69. Phil. Trans., 1858, p. 711).

• Mr. Foote (Memoirs, X, 27) draws a marked distinction between 'true sedimentary laterite' and the rock which is associated with volcanic products.

Digitized by Google

Memoirs, X, 56.

VOL. XIV.

The general question admits, in some degree, of being put to the proof. If the view indicated above be a correct one, the water of the streams flowing through the trappean area, especially in the portions where the climate is most humid, ought to contain an appreciable amount of iron in solution, and the examination of the mud at the bottom of some of the old artificial lakes in the volcanic area (in localities where no laterite exists in the catchment area) would show whether anything resembling laterite is now being formed in such positions.

In the Geological Magazine for July 1880, Mr. W. J. McGee of Farley, Iowa, U. S. A., compares the ferriferous deposits of the Upper Mississippi basin with Indian laterite in reference to the origin of the latter. "Briefly the Mississippi valley ores are attributed to the agency of decomposing vegetable matter in liberating the iron from adjacent rocks and earths, and the subsequent combination of this iron with the atmospheric oxygen. This property of vegetal solution was long ago pointed out by Dr. Sterry Hunt. Accordingly, the iron is most abundant in those formations and localities in which the decomposition of vegetable matter has been greatest. In accordance with the principle indicated above, it may be suggested that the Indian laterite is the product of the alteration in situ of the underlying rocks by the usually recognised atmospheric and chemical agencies, modified by the action of decomposing vegetation. In consequence of the operation of this last factor, all the iron of the rocks has probably been retained near its original position (and possibly increased through metasomatism), while other elements have been borne off in the winds or carried down to the sea. The accumulation of laterite in any region would, if this view be correct, depend (1) on the solubility of the basal rock; (2) on the proportion of contained iron; (3) on the fertility of the soil formed by its disintegration; and (4) very largely on the climate of the region."

It will be observed that Mr. McGee ascribes to decomposing vegetation a large share in the production of the rock in question, a view in favour of which there is, I think, much to be said. But that laterite is a product of alteration *in situ* of the underlying rocks is a view open to serious objections, which have been fully discussed by Mr. Blanford.¹ I need not therefore allude to them here, but they are not, as it seems to me, removed by an appeal to the agency just alluded.

Notes on some Rájmahál plants.—By OTTOKAR FEISTMANTEL, M. D., Palæontologist, Geological Survey of India.

(With Plates I and II).

In the preface recently issued for the second volume of the Gondwána flora,^a I have given the entire list of plants known up to date from the upper portion of the Gondwána system. I have introduced in it some alterations regarding the systematical position of several plants, as required by recent systems of classification, and after re-examination of the specimens concerned. As I could

¹ Manual, p. 360.

² Pal. Indica, 1880 (consisting of Nos. 1 and 2 of Ser. XI).

Digitized by Google

148

not then give any illustrations, I do so now of two of the most interesting species from the Rájmahál group, the systematical position of which needed readjustment, and I add figures of a few others from the same group.

FILICES.

Family : CYATHEACEÆ.

Genus: DICKSONIA, L'Hérit.

(1877. Feistmantel: Rájmahál flora, Cont. Pal. Ind., Ser. II-2, p. 75).

A real Dicksonia was described by me (l. c., pp. 76-77) from the Rájmahál group in the Rájmahál hills, at about the same time as Prof. Heer introduced this genus in his Jurassic Flora of Eastern Siberia and the Amur countries, so that in this case I acted entirely independently of this author. There remained, however, several other forms (especially amongst the Sphenopterideæ) with their older names, which have now to be included in this genus, as has been indicated by Prof. Schimper in his most recent work on general phytopalæontology;¹ and this has been done in the aforesaid list. These forms, which are now to be placed with Dicksonia, are: Sphenopteris comp. arguta, L. and H., and Hymenophyllites bunburyanus, Oldh. and Morr., sp.

A third species was classed before with *Pecopteris*, and to this specially my remarks will refer.

DICKSONIA (PECOPTEBIS) LOBATA, Oldh. and Morr., sp. (Fstm.) Pl. I, figs. 1-2.

- 1862. Pecopteris lobata, Oldh. and Morr. : Pal. Ind., Ser. II-1, p. 52, Pl. XXVIII, fig. 1, Pls. XXIX, XXX.
- 1877. Feistmantel: l. c., p. 92, Pl. XXXVI, fig. 3 (comparing it with Dicks. bindrabunensis).
- 1879. Schimper, in "Handbuch der Palæontologie" by Zittel and Schimper, Vol. II-1, p. 94.

1880. Feistmantel, with Dicksonia : Preface to Vol. II, Gondwána Flora, p. xii.

In my continuation of the Rájmahál flora (*l. c.*, p. 92), I pointed to the resemblance of the fructificating specimens of this species to *Dicksonia bindrabunensis*, then described by me; I did not, however, then attempt to definitely establish this view. In my list of the Upper Gondwána fossils in the preface to the second volume of the Gondwána flora, I have included this species with *Dicksonia*, and I give now (on Pl. I) a few illustrations for explanation.

In Pl. I, fig. 2, is one pinna of the original (specimen) figured in Dr. Oldham's and Prof. Morris' Rájmahál flora (1862), Pl. XXX^{3} ; it represents a sterile frond; fig. 2*a* shows a pinnula enlarged, with the only veins visible.

Fig. 1 represents two pinnulæ of a specimen which was not figured before, but which I found amongst those brought, I believe, by Mr. V. Ball. The specimen somewhat resembles that mentioned above (figured in the Rájmahál

¹ Zittel and Schimper: Handbuch der Palæontologie, II Bd., 1te Lieferung (by Schimper). Only so much (Algæ Filices) is as yet published.

² The specimen figured on Pl. XXIX, fig. 1, is the same as that on Pl. XXX.

flora, Pl. XXX), but the pinnulæ are in fructification throughout; figs. la and 1b are enlarged portions of the right pinna, to show the position of the fructification.

When discussing the Dicksonia bindrabunensis,¹ I alluded to this fructification, writing (l. c.): "If I am not wrong then, the species which Messrs. Oldham and Morris described as *Pecopteris lobata*, O. M., could perhaps, from the fructification, be put rather also near this form." If we compare these two forms, we shall find a great analogy as regards the position of the sporanges, but in *Dicksonia bindrabunensis*, Fstm., they are much smaller, while in *Pecopt. lobata*, Oldh. and Morr., they occupy almost one-half of the pinnula-lobe and are very prominent; they are placed on that half of the lobe which is turned away from the rhachis of the pinna; towards the apex of the pinna the pinnulæ become less lobed, until they become single lobes themselves, and in these apical lobes also the fructification is of the same character. I could find no trace of veins by most careful search.

This form then increases the number of the fossil species of *Dicksonia*. It is from Bindrabun, N.-W. Rájmahál hills.

TÆNIOPTERIDEÆ.

ANGIOPTERIDIUM SPATHULATUM. Pl. I, fig. 3.

1862-77. Gondwána flora, Vol. I, p. 39 (Oldh. and Morr.), 97 (Fstm.)

I figure this specimen, which is of exactly the same type as those figured on Pl. VI of Messrs. Oldham and Morris' Rájmahál flora (l. c.), only because it comes from a new locality; it occurs together with another plant to be mentioned hereafter on the same rock specimen, which bears the inscription "Sikragullee," and there is little doubt that it comes from the small outlier of Rájmahál beds on the Ganges, east of Sahibganj. It is preserved in a light olive-green shale, the impressions of the leaves being quite white.

LYCOPODIACEÆ.

I have only recently introduced this order into the list of the Upper Gondwana fossils (*l. c.*, p. XIX), with one species formerly described in quite a different class.

LYCOPODITES GRACILIS, Oldh. Morr., sp. (Fstm., 1880), Pl. II, fig. 2.

1862. Oldham and Morris: Rájmahál flora, Pl. XXXIII, figs. 1-2. (Name in the explanation of the plate only).

Digitized by Google

- 1877. Feistmantel: Cheirolepis, Rájmahál flora, Cont. p. 139.
- 1880. Lycopodites, Gondwana flora, Vol. II, preface, p. xix.

When first describing this plant (l. c.), I placed it by the characters then known to me with Cheirolepis; but I then already noted in my diagnosis: "Planta tota habitum Lycopodii immitante."

¹ Gondwána flora, Vol. I, p. 77.

PART 1.] FEISTMANTEL-Notes on some Rájmahál plants.

Lately I discovered a specimen in our collections with an apical cone-like fructification, entirely after the manner of some living *Lycopodiaceæ*. The leaflets (which, however, in this specimen do not show well the tetrastichous disposition) become, from the place of ramification, smaller and smaller towards the apical portion of the branchlets until they pass into the cone-like fructification. There can be little doubt about the *lycopodiaceous* nature of this fossil now, which was already suspected also by Prof. Heer in his Jurassic Flora of Eastern Siberia.

Fig. 3a shows some of the branchlets enlarged.

This species is from Bindrabun, N. W. Rájmahál hills.

CYCADEACEÆ.

Order: ZAMIEÆ.

Sub-order : DICTYOZAMIER.

DICTYOZAMITES INDICUS, Fstm. Pl. II, fig. 1.

I give another figure of this interesting species, because it is rather rare in the Rájmahál hills, and because it comes from a new locality, Sikragali, the same, as already mentioned before, with Angiopteridium spathulatum, with which it occurs on the same rock specimen.

CONIFERÆ.

PALISSYA INDICA, Oldham & Morr. sp. (Fstm.) Pl. II, figs. 3, 3a.

There is little doubt that the specimen figured at present belongs to the above species, although it somewhat differs in the manner of ramification from the original drawing in Messrs. Oldham and Morris' Rájmahál flora (Pl. XXXIII), and given again from the type specimen in my Jabalpúr flora.¹ On the other hand, it shows a great analogy with a plant which Prof. Heer in his paper on the permian plants from Fünfkirchen in Hungary² described as *Voltzia hungarica*, Hr. There is little of *Voltzia*-like appearance in the latter species, a view which we find also expressed in Mr. D. Stur's review of Heer's paper.³ Prof. Heer's figure resembles indeed much more a *Palissya*, and seems to differ from my present drawing by its size only. Figs. 2b and 3b (Heer, l. c., Pl. XXII) show the leaflets with the middle vein, but the drawing gives an impression as if there were three veins, just as is the case with one of the original drawings of *Palissya indica* (Oldham and Morris, l. c.),⁴ but which appearance was pointed out by Prof. Heer's figures of the leaflets with the middle vein.

If Prof Heer's fossil is, as from the figure it would seem most naturally to be,

¹ Gondwána flora, Vol. II, pt. 2, Pl. VIII, fig. 1.

² Jahrb. d. kongl. Ungarischen Geol. Anstalt, V Bd., 1 Ht., 1876, pp. 12-14, Pls. XXII XXXII.

³ Verh. der. kk. Geol. Reichsanstalt, 1877, p. 43.

⁴ Pl. XXXIII, fig. 6.

Digitized by Google

also placed with this genus, it would represent a permian forerunner of the subsequent mesozoic forms. The table of sequence would be this—

Palissya indica, Oldham sp. (Fstm.) Upper Gondwana (Jura), India.

Palissya brauni, Endl. Rhät. and Lias, Europe.

Palissya hungarica, Heer. sp. Permian, Europe.

Our specimen is from Bindrabun, N. W. Rájmahál hills.

Fig. 3a shows enlarged leaflets with the middle vein.

CHEIROLEPIS comp. MÜNSTERI, Schimp. Pl. II, fig. 4.

1877. Feistmantel: Golapili flora. Gondwána flora, Vol. I, p. 185, pl. VII, fig. 8.

I have figured this fragment of a coniferous plant, because it is the first of this kind from the Rájmahál hills. An entirely like form was figured by myself from the Rájmahál group of Golapili (l. c. above), and a similar form was mentioned by me from the sandstones near Jangaon in the Central Provinces, which I also tried to correlate with the Rájmahál group.

The present specimen is from Bindrabun, N. W. Rájmahál hills.

The list of localities where fossils in the Rájmahál group were found (∇ ol. I, Gondwána flora, preface) is therefore here increased by one locality—

Sikragali, on the Ganges, about 2 miles east of Sahibganj. The fossils identified from here are:

Angiopteridium spathulatum, Schimp. (Pl. I, fig. 3). Dictyozamites indicus, Fstm. (Pl. II, fig. 1).

EXPLANATION OF PLATES.

Plate I, figs. 1, 2.	Dicksonia lobata, Oldham, sp., formerly described as Pecopteris.
	Fig. 1, two pinnæ of a specimen in fructification. Fig. 2, a
	pinna of a sterile specimen. Figs. 1a, 1b, and 2a, enlarged
	portions. From Bindrabun, Rájmahál hills.

- Fig. 3. Angiopteridium spathulatum, Schimp. One specimen of the typical form.
 - From Sikragali, N. Rájmahál hills.
- Plate II, flg. 1. Dictyozamites indicus, Fstm. From Sikragali.
 - " 1a. One leaflet enlarged, showing the netted venation.
 - Fig. 2. Lycopodites gracilis, Oldham, sp. (Fstm.) The specimen in natural size, showing the dichotomous branchlets, with apical cone-like fructification.
 - Fig. 2a. Is a cone-bearing portion enlarged.
 - From Bindrabun, N. W. Rájmahál hills.
 - Fig. 3. Palissya indica, Oldham, sp. (Fstm.), somewhat differing in appearance from the type-specimen, but no doubt the same species. Fig. 2, leaflets enlarged. From Bindrabun.
 - Fig. 4. Cheirolepis comp. Münsteri, Schimp. The same form as from Golapili, Lower Godávari, and Jangaon, Central Provinces. From Bindrabun.



GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA.

.

Digitized by Google

.

1 11111

· . -• · · · . . • •



GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA
PART 1.]

Travelled blocks of the Punjab.—By A. B. WYNNE, F. G. S., Geological Survey of India.

In his recent paper on the pleistocene deposits of the Punjab, Records, Geological Survey, India, Vol. XIII, Part 4, Mr. Theobald makes several allusions to my remarks concerning the Punjab erratics: the manner in which he does so calls for some slight notice and correction on my part.

My colleague is not warranted in regarding me as an antiglacialist, merely because I reserved my opinions for satisfactory evidence completely connecting the presence of the transported masses with its cause.

At page 222 his interpretation of my account of the Indus-borne detritus on the crests of hills in the Chica range, leads to the supposition that I represented the Indus as having left its present rocky channel through the Niláb Gásh gorge since this gorge was formed. A moment's intelligent consideration of the problem will show that when the river may have left its gravel or boulders at the elevations named above its banks, the present channel could have had no existence. While here advocating the persistence of the river in occupation of its present course, elsewhere in the paper he urges its having wandered, and points out the likelihood of a lake basin having extended from Attock to Ráwalpindi through which the Indus flowed. As at least one depression in the range lying between these places is occupied near Jani-ke-sang with supposed lacustrine deposits, and as parts of the Potwár plateau are higher than parts of the Chita range, it is very possible an ancient lake may have occupied the whole country, in which case the Indus might have traversed many portions of its area.

The occurrence of coarse detrital deposits of Indus and local drift on the summits of the hills over Kálabágh, supports my suggestion that the river once occupied a higher general gradient (Memoirs, Geological Survey, India, Vol. XVII, pt. 2, p. 25).

Before the imaginative and superficial idea that the Indus boulders on the Chita range were carried there by human agency, for building houses or adorning the graves of patriarchs, can be accepted, the ruins of the villages and graves should have been pointed out amongst the lofty crags and jungles of these mountains. The natural piety called into court should prevent the desecration of the graves which ought to be found wherever the boulders occur, but are not. This idea is quite too simple to have escaped any one familiar with the habits of the people, when on the ground, and having suggested itself was abandoned for lack of support, while that any mountaineers who ever permanently inhabited these heights carried heavy stones up the mountain to build with when stones abounded on the spot, is an argument almost as valuable as any other I find in the paper before me. Carts do not exist in that part of the country, and camels are only driven there to feed on the dense jungles. Arguing from analogy, if these mountains were formerly inhabited, it would be more likely the nomads, who invade them still to some extent, would employ their camels to carry tents rather than stones.

At page 224 my colleague errs in saying these hills are composed of vertically

U

bedded limestone. There is scarcely a conceivable curve or angle of bedding which their rocks do not present, and it seems silly to be obliged to point out that if changes in surface configuration such as are spoken of in the paper have taken place, no atom of the hill surface on which Indus deposits may have originally rested could now be preserved, particularly in the lower parts of the hills. Hence the discovery of transported matter in the mountain fissures could have no more importance or the reverse than their occurrence where I found them far above the road on which my friend seems to have made his observations.

As stated in my writings and repeated in the paper referred to, I have always, like most others, been compelled to associate the presence of the Punjab transported masses with ice agency, and I find myself no further convinced of the fact after perusal of my friend's elaborate paper.

Mr. Theobald's effort is to connect this association of the blocks with one particular kind of ice agency, namely, glacier transport versus any other variety. Readers of his papers must decide for themselves how far he has succeeded in doing so, or how far his assertion that he has found the key to the whole mystery goes to prove his point. The question is complex, tempting to imaginative speculation, and involving large assumptions as to former conditions. As yet it seems to me nothing has been advanced to show where the glaciers made over the blocks to water carriage, or why one ice-agency should be preferred to the other where the blocks have reached the lower levels. Neither glaciers nor icebergs wander over the Indus plains at present, and the blocks certainly prove that conditions have changed since their wanderings ended, but this any person could have seen before Mr. Theobald advocated the former extension of Himalayan glaciers into India; and Mr. Campbell went there, saw his ground, and contested his conclusions. The controversy seems unfortunately to have left the question exactly where it was at first, so far as conclusive evidence is concerned.

A. B. WYNNE.

Kingstown, December 3rd, 1880.

Appendix to "Palaontological notes on the Lower Trias of the Himalayas."-By C. L. GRIESBACH, F. G. S., Geological Survey of India.

A passage in my "Palcontological notes on the Lower Trias of the Himalayas" in Records, Vol. XIII, pages 103 and 104, has been pointed out to me as misleading, and I now freely admit that the sentence, as framed by me, may be construed into a quite opposite meaning from what I intended. Unfortunately I was away in Kandahar when the paper was printed, or else I should probably myself have noticed the sentence when looking over the proof-sheets, and would have supplemented it. To prevent further misunderstandings, I hasten to explain its meaning.

Last year when working out the fossils of the lowest trias (Werfen beds) of the Niti and Milam sections of the Himalayas, I searched the literature for any evidence of a former identification of this lowest of the Alpine trias in Asia, and the ouly reference which seemed to me to indicate the existence of these beds in other parts of our Himalayas I found in Stoliczka's "Geological sec-

tions across the Himalaya mountains," Memoirs, Vol. V. pt. I, p. 24, under the heading "Carboniferous—Kuling series," where he says: "The white quartzite of the Muth series is, to the south of the village, overlaid in one place by a small thickness of a carbonaceous, concretionary shale, and a little further to northeast by undoubted triassic limestone. I regret not to have observed any fossils in the concretionary shale, which is followed a little higher up by triassic limestone also. In so far I am not certain whether the *true* carboniferous rocks rise here higher up and overlie the white quartzite."

These dark shales only, still included by Stoliczka under the Kuling series, I referred to in my paper above quoted. The true carboniferous (Kuling series) group I found developed just in as great force in the Niti section as they are in the North-West Himalayas, and I describe them briefly in my paper "Geological notes," Records, Vol. XIII, p. 85.

Of course I should not have thought to include these shales amongst the trias, if I had not found amongst Stoliczka's collections in our museum, still partly undescribed, specimens also marked "Kuling," which bear a close resemblance to my triassic forms. The rock, a dark soft micaceous shale, is identical with my Werfen beds; it contains in considerable numbers a *Productus*, not identical with the *P. semireticulatus*, Mart., from Kashmir, but rather resembling the *Productus latirostratus*, Howse, var., which I found associated with true lower triassic forms in the Hundes Himalayas. Besides that fossil I found in Stoliczka's collection one specimen of the *Posidonomya angusta*, Hau., which is found in great numbers in the upper Werfen horizon of my own section. I therefore concluded that some of the shales of the Kuling series, as described by Stoliczka, may probably belong to the triassic group, but certainly not the whole Kuling series, which contains also at Niti and other points of my ground true carboniferous fossils.

Note on some Mammalian Fossils from Perim Island, in the collection of the Bombay Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society.—By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India.

I have just had an opportunity of examining a collection of vertebrate fossils from the Siwaliks of Perim Island, in the collection of the Bombay Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, and as some of these specimens are of high interest, I think it may be not out of place to record the following notes concerning them. I may add that I hope we may be able to obtain these fossils either permanently or temporarily in the Indian Museum for full description and proper exhibition in our fine classified collection of Indian tertiary vertebrata.

Perhaps the most important fossils in the collection are an upper and a lower jaw of *Dinotherium indicum* (Falc.), each containing the last two molars.

These specimens are unique; the two last lower molars have been hitherto unknown, and the upper molars are only known by a half of a tooth figured and described in a late number of the 'Palseontologia Indica' ("Siwalik and

Digitized by Google

111

Narbada Proboscidia"). These specimens are of gigantic size, and in hs respect quite different from D. pentapotamiæ (Falc.).

The next specimen is the entire palate of *Acerotherium perimense* (Falc. and Caut.), showing the whole of the molar dentition: the molars are but little worn, and quite perfect. This splendid specimen exhibits the dentition of this species in a more complete form than any of the still undescribed specimens in the Indian Museum. No complete specimen of the dentition of A. perimense was known to Falconer. There is also a very fine specimen of the lower jaw of the same species.

The last specimen I have to notice is the ramus of a mandible of a trilophodont mastodon, containing the penultimate and last two molars. The teeth seem to agree in form with those of A. pandionis (Falc.), but are smaller than any of the Siwalik specimens. I cannot, however, be sure of the specific identification without comparison.

Bombay, January 14th.

DONATIONS TO THE MUSEUM.

Donors.

A goblet of green serpentine from Shiggar, Baltistán.

RICHARD LYDEKKER, ESQ.

Twelve specimens of minerals: calcite (2); cryolite; diaspore; göthite (2); olivenite; persbergite; pucherite; pyrargyrite; vivianite (2).

THE BRITISH MUSEUM.

Thirteen specimens of American minerals: allanite; barcenite; cerargerite; cerussite (argentiferous); galena (argentiferous and auriferous); guadalcaz arite; itacolumite; livingstonite; pyrargyrite (with stromeyerite, fahlerz, etc.); samarskite; sipylite; tellurium; zircon.

J. W. MALLET, Esq., M.D., University of Virginia.

1000

Graphite, fireclay and crucibles.

THE PATENT PLUMBAGO CRUCIBLE COMPANY, Battersea, London. Asbestos, crude and manufactured (16 specimens).

JOHN BELL, ESQ., Southwark Street, London. Twenty-one samples of hones, grindstones, etc.

MESSES. THOS. HAZEON & CO., 150, Leadenhall Street, London. Twenty-five specimens of cast and rolled iron, and of the raw materials.

THE LOW MOOB IRON WORKS, Bradford, Yorkshire. A series of 94 specimens illustrating the manufacture of China-ware.

MESSES. MINTON & Co., Stoke-upon-Trent. A series of volcanic specimens collected in the neighbourhood of the Puy de Dome, Auvergne.

F. R. MALLET, ESQ.

Samples of fire-clay, fre-bricks, and two large vases. THE GAENKIEK FIRE-CLAY CO., Glasgow.

Gaunister (crude and ground), gannister bricks, tuyeres, etc. MESSES. J. GRAYSON, LOWOOD & Co., Attercliffe Road, Sheffield.

Donors. Natural phosphates, and artificial manures; raw and burnt pyrites. MESSES. W. & H. M. GOULDING & Co., Dublin. Eight samples of carbolic acid, picric acid, and aurine. MESSES. CHAS. LOWE & Co., Manchester. Nineteen samples f coal-tar and its products. F. C. CALVERT & Co., Manchester. Seventeen specimens: ores, fuel, flux, slag and pig-irons. MESSES. W. BAIED & Co., Glasgow. Raw and ground fire clay and fire-bricks. GLENBOIG FIRE-CLAY COMPANY, Glasgow. Thirty specimens illustrating the raw materials and the manufacture of crown and sheet glass. MESSES. CHANCE BROTHERS & Co., Birmingham. Sicili n asphalte, raw, compressed, and manufactured. THE LIMMER ASPHALTE PAVING COMPANY, 85, Gracechurch Street, London. Forty samples of mineral pigments, and specimens illustrating the manufacture of white lead. MESSES. W. W. AND R. JOHNSON AND SONS, 737, Commercial Road, London. Forty specimens of aniline dyes and other products. ACTIEN-GESELLSCHAFT FÜE ANILIN-FABRIKATION, Berlin. Specimens of petroleum from Jaba and Fatehganj, Punjáb. J. BLACKBURN, ESQ., Oriental Gas Company, Calcutta. Crinoidal limestone (? triassic) from south of Kulail, Chamba. J. BRIDGES LEE, ESQ. Lava from Vesuvius. DE. J. ANDERSON, F.R.S. Asbestos, salt, magnetic iron-ore, pyrites & galena, from the Kurram valley, Afghanistan. H. A. ANDERSON, ESQ., C.S., Assistant Political Officer. Fire-clay from Dowlaishwaram, Godávari District. T. VANSTAVEBN, ESQ., Dumagudiem. Oriental topaz (yellow sapphire) and true topaz from Ceylon. W. KING, Esq. Carapace of Trionyx (from a Siwalik collection purchased in London). By exchange, ANATOMICAL MUSBUM, Cambridge.

ADDITIONS TO THE LIBRARY.

FROM 1ST OCTOBBE TO 31ST DECEMBEE 1880.

Titles of Books.

Donors.

BALL, V.- On the Coal-fields and Coal Production of India (1880), 8vo, pht., Dublin.

THE AUTHOR.

" V.—On the mode of occurrence and distribution of Diamonds in India (1880), 8vo, Dublin.

THE AUTHOB.

BOURGUIGNAT, J. B.—Recherches sur les ossements de Canidæ constatés en France à l'état fossile pendant la période quaternaire, 8vo, pht., Paris.

R. LYDEKKER, ESQ.

Titles of Books.

CHANTRE, E.-De l'origine orientale de la Métallurgie (1879), 8vo, Lyon.

P. N. Boss, Esq.

- " E.—Relations entre les Sistres Bouddhiques et certains objets de l'âge du Bronze Européen (1880), 8vo, Lyon. P. N. BOSE, Esq.
- DAWKINS, W. BOYD.—Early man in Britain and his place in the Tertiary Period (1880), 8vo, London.

Engineer's Journal, Vols. VII to IX (1864-66), 4to, Calcutta.

HENRY, JAMES.—Aeneiden, or Critical, Exceptical and Aesthetical Remarks on the Aeneis, Vol. II (continued) (1879), 8vo, Dublin.

Тив Аυтнов.

HOOKEE, J. D., AND BENTHAM, G.—Genera Plantarum, Vol. I, pts. 1 and 2, Vol. II, and Vol. III, pt. 1 (1862-1880), 8vo, London.

HOOKEE, SIE WM. JACKSON.-Species Filicum, Vols. IV-V (1862-64), 8vo, London.

In Memoriam. Joseph Octave Delepierre, born 12th March 1802, died 18th August 1879 (1880), 4to, London.

N. TRÜBNER, Esq.

JEFFREYS, J. G.-British Conchology, Vols. IV-V (1867 and 1869), 8vo, London. List of Articles sent by the Sub-Committee for Bengal to the Melbourne International Exbi-

bition of 1880 (1880), flsc., Calcutta.

Тие Сомміттев.

LOMAS, JOHN.-Manual of the Alkali Trade (1880), 8vo, London.

LYDEKKER, R.-Elementary Sketch of the Osteology of Birds (1880), 8vo, pht.

Тив Аптнов.

" R.-Sketch of the history of the Fossil Vertebrata of India (1880), 8vo, pht.

ТНВ АUTHOR.

- MILLER, S. A.—North American Mesozoic and Cænozoic Geology and Palæontologie (1880), 8vo, Cincinnati.
- SCHIMPEB, W. PH., AND ZITTEL KARL, A.-Handbuch der Palæontology, Band I, lief. 4, and II, lief 2 (1880), 8vo, München.

SPON'S Encyclopædia of the Industrial Arts, Manufactures and Commercial Products, Division II (1880), 8vo, London.

VOEKOV, A.-On cotton soil in India (Czernozom v. Indie) (1880), Roy. 8vo, St. Petersburg.

PERIODICALS, SERIALS, &c.

American Journal of Science and Arts, 3rd Series, Vol. XX, Nos. 117-119 (1880), 8vo, New Haven.

THE EDITORS.

Annalen der Physik und Chemie, New Series, Band XI, Nos. 9-10 (1880), 8vo, Leipzig. Annales des Mines, 7th Series, Vol. XVII, livr. 2 and 3 (1880), 8vo, Paris.

L'ADMINS. DES MINES.

Digitized by Google

Annales des Sciences Géologiques, Vol. XI, No. 2 (1880), 8vo, Paris.

- Annales des Sciences Naturelles, 6th Series, Zoologie et Paléontologie, Vols. IX, Nos. 5-6, and X, Nos. 1-3 (1880), 8vo, Paris.
- Annals and Magazine of Natural History, 5th Series, Vol. VI, Nos. 34-36 (1880), 8vo, London.

Archiv für Naturgeschichte, Jahrg. XLVII, heft 1 (1880), 8vo, Berlin. Athenseum, Nos. 2758-2772 (1880), 4to, London. [VOL. XIV. Donors. PART 1.]

Donors.

- Titles of Books. Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Band IV, Nos. 8-11 (1880), 8vo, Leipzig,
- Bibliothèque Universelle. Archives des Sciences Physiques et Naturelles, 3me Période, Vols. 111, Nos. 6 and 7, and IV, Nos. 8 and 9 (1880), 8vo, Geneva.
- Bibliothèque Universelle et Revue Suisse, 3me Période, Vol. VII, Nos. 7-9, and VIII, No. 10 (1880), 8vo, Lausanne.
- Botanisches Centralblatt, Nos. 29-46 (1880), 8vo, Leipzig.
- Cambridge University Reporter, No. 298 (1879), 4to, Cambridge.

Chemical News, Vol. XLII, Nos. 1084-1098 (1880), 4to, London.

Colliery Guardian, Vol. XL, Nos. 1026-1040 (1880), fol., London.

- Das Ausland, Nos. 36-49 (1880), Roy. 8vo, Stuttgart.
- Geological Magazine, New Series, Decade II, Vol. VII, Nos. 10-12 (1880), 8vo, London.

Iron, Vol. XVI, Nos. 399-413 (1880), fol., London.

Journal de Conchyliologie, 3rd Series, Vol. XX, No. 3 (1880), 8vo, Paris.

Journal of Science, 3rd Series, Vol. II, Nos. 82-84 (1880), 8vo, London.

- London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, 5th Series, Vol. X, Nos. 62-64 (1880), 8vo, London.
- Mining Journal, with Supplement, Vol. L, Nos. 2349 to 2363 (1880), fol., London.
- Nature, Vol. XXII, Nos. 566-576, and XXIII, Nos. 577-580 (1880), 4to, London.
- Naturæ Novitates, Nos. 16-23 (1880), 8vo, Berlin.
- Neues Jahrbuch für Mineralogie, Geologie und Palseontologie, Band II, heft 3 (1880), 8vo, Stuttgart.
 - ditto, I. Beilage-Band, heft Ditto ditto 1 (1880), 8vo, Stuttgart.
- Palseontographica, Band XXVII, Lief. 1, and Supplement III, Lief. 8 and 9 (1880), 4to, Cassel.
- Petermann's Geographische Mittheilungen, Band XXVI, Nos. 9-11 (1880), 4to, Gotha.
- Petermann's Geographische Mittheilungen, Supplement, Nos. 62 and 63 (1880), 4to, Gotha.
- Professional Papers on Indian Engineering, 2nd Series, Vol. IX, No. 38 (1880), 8vo, Roorkee.

THOMASON COLLEGE OF CIVIL ENGINEEBING.

Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science, New Series, Vol. XX, No. 80 (1880), 8vo, London.

The Zoological Record for 1878, Vol. XV (1880), 8vo, London.

GOVERNMENT SELECTIONS, &c.

BANGALOBE.-Annual Report on the Administration of Mysore and Coorg for 1864-65 (1866), 8vo, Bangalore.

Home, Rev., & Agei. Department.

BOMBAY .-- CHAMBERS, F.-- Brief sketch of the Meteorology of the Bombay Presidency in 1878 and 1879 (1879-80), 8vo, Bombay.

METEOBOLOGICAL REPORTER, BOMBAY.

CHAMBERS, F.-Abnormal variations of Barometric Pressure in the Tropics and 94 their relation to Sun-spots, Rainfall, and Famines (1880), fisc., Bombay.

METEOROLOGICAL REPORTER, BOMBAY.

Report on the Administration of the Meteorological Department in Western India for 1878-79, and 1879-80 (1879-80), flsc., Bombay.

METEOBOLOGICAL REPORTER, BOMBAY.

Titles of Books. Donors. BOMBAY.-- Report on the Administration of the Bombay Presidency for 1870-71, 1875-76. 1877-78, and 1878-79 (1871, 1876, 1878, and 1879), 8vo, Bombay. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. Selections from the Records of the Bombay Government, New Series, No. 50. Correspondence relating to canal clearances in the Hyderabad Collectorate in 1857-58 (1859), 8vo, Bombay. Home, Rev., & Agei. Department. New Series, No. 82. Ditto ditto, Report on the Question of Irrigation in the Yerla Valley, with a Map and ten Plans, &c. (1864), 8vo, Bombay. HOME, REV., & AGRI. DEPARTMENT. New Series, No. 100. Ditto ditto. Papers ralating to the Pilotage System of Bombay (1866), 8vo., Bombay. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. Ditto ditto. New Series. No. 55. Correspondence showing the measures taken by Syuds of Tatta in Scind to reduce the expenses on their birth, marriage, and funeral coremonies (1862), 8vo, Calcutta. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPAUTMENT. Ditto New Series, Nos. 120. ditto. ,, 121, and 128. Police Reports of the Northern and Southern Divisions of the Bombay Presidency for 1868 to 1870 (1871-72), 8vo, Bombay. Home, Rev., & Agei. Department. New Series, Nos. 116, Ditto ditto, 122, 131, 137, and 142. Annual Police Reports for 1868, 1869, and 1871 to 1873, Province of Sind, (1871, 1873, and 1874), 8vo, Bombay. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. New Series, Nos. 127. Ditto ditto. 136, and 141. Annual Reports of the Bombay Jails for 1870, 1872, and 1873 (1872-74), 8vo, Bombay. Home, Rev., & Agei. Department. New Series, No. 149ditto, Ditto .. Descriptive and historical account of the British out-post of Perim. Straits of Báb-El-Mándeb (1877), 8vo, Bombay. HOME, REV., & AGRI. DEPARTMENT. Ditto ditto, New Series, No. 152-Archæological Survey of Western India. Report on the Architectural and Archæological Remains in the Province of Kachh ((1879), 8vo, Bombay. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. BRITISH BURMA.-Report on the Administration of British Burma during 1876-77 (1877). 8vo, Rangoon. Home, Rev., & Agri. Department. The British Burma Gazetteer, Vol. I (1880), 8vo, Rangoon. CHIEF COMMISSIONEE OF BRITISH BURMA, CENTRAL PROVINCES. MOBRIS, J. H .- Reports on the Administration of the Central Provinces for 1871-72 and 1879-80 (1872 and 1880), 8vo, Nagpur. CHIEF COMMISSIONEE, CENTRAL PROVINCES.

,,

,,

161

Titles of Books. HYDERABAD. SAUNDERS, CHARLES B .- Report on the Administration of the Hyderabad Assigned Districts for 1870-71 (1871), 8vo, Hyderabad.

Home, Rev., & Agei. Department.

INDIA.-Annual Report of the Administration of the Province of Oudh for 1870-71, 1871-72, and 1873-74 (1871, 1872, and 1874), 8vo, Lucknow.

HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT.

List of Civil Officers holding gazetted appointments under the Government of India ... in the Home, Revenue, and Agricultural Department, the Legislative and Foreign Departments, on 1st July 1880, 8vo, Calcutta.

HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT.

- Rajputana Gazetteer, Vol. III (1880), 8vo, Simla. •• FOREIGN DEPARTMENT.
- Registers of original observations in 1879, reduced and corrected, July to October ... 1879 (1880), 4to, Calcutta.

METEOR. REPORTER TO GOVT. OF INDIA. Selections from the Records of the Government of India, Foreign Department,

- No. 171. Report on the Administration of the Persian Gulf Political Residency and Muskat Political Agency for 1879-80 (1880), 8vo, Calcutta. FOREIGN DEPARTMENT.
- Ditto ditto, Foreign Department, ,, No. 48. Journal of the Salween Surveying Expedition, with map, and Report of the Karennee Mission (1865), 8vo, Calcutta.
 - HOME, REV., & AGRI. DEPARTMENT. Ditto ditto. Foreign Department. No. 49. Journal of the Salween Surveying Expedition during 1864-65. with route map (1865), 8vo, Calcutta.

Home, Rev., & Agri. Department.

- Ditto ditto. Home Department, No. 70. ... Papers relating to the question of forming a separate Judicial Branch of the Civil Service in India, and the Legal Training of Civil Servants (1868). 8vo, Calcutta.
- HOME, REV., & AGRI. DEPARTMENT. ditto, Ditto Foreign Department. ., Nos. 59 and 81. Reports on the Political Administration of Rajputana for 1865-66 and 1866-67, Part II, and 1869-70 (1867 and 1870), 8vo. Calcutta.
 - HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. Ditto ditto. Home Department, No. 76. A collection of Despatches from the Home Government on the subject of Education in India, 1854-1868 (1870), 8vo, Calcutta.

Home, Rev., & Agri. Department.

- Ditto Home Department, No. 89. ditto, Minute by the Honble J. FitzJames Stephen on the Administration of Justice in British India (1872), 8vo, Calcutta.
- HOME, REV., & AGBI. DEPARTMENT. Department of Agricul-Ditto ditto, ture, Revenue, and Commerce, No. 106. Extracts from the Reports of the Trigonometrical, Topographical, and Revenue Surveys of India for 1871-72 (1873), 8vo, Calcutta.

HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT.

Donors. Titles of Books. INDIA .- Selections from the Records of the Government of India, Foreign Department, Nos. 124, 131, 142, and 150. Reports on the working of the Thuggi and Dacoity Department for 1874 to 1877, with returns (1876 and 1878), 8vo, Calcutta. Home, Rev., & Agei. Department. ditto, Home Department, Ditto 91 Nos. 133, 137, 143, and 147. Reports on publications issued and registered in the several Provinces of British India during 1874 to 1877 (1877-78), 8vo, Calcutta. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. Home Department, ditto. Ditto No. 136. Papers relating to the expediency of having a distinct Judicial Branch of the Indian Civil Service (1877), 8vo, Calcutta. HOME, REV., & AGEI: DEPARTMENT. Home Department, Ditto ditto, No. 157, Vagrant Bands of Foreigners (1879), 8vo, Calcutta. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. Home Department, ditto, Ditto 99 No. 155. Correspondence regarding the Law of Land Sale (1879), 8vo, Calcutta. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. ditto, Home, Revenue, and Ditto ,, Agriculture Department, No. 167. Papers relating to the crime of robbery by poisoning (1880), 8vo, Calcutta. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. Synoptical Volumes VIII and IX, Great Trigonometrical Survey of India (1878), ,, 4to, Dehra Dún. GEBAT TRIGONOMETRICAL SURVEY. MADRAS.-Annual Report on the Administration of the Madras Presidency during 1869-70 (1870), 8vo, Madras. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. Selections from the Records of the Madras Government, No. 25. Papers relating ... to the Uncovenanted Civil Service Examinations held in 1869-70 and 1870-71 in the Madras Presidency (1872), 8vo, Madras. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. ditto, No. 50. Papers relating Ditto ,, to the Survey and Settlement of the Trichinopoly District (1876), 8vo, Madras. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. No. 52. Report on the Ditto ditto, treatment of Leprosy with Gurjun oil and other remedies in hospitals of the Madras Presidency (1876), 8vo, Madras.

Home, Rev., & Agei. Depabtment.

Digitized by Google

162

Titles of Books. Donors. MADRAS.-Selections from the Records of the Madras Government, No. 15. Reports on important Public Works for 1853 (1855), 8vo, Madras. HOME, REV., & AGRI. DEPARTMENT. Ditto ditto, No. 19. Report on Vaccination for 1868 (1869), 8vo, Madras. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. ditto. Nos. 24 and 29. Annual Ditto Reports of the Civil Dispensaries for Session 1869-70, and for calendar year 1870 (1871-72), 8vo, Madras. HOME, REV., & AGRI. DEPARTMENT. Nos. 28 and 35. Reports Ditto ditto. on Public Instruction in the Madras Presidency for 1870-71 and 1871-72 (1871-72), 8vo, Madras. HOME, REV., & AGBI. DEPABTMENT. Ditto ditto, No. 30. Annual Report on the Madras Medical College for 1871-72 (1872), 8vo, Madras. HOME, REV., & AGEI. DEPARTMENT. SEWELL, ROBERT .- Report on the Amrávati Tope and Excavations on its site in 1877 (1880), 4to, London. MADRAS GOVERNMENT. PUNJAB.-Selections from the Records of the Government of the Punjab and its Dependencies, New Series, Nos. XVI and XVII (1880), 8vo, Lahore. PUNJAB GOVERNMENT. TRANSACTIONS, PROCEEDINGS, &c., OF SOCIETIES, SURVEYS, &c. BEBLIN .-- Monatsbericht der König. Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, June to August (1880), 8vo, Berlin. THE ACADEMY. Zeitschrift der Deutschen Geologischen Gesellschaft, Band XXXII, heft 2 (1880), 8vo, Berlin. THE SOCIETY. BOSTON .- Memoirs of the Boston Society of Natural History, Vol. III, Part I, No. 3 (1879), 4to, Boston. THE SOCIETY. Occasional papers of the Boston Society of Natural History, No. III (1880), Svo, Boston. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Boston Society of Natural History, Vol. XX, Parts 2 and 3 (1879-50), 8vo, Boston. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, New Series, Vol. VII (1880), 8vo, Boston. THE ACADEMY. BRUSSELS.-Bulletin de la Société Belge de Géographie, No. 4 (1880), 8vo, Bruxelles.

THE SOCIETY

[VOL. XIV.

Titles of Books. Donors. BRUSSELS.-Commission de la Carte Géologique de la Belgique. Texte Explicatif du Levé Géologique de la Planchettes de Boisschot et d'Aerschot, with 2 Maps (1880), 8vo, Bruxelles. GEOL. SURVEY, BELGIUM. ERTBORN, O. VAN .- Texte Explicatif du Levé Géologique des Planchettes de ,, Heyst-op-den-berg, de Putte, et de Lierre (1880), 8vo, Bruxelles. GEOL. SURVEY, BELGIUM. Texte Explicatif du Levé Géologique des Planchettes de Malines et de Beveren ,, (1880), 8vo, Bruxelles. GEOL. SURVEY, BELGIUM. CALCUTTA .- Indian Museum .- Annual Report. List of Accessions, and Selected Extracts of Minutes, April 1879 to March 1880 (1880), Svo, Calcutta. H. B. MEDLICOTT, Esq. Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, New Series, Vol. XLIX, Part I, ,, No. 3, and Part II, No. 3 (1880), 8vo, Calcutta. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, Nos. VII and VIII (1880), 8vo, ., Calcutta. THE SOCIETY. Memoirs of the Geological Survey of India, Vol. XVI, Part 3 (1880), 8vo. Calcutta. THE SUBVEY. Palæontologia Indica.-Fossil Flora of the Gondwána System by Dr. O. ,, Feistmantel, Vol. III, Part 2, and Indices to Vols. I and II (1880), 4to, Calcutta. THE SUBVEY. Records of the Geological Survey of India, Vol. XIII, Part 4 (1880), 8vo. ,, Calcutta. GEOL. SURVEY OF INDIA. CAMBBIDGE.-Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Vol. VII (1880), 8vo, Cambridge, Mass. MUSEUM OF COMPARATIVE ZOOLOGY. Memoirs of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Vol. VII (1880), 4to, ,, Combridge, Mass. MUSEUM OF COMPARATIVE ZOOLOGY. DUBLIN .- Journal of the Royal Dublin Society, No. XXX (1863), and No. XLV, Vol. VII (1878), 8vo, Dublin. THE SOCIETY. Scientific Proceedings of the Royal Dublin Society, New Series, Vol. I, Parts ,, 1-3, and Vol. II, Nos. 1-6 (1877-1880), 8vo, Dublin. THE SOCIETY. Scientific Transactions of the Royal Dublin Society, New Series, Vols. I, Nos. 1-12, 93 and II, Series 1 and 2 (1877-80), 4to, Dublin. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy, Series II, Vol. II, No. 1, & III, No. 4 ,, (1879-80), 8vo, Dublin. THE ACADEMY.

Digitized by Google

164

Donors. Titles of Books. DUBLIN.-Royal Irish Academy.-Canningham Memoirs, No. 1 (1880), 4to, Dublin. THE ACADEMY. Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy, Vol. XXVI, No. 22 (1879), 4to, Dublin. ,, THE ACADEMY. Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy, Irish Manuscript Series, Vol. I, Part 1 (1880), 4to, Dublin. THE ACADEMY. EDINBURGH.-Transactions of the Edinburgh Geological Society, Vol. III, Part 3 (1880). 8vo, Edinburgh. THE SOCIETY. GLASGOW.-Glasgow University Calendar for 1880-81 (1880), 8vo, Glasgow. THE UNIVERSITY. Königsberg.-Schriften der Physikalisch-Okonomischen Gesellschaft zu Königsberg. Jahrg. XVI to XX, Abth. 1 and 2 each, and XXI, Abth. 1 (1875-80), 4to. Königsberg. THE SOCIETY. LONDON.-Journal of the Society of Arts, Vol. XXVIII, Nos. 1451-1460, and XXIX. Nos. 1461-1464 (1880), 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY. Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society of Great Britain and Ireland, New Series. Vol. XII, part 3 (1880), 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY. Journal of the Iron and Steel Institute, No. I, 1880, 8vo, London. 97 THE SOCIETY. Journal of the Linnean Society of London, Zoology, Vol. XIV, No. 80, XV, ... Nos. 81-83, and Botany, Vol. XVII, Nos. 103-107, with List of Fellows for 1879 (1879-80), 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY. Transactions of the Linnean Society of London, 2nd Series, Zoology, Vol. II, ., Part 1, and Botany, Vol. I, Parts 7 to 9 (1879-80), 4to, London. THE SOCIETY. Journal of the Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland, Vol. X. No. 1 (1880), 8vo, London. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London, Parts II and III (1880), 8vo. London. THE SOCIETY. Transactions of the Zoological Society of London, Vol. XI, Part 2 (1880), 4to, ,, London. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Royal Scciety of London, Vols. XXX, Nos. 203-205, and XXXI, No. 206 (1880), 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY. Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Vols. 170, Parts 1 and 2, and 171, ... Part 1, with List of Fellows for 1879 (1879-80), London. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Royal Geographical Society, New Series, Vol. II, Nos. 8-11 (1880), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

Titles of Books. Donors.
LONDON.—Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society, Vol. XXXVI, No. 143 (1880), 8vo, London.
THE SOCIETY.
LYON.—Association Lyonnaise des Amis des Sciences Naturelles, Compte Rendu, 1874 and
P. N. Bose, Esq.
" Museum D'Histoire Naturelle de Lyon. Rapport sur les Travaux exécutés pendan. l'année 1874 (1875), 8vo, Lyon.
P. N. Bose, Esq.
MADRID.—Boletin de la Sociedad Geografica de Inaurid, vol. 1A, Nos. 1—5 (1880), 500, Madrid.
THE SOCIETY.
MANCHESTER.—Transactions of the Manchester Geological Society, Vol. XV, No. 18, and XVI No. 1 (1880), 8vo. Manchester.
THE SOCIETY.
MELBOURNE.—Report of the Mining Surveyors and Registrars for quarter ending 30th June 1880, fisc., Melbourne.
MINING DEPARTMENT, VICTORIA.
MINNBAPOLIS.—Bulletin of the Minnesota Academy of Natural Sciences for 1877 (1878),
Svo, Minneapons. THE ACADEMY.
MoscowBulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscow, Vol. LV, No. 1
(1880), 8vo, Moscow. The Society.
MUNICHMeteorologische und Magnetische Beobachtungen der k. Sternwarte bei, München,
THE ACADEMY.
", Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-physikalischen Classe der k. b. Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, 1879, heft. 2-4, and 1880, heft. 1 (1879-80), 8vo, München.
THE ACADEMY.
PARIS.—Bulletin de la Société Géologique de France, 3rd Series, Vol. VI, No. 9, and VII, No. 5 (1880), 8vo, Paris.
THE SOCIETY
", Comptes Rendus du Congrès International de Géologie, No. 21 (1878), 8vo, Paris. PHILADELPHIA.—Journal of the Franklin Institute, 3rd Series, Vol. LXXX, Nos. 3—5
(1880), 8vo, Philadelphia. The Institute.
" Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society, Vol. XVIII, No. 105
(1880), 5vo, 1 materplan The Society.
PISAAtti della Societa Toscana di Scienze Naturali: Processi Verbali, Vol. IV, fasc. 2 (1880), 8vo. Pisa.
THE SOCIETY.
SALEM.—Bulletin of the Essex Institute, Vol. XII, Nos. 1—6 (1880), 8vo, Salem. THE INSTITUTE.
ST. PETERSBURGBeiträge zur keuntniss des Russischen Reiches, 2nd Series, Band II-III
(1879-80), 8vo, St. Petersbourg.
IHE ACADEMI

- -

-

Digitized by Google

; ; ; -

Titles of Books	. Donors.
ST. PETERSBUR	G.—Bulletin de l'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Petersbourg, Vols. XXV, No. 5, and XXVI, No. 1 (1879-80), 4to, St. Petersbourg.
	THE ACADEMY.
,,	Mémoires de l'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Petersbourg, Vol. XXVII, Nos. 2-4 (1879), 4to, St. Petersbourg.
	THE ACADEMY.
VIBNNAJahr	rbuch der kais. könig. Geologischen Reichsanstalt, Baud XXX, Nos. 2 and 3 (1880), 8vo, Wien.
	THE INSTITUTE.
" Ver	handlungen der k. k. Geologischen Reichsanstalt, Nos. 13 and 14 (1880), 8vo, Wien.
	The Institute.
WASHINGTON.	-Annual Report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institute for 1860 and 1878 (1861 and 1879). Syo, Washington.
	THE INSTITUTE.
**	Smithsonian Contributions to Knowledge, Vols. XIX-XXI (1874-76), 4to, Washington.
	THE INSTITUTE.
,,	Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections, Vols. XI (1874) to XV (1878), 8vo, Washington.
	THE INSTITUTE.
33	Report of the U. S. Geological Survey of the Territories, Vol. XII (1879), 4to. Washington.
	THE SUBVEY.
98	U. S. Geological and Geographical Survey Miscellaneous Publications, No. 12. ALLEN, J. AHistory of North American Pinnipeds (1880), 8vo, Washington.
	. The Survey.
Чоконама.—	Mittheilungen der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Natur und Völkerkunde Osta- siens, August 1880, flsc., Yokohama.
	THE SOCIETY.
"	Transactions of the Asiatic Society of Japan, Vol. VIII, part 3 (1880), 8vo, Yokohama.

THE SOCIETY.

January 1881.

Digitized by Google

Digitized by Google

.

•

RECORDS

OF THE

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA.

Part 2.]	1881.	•	[May.

The Náhan-Siwalik unconformity in the North-Western Himalaya.—By H. B. MEDLICOTT, M.A., Geological Survey of India.

A recent examination of some sections in the Náhan hills necessitates a provisional change in the presentation I have hitherto given of some structural features of the Sub-Himalayan rocks.

In the notices of the Himalayan region published by the Survey, a leading structural feature has been indicated by the demarcation of the sub-region designated as the lower Himalaya, or outer Himalaya—an area about 50 miles wide of deeply eroded hills having an average elevation of 8,000 feet, some summits ranging up to 12,000, between the first great range of snowy mountains and the zone of Sub-Himalayan hills bordering the plains. The eastern limits of this sub-region are not known; on the west it terminates abruptly on about the 77° of longitude, where its boundary runs north and south for a length of 80 miles. That this feature is an aboriginal character of the mountain-structure, and not principally a result of denudation, is abundantly evident; not only do the boundaries of the formations conform to it, but also the strike of the rocks; it is, moreover, contiguous with the ground where the main gneissic axis of the great Himalayan range itself splits up into three minor terminal axes, those of the Dhauladhár, of Chamba and the Pir-Panjál, and of the Zánskar range.

Two of the great Himalayan torrents, the Beás and the Sutlej, flow in an east-to-west course across this terminal boundary of the lower Himalayan area.

The detailed rock-structure of the lower Himalaya exhibits peculiarities in strong contrast with what prevails elsewhere. This is betrayed even by the simple hill-shading of the maps, despite the surveyor's practice to represent all ridges as spurs of some contiguous ridge, unless a stream flows between; the great irregularity of the outlines and of the stream courses is most marked. It is in the geological boundaries that this character comes out most strikingly: elsewhere the formations observe a very marked conformity to a prevailing strike; whereas these same boundaries, on entering the lower Himalayan area, curve about in a most serpentinous manner. This is fairly exhibited on the map published with my Memoir on the area between the Ganges and Rávi (Memoirs, Vol. III, Pt. 2).¹ Traces of each type of structure are to be seen in the region where the other type prevails: as in the general distribution of the lower Himalayan formations parallel to the mountain system, and especially in the steady strike of the Sub-Himalayan ranges; and, to the north-west, there is the marked embayment of the upper tertiary rocks at the gorges of the Rávi and the Chináb.

The question is, what interpretation to put upon this apparent contrast of relations of the same rock-series in these contiguous areas. In the western area, where the greater regularity of feature prevails, the structure seems resolvable into great flexures of the strata, often folded, with inversion and faulting; and this is the view adopted (still with partial reserve) for the Dhauladhár and the Pir-Panjál, and for the ranges of tertiary rocks outside them. In view, then, of the presumed fact that the Dhauladhár is but a diminished result of the forces which produced the great Himalayan axis to the south-east, can we look upon the structural features of the lower Himalaya as also an extreme result of the same causes and conditions? In both sections the newer rocks seem to pass beneath the older : in the Dhauladhár this occurs only on the south side as in a simple folded flexure; whereas in the ridge between the valleys of the Beás and the Sutlej, the gneiss seems to overlie the slates on both sides; still this might only be a doubly folded flexure, in which the bulging over took place impartially on either side. In the former case, however, the inverted sequence of the rocks is recognisable; whereas in the latter the newer rocks seem to be in normal order up to the junction; and this observation (if correct) would suggest the supposition that the relative positions of the two rock series is in some degree aboriginal; a view which would also make the irregular outline of the boundary easy of explanation. But it would be useless to drive this point further while the data of observation are so deficient.

It is in the boundaries of the older rocks that this character of irregularity of direction is most conspicuous in the lower Himalaya, but in the tertiary series also it is very well marked as compared with the western region; and for the lower member of this series the cause of this peculiarity is sufficiently evident. In the strip of eccene rocks forming the border of the lower Himalayan subregion in this its terminal area, we have the base of that formation exposed, not in a single outcrop along a general flexure, but in a serrated outline and in outliers as weathered out in minor folds of the supporting rock. It seems demonstrable that these basal tertiary rocks were here laid down upon a deeply eroded surface of the slate and limestone series, when these had as yet undergone little or no contortion, and that there were in this position many local interruptions, and presumably a general limit, to the tertiary deposits; for, strata many hundred feet higher in the series than those upon • which the tertiary clays rest, occur in their immediate neighbourhood, and, if the older rocks were then still uncontorted (as seems to be proven), these must have stood up as eminences in or at the edge of the nummulitic water basin. The beds overlying the nummulitic clays do, accordingly, occur resting against the higher members of the older rock

¹ The work, of which this map is the result, was principally directed to the tertiary rocks, so the boundaries of the older rocks are only sketched in from a few points of observation.

PART 2.] MEDLICOTT : The Nahan-Siwalik in the N. W. Himalaya.

series. Evidence to the same effect is found in the great variation of thickness of the nummulitic clays within short distances. Thus it seems provisionally. established that the characters of the boundary of the eocene rocks with the older formations of the lower Himalaya are primarily and largely due to original features of contact.

The question of stratigraphical breaks within the tertiary series of the Sub-Himalaya is a troubled question. Such groups have been well established in the corresponding series in Sind ; but in the Sub-Himalayan zone, trans-Sutlej, and especially trans-Jhelum, all observers (including myself) have hitherto failed to detect any definable line of demarcation, from the eocene beds up to the newest Siwaliks. Although more or less distinct petrographical characters can be assigned to the several horizons throughout, they are so transitional from one to the other that the question of mapping them becomes one of extreme nicety; for not only are the changes gradual in vertical sequence, but horizontally, certain characters affect zones exceptionally, e.g., as a general rule conglomerates are restricted to the top group, but in the neighbourhood of the great rivers this character affects much lower horizons. I strongly suspect that in this way fossils have been recorded as topmost Siwalik, though really from a lower horizon ; for there has been a distinct tendency to set down every conglomerate as upper Siwalik. I have suggested (Manual, p. 554) the almost likelihood of the successive zones of conglomerates in the Kángra area being, some or all, of different ages; and I am persuaded (l. c. p. 544) that in the Kathmandu section the conglomerates of the inner tertiary zone are not the same as those of the outer (true Siwalik) one.

I have, however, insisted (Manual, Chap. XXII) on the demarcation of tertiary groups on the lower Himalayan border, at least in the Náhan area, in a much more definite manner than the conjectural distinctions just indicated. The lower tertiary (Sirmur) series there is only found within the lower Himalayan area on the edge of which they are upraised, and so attain an elevation never reached in the Sub-Himalayan zone, from which they are separated on the south by what I have called the "main boundary," as being that along which continuously the slaty rocks of the mountains are cut off completely from the newer tertiary deposits. It is a well-defined line, and along it on the border of the Sirmur area the slates are still frequently exposed beneath the eocene rocks. The two closely connected questions then arise, — what is the nature of that boundary? and what the relation of the tertiary rocks on either side of it? If the boundary were simply a fault, the presumption would be evident that the rock-series on either side had originally been one and the same. No approach to identification can, however, be made out. The nummulitic marine beds (Subáthu) form the most distinctive group at the base of the Sirmur series, and they are largely developed at many points to the north of and at the boundary; but no trace of them has been found in the Náhan zone to the south, although great thickness of rocks are exposed in many sections. Notwithstanding their exceptional position within the lower Himalayan boundary, the eccene (Subáthu) rocks are included in the Sub-Himalayan tertiary series, as being in closely transitional relation with overlying deposits in which the well-marked petrological types of the Sub-Himalayan rocks are well developed; and this occurs in the Sirmur area as well as in the Sub-Himalayan ground proper to the north-west. Thus there cannot fail to be a certain resemblance between the upper members (Dagshai and Kasauli groups) of the Sirmur series and the rocks of the adjoining area. It would be easy to find red clay or purplish grey sandstone in the Náhan zone indistinguishable from those of the Dagshai beds; but in several particulars, and as a whole, the strata of the Náhan band present nothing like the correspondence to those of the Dagshai and Kasauli groups that should be expected on the supposition of their having been once parts of the same deposits, only separated by a faulted fissure. If they are not of the same age, the presumption is that the main boundary is not primarily (as between these formations) a fault, however much movement may have taken place along it. Other features of this boundary have been cited in support of this view (Manual, p. 139).

There remains the outermost zone of tertiary rocks and its relation to those of the Náhan zone, a correction with reference to which, as previously represented, it is the object of this note to bring forward.

Here, again, we have to take up similar facts and arguments to those just noticed : there is a strongly-defined line of contact of very dissimilar rocks. lf this is to be regarded as simply a fault, and the rocks on either side of it as normally continuous in regular superposition, we should have to descend through several thousand feet of the outer series before finding anything like the Náhan rocks, if even then identification could be fairly made out. This objection of mere magnitude would be of small weight by itself: but there are other facts suggesting doubts in the same direction. *Firstly*, there is the abrupt irregularity of direction in this boundary, without any sign of cross-faulting in the newer strata. It may be said that this is a theoretical objection; for, who can lay down the limits of natural possibilities in this respect? We find, however, in this very region, and in these same formations, numerous instances where the character of regularity is taken as the strongest evidence of the features being true fissure dislocations, along great axes of flexure. Secondly, there is in this case some strong evidence that is not forthcoming in that of the "main boundary:" the newer rocks at the contact are principally coarse conglomerates made up very largely of sub-angular blocks, often of a cubic foot in size, of the sandstones of the Náhan zone. This fact alone is often taken as proof positive of the unconformity of the rocks so related; for it demonstrates that the older of the two were extensively disturbed and denuded at the time of formation of the newer close to the present line of contact, which is the meaning of "unconformity" in its fullest sense.

Thirdly—and this brings us to the correction I have to notice—I represented an actual section of the contact from which it could be absolutely asserted that no faulting whatever had occurred there; that it was only a steep surface of original contact, modified by subsequent crushing. This was an obligatory fact, and as such it put all other evidence into the shade or out of sight; and I have paraded it accordingly as settling the question of the Náhan-Siwalik unconformity at this spot at least, and as pointing a lesson in the interpretation we

PART 2.] MEDLICOTT: The Náhan-Siwalik in the N. W. Himalaya.

might or should sometimes put upon so-called faults. The resistance made to both of these views has brought this section into much prominence, and I have long been anxious that some one should verify it. Mr. Theobald had ample opportunity to do so when he was sent to that very ground to extend my work, and especially to search for fossils; but the only correction he has ever suggested to the "Tib section" was, that the outer rocks at the contact (c. of fig. 2) might not be true Siwaliks-an objection that is quite untenable. As Mr. Oldham was working in that neighbourhood, I requested him to have a look at my crucial section, and if necessary to employ labour to clear the ground. This he had done: and his account of the result made me determine to visit the spot again myself, as I could not make so great a renunciation without a personal inspection. After my visit I have now to announce that the representation I gave of the section was altogether erroneous, and the lesson to be henceforth connected with it is quite of another kind: I can only hope that the experience may be useful to my junior colleagues and others, as an 'awful warning' of how an earnest observer may be blinded by proclivities, though, at the time the observation was made, I did not suspect the prominent use I should make of it. As an apology to the public, I can only mention it as an example of a risk that must attach to our work in India, where we rarely have an opportunity of visiting any spot even a second time.

To make the case more clear, I have reproduced the diagram (fig. 1) I gave in my original description, ¹ and also a *fac simile* (fig. 2) of the sketch in my field-



book (dated 31st January 1861). There are two points of error to be corrected: the beds d do not, as I thought, belong to the series c. I had not then detected the highlevel gravels subsequently noticed on these hills in the region of the Sutlej, and to which these beds d belong; the slight slope in them (somewhat exaggerated in the sketch) is only one of deposition. A more serious error was committed regard-

ing the bed b, in placing it with the series a, whereas it really belongs to c. I find it duly noticed in my field-book that this clay is of the type of the outer series, but I was decided by its apparently complete conformity to a,—which fact, if correct, would overrule the other one; but a dip is not easily observed in a mass of clay, and I believe I was mistaken; the more so as I am also compelled to think that the appearance given to the beds c, as dipping down upon b, was put in from a broken section, the mass b being really some yards in front of the face c,—the apparent position of the two rocks in the same plain of

¹ Memoirs, Vol. III, Pt. 2, p. 108.

173

bedding being due to a slight obliquity in the strike and in the point of view. To sum up—the Tib junction, for all that can be said from what is seen of the contact, may be a fault, in the full sense of that term.

A word is necessary as to how I failed to see all this when I visited the spot for the purpose, in 1878, as mentioned in the note on page 538 of the Manual. I took it on my way in the morning of a very long day's work, at the end of which I was to meet my conveyance (*doolie*) to take me to Umballa. After 18 years' contemplation of a false sketch, to which I had attached no scale, the original features had become so transfigured in my mind, that I failed to recognise the ground from which I had made the picture. I expected to find a neat little section, for the key I had so boasted of could easily fit within a few square feet,—so masterful a key would, indeed, be more likely to be exposed on this scale—and not finding it, I made the very admissible conjecture in such ground, that it had been covered by a fall of rock. I now see that my sketch was meant to represent the whole side of a hill.

Having cried *peccavi* and given amends, I wish to state briefly how we stand in consequence. As regards the *unconformity*, it wouldseem superficially that I ought to retract much of what I remarked upon Mr. Theobald's presentation of the Sub-Himalayan tertiary series in the last number of these Records. I am unable to abate one word of those remarks. No doubt the unconformity is an insuperable difficulty to the picture there given of these formations, as one unbroken sequence of deposits, through which we are left to suppose the Himalaya were bumped up, like a jack-in-a-box, along a series of great faults. But it will be seen from previous statements that the unconformity must stand fast, despite the occlusion of the particular form given to it by the exploded "Tib section." I believe that the essential features of that form will yet have to be adopted.

The influence of this feature upon the nomenclature of these formations remains an optional matter, to be regulated on paleeontological grounds, according to the connotation it may be ultimately thought desirable to give to the term Siwalik, whether to include the whole neogene ossiferous series of the Sub-Himalaya, or only the upper groups of that series.

On the score of the 'fault question,' I do bitterly regret the collapse of the Tib section. It stood as a compelling instance of a condition of rock-formation that is hardly ever taken into account, yet which must be of frequent occurrence. The distinguishing marks of such original features are peculiarly liable to obliteration, and thus the features themselves to be confounded with all steep surfaces of contact, as faults, to the utter misunderstanding of the natural history of the rocks.

Note on some Gondwana Vertebrates.—By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India.

Subject.—The recent acquisition by the Indian Museum of some additional remains of vertebrates from the great Gondwána series has once again directed my attention to these interesting fossils, and has led to the penning of the following notes. These notes are given here in the present form, because it will be some time before I shall have an opportunity of describing these remains more fully, and also because I have still a hope that Professor Huxley may even yet be induced to favour the scientific world with his promised descriptions of the Indian Hyperodapedon and Parasuchus. The remains which form the subject of the present note are certain remains of labyrinthodonts lately obtained, among other fossils, from the Panchet group of the Gondwána series near Rániganj, by Mr. Ball and myself¹; and also some remains of reptiles, collected by Mr. Hughes in the South Rewah coal-field, which have been referred to the horizon of the Maleri beds of Nágpur.³

Mandible of a labyrinthodont.—One of the most interesting specimens among the Panchet collection is the greater portion of the right ramus of the mandible of a small labyrinthodont, showing the articular cavity, and the greater part of the dental bone. The length of the fragment is 1.5 inches, and its greatest width 0.17 inch. It shows the bases of six anchylosed teeth, displaying the characteristic labyrinthodont structure, and decreasing in size from before backwards. The teeth are sub-elliptical in cross-section, the longer diameter being transverse. The anterior teeth are nearly as wide as the jaw, while the posterior tooth is extremely minute, and placed very close to the articular cavity. The external surface of the jaw exhibits the characteristic labyrinthodont sculpture: the portion remaining is quite straight.

It now remains to consider to what animal this jaw should be referred. Of the known labyrinthodonts from the Panchet rocks, the jaw of Gonioglyptus longirostris,⁸ as is shown by numerous specimens in the Indian Museum, differs very widely in the form of the articular portion from the lower jaw under consideration, and is further distinguished by the circumstance that the teeth do not approach within a considerable distance of the articular cavity; the portion immediately in advance of this cavity being produced into a sharp edge,⁴ while it is quite broad and flat in the new jaw. The jaw of the only other definitely determined labyrinthodont from the Panchet rocks-Pachygonia incurvata⁵-differs in toto from the present specimen. In figures 14 and 15 of Plate III of my own memoir on the Panchet vertebrates, a portion of a lower jaw of a vertebrate is figured, which has been provisionally referred to a second species of Gonioglyptus. The teeth in that jaw are distinguished from those of the present specimen by being antero-posteriorly, in place of transversely, elliptical. In figure 5 of Plate VI of Professor Huxley's memoir, a fragment of a labyrinthodont jaw with three teeth is figured; these teeth much resemble those of the present species.

¹ I may remind my readers that the vertebrate fossils from these beds have been described firstly by Professor Huxley, and subsequently by myself in the 4th series of the "Palseontologia Indica," Pts. I and III.

² See supra, Vol. XIII, p. 189 (Feistmantel).

* Loc. cit., Part I, Pl. VI, fig. 2.

⁴ The specimen figured by Professor Huxley does not exhibit this portion in a perfect condition, though it is well shown in other specimens in the Indian Museum.

⁶ Huxley, *l. c.*, woodcut, p. 6. This figured mandible, the one on which the genus was established, has been in the keeping of Professor Huxley, who promises to return it to the Indian Museum, Calcutta.

No European or American form known to me agrees with the new Panchet fossils, and hence it seems probable that this jaw indicates an entirely new form of labyrinthodont. The materials available are, however, so slight that it would, perhaps, be rash to found a new genus on the present evidence.

Skull of Gonioglyptus longirostris.—A fragment of the right half of the anterior moiety of the skull of Gonioglyptus longirostris, from the Panchet rocks, shows somewhat more of the anterior extremity than occurs in the original specimen.¹ The new specimen demonstrates, as far as it goes, the correctness of Professor Huxley's restoration.

Crocodilian from the Rewah rocks.—In noticing the fossils obtained by Mr. Hughes from the presumed Maleri horizon in South Rewah, Dr. Feistmantel^a has referred certain crocodilian remains to the still undescribed *Parasuchus hislopi* of Huxley, of which the type specimens are in the Indian Museum. My own examination of this series of fossils leads me to the belief that my colleague's identification is somewhat mistaken.

The best preserved remains of the Rewah crocodilian comprise, a basi-occipital, the angular portion of a mandible, and some dermal scutes, one of which is of large size. The scutes appear to be indistinguishable from those of the Maleri *Parasuchus*, but as these do not appear to me to be distinguished by any well marked characters from those of the European *Belodon*, their evidence may be counterbalanced by other circumstances. The basi-occipital evidently belongs to a crocodilian with ununited pterygoids, and differs very markedly from the type basi-occipital of *Parasuchus hislopi*. As, however, this last is still undescribed, though named by Professor Huxley, it would be useless to attempt to distinguish the two; and it must suffice for the present to say that they are very different. The Rewah fossil is much like the corresponding part of the skull of *Belodon*. The articular portion of the mandible differs from the corresponding part in *Crocodilus* and *Belodon*; the same part in the Maleri crocodilian is unknown.

It would be rash with the present materials to say whether the Rewah crocodilian is generically distinct from its Maleri cousin, but there appears to me but little, if any, doubt as to its specific distinctness.

Hyperodapedon.—Dr. Feistmantel in noticing the remains of the Hyperodapedon from Rewah observes "jaws apparently of the same animal as that of the Central Provinces, but three of the jaws are larger than any hitherto known from the same place." In this identification my colleague's conclusion agrees with my own; and it affords considerable probability for the correlation of the Rewah and Maleri vertebrate horizons.

As noticed by Dr. Feistmantel, some of the remains of the Rewah Hyperodapedon indicate a much larger animal than any hitherto known, and I shall first of all endeavour to show by how much this animal exceeded in size the European H. granti, and shall then notice certain points which seem to indicate its specific distinctness from the latter.

The largest of the Rewah specimens of Hyperodapedon consists of the hinder part of the right palato-maxillary bone, showing a large series of conical teeth,

¹ Huxley, *l. c.*, Pl. VI, fig. 1.

² Loc. cit.

PART 2.] LYDEKKER : Note on some Gondwana Vertebrates.

in regard to the arrangement of which more will be said below. The portion remaining, judging from comparison with other specimens, certainly does not comprehend more than two-thirds of the complete bone. The length of one row of teeth is $4\frac{1}{2}$ inches; the complete bone would, therefore, be at least $6\frac{1}{2}$ inches in length. Now, according to Professor Huxley' the length of the corresponding dentigerous bone in a large specimen of H. granti is 2.75 inches; and the whole skull to which this bone belongs has a length of not less than 7 inches. On this proportion the skull of the Rewah species would have been about 16 inches in length. Hence, as the European species is considered to have been about 6 feet long, the Indian one would have been about 16 feet. Now, with regard to the relations of the two forms, Professor Huxley' observes-"I At present propose to give a full account of the Indian species elsewhere. I merely wish to observe that, for the most part, they belong to animals of a larger size than the Elgin specimen, but I have not yet discovered any grounds for regarding them as specifically distinct." The Indian specimens acquired subsequently to those sent by the late Dr. Oldham to Professor Huxley do appear to me to present characters affording a primâ facie probability of belonging to a species distinct from the European.

In his description of the upper dentition of the European *H. granti*, Professor Huxley shows that in all his specimens the teeth externally to the characteristic median groove, form either one or two rows; while the smaller teeth, internally to this groove, always form two rows.

In the Indian forms the smaller specimens of the maxillo-palatines, as in the one of the right side figured on page 153 of the "Manual of Indian Geology," generally show two rows of teeth on the inner side of the groove, and at least three rows on the outer side. In larger specimens there are generally three or four rows of teeth on the inner side, and four or five on the outer side of the groove; the linear arrangement on the outer side being frequently very obscure. This greater complexity of the dental system of the Indian form, coupled with the larger size which it seems to attain, inclines me to think that it may not improbably belong to a distinct species, for which I would propose the provisional name of H. huxleyi, after the founder of the genus.

One other point worthy of notice presents itself before concluding. It may have struck the reader that as the Gondwána lizard presents an extraordinarily wide triturating surface on the palati, while according to Professor Huxley the lower jaw of the European form only presents a knife-like edge surmounted with a single row of anchylosed teeth working in the groove in the upper jaw, it is difficult to see how all the upper teeth are to be worn away. This apparent difficulty is partly explained by three fragments of the Indian lower jaws, of which only four are known. These specimens show that the ramus not only carried a single row of teeth on its superior trenchant edge, but that it was furnished with another row on its outer surface. Some specimens show that this outer row was set on a ledge of the ramus, looking nearly upwards, while others are on the flat external surface of the ramus, looking nearly outwards. As these latter teeth

¹ Quar. Jour., Geol. Soc., 1869, p. 144.

² Loc. cit., p. 146.

B

are not worn it is not improbable that they did not come into use till late in the life of the animal, when their relative position may have become like that of the teeth in the first mentioned jaw. Otherwise the jaw must have been set in such a manner as to admit the possibility of the attrition of the vertical external surface of the ramus in the one or other of the rows of palatine teeth. The presence of these lateral teeth in the lower jaw of the Gondwána lizard would seem to lend countenance to the probability of its being distinct from its European congener.

Observations on the Ossiferous Beds of Hundes in Tibet. By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., F.Z.S., Geological Survey of India.

It not unfrequently happens that scientific questions which have been apparently settled once for all, by the acquisition of new facts in relation to them, are subsequently again brought on the *tapis*, and the original decision either reversed or shown not to rest on such a sure basis as was at first supposed. Such reversals or modifications reflect no discredit on the propounders of the older views, which in many cases were the only legitimate conclusions to be drawn from the facts at command.

An instance, where there is a probability of the original conclusions drawn from them being liable to modification, is afforded by the case of the bones of fossil mammals brought across the Niti pass, from the plains of Húndes in Tibet.

A paper from the pen of the late Dr. Falconer, written probably as long ago as the year 1839, but never published till 1868, when it appeared in the posthumous "Palæontological Memoirs"¹ of that distinguished palæontologist, gives all the information then known in regard to the occurrence of these bones in the Húndes (Hioondes) plains. In that paper it was clearly demonstrated that these fossil bones were brought from beyond the Niti pass; the strata whence they were obtained were, however, still unknown. Of the bones at that time known, some were stated to belong to various forms of ruminants, among which a bovine animal, and a goat, whose horns were twisted after the fashion of the living Himalayan markhoor, were particularised. Other bones were determined to belong to a species of rhinoceros; while a single tooth was referred to a hyæna.

At a later period some of the best preserved of these and other bones from the same locality were figured in the "Fauna Antiqua Sivalensis" where they are referred to a rhinoceros and a horse.^e Other remains from the same deposits were also figured by Royle; notably the hinder portion of the skull of a ruminant which will be more fully noticed below.³

From the occurrence of the bones of a rhinoceros it was inferred by Dr. Falconer in the paper quoted that the Húndes plain had been raised to its present enormous elevation subsequently to the time when the animals of which the fossil

- Vol. 1, p. 173.
- ⁹ Pls. 76, 84.
- * "Illustrations of the Botany, &c., of the Himalaya mountains," pl. III., fig. 1.

178

Digitized by Google

remains are found flourished, since he thought it impossible that such an animal could have existed at an elevation of 15,000 feet, which is the present height of the plain. It has subsequently been considered possible that these fossil bones corresponded in age to some of those obtained from the Siwaliks of the outer Himalaya.¹

At a later period other bones were obtained by General Strachey,⁹ who inferred that they were derived from "the great undisturbed diluvial deposits filling the valley of the Upper Sutlej to a depth of 3,000 feet, and forming the wide plain of Handes." Notwithstanding this determination, General Strachey goes on to remark that "there is no direct proof that these beds are marine, no shells having been obtained from them; but I think on the whole that the probabilities appear to be in favour of this plain having been a true sea-bottom rather than of having been occupied by a detached body of freshwater." It is then concluded that these Húndes beds must have been raised from the sea line to a height of 15,000 feet without the slightest disturbance of their horizontality.

Among the bones obtained by General Strachey, some were referred to Equus and Hippotherium; but it is very questionable whether the materials were sufficient for the determination of the latter. A skull was considered to belong to either a goat or a sheep, while a vertebra was referred to a rhinoceros. The other determinations are doubtful.

This has been the extent of our knowledge till quite recently, when Mr. Griesbach has briefly noticed the Húndes diluvial beds in the last volume of this publication.³ In that passage it is stated that fragments of mammalian bones were obtained from these horizontal deposits, whence it is inferred that the specimens previously acquired came from the same source. The very important observation is also made that these horizontal deposits rest (of course unconformably) upon highly tilted tertiaries, which are presumed to correspond with some members of the Siwalik series of the outer hills.

There being now very strong evidence to show that the fossil bones are obtained from the horizontal deposits, it becomes a very grave question whether Dr. Falconer's and General Strachey's conclusions, that the Húndes plain has been raised from a far lower level to its present elevation since the time that the animals whose fossil remains are found there existed, can be maintained. The main line of evidence from which this opinion was arrived was from the supposed impossibility of the existence of a rhinoceros on these barren plains, and this is no doubt a very formidable consideration. It is, however, on the other hand, extremely difficult, though not impossible, to imagine how these plains can, as Dr. Falconer supposes, have been raised from an elevation of 7,000 to 15,000 feet, without disturbing the horizontality of the diluvial deposits. Such an hypothesis, it appears to me, can only be adopted on the most incontrovertible evidence, and I shall proceed to enquire whether such evidence is forthcoming in this instance.

I shall first proceed to show that there is a great probability that at least

- ¹ "Manual of Geology of India," p. 651.
- ² "Quar. Jour. Soc.," Vol. VII, p. 306.
- * p. 91.

some of the mammals, which lived during the deposition of the Húndes diluvium, were such as now inhabit similar altitudes; while the question of the possibility of the existence of a rhinoceros at the same elevation will subsequently be touched upon.

The skull of a ruminant figured by Royle has been already alluded to, but may now be considered more closely. The specimen was obtained by Messrs. Webb and Trail from the Tibetan traders, and is said to be at the present time in the collection of the Geological Society of London. No reference is made by Royle as to what kind of animal the skull belonged. Dr. Falconer, however, stated¹ that it belonged to a member of the cervine group. This determination is entirely erroneous, as can be seen at once by a comparison of a deer's skull with Royle's figure. The specimen, without doubt, belongs to some member of the antelope family. I have made a comparison of the figure with the skulls of all the Indian members of this group, and I find that it differs very widely from all with the exception of the skull of the Tibetan Pantholops hodgsoni. The skull of that animal differs from the skulls of the Indian antelope and gazelles by the greater proportionate length of that portion of the skull which is behind the horn-cores; by the very distinct depressions on the parietals for the temporal muscles; and also in the exceedingly small size of the frontal foramina at the base of the horn-cores. The skull of Pantholops is further noticeable for the great lateral compression of the horn-cores, in which character it differs most markedly from the Indian black buck.

In all the above mentioned points the imperfect skull figured by Royle agrees so closely with the skull of *Pantholops hodgsoni*, that it is impossible to say, without the original specimen, whether the two do not belong to the same species, and it may be safely asserted that there is every probability that they belong to the same genus. This being so, I venture to propose for Royle's specimen the provisional name of *Pantholops hundesiensis*, from the place where the skull was obtained.^a There is of course a certain element of uncertainty in determining the affinities of a fossil merely from the study of a figure, but the resemblances between the skull in question and that of *Pantholops hodgsoni* are so strong that they appear to justify the provisional assigning of the two to the same genus.

It thus appears, that, as far as can be determined, the bones of fossil mammals hitherto obtained from the plateau of Tibet may probably be referred to the following genera, viz.,—

Ruminants	(?) Pantholops.
	Bos or allied genus.
	(?) Ovis.
	Capr a .
Perissodactyles	Equus (? a Hippotherium).
	Rhinoceros.
Carnivores	(?) Hyæna.

¹ Loc cit, p. 179.

² I may express a hope that this paper may meet the eye of some member of the Geological Society, who may be induced to search out the fossil skull in question, and compare it carefully with the skull of P. hodgsoni.

PART 2.] LYDEKKER: Ossiferous Beds of Hundes in Tibel.

With regard to these genera, the first inhabits the highlands of Tibet only, being seldom, if ever, found below an elevation of 13,000 feet: it occurs abundantly on the Húndes plains. The genus Bos, in its original wide sense, is represented in Tibet at the present time by the yak (Bison or Pæphagus). Ovis and Capra, the latter in the form of the ibex, occur abundantly in many parts of the Tibetan region; while Equus is also a very characteristic Tibetan genus. As to the occurrence of Hyæna, I am somewhat doubtful as to correctness of this determination; but I see no reason why, since Felis occurs in Tibet, this genus should not formerly have had a similar range. As far, therefore, as these five genera go, there is no reason for supposing that their fossil representatives did not live at the present elevation of Húndes; while the first of them, if rightly determined, is strongly in favour of such a view.

There only remains the question of rhinoceros; and it may now be considered whether the evidence in favour of the deposition of the Húndes strata at a much lower level than their present one, as adduced from the presence of this genus, is so strong as was supposed by Falconer, and whether it is not counterbalanced by the evidence from the present position of the strata.

The improbability of a whole series of strata being carried up through an elevatory movement of many thousand feet, without the slightest disturbance of their original horizontality, has already been alluded to. The question may, however, be regarded from another point of view,—namely, the probable age of the Húndes diluvial strata.

In other parts of Tibet and the neighbouring regions of the Himalaya, there occur numerous instances of lucustrine and diluvial strata, which, except in Káshmir, are always horizontal, and which have been generally referred to some part of the pleistocene period, but, perhaps, sometimes also contain representatives of a part of the upper pliocene. In many parts it has been also inferred on strong evidence that these strata are of pre-glacial origin. Again, in all regions of the Himalaya where lower pliocene and miocene strata are known, these have always been subjected to a greater or less degree of disturbance, and in Káshmir this disturbance has acted on strata which are either of pleistocene or upper pliocene age. Again the Húndes diluvial beds rest on highly-disturbed tertiary strata, which have been provisionally referred to some part of the Siwalik (plio-miocene) epoch.

Now the known fauna of the Húndes beds comprises (with the exception of the alleged occurrence of *Hippotherium*, which does not appear to me to rest on sure grounds) only living genera of mammals, all the extinct Siwalik genera being conspicuous by their absence; and I accordingly come to the conclusion, from this land from the foregoing conditions, that the beds in question are probably of pleistocene age, and almost certainly not older than upper plicoene.¹

¹ In previous papers, not having entered at any length into the fauna and position of these beds, I have followed the old lead of classing them with the Siwaliks. It may be objected that my inductions as to the genera of mammals not occurring in these beds are based upon insufficient grounds. The teeth of mastodon, however, so common in the Siwaliks, if they occurred in the Húndes beds, would be the most likely specimens to attract the attention of travellers and traders.

Assuming, then, the probability of the at all events partly pleistocene age of the Hundes beds, a very great difficulty presents itself if we suppose these beds to have been deposited many thousands of feet below their present elevation. We have seen reason to believe that the analogous strata in other districts of the Himalaya were deposited before the glacial period, but, as they are of pleistocene age, not very much before this epoch. Hence, on Falconer's hypothesis, the Húndes beds would seem to have been deposited shortly before the glacial period, at a time when the Himalaya was only half its present height. This lands us in the dilemma either that the great glaciation of the Himalaya took place when these mountains were only half their present height, which is in the highest degree improbable; or that these mountains were raised a height of 8,000 feet during the pleistocene period, immediately before the glacial epoch. It is very questionable, on this latter view, whether there could have been time during this period for such a gigantic upheaval, unless we assume it to have been a sudden one, which is extremely unlikely.

On the other hand, if we consider that the Húndes beds are of post-glacial origin, then we must assume either that the great glaciation took place at the low elevation indicated above, or that after this glaciation the Húndes plain was first depressed 8,000 feet, and then again raised to its present level.

On the only other possible hypothesis, namely, that the Húndes beds are of lower pliocene or upper miocene age, we are compelled to traverse the induction as to the age of these deposits, gathered from analogous deposits in the neighbouring parts of the Himalaya; and we are further confronted by the fact that the tilted strata, unconformably underlying the Húndes diluvial beds themselves, probably represent the lower pliocene and upper miocene.

We see, therefore, that there are unquestionably very serious difficulties in accepting the Falconerian hypothesis; and we may now proceed to consider the question of the possibility of the former existence of a rhinoceros on the Húndes plains. Dr. Falconer, in treating of the present physical conditions and climate of Húndes, observes: "It is very certain that no rhinoceros of the present time could exist for a day in such a habitat; and if we suppose the Tibetan species to have been clothed with a dense fur, like the Siberian species, the carcass of which was brought to Pallas from latitude 64° on the banks of the Lena, still the tract could never have subsisted it; for although it has been urged by Dr. Fleming that the single analogy of anatomical structure in the living species is not sufficient to guide us to a conclusion, or even a conjecture, as to the habits, geographical distribution, or food, of extinct species, so clearly shown in the lichen food of the reindeer, still there is a limit to the force of this objection, and it only applies in certain cases. In the case of the Rhinoceros the incisive teeth are deficient in number, and the greater portion of them rudimentary in form and even deciduous. It may, therefore, be very safely predicated of all the species, fossil or existing, that they could never subsist by browsing on a herbaceous vegetation: they want the nippers which enable the horse and ruminants to subsist on low grass; and their food must either be derived from large reeds, shrubs, or trees, none of which are now found in Tibet."

Now, assuming that the incisive dentition of the Húndes rhinoceros was

similar to that of living species, which it probably was, it may be freely granted that the animal was not such a close grazer as a horse or sheep.¹ To any one, however, who has seen a rhinoceros in captivity plucking off tufts of comparatively short grass with its upper lip and tongue, it would seem not impossible for the animal to have obtained a certain amount of sustenance from the short, dry herbage now found in Tibet; though I do not think it possible that the animal could have existed on vegetation like the present.

There is, however, another very important element which enters into the question, and that is that there are some indications that the climate of Tibet was probably at one time more genial and moister than at present, and that, at all events, far more water was present in the valleys than now.

The Hundes plain, at whatever elevation it stood, must certainly have contained a large lake, or series of lakes, at the time of the deposition of the mammaliferous strata; and there is, therefore, every probability that the borders of this lake were fringed with a reedy and bushy vegetation, as is now the case in such parts of Tibet, where marshy valleys occur, as in the valley of the Chang-Chenmo river. Again, since a great number of the lakes in Tibet show unmistakable signs that in place of having always been, as now, salt lakes with no outlet, they were once filled to a much higher level (40 feet in some cases) than at present, and that other vast lakes existed where there are now barren plains, it has been inferred that the climate of Tibet was formerly much milder and moister than at present.² Now, even at the present time, with the aid of artificial moisture, grain is grown at an elevation of 15,000 feet' (the elevation of Hundes) in Tibet, and it accordingly seems that the want of moisture is one of the great elements of the present barrenness of the country. Hence it is only a fair induction to suppose that in former times the vegetation of Tibet, though of course never luxuriant, owing to the altitude, may once have been far more abundant than at present. The willow, poplar, tamarisk, pencil-cedar, and Eleaquus now forming the chief trees of Ladák, and some of which, according to General Cunningham, now thrive at an elevation of 13,500 feet, may not improbably in a moister and milder climate have had a greater development than at present, and may have grown at elevations where they are now unknown.

That a rhinoceros can live on the shoots and branches of kindred trees and bushes, together with grass, has been shown by Dr. Schmalhausen's researches on the composition of the vegetable matter found in the interstices of the teeth of the Siberian tichorine rhinoceros'. These researches have shown that the food of this animal consisted of the shoots and small branches of pines, larches, and birches, together with grass and heath.

¹ A horse, from having incisors in both jaws, is a closer grazer than a large ruminant like the ox; a small ruminant, like the sheep, however, in spite of the absence of upper incisors, can graze closer than the horse, on account of the smaller size of its bite.

³ See Cunningham's "Ladak," p. 190. The author has shown that shells now found living only at an elevation of 11,000 feet are found fossils at an elevation of 15,000. This of course cuts two ways.

Ibid.

• "Mem. Imp. Geol. Inst., Vienna," January 23rd, 1877.

A writer in the Geological Magazine¹ has lately shown that at the time the tichorine rhinoceros inhabited Siberia, the country at first enjoyed a far more genial climate than at present, and was probably covered with forests where all is now a barren waste. The animal was covered with a thick coat of fur and wool to withstand a certain amount of cold, but would seem to have been eventually swept away from these regions by the increasing cold of the glacial period and consequent barrenness of the country. That it did, however, live for a part of its time in an arctic climate is proved by the occurrence of its remains with the flesh and skin still undecomposed in the frozen soil of Siberia.

With this example before us, and seeing the probability that the plains of Húndes may formerly have enjoyed a more genial climate than at present, and a consequently more abundant vegetation, it does not seem to me to be entirely beyond the bounds of possibility that a rhinoceros may once have found the means of subsistence on these at present bleak and barren plains. The Húndes beds, as we said, judging from the analogy of very similar deposits in other parts of the Himalaya, were probably deposited before the last great extension of the glaciers, and we may thus imagine that it was this accession of cold that rendered the Tibetan plains uninhabitable for a time, since which they have never regained their warmer pre-glacial climate. Further, supposing that a rhinoceros did formerly inhabit these plains, it would not be necessary to assume that it lived there throughout the year, but rather that it was merely a summer visitor, and that during the colds of winter, which at such an elevation must always have been severe, it sought protection and food in the warmer valleys below.

There is, however, still another possible element in the case. Although we have considered it probable that any such elevation as that supposed by Strachey and Falconer has taken place since the deposition of the Húndes beds, yet the occurrence of a minor elevation since that epoch is by no means improbable. An elevation of 1,000 or 1,500 feet is a vastly different matter from the enormous elevations required by the above writers, and might have taken place with very little disturbance of the general relations of the country. If the Húndes plain were 1,500 feet lower than at present, during a warmer and moister epoch it would have unquestionably borne an abundant vegetation. The possibility of such a minor elevation is countenanced by the fact that the pleistocene lacustrine strata of the valley of Káshmír have undergone a considerable amount of diaturbance.

Finally, it appears to me that in the face of the foregoing considerations, it would be wiser, at least for the present, to suspend our judgment, rather than to commit ourselves to the uncompromising assertion that the diluvial beds of Hundes were deposited at an elevation variously estimated from 8,000 to 15,000 feet below their present level.

¹ Mr. H. H. Howorth. "The Mammoth in Siberia." December 1880.

PART 1.]

Notes on Mining Records, and the Mining Record Office of Great Britain; and the Coal and Metalliferous Mines Acts of 1872 (England).—By T. W. H. HUGHES, A.R. S.M., F.G.S., Geological Survey of India.

After the passing of the Metalliferous Mines Act of 1872 in England, making certain duties obligatory on owners of under-ground workings, the advisability of applying some of the provisions of the Act to India was actively discussed, and several minutes-amongst which was one by the Superintendent of our Survey-were recorded. The appointment of mining inspectors was not urged with any great force, the necessity for such officers finding little warrant in the state of the mineral industry of the country. The relations between miners. and proprietors were such that the former enjoyed a degree of almost perfect independence; there was no deficiency in ventilation, the multiplicity of shafts to every colliery being a subject of amusement to the newly-imported British mining engineer; fire damp was practically unknown, owing to the shallowness of the workings; and the ordinary precautions to ensure life were not glaringly disregarded. The value of having and preserving records of mineral produce and plans of workings, however, was insisted upon, and I am anxious to show, by a short reference to the history and progress of the Mining Record Office in London, how useful for the present, and how profitable for the future, would be the establishment of a like institution in India.

Of course, there is no level comparison between this country and Great Britain, the outturn of our most abundant produce, *coals*, being (for 1878) 1,000,000 tons¹ a year, as against 132½ millions; but our mineral industries will expand, and by accepting the wisdom that is set before us, we shall have the advantage of an almost perfect series of records, dating from the time of British supremacy; and by recognising practically the duty we owe to the future, we shall save ourselves from the reproach of improvidence.

Most—I do not think I can say all—of the coal-owners of Bengal have, I believe, more or less perfect records of the out-turns and the state of their workings; but this was not always so, and it is within my own recollection when our Department pointed out the gain to their several interests by the construction of accurate plans, and the advisability of keeping them well up to date. But, though this be done by the more enlightened proprietors, there will always be those who through carelessness, or indifference, or suspicion, will fail to meet their responsibilities; and it is to guard against the loss of valuable national statistics that a Government Mining Record Office is required. Here careful and permanent preservation can be relied upon, and the most perfect facilities for inspection (under certain conditions) be ensured.

The Mining Record Office of Great Britain was established in 1840. The immediate impulse that led to its sanction was given by the Council of the

¹ Made up as follows :			Tons.
Raniganj coal-field	•••	 •••	522,000
Karharbari "		 	434,000
Wardha Valley coal field		 •••	45,000
Mohpani coal-field		 •••	13,000
			n

British Association, at the meeting held in Newcastle-upon-Tyne in 1838, when they passed a resolution to the following effect: "That it is the opinion of this meeting that with a view to prevent the loss of life and property which will inevitably ensue from the want of accurate mining records, it is a matter of national importance that a depository should be established for the collection and preservation of such mining records, of subterranean operations in collieries and other mining districts."

A most influential committee was formed, comprised of those most interested in the mining industries of the kingdom. This committee, termed the "Mining Records Committee," drew up a memorial calling the attention of the Government to "the expediency of establishing, as soon as possible, a National Depository, for the preservation of documents recording the mining operations of the United Kingdom."

The result of this was that the Government adopted the recommendation of the "Mining Records Committee" of the British Association, and in the autumn of the year 1840, the Mining Record Office was established.

The objects to which the office has since been devoted are-

- 1st, the collection, arrangement, and preservation of all plans and sections of the subterranean workings of mines and collieries, both those which are now in process of exploration and development, and such as have been or may be abandoned;
- 2nd, the collection of statistical information connected with the mineral produce of the United Kingdom;
- 3rd, the collection and registration of every kind of information connected with the phenomena of our mineral formations, of whatever description these may be.

For those who may not place much value on remarks made in my own personality, I would refer them to the celebrated Werner, who in his "Theory of Mineral Veins" describes the manner in which mining plans should be coustructed, and comments on the advantage of having such plans and geognostic descriptions of every mining district. "Such a collection," he observes, "(the plans and description of the district) form together a complete and instructive whole. If our ancestors had left us such documents for two centuries past, or even for half a century, what advantage would it not have been to us? From what doubts would it not have relieved us! With what anxiety do we not turn over the leaves of ancient chronicles, in search of information ! With what pains do we not rake up the old heaps of rubbish brought out of old excavations, to find pieces which may afford us some idea of the substances formerly worked in them! With what pleasure do we not receive the least sketch or plan of some ancient mine! Yet, between these documents and those we might obtain in the way pointed out, there is as much difference as between night and day. Is it not an obligation, a duty, for us to leave to future generations as much instruction and knowledge as possible on the labours that have been carried on in our mines?" Such was the opinion of this great geologist, whose knowledge of practical mining adds great weight to its recommendation.

PART 1.]

Again, in order to show in how strong a manner the opinion of some of our best mining engineers have been expressed, I quote from Mr. Taylor's report on the Lead mines of Alston Moor: "It is of great importance that perfect records of what has been done in the pursuit of every vein should be preserved; and I would recommend that, in all future leases, a clause should be introduced to require the adventurers to keep sections and plans of all their workings."

Mr. Buddle, in referring to the coal-mines of Durham and Northumberland, states: "It is obvious that many collieries which are now open will sconer or later be shut up, and lie dormant for various and indefinite periods; and the probability is that in many cases all knowledge of the dykes which intersect them may be lost, and the parties having to re-open them may be as ignorant, or even more so, than those who first opened them. It is not necessary that I should dwell on the extent of the loss of property and of lives which may result from such a state of things;" and adds that "although the several dykes which have been met with are accurately represented on the working plans of the several collieries, yet, from the detached and local nature of these plans, no general and accurate notion of their lines of direction, bendings, and throws can be formed from such sources of information." The only remedy for this regret was a Central Office where the plans could be collated.

With the establishment of the Mining Record Office, the plan of preserving mining documents was initiated, its operations extending year by year-so much so that at the present time (1879) there are deposited and catalogued for reference, upwards of ten thousand plans and sections of workings of coal and metalliferous mines; not only those that have been exhausted or abandoned, but others at present productive and in course of exploration and development. Of these latter, the workings are posted up from time to time. Numerous instances might be given in which large sums of money have been saved to promoters and adventurers who have re-opened old mining tracts. One case is that of a company who revived mineral search in the neighbourhood of Chacewater (Cornwall), and the Secretary of which sought in vain for records or information in and around the spot. As a last resource, application was made by the promoters to the Mining Record Office, and, among the documents there preserved, were plans and sections of the underground operations at the time of the abandonment of the mine that they had re-leased, together with much detailed information, showing for many years the quantities of mineral obtained, its value, the metal obtained therefrom, and the state of the levels in the mine. With the information afforded to guide them, the company commenced operations, and the results proved eminently satisfactory. The Secretary, in expressing the thanks of the promoters, for the assistance they had received from the Mining Record Office, asserted that it had saved the company an expenditure of from four to five thousand pounds, which must otherwise have been incurred for preliminary explorations.

In its statistical character, the Mining Record Office is highly instructive, and it undertakes annually the regular and systematic publication of the produce of the United Kingdom. In most continental countries this is secured by parliamentary powers to administrative departments, to whom annual returns are made of the production of the crude minerals. In the year 1872 a like system was introduced in Great Britain, by the passing through the Legislature of two measures, known as the "Coal Mines Regulation Act" and the "Metalliferous Mines Regulation Act" (the latter of which has been slightly amended recently,—1875). And returns are now made to the Inspector of each district, on or before the 1st day in February, of the quality of coal or mineral wrought in the year ending on the preceding 31st day of December.

In the matter of coal produce, individual returns are not published in the annual reports of the Inspectors,—the results being tabulated and credited to coal-fields, counties, or districts. Thus private interests are in no way encroached upon: one coal proprietor is not aware of what his neighbour is doing, and all works smoothly.

Since the introduction of recent legislation (1872), the manager of every mine and colliery is required to qualify for his fitness for such duties, by passing an examination and obtaining a certificate of competency. And every mine owner or manager must keep a plan showing the workings, never more than six months in arrear. No one, however, without the consent of the owner, can make a copy of it, and the privilege of the Inspector even only extends to examination. In the case of plans of abandoned mines, they become public after the lapse of ten years.

The general rules to be observed in each colliery relate to ventilation, precautions against causes of accident, especially dealing with fencing (both above and below ground), safety lamps, gunpowder and blasting, water-pounds, boreholes, man-holes, securing shafts, and roofs and sides of every travelling road and working-place, dressing-rooms, care of machinery, signalling, chains, drums, breaks and indicators, boiler gauges, wilful damage, daily inspection of machinery and underground workings, and report books.

Once a month the colliers have the privilege of appointing two of their number to inspect the pit workings and machinery, and to make a report and record it in the book kept for the purpose. They are also privileged, when paid by the weight or measure of coal that they get, to station a person paid by themselves as a check weigher at the place appointed for the weighing or measuring.

About chains there is a very necessary prohibition, that a single-link chain shall not be used for lowering or raising persons. In India I have often seen a chain of this nature employed, and, indeed, have myself on more than one occasion had to accept my destiny at the end of one, but they are always dangerous, as the weakest link represents the whole strength of the chain.

In metalliferous mines, the necessity of regular and frequent underground inspection is not so urgent as in the case of collieries; and safety lamps and atmospheric gauges are not so essential.

It has not accordingly been deemed necessary by the Legislature to introduce any conditions on these subjects under the general rules of the Metalliferous Mines Act. This does not exclude their application, however, if the welfare of a mine demand it, for each mine may have its own set of special rules framed to meet the special circumstances of the mine.
PART 1.]

A clause about ladders appears in the Metalliferous Mines Act, insisting that where such are permanently used for the ascent or descent of persons in the mine, they shall not be fixed in a vertical or overhanging position, but shall be inclined at the most convenient angle according to the space in which the ladder is fixed. This is a very necessary rule, for in the olden days it was often a penal undertaking to mount a series of ill-hung ladders after a tour of inspection.

Besides the general rules, there are special rules, the object of which is to provide for the proper discipline of those employed in the mines, and to prevent dangerous accidents. They have the same force as if they were contained in the Act, and they are prepared in the first instance on behalf of the owner, and hung up on the premises with a printed notice, that at the end of a fortnight the rules will be submitted to the Inspector of mines for the district, and that in the meantime any person employed in the mine is entitled to forward any objection to the Inspector. After 40 days, the special rules, if not objected to, become established, and are signed by the Inspector.

Neither women nor girls of any age, nor boys under twelve, are permitted to be employed underground in English coal or metalliferous mines.

If this prohibition were extended to India, the labour now available in our fields would be wofully reduced, as almost the whole of the underground carriage (where tramways are not laid) is performed by women, girls, and boys. Possibly some wandering Western philanthropist will be heard one day raising a voice against the existing customs of this country; but until education and civilisation have penetrated more deeply into the mind and system of our female Bauria and Sontal colliers, we may defer placing them on the same platform as the British miner's wife and daughter.¹

No engine used for raising or lowering people can be in charge of a person under eighteen years of age. And all drivers of animals must be above twelve.

There is an amusing clause which prohibits the payment of wages at a public house. In this country it is asserted that grog-shops are most useful in stimulating the industry of the miners, for, as long as they have money they won't toil. Having spent the last of their wages over a beaker of "dáru" they proceed to work. Consequently the greater the facilities for drinking, the more sustained is their industry.

Both of the Acts alluded to in this paper embody the necessities which those most interested in the matter have deemed well to recommend and legalise, and it may, therefore, be urged that India would benefit by legislation. The interests centered in our mineral industries, however, are as a speck compared to those of Great Britain, the total value of whose minerals and metals in 1877 amounted to £68,281,406, made up as follows :—

				2
Coal	•••	•••	•••	47,113,767
Metals	•••	•••	•••	18,742,960
Earthy minerals	•••	•••	•••	2,424,679
				68,281,406

¹ Or, perhaps, until the vices of "civilisation" have degraded the male element of these simple people to the moral level of a large portion of the British mining population.—H. B. M.

£

Flour spar	•••	•••	•••	36
Wolfram	••	*•	•••	150
Calc spar	•••	•••	•••	625
Ochre	•••	•••		4,488
Gypsum	•••	•••	•••	22,172
Barytes		•••	•	28,948
Shales		•••	•••	61,779
Coprolites	•••			200,000
Clays				592,231
Salt	•••		•••	1,504,250
Sundries	•••		•••	10,000
				2,424,679

The earthy minerals were classed-

On Cobaltite and Danaite from the Khetri Mines, Rájputána; with some remarks on Jaipurite (Syepoorite).—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India.

In most standard works on mineralogy some reference is to be found to "Syepoorite," a sulphide of cobalt, stated, on the authority of J. Middleton, F.G.S., to occur "in the independent state of Syepoore," in Rájputána. No mineral of the same composition has been discovered in any other part of the world, and Mr. Middleton's results have never been corroborated by any later investigations. His paper on the subject was read before the Chemical Society of London on the 15th December 1845, and is to be found in the Society's Memoirs and Proceedings, Vol. III, p. 39.¹

Cobalt pyri	tes	•••	•••	•••	•••	90 [.] 78 per cent.
Iron	•••	•••	•••	•••		9 [.] 22 " "

The iron pyrites consists of black amorphous granules without metallic lustre, and, as above stated, it is highly magnetic, having at the same time the low specific gravity of 2.58. It gives on analysis—

Iron	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	62·27 pe	r cent.
Sulphur	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	87 [.] 73 "	"

¹ Republished in the Philosophical Magazine, Vol. XXVIII (1846), p. 352.

Digitized by Google

* Sulphuret of copper, sulphate of copper, sulphuret of cobalt and alum.

PABT 1.] MALLET: Cobaltite and Danaite from Khetri Mines, Rájputána. 191

The analysis was carefully made, and repeated for verification, so that, notwithstanding the specific gravity is so much lower than that assigned as characteristic of iron pyrites, there can be no doubt such is the constitution of this constituent of the ore in question.

* *

By very careful and repeated analysis, the reduction process having been adopted for the metal, I found the proportions of the constituents ("in the cobalt pyrites") to be, taking the average—

 Cobalt
 ...
 ...
 ...
 64.64 per cent.

 Sulphur
 ...
 ...
 ...
 ...
 35.36 ,, ,,

from which it is obvious the substance is a sub-sulphuret, that its constitution is Co_2S , a rather remarkable result, considering that the iron compound, doubtless of simultaneous formation, is different.

The cobalt pyrites has a specific gravity of 5.45. It is used by Indian jewellers for staining gold of a delicate rose-red colour; the modus operandi which they follow I have been unable to learn; it is a secret with them, which they are unwilling to disclose.¹

The name 'Syepoorite' seems to have been given by Nicol, who, in his manual of mineralogy (1849), says "this name may be given to a sulphuret of cobalt, probably a distinct species, found with pyrite and chalcopyrite at Syepoore, near Rajputana." Nicol also substituted the formula CoS. for Co₂S. as given by Middleton. Whether the old or the new atomic weights be adopted, the figures in Middleton's analysis closely correspond to the formula CoS.

In a valuable paper on "the mines of Khetree, in Rajputana," the author Colonel J. C. Brooke, says that "In some of the mines, a sulphuret of cobalt is found in thin layers, between the masses of copper ore. No great quantity of this is produced, however, not above 200 lbs per month in any particular mine. It is merely pounded fine and exported, and finds its way all over India. It is largely used in enamelling, forming the beautiful blue enamels which native proficients in this art produce. Its price at Khetree itself is Rs. 50 per Jeyporo maund of 53 lbs., the Raj share being one-fifth, or Rs. 10 per Jeypore maund."

In February 1848, Mr. Piddington, apparently not cognisant of Middleton's paper, noticed the presence of cobalt in a specimen of ore sent by Major Thoresby "from the Khetree Hills near Jyepoor" (Journal As. Soc., Bengal, XVII, Part I, p. 168). A still earlier allusion to 'sehta,' although without reference to the fact that it contains cobalt, may be found in a paper (signed A. E.) "on the copper works at Singhána, near Khetri, in the Shekhawati country." "Mines," the author writes, "are also wrought at Khetri and Bubai, producing many valuable minerals, such as copper, tamba, blue vitriol or sulphate of copper, called by the natives *lila tútia*, or *leelo toto*: alum, *phitkari*, and a mineral called *sehta*, which requires a more particular description. This *sehta* looks like a fine grey sand, having the appearance of iron filings mixed with minute particles of silex and mica; its value, at the mines, being from 40 to 100 rupees per maund. It is only produced at Bubai, and is used as an ingredient in making glass *kanch*, or women's wrist-ornaments, *chura*, which seem to be made of a vitrified substance coloured with lac, *lah*, and other pigments (Gleanings of Science, Vol. III, p. 380, December 1831).

^{*} Jour. As. Soc., Bengal, Vol. XXXIII (1864), p. 524.

In 1873, Major W. A. Ross obtained a small quantity of the sehta, which he describes¹ as "a dark grey sand with shining metallic-looking points, yellow and white, interspersed. Through the lens, these are found to be semi-metallic fragments, the white, crystalline, the yellow amorphous; there are also numerous quartzose fragments, white and pink." A portion of the sand was magnetic, consisting chiefly of pyrrhotite. The yellow metallic-looking grains Major Ross found to be copper pyrites, while he considered the white to be 'Jeypoorite.'² The latter, when separated from extraneous substances, looked (without a lens) like glittering steel beads, each about half the size of a small pin's head; but through a lens they appeared silver-white. The powder was blue-black and semi-metallic, like that made from galena. The result of Major Ross' blowpipe examination of these crystals led him "temporarily, until a sufficient quantity of the *pure* mineral (not the sand) be obtained to submit it to a regular chemical analysis" to estimate the constituents of *Jeypoorite* to be about

Oxide of	cobalt	•••		•••	•••		82	per	cent.
	antimon	y	•••				7	"	,,
,,	arsenic	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	6	,,	,,
Sulphur		•••		•••	•••	•••	5	"	"
								-	
						1	100		
								-	

No reason, however, is assigned in his paper for considering the mineral an oxidized one, and in the title he defines Jeypoorite as "a sulph-antimonial arsenide of cobalt," a name which certainly implies the absence of oxygen.⁴ It seems to me, also, that the name Jaipurite should not be given to any mineral but the sulphide of cobalt CoS, until the non-existence of such native sulphide has been clearly proved. At present, although investigations subsequent to Middleton's lend no support to his results, such negative evidence cannot

¹ Proceedings of the Royal Society, XXI, 292.

^a Major Ross points out the double error in respect to the locality of the mineral, occurring in mineralogical text-books. 'Syepoore, *near* Rájputána,' should read 'Jyepoore, *in* Rájputána.' The name is spelled "Syepoore" in Middleton's original paper, the S being probably a mere typographical error. The 'near' seems to have originated from Nicol's taking "the independent state of Syepoore" to mean a state independent of, or outside, Rájputána, instead of one not under the direct control of the British Government. In the official gazetteer of Rájputána, the name of the state in question is spelled *Jaipur*, and hence the name of the mineral should be spelled 'Jaipurite.'

³ A weighed quantity (about 3 milligrammes) of the mineral was compared as to its colouringpower in a phosphoric acid bead, with a known amount of cobalt oxide, and found equal in this respect to about 82 per cent. of its weight of oxide. Assuming that the mineral contained 82 per cent. of cobalt oxide, Major Ross divided the remaining 18 per cent. by guess-work amongst the remaining constituents. The above experiment, however, although giving some indication of how much cobalt the mineral contained, has no bearing on the question of whether the cobalt was oxidized or not. If not (and the metallic lustre of the mineral, coupled with the fact of its containing sulphur and arsenic, is almost a proof of its being non-oxidized), 82 per cent. of cobalt protoxide, being equivalent to 64'4 per cent. of cobalt, leaves 35'6 per cent. divisible amongst the other constituents. If the oxide alluded to be the sesquioxide, the proportions would be 58'2 of cobalt and 41'8 of the remaining substances. But, unless I have mistaken the author's meaning, his figures, when worked out, give about 78, not 82, per cent. of oxide, equivalent to 61'3 of cobalt the proiftoxide, or 55'3 if the sesquioxide, is meant.

١

PART 1.] MALLET: Cobaltite and Danaite from Khetri Mines, Rájputána. 193

be taken as clearly disproving them, although doubtless sufficient to suggest caution in their acceptance.

The latest account of the Khetri mines may be found in Mr. Hacket's paper on the useful minerals of the Arvali Region.¹

Some time ago we obtained for the Museum, through the kindness of Major S. S. Jacob, Executive Engineer at Jaipur, samples of various products of the mines in question, including copper and cobalt ores. The former is copper pyrites in a slaty and quartzose gangue from Singháná and Khetri. About 11 fbs. weight was sent from the former place and 2 fbs. from the latter. The ore from both is very rich; whether the specimens are unduly favourable samples or not I cannot say.

Specimens of the cobalt ore, both in its natural state and reduced to powder, were also sent. The former (from the Babai mine) is a dark grey slate containing brown scaly mica in thin seams and little irregular nests. Grey translucent quartz occurs in similar seams and nests. Through both slate and quartz minute silver-white crystals are disseminated. Most of the fragments of slate contain very few such, that are visible at least. In some pieces, however, they are pretty thickly scattered, although even in such cases, on account of their minute size, they form but a trifling proportion of the total bulk of the rock. Here and there they are aggregated into clusters, and in one piece of slate there is an irregular bunch of this kind, made up almost entirely of crystals, which measures about a third of an inch long. Specks of copper- and ironpyrites are scattered through the rock here and there. Other minerals are also present, but can scarcely be detected in the unpowdered slate even with a lens. The rock is traversed by a few thin seams of calcspar: these, however, appear to contain none of the cobalt, and to be of more recent origin than the quartzose seams, for in one case I observed a seam of the latter kind intersected by a calcareous one.

The rock just described when reduced to a rather fine powder constitutes the 'sehta,' of which Major Jacob sent over 10 lbs. weight from the mines at Babai and Bagor.^e With such a quantity at disposal I lately undertook the examination of the cobaltiferous portion in the hope of being able to throw some light on the Jaipurite question.

The chief difficulty, a difficulty Major Ross had previously experienced, lies in the separation of the extremely minute crystals from the large bulk of extraneous matter. Nearly the whole quantity received was first sifted through a wire gauze sieve of 36 holes to the linear inch. The coarser portion, weighing less than a pound, was then washed in a Schulze's elutriator, by which means the greater part of the slaty gangue was got rid of. The remainder was placed in small portions at a time in a funnel with long tapering neck, connected below with a U tube by a short piece of Indian rubber tubing. The internal dia-

¹ Vol. XIII, p. 243.

² Babai and Bagor are villages respectively 8 and 2 miles south, and Singháná a town 8 miles north-west, of Khetri, Khetri itself being the capital of a feudatory State of the same name subject to Jaipur.



D

Digitized by Google

meter of the U and rubber tubes was considerably greater than that of the lower part of the funnel-neck. On passing a current of water, regulated by a tap, through the U tube, and thence up through the funnel, the whole of the senta could be kept suspended in the latter, at any desired level. By carefully diminishing the strength of the current, the lowermost grains were allowed to drop from the funnel-neck into the U tube, where the current was more feeble owing to the wider diameter. When a certain proportion of the senta had been allowed to fall in this way, communication was cut off between the lighter and heavier portions by a pinch-cock on the rubber tube. The former included the whole of the remaining slaty and quartzose particles, the latter the great bulk of the metallic. By a repetition of the process the cobaltic portion, owing to its higher specific gravity, was separated from a considerable part of the copper- and iron-pyrites, &c.

The cobaltic portion was afterwards dried and treated with a strong magnet, by which numerous grains of pyrrhotite, and some of pyrites (doubtless mixed with sufficient pyrrhotite to render them magnetic), were eliminated. Successive portions of the residue were then laid in long thin 'trains' on a glazed porcelain slab, and, with the help of a strong lens and a bent needle attached to a handle, the cobaltic grains (recognised by their steel-grey colour) were pushed to one side, and the residue, consisting mainly of iron- and copper-pyrites, to the other.

It was soon found, however, that the cobaltic part included two different minerals, easily distinguishable under the lens of their crystalline form. There were, 1stly, modified cubic crystals; 2ndly, orthorhombic crystals; 3rdly, broken fragments in which the crystalline form could not be determined. The third portion, which constituted much more than half of the total, had to be rejected, while the cubic and orthorhombic crystals were carefully separated.

Altogether I collected about 40 grains of the cubic mineral (in each crystal of which the form was apparent) and 2 grains of the orthorhombic.¹

Fiftcen picked cubic crystals of the largest size weighed '12 grains, or '008 grains each on an average. Their average diameter was '02 inches. The specific gravity, taken with 20 grains, was exactly 6'00.

The colour of the crystals was steel-grey with occasionally a slight reddish tarnish. They were well formed and regular. Of some thousands that passed under my eye during the separation, nearly the entire number, probably 99 per cent. or more, showed the same combination of the cube, pentagonal dodecahedron $\left(\frac{\infty 02}{2}\right)$ and octohedron, with the cube as the predominant form, having its edges and solid angles replaced by the others.² A very few crystals were observed in which the octohedron predominated, the angles being modified by the other forms. Some of the broken crystals showed a well-marked cleavage parallel to the faces of the cube.

¹ These quantities were but a small portion of the total amount contained in the senta. The cubic crystals were more numerous than the others, although not very markedly so. I did not devote the same pains, however, to the collection of the latter.

² The angles in some selected crystals were measured under the microscope. It is noticeable that the crystals examined by Major Ross, the crystalline form of which was determined by Profeesor Miller, exhibited the same combination.

PART 1.] MALLET: Cobaltite and Danaite from Khetri Mines, Rájputána. 195

One cubic crystal is sufficient to give a strong cobalt re-action with borax. In the open tube the mineral yields a crystalline sublimate of $As_2 O_3$ and fumes of SO_2 . In the closed tube, at a high temperature, a sublimate of sulphide of arsenic is formed, with one of metallic arsenic nearer the assay. These characters, together with the crystalline form, &c., leave no doubt of the mineral being cobaltite¹, a result borne out by analysis, which gave—

Sulphur						19 [.] 46
Arsenic	•••				•••	43 ·87
Antimor	ıy		•••	•••		tr.
Cobalt						25·30
Nickel			•••	•••		tr.
Iron		•••				7.83
Gangue			·			· 8 0
					-	100-26

The octohedral crystals do not differ in any apparent way from those in which the cubic form predominates, except in the greater development of a different set of faces. I had too few to make a complete examination of them separately. Four, however, in an open tube gave a crystalline sublimate of $As_2 O_3$ and an odour SO_2 . They are beyond doubt cobaltite.

On a previous occasion Major Jacob had sent us about 90 grains of sehta washed free from slaty or other siliceous particles, but containing a considerable proportion of iron- and copper-pyrites, &c. The cobaltic portion was in extremely minute particles (which included but few unbroken crystals), having a paler colour than the sample I have just described—a shade intermediate between steel-grey and silver-white. Its reactions before the blowpipe, however, were found to be quite similar. Probably its lighter colour is due to its containing a smaller percentage of iron.

The orthorhombic crystals, which are steel-grey with a faint yellowish tarnish, have the form of arsenopyrite. Perhaps the commonest combination is $\infty P. P \infty \cdot \frac{1}{3} P \infty$ with sometimes the faces $\overline{P} \infty$ In the open and closed tubes the crystals give arsenic and sulphur reactions. With borax in the oxidating flame they give a bead which is green when hot, and blue when cold, and which, dissolved in a few drops of dilute HCl., yields a red colour with KCyS. In the reducing flame the bead is blue. The very strong reactions for iron show that the crystals are danaite, not glaucodot.

With reference to the existence of Jaipurite, all that can be said is that the cobaltic portion of three distinct samples of 'senta' have been examined (one by Major Ross and two by myself), and that in none of them any simple sulphide of

¹ I may here remark that mineralogical text-books differ considerably as to the behaviour of cobaltite in the closed tube. Dana, Plattner, and others, state that it is unaltered. Naumann says according to Kobell it gives a sublimate of metallic arsenic. Collins states that it yields yellow, red, and black sublimate. On trying the experiment I found that while mispickel, the iron analogue to cobaltite, gives sublimates freely at a moderate red heat, cobaltite (from Tunaberg and Modum as well as from Khetri) is unaltered. At a higher temperature, however, at which the glass softens, the mineral from all three localities gives off the sulphide and metallic arsenic. Glaucodot from Hakansboda, at the higher temperature, behaves in the same way as cobaltite.

cobalt has been detected. The occurence, however, of more than one ore of cobalt in the same locality is common enough, and it would seem from Mr. Middleton's description¹ that the ore analysed by him was freer from extraneous matter than the samples Major Ross and I have examined, indicating perhaps that it was obtained from a different mine. Mr. Middleton makes no allusion to any difficulty in obtaining the ore in a state of purity for analysis.

At the same time if Mr. Middleton's results be accepted in their entirety, a *second* mineral peculiar to the Khetri mines must be recognised, namely, a sulphide of iron closely approximating to, or identical with, pyrrhotite in composition, but without metallic lustre, of a black colour, and with specific gravity as low as 2.58.²

On the Occurrence of Zinc Ore (Smithsonite and Blende) with Barytes in the Karnul District, Madras,—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India.

Amongst the specimens illustrating the mineral products of India, sent from various parts of the country to the Geological Museum at the time of the Vienna Exhibition, were three pieces of rusty-looking stone, aggregating about seven pounds in weight. They were sent from Karnul, in Madras (by whom does not appear), and were labelled "soapstone, gypsum, &c." On examining them some time ago, during the arrangement of the economic collections in the Museum, I found them to consist of ferruginous smithsonite (zinc carbonate), barite, a greyish hornstone, and green blende, with a speck or two of galena and pyrites. The relative abundance of the different minerals is indicated by the order in which they are mentioned. The greater portion, two-thirds perhaps, of the specimens is smithsonite. There is a considerable quantity of barite, while the amount of hornstone and blende is comparatively small. The rock has somewhat the aspect of a breccia in which the smithsonite is the cementing material, but this appearance is probably deceptive. The specimens are the richest samples of Indian zinc ore in the Museum.

I am not aware of any record of the occurrence of zinc in the Karnul District, or that its existence there has been hitherto known. In as far as any opinion can be formed from mere hand specimens, the ore looks promising, and the circumstances under which it occurs are undoubtedly a question worth investigation.

Notice of a Mud Eruption in the Island of Cheduba.

The following letter has been placed at the disposal of the Geological Survey by Colonel E. B. Sladen, Commissioner of Arakán.

² p. 190. Middleton's analysis of this sulphide is quoted by Brooke and Miller under pyrrhotite, lut the physical characters, as given by the author, do not at all agree with those of the latter mineral.

¹ p. 190.

No. 76-25, dated Kyouk Phyoo, 23rd March 1881.

From

То

The Deputy Commissioner, Kyouk Phyoo,

The Commissioner of Arakan.

Sib,

I have the honor to report that on the 27th February, at 8 A. M., there was an eruption of a volcano in the Island of Cheduba. It was accompanied by flames and a trembling of the earth, lasting one and a half hours.

The volcano is situated near the centre of the Island, and is shown in the charts as one of two, close together, lying about north-west of the southernmost point of the Island.

> I have, &c., (Signed) W. W. PEMBERTON, Deputy Commissioner.

The volcano in question is evidently one of the two exceptionally large ones to the south-east of Pagoda Hill (Vol. XI, 193, 222). It is open to doubt whether the trembling of the earth was due to a slight earthquake, which was the immediate cause of the eruption (Vol. XI, 206), or whether it was not a mere local tremor close to the volcano, caused by the explosive outbursts of gas.

F. R. MALLET.

DONATIONS TO THE MUSEUM.

Donors.

A series of specimens illustrating the manufacture of potash-alum and of aluminoferric cake.

PETER SPENCE, Esq., Pendleton Alum Works, Manchester.

A series of specimens illustrating the manufacture of cobalt, nickel, and German silver. MESSES. HENRY WIGGIN & Co., Birmingham.

Two specimens of galena, and one of garnet, from the Máhabágh lead mine, Hazáribágh Dist. THE IMPERIAL SILVEB-LEAD MINING COMPANY, Calcutta.

Tinstone from near Jambughora, Rewa Kanta, Guzerát.

A series of specimens illustrating the manufacture of glass.

MESSES. HABTLEY & Co., Sunderland.

M. HAMMIELL, Esq., Bellary.

A series of specimens illustrating the manufacture of carbonate of soda, caustic soda, pearlash, caustic potash, and chlorate of potash.

THE GREENBANK ALKALI WORKS COMPANY, St. Helens, Lancashire. A series of specimens illustrating the manufacture of iron and Bessemer steel.

UNION ACTIEN-GESELLSCHAFT FÜR BERGBAU, EISEN-U-STAHL-INDUSTRIE, Dortmund, Westphalia.

ADDITIONS TO THE LIBRARY.

FROM 1ST JANUARY TO 31ST MARCH 1881.

Titles of Books.

BAINES, THOS.-The Gold Regions of South Eastern Africa (1877), 8vo, London.

BENSON, CHAS.—Report of a Tour in the Cuddapah and North Arcot Districts made in August 1879 (1879), fisc, Madras.

SUPDT. OF FARMS, MADRAS.

BURTON, RICHARD F.—The Gold Mines of Midian and the Ruined Midianite Cities (1878), 8vo., London.

Catalogue of the Calcutta Public Library, with 5 Supplements (1855-1879) 8vo, Calcutta. DALTON, ED. TUITE.-Descriptive Ethnology of Bengal (1872), 4to, Calcutta.

GOVEENMENT OF BENGAL,

GORDON, R.—Report on the Irrawaddy River, Pts. 1—4 and Maps (1879-80) flsc., Rangoon. CHIEF COMMISSIONER, BRITISH BURMA.

HOEY, WM.—Monograph on Trade and Manufactures in Northern India (1880) 4to, Lucknow.

HULL, EDWARD.-The Coal-Fields of Great Britain, 4th Edition (1881) 8vo, London.

THE AUTHOR.

HUXLEY, THOS. H.—American Addresses, with a Lecture on the Study of Biology, (1877) 8vo., London.

HUXLEY, THOS. HENRY.-Critiques and Addresses (1873), 8vo., London.

MOJSISOVICS, E. V. und NEUMAYE M.—Beiträge zur Paläontologie von Österreich-Ungarn und den Angrenzenden Gebieten, Band I heft 1 (1880), 4to, Wien.

OWEN, RICH.—Researches on the Fossil Remains of the Extinct Mammals of Australia with a notice of the Extinct Marsupials of England, Vols. I and II (1877) 4to, London.

PERCY, JOHN.-Metallurgy, Part I., Silver and Gold (1880), 8vo, London.

RAVERTY, MAJOE H. G.—Notes on Afghanistan and part of Baluchistán, Geographical, Ethnological and Historical (1880), fisc., London.

FOREIGN OFFICE.

Ross, LIEUT.-COL. W. A.-Alphabetical Manual of Blowpipe Analysis (1880), 8vo, London.

SAISE, WALTER.—The Kurhurballee Coal Field, with some Remarks on Indian Coals (1880), 8vo., New-Castle-on-Tyne.

THE AUTHOR.

- Spon's Encyclopædia of the Industrial Arts, Manufactures and Commercial Products Division III, edited by Chas G. Warnford Lock (1881), 8vo, London.
- Spon's information for Colonial Engineers, No. 3, India, by Fred. Chas. Danvers (1877), 8vo. London.

THOMSON, MUBRAY.-Notice of a Mass of Meteoric Iron found in the village of Newstead, Roxburghshire (1862), 8vo, Edinburgh.

THE AUTHOR.

WALLACE, A. R.-Island Life (1880), 8vo, London.

PERIODICALS, SERIALS, &c.

American Journal of Science and Arts, 3rd Series, Vol. XX, No. 120, and XXI, Nos. 121 and 122 (1880-81), 8vo, New Haven.

THE EDITORS.

Annalen der Physik und Chemie. New Series, Band XI, Nos. 12 and 13, and Band XII, Nos. 1 and 2 (1880-81), 8vo, Leipzig.

Donors.

[VOL. XIV.

PART 2.]

Donors.

Titles of Books.

Annales des Mines, 7th Series, Vol. XVIII, livr 4 & 5 (1880), 8vo. Paris.

L'ADMINS DES MINES.

Annals and Magazine of Natural History, 5th Series, Vol. VII, Nos. 37 to 39 (1881) 8vo, London.

Archiv für Naturgeschichte, Jahrg. XLVI, heft 4 and 5 (1880), 8vo, Berlin.

- Athenæum Nos. 2773-2784 (1880-81), 4to, London.
- Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Band IV., No. 12, and Band V, No. 1 (1880-81) 8vo, Leipzig.
- Bibliothèque Universelle. Archives des Sciences Physiques et Naturelles, 3me Période, Vol. IV, Nos. 10-12 (1880), 8vo, Genève.
- Bibliothèque Universelle et Revue Suisse, 3me Période, Vol. VIII, Nos. 11 and 12, and IX, No. 25 (1880-81), 8vo, Lausanne.

Botanisches Centralblatt, Nos. 47-52, and Band V, Nos. 1-8 (1880-81) 8vo, Leipzig.

- Chemical News.-Vol. XLII, Nos. 1099-1101, and XLIII, Nos. 1102-1110 (1880-81), 4to, London.
- Colliery Guardian. Vol. XL, Nos. 1041-1045, and XLI, Nos. 1046-1052 (1880-81), fol. London.
- Das Ausland, Jarhg. LIII, Nos. 50-52, and Jahrg. LIV, Nos. 1-9 (1880-81), Roy. 8vo, Stuttgart.

Geological Magazine, New Series, Decade II, Vol. VIII, Nos. 1-3 (1881), 8vo, London.

Iron, Vol. XVI, Nos. 414-419, and XVII, Nos. 420-425 (1880-81), fol., London.

Journal de Conchyliologie, 3rd Series, Vol. XX, No. 4 (1880), 8vo, Paris.

Journal of Science, 3rd Series, Vol. III, Nos. 85-87 (1881), 8vo, London.

- London, Edinburgh and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, 5th Series, Vol. XI, Nos. 65-67 (1881), 8vo, London.
- Mining Journal, with Supplement, Vol. L, Nos. 2364-2366 and LI, Nos. 2367-2375 (1880-81), fol., London.
- Nature, Vols, I-VII (1870-73), 4to, London.

R. LYDEKKER, ESQ.

Nature, Vol. XXIII, Nos. 581-592 (1880-81), 4to, London.

Natura Novitates, No. 24 (1880), and Nos. 1-3 (1881), 8vo, Berlin.

Neues Jahrbuch für Mineralogie, Geologie und Palæontologie. Band I, heft 1 and 2 (1881), 8vo. Stuttgart.

Palæontographica, Baud XXVII, lief 2 (1880), 4to, Cassel.

Petermann's Geographische Mittheilungen, Band XXVI, No. 12, and XXVII, Nos. 1 and 2 (1880-81), 4to, Gotha.

Professional Papers on Indian Engineering, 2nd Series, Vol. X, No. 39 (1881), 8vo, Roorkee. THOMASON COLLEGE OF CIVIL ENGINEERING.

Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science, New Series, Vol. XXI, No. 81 (1881), 8vo, London.

GOVERNMENT SELECTIONS, &c.

Assam.—Report on the Administration of the Province of Assam for 1879-80 (1880), 8vo, Shillong.

CHIEF COMMISSIONER OF ASSAM.

BOMBAY.-Gazetteer of the Bombay Presidency, Vol. X, Ratnágiri and Sávantvádi (1880), 8vo, Bombay.

BOMBAY GOVERNMENT.

[VOL. XIV.

Titles of Books.

BRITISH BURMA.—Report on the Administration of British Burma during 1879-80 (1880), fisc., Rangoon.

CHIEF COMMISSIONEE OF BRITISH BURMA.

- INDIA.—List of Officers in the Survey Departments on the 1st January 1881 (1881), fisc., Calcutta.
 - Home, Rev. & Agri. Department.
 - " Register of Original Observations in 1879, reduced and corrected, November and December 1879 (1880), 4to, Calcutta.

METEOR. REPORTER TO GOVT. OF INDIA.

" Report on the Administration of the Meteorological Department of the Government of India in 1879-80 (1880), fol., Calcutta.

METEOR. REPORTER TO GOVT. OF INDIA.

", Selections from the Records of the Government of India, Foreign Department, No. 172. Report on the Administration of the Ajmere and Mhairwarra Districts for 1879-80 (1880), 8vo, Calcutta.

FORRIGN DEPARTMENT.

MYSORE.—Report on the Administration of Mysore for 1879-80 (1880), fisc., Bangalore. CHIEF COMMISSIONEE OF MYSORE.

TRANSACTIONS, PROCEEDINGS, &c., OF SOCIETIES, SURVEYS, &c.

BELFAST.—Proceedings of the Belfast Natural History and Philosophical Society for the Sessions 1878-79, 1879-80 (1880), 8vo, Belfast.

THE SOCIETY.

BEBLIN.—Abhandlungen der König. Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, 1879 (1880), 4to, Berlin.

THE ACADEMY.

" Monatsbericht der König. Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, September and October 1880 (1881), 4to, Berlin.

THE ACADEMY.

" Zeitschrift der Deutschen Geologischen Gesellschaft. Band XXXII, No. 3 (1880), 8vo, Berlin.

THE SOCIETY.

BRESLAU.—Siebenundfünfzigster Jahres-Bericht der Schlesischen Gesellschaft für Väterlandische Cultur, 1879 (1880), 8vo, Breslau.

THE SOCIETY.

CALCUTTA.—Account of the Operations of the Great Trigonometrical Survey of India, Vol. VI (1880), 4to, Dehra Dún.

THE SUBVEY.

" Synopsis of the Results of the Operations of the Great Trigonometrical Survey of India, Vol. VII (1879), 4to, Dehra Dún.

THE SUBVEY.

" CABBINGTON, R. C.—List of Light houses and Light vessels in British India, including the Red Sea and Coast of Arabia, corrected to 1st January 1881 (1881), oblong 4to, Calcutta.

MABINE SURVEY DEPT.

" Journal of the Agricultural and Horticultural Society of India, New Series, Vol. VI, pt. 3 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

Digitized by Google

THE SOCIETY.

200

201

Titles of Books. Donors. CALCUTTA.-Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, New Series, Vol. XLIX, part I, No. 4. and part II, No. 4 (1880), 8vo, Calcutta. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, Nos. IX and X (1880), and No. 1 ,, (1881), 8vo, Calcutta. THE SOCIETY. Palæontologia Indica. Fossil Flora of the Gondwana System. Vol. III, Supple-22 ment to part J (1881), 4to, Calcutta. GEOLOGICAL SUBVEY OF INDIA. Records of the Geological Survey of India, Vol. XIV, part 1 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta. ,, GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA. CAMBBIDGE.-Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Vol. VIII, Nos. 1 and 2 (1880), 8vo, Cambridge, Mass. MUSEUM OF COMPARATIVE ZOOLOGY, COPENHAGEN.-Mémoires de l'Académie Royale de Copenhague, 5th Series, Vol. XII. No. 6; and 6th Series, Vol. 1, Nos. 1 and 2 (1880), 4to, Copenhague, THE ACADEMY. Qversigt over det Kong. danske Videnskabernes Selskabs, No. 2 (1880), ,, 8vo, Copenhague. THE ACADEMY. GLASCOW.-Proceedings of the Philosophical Society of Glasgow, Vol. XII, No. 1 (1880) 8vo, Glasgow. THE SOCIETY. LAUSANNE -Bulletin de la Société Vaudoise des Sciences Naturelles, 2nd series, Vol. XVII., No. 84 (1880), 8vo, Lausanne. THE SOCIETY. LIVEBPOOL.-Proceedings of the Liverpool Geological Society, Vol. IV, part 2 (1880). 8vo., Liverpool. THE SOCIETY. LONDON.-Journal of the Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland, Vol. X, No. 2 (1880), 8vo, London. Journal of the Iron and Steel Institute. No. II (1880), 8vo, London. ,, THE INSTITUTE. Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society of Great Britain and Ireland. New Series. ., Vol. XII, part 4 (1880), and XIII, part 1 (1881), 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY. Journal of the Royal Geographical Society, Vol. XLIX, (1879) 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Royal Geographical Society. New Series, Vols. II, No. 12, and III, No. 1 (1880-81), 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY. Journal of the Society of Arts, Vol. XXIX, Nos. 1465-1476 (1880-81), 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY. Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London, Vol. XXXVI, No. 144., ,, with list of Fellows for 1880 (1880), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

[VOL. XIV.

Donors.

Titles of Books.

MADRID.-Boletin de la Sociedad Geografica de Madrid. Vol. IX, Nos. 4-6 (1880), 8vo, Madrid.

THE SOCIETY.

MANCHESTER.—Memoirs of the Literary and Philosophical Society of Manchester, 2nd Series, Vols. I and XIII (1805 and 1856), and 3rd Series, Vol. VI (1879), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

", Proceedings of the Literary and Philosophical Society of Manchester. Vols. XVI (1877) to XIX (1880), 8vo, Manchester.

THE SOCIETY.

,, Transactions of the Manchester Geological Society, Vol. XVI, parts 2 & 3 (1880-81), 8vo, Manchester.

THE SOCIETY.

MELBOUENE.—Reports of the Mining Surveyors and Registrars for quarter ending 30th September 1880, (1880), f'cap., Melbourne.

MINING DEPARTMENT, VICTORIA.

MONTBEAL.—Geological Survey of Canada. Report of Progress for 1878-79 (1880), 8vo., Montreal.

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF CANADA.

Moscow.-Bulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscow, Vol. LV, No. 2 (1880), 8vo, Moscou.

THE SOCIETY.

MUNICH.—Abhandlungen der Math.—Phys. Classe der König. Bayerischen Akademie der Wissenchaften. Band XIII, Abth. 3. (1880) 4to, München.

THE ACADEMY.

" Sitzungsberichte der Mathematisch-Physikalischen Classe der K. B. Akademie der Wissenschaften. Heft 2-4. (1880), 8vo, München.

THE ACADEMY.

" Ueber den Geologischen Bau der Libyschen Wüste, (1880) 4to pht, München.

THE ACADEMY.

NEUCHATEL.—Bulletin de la Société des Sciences Naturelles de Neuchatel, Vol. XII, pt. 1, (1880) 8vo, Neuchatel.

THE SOCIETY.

NEW ZEALAND.—Fifteenth Annual Report on the Colonial Museum and Laboratory, (1880) 8vo, New Zealand.

THE MUSEUM.

PARIS.-Bulletin de la Société Géologique de France, 3rd Series, Vol. VI, No. 10, Vol. VII, Nos. 6 and 8, 1878-79 (1880), 8vo, Paris.

THE SOCIETY.

PHILADELPHIA. - Journal of the Franklin Institute, 3rd Series, Vol. LXXX, No. 6, and Vol. LXXXI, No. 1 (1880-81), 8vo, Philadelphia.

THE INSTITUTE.

PISA.—Atti della Societa Toscana di Scienze Naturali. Processi Verbali, 14 Novembre 1880 and 9 Gennaio, 1881 (1880-81), 8vo, Pisa.

THE SOCIETY.

ROME.—Atti della R. Accademia dei Lincei, 3rd Series. Transunti, Vol. V, fasc. 1—6, (1881) 4to, Roma.

Digitized by Google

THE ACADEMY.

Titles of Books.

SALEM. - Bulletin of the Essex Institute, Vol. XII, Nos. 7-9, (1880) 8vo, Salem.

THE INSTITUTE. STOCKHOLM.—ANGELIN N. P. & LINDSTEÖM. G.—Fragmenta Silurica (1880), fol. Holmiz.

THE ROYAL ACADEMY, STOCKHOLM.

" ANGELIN P. N.-Palæontologia Scandinavica, Part I (1878), 4to, Holmiæ. THE ROYAL ACADEMY, STOCKHOLM.

ST. PETERSBURG.—Bulletin de L'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Petersbourg, Vol. XXVI, No. 2 (1880), 4to, St. Petersbourg.

THE ACADEMY.

Mémoires de L'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Petersbourg, Vol. XXVII, Nos. 5-12 (1879-80), 4to, St. Petersbourg.

THE ACADEMY.

VIENNA.—Denkschriften der Kais. Akademie der Wissenschaften. Band XLI. (1879) aud XL and XLII (1880), (1879-80), 4to, Wien.

THE ACADEMY.

Sitzungsbericht der Kais. Akademie der Wissenschaften.
Band LXXIX, Abth. I, heft 1-5; Abth II. heft 4-5.
Band LXXX, Abth. I, heft 1-5; Abth II. heft 1-5, and Abth, III heft 1-5.
Band LXXXI, Abth. I, heft 1-5; Abth. II, heft 1-5, and Abth. III, heft 1-5.
Band LXXXII, Abth. I, heft 1-2; Abth. II, heft 1-2, and Abth III. heft 1-2,
Register zu den Baenden 76 bis 80 (1879-80); 870, Wien.

THE ACADEMY.

" Verhandlungen der K. K. Geologischen Reichsanstalt, Nos. 15-17 (1880), and Nos. 1-3 (1881), 8vo, Wien.

THE INSTITUTE.

WASHINGTON.—Bulletin of the United States Geological and Geographical Survey of the Territories, Vol. V, No. 4 (1880), 8vo, Washington.

THE SUBVEY.

WELLINGTON.—Palæontology of New Zealand, Part IV. Corals and Bryozoa of the Neozoi Period in New Zealand; by Revd. J. E. Tenison-Woods (1880), 8vo, Wellington.

GEOLOGICAL SUBVEY, NEW ZEALAND.

YOKOHAMA.—Mittheilungen der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Natur und Völkerkunde Ostasiens, Heft XXII, Dec. 1880, flsc. Yokohama.

THE SOCIETY.

" Transactions of the Asiatic Society of Japan, Vol. VIII, pt. 4 (1880), 8vo, Yokohama.

THE SOCIETY.

MAP.

WYLD, JAMES.-Map of the Gold Fields of Southern India (1880), London.

April 9th, 1881.

Digitized by Google

Donors.

Digitized by Google

· -o~ i

RECORDS

OF THE

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA.

Part 8.] 1881. [August.

Artesian Borings in India.—By H. B. MEDLICOTT, M.A., Geological Survey of India.

In such a thirsty land as India the late success of artesian borings at Pondicherry has naturally raised the question—Why has not this source of water been sought for all over the country? The best answer to this question is to show how many trials have been made. Several of them were on a much greater scale than the Pondicherry borings, and such as was reasonably considered adequate to ensure success. The failure, as not certainly due to natural causes, has by no means settled the condition of supply, even at the localities where the borings were made, although proving it to be less accessible than was hoped for. A selected collection of these scattered records cannot fail to be of use for future guidance, and a brief discussion of the conditions may help in the same way.

2. The Artesian well.—The simple phenomenon to which artesian wells are due is of very common occurrence in ordinary wells sunk below the sub-soil water: whenever, as frequently happens, the water rises at once to a higher level than that at which it was struck. When the ascensional power is sufficient to bring the water up to or above the surface, the well is called artesian, from the province of Artois, in France, where such wells have been used from remote times. Where such a source can be found, it is manifestly sufficient to tap it by a boring, the dimensions being regulated according to the discharge required.

3. The popular explanation: two classes of conditions.—The familiar explanation of this action, and indeed the only one mentioned in many books,' is somewhat misleading, as being but a special case of the required conditions. If an elastic tube be filled with water and allowed to hang in a loop or curve; if then the tube be punctured on its upper side, the water will spout up from the hole with a force proportional to the position of the puncture below the level at which the water stands in the tube. This illustrates the example usually given of artosian conditions; where the water-bearing stratum lies in a basin, whether from the original conformation of the area of deposition, or as induced by disturbance of the deposits. Such features are, however, of the rarest, in any verna-

¹ As in the latest edition of the Encyclopædia Brittanica.

cular sense of the word basin. Most of the so-called basins have one or more sides wanting, and are, in fact, compound inclined planes. This popular view of artesian borings would not even *primå facie* apply to the majority of cases, nor to any trials that have been made in India. The fiction and its misnomer may, however, be retained to denote the important class of cases where the artesian conditions have been largely produced by disturbance, causing partial upheaval and visible bending of the strata, in contradistinction to the other great, class in which the simple inclined (flatly curved) plane of original deposition is the prevailing condition, although the only examples of complete 'basins' would be found in this latter class, in the case of filled-up and dried-up water basin.

4. The primary conditions : as produced in nature.—The essential conditions of the phenomenon are fulfilled whenever a body of water confined in an inclined channel, of whatever dimensions, is arrested or retarded by a total or partial obstruction in its progress to its point of discharge, so as to be pressed back above that level; a state of permanence being attained when the increase of pressure so produced causes a discharge equal to the supply of water at the upper end, or when overflow takes place there. These conditions are produced continually in nature by the ordinary process of formation of sedimentary rocks. independently of any turning up of the strata either from the original form of the floor of deposition or by subsequent disturbance. Even in an open water basin the formation of strictly horizontal deposits is a very exceptional occurrence, for there is always greater deposition on the side from which the sediment is derived. It is similar in the case of deposits formed above water level by the action of rain and rivers, of which we have such extensive instances in India; accumulation takes place most rapidly in the border zone where the denuding action of these agencies changes into one of deposition; and thus do alluvial plains present a constantly increasing slope from the sea-margin to the foot of the uplands whence their materials are derived. In this way the first condition of artesian springs is established originally in all sedimentary rocks, in the prevailing slope of deposition; subsequent disturbance would generally increase this condition of slope or 'fall.' The other conditions are also often aboriginally provided for in stratified rocks: in the distribution of coarse and fine deposits by alternation, or by the latter covering the former, the confined water channel is produced; and the usually greater accumulation of the coarser materials at and near the higher marginal zone of the so-called basin ensures the retarded discharge and the consequent accumulation of water at a higher level, which is the active factor in artesian springs.

5. Experimental illustrations.—The foregoing statements may be made plain by the following experimental facts.¹ A leaden pipe of half-inch bore and about 7 feet long was placed on an inclined board, raised 15 inches at one end, making a

¹ I am much indebted to my colleague, Mr. F. R. Mallet, for his assistance in making these experiments. Simple as they are, great care is needed to ensure accurate and comparable results. If by inattention the feed of water falls for an instant below the full supply, air enters the pipe and becomes entangled in the wet shot, and the whole has to be charged again with dried shot in a dry pipe : and this has to be done at every change of experiment. The water should be first let in from below and very gradually.





ζ.

PART 3.]

slope of about 10 degrees, as shown in figure 1 of the annexed plate. Arrangement was made for a constant supply of water, according to demand, at the upper end. At intervals of about 19 inches from the lower end of the pipe, holes were made on the upper side, in which glass tubes were fixed, reaching to the height of the upper end of the pipe. In the free pipe so placed, with a full supply of water at the upper end, there was a discharge of 322 cubic inches per minute. The pipe was then filled with small shot (No. 8), and the feed water being kept strictly level with the surface of the shot at the top, there was only a discharge less than 5 cubic inches per minute. In neither of these cases, i.e., while the pipe was quite straight, whether with the water rushing through the free pipe or slowly percolating through the shot, was there the slightest tendency of the water to rise in the glass tubes; because the conditions of discharge were the same at every point of the pipe-there was nowhere any inactive pressure or vis a tergo produced by the retardation of the uniform flow. Now it is plain that the discharge of the pipe depends upon three factors-its slope, the porosity of its contents, and the sectional area of the pipe; and the effects of these three factors are separately made visible in the following experiments. The pipe was bent at the upper end, giving it a gradually decreasing slope to near the third tube. Shot (No. 8) was again filled in, as in the preceding experiment, and water laid on and maintained at the exact upper surface of the shot, when a considerable rise took place in the three glass tubes as represented in figure 2 of the annexed plate, drawn to a natural scale of about 2'oth.1 These tubes represent artesian wells, and the rises that would take place in corresponding relative positions. The only change in this experiment from the previous one is the increased potential discharge in the upper part of the tube owing to increased slope; this flow is obstructed and retarded by the decreasing slope below, and thus a pressure, or vis a tergo, is produced throughout the whole pipe, causing the rise in the several tubes. In the preceding paragraph it was shown that this condition of increased slope towards the source is normally produced in the formation of sedimentary rocks. The next experiment (case No. 3) shows the effect of unequal porosity, all else being as in case No. 1. The pipe was charged with No.8 shot to between the first and second tubes, and then filled up with much larger shot (BB). The rises that took place are shown in figure 3; they can only be due to the checking of the greater potential discharge of the more porous upper part by the less porous lower part of the pipe. This condition too is a normal result of sedimentary formation : the finer material being swept on to the lower or more distant position. To show the independent effect of a change of capacity in the water stratum, a pipe of one inch bore was joined to the smaller pipe, between the first and second tubes, and the whole compound pipe filled with the small shot (No. 8), as in case No. 1. The effect, shown in figure 4, was much stronger than in case No. 3, no doubt in exact proportion to the greater potential discharge of the one-inch pipe charged with No. 8 shot over that of the same length of half-inch pipe filled with BB shot.

¹ It is interesting to observe that in this experiment the line joining these heights is straight, and that its prolongation intersects the two terminals of supply and discharge. This fact was confirmed when the head was raised to 20 inches and lowered to 10 inches, so, within the range of these experiments, it indicates a law of the conditions.

VOL. XIV.

This condition also would be a normal result of the process of rock formation; the greater accumulation of coarse materials at the upper margin of deposition would give a vastly greater sectional area to the water strata in that position, thinning out indefinitely beneath the finer succeeding deposits. Numerous other experiments were made, from which I select two: one to show the extreme limit of condition No. 3; the upper part of the pipe was left free of shot, when the rise in the tubes was, of course, very great, as shown in figure 5. The combined effect of cases 3 and 4 are shown in figure 6, when the larger pipe was filled with BB shot.¹ As occurring in nature these several conditions are of course almost infinitely varied, and beyond all possibility of accurate detection from the surface; but throughout every complication the total result must rigourously conform to the laws indicated in the foregoing experiments.

6. Proctical difference between basins of disturbance and of original deposition.— The simplicity of the primary conditions that have been shown to govern the action of artesian wells might lead to very false expectations as to the ease and certainty with which such wells may be established. It needs some knowledge of geology to be aware of all the chances that may intervene to frustrate the best laid hopes, and how those hopes have in the first instance to be based upon inferences that are far short of certainty. In this respect there is much difference in the data of observation between the two classes of sources I have indicated, those entirely dependent upon original conditions of deposition, and those which are largely due to subsequent disturbances of the strata. In the latter case it would seem as if additional complications were introduced: and to a certain extent this is true, for such strata are affected by fissures and dislocations from which difficulties the undisturbed deposits are free. But on the whole there is a balance of available information in favour of the more complicated structure.

7. Examples.—The contrast can be illustrated from familiar examples. The strata from which the deep artesian sources of London and Paris are derived are turned up and exposed in the country surrounding the valleys of the Thame⁹ and the Seine. The sequence of the strata on both sides can thus be observed and compared, and a fair opinion formed as to the water-bearing strata, and as to the depth at which they will be found within the basin. It is obviously different for deposits that still lie in their basin of formation. Here only the topmost beds are visible, and we can have no actual particulars, unless by trial sinking, as to the composition and depth of what lies below the surface. It is quite certain, however, that on the whole they are made up of alternations of porous and non-porous materials; and in the case of river valley deposits there is a further

¹ In the figures the actual readings (reduced to a constant head level) are recorded, and the apparent anomaly may be noticed in some cases of a rise in the upper tube, actually higher than the level at the head. In case 5 this amounts to nearly four tenths of an inch. In this experiment the feed was managed by a siphon, regulated by a pinch-cock, from a water surface about 4 inches higher than the top of the pipe, the lower end of the siphon being close on the surface at the top of the pipe; the increased rise in the tube was evidently due to the continuous impact of the tiny jet of water by which the feed was sustained. To minimise this interference an intermediate cistern was introduced, having an overflow to ensure a constant surface at about 1 inch over the top of the pipe: but even with this arrangement the effect was still observable, as in case 6.

PART 3.]

MBDLICOTT: Artesian Borings in India.

presumption that the bottom beds, formed largely of the debris of local rocks, would be coarse and porous, while, as the deposits accumulate and spread at higher levels, finer sediment would predominate: one might travel over the plains of India, from the delta of the Ganges to that of the Indus, without finding a transported pebble larger than a pea. Accordingly, it is a matter of very wide experience that artesian springs are abundantly yielded by such recent deposits. Those of Lombardy, of the Sahara and of Pondicherry are of this nature.

8. Older rock-basins in India.-There are in India several large areas occupied by old formations having a general synclinal disposition. This distribution of the rocks in isolated basins is quite a general feature of Indian geology, and it cannot be asserted as impossible that there should be artesian sources within some of these basins. In the south there are the Kadapah, Kaladghi, and Bhima areas in which the strata dip inwards from a rim of gneiss, but the rocks are too much indurated to be properly porous, and the frequent local contortions within the basin would otherwise disturb any calculation as to the continuity of any particular group of beds. In the north there is the great area of Upper Vindhyan rocks, stretching from Behár round by Ságor to Dholpur. The composition of the series, in thick alternating masses of sandstones and shales, presents the most favourable original conditions for the retention of underground water; and the lie of the strata is equally propitious, with a gentle inward slope on all sides. But here again the rocks are in too advanced a state of induration; none of them are porous in the degree required for a prolific water stratum, so that, unless the supply were aided by fissures or other accidents, it could scarcely be counted upon. A more direct cause of failure at many points of the area would be found in the elevated position of the rock basin, which is orographically a plateau. Thus, although the outcrops of the several lower groups on the borders of the area are higher than much of the surface in the centre, most of the rivers drain across the northern scarp in deep gorges or cañons, which would afford a natural outlet for percelation from those groups at a lower level than the upland plains.

9. Secondary rock-basins in India.—Some of the objections made in the case of the older rocks would not apply with the same force to the great series of secondary rocks known as the Gondwána system. This also is distributed throughout the northern half of the peninsula, in more or less isolated basins, partly of original limitation, but a good deal affected by subsequent compression. It is composed largely of massive sandstones with subordinate clays, all in a much less advanced state of consolidation than are the Vindhyan rocks, but greatly more compacted than the upper secondary strata from which the deep artesian springs of the London and Paris basins are derived. The least permeable beds are, however, those at the base of the series. Although these generally include a great conglomerate, the 'boulder bed' of the Talchir group, supposed to be in some degree of glacial formation, the matrix of this bed is a fine silt, quite impervious to water. Still, in certain positions, it is not impossible that artesian springs might be forthcoming in these rocks : thus, in a south central position in the Raniganj basin, a boring that penetrated below the ironstone-shales

209

(supposing them to be continuous) might tap water that would rise to the surface. Another perhaps more likely position may be noticed in the interior valley along the northern edge of the Satpúra basin, where the Denwa clays are supposed to be underlaid by an attenuated extension of the Pachmari sandstone, which rises into high hills immediately to the south. I mention this ground because partial trials were made here in the borings for coal at Khápa and Mánegaon, the former to a depth of 720 feet, the latter to 420 feet. But in neither case did any water rise to the surface, although in the Khápa hole an ingress of sand and water under pressure occurred at some points, necessitating the use of piping to a depth of 270 feet. It is rather to be hoped that no such store of water does exist in these deposits, as it would be a serious obstacle to deep mining, which may at some future time be undertaken. I am unable to quote any instances of an artesian boring in rocks that had undergone a considerable degree of induration. This state almost precludes the conditions required for artesian springs: porosity in an adequate degree can hardly exist, and the water circulation is relegated to cracks and fissures which affect the indurated impervious beds as well as the originally porous ones, so that the water distribution becomes promiscuous instead of in sheets.

10. Inquiries made in Madras in 1864.—In 1864 anxious inquiries were made by the Government of Madras as to the prospect of artesian borings in certain districts especially liable to drought, as specified in the subjoined letter :—

"From Secretary to the Board of Revenue, to Secretary to Government, dated Madras, 25th April 1864.

"SIR,—I am directed by the Board of Revenue to submit, for the consideration of Government, that it is expedient to make a thorough trial of the artesian well system in such parts of the country as, in communication with the Geological Survey Department, may be deemed most favourably circumstanced for the purpose.

"The actual and serious deficiency of water for drinking and domestic purposes becomes painfully conspicuous in a season of drought such as the present, and so far as the Board can judge, the evil is greatest in localities which hold out fair promise of success to the proposed experiment.

"They may instance Coimbatore in the neighbourhood of the Neilgherry range, Bellary not far from the Ramandroog range, and parts of Kadapah, which are generally in sufficient proximity to hilly tracts to indicate *prima facie* that the system might succeed.

"The Collectors could point out to the Geological Department the exact spots where the want of water is most keenly felt, when in the hot and dry season villagers have daily to travel some miles to obtain drinking water, and not unfrequently have to pay for it to the fortunate possessor of a spring, small tank, or well; and the Board believe that the Geological Surveyors could without much labour determine whether the contour and stratification of the country allowed hope of success for artesian wells."

In two of the districts mentioned, the hills, which were pointed out as possible sources of artesian springs, are entirely, as well as the ground beneath the plains, of crystalline metamorphic rocks. In the third the rocks are slates and quartzites of the transition series, in which the prospects are scarcely better. In connection with these inquiries two deep borings were recommended by Captain F.

Digitized by Google

210

PART 3.]

Fischer, R.E., to be made in the Bellary district, and the work was sanctioned by the Madras Government;¹ but they were not carried out, from want of funds.²

11. Borings in tertiary rocks at Gogah, Guzerát.-The only artesian boring in India in rocks older than the alluvium that I can find mention of is one at Gogah (Gogo), a little promontory in the Gulf of Cambay, on the east coast of Kattywar, in Guzerát. It was put down in upper tertiary rocks, the same as those so well known for their fossil mammalian remains in the Island of Perim, 6 miles distant to the south-east. A notice of it is recorded in the Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal for 1837 (Vol. VI, p. 786), by the officer in charge, Lieutenant George Fulljames, presumably the originator of the enterprise. A full section of the boring is given, to a depth of 335 feet, the work being then in progress, but so far without result.³ The section in the boring is not altogether unfavourable; in the lower portion there is a great preponderance of "stiff blue clay," which would form a thorough cover for any water-bearing bed below it; but there seems little or no prospect of success in such a position, at least from the tertiary beds themselves. These lie flatly, or with a gentle easterly slope of original deposition, but they are only a fringing belt on the Kattywar coast, forming very low ground. Inland from Gogah they extend for about 5 miles, where they rest upon a denuded surface of the Deccan trap, so that their immediate catchment area is very small, and the possible supply from drainage is also very restricted, for at about 12 miles from Gogah the trap forms a small range rising to a summit of 986 feet. The bedding in this rock is either horizontal, or, probably, having a low westerly inclination. The rainfall, moreover, is small, seldom exceeding 20 inches. All things considered, the best chance of an artesian spring at Gogah would seem to be the possibility of a supply in the

¹ Order No. 1895, dated 14th October 1864.

² Proceedings, Government of Madras, No. 138, dated 14th January 1865.

³ My inquiries as to any further knowledge of this boring has elicited the following interesting information from the Public Works Secretariat, Bombay, dated 29th June 1881 :---

"In reply to your letter No. 162, dated 12th May 1881, I have the honour to state that Lieutenant Fulljames' report cannot now be traced, but that it appears that from 1831 to 1837-38, an outlay of Rs. 65,163 was incurred in boring experiments in Guzerát, Kolaba, the Southern Maratha country, and Poona.

"As regards the experiments in Guzerát, the Collector of Ahmedabad in a report, dated 14th March 1842, stated as follows:

^c With respect to the advantages which have hitherto attended the experiments, I take this opportunity of observing that, although a moderate supply of sweet water may generally be obtained by this means in the Dholka Purgunna, and undoubtedly in years when the monsoon fails and water is not procurable under any circumstances, the benefit to those villages where a bore has been successful cannot be too highly appreciated, yet on the whole I am of opinion their success cannot be considered to have been commensurate with the expense, including the risk of failure which attends them.'

"At Poona the operations were discontinued in consequence of the little prospect of success arising from the unfavourable nature of the strata. At Kolaba also the attempt proved an entire failure.

"Further search will be made for Licutenant Fulljames' report, and if forthcoming copies will be duly transmitted to you." bottom beds, derived from the trap; or, more remotely still, from the opposite side of the basin of deposition, 50 miles to the east, where lower tertiary strata rise to some little elevation at the base of the Rájpipla hills, formed of the Deccan trap. These two suggestions illustrate the considerations that may, as a last resource, be taken into account in speculating upon artesian sources.

12. Alluvial plains.—The want of water is nowhere more felt than in parts of the great alluvial plains of India, and all the deep borings in Northern India have been made in that region. None other offers such a fair prospect of suc. cess although hitherto the results have been disappointing. The plains are correctly spoken of as alluvial, as being still more or less subject to increase from inundation or atmospheric action; but these surface deposits are often in continuous sequence with similar underlying strata of great thickness, and, no doubt, ranging in age to early pleistocene times. These alluvial areas may be distinguished as of two kinds: there are extensive upland valley plains, entirely encompassed by hills or low rocky outcrops; and the plains of the great rivers terminating on the seaboard.

13. Midland plains: the Narbada Valley: surface features.-Of the midland plains we have a good example in the country known as 'the Narbada Valley,' in the centre of the peninsula, stretching for about 200 miles between Jabalpur and Harda, with a width of about 20 miles. The elevations of these two places are 1,351.51 and 946.75 feet, ¹ giving a total fall of a little over 400 feet, or about 2 feet per mile. The cross-section of the valley equally indicates that its surface is due to actual, or very recent, alluvial conditions : although the main river, the Narbada, enters the valley from the southern hills, at the east end, its course throughout the valley keeps near to the northern side, a fact no doubt connected with the much greater influx of detrital matter from the south. The watershed on the north is along the Vindhyan scarp, immediately overhanging the valley, while the southern affluents of the Narbada drain a large area of the Sátpura range, composed of much softer rocks than the Vindhyans. On the branch line to the Mohpáni coal-field there is a fall from 1,242 feet, at the foot of the southern hills, to 1,157.72 at Gádarwára junction, in a length of 11 miles, or about 7 feet per mile.

14. Recent erosion and its cause.—Although the deposits of the Narbada Valley are the work of the existing rivers, we have to note this primary result as completed, so far as the chief rivers are concerned, and as having already undergone modification of a most important kind as regards artesian springs. The Narbada and all its main affluents now flow in permanently defined channels well below the general surface, and never inundate the adjoining plains, which are now undergoing denudation rather than increase, unless in the immediate neighbourhood of the hills. Such a change in the mode of action of rivers immediately implies a greater total of carrying power in the annual discharge of water; and this may be due either to an increased fall, or to an increased volume of water, or to a change in the regulation of the same total discharge from a distributed gradual escape, largely by percolation, to one taking place in concen-

¹ These elevations were kindly given to me by Mr. J. H. Edwards, District Engineer, G. I. P. Railway, at Jabalpur; they refer to the level of the rails above mean sea datum-level.

PART 8.]

MEDLICOTT : Artesian Borings in India.

trated floods. It is scarcely doubtful to which of these causes the actual conditions are to be assigned. An increased fall, whether by a lowering of the level of escape, or by a rise of the area of supply, would almost surely be detectable in the inequality of its effects at different points of the basin, either in the work done by the main river or of its affluents on either side; whereas the observed conditions of recent erosion occur about equally all over, where each stream enters the valley, as much as at the final point of discharge. The second cause may also be laid aside; there is nothing to support the supposition of a great increase of rainfall in late times. There is much reason to think that the effect under notice is attributable to the third cause mentioned, the increased rapidity of escape of the periodical rainfall, this being due to the progressive deforesting of the land since prehistoric times with increase of population. The effect of this upon artesian springs will be mentioned presently.

15. Underground features of alluvial valleys .--- If we now attempt some conjectures as to the underground conditions upon which the chances of a water supply so much depend, we are at once confronted by the obscurity mentioned in para. 6. A first presumption regarding an alluvial valley is that it had under other conditi. as been excavated by the agencies which are now filling it up, the change of operation having been effected either by a suitable movement of the ground, or simply by the backward growth of deposits from the delta. Under this latter simplest, and perhaps commonest, condition of al'uvial deposition, one assumption can be made regarding the depth of the deposits, that the maximum depth in any cross-section is less than that of any cross-section below it (down-stream); i.e., that the alluvial area is not a 'rockbasin'---one in which the bottom of hard rock is cup-shaped, with interior depths greater than the lowest point of the enclosing barrier.' But this relative information is of no practical value without a knowledge of the maximum depth at any cross-section. A further uncertainty arises from the great irregularity of surface-form produced by subserial denudation, according to the texture and posture of the rocks acted on. For instance, the upper valley of the Damuda, between the gneissic plateaus of Ránchi and Hazáribágh, is chiefly occupied by detached basins of Gondwana strata, which the river and its affluents have carved into hills of various shapes, leaving some central masses of sandstone nearly as high as the adjoining uplands of metamorphic rocks. If this valley were to become filled with alluvium, the future well-sinker might think himself safe in choosing a central position for his boring; and at many places he might sink successfully to a depth of several hundred feet, whereas not far off, in what he might think more open and safer ground, his rods would strike rock near the surface, on what are now the Lagu and the Maudi hills of Gondwána sandstone. Thus, to return to the actual case of the Narbada Valley, the fact that outcrops of rock only occur near to the north or south boundary, gives very small presumption as to the depth of the deposits at any point.

16. Exemplified by the Narbada Valley.—Other causes besides the simple ones just mentioned, and more local in their effects, may have contributed to bring

¹ This is, of course, only true generally, and within moderate limits, for it is common to find in river beds a deep pool above a rock barrier; where soft or decomposable rock occurs above that forming the barrier; and it would be difficult to assign a limit to this action.

B

VOL XIV.

about the formation of an alluvial basin and to complicate the underground features. The Narbada Valley would seem to be a case in point ; its history is evidently very intricate and as yet imperfectly made out; but it will serve to illustrate the point under discussion. The alluvial area occurs where the river valley lies between Vindhyan rocks on the north, forming the plateau of Málwa, Bhopál, and Ságar, and Gondwána rocks on the south, forming the highest portion of the Sátpura range. It is thus at once evident that we are in the neighbourhood of important structural features; that the valley here is not simply one of erosion in the same geological formation. The severance of these two great sedimentary series on opposite sides of the valley is complete, no remnant of either being found near the other; and it is doubtful if they were ever in contact in this region. They both rest with total unconformity upon the same transition and gnessic rocks, which are seen at a few places on the borders of the valley and might thus appear to form the bed of the alluvial basin. Both the Gondwanas and the Vindhyans, within their respective areas, have undergone comparatively little disturbance; but on the margin of those areas, i.e., next the valley, there is much local contortion in each of them. This circumstance has given rise to speculation as to the present limits of the sedimentary formations being due to great movements of downthrow, to the north on the side of the Vindhyans, and to the south on the side of the Gondwánas-a supposition which implies that the ground now occupied by the valley had been a position of relative upheaval. Closer examination has not confirmed this view : at several points the upper beds of the Gondwána series are found lapping round the low hills of metamorphic rocks on the margin of the valley, proving that the original limits of the deposits were approximately where we now find them.¹ The case is not so clearly made out for the Vindhyans, but the fact that the shales which form such a considerable proportion of the series within the basin are scarcely, if at all, represented along the southern margin, points strongly to a similar conclusion as for the Gondwána boundary. On this view then we have to presume that in Vindhyan, and still later in Gondwana times, there existed a range of older rocks where now lies the Narbada Valley-a view only a degree less embarrassing than the former supposition of its having been a position of actual upheaval in still later times. Had we no further facts to deal with, we should only have to work the problem by the well-known condition that rocks in a high state of chemical combination, such as the metamorphic rocks, are much more subject to decay, especially under the influence of vegetation, than the deposits which are the immediate residue of that decay.

17. Continued.—There is, however, later information regarding the history of the valley. At several points along the south margin, bedded basaltic rock is found beneath the alluvium, outside (in front of) the fringe of metamorphic rocks which support the scarp of Gondwána sandstone. From this we must conclude, either that the Narbada Valley existed to a greater depth than at present, in middle cretaceous times, before the outburst of the Deccan trap, when it became filled up by this rock, which undoubtedly was once continuous across it connecting the points where it is still found capping both the Vindhyans and

¹ For details of this feature, see Mem., G. S. I., Vol. X, Sec. 10, p. 164.

PART S.]

the Gondwanas on either side of the valley; or else, this now low-level trap had overspread the upland of metamorphic rocks that formerly must have separated the Vindhyan and Gondwána basins, and have been let down by a fault close along the present south edge of the valley. There are facts in favour of both views, and it is probable that the result is partially due to each condition. It is very probable that the ridge of old rocks had undergone very extensive decay and erosion before the advent of the basaltic outflow, as had undoubtedly taken place in the adjoining area of similar rocks to the north of the Vindhyan plateau in Lower Bundelkhand. That area had certainly been occupied by hills of gneiss when the Vindhyans were deposited,¹ and it is equally certain that at the Deccan trap period it had been reduced to about its present level, the basalt being found in the low ground continuous with that on Vindhyans of the Ságar plateau (l. c., p. 16); and that result was chiefly, if not wholly, due to simple weathering (l. c., p. 95). We might then suppose that the same had occurred in the case of the Narbada Valley, and that its re-excavation in the basaltic rock, on the old lines, was simply the effect of denudation. There would be nothing very forced in such a supposition, and, indeed, to a great extent it has to be adopted, but there are other facts that would not thus be accounted for.

18. Continued : the Sukakheri and Gádarwára borings.-The facts just referred to could not have been discovered from any observations at the surface; they have been brought to light by some trial borings for coal. It was conjectured that the Gondwana coal measures might have extended into valleys of the metamorphic hills, which formed the general boundary of the basin in this position, and borings were undertaken in the alluvium in front of the Mohpáni coal-field; one at Sukakheri, 3 miles from the hills, and one at Gádarwára junction, 11 miles from the hills. The latter was sunk to a depth of 251 feet, and the former to 491 feet, altogether in alluvial deposits. The operations could not be carried further, and practically they answered the purpose for which they were undertaken, for it would scarcely be profitable at present to sink for coal through such a thickness of soft rock; but, of course, it still remains unknown what formation underlies the valley deposits at these points. The discovery of the great depth of the alluvium is, however, in itself a very interesting and unexpected fact, as showing that the alluvial basin of the Narbada Valley is a rock-basin of considerable depth. The rock-bed of the Narbada at Hindia, a few miles north of Harda, may be about 100 feet lower than the surface at Harda; and thus it would be nearly 150 feet higher than the bottom of the bore-hole at Sukakheri (where the rock had not yet been touched), at a point 115 miles higher up the valley; and it cannot be assumed that the Sukakheri boring chanced upon the deepest point of the alluvial deposits. It may thus be fairly presumed that special subsidence contributed to the formation of the valley; and this contribution must have been made at a comparatively recent date, for it is introduced to account for the depression of the actual rock-surface beneath the alluvial covering. Direct observation gives support to this supposition. Although, indeed, we find (as at Mohpáni) the basalt resting upon crushed and denuded lowest Gondwána beds close in front of the cliff of Upper Gondwána sandstone-show-

¹ Manual of Geology of India, p. 87.

ing that much of the disturbance and erosion affecting this formation had taken place before the Deccan trap period—yet there are numerous sections on the line of the southern edge of the Narbada Valley to show that the trap itself has undergone much displacement in that position.

19. Continued : special obstacles to artesian springs .- So much then for the geological discussion of the facts; we may now look to their bearing on the artesian well question. We are assured of a basin of quite unexpected dimensions, and most of the surface conditions seem favourable, yet in two borings of very considerable depth no sign of an artesian spring occurred. This would, indeed, be fully accounted for by the fact that neither boring passed through or touched any bed of porous material. An occasional pebble was brought up, but the whole mass passed through seems to consist of more or less impervious clay. I find it recorded in the boring journals that the hole had partly filled up again and had to be cleared out, but this seems to have occurred where the rods were far (sometimes 50 feet) ahead of the tubing, a fact in itself sufficiently proving the tenacity of the ground. We might then consider the question as unaffected by these experiments, but I think I can point out a circumstance which would, independently of the condition of a porous water-stratum, prevent the occurrence of an artesian spring at the general surface level of such a valley as this, which is, I imagine, as regards superficial features, typical of the midland alluvial areas of India. The level to which water would rise in a boring depends primarily upon its level at thehead of supply; now although Sukakheri is 70 feet, and Gádarwára 84 feet, lower than the summit level on the branch railway close to the foot of the hills, the Sitariva river where it enters the alluvium has cut its bed down to about 100 feet below the same level. This, of course, acts as a complete drain upon the accumulation of underground water to a considerable depth.¹ The only chance then of a spring rising to the surface in such an area would seem to be from a source far up the valley. I am not at all prepared to say that the expectation of such a source would be unreasonable, but for the probability that this pressure also would find a leak through bottom coarse deposits to the sides of the valley at the lateral stream channels, and so undergo constant adjustment to the fall. The cause of failure here noticed is analogous to that pointed out for the old rock basins at the end of paragraph 8, and it is the effect of the recent erosion described in para. 14.

20. Coastal alluvial plains.—The case of alluvial plains ending at the sea is somewhat different from that of the upland valley plains. In these latter we can seldom (previous to trial) count upon a greater depth of alluvial strata than the level of the rock-bed at the point of discharge; in the former case there is no such limitation, and there would be a general probability of a depth increasing towards the sea margin. There would, moreover, be a less chance of great inequalities of depth, for the floor upon which such deposits rest would for the most part have been prepared by marine denudation, which does its work in a more regular manner than atmospheric agencies. The prospect then of an artesian boring in a coastal alluvial region would, as regards primary conditions, be reduced to the consideration of the catchment area and rainfall.

³At a distance of a quarter mile the bed of the Sakar is 95 feet below the level at the Gádarwára boring.

PART 9.]

21. The Coromandel plains.—The successful artesian borings at Pondicherry give a general illustration of the conditions under consideration, or at least of one phase of them. The whole Coromandel coast is fringed with alluvium, although at intervals between the principal rivers rocks come close to the shore, or even touch it at a few points. South of the Kistna none of the rivers of the Peninsula are able to maintain an encroaching delta; there seems a temporary neutrality established between them and the sea, for on its side the sea does no more than shake out and spread the alluvial matter it receives from the rivers. so that the sea-bottom is almost a simple continuation of the alluvial plain. At 10 miles from the shore the depth only varies between 20 and 30 fathoms, giving a slope of 1 in 400, or 15 feet in a mile. Under such circumstances the shore line is very regular, almost straight, but inside it the rock margin of the alluvial plain is most sinuous, retreating rapidly inland between the low plateaus of tertiary sandstone that separate the main river basins back to the upland of gneissic rock, and far up the valleys of the principal streams. From these highest beginnings of the alluvial area the principal rivers are, or have been till very recently, in the distributing phase of action, i.e., sending off distributaries, or flood-water subsidiary channels, any one of which may, according to circumstances, be adopted as the main channel, the old one being abandoned. This feature is a necessary condition of a depositing river, for when the stream acts principally as an agent of erosion, it necessarily deepens its channel and fixes its position permanently. Thus it is evident that this plain is of the most recent formation.

22. The Pondicherry borings.—Pondicherry is situated on the shore, at the extreme north-east corner of one of these plains, where the alluvium runs up like a wedge between the sea and the rounded south-east edge of the low plateau of tertiary sandstone, which is only 2 miles distant from the town. To the south, for a width of about 15 miles, the plain has a depth (from the shore line) of about 25 miles, with a mean slope of about 5 feet in a mile. To all appearance Pondicherry is thus least favourably placed as regards an underground water-supply from the alluvium; but Mons. C. Poulain, the enterprising manager of the Savana factory, undertook the experiment with entire confidence, and was rewarded with success. There are now three artesian wells in continuous operation within a circle of 600 yards radius, close to the sea. The surface at the wells is only from 6 to 9 feet above mean sea level, the extreme tidal range being (for Madras) 5 feet 4 inches. In one case the artesian water rose to a height of 15 feet above sea level :—

Position	D.		Depth, feet.	Discharge, gallons per minute.	Diameter of tube, inches.	Temperature, Fahr.
I.—Savana II.—Upålem III.—Jardin d'acclimatation	••• ••• •	•••	174 119 261	8 0 100 1 4 6 [.] 5	5·67 7·08 10·23	91.4 93.74

Artesian wells at Pondicherry.

:

Depth.	Thickness.	No.	
Feet.	Feet.		0.17
4	4	-	Soil.
14	10	1	Clayey sands.
27	13	2	Alternating coarse sands.
36	9	8	Black clay and fine sand.
40	4	4	Clayey sands.
52	12	5	Clean sand.
89	37	6	Black clays, some sandy.
101	12	7	Alternating sand and clay.
110	9	8	Sandy clay and sand.
158	48	9	Black clay.
180	22	10	Fine earthy sand.
198	18	11	Coarse sand, partly ferruginous.
217	19	12	White sand, earthy, and conglomeratic.
235	18	13	Sand and ferruginous grit.
242	7	14	Fine sand.
261	19	15	Sand, gravelly and ferruginous.

Generalised section of well No. III.

Decayed wood was brought up from several of these bands, 2, 5, 13, 14, and 15; and also fragments of shells, presumably marine, from No. 9. There is a decided correspondence in the sections of the three wells, the black clay bands Nos. 6 and 9 being well represented in all, and indicating a steady inclination to east and south. In both the deeper wells decided artesian springs occurred at higher levels than those at which the borings were suspended. The several discharges in these three wells have no definite relation to the depths or to the capacities of the tubes; but it is evident that with the same statical pressure the discharge would be largely affected by the porosity of the particular ground from which the supply was received. All these wells have been working now for nearly three years without any diminution. Formerly the dry-weather level of the upper ground-water was a little below mean sea level, but since the wells have been at work there has been a rise of between 2 and 3 feet in the groundwater attributed to the waste water from profuse irrigation from the wells. A much deeper boring (to 550 feet) was executed in the Black Town, about 1,000 yards to the north of the other wells and proportionally nearer to the edge of the basin, and more removed from the main alluvial area: at 540 feet the water rose to within 3 feet of the surface with a discharge of 13 gallons a minute: but no further success was obtained. The strata passed through agreed with those in the other wells, the lower beds being all sandy, with occasionally vegetable matter, as in the section already given.

23. Special condition of their success.—It is important to call attention to a secondary condition of success in these Pondicherry borings, namely, the continuous prolongation of the deposits to a considerable distance under the sea, whereby the water of these springs at the shore line has still to force its way for many miles before finding an escape. It is, I think, evident from the experiments described in paragraph 5, that, all else remaining as now, the springs at Pondicherry would cease to deliver water at the surface if the sea were to excavate a moderately deep channel near the shore.

PART 3.]

24. Altered condition of the shore.—The frequent mention of vegetable matter and 'decayed wood' at all depths in these borings is certainly suggestive of shallow waters or even of terrestrial conditions, and therefore of continuous subsidence of the ground; yet it would not be safe to insist on this, for it is scarcely known to what extent water-logged vegetable debris may form an ingredient of free deposition in the immediate vicinity of land densely covered with forest, as no doubt was the condition of the Coromandel until comparatively recent times. Nothing of the kind could occur now; but changes of the surface conformation, effected by the destruction of forest, are no doubt as marked here as in the upland alluvial areas already described: the line between land and water was probably then far less marked than now; instead of the sand dunes that fringe the present shore at many places, there would have been everywhere an imperceptible passage through swamp vegetation into the actual sea.

25. Purification of marine deposits .- The absence of mention of brackish water in the Pondicherry borings is noteworthy if only in contrast to what has been observed elsewhere, as at Madras, where it seems rather the rule than the exception to find brackish water in the shallow wells. If this saline impurity be not due to local production at the surface, it must be derived from unwashed marine deposits; and in places on this coast undoubted marine beds have been observed above the present sea level. In either case it is an illustration of the capricious action of underground percolation, through the irregular distribution of porous and non-porous beds. It must, I think, be taken as the normal result of percolating atmospheric waters to completely purge (in time) all rocks to which they have access. So long as a 'head' of fresh water is maintained by soakage from the surface in ground above sea level, that water, in all its most distant ramifications, wherever a sensible flow is sustained, must bar the access of sea-water at whatever depth. A good instance of how rapidly and effectually this duty is performed may be quoted from Madras: a tide guage cylinder was sunk to about 12 feet on the shore close to the high-water mark, and it filled with fresh water.¹

26. Western India: boring at Ahmedabad.—In the report of the Committee on the project for the Calcutta boring² I find the following mention of an apparently successful artesian boring in an alluvial area of Western India: "While drawing up our report, we hear of the eminent good fortune which has attended Lieutenant Fulljames' attempts in Guzerát, at Ahmedabad,³ where water rushed up with great force through the tubes to the astonishment of the inexperienced in such matters. The soil in the plains of Guzerát is so sandy and unretentive of moisture that most of the wells have a depth exceeding 100 feet. The boring was commenced at the bottom of an abandoned well." I have not succeeded in

¹ Information from Captain Baird, R.E., in charge of tidal observations.

I have, I think, given all the important facts of the experience at Pondicherry; for further particulars reference may be made to Records, Geological Survey of India, Vol. XIII, pp. 113 and 194.

² Jour., As. Soc., Bengal, 1833, Vol. II, p. 372.

³ The elevation of Ahmedabad is 195 feet; the distance from the head of the Gulf of Cambay is 50 miles. finding any further information regarding this boring (see note, p. 211), and probably the last sentence of the quotation explains this defect, in that the spring was only partially artesian, and never reached the surface. This is an important resource that is not known of in many districts where it might be of use. I have been told that in parts of North-western India it is the practice to excavate wells down to a certain bed of clay, and to bore a hole in this, through which the water rises to a more or less constant height.

27. Deltas .- The familiar word 'delta' is most inconveniently vague as a term of physical geography, being based upon quite a special combination of conditions, the essentials of which commonly occur without producing anything like what is generally understood as a delta. A strict definition of the term would be-the area embraced between the extreme distributaries of a river and the sea. In the case of the Nile the land so defined did form nearly an equilateral triangle, and hence the name from the Greek letter Δ . The word always implies proximity to the sea, but the essential point of the feature is the permanent dividing of the waters of the river, and this may occur anywhere in the alluvial area, however far from the sea. To take an extreme instance : there was almost certainly a time (and it might recur but for human interference) when the Jumna divided its waters near the sub-Himalayan zone, sending some to the Arabian Sea and some to the Bay of Bengal, and thus the whole of peninsnlar India would be included in its delta, as above defined ; or again, most of the coastal plains of the Coromandel, as already described, are deltaic, as embraced by the distributaries of the principal rivers; but they have a much greater slope than obtains under the fluvio-marine conditions of the true delta, which may be described as the extreme form of alluvial ground, where deposition from inundation merges into deposition in a water-basin. In the lower parts of a delta all except the topmost layers must be of the latter kind, except where depression has intervened to sink a land surface below the sea level. Even as thus described, deltas vary greatly from the point of view of artesian conditions. Mere size is an important consideration here, involving as it does the greater or less prolongation of the strata with a minimum slope and having a minimum capacity as water-bearing.

28. The Calcutta boring.—The foregoing reflections may go far to explain the failure of the artesian boring at Calcutta in 1838,¹ with the inference that in such a case there may be no chance of success. Calcutta, although 70 miles from the sea, is far within the tidal area of the delta; the nearest edge of the alluvial basin is about 80 miles distant to the west, a large portion of which ground is also within tidal range; ² the technical head of the delta, where the Hugli (or Bhágirathi) leaves the Ganges, is 170 miles to the north. It is thus evident that for an immense area around Calcutta the strata are as nearly horizontal as any deposits can be, where, of course, any residue of pressure from the head is of the smallest. It may be, too, that in such very fresh deposits, still in great part

¹ There had been (since 1804) 23 previous attempts on a smaller scale.

² Spring tides at Calcutta range to 23 feet from the lowest dry weather ebb to the greatest rise with the river in flood.

PART 8.]

under water, consolidation has been so partial that diffusion of water from the lowest beds can sensibly take effect throughout the mass. Some such inferences are, I think, the lesson to be taken from the boring experiment at Calcutta, condemning the attempt as hopeless. The following section of the ground in this boring is abstracted from the account by Lieutenant R. Baird Smith (Bengal Engineers), in the Calcutta Journal of Natural History (Vol. I, p. 324, 1841).¹

Depth,	Thickness.	No.	:
Feet.	Feet.		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
10	10	1	Artificial soil.
50	40	2	Blue adhesive clay, becomes darker from carbonaceous matter till between 30 to 50 feet large pieces of peat were brought up.
60	10	3	Calcareous clay, with kankar.
75	15	4	Silicious clay, green at top; lower portion with kankar.
120	45	5	Variegated sandy clay, with layers of kankar.
125	5	6	Marl.
128	3	7	Friable sand, earthy.
150	22	8	Marl.
175	25	9	Sandy clay, with grains of laterite.
183	8	10	Quartz gravel, finer below.
205	22	11	Hard ferruginous clay.
208	3	12	Sand, more or less indurated.
380	172	13	Ferruginous sand with calcareous earthy layers; kankar and pebbles, of primary rocks are frequent in the lower part, where also fossil bones occurred.
882	2	14	Blue marl with shells.
392	10	15	Peaty clay; rolled fragments of coal at base.
481	89	16	Sand with pebbles of primary rocks, fossil bones, and decayed wood.

Section of the Fort William Boring: April 1836 to September 1838.

To all appearance the alternation of beds in this section is very favourable for an artesian effect; and of course upon the withdrawal of stuff from the tube there was a continuous inrush of semi-fluid sand from the beds 7, 10, and 16; it was the chief difficulty in the prosecution of the operation; but the water seems never to have risen above the ordinary level of the upper ground-water, which varied from 10 to 12 feet from the surface according to the season. The frequent occurrence of decayed wood, and especially of bones, down to the lowest beds reached is very remarkable, showing that the deposits there are far from being fully, if at all, marine. At the bottom of the bore the pebbles (mentioned in the section) were of large size; it was in the endeavour to break these stones, to admit of the further penetration of the tube, that the tools became inextricably stuck, and the operation brought to an end. The presence of these large stones of primary rocks is the most exceptional fact brought to light by the boring, as compared with what would now be possible in this position. It seems to require the presence of rocks *in situ* much nearer than could have been

¹ I have not found mention of the size of the tubing used in the Calcutta boring, but from a drawing to scale of the cylinder let down as a last resource to free the hole by explosion, the internal diameter of the tube at the lowest depth must have been at least 6 inches; and it would seem that only one tube was used throughout. suspected from the surface features, if, indeed, it do not indicate the local base of the deltaic deposits.

29. Borings at Venice, for comparison.-It may be well to give for comparison an instance of successful artesian borings in deltaic ground. Six years after the breakdown of the Calcutta experiment, Mons. Degousée, the eminent French engineer of artesian borings, proposed to substitute artesian wells for the rainwater cisterns upon which Venice had hitherto chiefly depended for its watersupply. Venice is not in the delta of a great river, lying well to the north of the mouths of the Po and the Adige; it stands in the confluent deltas of a number of smaller Alpine streams, but the conditions of formation are the same. From the inner border of the lagoons there is a fringing area of flat alluvial ground, having a minimum width of about 10 miles to the north-west of Venice. Between this and the foot of the mountains there is a zone, 16 to 20 miles wide, of higher ground formed of coarser gravelly deposite, the preglacial 'diluvium' of local geologists, but with undisturbed stratification, and presumably passing indefinitely beneath the alluvium. It absorbs much water from the Alpine streams, and M. Degousée, in his preliminary investigation, looked to these deposits for his water-supply. In this, however, he was mistaken; at least no such rock was struck in the bore; the discharge came from typically deltaic deposits. M. Degousée also recognised the importance of the fact that the fluvio-marine deposits themselves stretched for a great distance beneath the sea at a gentle slope, the 25 fathom line being nearly 50 miles from shore. In several borings a copions discharge took place from a depth of about 200 feet, the hydrostatic level rising to about 9 feet above that of the lagoons. A free escape of inflamable hydrocarbons with sulphurous gas accompanied the water. From these facts, and the proportion of nitrogenous organic matter in the water, it was presumed that the source of the supply was in the marshy ground of the alluvial area; but this may, I think, be doubted; there is abundance of organic matter in the beds themselves for the production of those ingredients, and the rise of water rather suggests that the water stratum is the deltaic prolongation of the gravel deposits of the inner slopes; this may, indeed, have been Mons. Degousée's view of it, only it is not so expressed. In hopes of finding a purer source, one of the borings was continued to a depth of 422 feet, but without any further The following is a section of this deeper boring.¹ The upper beds success. correspond with those found in all the borings :---

Depth.	Thickness.	No.	
Metres. 1·0 4·50 4·75 5 0 9·0 15·0	Metres. 1·0 3·50 0·25 0·25 4·0 6·0	1 2 3 4 5 6	Made ground. Earthy calcareous sand, marine shells. Grey sandy clay. Layer of marine shells. Clay, blue and yellow. Sand, fine, silicio-calcareous.

Section of Artesian boring: Piazza Santa Maria Formosa, Venice.

¹ C. A. de Challaye : Bull. Soc., Geol. de France, 2nd Ser., Vol. V. (1847-48), p. 23.
PART S.]

. Depth.	Thickness.	No.	
Metres.	Metres.		
18.50	3.20	7	Sand, bluish, running,
· 20·30	1.80	8	Clay, grey, marly.
21.70	1.40	9	Sand.
23 ·50	1.80	10	Clay.
24.30	0.80	11	Sand.
25 ·80	1.50	12	Clay.
27.50	2.0	13	Sand.
2 9·20	1.70	14	Clay, peaty.
31.0	1.80	15	" white, firm.
31.75	0.75	16	" peaty, micaceous.
33.80	2.05	17	" marly, firm.
45.20	11.70	18	Sand, earthy, compact.
46 ·00	0.20	19	Clay, white, loose.
48 ·0	2.0	20	" peaty.
48 ·25	0.52	21	" white.
52 ·50	4.25	22	"loose, running.
53.0	0.20	23	" white and peaty.
53·23	0.53	24	" white compact.
56 5 0	3.22	2 5	Sand, earthy, micaceous.
57.30	0.80	26	Clay, grey, loose.
57.60	0.30	27	, peaty.
60.0	2.40	28	" sandy, white, micaceous.
76·5 0	16.20	29	Sand, grey, micaceous, running. Water bed.
80-0	8 ∙50	30	Clay, white, calcareous; marine shells.
8 0·20	0.50	31	" peaty.
82·90	2.70	32	" grey, running.
84.85	1.95	- 33	Sand, grey, very fine.
85.0	0.15	34	Peat, dry, light.
86.20	1.20	35	Clay, greenish grey.
105.20	19.0	36	Sand, coarsish, running; with calcareous gravel and decayed wood.
112.90	7.40	37	Clay, grey, light.
119.0	6.10	38	Sand, very micaceous; marine shells.
125.0	6.0	39	,, very fine.
126.20	1.20	. 40	Clay, bluish, light.
126.80	0.30	41	Peat, earthy.
130-44	3.64	42	Clay, grey, peaty.
132.15		43	Sand, grey, micaceous.

The layers of peat (Nos. 14, 20, 34, and 41) are taken to mark four successive growths at the surface, indicating separate acts of subsidence of the deposits, which are typically deltaic throughout.¹

30. Indo-Gangetic plains: the eastern system.—I must now attempt to notice the features of the great Indo-Gangetic plains, though for the special object in view the data of observation are very scanty. In respect of the unknown lower limit of outfall the case corresponds with that of the coastal alluvium, and in other respects the conditions resemble those discussed for the Narbada Valley: for the most part the alluvial plains of the Ganges occupy a great valley between the rocks of peninsular India on the south and the Himalaya on the north. As might be expected, the Himalayan rivers play a completely dominant part in the formation and occupation of these plains. The Jumna, which is the most

¹ It may be interesting to mention that five sets of pipes had to be used in this boring, of the following dimensions (in metres):—

Diameter Length	:	:	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	•	I. 0°40 46°29	II. 0 ^{.35} 78 [.] 35	111. 0°30 79°64	IV. 0*25 108*66	V. 0°20 133°12

[VQL. XIV.

western affluent of the eastern river-system, leaves the Siwalik hills at a level of 1,100 feet,¹ flows with a westerly curve to Delhi (700 feet), 120 miles to southby-west of the gorge; here it touches one of the most northerly extensions of the Arvali rocks. From Delhi it flows to south-by-east for 110 miles to Agra (550 feet), where Vindhyan rocks are close by, and thence on to east-south-east for 260 miles to Allahabad (320 feet), where it joins the Ganges. A little above Allahabad the river again touches the southern rocks (Vindhyans), and repeatedly in its due easterly course for 370 miles to below Sáhebganj, where it turns to the south, nearly at right angles, round the north-eastern extremity of the Rájmahál hills (and of the peninsular rock area), into the deltaic region. The elevation here is reduced to about 120 feet. There is a corresponding gradual decrease of elevation eastwards along the upper edge of the plains at the base of the Siwalik (sub-Himalayan) range. At Hardwar, on the Ganges (40 miles east of the Jumna gorge), the height is 950 feet, and at the foot of the Sikkim Himalayas, nearly due north of Sáhebganj, the level of the Teesta at the mouth of its gorge may be about 500 feet. The following table of levels along the Northern Bengal State Railway, which runs in a nearly north and south direction from Siliguri (about 8 miles from the foot of the mountains) to Sara on the left bank of the Ganges near the head of the delta, gives an instructive section of the plains in this position, showing that for a distance of 60 miles to the north the ground is actually lower than on the banks of the great river :---

Height.	Distance.	Place.	
Feet.	Miles.		
422.18	196	Siliguri .	From here to Jalpaiguri the line runs to south-east.
322·91	183	Shikarpur.	1.5
276 ·93	173	Jalpaiguri .	. Close to right bank of the Teesta.
257.12	167	Mundolghat	. Ditto.
238.00	159.5	Haldibari.	
214.28	153	Chilahati.	
186.16	143.25	Domer.	
166.80	132.75	Nilphamari.	
145·53	124	Darwani.	
140.21	120.5	Saidpur.	· ·
121.99	111.25	Parbatipur	. 33 miles to east, Kaunia on the Teesta is 111'22.
109.13	100	Phulbari.	
102.59	92.75	Birampur.	
79-96	84.75	Hillee.	
73.25	78.5	Panchbibi.	
76.34	72.25	Jaipur.	
64 [.] 97	63	Nawabganj.	
47.49	54.5	Chaitangram.	
- 49·10	51.5	Sultanpur.	
46 ·04	48.75	Raninagar.	
47.30	38.75	Atrai.	
49 90	32.75	Madhanagar.	
47.56	24	Nattore.	
57.10	16.25	Malanchi.	
53.73	8.75	Gopalpur.	
55 31	1	Sara	1 mile from Ganges: 112 miles below (sonth-east of) the Sáhebganj bend.

¹ These elevations and many others throughout this paper are taken from the perfectly accurate measurements recorded on the maps of the Survey of India; but there is often some doubt whether the height recorded may not be the top of a house or other point of trigonometrical observation.

Digitized by Google

₽▲RT 3.]

S1. The western system.—The western river-system is much more simple: all the five rivers of the Punjab (the Sutlej, Beás, Rávi, Chináb, and Jhelum), and their great confluent, the Indus, follow a more or less direct course from the hills to the sea. The Sutlej is the chief exception to this rule: from Rupar, where it leaves the Siwaliks, at an elevation of 875 feet, it flows westwards for about 100 miles to its junction with the Beás, near Sobraon. At Ferozepore, 30 miles below this junction, the plains' level is 645 feet: at Baháwalpur, 212 miles lower down and 70 miles above the confluence with the Indus, the elevation is 375 feet.

32. The 'Divide.'-The ground between these two river-systems is in respect of its drainage the most peculiar portion of the Indo-Gangetic plains. It cannot be called a watershed, for no rivulet from it runs into either the Jumna or the Sutlej; and, except along the very base of the hills where alluvial accumulations have raised the surface considerably above the level of the great rivers at their gorges,¹ the highest ground on any longitudinal section of the plains is found at the old alluvial banks of the Jumna. Thus, on the section at about 20 miles from the base of the hills, passing through Ambála and Saháranpur, the levels on the old Jumna banks are 928 feet and 924 feet, that of the intervening valley being 876; at the banks of the Márkanda (the nearest minor river to the west) the level is 913 feet, falling off to 905 at Ambála and 871 about Sirhind; at the Hindan (the first stream east of the Jumna) the level is 910 feet, falling off to 900 feet at Saháranpur and 884 at Rurki (Roorkee). The level of the Sutlei at Ludhiána is about the same as that of the Jumna at Karnál, the latter being twice as far from the hills. This area between the Jumna and the Sutlej has, in fact, the same configuration as any other parallel segment of the plains. It is 75 miles wide between the gorges, but owing to the divergent directions of these two rivers it rapidly widens; on a parallel line through Delhi the Jumna and Sutlej are 230 miles apart. Two considerable streams, the Márkanda and the Ghaggar, and many minor ones, leave the hills within this area, and flow straight away seawards, but they are nearly expended by soakage and evaporation before reaching the south boundary of the province, and entirely disappear in the deserts of Bickanír. It is easy, however, to indicate roughly the natural line of drainage in this country, although the levels there, as systematically determined by water action, are being more and more obscured by the ever-encroaching aerial deposits from the south-west. A line or band of minimum elevation is determined where the alluvial spill from the Arvali axis meets that from the Himalaya. The 700 feet contour at Delhi can be followed to the west-by-north a little south of Rohtak and of Hissár, the surface rising from it both to north and south. Between Hissár and Sirsa it bifurcates, going northnorth-west along the Himalayan spill to south of Lahore (709 feet), and curving to the south-west along the Arvali spill to the west of Bickanír (715 feet).

33. Recent erosion.—The whole of these Indo-Gangetic plains are then of very recent alluvial formation. But here too we find the same feature as already noticed in the case of the midland alluvial areas: the greater part of the plains, and most markedly in the marginal zone, the land is not now subject to inunda-

¹ At the Mohan Pass, midway between the Jumna and the Ganges, the top of the diluvial slope has an elevation of 1,400 feet.

VOL. XIV.

tion from the great rivers; these have cut out for themselves permanent valleys, of varying width, in their former deposits, which are generally exposed in low vertical cliffs forming the limits of the present inundation valley. The native names for these two kinds of land have become current in the Anglo-Indian vernacular: khádar for the inundation valley; and bhángar for the upland. The word doab (two waters) for the area between a pair of confluent rivers is also a familiar term in India; it is in a manner the converse of the word delta. Various explanations of this altered condition of the plains may be attempted by means of earth movements; and such causes have presumably operated locally within the period in question; but I am inclined to account for the feature, as in the case of the Narbada Valley (para. 14), by the general deforesting of the country that has been steadily in progress since prehistoric times, and the great disturbance thereby effected in the regulation of atmospheric waters. The equable universality of the fact is greatly in favour of such an explanation. The obvious effect of this superficial condition in lowering the head of water available for artesian springs has been already mentioned (para. 19), although the direct action of the prime cause in lowering the spring level in the plains seems to have outdone this secondary effect, as will be pointed out in the case of the Jumna.

34. The water-head zone, eastern area.—With the partial exception mentioned in the last paragraph the configuration and, as far as can be seen, the construction of those great plains are as favourable as any original basin could be for the success of artesian borings. Leaving out of count, as we may for the present, the comparatively insignificant areas of the southern tributaries, we have a great inclined plain with a gradually increasing slope, up to as much as 50 feet in a mile, next the mountains. This highest and steepest zone, for a width of 10 to 12 miles, is formed of boulders, gravel, and sand of various degrees of coarseness. and may be appropriately described as diluvial as distinguished from the alluvium of more tranquil deposition. It is locally called the bhábar, or forest belt; it is naturally very pervious to water, so much so that minor streams, unless when in flood, are wholly absorbed in it. Outside this zone, where the coarser deposits end, and the slope is reduced to about 12 feet in the mile, there is a copions outflow of springs producing a second zone, of specially swampy ground with corresponding vegetation, and well known as the tarai; it gradually merges into the more habitable area. It used to be supposed that the tarai occupied an actual depression, until simple levelling showed it to have the very considerable slope of 12 feet in the mile, the marshy condition being fully accounted for by the continuous supply of surface water from the bhábar. The latest popular misrepresentation of this phenomenon describes¹ the boulder deposits of the bhábar as resting in an actual basin of impervious clay, from the outer rim of which the water absorbed on the upper side is discharged again into the tarai. Such an arrangement would, I need hardly say, put an end to speculation as to artesian wells in the plains. It is, however, presumable that this highest zone of the plains deposits is almost exclusively formed to its very base of like coarser

¹ The Tarai District: E. T. Atkinson. Government Press, North-Western Provinces, 1877.

PART 3.]

materials; that near the base such deposits extend to a much greater distance than at the present surface; and that they are there in continuous connection with similar beds underlying the plains more or less continuously throughout. No doubt, as the formation grew in thickness the coarse beds became accumulated at the steeper edge of deposition, and at their outer limit were freely interbedded with the finer deposits, so that at any point a bed of clay may be found passing under the upper beds of the *bhábar* gravels; but there can scarcely be a doubt that on the whole the distribution is as I have described it. From this point of view the tarai springs become simply the overflow from the fully charged lower water-bearing strata throughout the formation; and this level may be taken as the minimum "head" from which an artesian spring may be expected at any point in the plains.

35. Different condition of western area.—Unfortunately this gauge is not available where it is most wanted: the tarai does not occur to the west of the Ganges. This is sufficiently explained by comparing the cross-sections of the two surfaces, as given in the following table, showing in I, a section for 12 miles across the tarai in Rohilkhand on the Bareilly-Naini Tál road, and II, a section in the same position on the Saháranpur-Mussoorie road, the lowest figure in No. I being at the outer edge of the tarai and ending at 12 miles from Haldwáni at the foot of the hills; in No. II the highest level begins at 12 miles from the foot of the Siwá-liks at Mohan: both are taken from the level-charts of the Survey of India:—

11.
979.65
974.79 -4.86
965 [.] —9 [.] 79
947·27 —17·73
940.626.65
935·13 —5·49
928·30 6·8 3
927.680.62
920.77 -6.91
916 [.] 79 —3 [.] 98
905 [.] —11 [.] 79
912.07 +7.07
905

The exceptional cases showing a rise are probably on bridges, or other artificial surface.

The total fall on the tarai section is 139.13 feet and on the parallel section to the west only 79.65. This great contrast of surface conditions seems to be fully accounted for by the relative efficiency of the agents of denudation in the two regions. In the eastern river-system there is actually and relatively far more water power at work, and this difference is increased by the relatively greater amount of work put upon the water in the western area. Not only is the ground there much less protected by vegetation, but the soft newer tertiary rocks are greatly more developed, so that the amount of debris delivered for transport for equal areas is much greater. The effect seems imperceptible in the open plains : for example, the level (408 feet) at Multán, about 300 miles distant from Madhopur at the gorge of the Rávi¹ (the central one of the five Punjab rivers) is the

¹ The flood level at Madhopur is 1,146 feet, that of the old gravel bank being 1,197 feet (information kindly supplied by Mr. H. Garbett, Superintending Engineer).

same as that at an equal distance, half-way between Cawnpore and Futtehpur, below Hardwár, at the gorge of the Ganges. It is naturally near the hills that the effect is seen, where the surplus burden is left behind, to be affected only by the feeble action of a moderate rainfall and the irrogular action of the wind. For an excellent description of the conditions under notice reference may be made to Mr. B. H. Baden-Powell's account of the *chos*, or sandy-bedded torrents, from the Siwaliks in the Hoshiárpur district.¹ Under such circumstances a tarai is, of course, out of the question.

36. The water-head level in western area.—The distribution of the underground water in these north-western plains is a very obscure question, and a most important one in the present inquiry. The few facts I can quote relating to it indicate how variable it is, at least within the range of ordinary observation. In 1878 I noticed a well that was being sunk at the very head of the boulder zone, close to the foot of the Siwaliks, near the Kotri rau (torrent), 8 miles west of Mohan, about midway between the Jumna and the Ganges. A considerable depth had already been attained, altogether in coarse boulder gravel; and I have been informed of the progress up to date through the kindness of Captain Baily, R.E., Conservator of Forests. On the 11th December last the total depth was 197 feet 9 inches with 1 foot 9 inches of water; by the 5th of March the water had increased to 2 feet 8 inches, but fell again rapidly, and by the 12th of May the well was nearly dry. There remained another full month of the driest and hottest weather, but it would seem that the depth of 200 feet may be taken as pretty nearly the permanent water level at this point. The elevation of the surface can be little less that at Mohan (1,400 feet), which is about the greatest elevation of the recent deposits along the whole Himalayan border. According to preceding considerations, this level of 1,200 feet would be a maximum limit of the 'head' from which the underground distribution is regulated. We have not far to go for a qualifying observation. An account is given² by Lieutenant W. E. Baker (Engineers) of the sinking of a well on the right bank of the Jumna at Ráyanwála, near the base of the Siwaliks. It is 3 miles below Hátníkúnd, where the deposits terminate within the open gorge of the river, but the elevation is still 1,052 feet. The surface is less than 10 feet over the water in the river, and only 60 yards from the edge, but the well was sunk through boulders, gravel, and sand for 60 feet without finding water. Lieutenant Baker mentions the fact as an anomalous instance of the impermeability of the coarse river deposits at this spot, contrasting it with what takes place in the similar deposits of the bhabar east of the Ganges, as already noticed. This is of course an erroneous impression : there is a deep and rapid current in the Jumna at Ráyanwála, and the traction of the stream does not give any particle of the water time to change its course and sink into the ground. The case is very different for small streams spreading out over the surface. Another well was sunk through the very same deposits at Chándpur, only 400 yards from the bank at Ráyanwála, the surface being 14 feet over the water in the river. In this well a permanent water level was found at a depth of 80 feet, 66 feet below the water in the river, or at

¹ Selections from the Records of the Government of the Punjab. New series, No. XV, 1879.

² Jour., As. Soc., Bengal, Vol. VI (1837), p. 54.

a reduced level of about 972 feet. These observations are very interesting, as showing that the river valleys have no present effect (at least in the bhábar zone) in draining the deep ground-water from the adjoining uplands, their natural action in this way being outdone by the drain towards the plains. We may then perhaps take this Chándpur well as giving a lowest limit (972 feet) for the head of water from which the deep lying strata to the south may draw their supply. It is presumable that in parallel sections away from the river this level would not be so low, the great facility of drainage in the khádar of the river taking greatest effect on the ground immediately to the north.

37. Ground water distribution away from the hills.—A seemingly analogous case to that of the Chándpur well, but where it might be less expected—in the lowest ground in the plains' section—has been brought to my notice by Captain J. C. Ross, R.E., from observations made during the construction of an 'escape' into the Jumna from the southern branch of the great Ganges canal above Etáwah, 250 miles to south-south-east of Chándpur. The banks of the river here present a most intricate maze of deep narrow ravines worn by the rainwash in the edge of the bhángar, the level of which, at a short distance from the river, is 517 feet. The levels of the surface and of the ground-water given in the following table are taken among these ravines. The flood level of the Jumna here is about 410 feet and its lowest level about 391 feet.

		Water levels.	Level of ground.	Intervals.	Distance.
	.	······································	-	Feet.	Feet.
Jumpa river :	1	394·54			0
	2	394 ·21		317	317
	3	394.43		500	817
	4	394 11		500	1.317
	5	393 74		500	1.817
	6	391·63		500	2.317
	7	885.42	410.05	500	2.817
	8	394 ·31	416.36	2.548	5,365
	9	404 48	430.32	2.073	7.438
	10	422.66	440.49	1.578	9.016

In No. 7 of this table we find, at a distance of about 940 yards from the river, a position of lowest water level, more than 9 feet lower than the water in the river, and 25 feet from the surface. The steady rise of the water level from this line towards the river shows that this is distinctly a source of percolation; and the more rapid rise towards the upland to the north indicates the much higher level of the ground-water in that area, where, in fact, the permanent water-supply in deep wells is about 70 feet from the surface, or at a reduced level of 447 feet. The fall of the ground-water in uplands towards deep river channels is a familiar fact; it is the natural operation of the conditions upon which all drainage works are based. There is an excellent illustration of this in a paper by Lieutenant W. E. Baker (Engineers), on an oblique section of the plains between Karnál on the Jumna and Ludhiána on the Sutlej.¹ The figured section shows

¹ Jour., As. Soc., Bengal, Vol. IX (1840), p. 688.

Digitized by Google

VOL. XIV.

the depths of the wells along the line, and how markedly that depth increases as the rivers are approached. The general understanding of this feature is that below that deep-well water level the whole ground is permanently stocked with water in the permeable strata. If this were the case the main rivers should give a minimum water level for the whole area: and the fact brought to notice by Captain Ross must then represent an actual removal of water at the surface, for which the only assignable cause would be evaporation. I am not prepared to say that this is impossible; I have elsewhere¹ made large demands upon the climatal conditions of this part of India, and these conditions must be concentrated among the steep bare surfaces of clay and sand in the ravines of the Jumna; percolation is, moreover, a slow process in such fine deposits. The alternative inference would be that below the river-bed, and practically isolated from the water stratum that supplies the deep wells of the bhangar area, there must be a mass of ground greatly below saturation point, or in which there is a steady flow to some point of drainage sufficient to establish a percolation slope from the Jumna of nearly 18 feet in the mile. The line of lowest ground-water (No. 7 of the table) would be where this plane of under-ground drainage intersected that of the upland water-table. So far within the basin of the eastern river-system there is some difficulty in imagining the supposition last suggested ; for it is surely presumable that for a very long way above the deltaic region the ground beneath the Gangetic plains must be fully charged with water. These remarks can, however, scarcely affect the question of deep artesian springs, unless as showing that the source of such springs must be cut off from the waterless ground referred to.

38. Desiccated ground south of the Punjab plains: Bickanir wells.—In the basin of the western river-system there would be no need for hesitation in assuming the deep exhaustion of water from the surface. The following translation of a native description of the wells in Bickanir will give a good idea of the desiccated ground lying to the south of the plains of the Punjab. The area is almost all within the alluvial spill from the Arvali, but the deposits are quite continuous with those of the spill from the north; the change from one to the other can only be detected by a levelling instrument. The account was sent to me by Colonel C. A. McMahon in 1874: it is as follows:—

"Within the city of Bickanir there are 14 wells, the water of eight of which is sweet, and of six brackish. Outside the city there are 24 wells, the water of two of which is slightly brackish, and of the remaining 22 sweet. In the Fort there are four wells, all of which yield sweet water. There are, therefore, in all 42 wells. Each of the wells inside the city is 60 *purs* or 300 hatk (cubits) deep. The wells outside the city and in the Fort are 50 *purs* or 250 cubits deep. When a well is dug various kinds of earth are found. First gravelly, which is called "marand" in this country, to a depth of 5 or 6 cubits; next, seedk matti (black earth), varying from 15 to 20 cubits in depth; next, safuid matti (calcareous chalky or white earth), from 80 to 100 cubits deep; next, panjrangi matti (five-coloured earth), to a depth of 40 to 50 cubits; after that comes *peelee matti* (yellow earth), 70 or 80 cubits deep; next, sangreza matti amez (gravel mixed with earth) to a depth of 30 to 40 cubits; and lastly, a kind of soft rock, zamin doz pathar, 5 or 6 cubits deep, is reached, after which a spring is arrived at. The cost of sinking a well is from Rs. 30,000 to Rs. 40,000. Most

¹ On the Reh soils of Upper India, para. 4; Records, G. S. I. (1880), Vol. XIII, part 4.

Digitized by Google

PART 3.]

of the wells have two drawing wheels; some have four; and one, known as "Alak Ságar," has eight drawing wheels. This last cost about a lac of rupees, and its water is that generally used by the city people, who obtain the same by paying to the málees who draw the well at the following rates: for 1 small pice a matka (or large earthen jar), 1 rupee for 12 bullock pakhal¹ or 5 camel pakhalfuls. The wells are all worked day and night, and notwithstanding this the water is inexhaustible. In the villages between Bickanir and Sujangarh (75 miles to east-south-east), as well as in those between Bickanir and Nagour (62 miles to south-south-east), and between Bickanir and Jaisalmir (160 miles to west-southeast) wells are 80 purs or 400 cubits deep: and between Anupgarh (80 miles to north) and Bickanir they are 200 cubits in depth."

At the same time as this document a specimen was sent from the Political Agent at Bickanír; it had been taken from the bottom of a well that had recently been sunk to a depth of 370 haths, and Colonel McMahon states that he was informed that the Bickanír hath is equal to about 21 inches. At this scale the well in question would be 647 feet deep; but even taking the cubit to be 18 inches the depth would be 555 feet. It was quite indeterminable whether the "soft rock" from the bottom was a decomposed sandstone or a partially consolidated bed of the alluvial deposits. There is, indeed, no reliable information regarding the geology of Bickanír. In the recently (1879) published official Rájputána Gazetteer (Vol. I, p. 182), it is stated that "the city of Bickanír is built upon a rock formation," and that "it is considerably higher than the surrounding heavy sand tract and is composed of sandstone." On the large scale map of the city of Bickanír, lately issued by the Survey of India, there is clear indication of low flat hilly ground immediately to the south of the city; it is not improbably a small outlier (or inlier, if we regard the alluvium as a formation) of the horizontal Vindhyan rocks. There are numerous heights marked on this map; the highest is 799 feet in this ground, and the lowest is 715 to the northeast of the city. I cannot, however, think that any of the city wells, as described in the foregoing note, are in the old rock. As regards the point now under consideration, the question is not of importance, as in either case the source of water would be the same.

39. Underground features of the great plains.—It is necessary to say something regarding the underground conditions of the basin. In enquiries for artesian water the usual first question is as to the depth, and because in many cases this can be answered with considerable accuracy, a vague answer is received as a mark of imbecility. I have explained in paragraph 6 how this is the essential difference between the two classes of artesian sources; and a good illustration of this practical difficulty, supported by trial borings, was given in the case of the Narbada Valley (paragraphs 16, 17, 18). In the case of the Indo-Gangetic plains this question may be said to present the leading puzzle in Indian geology —to give an account of the relations between the highly contrasting rock-features of peninsular and extra-peninsular India, all direct observation of the intervening structural features being concealed by the alluvial deposits of the intervening plains. A few statements will show how the matter stands. All the rocks in contact with the alluvium on the south are of immense antiquity, the small patch

¹ A pakhal is a pair of large leather bags or packs for water-carrying laden on animals.

VOL. XIV.

of the Gondwana formation at the extreme east in the Rajmahal hills being the newest, and it is of middle secondary age: whereas, on the north of the plains, there is a prodigious thickness of newest tertiary deposits. Again, on the south none but the oldest rocks of all, the transition and metamorphic, have undergone more than local disturbance, while on the north the newest strata exhibit extreme disturbance throughout. The question as to the possible configuration of the rock surface on which the alluvium lies turns largely upon the parts severally and successively played by denudation and by disturbance in forming that surface; and in this case there can be no doubt as to the very strong and late action of crust movements on one side of the area. From the absence in the peninsular area of any trace of that disturbance, or of the rocks upon which it operated, it seems probable that the conditions of that area extend for a considerable distance northwards; and that the plains on the south are underlaid, possibly at no very great depth, by gneissic rocks : there are inliers of gneiss and granite appearing through the alluvium to the north of the transition rocks in Bahár; and the structure of the Vindhyan basin suggests that its present northern scarp, overlooking the alluvium between the Jumna and the Sone, is not far from its original boundary in this direction, and that there also the gneiss is close by. This inference has to be qualified by another. The great antiquity of the southern area does not refer only to the age of the rocks found there, as already mentioned, but also to the actual configuration of that area. In the discussion of the Narbada Valley case (paragraph 17), it was shown that the gneissic area of Lower Bundelkhand was very much what it is now in the Deccan trap period (upper cretaceous), a bay of a great basin to the north. Again, far to the east, in the actual river valleys draining to the north from the gneissic upland of Hazáribágh, remnants of Talchir (lowest Gondwána) deposits occur at the level of the Ganges alluvium. It is thus pretty clear that a great drainage basin in the approximate position of the Ganges Valley has existed since at least pretertiary times; and it is highly probable that the tertiary deposits so enormously developed at the base of the Himalaya extended over a great part of that basin; they may only be overlapped by the present alluvium at a short distance from its south margin. In an artesian boring the passage from the alluvium into upper tertiary beds, such as are now exposed along the foot of the mountains, could scarcely be detected, the two are so much alike. On the question as to how and how far the great Himalayan disturbance took effect upon this basin of tertiary deposits, there is little or no evidence available beyond the zone of the sub-Himalayan rocks themselves, and to take up the discussion would lead us into geological depths, of which many will, no doubt, think there has already been too much in what is meant to be a practical essay. The foregoing indications will suffice to show that, however interesting such discussions may be, they are practically futile when we come to such particulars as estimating the depth of the upper deposits at any point. Observation has done its duty in pointing out that the main conditions for successful artesian boring are to all appearances present.

40. The Ambála boring.—I may now make some remarks upon the three borings that have been made in search for water in the upper regions of the plains,

PART 3.]

MEDLICOTT: Artesian Borings in India.

beginning with the most important, that at Ambála. The following section is somewhat abridged from the detailed record, some of the thinner alternations being grouped into a single band :---

Depth.	Thickness.	No.	Section of artesian boring at Ambála (1st November 1869 to 1st February 1872).
Peet.	Feet.		
4	4	1	Soil.
12	8	2	Sand and sandy clay.
27	15	3	Clay, stiff, with kankar at base.
41	14	4	Sand, fine : damp at 27 feet, water at 32 feet.
50	9	5	Clay, brown and blue.
87	87	6	Sand and clay alternating.
122	35	7	Clay, brown, very stiff.
124	2	8	Kankar (impure segregated limestone).
154	30	9	Sand and clay, with kankar at 151 feet.
166	12	10	Clay, dark red.
174	8	11	Sand with clay; tubes sunk 4 feet by their own weight.
181	7	12	Clay, with kankar at base.
199	18	18	Sand, with some clay and kankar; on reaching this bed water rose sud-
	1		denly 40 feet, and in two hours 70 feet ; its temperature was 78°.
2 02	3	14	Clay, with kankar.
211	9	15	Sand.
223	12	16	Clay, red and brown, with some sand and kankar.
250	27	17	Sand, with a little clay and kankar.
278	28	18	Clay, top very stiff, red, with ' shingle.'
302	24	19	Sand, with some clay, pebbles, and " boulders."
327	25	20	Clay, with some kankar.
332	5	21	Sand dark-brown and grev.
835	8	22	Clay, stiff, brown, with kankar.
376	41	23	Sand, with some clay and kankar.
394	18	24	Clay, with some sand.
424	30	25	Sand, some gravel, with "large stones and boulders and black kankar,"
431	7	26	Clay, stiff, red.
432	i	27	Sand or silt, dark, running.
446	14	28	Clay, red, very sandy.
448	2	29	Sand or silt, dark, running.
451	8	30	Clay, red, stiff.
459	8	81	Sand, dark, running, with kankar and "clay boulders,"
463	4	32	Clay, stiff, red, with kankar.
467	4	33	Sand, fine, running,
477	10	34	Clay, stiff, red.
484	7	35	Sand, running sand.
502	18	36	Clay, some stiff, some sandy.
507	5	37	Sand, running.
515	8	88	Clay, stiff, red.
546	31	39	Sand, coarse.
585	39	40	Clav. stiff. some sandy.
601	16	41	Sand, blue, fine, with " boulders."
641	40	42	Clay, red, some stiff, some loamy.
644	8	43	Clay, black, very stiff.
678	84	44	Clay, red, some stiff, some loamy; kankar.
683	5	45	Sand, solid, hardened on exposure.
689	6	46	Clay, stiff, yellow, with kankar.
701	12	47	Clay, loamy, yellow, soft.

Ambála is only 20 miles distant from the nearest point of the Siwaliks, and this proximity is the only unfavourable point in the prospect of the boring, for being thus on the upper and steeper slope of the plains there is risk of its being above the line of artesian rise, which itself slopes southwards from the presumed head to the lower edge of the deposits. Still there is a fair margin for success.

The level of the Ghaggar, where it cuts the base of the Sewalik hills at Devinagar, 25 miles due north of Ambála, and the proposed site of the reservoir for the Ambála water-supply, is 1,118 feet. There are no observations as to what may be the permanent level of the underground water in this position ; but I have pointed out (paragraph 36) what is presumably a lowest limit for the head-level in that ground, namely, the water level (972 feet) below the bed of the Jumna at the point where it leaves the hills; and the surface level at Ambála is 905 feet. Even if the rise of 70 feet that did occur at the depth of 200 feet (see table) were derived from that highest source, there would still be hope, for it is very possible, or even probable, that an absolutely higher rise from the same head should be derived from a lower stratum, as the rise is more influenced by the variations of potential discharge in the several water strata than by the head, the head itself being determined by the total resistances. It would be quite in the natural order for case 6 to occur below case 3 of the experiments described in para. 5. There is nothing whatever in the above section of the boring to suggest that the band No. 13 is the base of the alluvial deposits; the beds below that level are decidedly of the same type, and the equal frequency of alternations shows that the stratification is still undisturbed. On the whole the section seems promising for ultimate success; the great thickness of clay lower down, in which the bore was stopped, gives security for the isolation of any water stratum in coarser deposits that should be found at the base of the formation.¹ In this respect—the prospect of finding such basal deposits -the position of Ambála, near the upper margin of the basin, is favourable. The mention of 'boulders' in several beds is misleading. I made early enquiries about it, and Major Thackeray, R.E., who was then Executive Engineer in charge of the final operations for extracting the broken tubes, gave the following information (30th March 1874): "I cannot trace any records of larger stones being found than the one I send you (from bed 25), nor of any boulders having been smashed up." From the mention of "clay-boulders" in some places I fancy that all were of that nature, lumps of clay partially consolidated, perhaps by lime carbonate. The 'large stone' referred to is an oblong pebble of quartzite, little more than 2 inches long and about 2 cubic inches in volume; it is very irregular in shape and but partially waterworn, but it has no fresh surface of fracture. Mr. T. Login, who was Superintending Engineer during part of the boring operations, states² that the largest stone met with measured $5 \times 2\frac{1}{2}$ inches. In the same paragraph Mr. Login records the fact that in sinking the foundations of the railway bridge over the Jumna, at about the same distance from the hills as Ambála, large boulders were found at a depth of 40 feet. The fact is taken as proof that the river is now raising its bed, but there is no evidence to show that these boulders do not belong to a much more ancient Jumna bed, before the present khádar valley was excavated (the view is one that Mr. Login did not contemplate); but in either case the fact shows that although Ambála may be out of range of any

¹ The bottom 41 feet were bored beyond the tubing, which broke down at the depth of 660 feet.

² Quar. Jour., Geol. Soc., London, Vol. XXVIII (1872), p. 196.

Digitized by Google

oscillations of the Jumna bed, it is within reach of coarse detrital deposition from the hills; the chief wonder is that none were found within so great a depth. In commenting upon the absence of any sign of organic remains in the Ambála boring, Mr. Login records (*l. c.*, p. 197, note), that "only on one occasion, at about 440 feet below the surface, were a few pumpfuls of blackish putrid water brought up, giving off very much the same odour as the dirty bilge-water of a ship.

41. The Bhiwani boring .- In 1877 a boring was made to a depth of 431 feet at Bhiwani, a town in the Hissar district of the Punjab, the water-supply in the only wells (from 58 to 67 feet deep), being brackish and liable to become very scarce in dry seasons. The expectation was not so much to find an artesian spring as to fix the depth at which pure water was to be found, such as was known to occur in the deep wells at Bickanír. Bhiwáni lies 12 miles to the south of the road, at more than half-way between Delhi and Hissár, and also south of the 700 feet contour, pointed out in a preceding para. (32) as marking the lowest level between the basins of the Ganges and the Indus. It thus belongs to the Arvali watershed, and rocks of that region are not far off; Deosir hill, of granitoid gneiss, stands at 3[‡] miles to west-south-west; Tosham, of schists and granite, at 14 miles to west-north-west; Nigána, of granite, at 13 miles to west; and Kaliána (near Dádri) at 15¹/₄ miles to south-by-east, formed of schists and quartzites, of which latter the well-known 'flexible sandstone' is an altered variety.¹ The elevation may be about 720 feet. Almost the only hope of an artesian source in such a position, and the best hope of a pure water-supply at a considerable depth, would be from an extension of the sources from the Himalayan side of the plains; in the Arvali region the rainfall is very small, and the plains are almost universally affected by accumulated salts. It was intended to sink to a depth of 500 or 600 feet; but the tools supplied were apparently defective and unskilfully worked by inexperienced hands, so the project had to be abandoned before completion. The frequent influx of sand in the bore seems to have been the chief obstruction. I subjoin an abstract of the section in the boring as recorded by the sub-engineer in charge : it illustrates the unsatisfactory nature of such records when made by those who have no rational knowledge of rocks :---

Depth.	Thickness.	No.	Section of the boring at Bhiwani: 1877.
Feet.	Feet.		
86	86	1	Light brown soil, occasional kankar.
105	19	2	Sand and occasional kankar.
114	9	8	Sand with a little gravel.
167	53	4	Sand and a little kankar; no regular bed.
185	18	5	Light brown clay soil.
207	22	6	Clean sand.
234	27	7	Sand with imperfect pebbles of sandstone : at 231 a large boulder got up (sandstone).
238	4	8	Sand and conglomerate shingle.
287	49	9	Sand ; rising 50 and 60 feet in bore.
896	109	10	Hard clay, light brown, with small pebbles of sandstone.
413	17	11	Sand rising in bore.
417	4	12	Sandy clay.
181		13	Sand

¹ These particulars are given by Colonel McMahon,

Digitized by Google

The water at the bottom was still brackish. The samples described in this section were carefully examined on the spot by Colonel McMahon, a most competent judge, who recorded the following observations :--- "The 'clay' is simply very fine earthy sand cemented into a mass by the infiltration of carbonate of lime: the 'conglomerate' is coarser sand, the grains of which are frequently distinctly waterworn, cemented together in a similar manner, with harder concretions here and there; the 'boulders' are lumps, 4 or 5 inches long, of dark earthy sand, consolidated into concretionary nodules by carbonate of lime, and sufficiently hard to require a smart blow from a hammer to break them; they were apparently formed in situ. As far as the boring has gone therefore, it has passed through an unbroken bed of uniform material, and the whole bed as yet penetrated evidently admits the free passage of the rain falling on the surface of the ground."1 The absence of any clay deposit, as well as of any coarser water-rolled materials in such comparative proximity to rock masses, throughout so great a thickness of deposits, is remarkable, and, of course, very unfavourable for any project of deep well sinking in this region.

42. The Sabzalkot boring.—There only remains to be noticed the boring at Sabzalkot, in the Dera Gházi Khán district of the Punjab. It is commonly spoken of as artesian, though it was never expected to be more than partially so, as a source to replenish and freshen an already very deep well in which the water was too saline for use. The position would seem to preclude any other expectation. From the best information I can procure as to the ground, the place is a small fortified outpost close to the frontier, at the foot of a long slope, 4 miles from the base of the hills, and 28 miles from the Indus, in a direct line through Asni. The alluvial level at the river is 295 feet, stretching nearly to Asni (10 miles), where the height is only 302 feet; the direct distance from the sea is 350 miles. From Asni there is a rise of nearly 5 feet in the mile to the frontier road, at 6 miles to westward, where the elevation is 331 feet. From this road the ground is said to slope at about 8 feet in the mile up to Subzalkot, 12 miles, which would give an elevation of 427 feet for that place. I think it likely that the slope increases very much towards the hills, and that the real elevation of Sabzalkot may be considerably higher than the estimate just given. If the height given be correct, we have to account for the remarkable fact of the ground-water level being 100 feet lower than the water in the Indus, for in the well at Sabzalkot it stands permanently at about 224 feet from the surface. It would be additional evidence of the great desiccation the ground has undergone in this region of India, and of the insignificant effect of streams in mitigating that inevitable result of the destruction of forest vegetation, although the Indus here annually inundates a broad tract of ground. The contribution from the western hills is comparatively small, for the rainfall is deficient and uncertain; but every advantage is taken of it by the coarse marginal deposits forming the slopes at the base of the hills. Mr. Ball has described in this very neighbourhood how a steady current of water wholly disappeared at the outcrop of a bed of conglomerate in these deposits.² The following table is abridged from the detailed section furnished by the

> ¹ From Official Correspondence, dated 5th March 1878. ² Records, G. S. L, Vol. VII, p. 147.

> > Digitized by Google

• PART 8.]

MEDLICOTT : Artesian Borings in India.

partment of Public Works. There were 194 feet of 93-inch tubing, to 410 feet; 114 feet of 7-inch tubing, to 524 feet; and 50 feet of 5-inch tubing, to 574 feet.

Depth.	Thickness.	No. of bed.	
Feet.	Feet.		
157	157	1 to 14	Sand : some beds earthy, some pebbly,
174	17	15	Limestone boulders.
189	15	16	Clay and sand, very compact.
199	10 ·	17	Loose sand and peoples.
216	17	18	Hard clay and sand.
240	24	19	Brown running sand. Bottom of well 230 feet; water level
247	7	20	Very stiff clay
251	4	21	Very coarse send
267	16	22	Sand and clev intimetaly mixed
275	8		Fine running cond
347	79	24 to 85	Alternations of sand and alay
951	, <u>0</u>	240 33	Gravel with houldow
ANG	55	97 40 54	Alternations of alar and and group
410	4	57 00 54	Voru come group and houldon Water chundent
500		56 40 79	Altomations of clay and send
500	90	50 10 70	Mar
520	20	90 4- 117	This alternations of alar and read mating as a built had
0/4	90	00 10 117	with abundant water.

Abstract section of Sabzalkot boring: Nov. 1870 to Aug. 1878.

The comparative scarcity of coarse materials in a deep section so near the hills is fully accounted for by the unconsolidated condition of the newer tertiary rocks forming those hills. The only hard rock mentioned is the limestone of the 'boulders'; it is no doubt the nummulitic limestone from the higher inner ranges. From several of the porous strata passed through water rose freely, but always stopped at the original water surface of the well. The supply from the bottom boulder bed, at 574 feet, is described as 'plentiful'; at the same time, when drawn upon at the moderate rate of 156 gallons per hour, it was lowered 66 feet. This supply is, however, sufficient for the wants of the outpost. The constancy of the level, to which the water rises from so many different strata, indicates a common source, which also accounts for the water in all being brackish, only less so below than in the top beds, and in a drinkable degree to the people of the country who are extensively used to this quality. The origin of this impurity is a point of much interest; there is no known deposit of salt in the rocks forming the adjoining hills; and the conditions generally suggest that its origin may be the same as that of the saline upper ground-water so general on this side of India-from the soakage of the early rainfall into the parched ground taking with it the soluble results of earth decomposition at the surface, while the later rainfall in great part runs off the bare ground as surface drainage. Thus, the small proportion of the rainfall that passes into the ground, taking with it all the impurities, is insufficient to sustain the underground water up its proper level so as to ensure an adequate escape and renewal by percolation. It would seem from

Е

all the facts that the Sabzalkot well is altogether in this compound water bed, and that there is no head of water at all in the artesian sense, the rise that took place from the lower levels being sufficiently explained by the exhaustion of water from the tube while passing through impervious beds.

43. It is evident that these three borings leave the question of artesian springs in the plains of Upper India quite unsettled. At Sabzalkot such a result could not have been reasonably expected; and at Bhiwani the ground is presumably out of reach in the northern sources of supply, which are the only hope-The Ambála trial is the only one for which success could have been ful ones. predicted, and as the ultimate condition of that success-to reach the base of the alluvial deposits-has not been accomplished, the prospect remains unaffected, save by the knowledge that the depth of the deposits is greater than might have been anticipated, or at least hoped for. The only seeming risk is the position being too near the head, but on a careful minimum estimate for that level Ambála seems within the area of supply. As regards other positions, this precantion is the chief one to be kept in view, and the opposite danger with respect to the southern margin of the area. Superficially regarded the lowest point of the ground ought to be the most favourable, as giving a maximum of fall; but seeing that the expected supply is from the north, and from the lowest deposits of that side of the basin, it becomes important to consider whether the lowest line of drainage was always where it is now; and the best conjectures we can make (confirmed by the great depth of the deposits at Ambála) suggest that it was not so; but that the later deposits of the more copious supply of sediment from the north have encroached upon and overlapped, possibly to a considerable extent, ground originally occupied by deposits from the peninsular side of the basin, so that a boring near this margin would soon pass into beds having a northerly slope. There would still remain the chance that these bottom beds of southern derivation would participate in the water-supply of the confluent strata from the Himalayan side; but until the resources of these most favourable deposits are proved, one would not wish to see the prospects of the enterprise endangered by any avoidable risk It would be worthy of Government to undertake the settlement of so important a question.

On Oligoclase Granite at Wángtu on the Sutlej, North-West Himalayas.—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India.

One of the most remarkable features in the geology of the North-West Himalayas is the "granitic axis, so persistent along the main range. To the east in Sikkim, and in the north-west, from the frontier of Nepál to Kulu wherever examined. coarse white granite has been found in profusion along the line of peaks, near the present edge of the sedimentary basin of Tibet. It occurs in veins and dykes of every size, sometimes forming the massive core, up to the summit of the highest mountains."¹

Passing in a east-north-easterly direction from the peaks surrounding the head-waters of the Bhágirathi, one of the main lines of intrusive action runs

Digitized by Google

¹ Manual of the Geology of India, p. 629.

along the crest of the mountain range to the south of the Baspa Valley, and crosses the Sutlej some miles above Rámpur.¹

At Wángtu bridge, in this neighbourhood, veins of granite, cutting through the gneiss, are exposed with more than ordinary clearness, and as two of the principal routes across the Himalayas diverge at this point, there are few localities in the granitic region that have been more often visited, or more frequently described. In the fifth volume of the Geological Survey Memoirs,² Dr. Stoliczka, in reference to Wángtu, says the "granitoid gneiss is traversed by a countless number of veins of albite-granite, veins of unmeasured length, and from 1 to 20 feet in thickness. The principal mineral in these veins is a pure white albite: next to it quartz, mica, black tourmaline, and few other minerals. All these occur in large crystals,³ and the structure of the rocks is, therefore, eminently a porphyritic ore. Colonel R. Strachey tells me that these veins of albite granite, in the neighbourhood of the Niti Pass, enter into the Silurian and even the secondary strata. There cannot be the slightest doubt as to their being of subsequent date to the gneiss, in which they are truly intrusive." In a subsequent paper in the same volume,4 I have described the veins at Wángtu as mainly composed of albite, large cleavable masses of the felspar being seen unmixed with other mineral.

									Orygen ratio.
Silica .	•		•			•		61.40	8·90
Alumina .		•	•		•		•	23·48 ک	9.04
Ferric oxide			•	•				·83 🖇	3 04
Lime .	•						•	د ^{8·23} ک	
Magnesia				÷		•		·08 /	1.00
Soda .	•	•	•					10.07 🕻	1.00
Potash .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·75)	
								99'84	

the felspar being oligoclase. It is cleavable-massive, with twinning striations sometimes visible on the basal cleavage planes. The colour is milk-white, the mineral being translucent in moderately thin fragments. In general appearance it is somewhat like the cleavable-massive oligoclase from Ytterby, in Sweden, specimens of which are to be found in most mineral collections, but it differs from the latter in that striations are of comparatively rare occurrence.⁵

With reference to the felspar of the granite generally, General Strachey has recorded that, as far as his experience went, it is always white,⁶ and the various

- ¹ Quart. Jour. Geol. Soc., Vol. VII, p. 292.
- ² Page 12.
- ³ The felspar is cleavable-massive, and the quartz not crystallised.
- 4 Page 169.
- * The fragments selected for analysis were all striated.
- ⁶ Quart. Jour. Geol. Soc., Vol. VII, p. 802.

notices of the rock scattered through the Memoirs and Records of the Survey seem to show that this character is a very constant one.' Of course it proves nothing in itself as to the species. There are at present in the Museum specimens of granite from Wángtu, from Darwas in Pángi, from Chímre in Ladák, and from Rondu in Dárdistán. In the felspar of the first two twinning striations are visible on some of the basal cleavage planes, and Colonel McMahon has noticed similar striations in the felspar of the granite at Chango.² None of the specimens show any outward sign of the co-existence of two felspars, and no writer, as far as I know, has suggested that two felspars are present together in the granite where they have examined it. But the evidence at present available cannot be considered as proving more than that the felspar is very often plagioclase. Whether the plagioclastic felspar is constantly oligoclase or not is a point that ean only be settled by further analyses.

The above remarks refer to the granite alone. Orthoclase has been frequently noticed in the gneissose rocks through which the granitic veins have penetrated.³

Note on a Fish-palate from the Siwaliks.—By A. GÜNTHER, M.D., PH.D., F.R.S., Keeper of the Zoological Department, British Museum.

(Note.—The palate here briefly described and determined was obtained by Mr. Theobald from the Siwaliks of the Punjab, and sent to me by Mr. Lydekker, in order that I might submit it to one of the naturalists, who had especially studied fish. Dr. Günther very kindly undertook the task, and the Survey is indebted to him for the accompanying note. A similar but broken fragment has been obtained from the Manchar beds in Sind.—W. T. BLANFORD.)

The fossil submitted to me for examination is a rather massive bone, 36 mill.



long., 15 mill. wide, and about $1\frac{1}{3}$ mill. deep (in its deeper anterior portion). One side (the inner) is more straight than the other (outer), which especially towards the front is curvilinear. One surface is entirely covered with small granular (molar) teeth, somewhat irregular in size and shape, the largest being about the size of a pin's head. This dental surface is strongly convex in its transverse as well as longitudinal axis, and, especially the part in which the fossil is widest, forms a conspicuous protuberance.

Digitized by Google

There is scarcely any doubt that this bone is the right palatine of a large siluroid, possibly belonging to the genus *Arius*; and if so, this determination may be confirmed by the future discovery in the same formation of spines with which the dorsal and pectoral fins of this fish were probably armed.

¹ Memoirs, Vol. V, pp. 12, 169, 170. Records, Vol. XII, p. 60; Vol. XIII, p. 80.

- ² Records, Vol. XII, p. 60.
- ³ Memoirs, Vol. V, p. 12; Records, Vol. IX, p. 158; XIII, p. 30.

Palæontological Notes from the Hazáribágh and Lohárdagga Districts.—By OTTOKAR FEISTMANTEL, Palæontologist, Geological Survey of India.

[WITH PLATES I AND II.]

In the cold-weather months (January and February) of this year I undertook an excursion into the North and South Káranpúra coal-fields, in the Hazáribágh district, and into the Auranga coal-field in the Lohárdagga district, sub-division Palamow.

This enabled me not only to enlarge the list of localities for fossils, as given in the first part of my Damuda Flora,¹ but also to increase our knowledge of the distribution and range of the fossils and of the peculiarities of the Lower Gondwana flora, especially in its relation to the upper portion of that system and to some extra-Indian floras.

Starting from Giridhi (Karharbári coal-field), where I collected some fossils at a new shaft, I passed viá Hazáribágh and Daini Ghât into the North-Káranpúra coal-field, collected fossils at three localities² in the northern portion of the field, passed then into the Auranga coal-field, collected fossils at seven localities³ (amongst which one with Talchir fossils); re-passed into the Káranpúra coal-field, collecting at one locality;⁴ marched from here south-east to Ránchi; thence northwards into the South Káranpúra coal-field, collecting fossils in the iron-shales at two places;⁵ passed again into the North Káranpúra coal-field with the special purpose of collecting Talchir fossils in the Cháno basin (eastern extremity of the North Káranpúra coal-field), in which I completely succeeded. On my return route I passed through the Bokháro and Jharia coal-fields.

In the following notice of the fossils I collected, and of some other observations, I proceed according to the coal-fields, from east to west, and within the coal-fields according to the groups.

I.-KABHABBABI COAL-FIELD.

At Karharbári, I took the opportunity to collect some fossils at a new shaft, Fossils at No. 23D then in process of sinking, No. 23D, Passerabhia. This shaft. is expected to be the deepest shaft, passing through all the principal seams (Nos. 1, 2, and 3). At the time of my visit it had reached the third seam, but had passed through an additional thin seam above it. The fossils I collected were in a dark fine earthy shale, here and there micaceous, taken from the third seam, and resembling entirely the shale from this seam in the shafts 17C and 17B, the fossils from which I have already described.⁶

- ¹ Gondwána Flora, Vol. III, 2, 1880.
- ² Chepa-Jugra; south of Tandwa; south-east of Bálumáth.
- ³ Bálunaggar; Murup; two places on the Latiahar hill; north and south of Jaguldugga; Sukree river, west of Goortoor.
- 4 Burgaon.
- ⁵ West and south-east of Jainagar.
- ⁶ Pal. Ind., Ser. XII, 1, and Suppl. (or Gondwána Flora, Vol. III, 1, 1 Suppl.)

The fossils from the new locality are the following :---

Equisetaceous stalks.

Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, Fstm.—numerous. Glossopteris communis, Fstm.—numerous. Nöggerathiopsis hislopi, Fstm. (Bunb.)—with closely set veins.

The character of the fossils is the same as those quoted from the third seam before. In the shale there are here and there pockets of iron stone, in one piece of which I observed impressions of a *Glossopteris*, Bgt., with somewhat a tendency to pass into *Gangamopteris*, Mc'Coy, the midrib becoming resolved in the upper part of the leaf into radiating secondary veins.

To illustrate the position of the third seam and the fossiliferous band, I give Section of No. 23D the section of the shaft, as far as it has been sunk, in shaft. descending order :---

			_				Ft.	In.	
	Brickwork	•	•		•		36	0	
	Sandstone	•		•			74	6	
	Stony coal						1	11	
	Dark sandston	e	•				2	3	
	Blue shale	•			•		0	10	
	Dark sandstone	9					6	6	
	Grey "		•		•	•	9	0	
	Coal! .	•		•	•	•	2	0	
	Blue shale	•	•	•	•	•	2	10	
	Grey sandstone	Э	•	•	•		7	4	
	Blue shale	•	•		•	•	4	0	
	Coal		•		•	•	1	5	
	Stone (Unwo	rked)	•		•		0	11	
	Coal)	•	•	•	•		2	- 4	
	Blue shale	•	•	•	•	•	1	10	•
	Grey sandstone	;	•	•	•	•	13	6	
	Blue shale	•	•	•	•	•	2	9	
	Blue rock	•	•	•	•	•	1	11	
	Grey sandstone	Э	•	•	•	•	18	2	
	Sandstone	•	•	•	•	•	47	4	
(Coal .	•	•	•	•	•	4	7	
No. 3 seam }	Carbonaceous	shale	•	•	•	•	0	10	with fossils.
(Coal .	•	•	•	•	•	2	6	
	Sandstone	•	•	•	•	•	25	0	
					Total		270	 3	

The shaft is still in progress of sinking.

Gangamopteris obliqua, Mc'Coy, Pl. II, fig. 5.

This species of *Gangamopteris*, from the third seam, at 17C shaft, has not hitherto been found in the Gondwánas. It was first described by Professor Mc'Coy from the Bacchus-marsh sandstone, Victoria; and it was said to be one of the most common forms of the genus. Some forms of the Indian *Gangamopteris*

¹ Prodrome, Palzontology, Victoria, Decade II, page 13, Pl. XII, figs. 2-4.

Digitized by GOOGLE

242

cyclopteroides might perhaps have been placed with the above species; but the present specimen is so exactly like the Gangamopteris obliqua, Mc'Coy, that it has to be classed at once with it. If placed side by side with Mc'Coy's figure (l. c., Pl. 12, fig. 3), not the slightest difference can be observed. I am the more glad to be able to figure this leaf, showing well the Gangamopteris character, as it lies in the same piece of shale with a Glossopteris, in which the midrib is well shown, so that the difference between the two genera can easily be seen. I shall mention the same species again further on from the Talchirs.

II.-KARANPURA COAL-FIELDS.

These coal-fields, of which the description and maps were published by Mr. Two Káranpúra coalfields. Hughes, ' and which were distinguished as the Northern and Southern Káranpúra coal-fields, are situated in the Hazáribágh district, south and south-west of Hazáribágh. No fossils from the Damuda division of the fields have been named, and only a few specimens were known from the Talchirs of the Cháno outcrop, in the eastern portion of the North Káranpúra field. I have collected at several places in the former, and have considerably increased our collection of fossils from the latter rock group.

I.-TALCHIR DIVISION.

A.—Talchir Group.

A chief object of my visit to the North Káranpúra coal-field was to examine the locality in the Talchirs, where Mr. Hughes had previously collected some specimens of fossil plants² that have been described and figured in my paper on the Talchir Karhabári Flora.³

From Rikba (Indian atlas sheet 104, 23° 45' Lat. north; 85° 24' Long. east), Talchir of the Cháno a village close to the road from Rámgarh to Hazáribágh, basin. viâ Badam, I followed the road to the point where it crosses the stream coming down from the hills north of Lurunga⁴ (about 3 miles north-west of Rikba). The stream is here in gneiss, but passing down it the Talchirs soon set in, consisting at first of coarse conglomerate, then quartzose sandstones; soon afterwards the Tordág stream (coming from the west, from the Tordág hills by the village Indra) joins the Lurunga; and further south a nala falls in from the north-east, and just at this point the Talchir shales set in, about 40 feet only from the base of the coal-beds (Barákars).

The beds are here well exposed to a height of about 15 feet, and consist in the lower part of more bluish-green sandy shales, while the upper sandy shales are brownish-green and somewhat softer than the former; both are, however, rich in plant remains. I spent a whole day at the place, but although I have split open many hundreds of specimens, not a trace of any animal remains could be observed. I hope, however, to be able to pay this interesting spot another longer visit.

- ¹ Mem. G. S. I., Vol. VII, Pt. 3, 1871.
- ² Hughes. L. c., p. 12.
- ³ Pal. Ind., Ser. XII, 1. (Vol. III, I., Gondwána Flora, 1879), pp. 2, 6, 7, &c.
- ⁴ This is the Lurunga stream, mentioned in Mr. Hughes' and my papers (l. c.).

The exact locality may be described thus :---

"In the river formed by the junction of Lurunga and Tordág streams, $1\frac{1}{4}$ miles south-east of Lurunga village, 2 miles west-north-west of Rikba village, and $1\frac{1}{4}$ miles north-east of Cháno village." It can easily be reached from Hazáribágh, from which it is 19 miles distant viâ Badam, or 16 miles in a direct line.

The fossils collected consist chiefly of ferns, and some are either quite new or at least new for the Talchirs.

I distinguish the following forms :---

EQUISETACE.

- Equisetaceous stalks.—Similar to those originally known from the Talcbirs of the Karaun field;
- Phyllotheca, n. sp.—A peculiar form with very thin branches and short setaceous leaflets.

FILICES.

Genus: Gangamopteris, Mc'Coy.

This fern forms the main bulk of the fossils collected, and shows a great variety of leaves. I can distinguish-

Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, Fstm.-Several leaves of the type form.

Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, var. sub-auriculata.—Like those forms figured from the Karharbári beds, Karharbári coal-field.

Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, var. attenuata.—Like the original forms.

I had also to distinguish several new varieties of this species-

- Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, var. acuminata.—Forms with a peculiar triangular leaf.
- Gangam. cyclopt., var. cordifolia.—Small cordi-form leaflets, with straight distinctly radiating ribs, although anastomosing; they convey strongly the idea as if they belonged to a large pinnate leaf.
- Gaugam. cyclopt., var. crassinervis.—An oblong leaf showing particularly well the radiating disposition of the veins and their anastomoses throughout the whole leaf, the veins being unusually strong and the meshes almost equally large throughout.
- Gangamopteris obliqua, Mc'Coy.—There is one specimen in the collection, which I can only identify with this species of the Bacchus-marsh sandstones of Victoria. I had previously¹ pointed out that the Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, Fstm., from its great number and the variety of the leaves mostly resembles the Victorian Gangam. obliqua, but the specimens now under consideration can be at 'once referred to this species. I have quoted the same also on a previous page from the Karharbári coal-field.

¹ Talchir-Karbarbári Flora, *l. c.*, p. 13.

Digitized by Google

PART 3.] FEISTMANTEL : Hazáribágh and Lohárdagga Districts.

Gangamopteris angustifolia, Mc'Coy.—This species was already known before, both from the Talchir shales and the Karharbári beds. I have now found it again; and one specimen resembles very closely the figure given by Mc'Coy.¹

- Gangamopteris buriadica, Fstm.—Several specimens of this Karharbári plant have now been identified in the Talchir shales, as also one specimen of another form.
- Gangamopteris major, Fstm.—The leaf is somewhat shorter, being broad at the apex. This I think, however, to be only accidental, while the basal portion of the leaf and the distribution of the veins is entirely as in the Karharbári species.

We see from the foregoing that *Gangamopteris* appeared in great force in these Talchir shales, greater than hitherto known. The long-leaved forms are especially very numerous, but they all have to be classed as *Gangamopteris*, there being no solid midrib from which the secondary veins pass out; it is replaced by a number of stronger veins, but always forming anastomoses, and resolved by repeated dichotomy into the secondary veins which then form the lateral network of the leaf.

A very peculiar character was shown in many leaves, *i.e.*, that the margin Margin of leaves doubled up. appeared frequently doubled up, the venation of these folded portions overlying each other producing a peculiar reticulation. This doubling-up takes place at different parts of the leaf, sometimes even from the base. Two specimens are remarkable in this respect, the margins of the doubled-up portions approaching so closely and regularly so as to produce the effect of a midrib; but a closer examination shows that this state is produced by folding. It will be easier to explain this, and make suggestions as to how it took place, when the specimens can be figured.

Genus: Glossopteris, Bgt.

I have already had occasion to mention^e one instance of a *Glossopteris* from the Talchirs; but the specimen was not very distinct. This time, however, I have brought several specimens; and there can be no longer the slightest doubt about their being true *Glossopteris*. There are three kinds of venation—

> Glossopteris communis, Fstm.—The same forms as occur in the Karharbári coal-field, with rather a tendency of the midrib to dissolve towards the apex;

Glossopteris, sp.—Fragments with straight oblong meshes; Glossopteris, sp.— A fragment with a venation of Glossopt. indica.

CYCADEACEÆ.

Genns: Nöggerathiopsis, Fstm.

Nöggerathiopsis hislopi, Bunb. sp. (Fstm.)-Several leaves.

¹ Annal. and Mag., Nat. Hist., Vol. XX, Tab. 19, figs. 3-3*a*; Prodr. Pal., Victoria, Dec. II, Pl. XIII, fig. 2.

² Talchir-Karharbári flora, l. c., p. 18; Hughes, Káranpúra Coal-field, l. c., p. 296.

SEEDS.

Several specimens of winged seeds, which have already been mentioned from the Talchirs and the Karharbári beds, similar fossils also occurring in the Damuda division. They are of the *Samaropsis* type.

This flora of the Talchir, which, although not very various, must yet be considered numerous as regards specimens, bears close resemblance, to the flora of the Karharbári beds. We really almost miss only *Neuropteridium validum*, Fstm. and *Voltzia*; but of these plants the latter occurs also only locally in the Karharbári coal-field, in the Serampur area, the former also being much more numerous in that area than in the Karharbári area, so that it would perhaps not be impossible that this Talchir flora in the Cháno basin of the Káranpúra coalfield also represents, to a certain extent at least, the Karharbári flora, in which case the Karharbári beds would then really be the coal-bearing facies of the Talchir division, the chief character of both being the predominance of *Gangamopteris*.

II.-DAMUDA DIVISION.

From this field no Damuda fossils had as yet been procured. I have now collected some from all groups. The relations are very similar to those described for the Raniganj coal-field.

A.—Barákar group.

I collected Barákar fossils at two localities.

While encamped at Jugra below the Daini ghât, I visited the outcrops in Fossils near Jugra, the Ghui river, 1 mile south-south-east of Jugra, near Aráhura. the village Aráhura.¹ The outcrops are exposed just in the river, dipping south-west. I collected fossils in the following order—

- (a.) In the coal-seam impressions of Vertebraria indica, Royle;
- (b.) Immediately below the seam, in dark-grey, somewhat sandy shales, impressions of *Vertebraria indica*, Royle, only; very numerous and good specimens;
- (c.) Below this in a stratum of fine shale-

Vertebraria indica, Royle—less frequent.

- Glossopteris indica, Schimp.
- Glossopteris communis, Fstm.
- (d.) In a next lower bed of grey shale, traversed by white worm-like concretions-

Glossopteris indica, Schimp.

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

These relations remind me completely of those in the Barákars of Kumerdhubi, near Barákar.

Further to the west I collected fossils, in the Bishanpur river, 3½ miles south-Bishanpur river, south. east from my camp at Bálumáth. There are three outeast of Bálumáth. crops of coal. Mr. Hughes described the section in his Report (l. c.) on page 25.

¹ Mr. Hughes mentions these outcrops on p. 22 of his report (l. c.).

PART 8.] FRISTMANTEL: Hazáribágh and Lohárdagga Districts.

As far as I could identify the beds I collected fossils above his middle seam, thus:---

(a.) Above the seam, in dark-grey shale, partly sandy and micaceous-

Vertebraria indica, Royle-in great numbers;

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.;

Glossopteris communis, Fstm., var. stenoneura—rather numerous; Glossopteris indica, Schimp.;

Nöggerathiopsis hislopi, Bunb. (Fstm.);

Squame-like some form the Barákars in the Raniganj field.

(b.) Above this, in light, sandy, banded shale with fragmentary fossils-

Vertebraria indica, Royle, and numerous other fragments, indeterminable.

The characteristic feature of these fossils is the predominance, or at least the great proportion of *Vertebraria indica* in comparison with *Glossopteris* and the other fossils.

B.-Ironstone (shales).

In the South Káranpúra coal-field I collected fossils from the iron-shales, while Naikori river, near encamped at Jainagar (in the Naikori river) on my way Jainagar. from Ránchi to Rámgarh. I collected at two spots, *i.e.*, in the river south-east of the village, and in a nala west of the village. At the first place the rock consists of clayey sphærosiderites, alternating with grey micaceous shales, both fossiliferous.

At the second place it was in ferruginous shales, brownish, yellowish, and reddish, that the fossils occurred. I shall enumerate the fossils from both places together :---

> Equisetaceous stems. Macrotæniopteris danæoides, Royle, sp. Glossopteris communis, Fstm. Glossopt. indica, Schimp. Glossopt. retifera, Fstm. Glossopt. damudica, Fstm.—Numerous, amongst others a fragment of a very broad leaf. Glossopt. conspicua, Fstm.—Fragment. Glossopt. angustifolia, Bgt. Gangamopteris, sp.—Almost circular leaves, with distinctly radiating and anastomosing veins. Nöggerathiopsis hislopi, Bunb. sp. (Fstm.). Squamæ.

If we compare this flora with some others already known, we shall find that it resembles the flora of the Raniganj group in the Raniganj field. The fossils known hitherto from the iron-shales were only very few.

C.-Raniganj Group.

I collected fossils at two localities in the Raniganj group; the relations proved much the same as those in the same group in the Raniganj coal-field. While encamped at the police station Tandwa, on the Garhi river, I visited Garhi river, south-east the outcrops of the Raniganj group in the said river, of Tandwa. 3 miles south-east of Tandwa;¹ the dip is south-east.

In the grey shales above the seam I observed—

Schizoneura gondwanensis, Fstm.

Vertebraria indica, Royle.

Cyathea comp Tchihatchefi, Schmalh.-Fragment of pinnæ.

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

Glossopteris conspicua, Fstm.—Just like that from near Assensole, Raniganj field.

Gloss. indica. Schimp.

Gloss. formosa, Fstm.—First described from the Raniganj group, in the Raniganj coal-field.

Dictyopteridium, sp.—Just like the forms from the Barákars in the Talchir coal-field, from the Raniganj group, in the Raniganj coal-field.
Winged seeds, like Samaropsis.—Just like those from the Raniganj field.
Squamæ.

Above the grey shales (above the seam), there is yellowish-grey bedded sandstone, with *Glossopteris communis*, Fstm.

Above this again massive greenish-grey sandstone, with-

Vertebraria indica. Royle, which traverses the sandstone in all directions and exhibits well its rhizoma-like nature.

Above this Vertebraria-sandstone come in other sandstones, which very much resemble to Panchet rocks.

The other locality at which I collected Raniganj fossils is further south-Ganespur river, west west of Tandwa, *i.e.*, in the Ganespur river.² I visited of Burgaon. it from Burgaon, at the western extremity of the Satpáhri hill; it is about 2½ miles west of this village. The strata here dip north; there are three outcrops; between the two northern ones I collected fossils in several beds, which I shall indicate in ascending order; thus—

(a.) In the shales with the coal seam-

Vertebraria indica, Royle.

(b.) Grey sandstones with-

Glossopteris, sp. (veins not distinct).

- (c.) Then follows a series of sandstones and shales without distinct fossils.
- (d.) A bed of grey shale, about 2 feet thick, with impressions of— Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

Glossopt. angustifolia, Bgt.

(e.) Immediately above is a series of greyish-brown shales, somewhat sandy and micaceous, full of fragments of leaves-

Digitized by Google

Glossopteris angustifolia, Bgt.

¹ Hughes. L. c., p 32.

² Hughes. Idem, p. 34.

Glossopteris damudica, Fstm. Glossopt. retifera, Fstm.

Squame-just like the same from the Raniganj field.

(f.) Again grey shales with— Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

- (g.) Then follow greenish shales without fossils.
- (h.) Then a bed, about 3 feet, of reddish-white hard shales, full of vegetable fragments; and— Vertebraria indica, Royle,

Glossopteris indica, Schimp.

(i.) The last in the series were sandy shales with-Vertebraria indica, Royle.

No fossils could be observed in the two other outcrops.

D.-Panchets and Mahádevas.

Although both these series are largely developed in the Káranpúra coal-field I have not observed any fossils in either of them; but

Red clays at Burgaon. I have not observed any lossn's in chain of mom, but while encamped at Burgaon, at the south-west foot of the Satpáhri hill, I had an opportunity of seeing fine examples of water action on the red clays of the Panchet division. Close to the foot of the hill blocks of Mahádeva sandstone are lying about, and have protected the part of the clays immediately under them from being washed away, while all around the water has eroded, so they are now perched on pillars of various height and thickness. A footpath winds along just at the foot of the hill, from Bánpúr to Sedpa, and the effect is as of an avenue of columns supporting blocks of sandstone.

Further away from the foot of the hill the ground is very much broken by nalas washing through the red clays, and here, especially at the heads of the nalas, most picturesque scenes are found, produced by the weathering power of the water rushing down from the hill-side; and the peculiarity of the scene is heightened by the bright red colour of the clays contrasting with the vivid green of the low jungle, consisting mostly of young sál wood.

In the neighbourhood of the Káranpúra coal-fields I observed two peculiar forms of rock which deserve passing mention.

Fault-rock.—When passing down the Daini ghât (from the Hazáribágh plateau), a thick vein of peculiar quartz rock is crossed; this rock is of the same kind and variety as that described by Mr. V. Ball as "pseudomorphic quartz," in the Rámgurh coal-field.¹ Mr. Ball quoted it under the heading fault-rock, and also here it has to be considered as such; it is quite close to the north-eastern boundary of the North Káranpúra coal-field. The porcelain-like plates are very distinctly exhibited, varying in thickness, and crossing each other in the most peculiar directions, including cavities of very various sizes, the walls of which are either smooth or covered by more or less developed crystals of quartz.

A quite similar rock, though of somewhat finer structure, also occurs on the north-eastern border of the Karharbári coal-field.

' Mem. G. S. I., Vol. VI, p. 128.

Records of the Geological Survey of India.

VOL. XIV.

Bosses near Ránchi-(Plate I). While marching from Rai, in the southern part of the Káranpúra coal-field viá Thákurgaun to Ránchi, I was struck with a peculiar feature of the country between these two latter places. The country is covered with small rounded hillocks of metamorphic rock, entirely smooth on their surface and composed of concentrical layers, as is clearly shown by the outer laver and sometimes the next lower one too, cracking and splitting into slabs of various sizes. These round hillocks of dark grey colour, emerging abruptly from the ground like large air bubbles solidified as soon as they appeared on the surface, give the country a peculiar aspect. They are generally entirely barren, the surface being too smooth for plants taking root : only in the cracks, here and there a bunch of grass or a small shrub settles until, by the slabs moving down the smooth surface, even these meagre representatives of vegetation get uprooted and dislodged. They all appear to consist of the same kind of rock, a grey, coarse porphyritic gneiss, with large felspar crystals. Sometimes the rock is finer grained. Similar instances appear not to be uncommon also in other parts of India. Mr. Ball described these "bosses" from Mánbhúm,¹ and it was indeed through his paper that my attention was drawn to these "bosses" near Thákurgaun; and quite recently Mr. Ball drew my attention to a paper by Captain Newbold,² where similar phenomena are described from South India. The rock is noticed as 'dome gneiss' in the Survey Manual, p. 20.

As I had a good opportunity of making sketches of some of these bosses, I thought it useful to reproduce the best instance here³ (Plate I). This boss, about 1 mile north-west of Thákurgaun, quite close to the road, is about 60 feet high and about 900 in diameter, almost quite spherical on the surface, perfectly smooth, with the uppermost layer burst into slabs of various sizes, the slabs partly still lying on the surface of the layer underneath, which presents quite an appearance of a rock polished by moving ice. The layers vary in thickness, seldom exceeding 1 foot.

I may mention that the inhabitants use the smooth surface for economic purposes, for drying grain, grass or fruits on; the slabs also are made use of; amongst others the people (being to a great extent Oraons) use them for monumental slabs.

III.—AURUNGA COAL-FIELD.

This coal-field, lying to the west of the Káranpúra field, and so named from the Auranga river (a tributary of the Koel), was surveyed by Mr. Ball,⁴ who made the most interesting paleeontological discovery of the occurrence of plants, hitherto considered as of Lower Gondwána type, in certain red shales, of apparently Mahádeva type. My chief object in visiting this field was to see this locality, but while in pursuit of this object I had an opportunity of examining

- ¹ Scientific Proc. of the Dublin Roy. Society, 15th December 1879.
- ³ Jour. Roy. As. Soc., London, Vol. VII, p. 113 et seq., with figures.
- ³ The sketch is absolutely correct, being taken with the camera.
- ⁴ Mem. G. S. I., Vol. XV, Part 1, 1878.



R,

÷

ä

:

· / · · ·

Digitized by Google

Digitized by Google

other localities also, some of equal interest. I shall proceed again in stratigraphical order:---

1.-TALCHIR DIVISION.

Any discovery of fossils in this group, which has hitherto yielded fossils very *Talchir fossils*, on Latiahar hill. at Latiahar, and while in search of the red shales with Damuda fossils in a stream on the northern face of the Latiahar hill, opposite to the low hill of Panripura, I came, at the head of the stream, suddenly across an exposure of bedded rocks about 8 feet high, reddish in general appearance with yellowish greenish tints. I tried it with the hammer, and it proved to be bedded sandy micaceous clay. At first I thought it might be a decomposed condition of some other rocks, but it proved of the same consistence throughout, so I examined it closer, and found to my great satisfaction that it contained fossils of the Talchir type.

The exposed section consists of the following strate in ascending order :---

•			Feet.	Inches.
At the base reddish clay, about	•	•	1	0
A band of purple ferruginous sandstone		•	0	4
Then again reddish clay	•	•	2	0
Brownish clay, the rest.				

I was in the Talchirs between Latiahar and Nowadih, described by Mr. Ball on pp. 56, 57 of his report, but the fossils are a new addition. They are :---

Equisetaceous stalks.

Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, Fstm.—Of the type form.

Gangam. cyclopteroides, var. sub-auriculata.—Amongst others one entire leaf, of small size, but with distinct characters, and resembling entirely one from the Cháno-Talchirs, in the Káranpúra coal-field.

Gangam. cyclopteroides, var. acuminata.—The forms like those from the Cháno-Talchirs.

Gangam. cyclopteroides, var. attenuata.

- Gangam. cyclopteroides, var. cordiformis.—Small leaflets like those mentioned from the Cháno basin, showing apparently that they are pinnulæ of a pinnate leaf.
- Gangam. comp. spathulata, Mc'Coy.—One specimen can hardly be distinguished from this form of the Bacchus-marsh sandstones.

Nöggerathiopsis hislopi, Bunb. sp. (Fstm.).

Winged seeds .-- Like those mentioned before from other localities.

Gangamopteris, Mc'Coy, in its various forms, is thus also here the characteristic fossil, the others being only subordinate; the impressions are on the whole very numerous; but the material being very fragile when first removed it is very difficult to get tolerably good specimens for transport, and they have to be very carefully handled lest the impressions should be rubbed off. After some time, however, the rock got pretty consistent, and all my specimens arrived safely.

2.-DAMUDA DIVISION.

While on the whole the Damuda rocks in this field have the same characters as in the coal-fields of the Damuda valley, yet in one place the lower division exhibited relations which prove to be of peculiar interest.

Barákar Group.

I visited outcrops of this group at four localities in different parts of the field, Outlier north of but only one yielded a good number of fossils. My first visit Bálunagar. was to the outlier to the north of Bálunagar, about 2 miles distant. Mr. Ball describes this outlier at length in pp. 79-82 (*l. c.*). I collected a few fragments from the outcrops in the river to the north-west of the village Dhurdhuria¹ in ascending order:--

(a) From the coal seam—

Vertebraria indica, Royle.

(b) From iron band above-

Glossopteris, sp.-fragments.

(c) From grey shales above this—

Vetebraria indica, Royle.

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

Near Murup, west of Bálunagar, from where Mr. Griesbach brought some Barákars west of fossils two years ago, I have not been very successful; Murup. I examined the outcrops in the Sukri river west of Dhabiajharan, as well as in the stream joining the Sukri west of that village; but in spite of the most careful search I procured only Vertebraria indica, Royle, in most of the layers.

I found similar relations in the southern portion of the field near Juguldugga Barákars near Jugul. in the Aurunga river, and in the tributary stream southdugga. east of the village. The outcrops are almost all fossiliferous, Vetebraria indica, Royle, being the only fossil met with.

Barákars in the Sukri river, north-west of Seruk, west of Gurtur.⁹

In the Sukri river east and south-east of Rájbar the beds of the Barákar group are well exposed, and they proved fossiliferous and important. I examined two localities in the river, and collected the fossils separately from the various beds, as they follow one another in vertical order at the respective spots; from this it will be possible to correlate the beds of the two localities.

Beds east of Rájbar. The first spot was where the path from Gurtur to Rájbar crosses the Sukri (east, slightly north, of Rájbar).

The strata and their fossils are as follows, in ascending order :----

(1.) The seam crops out on the right bank, covered by-

(2.) Dark grey shale (about 2 feet thick) full of-

Vertebraria indica, Royle-this being the only fossil in the shale.

Digitized by Google

¹ Mr. Ball describes these rocks on p. 81 (l. c.), as ironstone at Dhurdhuria.

² Mr. Ball describes this section on pp. 63, 64 of his report (l. c.).

The other section is exposed across the river, on the left bank, beginning below in the river, with the dark grey shale, followed by-

(3.) Light grey shale, about 4 feet thick, with-

Vertebraria indica, Royle. Glossopteris, sp.

(4.) Then follow a complex of shales, ironstone, ferruginous sandy shales, and ferruginous bedded sandstones, which I consider to belong to the same bed, but they may be sub-divided as follows :---

a.-Below, brownish yellowish grey shales, about 1 foot; full of fossils.

Vertebraria indica, Royle.

Schisoneura gondwaneneis, Fstm.-fragments of the leaf-sheath,

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

Glossopt. indica, Schimp.

Glossopt. conspicua, Fstm.

Glossopt. damudica, Fstm.

Glossopt. angustifolia, Bgt.

This shale resembles one from near Talchir, in the Talchir coal-field.

b.—Brown and purple sandy ironstone band, with concretionary structure, containing—

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

c.-To this succeeds a reddish-grey sandy shale with-

Vertebraria indica, Royle.

The state of preservation of this fossil deserves special notice. The harder substance of the plant is replaced by a brown red mass, while the softer tissue disappeared, and consequently the cross sections of the plant appear on the reddishgrey rock as star-like markings with 6—8 points, while the longitudinal sections appear as three red longitudinal lines, connected at intervals by cross lines. I was shown a few of these starlike impressions by Mr. Ball before I left Calcutta, which came apparently from the same locality. They are of interest in so far as they will be mentioned again from the section at the other locality.

d.—These sandy shales pass at last into bedded, somewhat ferruginous sandstones, with—

Glossopteris communis, Fstm. Glossopt. indica, Schimper.

- (5.) Light grey shales with Vertebraria and Glossopteris.
- (6,) Yellowish shales conclude the section above.

In this section, as well as in the following, I entirely accept Mr. Ball's stratigraphical arrangement, placing the rocks in the Barákar group. But then we have the interesting fact that *Schizoneura gondwanensis*, Fstm., is again procured from the Barákars, as also other forms, such as *Glossopteris conspicua*, Fstm., which have hitherto been observed in the Raniganj group only.

The second locality in the Sukri river, about ³/₄ miles south-east of Rájbar, and Barákars west of Gur. the same distance west of Gurtur, showed still more intur. teresting relations, the flora not only including typical

G

forms of a higher group of the Lower Gondwanas, but also some others hitherto known only from beds in Siberia, described as of jurassic age, as well as another interesting form. The beds, from which fossils were taken at this spot, follow in ascending order, thus-

(1.) The lowest bed seen is grey sandy shale with-

Vertebraria indica, Royle.

- (The seam lies somewhat more to the east, dipping below the above bed.)
- (2.) Next follow ferruginous sandstones with-

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

The veins of the leaves in these sandstones are of red colour, and the whole has somewhat the appearance of Kámthi sandstones.

(3.) A series of crushed shales of bluish-grey and brownish colour, with ferruginous sandstones at the base, as also interbedded.

The sandstones contain-

Vertebraria indica, Royle, with the same characters as in bed 4c in the preceding section, *i.e.*, starlike transverse sections, as well as longitudinal skeletons of the plant in red colour.

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.-like the same in the preceding bed.

In the crushed shales were observed-

Vertebraria indica, Royle, in similar state of preservation as in the layers of sandstones, but of brown colour.

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

Glossopt. indica, Schimp.

Glossopt. damudica, Fstm.

So far there is nothing remarkable regarding the fossils, as they are also known from the Barákars elsewhere, excepting perhaps the light colours of the rocks; but the crushed shales contain towards the top-

(3a.) Lenticular layers, of more regularly bedded shales, of light bluish-grey

or reddish-grey colour, which contained a most peculiar association of plants. I here only quote their names, as a brief notice about them all is given further on, full details being reserved until they can all be figured :---

Macrotæniopteris feddeni, Fstm.-Amongst others one large leaf.

Macrotæniopt. danæoides, Royle.-Fragments.

Anomozamites (Pterophyllum) balli, n. sp.-Several specimens, also the top of the leaf.

Digitized by Google

Rhipidopsis gingkoides, Schmalh.-Several leaves.

Cyclopitys dichotoma, n. sp.-A very peculiar fossil.

(4.) Again a ferruginous band with-

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.

Digitized by Google

.

.

•

.



J Sohaumburg Lith 4

Printed at Geol. Survey Office.

Digitized by Google
PART 3.] FEISTMANTEL : Hazáribágh and Lohárdagga Districts.

(5.) Sandstones, ferruginous, with-

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.,

reminding again somewhat of Kámthi specimens. I have already indicated above how it is possible to correlate this section with the preceding one.

In spite of the peculiar character of the fossils in bed 3a, I think there can be hardly any doubt that the beds in this section also belong to the Barákar group, for the thickness of the whole section, from the seam below up to the top, is only about 18 feet, and the seam and all the beds having the same steady western dip, they must pass under the seams in the Seruk river, south of Rajbar, which are also Bárakars.

As I have mentioned the names only of the interesting fossils in bed 3a of the

The fossils from bed 3a of last section in Sukri river. second section in the Sukri river (west of Gurtur), it is necessary to add some special remarks on them in order to draw due attention to them before they can be more fully

figured.

FILICES.

Genus: Glossopteris, Bgt.

This genus is represented by three species, which are almost equally numerous through the whole Damuda division. They are—

Glossopteris communis, Fstm.— broad leaves; veins passing out obliquely from the midrib; very narrow vein-nets throughout the leaf.

Glossopt. indica, Schimp.—broad leaves; direction of veins as in the former; vein-nets polygonal near the midrib; becoming narrow and oblong toward the margin.

Glossopt. damudica, Fstm.—broad leaves; veins passing out from the midrib almost horizontally; nets broad and polygonal close to the midrib; becoming somewhat narrower and oblong towards the

margin.

Genus: Macrotæniopteris, Schimp.

This genus is largely represented in the Upper Gondwánas, especially in the Rájmahál group. Two species are also known from the Lower Gondwánas, one from the Kámthis only, while the other occurred both in the Raniganj and Barákar groups, and has just been quoted by me from the iron shales of the South Káranpurá coal-field. At the present locality two species were met with—

> Macrotæniopteris feddeni, Fstm. (pl. II, fig. 1). Several specimens, one a very fine leaf, 8½ inches long and 5 inches broad; this species was first collected by Mr. Fedden in the Kámthis of Nágpur; it was next identified by me among the specimens from the Raniganj (Kámthi) group, near Guráru, on the Son river, in South Rewah, and now we have it in the Barákars. Thus, like Macrot. danæoides, Royle, it occurs throughout the Damuda series

> Macrotæniopteris danæoides, Royle.—There are several fragments which I class with this species, although they bear great resemblance also to some of the Upper Gondwána forms.

CYCADEACE.

Although remains of cycadeaceous plants are no longer strangers amongst the fossils of the Lower Gondwánas, yet every addition to the list is of interest. I have collected several specimens of a Zamiaze, which from its general habitus has to be considered as belonging to the group of *Pterophyllum*. This has lately been sub-divided into several genera, and from the fact that our frond has unequal leaflets, in which the veins are several times forked, we cannot assign it to *Pterophyllum* in the restricted sense, but will have to place it with another genus—best with *Anomzamites*, Schimper, as described by this author, in 1870-72, ¹ while in a recent publication² (1880) he has again separated certain forms and placed them in a sub-genus. For the present purpose the first name will be sufficient. Our specimens represent a new species which I purpose to call—

> Anomozamites (Pterophyllum) balli,³ n. sp. (pl. II, figs. 3, 4).—This frond appears to have been middle-sized, the leaflets almost at right angles to the rhachis, which is transversely wrinkled; leaflets at the apex truncate, joined at the base, veins 6-8 all forked from the base, and the branches forked again once and even twice. This description may be sufficient for the present: all other particulars, with affinities and differences, will be pointed out, when all the figures can be given. I may only add that Anomosamites is largely represented in the Upper Gondwánas, as altogether it is a mesosoic genus.

Thus we have a *Pterophyllum*⁴ from the Raniganj group (Raniganj field) and a *Pterophyllum*-like Zamiaæ from the Barákars; then there is *Glossozamites* in the Karharbári beds, while *Nöggerathiopsis*, Fstm., (Rhiptozamites, Schmalh.) passes from the Talchir shales up into the Mahádeva series.

CONIFERS.

There have recently been described from Siberia a great variety of peculiar coniferous plants; some of them, which were formerly mistaken for *Cyclopteris*-like fern leaves, have still an analogous form in the living flora in *Salisburia* or *Gingko* of China and Japan. These forms are comprised under the name of—

SALISBURIER.

Amongst the fossils from the Sukri river there are several leaves identical with a species recently described from the jurassic⁵ of the Petchora country⁴---

¹ Trait. de. Pal. végét, Vol. II, 1870-72.

² Handbuch der Palæontologie by Schimper and Zittle, Vol. II.

³ This fossil establishes the occurrence of *Cycadeaceæ* in the Lower Gondwánas beyond any doubt.

• Pterophyll. Burdwanense, Fstm.

⁵ I use this designation according to the describer's (Frof. Schmalhausen) classification. None of the competent reviewers (Verhandl. d. K. K. G. Reichsanstalt, 1879, p. 208; Geyler in N. Jahrb., Min. and Geologie, 1879, p. 10:07; Heer in Botanisches Centralblatt, 1880, pp. 11-13) have doubted his determinations.

⁶ Schmalhausen, Beitrg. z. Jurafl. Russlands, 1879. Mem., Acad. Imp., sc. Petersbourg, XXVI, 4, p. 50 et seq.

PART 8.] FRISTMANTEL: Hazáribágh and Lohárdagga Districts.

Rhipidopsis gingkoides, Schmalh. (pl. II, fig. 2). These are Gingko-like leaves, very deeply incised, with six to ten segments—the segments of variable shape, the outer ones smaller, the middle ones much longer, cuneiform with obtusely rounded apex. The veins pass out from the base, and are thence several times forked.

Our leaves are on the whole smaller than the Russian ones, but one leaf from the Petchora country¹ is pretty nearly of the same size as our leaves, four of which are preserved in such a position that if entirely exhibited the stalks would join in one point on the branch. I figure one leaf only at present—the entire specimen will be figured later.

There is another fossil, which apparently also belongs to the Gingko-like Conifers with more split leaves, but I am afraid it is too indistinctly preserved to allow of an identification. I shall, however, try and give a figure of it hereafter.

TAXODIEZ.

Genus : Cyclopitys, Schmalh.

Under this name a coniferous plant was described by Prof. Schmalhausen³ from the jurassics of the Kusnezk basin, which bears the following character :---

"Folia verticillata, deplanato linearia, apice acuta, nervo medio valido percursa, transverse tenuisisme rugulosa" (Schmalh.).

Exactly the same characters are exhibited in several specimens of a plant, associated with the preceding ones—except that the verticillate leaves are dichotomous—this may of course be considered as a specific difference, and the plant will be distinguished as—

> Cyclopitys dichotoma, n. sp. One specimen shows the stalk preserved and distinctly the verticillate insertion of the leaves—these are longer than in the Siberian species, and dichotomously forked, but there is only one central vein, and the leaves are finely wrinkled transversely.

Here ends this interesting flora, not only interesting by the occurrence of forms of higher Gondwána groups in the Barákar group, but also of peculiar plants, described first from the Siberian and Russian jurassics.

B.—Raniganj Group.

The peculiarities of this group, especially in relation to the Panchets, are Raniganj fossils north of Jaguldugga. from which it appears that there is no marked unconformity between these two groups; these relations are similar to those in other fields. The group here did not, however, prove very fossiliferous. As I did not find any fossils in the Raniganj group, in the Sukri river, west of Tubed, the next most likely place to find any appeared in the small area north of Jaguldugga, in the river-bed traversing that area from east to west; and this supposition proved

¹ L. c., Pl. VIII, fig. 5.

² L. c., p. 89.

Additional to these I observed-

- Schizoneura gondwanensis, Fstm.—Although only a portion of the sheath is preserved, there is no doubt about its being of this species, the commissural lines of the leaflets as well as their middle veins are well seen.
- Gangamopteris, sp.—Several small spatulute leaflets, with a venation radiating from the base (without any midrib), and forming anastomoses, thus exhibiting the characters of the genus Gangamopteris, to which they most probably belong.

Additional to these there were amongst Mr. Ball's fossils, not observed by me this time---

Scale-like leaflets, entirely like some from the Raniganj group, and which I have quoted as scales of cycadeaceous plants.

We have then, taking also Mr. Hugkes' locality in South-Rewah into consideration, two instances, where Lower Gondwána (Damuda) plants pass into rocks, of apparently Upper Gondwána (Mahádova) age.

The paleeontological results of my field-work may be briefly summarised thus :---

- (1.) The Talchirs of the Cháno basin, north-east of Káranpúra coal-field, were found richly fossiliferous, and several new forms were collected, amongst others a true *Gangamopteris obliqua*, Mc'Coy.
 - A new locality for Talchir fossils was discovered in the Auranga coalfield, north face of the Latiahar hill.
 - In the Karharbári beds of the Karharbári coal-field fossils were collected at a new shaft, and a true Gangamopteris obliqua, Mc'Coy, was observed at a former locality.
 - The Barákars of the North Káranpúra coal-field showed the same relations as those in the Raniganj field.
 - In the Auranga coal-field, at one locality (Sukri river near Gurtur) the Barákars yielded interesting fossils, showing an association of *Glossopteris*, and a Kámthi *Macrotæniopteris*,¹ with a true cycadeaceous plant (*Pterophyllum Anomosamites*) and coniferous plants, elsewhere known only from jurassic beds.
- (3.) In the iron shales of the South Káranpúra coal-field numerous though fragmentary fossils were collected.
- (4.) The Raniganj group-fossils of these fields showed the same relations as in the other Bengal coal-fields.
- (5.) No fossils were observed in the Panchets, but fine instances of weathering action in the red clays of the Panchets were noticed.
- (6.) Further observations were made (in continuation of Mr. Ball's original examination) as regards the red shales on the northern face of the Latiahar hill, and they appear to place it almost beyond doubt that the shales belong to the Upper Gondwánas (Mahádevas).

¹ Macrotæsiopteris feddeni, Fstm., from the Kámthis of Nágpur and from the Raniganj group of Guráru on the Son river.

PART 3.] FEISTMANTEL : Hazáribágh and Lohárdagga Districts.

SYSTEMATICAL LIST OF THE FOSSILS.

I add now a list of the fossils mentioned in the foregoing pages, showing in columns their range. I also include the fossils from Parsora, Sohágpur district, South Rewah, as coming from the Mahádeva series. For designation of the localities I shall use the names of the coal-fields only, with the following abbreviations:—

Karh. = for Karharbári coal-field.

Káranp. = for Karánpúra coal-field.

S. Kár. = for South Karánpúra coal-field.

Aur. = for Auranga coal-field.

S. R. __ for South Rewah Gondwána basin.

	GONDWÁNA SYSTEM IN INDIA.						
		UPPER POBTION.					
NAMES OF FOSSILS.	Talchir Division.		Damuda Division.			Mahádara	
	Talchir shales.	Karhar- bári beds.	Barákar group.	Iron shales.	Raniganj group.	sories.	
EQUISETACE.							
Equisetaceous stalks	Káranp. Aur.	Karh.		8. Kár.	Aur.		
Phyllotheca, n. sp	Káranp.	·			1		
Schisoneura gondwanensis, Fstm.			Aur.		Káranp. Anr.	Aur.	
Vertebraria indica, Boyle	•••		Káranp. Aur.		Káranp. Aur.	Aur.	
FILICES.							
Cyathea Tchihatcheffi (?) Schmalh					Káranp.		
Thinnfeldia, sp.						SR	
Dancopsis hughesi, Fstm	·					S.R	
Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, Fstm.	Káranp. Aur.	Karh.					
Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, var. acuminata.	Káranp. Aur.		•••			•••	
Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, var. attenuata.	Káranp. Aur.		•••			•••	
Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, var. cordifolia.	Káranp. Anr.		-00			•••	
Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, var. crassinervis.	Kåranp.		•••				
Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, var. subauriculata.	Káranp. Aur.		•••			•••	
Gangamopt. buriadica, Fstm.	Karanp.						
Gangamopt. angustifolia, Me' Cov.	Káranp.					•••	
Gongamopt. obliqua, Mc'Coy	Káranp.	Karh.			I I		
Gangamopt. comp. spathulata, Mc'Cov.	Aur.	•••				• • •	
Gangamopt. major, Fstm	Káranp.						
Gangamopteris, sp				S. Kár.		•••	
Gangamopteris, sp					1 1	Anr	
Glossopteris angustifolia. Bet.			Aur.	S. Kár.	Kárann		
Glossopi. communis, Fstm	Káranp.	Karh.	Káranp. Anr.	S. Kár.	Aur. Káranp. Aur.	Aur.	

H

T

	GONDWÁNA SYSTEM IN INDIA.					
	LOWER PORTION.					UPPER POBTION,
Names of Fossils,	Talchir Division.		Damuda Division.			Mahádama
	Talchir shales.	Karhar- bári beds.	Barákar group.	Iron shales.	Raniganj group.	series.
Glossopt. communis, var. steno-	•••	•••	Káranp.			
Glossopteris indica, Schimp			Káranp. Anr.	S. Kár.	Káranp.	
Glossopt. retifera, Fstm				S. Kár.	Káranp.	
Glossopt. conspicua, Fstm		•••	Aur.	S. Kár.	Keranp.	
Glossopt. damudica, Fstm			Aur.	S. Kár.	Káranp.	Aur.
Glossopt. formosa, Fstm	•••				Káranp.	
Glossopteris, sp	Kárann.		•••			
Macrotæniopteris feddeni, Fstm.			Aur.			
Macrot. dancoides. Royle			Aur.	S. Kár.	Aur.	
Dictyopteridium (?) sp	•••		•••	•••	Káranp.	•••
CYCADEACE.				1		
Anomozamites (Pterophyllum)	·		Aur.			
balli, n. sp.		1 1				
Nöggerathiopsis hislopi, Fstm.	Káranp. Aur.	Karh.	Káranp.	S. K r.		S. B.
Consferæ.			A			
Rhipidopsis gingkoides, Schmain			Aur.	•••	ו ייי (•••
Cyclopitys aichotoma, n. sp	•••		Aur.			•••
Scales (Barakar type)				S. Kár.	Karanp.	Aur.
SEEDS.						
Samaropsis, sp	Kranp.	•••	•••		Káranp.	•••
Samaropsis, sp			400	•		Aur.

I also add a separate list of the localities according to the groups at which fossils occured :--

TALOHIE GROUP.

- Rikba, 2 miles west-north-west of, in the Cháno basin, eastern portion of the North Káranpúra coal-field, in the river formed by the junction of the Lurunga and Tordág streams, about 16 miles south a little by west of Hazáribágh. Fossils, see ante, pages 243-246.
- Latiahar hill, northern face of, 1¹/₂ miles north-east of Tuppa Latiahar, sub-division Palamow, Lohárdagga district, Auranga coal-field. Fossils, see ante, page 251.
- Passerabhia, Karharbári coal-field, shaft No. 23D, third seam. Fossils see ante, pages 241-242.

BARÁKAR GROUP.

Aráhura, Ghui river, near, 1 mile south of Jugra, 11 miles southwest of Hazáribágh, North Káranpúra coal-field. Fossils, see ante, page 246.

- Bishunpur river, 3½ miles south-east of Balúmath and 1 mile southeast of village Belwadíh, north-west part of North Káranpúra coal-field. Fossils, see *ante*, pages 246-247.
- Balúnagur outlier, 1¹/₅ miles north of, at the north-east extremity of the Auranga coal-field, Palamow division, district Lohárdagga. Fossils, see ante, page 252.
- Murup, Sukri river, west of; northern margin of the Auranga coalfield—(Murup is $4\frac{1}{2}$ miles west of Balúnagur). Fossils, see ante, page 252.
- Jaguldagga (about $6\frac{1}{3}$ miles east of Tuppa Latiahar), Auranga river and adjoining (eastern) stream, south and south-east of Auranga coal-field, 252.
- Sukri river, $2\frac{1}{2}$ miles north-west of Seruk (or $\frac{3}{4}$ miles east and southeast of Rájbar), north-east corner of the Auranga coal-field. Fossils, see *ante*, pages 252-257.

IRONSHALES.

Jainagur, in the South Káranpúra coal-field, on the Naikori river, about 25 miles south of Hazáribágh, close to the road from this place to Ranchi. Fossils, see *ante*, page 247.

RANIGANJ GROUP.

- Tandwa, Gurhee river, 2 miles south-east of, North Káranpúra coalfield. Fossils, see ante, page 248.
- Burgaon, Ganeshpur river, 2 miles west of (below Nuwada village), North Káranpúra coal-field (Burgaon lies on the south-western foot of the Sátpahri hill). Fossils, see *ante*, pages 248-249.
- Jaguldagga inlyer, 11 miles north of, in the Auranga coal-field (See above). Fossils, see ante, page 257.

MAHADEVA SERIES.

- Latiahar hill, northern face of, close to the crest of the hill, Auranga coal-field. Fossils, see ante, pages 258-260.
- Under this heading is now also to be included the following locality :--Parsora, near Beli, about 6 miles north-north-east of Páli, Solágpur district, South Rewah Gondwána basin. For the fossils see Records G. S. I., Vol. XIII, part. 3, page 187. (I placed them with the Panchets.)
- Undescribed Fossil Carnivora from the Siwalik Hills in the Collection of the British Museum. By P. N. BOSE, ESQ., B. Sc. (Lond.), F. G. S.

A paper of mine with the above title was published in the Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London for 1880 (Vol. XXXVI, p. 119, &c.). Although dealing chiefly with the subject specified, I ventured, in the Introduction, to discuss briefly the broad question of the age of the Siwalik fauna, advocating the older view of its miocene age, as opposed to the pliocene age recently brought forward by the Geological Survey of India. This very naturally led to a criticism of my paper in the Records of the Survey (1881, Vol. XIV, p. 57) by Mr. Lydekker, who has been for some time engaged upon the description of the Siwalik fossils in the Survey collections. As now myself a member of the Survey, I may claim to make a brief reply in the same publication to some of Mr. Lydekker's criticisms.

Upon the contention I have just mentioned I am not prepared to make a stand, although, as embodying the results of the detailed palæontological work, it would be looked upon as the most important and interesting part of my paper. It, however, largely involved collateral information, and here Mr. Lydekker had immensely the advantage of me, in an extensive personal acquaintance with the Siwalik rocks, and with what is known of the distribution of fossils in them. I will even admit that he has greatly shaken my confidence in the position I had taken up, so it is hardly worth while to grumble at the scanty notice he has taken of the qualifying clauses I was careful to introduce regarding the presence of pliocene forms in the Siwalik fauna and of pliocene deposits within the Siwalik series.

It is different when we come to the narrower ground of purely palæontological work. Here again we have to distinguish the matter and the form. The question of the creation of species is now-a-days rationally elastic, it being to some extent an optional point of tact, of convenience, or of method where and how often we shall mark stages in the process of change by giving specific value to degrees of modification. Had Mr. Lydekker's rejection of some of the species described in my paper been based upon such a difference of opinion after a full exposition of the facts, I should have nothing to complain of. Such is, however, far from being the case, and I feel bound to record a remonstrance at the manner in which my descriptions are disposed of in Mr. Lydekker's note. I take each case separately.

CANIS CURVIPALATUS.

Mr. Lydekker says: "There is no figure given of the specimen on which the species is founded, neither are any dimensions appended, while the description is of the most meagre kind." With regard to the first part of this rather categorical indictment, our critic is perhaps not aware that it is contrary to the practice of the Geological Society to reproduce figures.¹ As the dimensions have been given by Baker and Durand in the Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, and quoted in Falconer's "Palæontological Memoirs,"⁹ and as my descriptions were not intended for readers to whom neither of these works is accessible, I contented myself simply with giving references to them.

Now to the third charge. If space were the test of meagreness or not meagreness, I am afraid I must plead guilty, as I strove hard to be as concise as possible consistently with clearness. But, perhaps, the reader will have some

¹ The specimen is figured in the Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal for 1836.

² Op. cit., I, p. 341.

other standard to apply. I shall, therefore, crave his indulgence to state my case. After mentioning the chief points in the comparison instituted by Messrs. Baker and Durand between the fossil and a living Indian Fox, viz, that the former differed from the latter, (a) in the greater breadth of the brain case, (b) the height and thickness of the lamboidal crest, (c) the greater concavity and size of the post orbital processes of the frontal, and (d) the closer approximation of the false molars in the lower jaw, I point out the other salient peculiarities of the fossil in the following manner:—

"(1.) In all Canidæ, and more or less in all other Carnivora, the basifacial axis is parallel to the basicranial axis; but in the fossil now under examination the palate makes an angle, though a very open one, with the base of the cranium, somewhat as in the Rabbit.

"(2.) The rami of the lower jaw are not so much compressed as in living species of the Canidæ.

"(3.) Each ramus, instead of being straight, forms an arc of a circle between the angle and the mandibular symplysis.

"(4.) As in the upper jaw, the premolars in the lower jaw also are closer together than in the Fox.

"(5.) The internal tubercle of the sectorial is stouter than in the Fox.

"(6.) The upper tuberculars, especially the hindermost one, are proportionately larger."

To avoid egotism I shall leave the reader to judge if this description is of the "most meagre kind."

Mr. Lydekker continues :---

"A slight comparison is made between the specimen and the skulls of certain Foxes; but in general the specific names of these animals are omitted, and in several cases it appears impossible to say whether Indian or European Foxes are referred to."¹

Comparison slight! A comparison in which some of the most important peculiarities, not only of the Fox (to which the fossil is most nearly related), but of the whole group of the Canidæ—nay, of the entire order of Carnivora—are involved, is verily a slight comparison with "the skulls of certain Foxes."

I must confess I have no particular predilection for classical names. But I omitted to give the specific name of the "living Indian Fox," to which the fossil is compared by Baker and Durand, because I referred the reader to their description. I had both the European and Indian Foxes for comparison, and it is indifferent which of these Mr. Lydekker selects for the purpose. If it were necessary to particularise I should have done so.

But that my aversion is limited to the indiscriminate use of classical names would, I think, be abundantly apparent to any one who would take the trouble to go through my descriptions. In the very description under review, for instance, remarking about a peculiarity noticed in the fossil by Baker and Durand, I said that I found "this peculiarity, which is absent in the European Fox, well

' The italics are mine.

marked in both the specimens of the Bengal Fox (*Canis Bengalensis*) I have had for comparison, as well as in the Fennecs." As I was not quite sure if the peculiarity was not varietal, I gave in footnotes the British Museum numbers of the specimens of the Bengal Fox and the Fennecs here referred to.

HYENA SIVALENSIS AND HYENA FELIÑA.

Besides casts, more or less imperfect, of some of the British Museum specimens of Siwalik Hyænas, there are in the collection of the Indian Museum "two nearly complete skulls, and the anterior half of a third skull." Of these, one is, as shown by Mr. Lydekker, Hyæna Sivalensis, as described and restricted by me. The absence of the upper pm. 1 is as unquestionably an approach towards my Hyana felina. But in neither of them do I observe the faintest indication of the alleged diminution in size of the upper true molar. The measurements of this tooth in the "third skull" (Indian Museum, No. 47) are evidently incorrect. Instead of being 0.4×0.23 inch, as given by my critic, they should, I find, be 0.6×0.25 , so that all the three skulls in the collection of the Indian Museum agree in respect of the size of the upper tubercular. Its maximum transverse length in Hyæna felina, on the other hand, as made out from the alveolus, is only 0.225; and the maximum antero-posterior length is not more than 0.08. The alleged agreement of the third skull with Hyana felina, in the small size of that highly important tooth, being, therefore, a grave error of observation, this argument for linking the two species of Hyæna falls to the ground.

I may add that Hyæna felina makes such unmistakable approach towards feline organisation, in the extremely small size of the upper true molar and several other characters, that the specimen on which the species is based is headed *Felis cristata* in the index to the unpublished Plate K, in explanation of the figures 1, 1a, 1b, and 1c (Falconer's Pal. Mem. I, p. 548). I found the skull, however, to be essentially hyænoid, but differing too remarkably from the known species of Hyæna to be brought under any one of them.

MACHERODUS PALEINDICUS.

Mr. Lydekker objects to the separation of this species from M. Sivalensis on the grounds, viz., (i) that practically there is no difference in size between them, and that all the known teeth of the Siwálik Machærodus indicate that they belonged to an animal "nearly equalling in size the Royal Tiger of Bengal;" and (ii) that the slight differences in the form of some of the lower jaws is probably owing to differences in the sex and age of the animals to which they belonged."

Though a glance at the comparative measurements given by me will clearly show a considerable difference in size between M. Sivalensis and M. Palæindicus, yet that difference may be either varietal or sexual, and Mr. Lydekker need not have taken so much trouble to prove the point. But the difference in the form of the lower jaw is perhaps not so slight as he conceives it to be. In the other known species of Machærodus (including M. Sivalensis), the symphysial extension of the lower jaw (one of the most characteristic features of the genus) takes place below the canine; "but in M. Palæindicus, the downward prolongation of the outer border of the ramus takes place further back, below the second false

molar (pm. 4)." From the specimens at my command I could not account for this variation in the same manner as the difference in size. I must say, in conclusion, that further evidence is necessary before the species can be firmly established.

FELIS GRANDICRISTATA (?).

With regard to this doubtful species I said in my paper that "further evidence is necessary before the species can be clearly separated from F. cristata. If it should prove a distinct species, as I am inclined to think it will, I propose to call it F. grandicristata."

P. N. BOSE.

DONATIONS TO THE MUSEUM.

Donors.

Specimens of the raw materials used in the manufacture of porcelain, and samples of the porcelain itself.

THE ROYAL PORCELAIN WORKS, Worcester. A series of specimens illustrating the smelting and desilverization of lead, and manufacture of litharge.

THE PANTHEE LEAD COMPANY, Bristol.

A specimen of garnet from the Jaipur territory, Rajputana.

C. FORNARO, ESQ. Copper pyrites, with garnet, from the Mahábágh lead mine, Hazáribágh District. G. H. DEVEREUX, ESQ.

Five specimens of grey copper from the Richmond Hill silver mine, New Zealand. C. A. HACKET, ESQ.

ADDITIONS TO THE LIBRARY,

FROM 1ST APRIL TO 30TH JUNE 1881.

Titles of Books.

ACHEPOHL, L.—Das Niederrheinisch-Westfälische Steinkohlengebirge. Atlas der Fossilen Fauna und Flora, Lief 1-3, 1880-81, 4to, Leipzig.

BALL, V.—Note on the country which would be traversed by a direct line of railway con necting Calcutta with Nagpore, including a branch to Orissa (1876), flsc. pht. Calcutta.

THE AUTHOR.

Donors.

BANESS, J. FEEDEBICK.-Index Geographicus Indicus (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

Home, Rev., & Agei. Depaetment.

- BEDDOME, LIEUT.-COI. R. H.—Supplement to the Ferns of Southern India and British India (1876), 4to, Madras.
- BENEDEN, VAN. & GEEVAIS PAUL.—Ostéographie des Cétacés vivants et fossiles, Liv. 17 and 18, with plates (1877), 4to, Paris.

BONE, J. H. A.-Petroleum and Petroleum Wells (1865), 8vo, Philadelphia.

BOURGUIGNAT, J. R.—Étude sur les Fossiles Tertiaires et Quaternaires de la Vallée de la Cettina en Dalmatie (1880), 8vo, pht., Saint Germain.

THE AUTHOR.

VOL. XIV.

Danors ...

Title of Books.

BOURGUIGNAT, J. R.-Monographie du nouveau genre Filholia (1881), 8vo, pht., Saint Germain

THE AUTHOR.

BROBCE ERNEST VAN DEN.-Mémoire sur les Phénomènes D'Altération des dépôts superficiels par l'infiltration des eaux Météoriques (1881), 4to, Bruxelles.

THE AUTHOR.

BRONGNIAET, ADOLPHE.—Recherches sur les Graines Fossiles Silicifiées (1881), 4to, Paris. BRONN.—Klassen und Ordnungen des Thier-Reichs :

Protozoa, Band I, heft 2-7,

Reptilien, Band VI, Abth. III, lief 10-17 (1880-81), 8vo, Leipzig.

Encyclopædia Britannica, Vol. XII., 9th Edition (1881), 4to, London.

- FRITSCH, DE. ANT.-Fauna der Gaskohle und der Kalksteine der Permformation Böhmens, Band I, heft. 2 (1880), 4to, Prag.
- HEEB, DB. OSWALD.-Flora Fossilis Arctica. Band VI., Abth. I. (1880), 4to, Zurich.

KIMBALL, JAMES P.-I.-Relations of Sulphur in Coal and Coke,

II.-Oxidation or Weathering of Coal (1879), 8vo, pht.

KLEBFELD, DB.-Der Diamant (1876), 8vo, Berlin.

LINTERN, WM.-The Mineral Surveyor and Valuer's Complete Guide (1877), 8vo, London.

MOJSISOVICS, E. V. UND NEUMAYE, M.-Beiträge zur Paläontologie von Österreich-Ungarn und den Angrenzenden Gebieten, Band I, heft. 2 (1881), 4to, Wien.

PETTEBSON, KAEL.-Terrassen und alte Strandlinien (1880), 8vo, Berlin. THE AUTHOR.

QUENSTEDT, F. A.—Petrefactenkunde Deutschlands, Band VI., Abth. I., heft 6 (with six plates), and 7, Korallen (1880-81), 8vo, Leipzig.

RANDALL, P. M.-The Quartz Operator's Hand-Book (1880), 8vo, New York.

- RENAULT, M. B.—Cours de Botanique Fossile fait au Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle, 1-ère. Année (1881), 8vo, Paris.
- RYAN, JEE.-Gold Mining in India; its past and present (1880), 8vo, pht., London.

SLATER, J. W.-Manual of Colors and Dye Wares (1870), 8vo, London.

VÉLAIN, CH.-Mission de L' Ile Saint-Paul (1879), 4to, Paris.

WEALE, JOHN.—Dictionary of Terms used in Architecture, Building, Engineering, Mining, Metallurgy, Archaeology, the Fine Arts, &c. (1876), 8vo, London.

WOLF, H.—Begleitworte zur Geologischen Gruben-Revierekarte des Kohlenbeckens von Teplitz-Dux — Brux (1880), 8vo, Vienna.

Тив Алтнов.

PERIODICALS, SERIALS, &c.

American Journal of Science and Arts, 3rd Series, Vol. XXI, Nos. 123-125 (1881), 8vo, New Haven.

Тив Еритовя.

Annalen der Physik und Chemie, New Series, Band XII, Nos. 3 and 4, and XIII, No. 5 (1881), 8vo, Leipzig.

Annales des Mines, 7th Series, Vol. XVIII, liv. 6 (1880), 8vo, Paris.

L'ADMINS. DES MINES.

Annales des Sciences Naturelles, 6th Series, Botanique, Vol. IX, Nos. 5-6, and X, Nos. 1-5; Zoologie, Vol. X, Nos. 4-6 (1880-81), 8vo, Paris.

Annals and Magazine of Natural History, 5th Series, Vol. VII, Nos. 40-42 (1881), 8vo, London.

Athenæum, Nos. 2785-2798 (1881), 4to, London.

Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Band V, Nos. 2-4 (1881), 8vo, Leipzig.

PART 8.]

Donors.

Titles of Books.

- Bibliothèque Universelle. Archives des Sciences Physiques et Naturelles, 3-me. Période, Vol. V, Nos. 1-3 (1881), 8vo, Genève.
- Bibliothèque Universelle et Revue Suisse, 3-me, Période, Vol. IX, Nos. 26 and 27, and X, No. 28 (1881), 8vo, Lausanne.

Botanisches Centralblatt, Band V, Nos. 9-13, and VI, Nos. 1-9 (1881), 8vo, Cassel.

- Chemical News, Vol. XLIII, Nos. 1111-1124 (1881), 4to, London.
- Colliery Guardian, Vol. XLI, Nos. 1053 to 1067 (1881), fol., London.
- Das Ausland, Jahrg. LIV, Nos. 10-22 (1881), Roy. 8vo, Stuttgart.
- Geological Magazine, New Series, Decade II, Vol. VIII, Nos. 4-6 (1881), 8vo, London.
- Iron, Vol. XVII, Nos. 426-439 (1881), fol., London.
- Journal de Conchyliologie. Index Général et Systématique des Matières Contenues dans les vingt premiers volumes 1850—1872 (1878), 8vo, Paris.
- Journal of Science, 3rd Series, Vol. III, Nos. 88-90 (1881), 8vo, London.
- JUST, DE. LEOP.-Botanischer Jahresbericht, Jahrg. VI, Abth. II, heft 1 (1880), 8vo, Berlin.
- London, Edinburgh and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, 5th Series, Vol. XI, Nos. 68-71 (1881), 8vo, London.
- Mining Journal with Supplement, Vol. LJ, Nos. 2376-2389 (1881), fol., London.
- Naturæ Novitates, Nos. 4-10 (1881), 8vo, Berlin.
- Nature, Vol. VIII (1873); XXIII, Nos. 593-601, and XXIV, Nos. 602-606 (1873 and 1881), 4to, London.
- Neues Jahrbuch für Mineralogie, Geologie und Palceontologie, Jahrg. 1881, Band I, heft 3 (1881), 8vo, Stuttgart.
- Neues Jahrbuch für Mineralogie, Geologie und Palceontologie. I. Beilage-Band, heft 2 (1881), 8vo, Stuttgart.
- Allgemeines Repertorium des Neues Jahrbuch für Mineralogie, Geolegie und Palæontologie 1830 to 1849 (1841 and 1851), 8vo, Stuttgart.
- Repertorium zum Neuen Jahrbuch für Min. Geol. und Pal. für das Decennium 1870—1879 (1880), 8vo, Stuttgart.
- Palæontographica, Band XXVII, Lief. 3-6 (1881), 4to, Cassel.
- Petermann's Geographische Mittheilungen, Band XXVII, Nos. 3-6 (1881), 4to, Gotha.

Do. do. do. Supplement, No. 64 (1881), 4to, Gotha.

- Professional Papers on Indian Engineering, 2nd Series, Vol. X, No. 40 (1881), 8vo, Roorkee. THOMASON COLLEGE OF CIVIL ENGINEERING.
- Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science, New Series, Vol. XXI, No. 82 (1881), 8vo, London.

GOVERNMENT SELECTIONS, &c.

Assam.—Report on the Administration of the Province of Assam for 1876-77 (1878), 8vo, Shillong.

CHIEF COMMISSIONER OF ASSAM.

- BENGAL.—Report on the Administration of Bengal for 1879-80 (1880), 8vo, Calcutta. GOVEENMENT OF BENGAL.
 - Selections from the Records of the Government of Bengal, Nos. XLIII (1869),
 - ,, Selections from the Records of the Government of Bengal, Nos. XLIII (1869), and XLV (1871), 8vo, Calcutta.

GOVERNMENT OF BENGAL.

- BOMBAY.-Gazetteer of the Bombay Presidency, Vol. XII, Khándésh (1880), 8vo, Bombay. BOMBAY GOVBENMENT.
 - , General Report on the Administration of the Bombay Presidency for 1873-74, 1874-75, 1876-77, and 1879-80 (1875, 1877, and 1880), 8vo, Bombay.

BOMBAY GOVEENMENT.

I

Titles of Books.

Donors.

BOMBAY.-Selections from the Records of the Bombay Government, New Series Nos. VI (1854), XLV and XLVI (1857), XLVII (1858), LII and LIII (1859) LVII (1860), LVI, LIX, LXI, LXIII, and LXIV (1861), LXV and LXVII (1862), LXVIII, LXIX, LXXI, LXXVII, LXXVIII (1863), LXXX, LXXXIV, LXXXV (1864), LXXXVII, LXXXIX, XC, XCI XCII (1865), XCV and XCVIII (1866), CIII, CIV (1867), CIX and CX (1868), CXII (1869), CXXIV (1871), CXXV, CXXVI, CXXIX (1872), CXXXIII & CXXXIV (1873), CXXXVIII, CXXXIX, CXLIII (1874), CXLVII (1875), CL & CLI (1877), & CLIV (1881), 8vo, Bombay.

BOMBAY GOVEENMENT.

BRITISH BURMA.—Report on the Administration of British Burma for 1875-76 (1877), 8vo, Rangoon.

CHIEF COMMISSIONEE OF BRITISH BUEMA.

HYDEBABAD.—Report on the Administration of the Hyderabad Assigned Districts for 1879-90 (1881), fisc. Hyderabad.

THE RESIDENT, HYDERABAD.

INDIA.—List of Civil Officers holding gazetted appointments under the Government of India in the Home, Revenue, and Agricultural Department, the Legislative Department, and the Foreign Department, on the 1st January 1881 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

Home, Rev., & Agei. Department.

Indian Meteorological Memoirs, Vol. I, Part 5 (1881), 4to, Calcutta.

METEOR. REPORTER TO GOVT. OF INDIA.

" Meteorological Observations recorded at six stations in India in 1879, corrected and reduced (1881), 4to, Calcutta.

METEOR. REPORTER TO GOVT. OF INDIA.

" Registers of Original Observations in 1880, reduced and corrected, January to May 1880 (1881), 4to, Calcutta.

METEOB. REPORTER TO GOVT. OF INDIA.

MADRAS.—Annual Report on the Administration of the Madras Presidency for 1863-64. 1869-70, 1870-71, and 1879-80 (1864, 1870, 1871, and 1880), 8vo, Madras.

MADRAS GOVERNMENT.

" Selections from the Records of the Government of Madras.

Old Series, Nos. III to X (1854).

- 2nd Series Nos. IV to X, XII to XIII and XVI (1855); XXV and XXVII to XXXI (1856); XXXVIII and XLVII (1857); LIII and LIV (1858); LXV to LXVII (1860); LXXI (1862).
- New Series, Nos. I (1867) to VII (1868); XV (1869); XX to XXI (1870); XXIII and XXVI (1871); XXVII (1872); XXXI, XXXIII and XXXIV (1873); XXXVI to XLIII (1874); XLV (1875) to XLIX and LI (1876); LIV (1876) to LXV (1879), 8vo, Madras.

MADRAS GOVERNMENT.

MYSOBE.—Report on Public Instruction in Mysore for 1879-80 (1881), fisc., Bangalore.

CHIEF COMMISSIONER OF MYSORE.

Digitized by Google

N. W. PROVINCES.- Report on the Administration of the N. W. Provinces for 1873-74 to 1876-77 and Report on the Administration of the N. W. Provinces and Oudh for 1877-78 to 1879-80 (1875-80), 8vo, Allahabad.

N. W. P. GOVERNMENT.

270

Donors.

Titles of Books.

N. W. PEOVINCES.—Selections from the Records of the Government of the N. W. Provinces, New Series, Vols. I (1866) to V (1869).

2nd Series, Vols. IV (1871) to VI, 1873 (1866-73), 8vo, Allahabad.

N. W. P. GOVBRNMENT.

OUDH.—Report on the Administration of the Province of Oudh for 1874-75 (1876), 8vo, Lucknow.

GOVT. N. W. P. AND OUDH.

PUNJAB.—Report on the Administration of the Punjab and its Dependencies for 1879-80 (1880), 8vo, Lahore.

PUNJAB GOVEENMENT.

", Selections from the Records of the Government of the Punjab and its Dependencies. New Series, No. XIV (1877), 8vo, Lahore.

PUNJAB GOVERNMENT.

TRANSACTIONS, PROCEEDINGS, &c., OF SOCIETIES, SURVEYS, &c.

AMSTERDAM.—Jaarboek van het Mijnwezen in Nederlandsch Oost Indië, Deel I (1879) and Deel II (1880), 8vo, Amsterdam.

NETHERLANDS COLONIAL DEPARTMENT.

BATAVIA.—Natuurkundig Tijdschrift voor Nederlandisch-Indie. Ser. VIII, Deel I (1881), 8vo, Batavia.

THE SOCIETY.

- BEELIN.-Monatsbericht der König. Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, November 1880 to January 1881 (1881), 8vo, Berlin.
 - THE ACADEMY. , Zeitschrift der Deutschen Geologischen Gesellschaft, Band XXXII, heft 4, (1881), 8vo, Berlin.

THE SOCIETY.

BOMBAY.-Journal of the Bombay Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, Vol. XIV, No. 38 (1881), 8vo, Bombay.

THE SOCIETY

BOSTON.—Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, New Series, Vol. VII, Part 2 (1880), 8vo, Boston.

THE ACADEMY.

BRISTOL.-Proceedings of the Bristol Naturalists' Society (1880), 8vo, Bristol.

THE SOCIETY.

" Report of the Proceedings of the Bristol Museum and Library at the Tenth Annual Meeting held on the 17th February 1881 (1881), Svo, Bristol.

THE MUSEUM.

- BEUSSELS.—Annuaire de L'Académie Royale de Belgique (1879-1881), 8vo, Bruxelles. THE ACADEMY.
 - ,, Bulletins de L'Académie Royale des Sciences, des Lettres de Belgique, Vols. XLVI to L, 2nd Series (1878-80), 8vo, Bruxelles.

THE ACADEMY.

Mémoires Couronnés et autres Mémoires publiés par L'Acad. Roy. des Sciences de Belgique, Vols. XXIX, XXX, and XXXII (1880-81), 8vo, Bruxelles. THE ACADEMY.

VOL. XIV.

Titles of Books.

,,

Donors.

BRUSSELS.—Mémoires Couronnés et Mémoires des Savants Étrangers, publiés par L'Acad. Roy. des Sciences de Belgique, Vol. XXXIX, pt. 2, XLII and XLIII (1879-80), 4to, Bruxelles.

THE ACADEMY.

Mémoires de L'Académie Royale des Soiences, des Lettres de Belgique, Vol. XLIII, pt. 1 (1880), 4to, Bruxelles.

THE ACADEMY.

" Tables des Mémoires des Membres des Mémoires Couronnés et de ceux des Savants Étrangers, 1816 to 1878 (1858 & 1879), 8vo, Bruxelles.

THE ACADEMY.

" ERTBORN O. VAN.—Texte Explicatif du Levé Géologique des Planchettes de Lubbeek (with map): et de Kermpt (Bolderberg) (1881), 8vo, Bruxelles.

GBOLOGICAL SURVEY, BELGIUM.

CALCUTTA.—General Report on the Operations of the Marine Survey of India for the year 1879-80 (1881), flsc, Calcutta.

MABINE SURVEY DEPARTMENT.

., General Report on the Operations of the Survey of India during 1879-80 (1881), fisc, Calcutta.

HOME DEPARTMENT.

,. Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, New Series, Vol. XLIX, Extra number to Part I, 1880, and Vol. L, Part I, No. 1, and Part II, No. 1 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

THE SOCIETY.

" Proceedings of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, Nos. II-IV (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

THE SOCIETY.

, Records of the Geological Survey of India, Vol. XIV, Pt. 2 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA.

CAMBEIDGE, MASS.—Annual Report of the Curator of the Museum of Comparative Zoology for 1879-80 (1880), 8vo, Cambridge, Mass.

MUSEUM OF COMP. ZOOLOGY.

,, Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Vol. VI, Nos. 8-11; Vol. VIII, Nos. 3, and p.p. 95-284 (1880 and 1881), 8vo, Cambridge, Mass.

MUSBUM OF COMP. ZOOLOGY.

" Memoirs of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Vol. VI, No. I, and Vol. VII, No. 2, Part 1 (1880), 4to, Cambridge, Mass.

MUSBUM OF COMP. ZOOLOGY.

Digitized by Google

DEESDEN.-Sitzungs-Berichte der Naturwissenschaftlichen Gesellschaft Isis in Dresden, Jahrg. 1880, Jany-Deor. (1881), 8vo, Dresden.

THE SOCIETY.

DUBLIN.—Journal of the Royal Geological Society of Ireland, New Series, Vol. V, Part 3 (1880), 8vo, Dublin.

THE SOCIETY.

EDINBURGH.—Transactions of the Royal Scottish Society of Arts, Vol. X, Part 3 (1881), 8vo, Edinburgh.

THE SOCIETY.

Titles of Books.

Donors. FRANKFURT.-Abhandlungen von der Senckenbergischen Naturforschenden Gesellschaft. Band XII, heft 1 and 2 (1880), 4to, Frankfort.

Liège.-Annales de la Société Géologique de Belgique, Vol. VI (1879-81), 8vo, Liège.

THE SOCIETY.

LONDON.-Journal of the Linnean Society, Vol. XIII, Zoology, Nos. 65 to 72 (1876-78), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society of Great Britain and Ireland, New Series. •• Vol. XIII, Pt. 2 (1881), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

- Journal of the Society of Arts, Vol. XXIX, Nos. 1477-1490 (1881), 8vo, London. THE SOCIETY.
- Mineralogical Magazine and Journal of the Mineralogical Society of Great Britain and Ireland, Vol. I. (1877) to Vol. IV, No. 19 (1881) (1877-81), 8vo, London.
- Proceedings of the Literary and Philosophical Society of Liverpool, Vols. XIX, XX, XXII to XXVI (1866-72), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

Proceedings of the Royal Geographical Society and Monthly Record of Geography, New Series, Vol. III, Nos. 2-4 (1881), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

Proceedings of the Royal Institution of Great Britain, Vol. IX, Part III, No. 72, with List of Members for 1880 (1880), 8vo, London.

THE INSTITUTE.

Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Vol. XXXI, Nos. 207-210 (1880-., 81), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London, Vol. XXXVII, No. 145 .. (1881), 8vo, London.

THE SOCIETY.

MADBID.-Boletin de la Sociedad Geografica de Madrid, Vol. X., Nos. 1-3 (1881), 8vo. Madrid.

THE SOCIETY.

MANCHESTEE.-Transactions of the Manchester Geological Society, Vol. XVI, Pts. 4 & 5 (1881), 8vo, Manchester.

THE SOCIETY.

- MELBOUENE.-Mineral Statistics of Victoria for the year 1880 (1881), flsc, Melbourne. MINING DEPT., VICTOBIA.
 - Report of the Chief Inspector of Mines to the Hon'ble the Minister of Mines for 1880 (1881), flsc, Melbourne.

MINING DEPT., VICTOBIA.

Reports of the Mining Surveyors and Registrars for quarter ending 31st 99 December 1880 (1881), flsc, Melbourne.

MINING DEPT., VICTORIA.

NEW ZEALAND.-Colonial Museum and Geological Survey Department. Reports of Geological Explorations during 1879-80 (1881), 8vo, New Zealand.

GEOL. SURVEY OF NEW ZEALAND.

Titles of Books. Donors.
PARIS.—Bulletin de la Société Géologique de France: Table Générale et Analytique de, volumes I-XX, 1844-1863; 2nd Series, Vol. XXVI, Nos. 1, 6 & 8, XXVII No. 1, & XXVIII, Nos. 1, 2 & 4; 3rd Series, Vol. V, No. 7 (1867, 1868 to 1872 & 1877), 8vo, Paris.
" Liste des Membres de la Société Géologique de France au 1-er Décembre 1880, avec Supplément à la date du 1-er Fevrier 1881 (1881), 8vo, Paris.
THE SOCIETY.
" Mémoires pour Servir à l'Explication de la Carte Géologique Détaillée de la France
Le Pays de Bray par A de Lapparent (1879), 4to, Paris. PENZANCE.—Transactions of the Royal Geological Society of Cornwall, Vol. X, Pt. 3 (1880), 8vo, Penzance.
The Society.
PHILADELPHIAJournal of the Franklin Institute, 3rd Series, Vol. LXXXI, Nos. 2-5 (1881), 8vo, Philadelphia.
THE INSTITUTE.
" Ninth Annual Report of the Board of Directors of the Zoological Society of Philadelphia (1881), 8vo, Philadelphia.
THE SOCIETY.
" Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society, Vol. XVIII, No. 106. and list of Members for 1880 (1880), 8vo, Philadelphia.
THE SOCIETY-
PISA.—Atti della Società Toscana di Scienze Naturali. Processi Verbali, 13 Marzo 1881 (1881), 8vo, Pisa.
THE SOCIETY.
Roмв—Atti della R. Accademia dei Lincei, 3rd Series, Transunti, Vol. V. fasc. 7-12 (1881), 4to, Roma.
THE ACADEMY.
SALEM—Bulletin of the Essex Institute, Vol. XII, Nos. 10-12 (1880), 8vo, Salem. THE INSTITUTE.
SINGAPORE-Journal of the Straits Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, No. 6 (1881), 8vo, Singapore.
THE SOCIETY.
ST. PETEESBUEG-Bulletin de L'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Petersbourg, Vol. XXVI, No. 3 (1880), 4to, St. Petersbourg.
THE ACADEMY.
" Mémoires de L'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Petersbourg, 7th Series, Vol. XXVII, No. 13 (1880), 4to, St. Petersbourg.
THE ACADEMY.
SYDNEY-Annual Report of the Department of Mines, New South Wales, for 1879, and plates (1879-80). 4to. Sydney.
DEPT. OF MINES, N. S. W.
" Journal and Proceedings of the Royal Society of New South Wales, Vol. XIII, (1880), Svo, Sydney.
THE SOCIETY.
" Transactions of the Boyal Society of New South Wales for 1868 and 1870 to 1873 (1869-74), 8vo, Sydney.
THE SOCIETY.

Titles of Books.

Donors. SYDNEY .- Transactions of the Philosophical Society of New South Wales, 1862-1865 (1866), 8vo, Sydney.

THE SOCIETY.

TURIN-Atti della R. Accademia delle Scienze di Torino, Vol. XVI, Disp. 1-4 (1880-81), 8vo, Torino.

THE ACADEMY.

VIENNA-Abhandlungen der Kais. König. Geologischen Reichsanstalt, Band XII, heft 2 (1880), 4to, Wien.

THE INSTITUTE.

Jahrbuch der Kais. König. Geologischen Reichsanstalt, Band XXX, No. 4 (1880), ,, 8vo, Wien.

THE INSTITUTE.

Verhandlungen der Kais. König. Geologischen Reichsanstalt, Nos. 14-18 (1880), ., and Nos. 4-8 (1881), 8vo, Wien.

THE INSTITUTE.

WASHINGTON-Bulletin of the United States Geological and Geographical Survey of the Territories, Vol. VI, No. 1 (1881), 8vo, Washington.

THE SURVEY.

HAYDEN, F. V.-Eleventh Annual Report of the U.S. Geological and Geo-.... graphical Survey of the Territories, embracing Idaho and Wyoming for 1877 (1879), 8vo, Washington.

THE SUBVEY.

Index to Papers on Anthropology published by the Smithsonian Institution, ,, 1847 to 1878 (1881), 8vo, Washington.

G. H. BOEHMER, Esq.

Reports of Professor Joseph Henry, Secretary to the Smithsonian Institute, **3**5 for 1866 to 1872, 1874 & 1876 (1867-1877), 8vo, Washington.

THE INSTITUTE.

Report upon the United States Geographical Surveys west of the 100th ,, Meridian, Vols. II (1877), III & V (1875), VI (1878), 4to, Washington.

THE SUBVEY.

WELLINGTON-Colonial Museum and Geological Survey Department. Meteorological Report for 1880, including returns for 1877, 1878, 1879, and averages for previous years (1881), 8vo, Wellington.

THE SUBVEY.

YOKOHAMA-Mittheilungen der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Natur und Völkerkunde Ostasiens. Heft 23, Index zu Baud II, heft 11-20 (1881), flsc, Yokohama.

THE SOCIETY.

July 6th, 1881.

Digitized by Google

.

.

• • •

.

RECORDS

OF THE

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA.

Part 4.]	1881.	[November.

Remarks on the Unification of Geological Nomenclature and Cartography (a note sent to the International Geological Congress of 1881, at Bologna).—By H. B. MEDLICOTT, M.A., Geological Survey of India.

As I have been compelled, by pressure of official work, to renounce the expected pleasure of attending the Congress at Bologna, I may be permitted to submit a few remarks upon the principal question proposed for discussion—the unification of geological nomenclature and cartography. Although the experience and the requirements of the Geological Survey of India will be most ably represented at the Congress by my colleague Mr. W. T. Blanford, who has been deputed in my place, the reflections of a second worker in so large a field, and one differing so widely from anything the geologists of Europe have experience of, may not be superfluous.

The Indian Survey is peculiarly well circumstanced to profit by the deliberations of the Congress. It is very apparent that the chief obstacle to consension in those deliberations will be the familiar one of 'vested interests.' Most of the great national surveys are already committed to systems of notation from which they cannot depart without immense inconvenience. The Indian Survey stands completely unpledged -I may even say unprejudiced; and it has just reached that stage of growth when it must take up the responsibility of adopting a system. The materials stand ready for use: on the one hand, there is a considerable accumulation of fairly accurate geological work, much of which has appeared in the occasional maps of convenient forms published with the Memoirs of the Survey; and on the other hand, there is a magnificent series of maps-the Atlas sheets of the Great Survey of India, on a scale of 1-255,561 -upon which we must ere long attempt to reduce the geology of India to uniformity of representation. Samples of both kinds are laid before the Con-The index map of the Indian Atlas will give an idea of the magnitude of gress. the undertaking.

The license we have so far enjoyed in colouring our maps has been prompted by the conditions of our work, to which I would invite the serious attention of the Congress, for they are such as will inevitably render futile any attempt that may be made at a rigorous definition of signs, whether verbal (nomenclature) or

[VOL. XIV.

visual (colouration), as intended for universal adoption; and it is apparent that such an attempt is in contemplation. Such conditions are, indeed, what might be foreknown to result from the principle of continuity in rock formation, as we all now believe in; but an actual case in point will be more convincing, and such an one is presented by the Gondwana System of India. It is of very wide extent and of great thickness; its base is now fairly determined to be of permian age, and its top beds are upper jurassic; it is completely disconnected from all the rocks below and above it. Thus it might in a manner be said to be stratigraphically in India the homologue, but not the equivalent, of the secondary series of European geology. Yet it is emphatically a 'system,' and even a ' formation,' as it is sought to restrict these terms, a sequence of similar deposits in which it is not possible on any one horizon to trace a clear division over the whole area. Not to indicate so remarkable a character of unity in these rocks in colouring our maps would be to deform the face of nature; and to force upon them the strongly distinctive marks of the perm, trias, lias, and jura of Europe would, in my opinion, be Procrustean formalism. I believe we should have another similar case in India if we could only determine the range of our Vindhyan series; but that many such cases of total discrepancy with the European scale occur throughout the world can hardly be doubted. It will still, at least, remain possible in every country to use colours in the order of a prescribed scale, even though not one of them were to be the equivalent of the same colour in a distant region.

The representation of divisions within a system is intrinsically the most difficult part of the proposed scheme. Upon this point the ingenuity of European geologists, who have carried subdivision of strata into such detail, must have been fully exercised, and no doubt with corresponding results. It is therefore with great diffidence that I would mention a system of which I have made a small trial. It is so simple that it has very likely been tried already, though I have not heard of it. It consists in using fine black lines, having a constant signification in direction. Six such directions can be at once distinguished by the unassisted eye: north-south, east-west, and four intermediately inclined, with intervening angles of 30. When the lines are placed at 4 or 5 mm. apart, they do not in the least interfere with the lettering or the physical features on the map. By using these lines in a constant ascending order, horizontal (east-west) for the lowest and vertical (north-south) for the highest, six clear divisions are at once attained within each tint of colour, and, as most colours will give three well-distinguishable shades, we obtain 18 divisions for the one colour. By using continuous lines for primary divisions, combined with broken lines (having the same signification of direction) for secondary divisions, 36 subdivisions for each shade and 108 for each colour are attainable. The unlined colour would remain for beds of indeterminate horizon belonging to it.

I send two samples of maps prepared in this way, with copies of the same coloured in the old style. To those who look upon geological maps from the pictorial point of view, the simple tint and line system is no doubt repulsive, and to the casual beholder it looks bewildering; but I do not think that such critics need be considered, and for the working geologist two main points are at

once completely secured—the distribution of the principal formations are given at a glance, in a way that is impossible under any party-coloured system; and secondly, at any spot he may pitch upon, the observer can know with certainty, without any effort of memory or searching for an index-letter, the exact horizon of the rocks at that spot. In an isolated patch of colour, a simple fine line across it makes its position in the series at once recognizable to the 6th degree, or two such lines, to the 36th.

The smaller of the two maps forwarded [(Atlas] sheet, No. 76, South-West) represents an area occupied by two series of transition rocks, one with 9 divisions, the other with 4 divisions and 9 subdivisions, which are distinguished by means of only 3 full lines and 2 broken lines, singly or in pairs. The larger map (Atlas sheet 104) contains several basins of Gondwána rocks, having 6 divisions; a large area of Vindhyan rocks, with 5 divisions, and 4 other formations.

A real objection to this method is, of course, that small outcrops are lost sight of; but this difficulty meets us in every system, and there is but one way to get over it,—nothing but a bright distinctive colour can make a small spot visible on a map. I see no way out of it but to set apart a small series of such strong colours, to be used only for small outcrops, and always in a known order; they might thus often appear several times in different relations on the same map, their signification in each case being determined by the context or by the index. Used in this way, they would not obliterate the main features of the ground as indicated by moderate tints of the standard colours with standard lines, for large areas of those same subdivisions.

I would not further trespass on the attention of the Congress with suggestions which have not been put to a practical test.

On the Geology of the Arvali region, Central and Eastern.—By C. A. HACKET, Geological Survey of India.

The portion of Rajputana and the surrounding country, of which the following is a brief sketch, is included between E. longs. 73° and 78° and N. lats. 24° and 29°. Within these limits are situated the Native States of Bharatpur (Bhurtpore), Jaipur (Jeypore), Alwar (Ulwur), Dholpur, Kerauli (Kerowlee), Kishengarh, Búndi (Boondee), and portions of Gwalior, Tonk, Kotah, Jhallawar, Godwar, Udepur (Oodeypore), Loháru, Putteála, Jhind, and Naba, as well as portions of the districts of Ajmír (Ajmere), Delhi, Agra, Gurgaon, and Hissár.

Description of the Arvali range. The Arvali range of hills extends for a length of about 300 miles in a direction of nearly north-east-by-north (N. 36E.) through this area near its western side.

The southern portion of the Arvali range within our area may be described as the edge of a plateau presenting a steep face, in places upwards of 1,500 feet in height, towards the north-west and with a gentle and almost imperceptible fall towards the south-east, and having a number of narrow, roughly parallel discontinuous ridges rising above it, one of them to a height of about 1,200 feet, or 3,200 feet above the level of the plain, 20 miles west of the range, and 4,239 feet above the level of the sea.

North of Todgarh the range loses considerably in elevation, and the centre is only a few hundred feet above the level of the plain to the west: thus Beáwar, situated in the centre of the range, is only 340 feet higher than the plain at Baipur on the western edge. The greatest height along the railway between these places is only 68 feet above Beáwar, although the hills just north of the line, those of Cháng, rise to a height of 850 feet above this.

On the eastern side of the range there is a line of hills some 2 or 3 miles broad and about 400 feet higher than Beáwar; beyond these, at Masúda, the level is nearly the same as at Beáwar, and after crossing a belt of hilly ground the open plain is reached about 30 miles east of Beáwar, at a level of little more than 100 feet lower.

For a distance of about a hundred miles north of Ajmír, the range is reduced to a mere skeleton, and consists almost entirely of a number of narrow parallel ridges 2 or 3 miles apart, and which can be passed through at nearly the level of the plains to the east and west. The highest of these ridges occurs about 4 miles to the west of the Sámbhar lake, and is about 1,250 feet above the lake and 2,430 feet above sea level.

Further north, between Khandela and Khetri, the range again expands, and near Raghunáthgarh attains to an elevation of 3,450 feet above sea level; but a few miles north of Khetri, at Singhána, the range may be said to terminate, for north of that are only a few broken narrow ridges rising abruptly from the plain, and which terminate near Dádri, about 40 miles north of Singhána.

A second long line of hills forming the north-western edge of the Vindhyan

Fatchpur Sikri line of hills. Fatchpur Sikri in a south-western direction through Rimtumbour to near Chítorgarh, where the hills turn to

the south and afterwards in a south-easterly direction.

The elevations along this line are not nearly so great as in the Arvali range, the highest being those of Rimtumbour fort 1,578 feet, Mándalgarh 1,783 feet, and Chítorgarh 1,855 feet above sea level, the hill at the latter place being about 520 feet above the plain.

Another narrow and broken line of hills extends through the central portion of the area, roughly parallel to and about 25 miles distant from the Fatehpur Sikri line, terminating near Mandsaur to the south. This line of hills is connected with the Fatehpur Sikri line to the north-east by the Biána hills, and on the north-west with the Arvali range by the Alwar hills, which terminate to the north in the ridge at Delhi.

The country between these three lines of hills towards the south is occupied by a number of small hills, and a more or less continuous section of the rocks is exposed; but to the north, with the exception of a few short isolated ridges, the whole country is covered by a wide sandy plain in which no rocks are exposed.

The greater part of the country west of the Arvali range consists of a sandy

The country west of the Arvali range.

plain on which numberless long hills of blown sand occur; besides these there are a few short narrow ridges

having the same general direction as the range, and between Sojat and Jodhpur a number of flat-topped hills varying in height from 100 to 300 feet above the level of the plain.

In my description of a portion of this area, the Alwar hills, in a previous paper,¹ I placed the Ajabgarh and Mandan groups at the

Changes in the previous classification. paper,¹ I placed the Ajabgarh and Mandan groups at the top of the Arvali series above the Alwar quartzites. Upon

further examination of the series in the country to the west, where the sections are less broken, I found that this was not the true interpretation of the section, but that both these groups were below the quartzites in fact representatives of the Raiálo group. I was led into this error by the high dips of the rocks and by taking inversion for the normal sequence.

I also then included the Alwar quartities with the Arvali series, but as in the western area the quartities are found to constantly overlap the lower rocks, as also several cases of unconformity have been noticed, it is necessary to separate these two series. As the quartities extend up to Delhi and form the ridge there, I now propose to call the quartities and their associates in the Mandsaur hills and elsewhere the Delhi series, retaining the name of the Alwar quartities for the lower member of the series.

The rocks occurring in the Arvali range consist of gneiss, mica and horn-

Rocks of the Arvali range. blende schists, and limestone, mostly in the form of marble, the representatives here of the Arvali series, and quartzite probably the Alwar quartzite. The whole are much dis-

turbed, most frequently nearly vertical, and repeated several times in the section. It is the Alwar quartzite, the rock highest in the section within the range,

Alwar quartzite. Alwar quartzite.

long narrow ridges that I have described as rising to a considerable height above the general level of the range; the highest peak in the range south of Kamalgarh is formed of it, as well as the Táragarh hill near Ajmír and the high peak in the northern end of the range near Raghunáthgarh; the Khetri fort is built on it.

The best sections of the Arvali range are exposed in the Desuri, Dawer (Dewair of map), and Pipli passes ascending from the

Sections of the range. Western plains. The top of the Desuri pass section is nearly 2,000 feet above the level of the plain, 20 miles to the west, but not more than 1,500 above the town of Desuri situated at the foot of the pass. The pass is about 5 miles in length, and from the top eastwards the fall is very gradual; thus the Kánkroli lake, 20 miles distant to the south-east and nearly at the lowest level on this side of the axis, is upwards of 400 feet higher than Desuri.

From Desuri towards the plain, there is a broad band of porphyritic gneiss, forming hills from 200 to 500 feet in height. On the western side of the gneiss there is a band of highly crystalline white marble capped by a small thickness

1 Records, Vol. X, p. 84.

of quartzite, presumably ontliers of the rocks of the range. Between the eastern edge of the gneiss at Desuri and the foot of the range, a distance of about $1\frac{1}{2}$ miles, the rocks are covered. The first rocks exposed at the bottom of the pass are some calcareous beds followed by hornblende schists; above this a considerable thickness of more or less impure limestones with black mica-schists to the top of the pass. The whole of the rocks in the pass dip at a high angle, seldom less than 70°, most frequently to the east-north-east, but occasionally west-south-west dips are met with. Near the top of the pass the angle of dip become much lower, and at the top the rocks for a short distance are nearly horizontal. About a mile east of this, at Jhílwára, some schists, made up of quartz and actinolite, and frequently calcareous, rolling about at an angle of 40, cover the mica-schists.

At a short distance south of Jhílwára several high ridges of bedded quartzite

Alwar quartzite south of Jhílwára.

occur in the section. They are all discontinuous, some of them upwards of 20 miles in length, frequently half a mile and sometimes 2 miles in breadth, roughly parallel,

and at a distance apart varying from a quarter to 2 miles, the intervening low ground being occupied by the schists; some of them include a great thickness of mostly vertical quartzite. They vary greatly in number in the section, and are frequently entirely absent.

No good section of the junction between the quartzite and the schists is exposed, as it usually takes place at the base of the high ridge, and is covered by the fallen debris, but at the northern end of the eastern ridge, about 6 miles east of Jhílwára, the schists are nearly horizontal and underlie the also nearly horizontal quartzite.

The quartistic is clearly above the schists, and the different ridges are merely repetitions of the same band of quartiste broken and rolled up with the schists. As this quartiste holds the same relative position to the schists as the Alwar quartiste of the Delhi series does in other parts, and as a connection, although broken, can be traced to the undoubted Alwar quartities of the Alwar hills, it is most probable that this quartite in the range is the Alwar quartite.

From the eastern side of these ridges to Kánkroli, distant about 12 miles to the south-east, the section passes over dark mica-schists, including an occasional band of limestone, rolling and dipping most frequently at low angles both in an eastern and western direction. The hills round the Kánkroli lake are formed of white marble, dipping to south-west and south at an angle of 30°. The schists of this section often become very felspathic; but the micaceous and felspathic schists are so mixed up that I found it almost impossible to map their boundaries.

From Kánkroli east to the granitic gneiss opposite Chitor the section exposed is of a similar character; some ridges of the Alwar quartzites are occasionally met with, as at Sánder, Uprera, and Gagar.

In the whole of the section, from the foot of the Desuri pass to Kánkroli, Intrusive granite. Intrusive granite. The granite is more abundant than the schists. From a few miles east of Jhílwára

they become less frequent. The granite is composed of pink or white orthoclase felspar with numerous nests of large plates of mica (but sometimes the mica is entirely absent) quartz in very varying proportion, and tourmaline, which is seldom entirely absent and usually is very [abundant. The veins vary in size from an eighth of an inch to several yards in thickness: they mostly run parallel to the strike of the schists, but frequently cross it at all angles.

The granite is almost confined to the schists, but a few veins are occasionally seen in the gneiss and sometimes in the Alwar quartzites.

In the map annexed to this paper the granite is only indicated where most abundant, as along the axis of the range; but it also occurs in large quantities on both sides. It is also occasionally met with in the schists between the range and Chitor, and also on the northern flank of the band of schists south of Deoli. Frequently the granite veins near their termination pass into quartz veins.

A good example of the granite veins crossing the strike of the schists can be seen about 10 miles north of Jhílwára, where a perfect network of veins crosses the schists in all directions, leaving bits of them, a few feet across, enclosed and surrounded by the granite.

The Dawer pass is about 16 miles north of the Desuri, which it resembles both in profile and structure. From Kot, at the base, to Dawer section. the top of the pass at Dawer, the ascent is steep, with a difference of level of about 1,200 feet; but to the east of Dawer the fall is very gradual. The rocks of the pass consist of schists and bands of white marble, the actinolite schists occurring at the top and at Dawer. For the whole way up to the quartzite, at 2 miles east of Dawer, the dips are high, seldom less than 70°, in both an eastern and western direction; but from the quartzite ridge eastwards, the rocks begin to roll at an angle of 20° to 40°. The section, from this point for a long distance to the east, consists of mica schists frequently felspathic and often including bands of limestone. At about 4 miles east of the quartzite ridge, the section passes over a large pile of hills, about 4 miles long and 1 broad, formed of massive quartzite, but which does not continue in the section either to the north or south, and is therefore presumably the Alwar quartzite.

The whole section contains innumerable granitic intrusions, particularly at the foot of the pass at Kot, in the centre of the range at Dawer, and surrounding the large quartzite hill.

The section in the Pipli pass, about 12 miles further north, does not differ materially from those of the other two passes, except

Pipli section. in the more frequent quartite ridges. In this pass (or rather just to the north of it) near the western end is a high ridge of nearly vertical quartite, the highest point of which is the Garam H. S., 3,075 feet above sea level; but the quartite is not seen in the pass, although crossing the line of its strike. The ridge is about 4 miles long and terminates equally abruptly at the northern end. Several other ridges of quartite, as about Deogarh, cross the section, all equally discontinuous and presumably all belonging to the Alwar quartites. Gneiss is met with about 7 miles east of Pipli, the intervening ground being occupied by schists and bands of limestone. Granitic intrusions are as numerous in this section as in the other two.

At Todgarh, situated in the centre of the range about 8 miles north of Granite intrusions at Todgarh. Pipli, the granitic intrusions are so numerous as to be in excess of the other rocks in the section. From here to the north, the height of the range is greatly diminished, as

from Todgarh to Barákhar (both in the centre of the range) there is a fall of several hundred feet.

Continuing north from Barákhar to Beáwar, the axis of the range is only a few hundred feet above the level of the plain on either side, although the hills on both sides rise to several hundred feet higher. The granite intrusions are exceedingly numerous in the low country in the axis of the range.

The section across the range at Beáwar differs from the other sections in the quantity of gneiss exposed in it. The gneiss forms hills Beáwar section.

rising to nearly 1,000 feet above the level of Beáwar. From Beáwar, the western side of the range is reached by the Bár pass, which winds through these hills and never attains any great elevation. From Beáwar west to the eastern edge of the hills, hardly any other rock but the granite is exposed. Just west of the town, the church is built on a ridge of schistose quartzite, but which along its continuation further north, at Makrera, passes into massive quartzite, and is probably the Alwar quartzite. In the little river at Thikrána there is an outcrop of gneiss; where the road passes into the hills near Sarádhna, the outer ridge is formed of white quartzite, dipping to east, and full of granite intrusions. To the west of this is a considerable thickness of calcareous beds and

Gneiss in the Bár pass. schists, and then a quartzite in contact with the large pile of gneiss of Cháng and Sendra. The outside quartzite ridge is presumably Alwar; but the second band (that resting against the gneiss) can hardly be so, as it is inseparable from the gneiss, and the Alwar quartzite in other places is known to rest unconformably on a gneiss; but, on the other hand, the quartzite does not appear to be constant in the section, for at Cháng and near Sendra the rocks in contact with the gneiss are schists. There is a quartzite in the railway cutting east of the Sendra station, but a considerable thickness of schists separates it from the gneiss; the overlap of the Alwar quartzite is, however, so frequent that it might be found anywhere.

From Sarádhna, the road passes through the gneiss hills for several miles to near Sendra, when the schists and limestone again come in and are repeated several times in the next 3 miles between Sendra and Chauki. A couple of bands of quartzite occur in this portion of the section, but not as a bottom rock, and they are probably Alwars. About a quarter of a mile south of the road, another large pile of hills of gneiss occurs encircled by the schists and limestone.

For a mile west of Chauki the road passes over another patch of gneiss, where the relation of the schists to the gneiss is well seen; the two are inseparable, there is alternation, and large blocks of the schists are included in the gneiss.

From this patch of gneiss to the western edge of the hills (a distance of about 4 miles), the road passes over schists and limestone repeated several

times. At the western side of the range the schists become felspathic; and a little further west, in the plain, there is a hillock of gneiss. In the whole of the section of the Bár pass I did not notice a single instance of a granite intrusion; but on the western side of the range near **Bár**, it again became frequent. West of Bár, to Jhunta, distant about 8 miles, the road passes over the plain, on which some hills of blown sand occur, nearly 200 feet in height. At Jhunta there is an outlying ridge formed of the schists and limestone, in which granite

Vindhyans at Sojat. intrusions are numerous. For the next 20 miles along the road, no more rocks are exposed, but at Sojat the schists again crop up, with the nearly horizontal Vindhyans resting upon their upturned edges.

From Beáwar eastwards, the section along the road for the first 5 miles, Section east of Beáwar. to the foot of the hills, is very imperfect; it appears to consist, to a great extent, of intrusive granite;—the only

other rocks seen are some schists at Beáwar and Gadi, three low ridges of Alwar quartzites, all dipping to the west, with some actinolite schists underlying the eastern ridge. The road then ascends the hills, about 350 feet in height, consisting to a great extent of limestone more or less pure. In these hills, about 2 miles in width, no granite intrusions were observed ; but on the eastern side, near Khimpura, they again become numerous. East of Khimpura the section passes over some dark mica-schists, which further east become felspathic, and east of Masúda foliated gneiss occurs. East of this band of gneiss, the black schists again come in with some quartzite, apparently above them;

Gneiss on Bhinai hills. both are more or less felspathic. Further east, the Bhinai hills are formed of a neurling hind of gravity house neurling hind house neurling house neurling hind house neurling house neurling hind house neurling house neurli

hills are formed of a peculiar kind of gneiss, being not much more than a quartzite containing some felspar; it dips at low angles, the southern side to the north and the northern to south, and does not differ much from the quartzite above the schists west of Masúda, except that it may be somewhat more felspathic. On the southern side of the Bhinai hills are some hills of a granitic gneiss, but no junction between the two kinds of gneiss was exposed. Bhinai is near the edge of the plain, and a few miles to the east is an isolated hill about 70 feet high, formed of a nearly horizontal and slightly felspathic and garnetiferous quartzite, resting upon schists and hornblendic beds.

The section across the range at Ajmír differs from the others in the number

Ajmír section. and size of the ridges of quartzite which cross it. At the city, the Táragarh hill, formed of the Alwar quartzites,

rises to a height of upwards of 1,300 feet above the level of the country near Ajmír. This quartzite is repeated in the ridge east of the Ana Ságar; it here forms an anticlinal, the western limb of which is seen in the pass leading to Pohkar; under the eastern limb, on its western side, are some schists dipping to east, and which on the low ground become gneissose; near the axis of the anticlinal these gneissose schists are horizontal. In the Pohkar pass the rocks all dip to west, near the base at a low angle and at top much higher. The foot of the pass is in mica-schist, which higher up becomes gneissose and succeeded by more schists capped by the Alwar quartzites dipping at 70° to west. The next two ridges

в

(those east and west of Pohkar) are formed exclusively of the Alwar quartzites, and the westernmost ridge of the range, about 4 miles further on, facing the plain is also formed of Alwar quartzites dipping to west, with some schists and limestone on the eastern side. The ground between these ridges is covered by blown sand.

East of Ajmír, the Alwar quartzites are repeated five times in the section, the intervening low ground being occupied by schists and limestone in which intrusive granite is of frequent occurrence.

At Srinagar, the eastern ridge of quartzite is very felspathic. This is better seen near Bara Udepur, a few miles to the north, where the felspar is arranged between the laminæ, and varies in thickness from a thin film to an inch, and sometimes nearly a foot. It is probably due to the granite intrusions. Further east, after crossing 2 or 3 miles of schists, more or less felspathic, the section passes on to foliated gneiss, which continues for several miles, up to the plains on the east.

North of Ajmír, the range becomes very broken, and near the Sámbhar lake it consists almost entirely of the Alwar quartzites, repeated

The range north of five or six times, forming high, narrow, parallel, nearly vertical ridges a mile or so apart, the intervening ground being covered by blown sand. Under some of the ridges a small thickness of the schists is exposed, and at Makrána, on the western side of the range, the famous white marble quarries are situated. The marble occurs in some low ridges, in very regular beds, about 2 feet in thickness, dipping at 70° to east. The longest of these ridges is about 5 miles in length.

About 50 miles further north, the range again becomes more important both in elevation and breadth. The sections are very similar,

except that they contain very few granite intrusions, and consist of gneiss, schists, and limestone, with the Alwar quartzite capping them and forming the high peaks. The famous old copper mines of Khetri and Singhána are situated in this portion of the range; the former occurs in the schists, and the latter in the quartzites.

The Arvali range may almost be said to terminate at Singhána, for, north of this, the quartzites alone continue and form a few narrow

Flexible sandstone. The 'flexible sandstone' occurs at Kaliána, in one of the quartzite ridges near their termination. The Alwar quartzite at this place is largely quarried for millstones, and the flexible rock is well exposed in the quarries. It appears to be very local in its occurrence, and the flexible character is not continuous for many feet, even in the same bed; it seems to be a partially decomposed condition of the millstone-quartzite.¹

The northern portion of the Arvali range, about Singhána, is connected with

Arvali range and Alwar hills connected.

the Alwar hills by the hills in Torawáti. The rocks at the northern end of these hills strike in a line parallel to those of the Arvali range, but within a short distance the

JOOGLE

¹ Records, Vol. VII, p. 80.

strike bends southwards, and the hills extend in that direction to a short distance beyond Jaipur.

The sections in the Torawáti hills are similar to those of the Arvali hills, and extend from the gneiss to the Alwar quartzite. Intrusive granite is very abundant in the schists near where the Lota river cuts through the hills. South of Ajítgarh, the ridges are formed almost entirely of the Alwar quartzite, and the fort at Jaipur is built on it.

These quartiztes are continuous through the Alwar hills, where they are largely developed, three-fourths of the hills being formed

Alwar hills. of them. In these hills the quartizites are almost always nearly vertical, and much twisted along the strike, sometimes describing a complete semi-circle; they here include a number of thick bands of contem-

Arvali rocks in the Alwar hills. poraneous trap. This is also the case in the adjoining part of the Arvali range, near Khandela. The older rocks occur in the Ajabgarh valley, near Baldeogarh, and east

and south of the city of Alwar, and consist of schists and slates containing crystals of andalusite staurolite and garnet; and limestones, often in the form of marble and frequently containing actinolite; and gneiss. All are probably the representatives of the Arvali series—in fact, the slates in the Ajabgarh valley can be traced, through a broken line of hills, into connection with those of the range. The line of hills is broken, the hills being in some cases several miles apart; but as they occur along the line of strike, and the slates in all of them are very similar, there can be little doubt that they are all formed of the same band of rock.

The northern extremity of these hills is some miles west of Rewári, where the slates are largely quarried for roofing purposes. From this point another nearly continous line of these slates extends in a south-west direction, or somewhat oblique to the other line, into the Arvali range, and there underlie the quartzites.

At the southern extremity of the Alwar hills the quartities overlap the slates and limestone, and rest directly upon the gneiss.

East of the Alwar hills, the rock most frequently exposed is the Alwar quartzite, forming long roughly parallel ridges and some large piles of hills separated from each other and sur-

rounded by the alluvium. In the hills round Kámán, in Bharatpur, no other rocks are exposed; but in the hills near Díg (Deeg), a con-

Slates at Dig. siderable thickness of the Arvali slates is exposed, dipping at low angles, capped by a few beds of Alwar quartzite and surrounded by alluvium.

The Fatehpur Sikri line of hills.—At the northern end of this line, the rocks Upper Vindhyans. of the Upper Vindhyan series face the plain to the northwest. The ruinous town and palace of Fatehpur Sikri

are built on a ridge of the Bhánrer sandstone, the highest group of the series. The two lower groups of the series, the Rewa and Kaimur, occur in broken isolated ridges a short distance to the north-west of the Bhánrer scarp. About 30 miles down the line, in a south-westerly direction, the Biána hills, in which the Alwar quartzites are largely developed, occur at about 2 miles to the north-west of the Vindhyans; but the intervening ground is covered by the

Hindaun. Hindaun. Alluvium. Near Hindaun, a few miles further south-west, there is a long broken ridge, formed of nearly vertical banded red jasper, black slates, and limestone, with a band of quartzite resting unconformably on them. The jasper, &c., undoubtedly belong to what has hitherto been described as the Gwalior series, and which there is some evidence to think forms part of the Arvali series. The quartzites are probably the Alwar quartzites.

No junction between these rocks and the Vindhyans is exposed; but as the Vindhyan sandstone in the Bangu hill overlaps the line of the Arvali rocks, and the bottom beds of the sandstone are conglomeratic, with pebbles of red jasper, there can be little doubt the Vindhyans rest unconformably upon the older rocks. From near Hindaun and for a long distance to the south-west, the boundary of

Fault. this main Vindhyan area is a faulted one. The northern end of the fault dies out within the Vindhyan area near Machilpur, about 10 miles east of Hindaun; but at a short distance south of Kerauli the Bhanrer sandstone is faulted against a ridge of the Alwar quartzite.

The Bhánrer sandstone, on the south-east side of the line of fault, is nearly horizontal. It continues for a long way in that direction, and forms the high land overlooking the Chambal river. On the other side of the fault, the Alwar quartzite dips at a high angle to the north-west. Resting upon the quartzite is a thick band of limestone with a siliceous breccia above it: and

Outlying Vindhyans. above that, sandstone, with two alternations of shales and sandstone, to the top of the section. These sandstones and shales are most probably the lower groups of the Upper Vindhyans, as they resemble them both in section and character.

The limestone and breccia are inseparable from the lower sandstone, for in

Lower Vindhyans. a hill north of Nároli some beds of the breccia are intercalated with the lower beds of the sandstone, so that

probably the limestone and breccia are the representatives of the Lower Vindhyans in this area; they would correspond to the Tirhowan (Rotás) limestone and breccia of that series in Bundelkhand. These rocks form two shallow synclinals, extending for about 12 miles along the north-west of the fault. The synclinals do not extend far south, and only the Lower Vindhyans cross the Banás river.

No satisfactory junctions are exposed between the Alwar quartzite and the overlying limestone near the fault; but at the south-western end of the western synclinal, in the Malárna hills, the Lower Vindhyans rest unconformably upon the schists (Arvali) below the Alwar quartzites.

South of the Banás river, the Alwar quartzite expands into a broad belt of Rimtumbour hills. hills, upon which the old fort of Rimtumbour is built; they are nearly 5 miles wide, and present a steep scarp,

several hundred feet in height on either side. The quartzites form a shallow synclinal, the dips on either side being never more than 20 degrees and more frequently at 10 degrees. They include several bands of contemporaneous trap, some upwards of 50 feet in thickness.

The unconformity between the Lower Vindhyans and the Alwar quartzites is well seen in these hills. The limestone and breccia cross the Banás and rest upon the quartzites at the northern end of the hills; but on their western side the limestone rests upon the schists at the base of the high scarp of quartzites, these schists (Arvali) being of course below the quartzites in the section. Near Sherpur there is a considerable thickness of a boulder conglomerate below the limestone, formed of large boulders of quartzites, very like, and most probably derived from, the Alwar quartzites of the Rimtumbour hills, only a few hundred yards distant. From a few miles south-west of Sherpur, the Lower Vindhyans are not again seen along the line on the north-western side of the fault.

Good sections of the fault are exposed on the eastern side of the Rimtumbour Section of fault. Section of fault. Hills, where the shales below the Bhánrer sandstone are seen nearly in contact with the quartzite.

The next important section along the line is near Indargarh. A short distance

Indargarh.

north-west of the town, the Bhánrer group, consisting of the sandstone shales and limestone, dipping at an angle

of 20 degrees to north-west, runs from the south almost at right angles into a large hill of Alwar quartzites, against which it is faulted. The two lower groups of the Upper Vindhyans (the Rewa and Kaimur) are exposed in the narrow belt of hills on the south-eastern side of the fault dipping below the Bhánrers.

At Búndi, about 40 miles further south-west along the fault line, inside Búndi. Búndi, the gateway at the gap about 3 miles north of the city,

the Bhánrer limestone is faulted against a great ridge of quartz rock, without bedding, that may be a quartz reef running along the line of fault. As at Indargarh, both the Rewa and Kaimur groups of the Upper Vindhyans are found dipping under the Bhánrer limestone in the belt of hills about Búndi, on the southern side of the fault. On the northern side of the fault there is a wide spread of Arvali slates extending from the ridge of quartzite to near Deoli, about 25 miles distant.

In the projecting hills, a short distance north of the gateway and on the Northern side of the fault, there is a considerable thickness of nearly horizontal sandstone, extending three-

fourths of the way to Indargarh. It mostly dips at low angles and forms hills, in places several hundred feet high. On the northern side no junctions are exposed between it and the slates; but at the termination of the sandstone, in the projection north-east of the gateway, it rests upon the slates. The slates at the base and half way up the hills are somewhat contorted, and the capping of horizontal sandstone rests upon the edges of the different beds. The quartz rocks and slates continue for a few miles east on the southern side of the sandstone, but no junctions were observed.

This sandstone is probably an outlier of the Kaimur, the lowest group of the Upper Vindhyans, on the northern side of the fault.

VOL. XIV.

For about 50 miles south-west of Búndi the Upper Vindhyans are faulted against the older rocks, to near Barundni, where the Western boundary of western boundary may be said to begin. Along this

Western boundary of the Vindhyans. western boundary may be said to begin. Along this western boundary the three Upper Vindhyan groups occur:

the Kaimurs form a ridge of sandstone dipping at about 70° to east, being in contact with the gneiss at the base of the ridge on the west; the Rewas form a second parallel ridge, 200 or 300 yards further east, also dipping to the east, below the Bhánrers. At their northern end these ridges are cut off by the fault near Barundni.

The fault probably continues some distance further in a westerly direction,

Continuation of the fault westwards.

west of Barundni, but it is not easy to trace it beyond the Vindhyan boundary. The line of junction between the slates to the north and the gneiss to the south being in a

direct line with the fault, probably marks its continuation, but no section of this junction is exposed.

The Arvali slates on the northern side of the fault between Búndi and Deoli Section between Búndi and Deoli.

the section consists entirely of slates, imperfectly cleaved, and dipping at about an angle of 50°, to north-30°-west. North of Hindoli, the section passes over some quartz schists dipping at about 30° to north; and near Rosundo slates with thin bands of quartzites dip at lower angles; between this and Kabra the schists begin to roll, and include large veins of quartz with a strike parallel to that of the schist. After passing over more slates and limestone with low dips, the section consists of mica schists frequently garnetiferous, and the last 3 miles of the schists up to the alluvium contain innumerable granite veins.

Other sections across this band of slates vary slightly from that just given :

Datunda.

thus at Datunda, about 10 miles west of Búndi, there are some purple-coloured slates, much contorted, on the northern side of the fault, dipping under a band of quartzite

Digitized by Google

on which Datunda is built; the quartiste dips north at about 40° below some slates and a thick band of limestone—the former containing some trap. On this section too there are some large ridges of quartiste, presumably the Alwar quartite, at Jhajpur and near Sakargarh.

Mandalgarh, situated about a mile north of the fault, is built on a large hill several miles in length of the Alwar quartzites resting upon the slates. The quartzite contains several thick bands of contemporaneous trap similar to that of the Rimtumbour and Alwar hills. Another large hill of the Alwar quartzite occurs about 4 miles east of Mandalgarh.

On the plain to the north of Deoli, several large hills occur. The principal of these are those of Rájmahál, Sáwar, and Tonk. The Rájmahál hills are formed of high ridges of quartzite, presumably Alwars, with highly garnetiferous schists on the low ground. Numerous pits have been sunk in the schists in search of garnets, but the workings are now abandoned. The Sáwar and Tonk hills are also formed of the Alwar quartzite rolled up with the Arvali schists. The former occur in high nearly vertical ridges. The schists in the Sáwar hills contain some thick bands of limestone.

The western boundary of the Kaimur sandstone, the lowest group of the Upper Vindhyans, extends from near Barundni in a

Western boundary of the Vindbyans, southerly direction past Basi, to within a dozen miles of Nimach (Neemuch), when the boundary turns to the

east and extends in that direction in an irregular line to a short distance east of Jhalrapatan, where it is covered by the Deccan trap. Between Barundni and Basi, the Kaimur sandstone dips at a high angle towards the east, but thence to Jhalrapatan it becomes nearly horizontal and forms a scarp upwards of 500 feet in height.

Several outliers of the Kaimur sandstone occur in the lower country to the west, on one of which, about 3 miles distant from the main hills, Chitorgarh is built.

Between Barundni and Basi the Kaimur sandstone is in contact with the Lower Vindhyans. gneiss, but south of Basi the Lower Vindhyans intervene and occupy the low country in front of the scarp the whole way round to Jhalrapatan.

There is some doubt as to which series the rocks on the low ground in the neighbourhood of Basi belong. The scarp is formed of Doubtful rocks near

Basi. Basi. Basi. bounder rocks near Basi. olive-green shales, containing thin bands of sandstone, which become more and more numerous on ascending and imperceptibly pass into the Kaimur sandstone capping the scarp. There can be no doubt that the whole of these are Vindhyans; but at the base of the scarp are some dove-coloured slates with some bands of grey quartzite in the low hills a short distance to the west. The slates are a good deal disturbed and dip at 30° to the north a short distance from the nearly horizontal Vindhyan shales. I think it probable that the slates are Arvali and the quartzite Alwars.

But a few miles to the south-west the Lower Vindhyans are well developed

taining large boulders.

and occupy a large area. They consist of shales, limestone, and sandstone, often conglomeratic and sometimes con-

Lower Vindhyans near Chitor.

The only section that I observed of the junction of the Lower Vindhyans

Junction of Lower Vin dhyans with rocks below. with the rocks below was about 3 miles north-east of Binota, where the former rest upon the quartzite of the Delhi series. The quartzite dips at about 10° to the west,

and upon this rests a fine conglomeratic sandstone, here the bottom bed of the Lower Vindhyans; above this comes a considerable thickness of red shales dipping under a thin and regularly-bedded blue limestone, very fine in texture and apparently suitable for lithographic purposes. About half way across to Binota the dip changes to east and the lower beds are again exposed. After passing over the limestone and red shales, the finely conglomeratic brown sandstone appears, but not as a bottom rock, for below this is some thickness of unconglomeratic sandstone; but the lowest beds seen do contain large boulders of

VOL. XIV.

quartzite, one measuring 3 feet across. Neither the bottom beds nor the rocks upon which they rest are exposed in this western exposure.

Although no other junction section was observed in the main area of the Lower Vindhyans, still near Kanoj, about 3 miles west of

Outlier of Lower Vintheir western boundary, there are some large outliers of dhyan at Kanoj. the Lower Vindhyans resting perfectly unconformably

upon quartzite and some trap probably Alwar rocks. The bottom sandstone of the Lower Vindhyans crosses the strike of the quartzite, and contains large boulders of it. When the sandstone rests upon the trap it includes a good deal of decomposed trap, presumably derived from the trap below, and boulders of quartzite.

The best sections of the Lower Vindhyans are exposed in the neighbourhood of

Chitor. A portion of the red shales is seen below the lime-Section of Lower stone, near the western boundary. The limestone is repeat-Vindhyans. ed several times in the section and is seen on both sides of the Chitorgarh hill. Above this are some red slaty beds which pass into the olive-green shales and thin-bedded sandstones, which gradually pass inte the Kaimur sandstone of the scarp.

It would seem probable that the Lower Vindhyans were cut off to the north

Vindhyans Lower faulted.

by a fault, for north of Chitor the limestone striking north and south runs close up to a band of quartzite striking north-east; but there is about a hundred vards

of covered ground between the two, in which the lower beds may exist. Again. further west, near Nágri, another parallel fold of the limestone, with a north and south strike, extends to within a short distance of the gneiss. North-west of this the limestone does not appear in the section, but the shales above are brought in contact with the older rocks.

It may be that the supposed fault extends to the north-east and joins the main boundary fault near Barundni, for between that and Basi the Lower Vindhyans are cut out of the section, and the Kaimur sandstone is brought against the gneiss.

To the south, in the neighbourhood of Nimach, the continuation of the Lower

Vindhyans is covered by the Deccan trap. The limestone Southern boundary of the Lower Vindhyans.

is seen south of Jáwad, but east of that only a narrow fringe of them is exposed between the scarp of Kaimur sandstone to the north and the Deccan trap to the south.

Near Rámpura, the Kaimur sandstone by a change of dip to the south forms a narrow anticlinal, in which the upper beds of Anticlinal in Vindhyans. the Lower Vindhyans, and occasionally the limestone, are seen. This anticlinal extends east to a few miles east of Jhalrapatan, where the Deccan trap covers its continuation east and spreads over the Kaimur sandstone.

The series of rocks that I have named the Delhi series, from the quartzites

Delhi scries.

of the ridge at Delhi forming a portion of the series, is largely developed to the west and south of Nimach.
It forms three roughly parallel ranges of hills running nearly north and south, which are mostly connected on the low ground by the lower rocks of the series. Elsewhere the connection is broken by outcrops of the older rocks, or by wide spreads of the Deccan trap. The eastern and longest range extends from near Nimbahera on the north to Mandsaur on the south. Although it is broken in two places by flows of the Deccan trap passing between the hills, there can be no doubt that the rocks all belong to the Delhi series. The second or middle range is that of Ohhoti Sádri, and the third or western that of Bari Sádri.

The rocks of the two former are covered on the north by the Lower Vindhyans, and to the south those of the eastern range are surrounded by the Deccan trap near Mandsaur, and the middle range rests upon the gneiss. Those of the western range rest upon three sides upon the gneiss, and on the fourth or eastern side are connected in the low ground with the other ranges by the lowest beds of the series.

The Delhi series in these hills consists of a conglomeratic sandstone, or impure limestone at base, covered by about 200 feet of shales, and capped by a varying thickness of quartzite.

The dips are mostly low, seldom higher than 20°, and in the Mandsaur hills nearly horizontal, but in the Bari Sádri hills are frequently high and sometimes vertical.

A nearly continuous section of the series can be obtained across the three

Section of Delhi series west from Jiran. ranges along a line west from Jiran. At Jiran, the lower portion of the top quartzite dips to the east below the Deccan trap. West of this ridge, the shales dip east below the

quartzite. On crossing the low ground to west, the shales change their dip to west, and dip under the quartzite in the pass leading to Chitakhera ; thence west, the line passes over several miles of nearly horizontal quartzite, which on the western side of the eastern range dips to west, re-appearing in the middle range with an eastern dip. This synclinal in the quartzite is filled, for a width of about 2 miles, with the Deccan trap. After crossing 3 miles of nearly horizontal quartzite and descending the ghât west of Chhoti Sádri, the shales are again seen dipping under the quartzite to east. The shales dipping in both directions continue for some distance in the section, when in the low ground the lowest beds are reached, consisting of either a conglomeratic quartzite or an impure limestone containing small pebbles of rolled quartz. They both appear as the bottom beds in places. On the eastern side of the western range the shales again appear, dipping west under the quartzite. The quartzite of this western range is far more disturbed than in the other ranges, is often vertical, and there is a much greater thickness of it. On the western side, the last beds of quartzite dip at 60° to east, with small outcrops of shales on the low ground; but the section from the hills to the gneiss, a short distance further west, is mostly covered.

Along this section the rocks upon which the Delhi series rest are not ex-

Bottom beds of Delhi series. posed; but a short distance south of the line, near Dhaulapáni, gneiss is seen; and although no absolute junction section is exposed, still there can be no doubt as

С

Digitized by Google

to the relation of the two, for the bottom beds of the Delhi series, the conglomeratic quartzite, contains pebbles of the gneiss, and for some distance south small outlying patches of the conglomerate are met with, resting upon the gneiss.

The best sections of the shales are met with in the Mandsaur hills, where the shales are nearly horizontal and about 200 feet thick, cap-

Mandsaur. ped by about 100 feet of quartzite. The bottom beds are not seen in these hills, and the top quartzite, on the eastern side of the hills, takes a sudden dip to the east below the Deccan trap.

A broken section of the lower beds is exposed north of Bari Sádri. The town

Section north of Bari Sádri.

is built on the edge of the hills of the upper quartzite, which here dips to south. North of this there is a broken section of shales with a band of limestone, and dipping

under these is a thick band of a dark-blue schistose quartzite in places containing pebbles of quartzite, but not in the bottom beds, for those below of a similar quartzite contain no pebbles; and dipping below this, at Khardeola, is another thick band of white quartzite, forming a hill 200 feet high. The bottom beds of the series are not exposed, but a short distance to the north-east the Arvali rocks come in, and to the north-west the gneiss. This white quartzite continues along the eastern boundary, but the junctions with the older rocks are covered by a large outlier of the Deccan trap.

Another good section of these rocks may be seen north-west of Karmála; the

Karmála.

village stands on a horizontal floor of a sandy conglomeratic limestone, the bottom rock, which stretches

a long way to the south and is continuous with the junction rocks north of Dhaulapáni. A short distance to the west, the section passes on to the Arvali slates and limestone, but no junctions were observed.

To the north-west, immediately above the conglomerate, there is some thickness of a sort of hornstone and quartzite, and then the shales capped by the upper quartzites, the whole horizontal.

So far the Delhi series, in these hills, is completely isolated, for it rests

Connection of Alwar quartzite to Delhi series.

unconformably on the gneiss, and is covered unconformably by either the Lower Vindhyans or the Deccan trap, and

Digitized by Google

has no direct connection with the rocks to the north; but I think I can show that the Alwar quartzite is probably its representative in the Arvali range and other parts.

North of Barí Sádri, and extending up north to Mangrup on the Banás, a

distance of about 60 miles, are a number of broken ridges and large hills of quartzite, those near Badesar and

of Sádri. Gangar being several miles wide, having the same relations to the gneiss and the Arvali rocks as the Delhi series, and which are pro-

bably its representatives.

The first of these ridges occurs at Bhanuga, about 8 miles north of Bari Sádri, where the quartzite describes a semi-circle, in the inside of which it rests directly upon the gneiss; but at the northern end of the ridge it rests upon the Arvali limestone. Some brown massive hornstone beds occur at the base, but pass up into white compact quartzite. In another parallel ridge a short distance east, the hornstone beds rest upon the limestone of the Arvali series. This ridge is in a direct line with, and about 7 miles north of, the ridge of hornstone and quartzite occurring in the Karmála section of the Delhi series; and between there are several large outlying hills of hornstone and quartzite, exactly similar to those in the ridge to the north and at Karmála; the largest are those of Suror and Benota,—the former resting upon the Arvali limestone, and the latter on schists on the eastern side, and the limestone on the western side, of the hill.

But further proof of the identity of these quartzites with those of the Delhi

Pandoli section. series is found in one of these large hills of quartzite at Pandoli. In the small hills about a mile west of the town a fine conglomeratic quartzite rests upon the gneiss and dips at an angle of 10° under a brown limestone, also conglomeratic, which a short distance north of Pandoli dips under a great hill of quartzite. These lower beds are exactly similar to the bottom beds of the Delhi series in the Sádri hills.

Another similar section occurs under the ridge at Borda, about 4 miles Borda section. Borda section. The gneiss is exposed in a well a short distance east of the town. A few yards west of the well there is a terrace formed of about 30 feet of thick-bedded quartzite, dipping at a low angle to the west, below a brown limestone and some shales covered by the white quartzite of the ridge. No sections are exposed on the western side of the ridge; but the gneiss again appears a short distance from the ridge.

Another junction section occurs at the southern end of the Gangar hills, at Phutauli section. Phutauli, a few miles north of Chitor, where a fine

conglomeratic quartzite rests upon an eroded surface of the gneiss; and about 3 miles north, on the western side of the hills, the quartzite rests unconformably on the Arvali slates. No limestone appears in this section.

This broad belt of quartzite terminates at Mangrup, where the quartzites are nearly horizontal and rest upon the slates; but no junction between the two was observed.

Similar quartzites again make their appearance at Jawal, about 20 miles to the

Unconformity at Jaby slates and a schistose gneiss. At Jawal the hill is capped

by a patch of quartizte upwards of a square mile in extent, which dips at a low angle to the north, and has a conglomerate at base, resting upon the edges of the nearly vertical slates.

wal.

This quartizte continues in a broken line a long way to the north-east to near Deoli, along the northern edge of the band of slates. North-east of this they form a narrow ridge extending to beyond Baunli, with a narrow strip of slates dipping below them on the southern side. There is a break of a few miles between the northern termination of the Baunli ridge, where the Morel river crosses, and the quartities in the Lálsot hills, which occur along this line and are doubtless the continuation of the same quartites. The quartities of the Lálsot hills are in direct connexion with those of the Alwar hills, so that there can be little doubt that the whole of these ridges and hills of quartzite extending from Bari Sádri are the Alwar quartzites.

Besides this long connecting chain of quartzites, there are other nearly parallel lines of quartzite, having the same relations to the rocks below them. The principal of these extend from the boundary of the alluvium at Banera in a south-west direction for about 40 miles. The line is very broken and disconnected, but still presumably the quartzites are Alwars.

There can be no doubt as to the relations of the Arvali series to the gneiss, for,

Relations of the Arvalis to the gneiss.

in the numerous junction sections between the two (some of which have already been described), they are inseparable and so mixed up together as to make the mapping almost

impossible. Good instances of this occur in the Bár pass, near Chauki, where long lengths of the schists are included in the gneiss and are partially converted into it; and in the low country on the eastern side of the range about Kánkroli and Karera, where the schists alternate with, and pass into, the gneiss.

Relations of Alwar quartzite to gneiss. But the connection between the gneiss and the Alwar quartzite is not so clear, as the sections within the Arvali range appear to contradict those in other parts of the area.

On the eastern side of the area, at the southern end of the Alwar hills, in

Sections in the eastern area.

the deep bay in which Talra is situated, good junction sections between the quartzite and the gneiss are exposed. The bay is formed of a semi-circle of the Alwar quartzite,

and in its centre are several hills of a granitic gneiss, which also crops out in places from beneath the quartzite at the sides of the bay. The junctions are very sharp, and the quartzite resting upon the gneiss is conglomeratic and made up of rolled quartz pebbles with a good deal of pink felspar filling up the interstices, both apparently derived from the gneiss. At the head of the bay there is a considerable thickness of the conglomeratic quartzite, which passes up into the ordinary compact Alwar quartzite. Other junction sections are exposed north of Bándikui, where there is about 2 feet of conglomerate, made up of rolled quartz pebbles between the quartzite and the gneiss.

An important section occurs in the Bánsko hills, about 20 miles east of Jaipur. In the east and west ridge terminating near Mádhogarh, at the eastern end of the southern base, there is a conglomerate made up of large boulders of quart-

zite imbedded in mica schists. About 2 miles further west, schists, not conglomeratic, alternate with those that are; and further west, limestone and hornblendic schists form the base of the ridge, and upon these the schistose boulder conglomerate rests without visible unconformity; above it, a strong band of compact quartzite (presumably the Alwars) forms the highest part of the ridge.

On the northern side of the ridge there is another boulder conglomerate made up of large boulders of quartzite (identical in texture and colour, and probably derived from the quartzite of the ridge on which it rests), with boulders of gneiss, and of a banded semi-jaspideous rock and yellow limestone, the two last seen in situ in the hills a short distance north of the Bánsko hill. This conglomerate

Digitized by Google

extends north to within a mile of Bánsko, where it dips under another quartzite of the Delhi series.

I have already described sections of the unconformity between the quartzites and the gneiss in the southern area, as, for instance, in the Sádri hills near Dhaulapáni, and in the ridges of quartzite stretching thence to the north at Phutauli and other places.

But the relation between the quartities and gneiss within the Arvali range Different within the range. appear to be somewhat different, for the few junction sections exposed would indicate that the metamorphism

was subsequent to the deposition of these quartzites. On a section between Rájgarh and Kharwa, mica schists and gneissose beds alternate in the low ground to the south; in the pass, mica schists, dipping at 30°, to north, alternate with bands of quartzite; and above them is a band, about 2 feet thick, of gneiss, and above this the massive Alwar quartzite. There is nothing to indicate unconformity in this section; on the contrary, there appears to be a transition from the schists into the quartzite.

A junction section is exposed at Sarádhna, at the eastern end of the Bár

Bár pass section. Bár pass section. Bár pass section. Pass. At the edge of the hills there is a thin band of quartzite, much cut up by granite intrusions, dipping east. West of this is a band of limestone about 100 yards wide, passing into schists, and then a band of quartzite. The junction between the gneiss and the quartzite occurs in the ridge on which the village of Sarádhna is built. On the low ground east of the ridge there is a band of gneiss; it extends some 50 feet up the ridge, and upon it rests, with a sharp junction, the edges of the nearly vertical quartzite. The bedding of the gneiss is obscure, but it appeared as if its strike and dip was the same as that of the quartzite, and that the gneiss had been converted out of it. It is doubtful though if this contact quartzite is the Alwar rock, or a band in the Arvali schists. The quartzite does not appear to be continuous in the section, for at other places near Sandra and the southern end of this pile of gneiss, the schists form the contact rock.

There can be no doubt though that the ridge of quartzite at Kishengarh is Alwars, and here too the quartzite is inseparable from the

Kishengarh. gneiss. At the base of the ridge, the Arvali black mica schists, here very felspathic, dip under the Alwar quartzite, the bottom beds of which are also felspathic. The felspar occurs in the quartzite as thin layers between the laminæ; and in the schists, as thin films and as bands, frequently an inch, and sometimes a foot, in thickness. The schists pass to the east into the ordinary gneiss; but it is probable that the felspar in the quartzite and schists of the ridge is due to the intrusive granite.

There is, however, one section within the range which completely contradicts

Mároth section. Mároth section. the sections above given, and where the bottom beds of the quartzite contain stones derived from the gneiss. The section occurs in a ridge about 4 miles long, 3 miles east of Mároth, and about 5 miles north of the Sámbhar lake. On the eastern side of the ridge are some mica schists, with a few granite veins running through them, and upon these rests a quartzite, conglomeratic at its base with rolled and subangular bits of quartz and felspar. The ridge is isolated from the neighbouring rocks by the blown sand.

There appear to me to be three ways of accounting for these differences between the sections in the range and those in the eastern area and in the neighbourhood of Chitor:---

- 1. The quartzites of the range may not be the Ulwar quartzites.
- 2. If they be the Alwar quartzites, they may be beds lower in the section than those exposed in the eastern and southern areas.
- 3. There must be two gneisses.

I have already shown the strong probability there is of the quartzites of the range being Alwars, for, although the connection is broken, still the quartzites are decidedly the top rocks in the range, as they are in the Alwar hills and in the eastern area.

Great breaks in the continuity of the deposition of the Delhi series have been observed; and it may be that the quartzites of the Talra bay and in the Bánsko hills, and other places where the unconformity between them and the gneiss is strongly marked, are higher in the section than those of the range.

I have previously described some of these breaks as seen in the Biána hills,¹ where there is an enormous thickness of the Alwar quartz-

Breaks in the Delhi series: Biana hills. These breaks in the deposition are marked by bands of conglomerate, most frequently made up almost entirely of boulders of quartzite similar to, and probably derived from, the

entirely of boulders of quartizte similar to, and probably derived from, the lower beds. Near the town of Biána several bands of conglomerate made up of water-worn pebbles of quartizte alternate with non-conglomeratic quartizte. It is, however, quite a local feature, for the bands of conglomerate do not extend a quarter of a mile to the west. Again, a short distance to the north of the town and higher in the section, there is another conglomerate, several hundred feet thick, made up in a great measure of water-worn pebbles and boulders of quartzite, and which extends along the whole length of the Biána hills, although it is much reduced in thickness at the western end; it also rests upon an eroded surface of the lower quartzites near the western end of the hills.

Overlap, too, is of frequent occurrence in these hills, and at their western end

Overlap.

near Nithahár quartzites, which at the eastern end of the hills have many hundreds of feet of quartzites below them.

Digitized by Google

rest directly and unconformably upon the Arvali slates.

Conglomerates made up of water-worn pebbles of quartzite are sometimes seen in the quartzites of the Alwar hills; but there is not nearly so great a thickness of quartzite there as in the Biána hills.

In the Rimtumbour hills, formed almost entirely of the Alwar quartzites, I saw two conglomerates made up of pebbles of quartzite,

Conglomerates, Rimtumbour hills. in the scarp of nearly horizontal quartizte between 400 and 500 feet in height, near Sherpur—one near the base,

and the other at two-thirds up the face of the scarp.

¹ Records, Vol. X, p. 86.

If it be thought improbable that the metamorphism took place during the deposition of the Alwar quartzites, and that this gneiss Two gneisses.

was denuded, and that pebbles of it were deposited in the higher beds of the quartzite, there is only the alternative of the two gneisses. The whole of the gneiss within the range is presumably what would be called the newer gneiss-at least, I never met with any section here giving any indication of a second gneiss. There are of course varieties, the principal of which are a highly porphyritic gneiss, in which the crystals of felspar are sometimes nearly 4 inches in length, and a very quartzose gneiss, often very little more than a quartzite with a few crystals of felspar occurring in it.

Of the gneiss between the Alwar and Biana hills, which would be the older. from the fact of the quartzites resting unconformably on it, little can be said, as it occurs only in small isolated hills or in small outcrops at the base of the ridges.

The great spread of gneiss near Chitor and Sádri, also the older, as there, too,

the quartzites rest unconformably on it, differ in character Chitor gneiss. from any gneiss I have seen in the range. It is a somewhat coarsely crystalline granitic gneiss composed of red orthoclase, quartz, and chlorite.

Another variety less coarsely crystalline is composed of pinkish-red orthoclase and a steatite-like mineral, perhaps resulting from the alternation of hornblende. with some quartz and chlorite.

Such a short length of the boundary of this granitic gneiss occurs within our area that I was unable to determine its relation to the schists or the schistose gneiss bounding it. To the west it extends beyond the limits of the map, and along its northern boundary no junctions are exposed. Just north of Bilor, and about a mile north of the gneiss, there is an outcrop of the Arvali slates, nearly horizontal and unaltered; but I have already suggested the probability of the continuation of the Vindhyan boundary fault passing along this line. The triangular bit of slates south-west of Gangar is bounded on two sides by large quartz veins, and is probably faulted into the gneiss.

The tongue of gneiss stretching up towards Amirgarh is of the schistose variety, and passes to the north-west imperceptibly into the Arvali schists. The short length of boundary between this schistose and the granitic gneisses is covered, but the two were seen within a short distance of each other.

Perhaps further light may be thrown on this question when I examine the country to the west, towards Udepur, where junction sections between the two strongly-contrasting varieties of gneiss will probably be met with.

The wide sandy plain to the west of the Arvali range is dotted over by a number of hills, some of them of considerable extent, and The country west of the Arvali range.

in which all the series occurring on the eastern side of the range are represented. Frequently the recent deposits, com-

posed in a great part of blown sand, extend to the foot of the range; but where the rocks are left uncovered in that position a broad belt of gneiss, in places upwards of 15 miles in width, is exposed. The gneiss is highly porphyritic and forms

hills several hundred feet in height above the level of the plain to the west. One of these wide spreads occurs in the neighbourhood of Erinpura, and extends from the trunk road to the foot of the range to the east. Another occurs between Desuri at the edge of the range, and Nádol, about 11 miles in a north-west direction.

In both cases Arvali rocks are found upon the north-western edge of the gneiss. At Nádol there are two parallel ridges, the southern, formed of black mica schists, the lower beds alternating with the gneiss; the northern, separated from the other by a hundred yards or so of alluvium, is formed of the schistose quartzite; but whether it be the Alwar quartzite or a band of quartzite in the schists, I could not determine. Along this line, to the south-west, the quartzite rests directly on the gneiss at Barod and in the hills south-east of Khímel.

The Arvali rocks, on the north-western edge of the Erinpura spread of gneiss, form a large pile of hills 3 or 4 miles wide, and consist of schists, slates, limestone, and quartzite much disturbed and rolled up together. In the pass above Khidoni, a junction between the gneisa and the Arvalis is exposed, where bands of gneiss, several feet thick, alternate with the lower beds both of the schists and limestone.

In the plain to the north, both of Nádol and Erinpura, are a number of small hills composed of the Arvali schists and limestone or of the Alwar quartzite.

Along the road leading from the Bár pass no rocks are met with between Vindhyans at Sojat. The western edge of the range and Sojat. The Sojat hills are formed, at base, of nearly vertical Δ rvali slates, capped by about 10 to 20 feet of a conglomerate composed of small pebbles of quartz, very nearly horizontal, or with a dip of 3° to north, passing up into a fine white and reddish sandstone, of which there may be about 100 feet in thickness. On the northern side of the hills are some beds of chert resting upon the sandstone, and which in the large hills a mile to the north passes up into a thick limestone. The sandstone resembles very closely the Kaimur sandstone, and doubtless the whole, from the conglomerate upwards, may be referred to the Upper Vindhyan series.

The eastern boundary of the Upper Vindhyans is ill-defined, as the alluvium for a long distance covers all the lower beds. For about 50 miles north of Sojat, the plain extends to the eastern edge of the limestone; but near Mokála the sandstone is seen underlying the limestone. The bottom beds are not exposed between Sojat and Khátu, about 40 miles further north.

Khátu is about 30 miles west of the Arvali range, and in the intervening

Khátu section. ground no rocks are exposed except two hills of the Alwar quartzites near Khátu, and a ridge of the Arvali slates upon which the Upper Vindhyan sandstone rests. The unconformity is as strongly marked here as at Sojat. The Arvali slates are vertical, and the conglomerate and sandstone rest upon their edges and dip to the north-west at an angle of 3°. This junction takes place in the small ridge north-east of Khátu, a short distance east of the main hills. The conglomerate, composed of small water-worn pebbles of quartz, varies in thickness from a few inches to 6 feet. The capping of white sandstone is brought down by the dip to near the base of the main hills. Above

Digitized by Google

this is a second conglomerate about 6 feet in thickness and composed, like the other, of small water-worn pebbles of quartz. The remainder of the hill is formed of sandstone, the lower portion micaceous, of a dull red colour, and which passes up into a mottled and smudged red and white sandstone, identical in appearance to the Bhánrer sandstone on the eastern side of the range.

Of the lower sandstone, which I consider to be the Kaimur, there is a thickness of about 100 feet; and of the upper, probably the Bhánrer, upwards of 200 feet. The middle (Rewa) group of the Upper Vindhyans appears to be absent. On the top of the southern end of the hill there are a few feet of cherty limestone, exactly similar to that resting on the sandstone at Sojat. On the northwestern side of the hill the dip has brought the sandstone down to the level of the plain, and in the Barnel hills it dips under the cherty limestone.

This section differs from that of Sojat in the addition of the Bhánrer sandstone and conglomerate between the Kaimurs and the limestone.

The southern boundary of the Upper Vindhyans forms a deep bay, at the south-eastern side of which Sojat is situated, and at the south-western Jodhpur. In this bay are a number of hills of gneiss and Arvali slates. On the north-eastern side, the Kaimur sandstone, of which there is about 60 feet in this section, rests directly upon the gneiss, and upon this rests the second conglomerate and Bhánrer sandstone, which dip to the east under a considerable thickness of the cherty limestone.

At Jodhpur the Upper Vindhyans rest upon a series of rocks which Mr.

Maláni beds. Blanford has called the "Maláni beds." These form a fringe of from 2 to 3 miles in width round the southern and eastern sides of the Upper Vindhyans, and extend to about 12 miles north of Jodhpur and west beyond the limits of our area. The Maláni beds in the neighbourhood of Jodhpur consist of felsite and quartziferous porphyries and beds which Mr. Blanford describes as "unmistakably resembling volcanic ash." These ash-beds are best seen in the Pandla hills, north-east of Jodhpur, where they both rest upon and are covered by the porphyries, and in the scarp over the city, where there must be over 100 feet in thickness of them exposed. The bedding in these beds is very obscure ; but in places it can be detected, and there the rocks are seen to be nearly horizontal.

Several sections of the junction between the Maláni beds and the Upper Vindhyans are exposed, in some of which the unconformity between the two is well seen. The porphyries extend to some height in the scarp west of Tarásar, and upon them rest about 2 feet of red and green shales covered by the massive beds of the grey Kaimur sandstone.

In this and other sections of the scarp there is no conglomerate or any other

Unconformity. feature to suggest unconformity between the two; but at the southern boundary, along the road leading from the residency to the north-east, the unconformity is well seen. In this section the Malánis are obscurely but undoubtedly bedded, nearly horizontal, and show slight erosion at the junction. Resting upon them is a conglomerate about 8 inches thick composed of pebbles of the porphyries; and above this the Kaimur sand-

D

stone. Further along the road, to the north-east, the unconformity is more strongly marked and the conglomerate is at least 6 feet thick, formed of boulders of the Maláni beds upon which it rests.

Many outliers of the Kaimur sandstone resting upon the Maláni beds occur at a short distance to the south of the main boundary. On one of these the Jodhpur fort is built. There is also a chain of outlying hills of Kaimur sandstone isolated in the plain extending from south of Jodhpur to about 15 miles to the north on the eastern side of the Maláni beds.

The Maláni beds do not extend far east of the meridian of Jodhpur, but hills of them occur on the plain to the south for about 50 miles. Their most southerly appearance on this side is in the large hills north of Chánaud. The first of these hills occurs at Rájpura, about 15 miles south of Jodhpur. There are several intervening hills of gneiss.

In the river at Rájpura are some very decomposed olive-green schists, which may possibly be Arvalis; but the hills are formed of the Maláni felsite porphyries. No junction between the two is exposed.

Gneiss occurs in the hills of Chotíla, some 15 miles further south, with some Arvali schists on its western flank, and about a mile further west is a small hill of the Maláni porphyries isolated in the plain. This is the only locality within our area where the Maláni beds are seen within a short distance of the undoubted Arvali rocks or gneiss.

In the large hills north of Chánaud a thickness of over 200 feet and a great

Slates below the Maláni beds. variety of the felsites is exposed, apparently dipping at a low angle. At the north-eastern corner of these hills a small thickness of red slates dip under the Maláni por-

phyries; but I am unable to say if they are Arvalis or not. These hills are quite isolated in the plain; the nearest hills of gneiss are at Kaunla, about 5 miles to the south, and the nearest Arvalis about 18 miles to the south in the large hills north of Erinpura. In these hills, however, at Baklia and the hills to the south, I picked up two or three stones of typical Maláni porphyry from amongst the debris of slates. In both these places the slates are nearly vertical, and almost complete sections are exposed; but after a most careful search I failed to discover any rock *in situ* in the least resembling the Malánis.

As the Malánis are completely isolated from the other rocks, with the exception of the Upper Vindhyans, it is a matter of great doubt as to which series of rocks they belong.

Among the Arvali slates, &c., I have never seen any rock in the least resembling the Maláni porphyries, except north of Deogarh in the Arvali range, where there are two thin beds, not more than 2 inches thick, in which crystals of glassy felspar are imbedded in a felsitic matrix, a rock closely resembling some of the Maláni porphyries.

On the other hand the Maláni beds would appear to be more closely related to the Upper Vindhyans, for although there is unconformity between the two, still it is not nearly so strongly marked as that between the Upper Vindhyans and the Arvalis—indeed, in some sections it cannot be detected. Both the Upper Vindhyans and the Malánis are nearly horizontal over large areas, while the Arvalis are much more disturbed, and a low dip is almost unknown on the western side of the range.

It would seem more probable, then, that the Maláni beds were the representatives of the Lower Vindhyans in this area, for although no volcanic rocks nor any rocks at all resembling the Maláni beds are exposed in the sections of the Lower Vindhyans of the Chitor area, the nearest spread of the undoubted Lower Vindhyans, still rocks closely resembling the Maláni beds are largely developed in the Lower Vindhyans of the Sôn region. I have therefore, pending the examination of the country to the south-west of Jodhpur, where the Maláni beds are largely developed, and where junction sections probably may be met with, ventured to map the Maláni beds as Lower Vindhyans.

On a specimen of Native Antimony obtained at Pulo Obin, near Singapore.— By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India.

In 1870 a small quantity (about $1\frac{1}{2}$ oz.) of a metallic substance, said to have been discovered in the Straits Settlements, was forwarded by the Home Department to the Geological Survey Office for examination. It was found by Mr. Tween to be native antimony of great purity; and Dr. Oldham, in communicating the result to Government, pointed out the high value of the discovery if the mineral should be found to occur in considerable quantity. Further enquiry was made at the instance of the Straits Government, from the result of which it appeared that the mineral "was found on Pulo Obin or Ubin, an island lying at the east end of Silat Tambran, the Strait dividing Singapore from the main land; that a careful search had been made, and a reward offered to any person finding more of the same, but that up to the present time (15th February 1871) no more had been discovered, and that it seemed probable that the specimen received by the Government must have been introduced into the island from some other place as yet unknown."¹ The specimen in question is finely lamellar or granular massive native antimony, with a slight admixture of stibnite and is partially coated by a vesicular crust of brownish-yellow cervantite.

There has lately been presented to the museum, by the Commissioners of the Melbourne Exhibition of, 1880, a fine specimen of antimony, weighing between four and five pounds, from Saráwak, in Borneo; it had been exhibited by the Borneo Company. It consists of finely lamellar or granular massive native antimony, with a slight admixture of stibnite, and on two sides is partially coated by a vesicular crust of brownish-yellow cervantite.

So perfectly similar in aspect is the specimen from Pulo Obin to that from Borneo, that, as far as appearance goes, the former might be a fragment broken off the latter. This similarity of course may be a mere coincidence; but taking into account that careful search, and the offer of reward, had failed in leading to the discovery of any further specimens of antimony in Pulo Obin;

¹ Vol. IV, p. 48.

that antimony ore (a portion of which is the native metal) occurs in great quantity in Borneo, and is mined there on a considerable scale; and that a part at least of the ore exported to Europe or America would probably be sent vid Singapore; and finally, the perfect similarity in appearance between the Pulo Obin specimen and that just described from Borneo, one cannot but strongly suspect that the former also is of Bornean origin.

On Turgite from the neighbourhood of Juggiapett, Kistnah District, and on Zinc Carbonate from Karnul, Madras.—By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India.

There are at present in the Geological Museum specimens of iron ore from Turgite. Turgite. Turgite. The neighbourhood of Juggiapett, ¹ which were collected by my colleague Mr. W. King, and which are interesting as consisting in part of a mineral which has not, I believe, been hitherto noticed within the limits of India.

Three pieces of ore from south-east of Juggiapett, which closely resemble one another in appearance, and which look as if they had been obtained from the same spot, consist mainly of limonite, partly massive and partly silky fibrous. In the largest and best specimen, which is about $2\frac{1}{2}$ inches thick, the fibrous variety forms an irregular band about $\frac{1}{2}$ inch thick between two layers of massive limonite. One of the latter shows the fracture by which the specimen was detached; the other is coated by about half an inch of turgite. The junction between the two minerals is clearly marked, there being, however, between the main layer of limonite and that of turgite, two thin seams of one mineral alternating with two of the other. The turgite is partly granular massive, partly fibrous and sub-columnar, the latter variety occurring mainly in a layer on the exterior of the specimen. The colour is dark-red to iron-black, with red streak. The surface of the mineral, which is irregularly botryoidal, is covered by a black glaze.

Another specimen from north of Moogetalah,² of about the same thickness as that just described, consists of turgite alone. The greater portion is of the granular massive kind, but on the exterior face of the specimen there is a layer a third of an inch thick of the fibrous variety. An analysis of the latter gave—

Ferric oxide	•••	•••	•••		93 ·10
Water		•••	•••	•••	4.65
Insoluble		•••	•••	•••	2·09
					99 *84

The mineral decrepitates with violence when heated in a closed tube or crucible.

It is perhaps worth remark that in the Juggiapett specimens the turgite occurs in the same way as at Salisbury, Connecticut,³ namely, forming an exterior layer on limonite.

¹ A town also called Batavole; North lat. 16° 54'; East long. 80° 9'.

Digitized by Google

² A village on the river Kistnah, about 4 miles south of Juggiapett.

³ Am. Jour. of Sci., II, XLIV, 219.

304

PART 4.] McMAHON: Note on the section from Dalhousie to Pangi.

In a previous part of this volume (p. 196), I described the occurrence of impure zinc carbonate with barytes, &c., in specimens from Smithsonite.

some unknown locality in the Karnul district. Since then I have examined samples of barytes, with ochre, cherty quartz, and a few specks of galena, from the Baswapur, lead mines in the same district. The former specimens bear so much general resemblance to the latter that I think there is strong reason to suppose that the Smithsonite came from the Baswapur mines, or from some other of the old lead mines in that neighbourhood. Mr. P. W. Wall, in his report on them, says, with reference to Baswapur (or Gazerpully) : "The ore is enclosed in a gangue of sulphate of baryta or heavy spar, also occasionally in white quartz. It is, as at Coilcontlah, a sulphuret of lead or galena, and there are here, as at that place, occasionally small admixtures of copper (sulphuret), zinc blende and iron pyrites."1 The mines have been abandoned for a long time past, and apparently there is no tradition of their having been worked otherwise than for the argentiferous galena. It seems not impossible, however, that search amongst the rubbish heaps would show the existence of zinc carbonate, perhaps in considerable quantity; a mineral which, from its non-metallic-looking appearance, would be very likely to escape recognition by the native miners.

Note on the section from Dalhousie to Pangi via the Sach Pass. By COLONEL C. A. MCMAHON, F.G.S.

In Mr. Lydekker's fifth paper on the geology of Kashmir² and neighbouring territories, the section from Chamba to Pangi is noticed on the authority of Mr. Lee of the Calcutta Bar, but as the account there given is very brief, a few additional notes may not prove uninteresting. Much to the disappointment of my wife, who was ambitious of doing a higher and more difficult pass than the Sach, I returned by the way I went; but this proved of advantage from a geological point of view, as it enabled me to review my first impressions by a second examination of the rocks seen *en route*.

Unlike the geology of Dalhousie, of which I hope to give an account ere long, the section from Chamba to Pangi presents no features of special difficulty. The granitoid gneiss of the Dhauladhár ends between Dalhousie and Chamba, near the village of Sach, and is succeeded by micaceous and quartzose schists, dipping north-east, which conformably overlie the gneiss. These rocks gradually become slaty, and near Masrund³ pass into what are undistinguishable from typical "Simla slates." I have no hesitation in correlating them with that series. They remain unchanged in character down to the bed of the Siul river under Manjere, and for some distance along the course of that river towards the Ravi.

¹ Madras Jour. of Lit. and Sci., Vol. XX, new series, p. 294.

⁹ Records G. S. I., Vol. XII, p. 39.

⁹ This village, which is the first halting place from Chamba, is not marked on the map. It is on the ridge opposite Manjere in the vicinity of Balore.

Passing onwards towards Tikri, the slates give place to the limestone series north of the village of Sangore. The ridge running down from the Rundhar station to the Siul river is composed of it; and it passes up to the ridge north of Manjere, and apparently crosses it at the village of Kundi (Kandi). The limestone is in massive bands, made up for the most part of beds a few inches thick. Its colour is dark-blue, pale-blue, and creamy. It continues, with a steady north-east dip, to a little beyond the river that flows down from the Randhar station into the Siul river south of Kalail (Kalel), and crosses the Manjere ridge a short distance south of the village of Dhár. As it begins to die out, the micaceous slaty beds intercalated with it become more prominent, and the bands of limestone become thinner and more earthy.

On the ascent from the river, going in the direction of Kalail, and some distance before the end of the limestone series is reached, a bed of dark-blue limestone occurs which abounds in crinoid stems, as observed by Mr. Lee.

Mr. Lydekker has found that in Kashmir and the neighbouring districts the rocks of the carboniferous period pass by imperceptible degrees into those of the triassic series,¹ and that in Ladak³ and in South and North Lahoul³ the limestones are probably partly of upper silurian and partly of carboniferous age. From Mr. Lee's description of the limestones now under discussion, Mr. Lydekker concluded that they are "without doubt the representatives of either the carboniferous or the trias, and not improbably of both."⁴

As these limestones and included slates are of great thickness, and as they are in contact with the upper silurian (Blaini) conglomerate, now to be described, I think it probable that, as is believed to be the case in the typical region of the Krol mountain, we have here representatives of upper silurian, carboniferous, and triassic rocks.

Immediately in contact with the limestone series there follows a very thick band of conglomerate. The matrix is a slaty schistose rock, at times even foliated. It contains pebbles of white quartz of all shapes and of various sizes up to 9 inches in diameter. Some are well rounded and present sections of the size and shape of an egg; others are sub-angular to angular. The white quartz pebbles are the most abundant, but the rock also contains grey and blue quartzite, and quartzite-sandstone pebbles, sub-angular to rounded, which weather various colours.

I have no hesitation in correlating this with the Blaini conglomerate of the Simla area. As in the typical Blaini rock, occasionally white quartz veins meander about in an irregular manner in it, and a person not familiar with the rock might suppose that the "eggs" were sections, or fragments of such veins, but a careful study would show him that it is a true conglomerate. As in the Simla area so here, some of the blue quartzito pebbles contain thin white quartz veins that do not pass into the matrix, showing that the pebbles were metamorphosed, and were ground down into their present shape, before they found

- ¹ Records G. S. I., Vol. XIV, p. 34.
- ² Idem, Vol. XIV, p. 38.
- ³ Records G. S. I., Vol. XIII, p. 58. ⁴ Idem, Vol. XIV, p. 39.

their resting place. The pebbles in some beds are very sparse; in others very abundant.

The conglomerate differs from that of the Simla area in having expanded to a great thickness. A synclinal flexure, however, takes place in the centre of these beds, and it is possible that they may also be repeated by other flexures, the evidence of which has been obliterated, or by slates of a slightly lower horizon having been folded up with them. In any case, their real thickness must very greatly exceed that of corresponding beds in the Simla area. Dr. Stoliczka estimated the thickness of the Muth conglomerate of Spiti,¹ which he correlated with the Blaini conglomerate,² at from 500 to 600 feet.

At the junction of the conglomerate with the limestone series, the latter has suffered considerable contortion, and a bed of conglomerate has been, from this cause, folded up with the limestones.

Mr. Lydekker's papers on the geology of Kashmir and its neighbouring districts contain numerous notices of similar beds of conglomerate, as for instance Records G. S. I., Vol. X, p. 160; Vol. XI, pp. 32, 36, 38, 39, 46, 50; Vol. XII, pp. 20, 24, 25; Vol. XIV, p. 4. The widespread character of these peculiar deposits is of especial value, and will aid greatly in the task of unravelling the tangled skeins of Himalayan geology. In the present case, as will be seen in the sequel, the conglomerates will enable us to interpret the section under consideration.

Mr. Lydekker connects the wide distribution of the conglomerate³ with ice action. I have long been struck with the resemblance which the typical Blaini conglomerate of the Simla area bears to a "boulder bed."

As before stated, a synclinal fold takes place in the centre of the conglomerates and a south-west dip then sets in. The beds terminate a little south of where the Sinl river doubles back round the Manjere ridge towards the Padri pass. They are succeeded by rocks presenting an older facies, which last until near the top of the Sach pass. These may be generally described as fine-grained quartz schists, mica schists, and slaty mica schists, occasionally passing locally into micaceous slates. The dip is very low, south-west near the top of the pass, and continues low, and waving alternately to the north-east and south-west, or thereabouts, from thence southwards until the river below Tigri is neared, where the beds dip steeply to the south-west towards the Blaini conglomerates of the Kalail out crop. From here to near the top of the Sach pass the rocks are all, I believe, lower silurians.

Close to the summit of the pass, which is 14,328 feet above the sea, the conglomerates again come in, and the dip, which had previously been very low south-west, suddenly rises to nearly perpendicular, and then underlies to the north-east.

The anticlinal coincides with the very summit of the pass. The dip remains nearly perpendicular for some time, when a synclinal fold sets in on the north

¹ Memoirs G. S. I., Vol. V, p. 22. ³ Memoirs, G. S. I., Vol. V, p. 141. ³ Records G. S. I., Vol. XII, p. 25. side of the pass, where the second small glacier is seen on the map to flow down from the north-west into the main ice stream. From this point the dip gradually flattens to a moderate south-west dip.

The rocks are decidedly conglomeritic at the top of the pass, but the included pebbles become more and more scarce the lower you descend, and the rocks pass into micaceous schists and fine-grained slaty quartzites.

In this section I have classed all these rocks as conglomerates; but, as mentioned in the case of the outcrop between Kalail and Tisa, lower slaty rocks may have been folded up with them. I also note in passing that only a comparatively small portion of the Muth conglomerate, described by Dr. Stoliczka and which he correlated with the Blaini rock, is really conglomeritic.¹

A little north of the junction of the two main snow streams (namely, north of the point marked "Halias" on the map), a band of limestone, about 200 feet thick, crops out. The limestone is sub-crystalline, and is partly dark and partly pale-blue in colour, the latter weathering a buffy-cream to a brownish-buff. It has the aspect of a magnesian limestone, but I have not the appliances with me at Dalhousie to analyze it, and the point is not material. I should think the rock is more likely to represent the upper silurian (Blaini) magnesian limestone than the triassic dolomite. It does not resemble the latter in its mode of outcrop,² whilst in its weathering and in some other respects it answers fairly. well to the Blaini and Muth limestones,¹ the former of which is sometimes paleblue on its fractured surface.

From this point the rocks are at first silicious schists and quartz schists, often fissile, but never passing into true slates, and then succeed decided mica schists, which continue until the gneiss appears under the village of Pirgao, on the descent to the bridge over the Sach stream.

The gneiss here is foliated, and not granitoid. It conformably underlies the mica schists, and at first bands of it are intercalated with them, the passage between the two being somewhat gradual. There are innumerable intrusive dykes of white oligoclase³ granite in the gneiss, near its junction with the schists, both here and in the Pangi valley; and these dykes pass up for a considerable distance into the overlying mica schists. The intrusive granite, as in the Satlej valley sections, is rich in schorl.

We have now seen that at both ends of our section micaceons and quartzose schists, metamorphosed into perfect mica schists in many instances, rest conformably upon gneiss. The character of this gneiss, which I think is identical with the "central gneiss," I hope to discuss in detail in a future paper on the geology of Dalhousie.

The schists I take to be lower silurians. On these rest slates which I correlate with the "Simla slates." In the Records (Vol. XII, p. 56), Mr.

¹ Memoirs G. S. I., Vol. V, p. 22.

² Records G. S. I., Vol. XI, p. 45.

³ This is identical with what used to be called the Albite granite. Mr. Mallet (Records G. S. I., Vol. XIV, p. 238) has now shown that the felspar of this granite is oligoclase.

Digitized by Google.

Lydekker gives his reasons for concluding the "Simla slates" to be of silurian age. I think they represent about the middle of that group.

I now return to the consideration of the limestone series described in the preceding pages. It will be seen that on both sides of the Sach pass the outcrops of limestone stand in the same relation to the conglomerates on the one hand, and to the gneiss on the other. In both cases the limestones dip under the conglomerates, and one would conclude, from a superficial consideration of the question, that the conglomerates were younger than the limestones. But it is impossible that this can be their true relation.

In the Simla area it has been found that the Blaini limestone rests on the conglomerate, ¹ and that both are below the infra-Krol (carboniferous³) series and the Krol (carbo-triassic³) limestones. In Kashmir Mr. Lydekker assigned the position of the conglomerates to the silurian series.⁴ In Spiti the very similar Muth conglomerate, described by Dr. Stoliczka, and correlated by him with the Blaini conglomerate, is assigned to the upper silurian series. We may therefore conclude, I think, that the conglomerate under discussion belongs to the silurian series, and is probably of upper silurian age.

Next, as to the limestones. Crinoidal limestones in the neighbouring district of Kashmir occur in both the carboniferous and triassic series, and would seem to be especially characteristic of the former.⁶ The blue crinoidal limestone, described in the preceding pages, occurs in a bed near, but not immediately adjoining, the upper silurian conglomerates, and the inference which arises from these facts is that the beds must here be inverted, and that the crinoid limestone, which is presumably not older than carboniferous, must really be younger than the upper silurian conglomerate.

A similar inference arises in the case of the beds on the north side of the pass for, whether the limestone which crops out there represent upper silurian (Blaini), carboniferous or triassic limestones, its proper place is *above* the conglomerate, and consequently the rocks here must also be inverted.

What seems to have happened is that in the course of disturbances which occurred in post-triassic times, the lower silurians, from near Kalail to the top of the Sach pass, were forced up, and in their upward progress, aided by lateral compression, caused the upper silurian conglomerates to be squeezed into the inverted position they now occupy with reference to the "carbo-triassic" limestones.

It does not seem necessary to suppose that there were any complicated movements below the surface,—simple lateral pressure seems sufficient to account for the results we see. If when the disturbance occurred the surface of the ground was sculptured in much the same way as the Himalayas are now sculptured, we may suppose that the bottom of a valley, with mountains rising steeply on either side,

- ¹ Manual G. S. I., Vol. II, p. 600.
- ² Records G. S. I., Vol. XI, p. 62; Vol. XIII, p. 56; Vol. XIV. p. 40.

³ Ibid.

- ⁴ Compare Records G. S. I., Vol. XI, pp. 38, 39, with Vol. XI, pp. 41, 43.
- ^b Records G. S. I., Vol. XI, pp. 43, 47; Vol. XIV, p. 24.

809

E

was situated over the block of lower silurians now seen between Kalail and the Sach pass. On lateral pressure being set up, the rocks under the bottom of the valley would naturally rise, for there would be comparatively little superincumbent weight to keep them down, whilst the rocks under the mountains, which formed the side of the valley, would be comparatively little disturbed. If we suppose that the superincumbent mass above that part of the carbo-triassic limestones, which occurs in the section, was greater than that over the conglomerates, one can understand how the latter were forced by the rising lower silurians into their present inverted position with reference to the limestones.

An illustration, on a small scale, of what I mean, may be found in coal mines. There is always a tendency, I believe, in the floor of galleries to rise, or to "creep" up towards the roof, if they are not kept down by artificial means. The section under consideration seems to me to indicate a case of "creeping" on a large scale; and tangential pressure exerted on a mountain region—the mountain region of those times—seems sufficient to explain the inversion of the upper silurian conglomerates on the carbo-triassic rocks observed on both sides of the Sach pass.

GLACIATION.

Half way between Sauch and Purti, in the Pangi valley, and on the left bank of the Chandra Bhaga (Chinab), where the river pursues its way for some distance through a rather narrow gorge, the road is carried, at the level of about 100 feet above the river, by a sort of bridge made of poles, for 30 or 40 feet across a perfectly smooth rock that slopes down to the river at a high angle. This rock, for a height of about 100 feet above the road, and down towards the river as far as the eye can trace, has been smoothed, polished, and grooved by an old glacier. The striations and grooves are well cut into the rock and are countless in number. They run nearly parallel to the surface of the river, with a somewhat greater "fall" than the bed of the stream, and occasionally some of them cross each other at a small angle. No one who has seen the marks of recent glaciation in Switzerland or elsewhere could possibly mistake the evident signs of ancient glaciation here exhibited. I never saw a better specimen of ice work.

The strata here are perpendicular, and the strike at right angles to the course of the stream. Where the upper surface of the glacier ceased, the rock stands out, in beds of from 6 inches to a foot in thickness, in bold and ragged lines. Below what must have been the surface of the ice stream, these beds have been ground down to so smooth a plane that no trace of the bedding is to be seen.

We have here an interesting proof that at no remote period the glaciers of the Chandra and Bhaga valleys must have vastly exceeded their present dimensions. These valleys were probably filled by confluent glaciers that flowed down into the Pangi valley to a little below the point now indicated, the elevation of which is about 7,500 feet above the sea.

¹ The roads marked on the map for the most part indicate the position of *old* roads that have long since disappeared.

Digitized by Google

PART 4.]

Notes on the South Rewah Gondwana basin.—By THEO. W. H. HUGHES, A.B.S.M., F.G.S., Geological Survey of India.

[NOTE II.]

In continuation of the notes of my first year's observations on the South Rewah coal areas (published in Records, Part 1 for this year), I can now give somewhat fuller details about the individual seams that have been met with, and can define the limits within which there is a reasonable prospect of obtaining coal.¹ I have little to add to the geological knowledge acquired last season, beyond the fact that in the classification of the Lower Gondwána rocks there is —judging by fossil contents—a horizon corresponding to that known as the Karharbári horizon. I am not at present resolved to retain it as a determinate group, and it has been introduced on the field maps provisionally. My own proclivities are to associate these beds with the Barákars, and I believe there is fair evidence of their overlap on the Tálchirs.

The same rock groups as those under examination last year were again the subject of investigation, the highest in the series being trap, and the lowest granite.

Granite.—Commencing with the granite, we found it in greatest force in the south-east portion of the Sohágpúr district, whence it extends into the Pendra and Korea zamindaris. The component minerals are felspar, blackish mica, and greyish-white quartz, of which the first (orthoclase) is most prevalent. The granite produces its characteristic contour of country, and a series of small independent hills of broken and rugged outline mark its occurrence. There are several little inliers, at intervals in the area that has been ranged over, and their boundaries have been definitely traced. Beyond the necessity of denoting their existence, there is nothing special to remark about them.

Tálchir.—Above the granite, and in immediate contact with it for a great number of miles in the districts already mentioned of Sohágpúr, Péndra, and Koréa, are the Tálchir rocks. They extend far to the south and east, much beyond the limit of our past season's explorations. Our attention was devoted to tracing the boundaries north of the granitic area, and a great deal of time was spent in the mere drudgery of tramping several hundreds of miles of small and large streams to insure ourselves against having overlooked any inliers of granite or outliers of more recent rocks. The same course was pursued in reference to each group that we took in hand, but the result in utility was so very nominal in the case of the Tálchirs and granite, that after a hard and long day there was a depressing consciousness of time wasted. With the Barákar and Rániganj groups there was always the hope that another bend in a river

¹ I was accompanied throughout the whole of the working period by Sub-Assistant Hírá Lál, who undertook the special task of tracing the boundaries of the trap and of the Lameta group. But where these formations happened to be beyond reach of our different camping grounds, he attacked the Tálchirs and granite and prospected industriously for coal seams. My paper contains our joint observations, and I wish to make such encouraging acknowledgment of his assistance as his labours deserve. 312

would bring to view a seam of coal or a bed of shale or sandstone in which fossils might be found.

The Tálchirs in Sohágpúr are made up of the same varieties of beds as occur in the Damúda valley, and the green and yellowish silts are the predominant rocks. There are well exposed sections of them in the Són, the Hésia, the Alan, and the Tipan rivers. I traced them as far east as the village of Nagar¹ in the Korea State, in order to join my line of observation with that of Mr. Ball, and to complete a traverse of the Indian Peninsula. The contact with the granite is everywhere natural, and the lie of the beds is low. Here and there a few little slips occur, accompanied by local disturbance, but I failed to establish my colleague's fault north of Nagar.

Entirely separate from the Tálchirs of the Sohágpúr district is the small area in the valley of the Johilla that I alluded to in my former paper. As I did not fix its exact limits last year, I will place my more recent observations on record. In

the section of the Johilla river, the Tálchirs are seen both north and south of the inlier of granite that extends from Mangthár to Ponri. Those to the south are not well exposed, but on the north side they stretch from Ponri to Bara Cháda. The bottom bed is a fine-grained, compact, brownish-grey calcareous sandstone; then above comes the famous boulder bed, the matrix consisting of greenish-grey silt; the contained fragments are red binary granite, conglomeratic quartzite, quartzite, and green schist. The bed is quite 80 feet (if not more) in thickness. To this succeed claret-coloured greyish-green and yellowish silts; one or two thin boulder beds; compact, slightly calcareous, sandstones; soft, fine-grained, slightly pinkish and yellowish-grey sandstones, with felspar decomposed, and weathering with rounded outlines; then alternating silts and sandstones to the end of the section. There might possibly be a little doubt about including the sandstones in the long reach of the Johilla, at the eastern end of which is the village of Goráia, as Tálchirs, were they seen alone; but most characteristic greyish-green splintery shales occur above them in the elbow of the river near Bara Cháda that do away with one's hesitation.

The Tálchirs extend only a very short distance inland from the right bank of the Johilla, but they can be traced for 4 or 5 miles in the opposite direction, until they are overlapped by Lametas and Barákars.

Fossils were discovered in several places, but usually in such an imperfect

Fossils. state of preservation that it was not worth while keeping them. A few good specimens, however, were obtained near Anúkpúr, and Dr. Feistmantel has determined them as follows :---

" Anúpkúr.⁹ Group Tálchir.

Equisetaceous stems.

Gangamopteris cyclopteroides, (type) Feistm.

,,

var. attenuata.

¹ Long. 82° 20' E.; Lat. 23⁻ 18' N.

² Long. 81° 43' E.; Lat. 23° 7' N.

PART 4.] HUGHES: Note on the South Rewah Gondwana basin.

These are just like specimens in the Karaun (Deoghar) field."

Karharbári.—From the circumstance that the coal occurring in the Johilla was associated with plants found in the Karharbári horizon of the Karharbári field, Dr. Feistmantel specially pressed me to make diligent search for such evidence as might bear upon the question of the existence of such a group as the Karharbári in the South Rewah area. Beds containing some of the necessary fossils were met with last year south of Khaira in the neighbourhood of Hardi and Sárangpúr, and this year similar fossils have been discovered in other localities, all, however, within the vicinity of Khaira.¹ The specimens are—

> Vertebraria indica. Glossopteris communis. Nöggerathiopsis hislopi. Voltzia heterophylla. Samaropsis, comp. parvula. Oarpolites milleri.

From near Dhámni^e (which is 2 miles south-east of Khaira) some very fine leaves of Nöggerathiopsis hislopi were procured, and in association with them were seeds of the same plant. Of these latter, which Dr. Feistmantel has named *Carpolites milleri*, he says "about nine specimens of a fruit, first described from Pásserábhia (No. 5 D) in the Karharbári coal-field, from Karharbári beds, in a similar association of fossils."

I could not see anything distinctive in the character of the rocks containing this partial Karharbári flora to warrant a separation from the Damúdas. The strata in which the plants actually occurred were argillaceous shale and moderately fine-grained grey felspathic silicious sandstone, slightly micaceous and with faint carbonaceous streaks, such as may be found in either the Rániganj or Barákar groups. I have left the final placing of these beds open until our survey is completed, in the hope that more evidence may be forthcoming. Were I called upon to decide at once, I should place them with the Damúdas.

Barákar.—There is satisfactory proof of the occurrence of this group over a large portion of the Sohágpúr district and some part of Korea, in the strong resemblance that the sandstone and other rocks have to the typical representatives in the Rániganj field. I assume that there is no necessity to enter into lithographical details, this point having been so often treated of by others and myself in the Memoirs of the survey; and I will at once proceed to enumerate the localities at which coal has been found, and comment upon the nature of the seams and the prospect of working them profitably.

Wherever the Barákar group exists there coal has been met with. Three distinct areas have been mapped, one near Úmaria, the other in the valley of the Johilla, and the third in the Sohágpúr and Korea districts. The two former are very limited in extent; the latter occupies several hundred square miles. I

¹ Long. 81° 31' E.; Lat. 23° 9' N.

² Long. 81° 32' E.; Lat. 23° 7' N.

have not entered into exact figures, as our examination of the country is not completed.

Only one seam of coal has been noticed in the Umaria exposure of Barakars.¹

Umaria. It crops out in the right bank of the river that flows

between the two villages of Úmaria³ and Khalesar, and is well seen where the high road to Kauria crosses.

The thickness of the seam varies from 4' 6'' to 4' 10," and the dip is to the north-north-west at an angle of 5°. The section at the ghât is—

- 1. Sandstone.
- 2. Coal seam.
- 8. Carbonaceous shale.

4. Sandstone, same as that above the seam.

The outcrop of the seam is seen inland on both sides of the river, and also up the river for about 150 yards.

To determine its age, which, however, from the first I inclined to think was Barákar, Hírá Lál and myself searched assiduously for fossils; we found none with the coal, but in some grey, slightly carbonaceous argillaceous shale, a few feet below it, Hírá Lál was fortunate enough to hit the right slab on the head and bronght to light a few leaves and stems belonging to the genera *Gangamopteris*, *Glossopteris*, and *Phyllotheca*, which satisfactorily proved that the coal was not of Jabalpúr age as had once been surmised. I have placed it with the Barákar group, and as corresponding to the seam in the Johilla river, which is certainly neither in the Rániganj nor Tálchír horizon. We did not stay long enough to trace the extension of the seam beyond the vicinity of the river, but I have no apprehension of there being a deficiency of coal. The dip is moderate, making the working of it an easy matter.

I again give Mr. Mallet's analysis, which shows-

Moisture	•••	•••	•••		11.3
Volatile (exclus	sive of mo	isture)	•••		29.4
Fixed carbon	•••		•••		45·8
Ash	•••			•••	13 ·5
				-	
					100.0

There is an excessive amount of moisture, but there is no question that this would diminish when the coal had been opened up for a while. Mr. Cook of Katni (Kutnee) has made practical trial of the coal, and states that for his purpose, which is lime-burning, it answers very well, and that if it could be procured regularly and at a somewhat less price than it costs by pack carriage, a great boon would be conferred on those engaged in the same business as himself. In the early part of this year Mr. Trimnell succeeded in bringing to a successful issue his attempt to make pig-iron with charcoal; but he was practical enough to know that a supply of charcoal sufficient to keep even a

This coal was first brought to notice in 1860 by Captain Willoughby Osborne, then Political Agent at Rewah; and in the same year it was reported on by Captain H. Hyde, R.E., Consulting Engineer for Railways, and by Mr. Alexander Grant, of the East Indian Railway.

² Long. 80° 54'; Lat. 23° 32'.

PART 4.] HUGHES: Note on the South Rewah Gondwana basin.

small furnace going regularly is not to be depended upon near Katni, and he has awaited with some anxiety the result of our season's labour. Well! there is coal at Úmaria, quite as capable—judging by the analysis—of driving a locomotive engine as any of the coal at Mohpáni and in the Warora field; but is it any better suited to the wants of an iron master than the Warora fuel? If the experience of those who have gone before us, and who have recorded their opinions is of any value, the Úmaria coal will be condemned. It has been my lot, however, to see coal improve under proper trial and management, on so many occasions, that I would strongly recommend the Rewah authorities being requested to send some 4 or 500 maunds to be tested under British supervision at Jabalpúr.

The combined amount of moisture and ash indicated in the analysis, 24.8 per cent., is a heavy drawback on any coal used in direct contact with the ore in iron smelting, but there is the possibility and probability that these items of depreciation will be less serious when regular mining operations are established.

The distance of Úmaria from the nearest railway station, Katni (on the East Indian line), is 34 miles, and only one large river, the Máhánadi, has to be crossed. To bridge it would not be a difficult undertaking, there being ample rock foundation at numerous points.

I have no wish to thoughtlessly advocate the construction of a line of communication to the coal-field at Umaria until something more positive is known of the quality of the fuel, and whether there are collateral advantages to be derived under other heads of traffic. From the growing importance of Katni, however, as a mart, and the immense droves of grain-laden bullocks converging on that point by way of Umaria, from the Rewah, Mandla, Biláspúr, and Garját districts, I believe a local line might be made to pay. If the coal were only moderately good, it might enter into successful competition with the outturn of the Rániganj fields for stations beyond Allahabad, the saving in carriage by rail being 200 miles and more. Thus—

		Miles.		Mil	les.
Úmaria to Katni	•••	34	Sitarampur to Allahabad	426	3
Katni to Allahabad		171	Raniganj to Allahabad .	443	3
		—	Karharbari field (Giridih)	to Allaha-	
		205	bad		L.

The route by Umaria and so on to Katni is the natural outlet for the country included within the drainage basin of the Upper Són, the trappean Mandla plateau being the turning barrier directing the stream of traffic; and it so happens that along that route coal can be procured. I cannot emphasise too strongly the advantage of accumulating certain information, and in addition to the suggestion that fair trial of the coal be made, I would propose that a few bore holes should be sunk in order to prove the extent of the seam and its thickness at different points.

The Barákars of the Johilla valley are exposed about 15 miles south-east of

Johilla. Joh in my first paper. I have traced it for 2 miles west of where it appears in the Johilla, but nowhere at its outcrop has it a promising appearance.

Having once again the opportunity of looking at the boundary of the Barákars and Tálchir. Boundary of Barákar and Tálchir. Boundary of Barákar and Tálchirs, I think I have fixed it satisfactorily, the lowest stratum of the upper group being a massively-bedded yellowish-grey felspathic nodular sandstone, with mica sparingly distributed through it.

From the notice of these two minor areas I now pass to the more extensive one of the Sohágpúr field, which stretches uninterruptedly

Sohágpúr. into the Korea State. There is no great richness of coal, nature having apparently exhausted herself in abortive efforts resulting in carbonaceous or coaly shales, or seams too thin—according to the present standard of working—to be mined profitably. Owing to the horizontality of the strata, however, such seams as occur of available size possess the advantage of extreme accessibility and can be easily won over a large area.

The highest seam in the group is exposed in the bed of the River Són near Coal seam, Bichia. the village of Bichia.¹ Its actual thickness could not be determined, but it is something more than 5 feet. Híra Lál traced it from where I first saw it in the Jamúnia nala for over 4 miles. It seems to be coal throughout, but he says that the upper part is inferior in quality to the lower.

The assay of the better portion, made under the direction of Mr. Mallet, is-

Moisture	•••	•••	•••		5.8
Volatile matter		•••	· 	•••	29.5
Fixed carbon	•••	•••	•••		55·0
Ash		•••	•••	•••	9.7
				1	000

It does not cake. Colour of ash reddish-grey.

There is no other seam for many miles around that approaches this in thickness; but there are several thin beds to the south and east lower in the series. All these will be shown on the published maps to indicate that they have not been overlooked, but I have not deemed it necessary to specify them here.

The next exposure of thick coal is 24 miles to the east of the one just described, Coal seam, Bélha-Piári. in the bed of the Kiwai river, near Bélha-Piári. The thickness is not all seen, but I estimate it at 5'6". The section in the bank is—

Coal	•••	•••		3 ′0″
Coaly shale	•••			1′2″
Coal (not all seen)		•••	•••	1' 4" (about).
				5' 6"

The dip is low, as usual; indeed, it is superfluous to repeat this statement in reference to each seam. The coal seemed fairly good.

¹ Long. 81° 44' E.; Lat. 23° 14' N.

² Long. 82° 4' E.; Lat. 23° 9' N.

PART 4.] HUGHES : Note on the South Rewah Gondwaua basin.

Passing still further east, a seam is exposed close to the village of Bhalmúri,¹

Coal seam, Bhalmúri-Dumarkáchar. Coal seam, Bhalmúriis to the south, but the rocks undulate and the seam is again seen near Dumarkáchar.

Going down the Kulharia nala (on the banks of which are 'the two villages Coal seam, Kulharia mala. Just referred to), the finest seam in the Sohágpúr district was discovered by Hírá Lál at the confluence² with the

Jhiria stream. I give my own notes of the river section from this point to the junction with the Hestho.

The seam is well exposed in the Kulharia nala, at the foot of a picturesque waterfall. It is capped by greyish-white felspathic sandstone, very soft at the surface, with felspar decomposed; there is here and there a slight tendency to ferruginous segregation, but not nearly to such an extent as in the regular Máhádevás. I make this allusion as a warning, for, though the presence of iron is a very essential element in characterising the sandstones of the Máhádevás, it often plays a prominent part (but not to so great an extent) in varying the appearance of rocks that do not belong to that group.

The thickness of the sandstone is			•••	•••		28'	0"	
Coal s	am			•••		•••	7	2"
	Coal	•••	•••	•••	8′ 6'	,		
	Carbonaceous	shale		•••	1′0′	,		
	Coal	•••	•••	•••	2′8'	,		
Underneath	this					-		
Carbo	naceous shale and	d sandstone			•••	•••	2'	0″
Sands	one	•••		•••	•••	•••	13'	0″
Coal a	nd coaly shale			•••				10'

Then sandstones to the end of the section where the road from Bhauta to Jhagrákhand crosses the stream, and where the Tálchirs are brought up by a fault. Owing to the undulations of the strata, the seam is repeatedly exposed to view for about a mile and a half in the bed of the nala.

The analysis made by Hírá Lál under the direction of Mr. Mallet, of what was selected as an average sample of the coal, gives -

Moistu	re	•••	•••	•••	•••	6.2
Volati	le matter	•••		•••		2 8·2
Fixed	carbon	•••	•••			59 .6
Ash	•••		•••	•••		5.2
						100·0
					=	

It does not cake. Ash reddish in colour.

This is much more favourable testimony to the excellence of the coal than I anticipated. The smallness of the ash is remarkable, and, for the future credit of the Sohágpúr coal basin, I hope that this amount of $5 \cdot 5$ per cent. will never be exceeded by this seam. With such fuel as this anything might be accomplished, but unfortunately, like most good things, it is not to be easily obtained, being 86

¹ Long. 82° 10' E.; Lat. 98° 11' N.

F

² Long. 82° 12' E.; Lat. 23° 9' N.

miles further away from a line of railway than Umaria, and with the additional drawback of several more rivers intervening.

There are various outcrops of other, but smaller, seams, which, as none surpass 4 feet in thickness, I refrain from particularising here. When the full description of the ground is published they will find a place in the list of unimportant outcrops.

Rániganj.—As yet I have not met with any signs of the ironstone shales group, the rocks next in succession to the Barákars belonging to the Dámuda division.

The same remark applies to the economic aspect of the coal in the Bániganj group as in the Barákars; at the most, there appear to be only two seams (at different horizons) of workable size. There are plenty of outcrops of a carbonaceous nature, and several thin beds of coal; but there is comparatively little of the substantial richness that characterises the Damúda series farther to the east. Nature appears to have been only learning how to accumulate coal; or it may be that in the poverty of the measures in this part of the country we have evidence suggesting upland basins of coaly deposition.

The two seams occur in the bed of the River Són. One of them I described last year near Guráru. The other is visible where the Small stream flowing from Khaira falls into the Són,¹

north-north-west of the village of Kanuáhi. It measures 9 feet, and the greater portion of it appears to be coal. No analysis has been made of the coal, but it cannot be worse than that of the Guráru seam. If it be no better, it will scarcely be worth touching. It is not likely, however, that the enormous amount of 47.3 per cent. of ash² is the average of the whole of this coal, and I propose to select several samples at different levels, and so get at its fair character.

This brief notice of the Rániganj group brings to a close the description of our progress in the discovery of coal. Nearly 1,300 square miles of possible coal-bearing country have been examined, and many hundreds of miles of big and small rivers have been walked, in order that no outcrops might be missed. The outcome of our labours is in one sense poor, but we have the satisfaction of knowing that our search has been a careful one.

A few plants have been added to our collection from a spot in the Són near its junction with the Múrna nadi. They are—

> Alethopteris lindleyana, Royle. Dicksonia hughesi, Feistm. Glossopteris sp.

¹ Long 81° 32' E.; Lat. 23° 24' N.

³ Analys

is of Guráru coal					
Moisture	•••	•••	•••		2 ·7
Volatile		•••	•••		9.5
Fixed carbon	•••	•••			40 .5
Ash	•••	•••	•••	•••	47·3
•					100.0

Digitized by Google

PART 4.] HUGHES: Note on the South Rewah Gondwana basin.

Dr. Feistmantel says of them, "these are like forms in the Rániganj group, of the Rániganj and Jharria coal-fields." The two genera *Alethopteris* and *Dicksonia* help to show that the beds in which they were found belong to the upper division of the Damúdas, *Dicksonia* indeed being a Rájmahál form.

Máhádevas.-The only allusion I wish to make under this heading is to a remark in my first paper on the South Rewah Gondwána basin, at page 128 of this volume of our Records, in reference to the discovery of a Vertebraria indica in a sandstone, which, if it had not been for the fossil, I should have classed "with a series higher than the Damúda." The force of discipline was too strong for me last season, and I allowed the Vertebraria to overcome me. Having the opportunity of again looking up the section (which is in the Johilla), I did so, and my notes in regard to it are-"Went to Chota Daigaon and then struck for the Johilla. Going up the river the sandstones are coarse pebbly rocks, yellowishgrey, massively bedded, and frequently with oblique lamination. At intervals there are purplish, fine-grained argillaceous sandstones, and brick-red clays, and fine-grained purple sandstones frequently so ferruginous as to become iron ore. These are not the most abundant rocks, but they are prominent because of their colour. At the junction of the Bara Daigaon nala and the Johilla is a small island, and in the purplish fine-grained argillaceous sandstone that forms a thin bed amongst the more massive sandstone I found Vertebraria stems. This discovery might lead one to suppose that the sandstones here ought to be classed as Damúdas, but their physical aspect is utterly at variance with that of the Damúda type. The presence of the Vertebraria is the difficulty so long as it is looked upon as a specific plant of the Damúda series."

I would dismiss the difficulty by extending the range of the Vertebraria.

Maleri group.-No representatives of this group came under our observation during the season.

Jabalpúr group.—The only Jabalpúr beds we met with were those on the line of march from Chandia to Lóra. That these all belong to the Jabalpúr group is proved by the fossils they contain. The sandstones passed over were a loose granular variety with specks of decomposed felspar, more compact sandstones with seams of ferruginous matter and pipes of segregated silicio-ferruginous matter, very hard white quartzite (looking like a quartzite of much older age than Jabalpúr), and ferruginous sandstones with stronger ferruginous patches here and there. The shales were sometimes a little argillaceous, and either grey or slightly purple in colour.

Near Lóra,¹ there are many big pebbles along the edge of the metamorphic Pebbles near Lóra. Tálchirs, I spent one day in wandering through the various nalas to test the idea. I failed to see anything that I could call Tálchir. There is an exposure of a pebble-bed (in the stream running towards Dirouri) overlying a reddish-coloured indistinctly seen clay bed, but it has no likeness to anything of a Tálchir type, and I came to the conclusion that the pebbles at the surface have been derived from beds of Jabalpúr age.

¹ Long. 80° 49' E.; Lat. 23° 34' N.

Laméta.—The tracing of the Laméta boundaries was under the special care of Hírá Lál, and the task kept him hard at work for some weeks. The main body of the group runs pretty parallel with the Mandla trappean plateau, but there are several small outliers. These would probably not have been discovered in several instances had not the rivers, in which they were observed, been resolutely walked throughout the whole of their course.

The predominant rock is limestone, and subordinate to it are red clays and soft earthy sandstones. The limestone is sometimes pure, but more commonly it is arenaceous and cherty. The analysis of a clean piece from the Sarpa nala outlier gave the following result :---

Carbonate of lime Carbonate of magnesia			•••			86·5
				•••		5.6
Oxid	xide of iron and alumina		•••	• •••	•••	•6
Sand	•••	•••		•••	•••	8·8
Clay		•••		•••		2·1
						98·6
		•				_

Such limestone as this would do well as a flux, but there is no scarcity of good limestone in any part of the country.

Trap.-The trap forms a very prominent feature in our maps, owing to its abundance; but I shall reserve my special remarks on it for my Memoir.

Submerged Forest on Bombay island. Observations by G. E. ORMISTON, Resident Engineer, Bombay Port Trust.

(2ND NOTICE.)

Since the first notice¹ of the submerged forest discovered in the excavation of the Prince's Dock at Bombay, some further particulars of interest have been communicated. The facts then stated were, that beneath some 4 or 5 feet of black marine mud, at a little under extreme low tide level and to a depth of 12 feet below it, a great number of stumps and logs of trees had been found embedded in a stiff blue clay, and rooted in or resting on the decomposed basaltic rock (familiarly known in Western India as *muram (moorum)*), or else locally in a dark loam; that near the surface of the blue clay the stumps were extensively perforated by Teredo borings, and that one log was found to have been charred.

A first point to be determined was the species of the trees, for, as Mr. Blanford pointed out, if they were such as frequent mangrove forest, the amount of the depression might be much less than was apparent. A large collection of samples was sent to the Geological Survey Office (Calcutta), where they were examined by Mr. J. Sykes Gamble, Conservator of Forests (Bengal), who is well acquainted with the structural characters of Indian timbers. Mr. Ormiston had at first recognised two of the samples as teak wood, and this has been fully confirmed by Mr. Gamble. These two specimens are believed to have been taken from logs; they were more decomposed than the others, and were probably drifted.

¹ Records G. S. I., Vol. XI (1877), p. 302.

Digitized by Google

PART 4.] ORMISTON : Submerged Forest on Bombay island.

A considerable proportion of the other samples examined by Mr. Gamble, several of them from stumps in place, were determined to be *khair* (*Acacia catechu*). Both teak and khair are indigenous in the Konkan, but are not known to affect ground within tidal reach, so it is clear that this forest must have stood clear of high-water mark, and that the observed depth below that level (32 feet) is a minimum measure of the depression. It is, moreover, presumable that the excavations in the Prince's Dock did not reach the lowest level of submergence; in dredging the approach channels similar wood was brought up.

It would seem, however, that that old land surface was one of upheaval. The 'blue clay' in which the trees are embedded is remarkable for containing no animal remains, and none were found below it except one oyster shell amongst some gravel in a crevice of the underlying rock. Mr. Geoffrey Nevill compares it with *Ostrea excavata*, Lam., but as there is only one valve identification is impossible. Unless this shell were dropped there by some oyster-eating animal, the evidence of upheaval would be direct, and it would so far confirm Mr. Blanford's conjecture (l. c.) that the upheaval of the old sea beach on the west side of Bombay island had preceded the depression by which the forest was submerged.

If burned wood can be taken as proof of man's presence—and in such a position as this the presumption for this inference would be very strong—the possible oyster eater would be caught, though not convicted of the habit, much less of having deposited that particular shell, which would occur by natural deposition as found, in littoral gravel. The 'charred log' mentioned in the former notice is now in the Indian Museum, and a number of observers experienced in jungle life have pronounced it to be indubitably burned. It is 4 feet 6 inches in circumference and the burned end is formed of one slightly concave surface, about 3 feet 6 inches in length, tapering to one side, exactly as occurs when a log is laid across a camp fire and allowed to burn till it breaks and falls aside to smoulder at the core. No other signs of human occupation have been found: no marks of chopping were observed on this log or on any other, and no implements of any kind. The circle of stones doubtfully mentioned by Mr. Ormiston in his memorandum was unfortunately not seen by any competent observer.

The total number of trees found within the dock, in an area of 30 acres, was 382, of which there were 223 erect stumps, but many of the prostrate trees were certainly in position, having the roots, and even the small twigs, still attached. Although found over the whole area, the trees occur in clusters, with a decided numerical preponderance on the eastern (harbour) side; the prostrate trees also occur all over, but are proportionately more numerous on the western (Bombay island) side. These facts are very clearly shown on the plan furnished by Mr. Ormiston. There is no mention of any prevailing direction in the position of the uprooted trees, so it is presumable there was no very marked feature of that kind. Owing to the scanty nature of the soil, it cannot have needed much violence to overturn these trees.

The marked character of the bluish-grey clay in which the stumps are embedded has probably some direct connection with the act of subsidence. In mineral composition it does not differ from the overlying dark-brown mud of the

VOL XIV.

harbour: both are stiff, slightly marly (calcareous) clays; and the scanty soil, or 'loam,' locally forming the bed of the forest, differs little from either, being only the more direct result of the decomposition of the immediately subjacent basaltic rocks. The paler clay only lacks the vegetable mould which gives its dark colour to the soil of the forest, and the organic matter (in part animal) which impregnates the overlying clay forming the mud of the actual harbour. The latter is freely charged with estuarine and marine shells: in the fragments sent to the Museum, Mr. Nevill has recognised Potamides (Tympanotos) fluviatilis, Potiez and Michaud, and Cerithium (? C. concissum, Hombron and Jaeq); also numerous Teridinidæ, among them a large Nausitora (cf. N. dunlopi, Wright), but as the pallets are wanting, close identification is not possible. Even these boring shells are for the most part confined to the upper end of the stumps at the top of, or protruding through, the unfossiliferous blue clay. It would seem, then, that this deposit had been somewhat rapidly accumulated immediately after rapid subsidence of the ground, but without any rush of waters, for the fine twigs of the fallen trees are still preserved in position in the clay. This comparative rapidity of deposition would account for the absence of colouring organic matter or of fossils, which is the peculiarity of this clay.

The following remarks are printed from Mr. Ormiston's memorandum dated 23rd June 1880:-

"So far as one could judge, all the trees appeared to be of one kind, except two, which looked like teak trees. Altogether 382 trees were found inside the dock; 223 were upright, and the remainder lying flat. Some of the flat ones had no roots attached; others had apparently been knocked over, as a portion of the roots were in the soil. The timber was a dark, fine-grained wood like rosewood. All were more or less infested by the teredo. Those trees which protruded through the blue clay into the silt were completely riddled to a short distance into the blue clay; the holes then became fewer, and many of the trees, when cut through into blocks, showed a single hole winding towards the roots and getting larger as it approached the foot of the tree. Some of the holes were full 1 inch diameter, and were filled with indurated clay like limestone; others were lined with a crystalline secretion. I forward samples of those; also of the tubes which lined the smaller holes. One tree which was found on its side was 46 feet long and about 36 inches girth ; it had apparently been blown over, as in the blue clay surrounding the tree could distinctly be traced branches and twigs, the woody portion complete'y gone, but traceable by the outer skin and discolouration of the clay. It appeared to me that this tree must have been covered in very quietly; otherwise the casts of the twigs, &c., would have been found in a mass, whereas they were separate and distinguishable all through the surrounding clay.

"I should say many of the trees must have drifted, as they looked like logs when found without appearance of branches and no roots attached. They all appeared of contemporaneous growth and on an uneven surface. The highest being 7220 on T. H. D.¹ or about Low Water extreme springs. The lowest was about 56 00 on T. H. Datum, or 16 feet under Low Water extreme springs. The general level of the plane of the port and native town is about 100 00 on T. H. D. The soil was generally very scanty, often not more than 4" to 6" thick, and the tree roots were spread out almost at right angles to the trunk, and presented a very-peculiar appearance.

¹ T. H. D. or Town Hall Datum, an imaginary line 100 feet below the stone bench-mark, at the Bombay Town Hall. According to Mr. Ormiston's figures, this bench-mark is 19.6 feet above mean sea-level. The extreme tidal range at Bombay is 16.6 feet.

Digitized by Google

PART 4.]

Donations to the Museum.

"No remains of any kind were found of implements, or any other sign of human occupation, save a few small boulders, which the coolies said were found in the loam at the bottom of one of the dams, and which they stated had been found in a circle with the largest in the centre. This story is not well authenticated. There was no cutting or chipping in the stones.

"No shells or organic remains were found in the blue clay or in the ground in which the trees grew, except one oyster-shell, which was amongst some gravel in a crevice in the rock under the blue clay. Traces of twigs and *reeds* were perceptible in the blue clay, mere impressions of the latter, with a fine film of the outside skin in some cases adhering to the clay. None of the casts were more than half an inch wide; they appear to have grown pretty straight and close together, and were vertical. Immediately underneath the traces of reeds were pockets in the underlying yellow loam, like rats' holes, about 3" diameter, winding and twisting through the soil. They were filled with extremely fine clay, nearly as fluid As cream. Some of the holes were seen commencing from the surface, and disappeared about a foot down; others had been cut through, and showed a section of the hole.

"The strata in the line of the channels presented the same features as in the interior of the dook, except there were fewer trees, only a few having been picked up by the dredger. The reefs were black on the surface, some parts were found black inside when blasted, and others liver-coloured and red. These portions were extremely hard. Large quantities of trap boulders, the same as the trap reefs, overlaid these reefs. A box of samples is herewith forwarded, besides a plan showing a section through a portion of the dock."

The rocks forwarded by Mr. Ormiston represent several common types of the Deccan traps, but one kind is conspicuous, which is never, so far as I know, found on the uplands of the Deccan: it is a coarse volcanic agglomerate or breccia, large angular fragments of basalt encased in an ashy matrix. The fact is of interest in connection with the view so well stated by Mr. G. T. Clark, ¹ that the chief foci of eruption of this great volcanic formation lay in the Konkan and its margin.

H. B. MEDLICOTT.

DONATIONS TO THE MUSEUM.

Donors.

Native antimony, fibrous stibuite and cinnabar from Borneo. THE COMMISSIONEES OF THE MELBOUENE EXHIBITION OF 1880. Seventeen samples of Belgian wrought iron. THE COMMISSIONEES OF THE MELBOUENE EXHIBITION OF 1880. 'Tin-splash' from Perák.

THE COMMISSIONERS OF THE MELBOUENE EXHIBITION OF 1880. Twenty-two samples of crude and prepared grinding and polishing materials, &c.

MESSES. JOHN OAKEY & SONS, London. Rock crystal from Madagascar and stibuite from Rodrigues' Island.

Three specimens of graphite from Ceylon.

ÆLIAN KING, ESQ., Ceylon Civil Service.

Cuprite with native copper, Cornwall.

¹ Records G. S. I., Vol. XIII (1880), p. 69.

823

J. CALDWELL, ESQ.

O. FRAZER, ESQ.

[VOL. XIV.

J. DEVEBIA, ESQ.

J. WHITTEY, Esq.

F. J. CROOKE, Esq.

A. G. YOUNG, Esq.

V. BALL, ESQ.

Donors.

Two celts, from near Dhádka, Barrabhúm, Mánbhúm.

Four celts from Chutia Nágpur and Orissa.

A celt from Párisnâth.

Tincal from Tibet, and borax.

Auriferous sand from the Parbatti river, Kulu.

ADDITIONS TO THE LIBRARY

FROM 1ST JULY TO 30TH SEPTEMBER 1881.

Titles of Books.

Donors.

BALL, V.—The Diamonds, Coal, and Gold of India; their mode of occurrence and distribution (1881), 8vo., London.

BAUBBMAN, H.-Text-book of Systematic Mineralogy (1881), 8vo., London.

BAUEBMAN, H.-Treatise on the Metallurgy of Iron (1874), 8vo., London.

BOURGUIGNAT, J. R.-Histoire Malacologique de la Colline de Sausan (1881), 8vo., Paris.

THE AUTHOR.

BEONN.-Klassen und Ordnungen des Thier-Reichs :

Band VI., Abth. III. Reptilien, Lief. 18-21.

Band V., Abth. II. Gliederfüssler : Arthropoda, Lief. 1-3.

Band I., Protozoa, Lief. 8 & 9 (1881), 8vo., Leipzig.

CABBAL, F.-Estudo de Depositos Superficiaes da Bacia do Douro (1881), 4to. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TRAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POETUGAL.

CHOFFAT, PAUL.-Étude Stratigraphique et Paléontologique des Terrains Jurassiques du Portugal, Livr. I. (1880), 4to. pht., Lisbonne.

SECTION DES TRAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU PORTUGAL.

COBBESPONDENCE relating to Greenough's Map of India (1856), 8vo. pht., Madras.

R. D OLDHAM, Esq.

COTTER, J. C. B.-Fosseis das Bacias Terciarias Marinas do Tejo, do Sado, e do Algarve (1879), 8vo. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TEAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POETUGAL.

DAUBRÉE, M.-Études et Expériences Synthétiques sur le Métamorphisme et sur la Formation des Roches Cristallines (1859), 8vo. pht., Paris.

R. D. OLDHAM, ESQ.

DELGADO, J. F. N.-Breves Apontamentos sobre os Terrenos Paleozoicos do Nosso Paix (1870), 8vo. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TRAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POETUGAL.

DELGADO, J. F. N.—Da Existencia do homem no nosso solo em tempos mui remotos provada pelo estudo das cavernas. Primeiro Opuscula. Noticia Acerca das Grutas da Cesareda (1867), 4to. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TEAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POETUGAL.

Digitized by Google

Titles of Books.

Donors.

DELGADO, J. F. N.-Relatorio da Commissao Desempenhada em Hespanha no anno de 1878 (1879), 4to. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TEAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU PORTUGAL.

DELGADO, J. F. N.-Sobre a Existencia do Terreno Siluriano no Baixo Alemtejo (1876), 4to. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TRAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POETUGAL.

- FRITSCH, DB. ANT.—Fauna der Gaskohle und der Kalksteine der Permformation Böhmens. Band I, heft. 3 (1881), 4to. Prag.
- HACKNEY, W.-Report on the Iron Ore and Coal from the Chanda District of the Central Provinces (1879), 8vo., Boorkee.

THOMASON COLLEGE OF CIVIL ENGINEERING.

HINDE, G. J.-Fossil Sponge Spicules from the Upper Chalk (1880), 8vo., München.

THE AUTHOR.

JEFFRIES, DAVID .- Treatise on Diamonds and Pearls (1871), 8vo., London.

- LABSEN, A.-Dansk-Norsk-Engelsk Ordbog! (1880), 8vo., Copenhagen.
- LLOYD, MAJOR SIE WM., & GREARD, CAPT. ALEX.—Narrative of a journey from Caunpoor to the Boorendo Pass in the Himalaya Mountains, vid Gwalior, Agra, Delhi, and Sirhind; and an account of an attempt to penetrate by Bekhur to Garoo and the Lake Manasarowara, Vols. I and II (1840), 8vo., London.
- MEUNIEE, STANISLAS.—Étude descriptive théorique et expérimentale sur les Météorites (1867), 8vo., Paris.

R. D. OLDHAM, ESQ.

Norwegian North Atlantic Expedition, 1876-1878.

ZOOLOGY. Fishes, by Robert Collett (1880).

Gephyrea, by D. C. Danielssen and Johan Koren (1881).

CHEMISTEY: I. On the Air in Sea-water; II. On the Carbonic Acid in Sea-water; III. On the amount of Salt in the water of the Norwegian Sea, by Hercules Tornoe: (1880-81), 4to., Christiania.

THE EDITOBIAL COMMITTEE TO THE NOBWEGIAN NORTH ATLANTIC EXPEDITION. OMAN, V. E.-Svensk-Engelsk Hand-Ordbok (1872), 8vo., Orebro.

ON THE MANUFACTURE OF IRON AND THE FUTURE OF THE CHARCOAL IRON INDUSTRY IN INDIA (1881), FLSC., ALLAHABAD.

HOME DEPARTMENT.

- PRESTWICH, JOSEPH.—An Index Guide to the Geological Collections in the University Museum, Oxford (1881), 8vo., Oxford.
- RIBBIEO, CABLOS.—Descripcao do solo Quaternario das Bacias Hydrographicas do Tejo e Sado. 11º Caderno (1866), 4to. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TEAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POETUGAL.

RIBEIEO, CABLOS .- Des Formations Tertiaires du Portugal (1880), 8vo. pht., Paris.

- SECTION DES TEAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POETUGAL.
- RIBEIRO, CABLOS.---Memoria sobre o Abastecimento de Lisboa com Agnas de Nasceute e. Agnas de Rio (1867), 4to. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TEAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU PORTUGAL.

RIBEIRO, CABLOS.—Noticia de Algumas Estacoes e Monumentos Prehistoricos (1878 & 1880), 4to. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TRAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POBTUGAL.

[VOL. XIV.

Titles of Books.

Donors.

RIBEIRO, CABLOS.—Relatorio aperca da sexta reuniso do Congresso de Anthropologia e de Archeologia Prehistorica Verificada na Cidade de Bruxellas no mez de Agosto de 1872 (1873), 4to. pht., Lisboa.

SECTION DES TRAVAUX GÉOLOGIQUES DU POETUGAL.

- RUTOT, A.—Compte Rendu au point de vue peléontologique de L'Excursion de la Société Malacologique de Belgique aux environs de Renaix en 1879 (1880), 8vo. pht., Bruxelles.
 - MUSÉE ROYAL D'HIST. NAT. DE BELGIQUE.
- RUTOT, A.—Compte Rendu des Excursions faites en commun par les Sociétés Géologiques et Malacologiques de Belgique aux environs de Bruxelles, 5—7 Septembre 1880 (1881), 8vo. pht., Bruxelles.

MUSÉB ROYAL D'HIST. NAT. DE BELGIQUE.

- RUTOT, A.—Compte Rendu d'une course dans le Quaternaire de la Vallée de la Somme aux Environs d'Abbeville (1881), 8vo. pht., Bruxelles.
- MUSEE ROYAL D'HIST. NAT. DE BELGIQUE. RUTOT, A.—Compte Rendu présenté a la Société Malacologique de Belgique de L'Excursion de la Société Géologique de France dans le Boulonnais, 9—18 Septembre 1880 (1881), 8vo. pht., Bruxelles.

MUSÉE ROYAL D'HIST. NAT. DE BELGIQUE. RUTOT, A.—Sur la position stratigraphique des restes de Mammiferes Terrestres recueillis dans les couches de L'Éocène de Belgique (1881), 8vo. pht., Bruxelles.

MUSEE ROYAL D'HIST. NAT. DE BELGIQUE.

TENANT, PROF.-Gems and Precious Stones (1852), 8vo., London.

- WATTS, HENRY.—Dictionary of Chemistry, 3rd Supplement, Vol. VIII., Part II. (1881), Svo., London.
- ZIGNO, ACHILLE DE.-Flora Fossilis formationis Oolithices, Vol. II, No. 2 (1881), 4to., Padova.

PERIODICALS, SERIALS, &c.

American Journal of Science and Arts, 3rd Series, Vol, XXI, Nos. 126 and 127, and XXII, No. 128 (1881), 8vo, New Haven.

THE EDITORS.

Annalen der Physik und Chemie. New Series, Band XIII, Nos. 6 to 8 (1881), 8vo, Leipzig. Annales des Mines, 7th Series, Vol. XIX, livr. 1 and 2 (1881), 8vo, Paris.

L'ADMINS. DES MINES.

Annales des Sciences Naturelles, 6th Series, Botanique, Vol. X, No. 6, and XI, Nos. 1-2: Zoologie et Paléontologie, Vol. XI, No. 1 (1881), 8vo, Paris.

Annals and Magazine of Natural History, 5th Series, Vol. VIII, Nos. 43-45 (1881), 8vo. London.

Archiv für Naturgeschichte, Jahrg. XLVII, heft 2 (1881), 8vo, Berlin.

Athenzum, Nos. 2799-2810 (1881), 4to, London.

Beiblätter zu den Annalen der Physik und Chemie, Band V, Nos. 5-8 (1881), 8vo, Leipzig.

Bibliothèque Universelle. Archives-des Sciences Physiques et Naturelles, 3-me. Période, Tome V, Nos. 4-6 (1881), 8vo, Genève.

Bibliothèque Universelle et Revue Suisse, 3-me. Période, Tome X, Nos. 29 and 30, and XI. No. 31 (1881), 8vo, Lausanne.

Botanisches Centralblatt, Band VI, Nos. 10-13, and VII, Nos. 1-8 (1881), 8vo, Cassel.

Chemical News, Vol. XLIII, Nos. 1125-1128, and XLIV, Nos. 1129-1136 (1881), 4to, London.

Digitized by Google

PART 4.]

327

Donors.

Titles of Books.

Colliery Guardian, Vol. XLI, Nos. 1068-1069, and XLII, Nos. 107()-1079 (1881), fol., London.

Das Ausland, Jahrg. LIV, Nos. 23-35 (1881), 4to, Stuttgart.

Geological Magazine, New Series, Decade II, Vol. VIII, Nos. 7-9 (1881), 8vo, London.

Iron, Vol. XVII, Nos. 440-442, and XVIII, Nos. 443-451 (1881), fol., London.

Journal de Conchyliologie, 3rd Series, Vol. XXI, No. 1 (1881), 8vo, Paris.

Journal of Science, 3rd Series, Vol. III, Nos. 91-93 (1881), 8vo, London.

London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, 5th Series, Vol. XII, Nos. 72-74 (1881), 8vo, London.

Mining Journal, with Supplement, Vol. LI, Nos. 2390-2401 (1881), fol., London.

Naturæ Novitates, Nos. 11-16 (1881), 8vo, Berlin.

Nature, Vol. XXIV, Nos. 607-618 (1881), 4to, London.

Nenes Jahrbuch für Mineralogie, Geologie und Palæontologie, Jahrg. 1881, Band II, heft 1 and 2 (1881), 8vo, Stuttgart.

Palæontographica, Band XXVIII, Lief 1 (1881), 4to, Cassel.

Petermann's Geographische Mittheilungen, Band XXVIII, Nos. 7-9 (1881), 4to, Gotha.

Professional Papers on Indian Engineering, 2nd Series, Vol. X, No. 41 (1881), 8vo, Roorkee. THOMASON COLLEGE OF CIVIL ENGINEERING.

Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science, New Series, Vol. XXI, No. 83 (1881), 8vo, London.

The Zoological Record for 1879, Vol. XVI (1881), 8vo, London.

Zeitschrift für die Gesammton Naturwissenschaften, 3rd Series, Band V, heft. 1-6 (1880), 8vo, Berlin.

GOVERNMENT SELECTIONS, &c.

BENGAL.—General Bules and Circular Orders of the High Court of Judicature at Fort William in Bengal, Appellate Side, Civil and Criminal (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

GOVT. OF BENGAL.

BOMBAY.—Magnetical and Meteorological Observations made at the Government Observatory, Bombay, in 1871 to 1878 (1881), 4to, Bombay.

BOMBAY GOVT.

" Report on the Administration of the Meteorological Department of Western India for 1880-81 (1881), flsc., Bombay.

METBOBOLOGICAL DEPT., WESTEEN INDIA.

" Selections from the Records of the Bombay Government. New Series, No. 155 (1881), 8vo, Bombay.

· BOMBAY GOVT.

INDIA.—BEANDIS, D.—Review on the Forest Administration in the several provinces under the Government of India for the year 1879-80 (1881), fisc., Simla.

FOREST DEPARTMENT.

" BLANFORD, H. F.-Report on the Meteorology of India in 1879 (1881), 4to, Calcutta.

METEOBOLOGICAL REPORTER TO GOVT. OF INDIA.

" Registers of Original Observations in 1880, reduced and corrected, June to October 1880 (1881), 4to, Calcutta.

METROBOLOGICAL REPORTER TO GOVT. OF INDIA.

[VOL. XIV.

Titles of Books.

INDIA .--- Calcutta University Calendar for 1881-82 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

Donors.

- H. B. MEDLICOTT, ESQ. , Calcutta University Minutes for the year 1880-81, Vol. XXIV (1881), 8vo, Calcutta. H. B. MEDLICOTT, ESQ.
- " List of Officers in the Survey Departments on the 1st July 1881 (1881), fisc., Calcutta.

Rev. & Agei. Dept.

" Selections from the Records of the Government of India, Foreign Department, No. 176. Report on the Political Administration of the Rajputana States, 1879-80 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

FOREIGN DEFARTMENT.

MADEAS.—Selections from the Records of the Madras Government, 2nd Series, Nos. II and III (1855), LXXIII (1862), LXXIII (1863), LXXIV and LXXV (1863) to LXXXIX (1866); New Series Nos. XLIV (1875), and LIII (1876) (1855-76), Svo, Madras.

MADRAS GOVEBNMENT.

TRANSACTIONS, PROCEEDINGS, &c., OF SOCIETIES, SURVEYS, &c.

BEBLIN.-Monatsbericht der König. Preuss. Akademie der Wissens. zu Berlin. February to April 1881 (1881), 8vo, Berlin.

THE ACADEMY.

Zeitschrift der Deutschen Geologischen Gesellschaft, Band XXXIII, heft 1 (1881) 8vo, Berlin.

THE SOCIETY.

BEISTOL.—Proceedings of the Bristol Naturalists' Society, New Series, Vol. III, pt. 2 (1881), 8vo, Bristol.

THE SOCIETY.

CALCUTTA.-Asiatic Researches, Parts I and II (1829 and 1833), 4to, Calcutta.

R. D. OLDHAM, ESQ.

,, Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal. New Series, Vol. L, Part I, No. 2, and Part II, No. 2 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta.

THE SOCIETY.

- , Proceedings of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, Nos. V-VII (1881), 8vo, Calcutta, THE Society.
- Memoirs of the Geological Survey of India, Vol. XVIII, pts. 1 and 3 (1881), Svo, Calcutta.

GEOLOGICAL SUBVEY OF INDIA.

- " Records of the Geological Survey of India, Vol. XIV, pt. 3 (1881), 8vo, Calcutta. GEOLOGICAL SUBVEY OF INDIA.
- , Reports of the Archeological Survey of India, Vols. X and XI (1880), Svo., Calcutta.

THE SUBVEY.

" Return of Wrecks and Casualties in Indian Waters for 1880, together with a Chart showing the positions in which they occurred (1881), fisc., Calcutta.

Digitized by Google

MARINE SURVEY DEPARTMENT.
Additions to the Library.

PART 4.]

Titles of Books,

,

CAMBRIDGE, MASS.—Annual Reports of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, for 1859 to 1862, 1867, 1872, and 1877-78 (1861—1878), 8vo, Cambridge, Mass.

- MUSBUM OF COMPARATIVE ZOOLOGY.
- Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Vol. III, No. 8, (1873), and Vol. VIII, No. 10 (1881) (1873 and 1881), 8vo, Cambridge, Mass.

MUSEUM OF COMPARATIVE ZOOLOGY.

" Illustrated Catalogue of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Nos. 5 and 6 (1871 and 1872), 4to, Cambridge, Mass.

MUSEUM OF COMPARATIVE ZOOLOGY.

COLOMBO.—Journal of the Ceylon Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1867-70. Part II (1870), 8vo, Colombo.

G. NEVILL, ESQ.

829

Donors.

COPENHAGEN.—Oversigt over det Kong. danske Videnskabernes Selskabs Forhandlinger og dets Medlemmers Arbejder i Aaret 1880-1881. 1880, No. 3, and 1881, No. 1 (1880-81) 8vo, Copenhagen.

THE ACADEMY.

DIJON.-Mémoires de L'Académie des Sciences, Arts, et Belles-Lettres de Dijon, Series III, Vol. VI (1881), 8vo, Dijon.

THE ACADEMY.

DUBLIN.—Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy, Series II, Vol. II., No. 2, and Vol. III, Nos. 5 and 6 (1880 and 1881), 8vo, Dublin.

THE ACADEMY.

, Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy, Vols. XXVII, No. 4, and XXVIII, Nos. 1-5 (1880 and 1881), 4to, Dublin.

THE ACADEMY.

GENEVA.-Mémoires de la Société de Physique et D'Histoire Naturelle, Vol. XXVII, pt. 1 (1880), 4to., Genève.

THE SOCIETY.

HALLE.—Abhandlungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft zu Halle, Band XV, heft 1 (1880), 4to., Halle.

THE SOCIETY.

HALLE.—Bericht Über die Sitzungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft zu Halle, im Jahre 1880 (1880), 8vo., Halle.

THE SOCIETY.

LAUGANNE.—Bulletin de la Société Vaudoise des Sciences Naturelles, 2nd Series, Vol. XVII, No. 85 (1881), 8vo., Lausanne.

THE SOCIETY.

Liège. — Annales de la Société Géologique de Belgique, Vols. V and VI (1878-81), 8vo, Liège.

THE SOCIETY.

LISBON.—Boletim da Sociedade de Geographia de Lisboa, 2nd Series, Nos. 4 and 5 (1881) 8vo., Lisboa.

THE SOCIETY.

LONDON.—Journal of the Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland, Vol. X, No. 3 (1881), 8vo., London.

Digitized by Google

[VOL. XIV.

Titles of Books. Donors. LONDON.-Journal of the Iron and Steel Institute, No. 1, 1881 (1881), 8vo., London. THE INSTITUTE. Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society of Great Britain and Ireland, New Series, ,, Vol. XIII, pt. 3 (1881), 8vo., London. THE SOCIETY. Journal of the Society of Arts, Vol. XXIX, Nos. 1491-1501 (1881), 8vo., London. ,, THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Literary and Philosophical Society of Liverpool, Vols. XXXIII and XXXIV (1879-70), 8vo., London. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Royal Geographical Society, New Series, Vol. III, Nos. 5-8, (1881), 8vo., London. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Royal Society, Vols. XXXI, No. 211, and XXXII, No. 212 ,, (1881), 8vo., London. THE SOCIETY. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London, Part IV (1880), and Part I (1881), 8vo., London. THE SOCIETY. Transactions of the Zoological Society of London, Vol. XI, pts. 3-5 (1881), 4to London. THE SOCIETY. Quarterly Journal of the Geographical Society of London, Vol. XXXVII, No. 146 ,, (1881), 8vo., London. THE SOCIETY. MADBID.-Boletin de la Sociedad Geografica de Madrid, Vols. X, Nos. 5 and 6, and XI, No. 1 (1881), 8vo., Madrid. THE SOCIETY. MANCHESTER .-- Report and Proceedings of the Manchester Scientific Students' Association for 1880 (1881), 8vo., Manchester. THE ASSOCIATION. Transactions of the Manchester Geological Society, Vol. XVI, pts. 6-8 ,, (1881), 8vo., Manchester. THE SOCIETY. MELBOUENE.—Reports of the Mining Surveyors and Registrars for quarter ending 31st March 1881 (1881), flsc., Melbourne. MINING DEPT., VICTORIA. Transactions and Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria, Vol. XVII ., (1881), 8vo., Melbourne. THE SOCIETY. Moscow .- Bulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscou, Tome LV, Nos. 3 and 4 (1881), 8vo., Moscou. THE SOCIETY. PHILADELPHIA.-Journal of the Franklin Institute, 3rd Series, Vol. LXXXI, No. 6, and LXXXII, Nos. 1 and 2 (1881), 8vo., Philadelphia. THE INSTITUTE.

Digitized by Google

330

Titles of Books.

Donors. PISA.-Atti della Societa Toscana di Scienze Naturali. Processi Verbali. 8 Maggio 1881 (1881), 8vo., Pisa.

THE SOCIETY.

RIO DE JANEIBO .- Annaes da Escola de Minas de Ouro Preto, No. I (1881), 8vo. Rio de Janeiro.

THE SCHOOL OF MINES.

ROME.-Atti della R. Accademia dei Lincei, Serie Terza, Memorie, Vols. III to VIII (1878-1880), 4to., Roma.

THE ACADEMY.

Atti della R. Accademia dei Lincei, Serie Terza, Transunti, Vol. V, fasc. 13 and 14 ,, (1881), 4to., Roma.

THE ACADEMY.

Bollettino del R. Comitato Geologico d' Italia, Vol. XI (1880), 8vo., Roma. ,,

ROYAL GBOL. COMM., ITALY.

SALEM, MASS.-Memoirs of the Peabody Academy of Science, Vol. I, Nos. 5-6 (1881), Ryl. 8vo., Salem, Mass.

THE ACADEMY.

SINGAPORE.-Journal of the Straits Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, No. 7 (1881), 8vo., Singapore.

THE SOCIETY.

Sr. PETERSBURG.-Bulletin de L'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Pétersbourg, Vol. XXVIII, Nos. 1 and 2 (1881), 4to. St. Pétersbourg.

THE ACADEMY.

Mémoires de L'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Pétersbourg, ,, Vol. XXVIII, Nos. 1 and 2 (1880), 4to., St. Pétersbourg.

THE ACADEMY.

TOBIN.--Atti della R. Accademia delle Scienze di Torino, Vol. XV, Disp. 1-8 (1879-80). and Vol. XVI, Disp. 5 and 6 (1881) (1879-81), 8vo., Torino.

THE ACADEMY.

Bollettino dell' Osservatorio della Regia Universita di Torino, Anno XIV (1879) ,, and XV (1881), (1880 and 1881), ob. 4to., Torino.

THE ACADEMY.

Memorie della Reale Accademia delle Scienze, 2nd Series, Vols. XXXII and ,, XXXIII (1880-81), 4to., Torino.

THE ACADEMY.

VIENNA.-Das K. K. Quecksilberwerk zu Idria in Krain. Zur Erinnerung an die feier des dreihundertjährigen Ausschliesslich Staatlichen Besitzes (1881), 4to., Wien.

THE AGBICULTURAL MINISTRY.

Digitized by Google

Jahrbuch der Kais. König. Geologischen Reicheanstalt, Band XXXI, No. 1 (1881) 8vo., Wien.

THE INSTITUTE.

Verhandlungen der K. K. Geologischen Reichsanstalt, Nos. 9-12 (1881), 8vo., Wien.

THE INSTITUTE.

[VOL. XIV.

Titles of Books.

Donors. WASHINGTON.-Annual Report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution for 1879 (1880), 8vo., Washington.

THE INSTITUTE.

WELLINGTON.-Transactions and Proceedings of the New Zealand Institute, Vol. XIII (1881) Svo., Wellington.

THE INSTITUTE.

YOKOHAMA .-- Mittheilungen der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Natur und Völkerkunde Ostasiens, Heft. 24, Juli 1881 (1881), flsc., Yokohama.

Digitized by Google

THE SOCIETY.

882





5232, Nov. 1. 1881

•

:

RECORDS

OF THE

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA.

VOL. XIV, Part 1.

1881.

CONTENTS.

		P ▲ GB.
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA, AND OF THE LOGICAL MUSEUM, CALCUTTA, FOR THE YEAR 1880	e Geo- 	i
Geology of part of Dárdistán, Baltistán, and Neighbouring Districts fifth notice of the Geology of Káshmir and Neighbouring terr	, being ritories	
(with map).—By R. LITDERKER, D.R., F.D.S., Geological Sun India	•vey of 	1
Note on some Siwalik Carnivora.—By R. LYDEKKER, B.A., Geo Survey of India	ological 	57
The Siwalik Group of the Sub-Himalayan region.—By W. THE Denote Superinterdent Coological Support of India	OBALD,	ce
Notes on the South Rewah Gondwána basin.—By THEO. W. H. H	UGHES,	00
A.B.S.M., Geological Survey of India	•••	126
On the ferruginous beds associated with the Basaltic Rocks of North-E Ulster, in relation to Indian laterite.—By F. R. MALLET, H	lastern F.G.S.,	
Geological Survey of India	•••	139
Notes on some Rájmahál plants (with two plates)By OTTOKAR	FEIST-	
MANTEL, M.D., Palæontologist, Geological Survey of India	•••	148
Travelled blocks of the PunjabBy A. B. WYNNE, F.G.S., Geo	olog i cal	
Survey of India	•••	153
Appendix to "Palæontological notes on the Lower Trias of the Himalay	'as.''—	.
By C. L. GRIESBACH, F. G. S., Geological Survey of India	•••	154
Note on some Mammalian Fossils from Perim Island, in the collect	ion of	
The Bombay Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society.—By R. LYDE BA FZS Geological Survey of India	KKER,	1 * *
DOMETIONS TO THE MUSEUM	•••	199
Assessed to the MUSEUM	•••	156
ADDITIONS TO THE LIBRARY		157

· · ...

The RECORDS OF THE GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA will be issued at intervals of about three months, and forwarded to subscribers-

		8.	d.		Rs.	a.	
Subscription for the year	•••	4	0	or	2	0	
Price of each Number		2	0	"	1	0	
Postage, if for India, 4 annas addition	nal.						
	_						

" " Great Britain, 8 annas, or 1s. per annum.

ADDRESS-

Superintendent of Geological Survey of India, Geological Survey Office, Indian Museum, CALCUTTA.

The 'Records' for 1868 (1st year), containing 3 Numbers.—Price 1 Re. 8 As. The 'Records' for 1869 (2nd year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1870 (3rd year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1871 (4th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1872 (5th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1873 (6th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1873 (6th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1875 (8th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1875 (8th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1876 (9th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1877 (10th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1878 (11th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1879 (12th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1879 (12th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs. The 'Records' for 1880 (13th year), containing 4 Numbers, stitched.—Price 2 Rs.

Notice.

A Number of the 'Records' will be issued in the months of February, May, August, and November in each year. Each Number will contain the additions to Library and Donations to Museum up to the first of the next preceding month,—that is, to the end of March, June, September, and December.

Digitized by Google

-232 lay 2.1882.

RECORDS

•

OF THE

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA. VOL. XIV, Part 4.

1881.

CONTENTS.

	PAGE.
Remarks on the Unification of Geological Nomenclature and Cartography (a note sent to the International Geological Congress of 1881, at Bologna).	
-By H. B. MEDLICOTT, M.A., Geological Survey of India	277
On the Geology of the Arvali region, Central and EasternBy C. A.	,
HACKET, Geological Survey of India	279
On a specimen of Native Antimony obtained at Pulo Obin, near Singapore.	
-By F. R. MALLET, F.G.S., Geological Survey of India	303
On Turgite from the neighbourhood of Juggiapett, Kistnah District, and on	
Zinc Carbonate from Karnul, MadrasBy F. R. MALLET, F.G.S.,	
Geological Survey of India	304
Note on the section from Dalhousie to Pangi vid the Sach PassBy COLONEL	
С. А. МсМанов, F.G.S	305
Notes on the South Rewah Gondwána basinBy THEO. W. H. HUGHES,	
A.B.S.M., F.G.S., Geological Survey of India	311
Submerged Forest on Bombay island. Observations by G. E. ORMISTON,	
Resident Engineer, Bombay Port Trust	320
DONATIONS TO THE MUSEUM	323
Additions to the Library	324

MEMOIRS

OF THE

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF INDIA.

- Vol. I. Royal 8vo, pp. 309, 1859. Pt. 1 (out of print): On the Coal and Iron of Cuttack.— Structure and Relations of the Tálchir Coal-field.—Gold Deposits in Upper Assance. —Gold and Gold-dust from Shue-Gween. Pt. 2 (price 2 Rs.): Geology of the Khasi Hills.—The Nilghiri Hills. Pt. 3 (price 2 Rs.): Geology of Bankoorah, Midnapore, and Orissa.—Laterite of Orissa.—Fossil Teeth of Ceratodus.
- VOL. II. Boyal 8vo, pp. 341, 1859. Pt. 1 (out of print): Report on the Vindhyan Rocks and their Associates in Bundelkand. Pt. 2 (out of print): Geological Structure of the Central Portion of the Nerbudda District.—Tertiary and Alluvial Deposits of the Nerbudda Valley.—Geological Relations and probable Geological Age of the several Groups of Rocks in Central India and Bengal.
- VoL. III. Royal 8vo, pp. 438. Pt. 1, 1863 (out of print): Report on the Rániganj Coal-field.— Additional Remarks on the Geological Age of Indian Rock-systems. Pt. 2, 1864 (price 2 Rs.): On the Sub-Himalayan Ranges between the Gauges and Sutlej.
- Vol. IV. Royal 8vo, pp.450. Pt. 1, 1863 (price 2 Rs.): Report on the Cretaceous Rocks of Trichinopoly District, Madras. Pt. 2, 1864 (price 2 Rs.): On the Structure of the Districts of Trichinopoly, Salem, &c. Pt. 3, 1865 (price 1 Re.): On the Coal of Assam, &c.
- Vor. V. Royal 8vo, pp. 354. Pt. 1, 1865 (price 3 Rs.): Sections across N. W. Himalaya, from Sutlej to Indus.—On the Gypsum of Spiti. Pt. 2, 1866 (price 1 Re.): On the Geology of Bombay. Pt. 3, 1866 (price 1 Re.): On the Jheria Coal-field.— Geological Observations on Western Tibet.
- Vol. VI. Royal 8vo, pp. 395. Ft. 1, 1867 (price 8 As.): On the Neighbourhood of Lynyan, &c., in Sind.—Geology of a Portion of Cutch. Pt. 2, 1867 (price 2 Rs.): Bokáro Coal-field.—Rámgarh Coal-field.—Traps of Western and Central India. Pt. 3, 1869 (price 2 Rs. 8 As.): Tapti and Nerbudda Valleys.—Frog-beds in Bombay.— Oxyglossus pusillus.
- Vor. VII. Royal 8vo, pp. 842. Pt. 1, 1869 (price 3 Re.): Vindhyan Series.—Mineral Statistics —Coal.—Shillong Plateau. Pt. 2, 1870 (price 1 Re.): Karharbári Coal-field.— Deoghar Coal-field. Pt. 3, 1871 (price 1 Re.): Aden Water-supply.—Káranpura Coal-fields.
- VOL. VIII. Royal 8vo, pp. 353. Pt. 1, 1872 (price 4 Rs.): On the Kadapah and Karnul Formations in the Madras Presidency. Pt. 2, 1872 (price 1 Re.): Itkhuri Coalfield.—Daltonganj Coal-field.—Chope Coal-field.
- VOL. IX. Royal 8vo, pp. iv, 358. Pt. 1, 1872 (price 4 Rs.) : Geology of Kutch. Pt. 2, 1872 (price 1 Re.) : Geology of Nagpúr.-Geology of Sirban Hill.-Carboniferons Ammonites, pp. 65.
- VOL. X. Royal 8vo, pp. 359. Pt. 1, 1873 (price 3 Rs.): Geology of Madras.—Sátpúra Coalbasin. Pt. 2, 1874 (price 2 Rs.): Geology of Pegu.
- VOL. XI. Royal 8vo, pp. 338. Pt. 1, 1874 (price 2 Rs.): Geology of Dárjiling and Western Dúars. Pt. 2, 1876 (price 3 Rs.): Salt-region of Kohát, Trans-Indus: pp. 230.
- Vol. XII. Royal 8vo, pp. 363. Pt. 1, 1877 (price 3 Rs.): South Mahrátta Country. Pt. 2, 1876 (price 2 Rs.): Coal-fields of the Nága Hills: pp. 95.
- VOL XIII. Royal 8vo, pp. 248. Pt. 1, 1877 (price 2 Rs. 8 As.): Wardha Valley Coal-field. Pt. 2, 1877 (price 2 Rs. 8 As.): Geology of the Rájmahál Hills.
- VOL. XIV. Royal 8vo, pp. 313, 1878. Geology of the Salt-range in the Punjab.
- VOL. XV. Royal 8vo, pp. 192. Pt. 1, 1878 (price 2 Rs. 8 As.): Geology of the Aurunga and Hutár Coal-fields (Palamow). Pt. 2, 1880 (price 2 Rs. 8 As.): Ramkola and Tatapani Coal-fields (Sirguja).
- Vol. XVI. Royal Svo, pp. 264. Pt. 1, 1879 (price 1 Re. 8 As.): Geology of Eastern Coast from Lat. 15° to Masulipatam.
 - Pt. 2, 1880 (price 1 Re. 8 As.) : The Nellore Portion of the Carnatic.
 - Pt. 3, 1880 (price 2 Rs.): Coastal Region of the Godávari District.
- VoL. XVII. Royal Svo, pp. 305. Pt. 1, 1879 (price 3 Rs.): Geology of Western Sind. Pt. 2, 1880 (price 2 Rs.): Trans-Indus extension of the Punjab Salt-range.
- VOL. XVIII. Royal 8vo, pp. 300. Pt. 1, 1881 (price 2 Rs.): Southern Afghanistan. Pt. 2 (price 1 Re. 8 As.): Mánbhúm and Singhbhúm. Pt. 3 (price 2 Rs.): Pránhita-Godávari Valley.

The price fixed for these publications is 5 Rs. (10s.) each volume.

Manual of the Geology of India, 2 Vols. and Map, price 8 Rs. (16s.)

To be had at Geological Survey Office, Indian Museum; at Office of Superintendent, Government Printing, Calcutta; or through any Bookseller. London: Trübner & Co.

Digitized by Google

[<u>A</u> ,	
er Asteri	
87 al 2	
lankora	
looke w	
re of the	
its of a	
be tera	
el.841.	
inde:	
Ros :	
indra.	
a): (t	
. <u>191</u> -	
Ligne	
Biar	
h:	
plar-	
254	
itt-	
ziu -	
le:	
án a tha an	
, de Teg	
-	
ζ ν	
<i>a</i>	
κ. ί	
:.	
و	
i	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Digitized by Google

Digitized by Google

5

.